# Advances in CLINICAL CHEMISTRY VOLUME 30

# ADVANCES IN CLINICAL CHEMISTRY

VOLUME 30

# BOARD OF EDITORS

Kenning M. Anderson Callum G. Fraser Galal Ghourab Walter G. Guder Carmel J. Hillyard Kwang-Jen Hsiao E. D. Janus Gerard Nowacki Ranald Sutherland It-Koon Tan Milos Tichy Masuuki Totani Orestes Tsolas Casper H. Van Aswegen Abraham Van Den Ende

# Advances in CLINICAL CHEMISTRY

Edited by

HERBERT E. SPIEGEL

Department of Clinical Chemistry St. Vincent's Hospital and Medical Center New York, New York



**VOLUME 30** 

#### ACADEMIC PRESS, INC.

A Division of Harcourt Brace & Company San Diego New York Boston London Sydney Tokyo Toronto

This book is printed on acid-free paper. 💿

Copyright © 1993 by ACADEMIC PRESS, INC.

All Rights Reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Academic Press, Inc. 1250 Sixth Avenue, San Diego, California 92101

United Kingdom Edition published by Academic Press Limited 24–28 Oval Road, London NW1 7DX

International Standard Serial Number: 0065-2423

International Standard Book Number: 0-12-010330-3

 PRINTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

 93
 94
 95
 96
 97
 98
 BC
 9
 8
 7
 6
 5
 4
 3
 2
 1

# CONTENTS

Contributors	vii
PREFACE	ix

### The Cytokines: Physiological and Pathophysiological Aspects S. W. Evans and J. T. Whicher

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Biochemistry	7
3.	Pathophysiology	20
4.	Cytokine Measurements in Disease	39
5.	Cytokine Assays in Body Fluids	47
	References	53

#### Analytical Applications of Chemiluminescence Michael James Pringle

1.	Introduction and Scope of the Article	89
2.	Theoretical Background	98
3.	Applications of Specific Chemiluminescent Compounds	111
4.	Conclusion	160
	References	161

# Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Proteins in Patients with Breast Cancer

CELIA J. MENENDEZ-BOTET AND MORTON K. SCHWARTZ

1.	Introduction	185
2.	Mechanism of Action	187
3.	Prediction and Prognostic Usefulness of ERP/PRP	188
4.	Nuclear ERP versus Cytosolic ERP/PRP Prognostic Values	189
5.	Hormonal Therapy versus ERP/PRP Status	190

#### CONTENTS

6.	Role of ERP/PRP in TAM Therapy	191
7.	Chemotherapy versus ERP/PRP Status	194
8.	Radiation Therapy versus ERP Status	198
9.	Fine Needle Aspiration Impact on Receptor Analysis	198
10.	Role of ERP/PRP in α-Interferon Therapy	200
11.	Measurements of Receptors	201
12.	ERP/PRP Content in Sequential Breast Biopsies	207
13.	ERP in Visceral Metastases	210
14.	Correlation with Epidemiology and Pathology	212
15.	ERP in Male Breast Cancer	216
16.	Role of ERP/PRP in Patients with Melanomas, Thyroid Cancer, or	
	Prostate Cancer	217
	References	217

## Advances in Human Leukocyte Antigens and Transplantation BRIAN R. HAWKINS

1.	Transplantation in Historical Perspective	227
2.	The Human Leukocyte Antigen System	229
3.	HLA and the Immune Response	247
4.	The Immunological Basis of Transplant Rejection.	248
5.	HLA and Renal Transplantation	251
6.	HLA and Bone Marrow Transplantation	258
7.	Transplantation of Other Organs	264
8.	Future Developments in HLA and Transplantation	266
	References	268

# Glutathione S-Transferases: Biomedical Applications

GEOFFREY J. BECKETT AND JOHN D. HAYES

1.	Introduction	282
2.	The Multiple Activities and Pseudonyms of GST	283
3.	Historical Perspective	283
4.	Properties of Glutathione S-Transferases	293
5.	Glutathione S-Transferase Isoenzymes	306
6.	Biomedical Applications of GST	318
7.	The Quantitation of GST in Biological Fluids	323
8.	Developmental Expression of GST in Human Tissues	325
9.	Plasma Alpha-Class GST Measurements in Liver Disease	329
10.	GST Measurements in Malignancy	352
11.	The Glutathione S-Transferases and the Kidney	356
12.	Conclusions	358
	References	359
Ind	EX	381

# CONTRIBUTORS

Numbers in parentheses indicate the pages on which the authors' contributions begin.

- GEOFFREY J. BECKETT (281), University Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh EH3 9YW, Scotland
- S. W. EVANS (1), Department of Clinical Medicine, Old Medical School, University of Leeds, Leeds LS2 9JT, United Kingdom
- BRIAN R. HAWKINS (227), Department of Pathology, The University of Hong Kong, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong
- JOHN D. HAYES (281), University Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh EH3 9YW, Scotland
- CELIA J. MENENDEZ-BOTET (185), Department of Clinical Chemistry, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, New York 10021
- MICHAEL JAMES PRINGLE (89), Ciba-Corning Diagnostics, Medfield, Massachusetts 02052
- MORTON K. SCHWARTZ (185), Department of Clinical Chemistry, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, New York 10021
- J. T. WHICHER (1), Institute for Cancer Studies, St. James's Hospital, Leeds LS9 7TF, United Kingdom

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

# PREFACE

The scope of clinical chemistry continues to broaden. Accordingly, the Editors have included chapters on cytokines and on human leukocyte antigen and transplantation in this volume. Additionally, chapters on estrogen and progesterone receptors and on glutathione S-transferases are included. Chemiluminescence is presented in a chapter covering the theoretical and practical aspects of this field.

Each year we endeavor to expand the intellectual horizons of our discipline by presenting the comments, philosophies, and knowledge of experts in their respective fields. The reception of the readership to this approach has been favorable. We hope to be even more effective in the future. As always, we welcome comments and suggestions for future topics.

The cooperation of a skilled, knowledgeable, and collegial Editorial Board was essential to the production of this volume. Their efforts, along with the competence and willing assistance of the Academic Press staff, made the production of this work the joy that it was. It is my privilege to acknowledge and to work with them. Finally, I thank my wife, Joanne, for her usual good nature and support, and I express my appreciation for the unflagging enthusiasm and generosity of Sister Catherine Sherry.

HERBERT E. SPIEGEL

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

# THE CYTOKINES: PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL ASPECTS

S. W. Evans\* and J. T. Whicher<sup>+</sup>

\*Department of Clinical Medicine, Old Medical School, University of Leeds, Leeds LS2 9JT, United Kingdom; and <sup>†</sup>Institute for Cancer Studies, St. James's Hospital, Leeds LS9 7TF, United Kingdom

1.	Introduction	2
	1.1. Nomenclature and Classification	2
	1.2. General Characteristics	3
2.	Biochemistry	7
	2.1. Interleukin-1	7
	2.2. Interleukin-2	11
	2.3. Interleukin-6	12
	2.4. Tumor Necrosis Factor	14
	2.5. Interferon-y	15
	2.6. Other Cytokines	16
	2.7. Cytokine Inhibitors	19
3.	Pathophysiology	20
	3.1. Inflammation and the Acute Phase Response	20
	3.2. Cytokines and Leukocyte Biology	29
	3.3. Cytokines and Sepsis	35
4.	Cytokine Measurements in Disease	39
	4.1. Inflammation	39
	4.2. Infection, Sepsis, Endotoxemia, and Bacterial Shock	41
	4.3. Allograft Rejection	44
5.	Cytokine Assays in Body Fluids	47
	5.1. Specificity	47
	5.2. Accuracy	49
	5.3. Sensitivity	51
	5.4. Precision	51
	5.5. Standardization	52
	References	53

#### 1. Introduction

Communication among cells is an essential part of the development, differentiation, and function of all multicellular organisms. Medical science has been greatly influenced by the vast expansion in our knowledge of hormones produced by specialized cells and acting predominantly in an endocrine fashion. However, despite the description by Rich and Lewis in 1928 (R12) of soluble signaling molecules produced by cells of the phagocytic and immune systems, advances in characterizing such molecules have been slow. This has been in large part due to their local production and action and consequently low concentrations in biological fluids. During the last 5 years this field of cytokine biology has seen enormous expansion with the cloning and sequencing of many new molecules. In view of the size and complexity of the topic, we propose to discuss some general principles that underlie cytokines and to review the areas of particular potential importance for clinical chemistry. These are situations in which the laboratory measurement of cytokines may have a role to play in the management of disease, specifically graft rejection, inflammation, and sepsis.

#### **1.1. NOMENCLATURE AND CLASSIFICATION**

The terminology surrounding the considerable number of peptide mediators of cellular communication is very confused. As with most systems, classification changes as new knowledge is gained but never keeps pace with it.

The first group of mediators recognized to be clearly distinct from the peptide hormones were the lymphokines. These were followed by the interferons, substances that inhibit viral replication in cells and also generally inhibit cellular replication. Other mediators were soon described: monokines produced by cells of the monocyte macrophage lineage, colony stimulating factors promoting growth of hemopoietic cells in culture, and several growth factors produced by and acting on a range of cell types.

The late 1970s and 1980s saw the cloning of the genes for many of these factors and with this came the realization that single peptides may have several biological activities. In 1972 the term interleukin was invented and applied to two lymphokines, lymphocyte activating factor—interleukin-1 (IL-1)—and T-cell growth factor—interleukin-2 (IL-2) (A1). The term cytokine was first used in 1974 to describe mediators produced by nonlymphoid cells but soon was used to describe all factors driving the differentiation of cells involved in the immune system. Thus the interleukins and the interferons were included in the cytokines. More recently, it has become clear that the colony stimulating factors and growth factors share some functions and interact with the cytokines. This gave rise to the more general term polypeptide regulatory factor, describing molecules of low molecular weight (less than 80 kDa) with a short or intermediate range of action acting on specific receptors to control differentiation or proliferation of cells. On the face of it the "classical" polypeptide hormones differ in being produced by cells localized in an anatomical "gland" and acting at distant sites. On reflection, however, it is clear that many of the hormones are produced by other cells and act locally, for example, in the brain or gut. Conversely, some of the cytokines, described on the basis of local actions, are now known to act on distant sites such as the brain, liver, and adrenal. Many of the molecules considered to be cytokines are listed in Table 1 and properties of known cytokine receptors are summarized in Table 2.

#### **1.2. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS**

Despite the fact that many of the molecules were described on the basis of a single biological function, several subsequently turned out to be pleiotropic molecules with a wide range of actions and target cells. All the cytokines act locally, modulating the behavior of adjacent cells in a manner described as paracrine. Many act on cells that secrete them (autocrine) or cells at distant sites (endocrine). An important action of some cytokines is modulation of the function of other cytokines as well as the classical neurological and endocrine systems. The actions of an individual cytokine on a particular cell type may critically depend on the extracellular milieu of other mediators and on the modulation of intracellular signaling pathways. All of these factors give rise to the concept of a complex network of interactions, which means that the study of the effects of single cytokines on cellular function may be misleading.

Another interesting aspect of many cytokines is the occurrence of redundancy, which is more than one cytokine exhibiting the same biological activity. One extreme example of cytokine redundancy is tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Two forms of TNF, TNF $\alpha$  and TNF $\beta$ , have been described. TNF $\alpha$  is a monocyte product synthesized with a conventional secretory protein signal sequence, while TNF $\beta$  is a T-lymphocyte product and is synthesized without a signal sequence. At the amino acid level TNF $\alpha$  and TNF $\beta$  exhibit only 30% homology, although the genomic organization of these molecules suggests that they are derived from a common ancestral gene. Both TNF molecules bind to the same cellular receptors and biologically, at least *in vitro*, these two cytokines are indistinguishable (A7).

In a fashion similar to other polypeptide regulatory factors, cytokines act on cells via specific receptors. Cytokine receptors are membrane proteins, many of which appear, at least at the DNA level, to be related (B17, D11, L24). Of the hemopoietic family the receptor for IL-2 (IL-2) has been most extensively investigated, two molecules, p55 (also called the low-affinity receptor or TAC) and p75, compose the IL-2 binding site. Both molecules are required to generate a high-affinity receptor and for IL-2 to deliver a signal to the cell (L16, R16, S44, W8). A soluble form of the TAC molecule is released by activated T lymphocytes, and serum levels of this molecule have been reported to reflect the extent of T-cell

Cytokine	Propeptide	Mature peptide	Chromosome location	Some major cellular sources	Some major biological activities
 IL-1α	271ª	159 (17.5) <sup>b</sup>	2q13	Monocytes	T-cell activation
			•	Lymphocytes	B-cell immunoglobulin synthesis
IL-1β	269	153 (17.3)	2q13-21	Endothelial cells	Monocyte activation
•			-	Smooth muscle cells	PMN adhesion to endothelial cells
				Keratinocytes	PMN release from bone marrow
				Astrocytes	Acute phase protein synthesis
				Microglia	Osteoclast activation
				-	Decreased proteoglycan synthesis
					Fibroblast proliferation
					Muscle proteolysis
					Endothelial cell activation
IL-1ra		(17.5–22)		Monocytes	IL-1 antagonist (inhibits bioligical activities associated with IL-1 $\alpha$ and - $\beta$
IL-2	153	133 (17.5)	4q26-27	T lymphocytes	T-lymphocyte growth and differentiation
		· · ·		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	B-lymphocyte growth and differentiation
IL-3	152	134/140 (28)	5q23-31	T lymphocytes	Hemopoietic cell differentiation
				5 T 5	Mature basophils
IL-4	153	129 (16-20)	5q23-32	T lymphocytes	T-lymphocyte growth and differentiation
		· · ·	•		B-lymphocyte growth and differentiation
IL-5	134	123 (20)	5q23.3-32	T lymphocytes	Eosinophil differentiation
					B-cell growth and differentiation
IL-6	212	184 (21-26)	7p15-21	Monocytes	Hepatocyte stimulation
		. ,	•	Endothelial cells	B-cell differentiation
				Keratinocytes	T-cell differentiation
IL-7	177	152 (25)		Bone marrow stromal cells	Immature B and T lymphocytes
IL-8α	99	79 )	4q21	Monocytes	Neutrophil chemoattractant
IL-8β		77 {(10)	-	Epithelial cells	Neutrophil activation

4

 TABLE 1

 Characteristics of the Cytokines

	IL-9	202	179 (58)	22q12	T lymphocytes Fibroblasts Henatocytes	Hepatocyte stimulation Myeloid cell differentiation Mast cell growth factor
					Tiepatocytes	Inhibits adipocyte lipoprotein lipase activity
	IL-10				T lymphocytes	T-lymphocyte growth and differentiation factor Inhibitor of cytokine synthesis
	ΤΝΓα	233	157 (17)	6p21.3	Monocytes	Interferon enhanced cytotoxicity Enhanced class II antigen expression
					T lymphocytes	Endothelial cell activation
	τνγβ	205	171 (20–25)	6p21.3		Monocyte activation Fibroblast proliferation
	GM-CSF	152	127 (35)	5q33.1	Monocytes Lymphocytes Fibroblasts Endothelial cells	Differentiation of early progenitor cell toward granulocytes and macrophages
s	G-CSF	204	174 (20)	17q11.2–21	Monocytes Endothelial cells	Differentiation of committed stem cell toward granulocytes
	M-CSF	190–221	158–189 (35–45)	5q23-33	Monocytes Fibroblasts Endothelial cells	Differentiation of committed stem cell toward monocytes
	TGFβ1	391	112	19q13.1-13.2		Hepatocyte stimulation Plasma cell IgA synthesis
	TGFβ2	414	112	1q41		Inhibits T lymphocytes
	TGF <sub>β</sub> 3	410	112	14g24		
	IFNα	189	166	9p22	Leukocytes	Antiviral activities on nucleated cells
	IFNa <sub>2</sub>	188	165	-		
	IFNβ	187	166	9p22	Fibroblasts	Antiviral activities on nucleated cells
	IFNγ	166	143 (40)	12q24.1	T lymphocytes	MHC Class II antigen expression to enhance antigen presentation, synergistic action with cytostatic and cytolytic activities of TNF

<sup>a</sup>Number of amino acids.

<sup>b</sup>MW in kDa.

Cytokine	Receptor type	Subunit	Molecular weight (kDa)	Chromosome location	Affinities (M)
IL-1	I	<u> </u>	80		}2×10 <sup>-7</sup> -1×10 <sup>-9</sup>
	II		68		J2410 -1410
IL-2		α	55	10p15	$\lambda_{1\times 10^{-8}-1\times 10^{-11}}$
		β	75	22	
IL-3			140		$1 \times 10^{-8} - 1 \times 10^{-10}$
IL-4			80		$J_{1\times 10^{-10}}$
			140		<i>f</i> <sup>1×10</sup>
IL-6		IL-6R	80		1×10-9-1×10-11
		gp130	130		f <sup>1,10</sup> -1,10
TNF	I		80		$7 \times 10^{-12}$
TNF	11		60		$3 \times 10^{-10}$
GM-CSF			84		$\frac{1}{1}$
			120		Jinio Shio
G-CSF					$5 \times 10^{-10}$
M-CSF		c-fms	165	5q3334	1×10 <sup>-11</sup>
TGFβ	I		53		1610
TGFβ	И		70-100		5×10 <sup>-8</sup> -5×10 <sup>-9</sup>
IFNα/β			130	21q21	$1 \times 10^{-9} - 1 \times 10^{-11}$
IFNγ			105-130	6q15-21	1×10 <sup>-9</sup> -1×10 <sup>-11</sup>

TABLE 2 Characteristics of Cytokine Receptors

activation (R30). Relatively little is known of the signal transduction systems associated with cytokine receptors, although there is growing evidence that protein kinase systems are important. In particular, protein kinase C has been associated with IL-1, TNF, and IL-2 signal transduction (F9, G27, M36, Z10). However, some cytokine receptors, such as the macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptors, have an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain, and the hemopoietic family of receptors, which includes IL-2, appears to indirectly activate tyrosine kinases (D11, F11, T4).

It is possible to demonstrate specific effects of individual cytokines on cells *in vitro*. However, it is becoming increasingly clear that cells are affected by many different molecules and that the effect a cytokine has on a cell will depend to a large extent on which other signals have been delivered to the cell. Interaction of the immune, neurological, and endocrine systems has been demonstrated at several levels (B35, C4, R22, S45, S47, W5). In particular the expression of functional receptors at the cell surface is regulated by a variety of cytokine and noncytokine mediators. It is also recognized that programmed events such as stages in the cell cycle and differentiation state determine the level of receptor expression and cytokine responsiveness of a cell (C8, K27, P4). Cytokine signals are integrated

#### THE CYTOKINES

at the signal transduction stage with signals from other systems so that the effect on a cell reflects the sum of all signals acting on the cell.

#### 2. Biochemistry

#### 2.1. INTERLEUKIN-1

#### 2.1.1. Structure Aspects of Interleukin-1

Interleukin-1 (IL-1) was the first leucocyte-derived cytokine to be extensively studied (D12, D19). It was recognized at an early stage that at least two distinct forms of IL-1, IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , existed. Biologically these two cytokines are closely related; however, a number of differences in both in vivo and in vitro assays have been described (B42, B53, D12, D23, F15, G13, G18). More recently a third IL-1-like molecule has been described, although so far this molecule appears to act only as an antagonist of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  and is called the IL-1-receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) (C14, L4, M17, W22). The mature 17-kDa form of each protein is produced by an unusual proteolytic cleavage of the respective 31-kDa precursor molecules (pro-IL-1 $\alpha$  and pro-IL-1 $\beta$ ). None of the members of this family of molecules possess a secretory signal peptide and the mechanisms of release are not understood. Indeed there is some evidence that IL-1 may function as a cell-associated molecule (M12). The genes coding for IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in humans are located on chromosome 2 and have a similar molecular organization (7 exons) (Fig. 1) (A17, C26, F32). Analysis of the IL-1 genomic sequences reveals many potential regulatory regions. Interestingly IL-1 $\beta$  but not IL-1 $\alpha$  contains TATA and CAAT boxes immediately 5' to the transcription initiation site (Fig. 2) (C26, F32). The IL-1 $\beta$  gene also contains regions that might function as glucocorticoid, SP1, and viral enhancer binding sites (C26). There is some evidence of polymorphism in the IL-1ß gene (D15), and abnormal gene regulation has been associated with gene rearrangement (S35). An SP1 binding region has also been identified in the IL-1 $\alpha$ gene and reported to be polymorphic (H8). The three-dimensional structure of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have also been determined by X-ray crystallography (F18, G21, H6). The suggested structure of both molecules is a globular protein composed of six strands arranged as antiparallel pleated  $\beta$  sheets with three-fold symmetry and capped at one end with six additional  $\beta$  strands. The N-terminal strand appears to fold in close association with one strand of the antiparallel  $\beta$  sheet. The observations that only the mature form of IL-1 $\beta$  is active, that antibodies against N-terminal peptides inhibit biological activity, and that a peptide from the N-terminal region of mature IL-1ß competitively inhibits IL-1 receptor binding suggest that it is the N-terminal region of the molecule that participates in receptor interaction (B52, H12, T3, Z9). It has also been recently reported that a single point mutation close to the N terminus uncouples IL-1β-receptor interaction (G8).



FIG. 1. Genomic organization of members of the cytokine family. Boxes represent exons. The cytokines can be grouped according to their genomic organization. IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are composed of seven exons and six introns. IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-8, GM-CSF, IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and TNF $\beta$  genes are composed of four exons and three introns. IL-3, IL-6, and G-CSF are composed of five exons and four introns.



FIG. 2. Organization of the upstream (5') regulatory region of some cytokine genes considered to play an important role in the pathophysiology of inflammation and the immune response.

IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are produced by several nucleated cell types, including blood monocytes, tissue macrophages, polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN), endothelial cells, and fibroblasts. Different cells will produce IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in different ratios; for instance, in peripheral blood mononuclear cells IL-1 $\beta$  is preferentially released, whereas in endothelial cells and fibroblasts IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are produced in a more equal ratio. This suggests that these related cytokines are controlled by different mechanisms (L26, T20). Production of IL-1 is regulated at both transcriptional and translational levels. Peripheral blood mononuclear cell adhesion or exposure to either C5a or  $\beta$ -glucan polymers provides sufficient stimulus to induce IL-1 $\beta$  gene expression but not translation (S14, S15). Endotoxin and a variety of other bacterial products rapidly stimulate additional transcription as well as translation of IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA in primed cells (S14). IL-1 has also been demonstrated to stimulate its own gene expression, although this is a relatively slow and apparently distinct event (S16).

#### 2.1.2. Receptor and Signal Transduction

Two distinct membrane-associated receptors for IL-1 have been described (B50, C23). An 80-kDa receptor (IL-1RI) is expressed on fibroblasts, keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and hepatocytes, whereas a 68-kDa receptor (IL-1RII) is expressed on B-cell lines, PMN, and bone marrow cells (D25, S39). Both types of IL-1 ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) will interact functionally with either receptor and the IL-1ra can inhibit the activity of IL-1 on either receptor. However, whereas both forms of IL-1 ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) bind to each receptor, there is evidence that IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  have different biological activities, suggesting different binding properties for cytokine-receptor combinations or different receptor accessory components involved in mediating signal transduction (B45, G13). A number of different signal transduction pathways have been associated with IL-1-receptor interaction. Several groups have reported that IL-1 stimulates G-protein activity, including GTP binding and hydrolysis (O5, S3). In some studies IL-1 has been suggested to activate protein kinase A via G-protein activation of adenylate cyclase (C19, M39, Z2). Other studies have suggested that novel protein kinases and possibly protein kinase C are activated by IL-1 perhaps via modulation of phospholipase C to produce diacylglycerol or release glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane proteins (B46, O5, R25).

#### 2.1.3. Biological Activities of Interleukin-1

IL-1 plays an important role in the activation of T lymphocytes (B5, R9, W15). It stimulates the production of IL-2 and expression of the IL-2 receptor in antigenactivated cells (E8, F5, V9). IL-1 also has important activities on B cells, cooperating with other cytokines in the stimulation of immunoglobulin synthesis (F6, H26, K32). IL-1 may also play a role in maintaining B tolerance (D27).

A major role for IL-1 is as a mediator of inflammation. The activities of IL-1 as a proinflammatory cytokine are discussed in detail elsewhere, however; these include induction of eicosanoids, proteinases, and a variety of enzyme activities involved in generating inflammatory mediators (e.g., phospholipase-A2) (B63, D9). IL-1 is also recognized as a hepatocyte stimulating factor and, although it is not as potent as IL-6 in this regard, it does appear to have a role in inducing synthesis of some acute phase proteins (B15, G5, K23). Fibroblast proliferation is stimulated by IL-1, although this is antagonized by IL-6 (K22). IL-1 also induces hypoglycemia perhaps in part due to its ability to stimulate increased glucose transport (B44).

#### THE CYTOKINES

On its own IL-1 does not appear to stimulate hemopoietic colony growth. However, IL-1 stimulates release of cytokines that have hemopoietic activities (B2, B3, B24, N3) and also appears to synergize with other cytokines in mediating development of hemopoietic colonies (K15, K31, M46, S50).

#### 2.2. INTERLEUKIN-2

#### 2.2.1. Structural Aspects of Interleukin-2

The first T-cell growth factor [later called IL-2 (A1)] was originally described as a factor produced by phytohemagglutinin-stimulated normal human lymphocytes that allowed the long-term growth of normal T cells in vitro (M47). A single gene, located on chromosome 4 in humans, codes for a 133-amino-acid mature IL-2 protein. The structure of IL-2 has been predicted from X-ray crystallography data and appears to resemble that of growth hormone. Although the natural IL-2 molecule can be O-glycosylated (C31), carbohydrate groups do not appear to contribute to the biological activity of this cytokine. IL-2 is produced by antigenor mitogen-activated T lymphocytes and hence acts as an autocrine or paracrine growth factor. Multiple regulatory sequences 5' to the IL-2 gene have been identified, including glucocorticoid core binding sequences, an NFkB-like binding sequence, and at least two nuclear factor binding sequences (K1, S32, V1). At least two distinct events controlling IL-2 synthesis have been distinguished (J6). These act via modulating the binding of nuclear factors (NFIL-2E and NFIL-2A) to three distinct regulatory regions (A, D, and E) 5' to the transcription initiation site. NFIL-2E (or NFIIa) binds site A and E (D34), and NFIL-2A (NFIIIe) binds site A and site D (S31). An NFkB-like protein binds to a region 5' to the gene (S32).

#### 2.2.2. Interleukin-2 Receptor and Signal Transduction

The IL-2 receptor consists of two chains,  $\alpha$  (also called CD25 and TAC) and  $\beta$ , located on chromosome 10 and 22, respectively (G16, L16, L17). The relatively abundant  $\alpha$  chain has an apparent molecular weight of 55 kDa and binds IL-2 with low affinity (10<sup>-8</sup> *M*). Preliminary X-ray crystallography data have been reported for the  $\alpha$  chain (L1). The  $\beta$  chain has an apparent molecular weight of 75 kDa and, in association with the  $\alpha$  chain, constitutes a single high-affinity binding site for IL-2 (10<sup>-11</sup> *M*) (W8). Both  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains are required to generate a functional IL-2 receptor (S44). A restricted region of the IL-2 receptor  $\beta$  chain has been demonstrated to be essential for growth signal transduction (H7). Expression of the  $\alpha$  chain appears complex but is at least partly under the control of an NFkB-like sequence (L30, P12, T11, W8). Much less is known about control of expression of the IL-2  $\beta$  chain (W8). Activated T cells release a soluble form of the IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$  chain (C25). The mechanism by which this extracellular domain of the  $\alpha$  chain is released and the biological relevance of this event are not understood.

Signal transduction events associated with IL-2 receptor interaction have been extensively studied. Surprisingly, since the IL-2 receptor does not contain a tyrosine kinase domain, one of the earliest events observed is tyrosine phosphorylation of the IL-2 receptor  $\beta$  chain (F11). Later events include the protein kinase C-dependent phosphorylation of a 68-kDa protein (E11) with apparent identity to the cytoskeletal protein *l*-plastin (Z6) and a signal transduction event shared by several hematopoietic growth factor systems (E13). Phosphorylation of the ribosomal S6 protein and increased protein synthesis also follow IL-2 receptor interaction (E12). Negative signals appear to involve cAMP-mediated events (F9, F10).

#### 2.2.3. Biological Activities of Interleukin-2

IL-2 was originally identified as a T-cell growth factor (M47) and this remains the principal biological function of this cytokine. However, it has subsequently been demonstrated that IL-2 also activates macrophages, stimulates proliferation of B lymphocytes, and augments the cytolytic activity of NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes (B21, G14, H16, M43, R3).

#### 2.3. INTERLEUKIN-6

#### 2.3.1. Structural Aspects of Interleukin-6

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is a pleiotropic glycoprotein with an apparent molecular weight of between 21 and 26 kDa as determined by SDS–PAGE (H22, W29). The molecule consists of 212 amino acids, of which 28 constitute a hydrophobic secretory signal sequence (H24). Two potential N-linked and several potential O-linked glycosylation sites have been suggested together with phosphorylation to account for the observed heterogeneity of natural IL-6 (G24, M16). In humans the gene for IL-6 is found on chromosome 7 and occupies approximately 5 kb (B59). The gene consists of five exons and four introns, closely resembling those of growth hormone, prolactin, erythropoietin, and G-CSF (B18, B19). There are at least three polymorphic forms of IL-6, identified by MspI, BgII, and BstNI restriction sites (three, two, and four allele polymorphism, respectively) (B48, B60, B61). The MspI and BgII polymorphisms are probably due to base pair substitutions, MspI in the vicinity of the fifth exon and BgI in the 5' flanking region, while the BstNI polymorphism appears to be due to an insertion/deletion event 3' of the fifth exon.

Sequence analysis of the 5' flanking region of the IL-6 gene suggests that several different signal transduction pathways, including both cAMP-dependent and protein kinase C-activating systems, could participate in the regulation of IL-6 gene expression (H13, H22, S25). Indeed numerous stimuli have been shown to induce IL-6 synthesis. The most important regulatory region appears to be a c-fos-like serum-responsive element (SRE) containing two important cis-acting regulatory elements (CRE) controlling IL-6 gene transcription NFIL-6, and the

multiple response element (MRE) (A10, H22, I5, P17, R5). The c-*fos* SRE-like sequence has been located 5' (-173 to -145) to the IL-6 gene. Other regulatory sequences are located on either side of the SRE region, 5'—two glucocorticoid response elements [interesting because it has been shown that dexamethasone inhibits IL-6 production (Z1)] and an AP-1 binding sequence—and 3'—one NFkB binding site and one TATA box (H22, R4, R5, Z2).

#### 2.3.2. Receptor and Signal Transduction

Specific receptors for IL-6 have been demonstrated on a variety of normal and transformed cell types (T2). Initially a receptor with a single binding affinity of between 1.3 and  $6.4 \times 10^{-10} M$  was described (T2). Some subsequent reports have suggested both high  $(1 \times 10^{-11} M)$ - and low  $(1 \times 10^{-9} M)$ -affinity forms of the IL-6 receptor on a human myeloma cell line (H24). A membrane-associated receptor for IL-6 has been identified and the gene encoding this protein cloned (H24). A single polypeptide chain constitutes the ligand binding site and the transmembrane region of the receptor. This 468-amino-acid protein, which has an apparent molecular weight of 80 kDa and six potential N-linked glycosylation sites, confers both high- and low-affinity binding to sites when it is transfected into cells (H24). In contrast to IL-6, IL-6 receptor expression is increased by glucocorticoids (S45). At the molecular level the IL-6 receptor resembles the receptors for growth hormone, prolactin, erythropoietin, and the p75 chain of the IL-2 receptor (B17). Sequence homology with immunoglobulin light chain, CD4, poly-Ig receptor, and  $\alpha_1$ B-glycoprotein suggests that this molecule might also be classified as belonging to the immunoglobulin supergene family. Binding of IL-6 to its receptor is thought to involve association of the receptor with an accessory protein, gp130 (T1). It is possible that gp130 plays a role in signal transduction, although the nature of that role is not known. It has been reported that extracellular calcium is required for IL-6-stimulated growth of plasmacytoma cells (N10). An important role for calcium is also suggested by the ability of lead and cadmium, competitive inhibitors of calcium-dependent processes, to inhibit IL-6-stimulated proliferation of a hybridoma cell line and IL-6-stimulated synthesis of  $\alpha_1$ -antichymotrypsin (S. W. Evans, unpublished observation). Phobol esters stimulate the accumulation of acute phase protein mRNA in hepatoma cells, and protein kinase C "burnout" experiments ablate IL-6-stimulated accumulation of acute phase protein mRNA, suggesting but not establishing a role for the calcium-dependent protein kinase C in IL-6 signal transduction (B14, E10).

#### 2.3.3. Biological Activities of Interleukin-6

IL-6 has a wide variety of different biological activities *in vitro*. At least two distinct types of properties can be discerned, differentiation and proliferation. The wide variety of cells that can be activated or that differentiate in response to IL-6 suggests an important *in vitro* regulatory role for this cytokine. Using a variety of

different cells, including primary hepatocytes and hepatoma cell lines, recombinant IL-6, and antibodies specific for IL-6, it has now been clearly established that this cytokine is one of the predominant mediators controlling acute phase protein production (H11).

A number of cytokines have been implicated as endogenous pyrogens, including IL-1, TNF $\alpha$ , interferon- $\gamma$ , IFN $\gamma$ , IFN $\alpha$ , IL-8, and IL-6, with IL-1 and IL-6 being the most potent (B68, R27). Since IL-1 $\beta$  will induce IL-6 production and circulating levels of IL-1 $\beta$  appear not to be sufficient to account for fever, it is possible that IL-6 alone or stimulated by low concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$  is the endogenous pyrogen (L14).

It has been shown that several monocyte-derived cytokines can act on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, stimulating adrenal cells to release corticosteroid hormones (B31, N2). Injection of IL-6 into rats results in an increase in concentrations of ACTH in the plasma (N2). IL-6 can also act directly on adrenal cells to induce corticosteroid release (S4, S5). IL-6 interacts with a number of cytokines to enhance the growth and differentiation of multipotent progenitor, erythroid, myeloid, and megakaryocytic cells (R10, R11, S60).

IL-6 has been identified as an essential and late acting factor in mitogenactivated immunoglobulin production, stimulating the synthesis of IgM, IgG, and IgA and inhibiting B-cell proliferation (B34, V5). IL-6 has also been shown to act as a growth factor for plasmacytoma cells, myeloma cells, EBV-transformed cells, and B-cell hybridoma (K7, R15, V5). A number of reports suggest that IL-6 also plays a role in the generation and activation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, LAK cells, NK cells, and macrophages (G1, L31, M37, S55). IL-6 has also been shown to have an antitumor activity when it is injected into mice (M54).

#### 2.4. TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR

#### 2.4.1. Structural Aspects of Tumor Necrosis Factor

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) was originally described as a leucocyte-derived endotoxin-induced factor responsible for *in vivo* and *in vitro* tumor necrosis (C13) and as cachectin, a molecule that caused the wasting associated with chronic infection (R28). Amino acid sequencing and cDNA cloning for the genes of these two activities revealed their identity, encoding a protein of 17 kDa. More recently it was found that this molecule shares 30% homology, some biological activities, and common receptors with a slightly larger molecule, lymphotoxin (G19). Cachectin/TNF is predominantly macrophage derived and is termed TNF $\alpha$ ; lymphotoxin is T cell derived and is known as TNF $\beta$ . The TNF $\alpha$  molecule is secreted as a nonglycosylated molecule, whereas the TNF $\beta$  molecule is glycosylated. The genomic sequences coding for TNF $\alpha$  and TNF $\beta$  are located within the major histocompatibility locus on chromosome 6. There is some evidence of polymorphism in the TNF $\alpha$  gene (F31). The three-dimensional structure of TNF has been determined and surprisingly resembles a viral coat protein (J4). TNF readily associates as a trimeric molecule, in which form it appears most biologically active.

#### 2.4.2. Receptor and Signal Transduction

All nucleated cells express TNF receptors and at least two different types exist (B64). The 80-kDa (TNF-RI) and 60-kDa (TNF-RII) receptors have been cloned from myeloid and epithelial cells, respectively (L24, S13, S41). The two receptors have different affinities for TNF,  $7 \times 10^{-12} M$  for the 80-kDa receptor and  $3 \times 10^{-10} M$  for the 60-kDa receptor (B64). The extracellular domain of the TNF receptors shows homology with the NGF receptor (J3) and the B-cell surface antigen CD40 (S41).

Signal transduction mediated by TNF is at least as confusing as that mediated by IL-1. GTP binding and hydrolysis have been reported to occur following TNF receptor interaction (I2). Specific phosphorylation events have also been described and attributed in part to the activation of protein kinase C (M27, S20, S21). Later events include induction of transcriptional activators *c-fos* and *c-myc* and transcriptional factors that bind to the NFkB site (D31, L22).

#### 2.4.3. Biological Activities of Tumor Necrosis Factor

The biological activity most frequently attributed to TNF is IFN $\gamma$ -enhanced tumor cell cytotoxicity (O4, S6, S57). In the presence of IFN $\gamma$  normal cells such as epithelial and endothelial cells may also be susceptible to the cytotoxic and cytostatic action of TNF (S9, T5). In the absence of IFN $\gamma$ , however, TNF appears to stimulate proliferation of several cell types, including monocyte/macrophages and fibroblasts. The major biological activity of this cytokine, however, appears to be as a proinflammatory molecule stimulating the release of a variety of locally acting mediators of inflammation (R24). TNF stimulates the release of IL-1, colony stimulating factors, and leucocyte chemotactic factors from endothelial and monocytic cells (D20, E4, L5, S34); the release of prostaglandins from macrophages fibroblast, chondrocytes, and mesangial and synovial cells (B1, C6, D5, P9); and enhanced expression of MHC class II antigens on many different cell types (P8). Fibroblasts also synthesize proteinases and proteinase inhibitors in response to TNF (I6). TNF also inhibits adipocyte lipoprotein lipase activity (F30) and stimulates release of lipoprotein lipase from endothelial cells (S12).

#### 2.5. INTERFERON-Y

#### 2.5.1. Structural Aspects

IFN $\gamma$ , originally described as immune interferon, is synthesized and proteolytically processed in activated proliferating T lymphocytes (T19). T lymphocytes were stimulated by a variety of different agents, including IL-2 and virussynthesized IFN $\gamma$ . The mature form of IFN $\gamma$  is a 143-amino-acid polypeptide with two potential N-glycosylation sites and is encoded by a gene located on chromosome 12. The three-dimensional structure of IFN $\gamma$  has been predicted to resemble that of IL-2 (J2), a member of the hematopoietic growth factor family. The predicted structure of IFN $\gamma$  is of six  $\alpha$  helixes (A–F) connected by five turns. Four of the helixes (B, C, E, and F) resemble the core of the IL-6 molecule. One helix (A) is found at the N terminus and a small helix (D) links helixes C and E. Antibodies raised against N- or C-terminal peptides are inhibitory, and the N-terminal 39 amino acids compete with IFN $\gamma$  for receptor binding (L27). However, more recently it has been demonstrated using mutant molecules that the N-terminal but not the C-terminal sequences are essential for biological activity (H27, L32).

#### 2.5.2. Receptor and Signal Transduction

A specific membrane receptor for IFN $\gamma$  has been identified and cloned (A8). IFN $\gamma$ -receptor interaction is associated with phosphatidyl-serine metabolism (Y7) and rapid protein phosphorylation (H21). Induction of MHC class II antigens by IFN $\gamma$  is associated with modulation of cis-acting molecules (F29).

#### 2.5.3. Biological Activities of Interferon-y

The major biological activity attributed to IFN $\gamma$  is enhanced antigen presentation. This activity is effected by the induction of MHC class II antigens on a variety of cells, including epithelial, endothelial, and connective tissue cells, and monocytes (B32, P16, S51, V7). IFN $\gamma$  also acts as a macrophage activating factor (A6, Y10) and synergizes with TNF to effect tumor cell lysis and inhibit cell proliferation (S6).

#### 2.6. OTHER CYTOKINES

#### 2.6.1. Colony Stimulating Factors

Multicolony stimulating factor [interleukin-3 (IL-3)] appears to have the widest range of targets, stimulating proliferation of macrophages, PMN, eosinophils, megakaryocytes, early erythroid cells, and mast cells (M53, Y1). The major cellular source of IL-3 appears to be the T lymphocyte. Encoded by a single gene on chromosome 5 (5q23-31) and transcribed as a single 0.95-kb mRNA species, this 140-amino-acid molecule is produced as a glycoprotein with an apparent molecular weight of 28 kDa (L9, Y1, Y2). In addition to its role as a differentiation factor for early stem cells, IL-3 activates mature basophils (V2).

GM-CSF acts on virtually the same set of cells as IL-3, but is unable to stimulate mast cell proliferation. In addition to T cells, endothelial cells and fibroblasts are also important sources of GM-CSF (G23). GM-CSF is a 127-amino-acid molecule

encoded as a single gene closely linked to the IL-3 gene on chromosome 5 (5q23-33) (Y3). It is translated from a 0.9-kb mRNA molecule and is glycosylated, having an apparent molecular weight of 35 kDa. Multiple mechanisms control the expression of GM-CSF and this is reflected by the many different mediators that can induce its synthesis (N7). As well as acting as a differentiation factor on early stem cell development, GM-CSF enhances adhesion of mature monocytes to endothelial cells (G3) and activates neutrophils (C29, C33).

The gene for human G-CSF, located on chromosome 17 (17q11.2–21), encodes a relatively hydrophobic protein that is O-glycosylated and has an apparent molecular weight of 20 kDa (S36, W18). G-CSF is produced by stromal cells, macrophages, PMN, and endothelial cells (H19, K6, Z5). In macrophages G-CSF mRNA levels are regulated primarily at a post-translational rather than a transcriptional level (E7). G-CSF acts on determined stem cells, driving them toward a granulocyte differentiation path, and also on mature granulocytes, inducing enhanced antibody-directed cell cytotoxicity and expression of receptors for chemotactic factors (P14, P15).

Unlike the other CSFs that are produced as single-chain polypeptides, M-CSF is produced as a dimer of two identical subunits. Alternative RNA splicing sites and N-glycosylation events give rise to a heterogeneous population of molecules, with the apparent molecular weight of each subunit being between 35 and 45 kDa (A14). The gene encoding M-CSF has been cloned (K8) and is located on chromosome 5 (5q33.1) in humans, close to those of IL-3 and GM-CSF. In addition to those cells producing G-CSF, fibroblasts are an important source of M-CSF. As for G-CSF, M-CSF mRNA levels are regulated primarily at a post-translational level (E7). The main activities of this cytokine appear to be induction of determined stem cells toward the macrophage linage and activation of mature macrophages (H38, L20).

#### 2.6.2. Interleukin-4

Interleukin 4 (IL-4) was originally described as a costimulator, with antiimmunoglobulin antibodies, of B-cell proliferation (H35). The gene for IL-4 is located on chromosome 5 and only one active gene has been identified (C15). The mature gene product is a glycoprotein with an apparent molecular weight of 16–20 kDa. A high-affinity receptor for IL-4 has been described  $(1-2 \times 10^{-10} M)$ . [Crosslinking and immunoprecipitation studies suggest that the IL-4 receptor is a 140kDa protein and is associated with membrane-bound accessory proteins (F25, M50, P22, Z7, Z8).] Originally identified as a B-cell growth factor (H35) it has become apparent that this cytokine exerts other effects on B cells. IL-4 induces MHC class II antigen expression and enhanced IgG1 immunoglobulin synthesis in mice (A16, F16, G12) and enhanced IgA synthesis by human B cells (F20). Another important property of IL-4 is its T-cell growth-factor-like activity (M33, V3).

#### 2.6.3. Interleukin-5

Interleukin 5 (IL-5) was originally described as a B-cell differentiation antigen called T-cell replacing factor. IL-5 is a 20-kDa glycoprotein, the mature protein comprising 123 amino acids (Y4). It has been suggested that the carbohydrate component of IL-5 is important in its biological activity (T12). A single IL-5 gene has been described and gives rise to a 0.9-kb mRNA transcript (L11). Specific high-affinity receptors for IL-5 have been identified on IL-5-dependent cell lines and on human eosinophils (C22, M38, P13). IL-5 has two major activities in the mouse, B-lymphocyte stimulation (R2, R19, S8, S18, S27) and eosinophil stimulation (C28, E5, S23, W9). In humans B-cell stimulatory activity of IL-5 is controversial.

#### 2.6.4. Interleukin-7

Interleukin-7 (IL-7) plays an important role in stimulating the growth and differentiation of pre-B cells in the bone marrow (H15, S56). The major source of IL-7 in the bone marrow appears to be stromal cells (H10, K14), upon which B-cell development in the bone marrow appears to be dependent (S56). IL-7 may also play a role in stimulating development of thymocytes (E14, O3, S2) and also appears to stimulate proliferation and differentiation of mature T lymphocytes (B33, C18). Receptors for human IL-7 have been identified, cloned, and assigned to the hemopoietic growth factor receptor family (G17).

#### 2.6.5. Interleukin-8 and Related Cytokines

Early studies suggested that IL-1 and TNF were chemotactic for PMN. However, it has become apparent that this activity resides in a family of molecules of 10 kDa, called neutrophil activating peptides (NAP) or IL-8 (L15). IL-1 and TNF induce the release of these molecules from mononuclear cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and keratinocytes and they act on a specific receptor expressed by PMN. The main activity ascribed to these molecules is PMN chemotaxis, but the molecules may cause oxygen radical and enzyme release by PMN and mobilize PMN into the circulation. The common feature that identifies members of this family of peptides is alignment of four cysteine residues. IL-8 is the most potent chemotactic member of this family. Synthesized as a 99-amino-acid precursor, IL-8 is released as a 79-amino-acid molecule, IL-8a, which itself is further cleaved to 77- and 72-amino-acid forms, IL-86 and IL-89. IL-89 is predominantly found to be associated with macrophages and may reflect the proteolytic enzymes released by macrophages. Receptors for IL-8 have been identified on PMN and approximately 20% of lymphocytes. The three-dimensional structure of IL-8 (NAP-1) has been reported (C27).

#### THE CYTOKINES

#### 2.6.6. Interleukin-9

Interleukin-9 (IL-9) is a glycoprotein with an apparent molecular weight of 58 kDa and is encoded by a gene on chromosome 22 in humans. IL-9 was originally identified and characterized as a macrophage differentiation factor that inhibited proliferation of leukemic progenitor cells and was called leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (M29). It has since been demonstrated that this cytokine has a number of other activities. IL-9 inhibits differentiation of embryonic stem cells, allowing the long-term maintenance of these cells in culture (P5). IL-9 was demonstrated to be identical to the third hepatocyte stimulating factor (HSF III), immunochemically distinct from IL-6 and IL-1 but biologically indistinguishable from IL-6 (B16). Because of this reported biological identity with IL-6, the expression of IL-9 receptors on osteoblasts (A13), and the ability of this cytokine to induce calcium release from bone (R8), as well as its action as a lipoprotein lipase inhibitor (M48), IL-9 has been suggested to have an important role in the regulation of acute inflammation.

#### 2.6.7. Interleukin-10

Interleukin-10 (IL-10)—originally called cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor appears to act chiefly as an inhibitor of cytokine synthesis (M45). However, it has also been reported that IL-10 is a growth factor for immature and mature T cells (M2) and stimulates cytotoxic T-cell differentiation (C21).

#### 2.6.8. Transforming Growth Factor-β

Transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) inhibits the proliferation of T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, NK cells, and hemopoietic cells (K9, K10, L28, R23). TGF $\beta$  is a potent inhibitor of IL-1 activity and it has been suggested that this effect is mediated by inhibition of IL-1 receptor expression (D28).

#### 2.7. CYTOKINE INHIBITORS

Cytokine inhibitors can be loosely divided into three groups: cytokines themselves, cytokine receptor antagonists, and cytokine binding molecules. Many cytokines can inhibit or antagonize the activity of other cytokines. Two important examples are TGF $\beta$  and IL-10, described above. The only authentic cytokine receptor antagonist so far described binds the IL-1 receptor (see Section 2.7.1.). Many molecules exhibit cytokine binding activity, including soluble receptor proteins as well as plasma proteins (see Section 2.7.2.).

#### 2.7.1. Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist

An IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) has been purified from human monocyteconditioned medium (22 kDa) (E3, H4) and the human U937 monocyte cell line (25 kDa). The latter antagonist has been found to bind selectively to the highaffinity IL-1 receptor on T lymphocytes and fibroblasts but not to the receptor, of slightly lower affinity, on bone marrow granulocytes, pre-B cells, and macrophages (C14). *In vitro*, the receptor antagonist has been shown to inhibit IL-1induced adhesion of neutrophils and eosinophils to endothelial cells in a concentration-dependent fashion and to inhibit both IL-1 $\alpha$  and - $\beta$  activities in the LAF assay. *In vivo*, the receptor antagonist has been found to suppress corticosterone release when it is injected subcutaneously into the mouse hind paw together with IL-1 $\alpha$  and - $\beta$ . In contrast an 18- to 25-kDa inhibitor purified from the urine of patients with monocytic leukemia (B6) was able to block fibroblast proliferation, was effective against both IL-1 $\alpha$  and - $\beta$ , and appeared to act at the cell surface or at the receptor.

#### 2.7.2. Soluble Cytokine Binding Proteins

Two types of soluble binding protein have been described, nonspecific serum proteins and cytokine-specific soluble receptor proteins. The major nonspecific serum protein capable of binding cytokines appears to be  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin (B57, B58, M11). A number of soluble cytokine inhibitors related to the relevant receptor have been described. The soluble form of the IL-2R  $\alpha$  chain has been found in the serum of apparently normal individuals and is increased in the serum of individuals with inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (W31). Similar molecules have been described for IL-1, IL-6, IFN $\gamma$ , and IL-7 (F7, N14, S62). The mechanism of release has not been properly established but appears to require proteolytic cleavage of the membrane-bound receptor. Soluble inhibitors for two other cytokines, IL-4 and TNF, appear to be derived by alternative RNA splicing sites that give rise to receptors lacking a transmembrane sequence and that are secreted (M50, S22).

#### 3. Pathophysiology

#### 3.1. INFLAMMATION AND THE ACUTE PHASE RESPONSE

Inflammation involves a series of cellular changes that facilitate phagocytosis and the killing of microorganisms or the digestion of cell debris. This is followed by proliferation of connective tissue cells and repair. Both of these events require the complex control of various cell types at a local level. There is increasing evidence that, while many different molecules mediate effects such as vascular permeability and chemotaxis, cytokines control many of the cellular processes of inflammation.

The local processes of inflammation are facilitated by systemic metabolic changes that mobilize energy as glucose, fatty acids, and amino acids. Fever potentiates several enzymatic reactions in inflammatory and tissue cells that, perhaps because they may be damaging to host tissues, operate at a suboptimal level at normal body temperature. Leukocytosis provides an increased supply of phagocytic cells. Suppressive effects such as the release of cortisol may curtail the potentially destructive effects of inflammation. Production of acute phase proteins by the liver provides an increased tissue supply of certain inflammatory mediators and inhibitors. All these events are controlled by the same multifunctional cytokines, which exert key local controls.

The systemic responses that accompany trauma and inflammation are known as the acute phase response (D16). The present evidence supports the idea that this is an adaptive response conditioning the "milieu interieur" so that inflammation and healing may progress optimally. A complex array of hormones and cytokines induces and controls the components of this response and it is rapidly becoming clear that these and the nervous system are closely integrated.

#### 3.1.1. Acute Phase Proteins

Acute phase proteins are a family of approximately 30 plasma proteins produced in increased amounts by the liver in inflammation. They may all have roles to play in inflammation or the healing process that follows (Table 3). The rate of increase in their plasma concentration and the incremental changes that occur following inflammation vary considerably among them and reflect their induction by different cytokines and their molecular size, volume of distribution, and rate of catabolism both in the circulation and at the site of inflammation. Inflammation complicated by other processes such as intravascular coagulation may thus induce a different pattern of acute phase protein elevation, although in simple acute inflammation it is very stereotyped for a particular species of animal.

Since the liver was discovered to be the major site of acute phase protein synthesis, a vast amount of experimental work has been directed toward elucidation of the chemical messengers involved in synthesis and regulation. Although several cytokines have been implicated, the complexity of the acute phase response is only just becoming apparent and it is likely that synergistic interaction takes place not only between cytokines, but also between cytokines, hormones, and other molecules.

In the 1980s IL-1 was generally believed to be the major inducer of acute phase protein production. However, it is now apparent that IL-1 can induce only a limited number of acute phase protein genes and it has also been shown to act in a negative manner by suppressing the induction of a number of acute phase proteins (including fibrinogen in rat and humans as well as  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin and cysteine proteinase inhibitor in the rat) caused by other mediators such as IL-6 (A15, D2, K23). Apart from suggestions of differential production of  $\alpha_1$ -acid glycoprotein ( $\alpha_1$ -AGP) (G9), both the  $\alpha$  and the  $\beta$  forms of IL-1, encoded by separate genes, are equipotent in their actions on hepatocytes, and their receptors on human and murine lymphocytes have been shown to be identical (D24).

TABLE 3			
<b>ACUTE PHASE PROTEIN</b>	IS		

Protein	Result
Inflammatory r	nediators
Complement components	Opsonization, chemotaxis, and mast cell degranulation
C-reactive protein	Phosphorylcholine binding, complement activation, and oponization
Factor VIII (with fibrinogen and prothrombin)	Fibrin matrix formation (clotting)
Kallikrein (kininogenase)	Vascular permeability and dilatation
Plasminogen	Activation of complement, clotting, and fibrinolysis
Proteinase in	hibitors
Antithrombin III, C1-1NH, factor 1, and factor H	Control of mediator pathways
al-Antitrypsin	Elastase and collagenase
a1-Antichymotrypsin	Cathepsin G
Haptoglobin	Cathepsins B, H, and L?
Thiol proteinase inhibitors	Cysteine proteinases
Scaveng	ers
Ceruloplasmin	[O <sub>2</sub> -]?
C-reactive protein	DNA?
Haptoglobin	Hemoglobin
Serum amyloid A	Cholesterol
Immune reg	ulation
al-Acid Glycoprotein	Monocyte production of the IL-1ra
C-reactive protein	T- and B-cell interaction
Repair and re	solution
al-Acid glycoprotein	Promotes fibroblast growth
α1-Antitrypsin	Binds to elastic fibers
a1-Antichymotrypsin	Inhibits remodeling by leukocyte proteinases?

In some circumstances, TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , molecules with the same spectrum of activities at other cellular target sites, have similar acute phase protein inducing capabilities. In various rat hepatoma cell lines both molecules have been shown to increase synthesis of  $\alpha_1$ -AGP, haptoglobin, and C3 (B15), and to inhibit production of fibrinogen, thiostatin, and  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin (W26). In some cell systems and *in vivo*, the effect of recombinant TNF (rTNF) is not as potent as that of recombinant IL-1 (rIL-1) on the induction of acute phase proteins (D2, K23, S40), although it is generally thought that the same genes are affected.

Gauldie and others (G4) have suggested that IL-6, in combination with IL-1 $\beta$ and glucocorticoid, accounts for all the hepatic-specific stimulation by monocytes, and Baumann and co-workers have described an additive effect of IL-6, IL-1, and glucocorticoids on  $\alpha_1$ -AGP and haptoglobin synthesis in rat hepatoma H-35 cells. In contrast, IL-1 was found to have a negative additive effect on IL-6 induction of fibrinogen in rat and human cells and on thiostatin and  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin in the rat (G4). These effects—the collated results using several cell lines—are summarized in Table 4, which shows the acute phase proteins as distinct subsets based on differential induction by combinations of cytokines. More recently it has become clear that IL-9 is also an important acute phase protein, inducing cytokine (see earlier), and it would not be surprising if additional hepatocyte regulating factors were rapidly identified.

IL-6 is known to be produced by a wide variety of cells, including fibroblasts, synovial cells, endothelial cells, and hepatocytes themselves (L29) and reports of significant expression of IL-6 in normal human hepatocytes (T14) and IL-1-stimulated hepatoma cells (N6) suggest that an autocrine mechanism may be involved in liver stimulation. However, IL-6 mRNA expression was not detected in the liver of normal rats or those undergoing an acute phase response (B13) and suggested caution when interpreting data using isolated hepatocytes cultured under nonphysiologic conditions such as in the absence of corticosteroids.

Conflicting evidence exists regarding the effect of IFN $\gamma$  on the acute phase response, and lack of effect (G4) and inhibitory activity for some proteins and enhancement of others (M4) have been reported in the HepG2 cell line. Although the genes of complement components appear to be sensitive to IFN $\gamma$  when they are transfected into fibroblasts, the greatest contribution of IFN $\gamma$  to the acute phase

Group	Protein
	I
Induced by IL-1, TNF, or IL-6	$\alpha$ 1-Acid glycoprotein, complement C3,
	complement factor B, haptoglobin, serum amyloid
	11
Induced by IL-6 only	$\alpha$ 1-Antitrypsin, $\alpha$ 1-antichymotrypsin,
	ceruloplasmin, C-reactive protein, cysteine
	proteinase inhibitor, fibrinogen
	III
Coopertion between IL-1 and IL-6	Synergize: a1-acid glycoprotein, complement
	component C3, haptoglobin
	Antagonize: fibrinogen, cysteine protease inhibitor

 TABLE 4

 Cytokine Induction of Acute Phase Proteins

response is likely to be via modulation of macrophage production of IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  (D26).

Although the direct effects of IL-1, TNF $\alpha$ , and IFN $\gamma$  on the liver appear to be rather limited, these cytokines affect other cells involved in the acute phase response, most notably endothelial cells and fibroblasts. IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  have been shown to induce the production of IL-6 in fibroblasts (K22), each is involved in the production of the other (B1, D20), and IL-1 can also induce its own gene expression (W11). In addition IL-1, acting directly on the pituitary to release adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) or indirectly through the hypothalamus to induce corticotrophin releasing hormones, can cause the increase in glucocorticoid necessary for the hepatic responses (B29, B35, L33).

The network of cytokines may well be viewed as an amplification system that controls acute phase protein production. Although the pattern of proteins synthesized is genetically programmed, it may be "finely tuned" by the cytokines, IL-6 being the main signal, with other cytokines and hormones acting as accessory modulators (Fig. 3). Proteins synthesized would therefore be determined by the sequence of exposure of the hepatocyte to the various regulating molecules. In this way the most effective homeostatic response to infection, inflammation, or tissue damage may be achieved.



FIG. 3. Cytokine regulation of acute phase protein synthesis. IL-1, TNF, and IL-6 produced by macrophages, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells at the site of inflammation stimulate hepatocytes to synthesize acute phase proteins. These cytokines also potentiate the release of glucocorticoids by adrenal cells. Glucocorticoids synergize with cytokines to stimulate acute phase protein synthesis but inhibit macrophage synthesis of cytokines.

#### 3.1.2. Metals

Inflammation is often associated with decreased serum levels of iron and zinc and increased levels of copper. The mechanism of these effects are entirely different.

Plasma iron levels fall within the first hour following operative trauma, paralleling transferrin, to which all iron in plasma is bound. This is probably due to alterations in vascular permeability mediated by a multiplicity of factors (M58). Iron levels, however, continue to fall and transferrin saturation decreases, reaching about 20% of initial value 12 hr following the onset of trauma. Iron is rapidly sequestered in damaged tissue, probably as a result of its complexing to lactoferrin, an iron binding protein released from polymorphonuclear leukocytes (B67). The iron lactoferrin complex is thus sequestered in macrophages as hemosiderin, a complex with ferritin. This iron is in a dynamic state and will subsequently reenter the transferrin-bound pool for participation in hemopoiesis.

Degranulation of PMN, releasing lactoferrin, can be induced by purified preparations of endogenous pyrogen and the activity may well reside within IL-1 (K18). Iron is essential for bacterial growth and the rapid sequestration of iron at inflammatory sites may serve as an antimicrobial mechanism and even the lowplasma iron may confer a protective effect (B67).

Following acute trauma in humans plasma zinc levels fall by about 40% during the first 8 hr. The initial fall parallels that of albumin (the major zinc binding protein of plasma), which stops at about 2 to 4 hr, whereas zinc continues to fall, reducing the amount carried on the protein. As with iron, the first phase is due to loss of albumin from the vascular to the extravascular compartment.

The second phase of zinc reduction, which persists for the duration of inflammation, can be induced *in vivo* by endogenous pyrogen administration (K2). *In vitro* rIL-6 but not rIL-1 increases hepatocyte levels of metallothionine (S19), which, under normal conditions, is transcriptionally regulated by dietary zinc. Induction of metallothionine synthesis by glucocorticoids, catecholamines, glucagon, and IL-6 results in rapid transfer of zinc from plasma to the hepatocyte. The role of the response is unclear, although zinc is necessary for microbial growth. The increase in copper as seen in inflammation is a consequence of cytokine-induced secretion from the liver into the plasma of the copper containing protein ceruloplasmin (see later).

#### 3.1.3. Leucocytosis

There is a well-known association between increased numbers of immature peripheral blood PMN and the acute response to infection, trauma, and inflammation. PMN enter the circulation from the marginal pool in response to many signals such as complement factors, catecholamines, prostaglandins, and cytokines, whereas release from the bone marrow of immature cells and accelerated turnover
are mediated by cytokines. IL-1 induces PMN released from the marrow (U3) and, along with IL-6 and IL-3, production of specific granulocyte and macrophage replication factors (colony stimulating factors from various cell types) (S28).

## 3.1.4. The Pituitary-Adrenal Axis and Cortisol Release

Exposure to bacterial toxins has been long known to stimulate release of ACTH from the anterior pituitary. Indeed the administration of endotoxin was used as a clinical test of anterior pituitary function. Experiments with hypophysectomized animals show that most corticosterone release caused by endotoxin is mediated by ACTH but that a significant extrapituitary mechanism also exists.

Besedovsky first showed in 1986 (B35) that rIL-1 $\beta$  increased ACTH and cortisol levels in mice. Corticotrophic cells from pituitaries incubated with IL-1 confirmed that it is a potent secretagogue for ACTH. *In vivo* increases in ACTH and corticosterone were blocked by antibodies to CRF, implying a hypothalamic site of action. IL-1 is also able to induce corticosteroine release directly from adrenal gland cells (S4, S5) but rIL-6 is even more potent in this respect and it synergizes with low concentrations of ACTH (S5).

Glucocorticoids have strong "antishock" and "antiendotoxin" effects and critically ill patients who fail to manifest an appropriate response have a poor prognosis (F17). The immediate cortisol increase of trauma is undoubtedly mediated by neural pathways; however, IL-1 and IL-6 may play an important role in sepsis. There is poor correlation between levels of ACTH and continuing high levels of corticosteroid several days after the onset of trauma and, since serum levels of IL-1 and IL-6 have been shown to rise and remain elevated for several days following severe trauma, these cytokines are strong candidates as factors controlling the long-term adrenal response.

## 3.1.5. Fever

It has been shown experimentally that increased temperature, within the physiological range of fever, greatly enhances a number of cellular functions integral to inflammation and host survival. It has been suggested that some aspects of the immune response and inflammation do not function optimally at normal body temperature and, by optimizing these responses at temperatures reached only "in disease," these powerful and potentially damaging systems can be brought into play when their protective effect is required. *In vitro* effects enhanced by temperatures at or above 40°C include enhanced bactericidal activity of human PMN against certain gram-negative bacteria and the antiviral effects of IFN $\gamma$  (H18); enhanced proliferative responses of T cells to mitogen, IL-1, and IL-2 (B56, D30); and increased B-cell antibody production in response to T-cell cytokines (H5). Thus phagocytosis and bacterial and viral killing are potentiated. In addition, metabolic changes in other cells, such as prostaglandin production, muscle proteolysis, and oxygen radical production, are increased.

In vivo many experiments have shown the beneficial effect of increased body temperature against viral and bacterial infection. Increased survival from bacterial infection (K20) in lizards was shown to be due to more rapid recruitment of leukocytes to the site of infection and containment of spread (B30) at higher induced temperature. In infected fish, fever was associated with significantly enhanced survival (C36). Enhanced survival from infection at increased body temperature has been observed in mice infected with herpes simplex and other viruses (S17), puppies with herpes virus (C12), piglets with gastroenteritis virus (F33), rabbits with pneumococcal pneumonia (R13), and humans with bacterial peritonitis (W17). Experimental work over many years has shown that fever is mediated by peptides released from inflammatory cells, collectively known as endogenous pyrogen. The main pyrogenic cytokines appear to be IL-1, TNF, and IL-6. Dinarello (D18), in attempting to identify the pyrogen in leukocyte supernatants, has concluded that activity is due to a mixture of all of them. A 1°C fever in rabbits is induced by about 20 ng/kg of IL-1, 200 ng/kg of TNF, and 1 µg/kg of IL-6. Because all the molecules have a similar molecular weight, IL-1 is more potent on a molar basis, and in fever IL-1 rises to 1 ng/ml, TNF to 3 ng/ml, and IL-6 to 300 pg/ml in plasma.

Injection of endogenous pyrogen into the brain suggests that the sole site of action is the anterior hypothalamus. Certain prostaglandins, notably  $PGE_1$ , induce an immediate fever when they are injected into the same areas but are not blocked by prostaglandin synthetase inhibitors, such as aspirin, whereas endogenous pyrogen is. This has led to the conclusion that  $PGE_1$  is the final common pathway in pyrogenesis. Several monoamines, including catecholamines and serotonin, may also be pyrogenic.

## 3.1.6. Sleep and Analgesia

IL-1 acts on the brain to induce slow-wave sleep (and analgesia), which is not blocked by salicylates that prevent the concomitant fever (K30, T10). In humans plasma IL-1 levels are higher during slow-wave sleep than in waking (M42). IL-1 is secreted by astrocytes in response to bacterial products, probably explaining the sleep-inducing effects of endotoxin and muramyl dipeptide (F23).

Purified human IFNy causes naloxone-reversible analgesia in mice (B47) and rats (N4), suggesting opiate agonist effects. rIL-1 $\alpha$  and - $\beta$  have analgesic actions that are not naloxone reversible but are partly prevented by intravenous injection of antibody against corticotrophin releasing factor, again suggesting that opioid peptides may be induced.

## 3.1.7. Energy Metabolism

There is evidence for cytokine-mediated effects on the hormones of intermediary metabolism in the acute phase response but it is conflicting. The early work showed that leukocyte supernatants caused insulin and glucagon release in the pancreas (G11), although more recently IL-1 appeared to be cytotoxic for pancreatic islet cells (D17). Other work suggests that IL-1 may increase production of both insulin and glucagon (B27). Studies of the hyperlipidemia accompanying parasitic infection have led to the observation that TNF, and to a lesser extent IL-1, inhibits lipoprotein lipase and enzymes responsible for the conversion of glucose to fatty acid (B37, B38). Decreased glucose utilization for fat synthesis results in greater availability of glucose for metabolism by peripheral tissues, and the unopposed action of fat cell lipase releases fatty acids from fat stores for similar use. The resulting weight loss and cachexia give the name cachectin to TNF $\alpha$ .

## 3.1.8. Pathological Aspects

A number of cytokines have been implicated in the pathology of inflammatory disease. In particular the role of IL-1 has been extensively investigated. In-traarticular administration of IL-1 induces inflammatory changes identical to those seen in some animal models of chronic arthritis (P10). IL-1 has been shown to mediate cartilage matrix degradation, inhibit synthesis of proteoglycans, induce the breakdown of bone matrix, and stimulate  $PGE_2$  synthesis (D5, D12, M40). More recently IL-6 and TNF have been shown to have many of the properties attributed to IL-1 and it remains to be established which cytokines exert an effect *in vivo*. Increased levels of all three of these cytokines, IL-1, TNF, and IL-6, have also been reported in the synovial fluid from arthritic joints (N12).

A number of reports have suggested that a peripheral IL-2 T-cell defect exists in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, SLE, and other inflammatory disease (I3, K17). On the other hand, sera from individuals with RA or SLE have elevated levels of soluble IL-2 receptor, which has been postulated to act as a carrier protein for IL-2 (R31). Other investigators have shown that, if rested prior to *in vitro* stimulation, T cells from RA and SLE patients do not exhibit the IL-2 defect (H37) and that cells removed before disease manifestation actually hypersecrete IL-2 (W20). More recently it has been suggested that rather than an IL-2 defect, many inflammatory (and autoimmune) diseases might be IL-2 driven (K29).

The role of three cytokines, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-6, in mediating the acute phase response has been described above. Levels of circulating IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-6 have been measured in individuals suffering severe trauma. In burn patients, levels of IL-6 are raised significantly above those of controls (N6) and similar increases have also been reported in a more controlled study of patients undergoing elective surgery (C38). Another consequence of severe trauma is immunosuppression (F1). The mechanism of this immunosuppression is not clear, although it has been suggested that increased serum levels of the soluble IL-2 receptor (TAC) and production of TGF $\beta$  by monocytes from burn patients may be responsible (T8, W6, W7). Another possibility is that IL-6 induces the release of corticosteroids from the adrenal gland (S4, S5) and that this suppresses the immune response by inhibiting the synthesis of cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-6 (B35, W5, Z1).

Systemic sclerosis (SS) is one connective tissue disease in which the role of cytokines has been investigated. IL-1 has been shown to both stimulate and suppress fibroblast proliferation (K24, P20). It has been reported that spontaneous IL-1 production by monocytes from SS patients is higher than that in normal cells (A11). It has also been reported that leukocytes from SS patients produce abnormal amounts of the cytokines that stimulate fibroblasts but normal amounts of INF $\gamma$  and INF $\alpha$  (i.e., cytokines that can inhibit collagenase synthesis). This suggests that the defect in SS might be the overstimulation of collagenase synthesis by fibroblasts and not loss of a negative signal (D33). On the other hand it has also been reported that monocytes from SS patients produce reduced levels of IL-1 $\beta$  (B28), as well as an IL-1 inhibitor (S7) upon stimulation.

Anomalies in the acute phase protein response have been reported in various diseases. Studies in systemic lupus erythematosus, dermatomyositis, systemic sclerosis, mixed connective tissue disease, ulcerative colitis, primary biliary cirrhosis, and chronic active hepatitis have shown low acute phase protein responses for the amount of inflammatory activity present (P6). This may be due either to diseaserelated unresponsiveness or to "down-regulation" of the acute phase response in chronic inflammation (M1, W16). Patients with systemic sclerosis do not mount an appreciable acute phase response to therapeutic infusion of PGE, compared with patients with atherosclerosis (W24), although they do to infections (C20).

Unresponsiveness in scleroderma was later shown to be associated with disease duration (S42). Increased spontaneous IL-1 activity and production of an IL-1 inhibitor have been shown in patients with this disease (see earlier), although decreased IL-1 monocyte production has been observed in a number of chronic diseases such as cancer, leprosy, and SLE (W27). Patients with osteoarthritis, SLE, and scleroderma were, however, found to respond to urate crystal injection in a manner comparable to that in controls (H40).

Decreased monocyte production of TNF also has been reported in SLE (Y9), as has decreased IL-6 production in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia, whereas Yorston *et al.* (Y5) showed that patients with recurrent iritis are progressively less likely to show acute phase responses with increasing numbers of previous attacks. In some conditions the acute phase response mechanisms may become refractory to certain stimuli or it may be that a greater degree of stimulation is required in chronic disease. Defective host response to tissue damage or injury could therefore enhance or perpetuate inflammation.

## 3.2. CYTOKINES AND LEUKOCYTE BIOLOGY

In addition to the macrophage and macrophage-derived cytokines that play a central role in controlling inflammation, the antigen-specific immune response utilizes T and B lymphocytes (Fig. 4). The role of cytokines in controlling the proliferation, differentiation, and interaction of these cells is described below.

## 3.2.1. T-Cell Physiology

A number of cytokines are involved in the development, clonal expansion, and activation of T lymphocytes. Many cytokines including IL-1, IL-2, IL-4, and IL-6 have a potential role in controlling early T-cell development (B9, E14, G2, K13, K25, O3, R26, W14, W32, Z4). IL-1 and IL-6 appear to play distinct but related roles as accessory factors in antigen-mediated T-cell activation (A2, C7, F5, H34, K4, V6, W15). The main growth factors stimulating T-cell proliferation or clonal expansion are IL-2 and IL-4. Both IL-2 and IL-4 are produced by activated T lymphocytes. In the mouse distinct populations of helper T cells produce IL-2 or IL-4,  $T_{H}1$ , and  $T_{H}2$  (B10, M51). There is growing evidence that a similar distinction occurs in humans. Receptors for IL-2 and IL-4 are expressed on a variety of



FIG. 4. The role of cytokines in controlling cellular interactions involved in the immune and inflammatory responses. In an immune response, cells present antigens and release IL-1 to activate appropriate T-helper cells and IL-6, which acts as a B-cell differentiation factor. Activated T-helper cells produce a variety of cytokines, including lymphocyte growth (IL-2 and IL-4) and differentiation (IFN<sub>Y</sub> and IL-10) factors and hemopoietic growth factors (IL-3 and GM-CSF). Macrophages can also be activated by antigen nonspecific mitogens such as LPS. Cytokines released include those with proinflammatory activities such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-8, as well as the anti-inflammatory IL-6.

different cells, including activated T cells, resting and activated B cells, macrophages, and mast cells (B20, B41, C2, E9, L17, R16, R17, W8, Z7). Interestingly, IL-2 and IL-4 act as autocrine growth factors, in that T cells secreting IL-2 express IL-2 receptors and proliferate in response to IL-2 but not to IL-4. The situation is reversed for IL-4. Indeed, IL-4 will inhibit the response of T cells to IL-2 (M9). Both IL-2 and IL-4 also stimulate the proliferation of T<sub>C</sub> cells although apparently by distinct mechanisms. It would seem then that these two cytokines have complementary but subtly different roles, activating and stimulating proliferation in distinct populations of T cells, as a result of which the nature of an immune response to a particular antigen is subtly adjusted (L21, M52). There is evidence that preferential stimulation of particular T-cell subsets can contribute to the pathology of a disease. Different mouse strains infected with Leishmania exhibit different forms of disease. One strain with high IL-4 and IgE but low IFNy shows poor delayed-type hypersensitivity responses, suggesting overactive  $T_{\mu}2$  cells, and develops a severe generalized form of disease. Another strain with low IL-4 and IgE has a milder localized infection. Injection of antigen-specific T<sub>H</sub>1 clones into infected mice clears infection, whereas injection of T<sub>H</sub>2 cells exacerbates infection (L21, M52).

## 3.2.2. B-Cell Physiology

Cytokines from both types of activated T cells, as well as those from antigen presenting cells, act in concert to regulate B-lymphocyte proliferation and differentiation (C3, O2). As described earlier  $T_H^2$  cells produce IL-4 and IL-5, which together influence the switch toward IgE and IgA (R20, Y4). On the other hand the  $T_H^1$  cytokines IFN $\gamma$  and IL-2 also influence immunoglobulin production. IFN $\gamma$ antagonizes the action of IL-4, so that IL-2 and IFN $\gamma$  acting together can induce production of IgG (K16). The macrophage-derived cytokine IL-6 also acts on activated B cells, stimulating the general synthesis of immunoglobulin (R6). It therefore seems likely that the nature of an antibody response is determined by the cytokine profile associated with a particular immune response;  $T_H^1$  cells will tend to stimulate IgM and IgG antibodies, whereas  $T_H^2$  cells will stimulate IgA and IgE antibody synthesis.

## 3.2.3. Myelopoiesis

Many cytokines play a role in myelopoiesis (Fig. 5). An important group includes the CSFs that stimulate proliferation of developing macrophage and granulocyte populations (M23). In addition to their proliferative role, these cytokines may be involved in triggering differentiation, maintaining cell viability, and functional stimulation of mature macrophage and granulocytic cells. The action of these cytokines has been interpreted in terms of the differentiation stage of the responsive cells, so that pluripotent stem cells respond to IL-3, giving rise to a wide range of cell types, whereas M-CSF and G-CSF act on relatively late-stage cells, which have only the potential to develop into a macrophage or a granulocyte (M30, S50). While it is clear that each CSF can act on its own specific receptor (M56, P3), there are reports describing the cross-reactivity of colony stimulating factors on each other's receptors (P2). It is also clear that different CSF receptors can be expressed at the same time on the same cell (C8, P4) and that they regulate expression of each other's receptors (K27, P3). Evidence suggesting receptor heterogeneity for some CSF receptors is also beginning to accumulate (C8, P2). It is thus likely that different CSFs act in a complex but coordinated fashion to control differentiation and proliferation of myeloid cells.

Several cytokines other than the CSFs also play a role in myelopoiesis; for instance, IL-6 has been shown to hasten the emergence of blast cell colony forming cells in the presence of IL-3 (L8). It has also been demonstrated that all of the CSFs can induce production of IL-6 in normal myeloid cells and that IL-6 can induce production of GM-CSF and expression of receptors for GM-CSF, IL-3, and G-CSF in leukemic cells (S1). Cytokines that do not have a direct effect on myeloid cells can still effect myelopoiesis indirectly by inducing synthesis of other cytokines. IL-1 has been shown to induce production of IL-6 and CSFs from a variety of cell types, including macrophages, lymphocytes, stromal cells, and endothelial cells present in the bone marrow (S28). A stromal cell factor that supports the long-term culture of B cells has been characterized and called IL-7 (H39). This cytokine plays an important role in maintaining a population of pre-B lymphocytes, although it does not appear to stimulate differentiation of pre-B cells to B cells. In summary, combinations of cytokines acting in both an autocrine and a paracrine fashion may be required for properly regulated proliferation and differentiation of myelopoietic cells (D10, K14, P18).

## 3.2.4. Pathological Aspects

In malignant disease, the major interest lies in the suggestion that IL-6 may be a growth factor for plasma cells in myeloma. At the moment the evidence is interesting, but the conclusions are controversial.

In 1972 Namba and Hanaoka (N5) showed that pristane-induced plasmacytomas in BALB/C mice depended for their *in vitro* growth on a monocytederived factor, at that time unidentified, but subsequently shown to be IL-6. A murine plasmacytoma cell line with a gene insertion upstream of the IL-6 gene was found to constitutively produce IL-6. Further studies showed that in culture mouse plasmacytomas could be rendered dependent on IL-6 for growth, which could be blocked by antibodies to IL-6 or its receptor. If such cells were transfected with IL-6 cDNA, they showed autonomous growth and tumorigenicity when they were transplanted in mice. Growth of subsequent tumors *in vivo* could be inhibited and even reversed by monoclonal antibodies capable of blocking the binding of IL-6 to its receptor. Further evidence was provided by the finding that massive lethal plasmacytomas occurred spontaneously in transgenic mice bearing a human IL-6



FIG. 5. The role of cytokines in controlling hemopoiesis. Many cytokines play a role in hemopoiesis by stimulating the proliferation and differentiation of cells derived from a pluripotent stem cell population. Early differentiation events take place in the bone marrow, where IL-3, GM-CSF, and IL-7 appear to have important stimulatory roles. TGF $\beta$  is a negative regulator of early cell differentiation. B-lymphocyte and myeloid cell development continues in the bone marrow while T-lymphocyte development is completed in the thymus. A large number of cytokines have been suggested to act on immature cells to encourage linage specific development.

gene fused with the immunoglobulin heavy-chain enhancer, giving rise to high levels of constitutive IL-6 production. However, such plasma cells did not produce transplantable tumors, nor did they contain apparent *c-myc* gene rearrangements, which are observed in almost all pristane-induced plasmacytoma cells that form transplantable tumors. Such evidence strongly suggested a possible role for IL-6 in plasmacytomas, although clearly other factors or events were required for full tumorigenesis.

Freeman et al. (F26) demonstrated that in four cases of myeloma that they studied, IL-6 mRNA was expressed in the myeloma cells. In addition cytoplasmic IL-6 was detectable. These findings have been difficult to repeat and other workers have suggested that bone marrow-adherent cells (monocytes) rather than plasma cells are the source of IL-6 in the bone marrow of myeloma patients. However, further studies have shown that the plasma cells from about 50% of myeloma patients are responsive to IL-6 in short-term culture and that antibodies specific for IL-6 inhibit spontaneous uptake of tritiated thymidine, thus suggesting that IL-6 may be acting as an autocrine growth factor. Furthermore, the growth inducing activity of IL-1 and TNF on freshly isolated myeloma cells is blocked by antibodies to IL-6. Cytokines other than IL-6 may also play a role in myeloma. IL-3 appears to act synergistically with IL-6 (B26), whereas IL-4 acts to inhibit the growth of freshly isolated myeloma cells (T6). Klein (B11) from Montpelier was able to show that the in vitro IL-6 response of myeloma cells obtained from patients with multiple myeloma was directly correlated with the in vivo labeling index of these tumors and that serum IL-6 levels, which were frequently raised in these patients, correlated well with disease severity.

The experimental analogue of the transgenic mouse in humans is cardiac myxoma. Patients with this condition frequently show evidence of autoimmune disease, polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia, fever, and increases in acute phase proteins. These changes are associated with very high serum levels of IL-6, which has been shown to be expressed by the myxoma cells themselves. Extensive marrow plasmacytosis occurs in this condition, which is reversed upon removal of the tumor. However, malignant transformation and myelomatosis have not been described (J5). A comparable but more complex condition is Castleman's disease, in which activated B cells in the germinal centers of hyperplastic lymph nodes produced IL-6. Symptoms similar to those of cardiac myxoma were seen and, in one case, malignant myeloma developed. The nature of Castleman's disease is, however, unclear, and viruses or other factors activating the lymph node B cells are likely.

There is thus tantalizing evidence to suggest that deregulation of gene expression for IL-6 could be instrumental in the polyclonal plasmacytoma process and the generation of blood cell neoplasias. In many malignant lymphomas, as with pristane-induced plasmacytomas in mice, there is translocation of c-myc to the chromosomal location of the immunoglobulin genes, which are normally highly

transcribed, and the c-myc protein is thus constitutively produced at high levels. In normal B lymphocytes c-myc is only transiently expressed early in the cell cycle and in response to growth promoting cytokines. The c-myc gene product is a DNA binding nuclear transcription factor. In developing follicular B cells IL-6 appears to induce expression of the BclII oncogene product that is associated with the mitochondria. The questions that arise are thus of great interest. Is this mutation necessary for IL-6 response? As with many tumors, is the progress from plasmacytoma to malignant transformation a multistep process? Why are the data from different groups apparently in contradiction? Does the newly described IL-6 inhibitor have a role to play? It is produced along with IL-6 by granuloma-derived macrophages. Could it be that, under some circumstances of culture, it is produced by myeloma cells to inhibit responsiveness to exogenous IL-6 and could it play a role in therapy?

In man a surprising number of myelopoietic growth factors have been mapped to a region on the long arm of chromosome 5, frequently associated with translocation events or deletions seen in leukemia (R29). Genes coding for GM-CSF, M-CSF, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, and the cellular receptor for M-CSF have been located in the 5p23–35 region. Evidence from both *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems suggests that these cytokines, which play a central role in the up-regulation of myelopoiesis and in increasing the rate of release of blood cells into the circulation, may contribute to leukemia if they are inappropriately expressed as a consequence of gene translocation or deletion (R29).

## 3.3. CYTOKINES AND SEPSIS

Cytokines are peptide molecules that are produced by or act on cells of the immune and inflammatory systems. These molecules regulate the local and systemic events of the immune response, inflammation, hematopoiesis, and wound healing (B22, B65, H17, L10, W25). It is not surprising then to find cytokines playing an important role in those processes, following trauma, that lead to multiple organ failure (MOF) (Fig. 6). At the simplest level there are two major factors that contribute independently to MOF, shock, and septicemia. The role of cytokines in septicemia has been extensively examined and is considered later. The role of cytokines in shock is less well understood and is not considered any further here, except to note a recent report suggesting the presence of high levels of TNF when hemorrhage accompanies trauma but not following trauma alone (A18, A19).

## 3.3.1. Trauma-Induced Immune Suppression

In spite of aggressive antibiotic therapy and the practice of good hygiene, systemic bacterial infection is frequently a serious complication following trauma and one that can result in MOF (F1). Perhaps the most important factor contribut-



FIG. 6. The role of cytokines in the antigen-independent activation of monocytes and T lymphocytes. *Gram-negative endotoxins*. Cells of the monocyte/macrophage linage can be activated by bacterial endotoxins such as LPS to produce proinflammatory cytokines, especially IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-8. IL-1 $\beta$  produced by activated macrophages will stimulate T-helper cells to produce IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\beta$ . *Gram-positive enterotoxins*. Many enterotoxins such as toxic shock syndrome toxin-1 can cross-link the T-cell receptor and macrophage MHC class II antigens activating both cells to produce the same spectrum of cytokines as endotoxin activated cells. The proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 and TNF stimulate production of inflammatory mediators such as reactive oxygen species, platelet activating factor, eicosanoids, and proteolytic enzymes. IL-8 is chemotactic for PMN. In concert with IFN $\gamma$ , TNF is cytostatic and cytotoxic for cells. IL-6 acts as an anti-inflammatory molecule stimulating the production of glucocorticoids and acute phase proteins.

ing to serious infection in traumatized individuals is the immunosuppression that occurs as a result of trauma (A3, F1, H28). Defects in T-cell-mediated immunity are readily demonstrated in trauma victims and there is also some evidence that PMN and macrophage functions are also suppressed (F2, M24, M35, R18, S46). The effect of such events is to weaken defenses against invading microorganisms. In particular the loss of PMN and macrophage function will predispose an individual to bacterial infection, whereas the loss of appropriate T-cell function will lead to a general inability to respond to the majority of invading microorganisms.

The mechanism by which immune suppression is brought about is not well understood, although it has been suggested that important mediators of T-cell suppression include the steroid hormones such as cortisol, soluble IL-2 receptor, trauma-derived peptides, and acute phase proteins (C35, E1, H28, O6, R18, S30, T7, T13). It is also possible that the impaired PMN and macrophage functions observed in trauma patients are not entirely the result of suppression but may be the result of excessive activation and depletion of functional cells from the circulation.

IL-6 has been suggested to play a major role in down-regulating inflammation, one consequence of which is immunosuppression. Important immunosuppressive actions of IL-6 are the induction of corticosteroids and acute phase protein synthesis. Corticosteroids are synthesized by the adrenal cortex largely under the control of pituitary ACTH. However, there is growing evidence that cytokines such as IL-6 can also regulate cortisol production and that T cells make an ACTH-like molecule. IL-6 is able to act both at the hypothalamic level to induce corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF) and directly on the adrenal to induce cortisol synthesis, and it has been suggested that IL-6 is particularly important in maintaining the long-term adrenal response to trauma (S5). Levels of IL-6 following trauma appear to correlate at least as well with cortisol concentrations, which remain elevated after ACTH levels return to normal, as with CRP levels (P1). Corticosteroids such as cortisol can potentially inhibit many aspects of the immune response; frequently these involve inhibition of cytokine synthesis (F13).

IL-6 appears to be the major mediator responsible for the control of acute phase protein synthesis (H11, L7). Acute phase proteins contribute in many ways to the down-regulation of inflammation, inhibition of proteinases, mopping up of reactive molecules, and immunoregulation. One protein in particular has been suggested to be immunosuppressive, AGP (B25, C35). A possible mechanism by which AGP can mediate immunosuppression is by stimulating synthesis by macrophages of an inhibitor of IL-1ra (see Section 2.7.1.) (B54).

A number of cytokines also play important roles in regulating other processes that might contribute to immunosuppression. SIL-2R is released by T lymphocytes stimulated to proliferate by IL-2. IL-1 and TNF induce the synthesis and release of proteinases that might contribute to the production of trauma-derived peptides. The effects of sIL-2R and trauma-derived peptides are probably particularly important at or close to the site of production; that is they are acting in a paracrine fashion.

## 3.3.2. Gram-Negative Septicemia

Gram-negative bacteria produce a cell wall component lipopolysaccharide (LPS) that, when purified and administered to animals, induces an acute phase response. If administered by an appropriate route and in sufficient quantity LPS can cause MOF (B4, N9) (Fig. 6). Cells of the macrophage/monocyte linage have been identified as important cellular targets for LPS (A6, B7, L18, M26, M49). Isolated macrophages stimulated with LPS produce a variety of cytokines including IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF $\alpha$ . Two of these cytokines, IL-1 and TNF, are mediators of the local and systemic effects occurring during infection (B36, B39, D12, D21, K33, W12). The role of IL-6 was discussed earlier (see Section 3.3.1.). Administration of either IL-1 or TNF to animals has been shown to induce many of the effects observed in bacterial sepsis (T15). Elevated TNF levels have been reported in acute lethal sepsis. These observations have led to the suggestion that TNF may mediate MOF

(H2, I4, K28, L25, M49). However, there is growing evidence that suggests that the role of TNF in MOF is not straightforward. In particular the reported levels of TNF and efficacy of antibodies against TNF are different in different models of lethal sepsis (B4). Systemic Escherichia coli infection induces high levels of circulating TNF, and antibodies to TNF inhibit the lethal consequences of infection. On the other hand, in compartmentalized infection, rat cecal ligation-induced peritonitis, no circulating or peritoneal TNF was detected and antibodies to TNF failed to inhibit lethal outcome. In another model, which used fecal material to infect the peritoneal cavity, circulating TNF levels were elevated but again antibodies failed to protect against lethal outcome (B4). Circulating TNF and IL-1 have been reliably detected only in the serum or plasma of individuals with severe acute sepsis. This may, however, be due to the presence of serum binding proteins masking lower levels of this cytokine (E6, G22, L3). Chronic administration of low doses of TNF does not mediate the effects of sepsis and when carefully investigated in animal models the effects of LPS and TNF are sometimes found to be different (K28, M55, R7). A more cautious view would be that TNF plays a major role only in some forms of sepsis and MOF. Interestingly it has been reported that the metabolic effects of TNF are different, depending on the site of production (T18). Another example of MOF resembling compartmentalized sepsis but in which bacterial infection is not apparent is severe acute pancreatitis. Recent investigations suggest that excessive PMN activation is a characteristic of this disease but that circulating levels of TNFa are not significantly different from those of TNFa with mild disease (B8). The implication being either than macrophages are not activated to produce  $TNF\alpha$  or that any TNF produced is utilized locally.

#### 3.3.3. Gram-Positive Septicemia

Gram-positive bacteria can also give rise to septicemia and multiple organ failure. Whereas this path to MOF may be less dramatic and more easily controlled, the cellular basis of gram-positive septicemia provides an interesting adjunct to that of gram-negative sepsis. Gram-positive bacteria produce toxins, so-called "super antigens," which act by cross-linking MHC antigens on macrophages with the T-cell antigen receptor (L2, L12, R14, U2) (Fig. 6). This cross-linking stimulates the T cells to produce mediators such as IL-1, TNF, and IFN $\gamma$  (F19, M32, U1) that participate directly in mediating an inflammatory response and stimulate macrophages to produce IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  as well as other mediators that amplify the inflammatory stimulus (D6, G25). Subsequent events probably resemble those of gram-negative-induced MOF.

# 3.3.4. Cytokines in the Activation of Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes and Macrophages

Whereas the evidence that TNF acts as a systemic mediator of MOF is controversial, the role of this cytokine along with IL-1 in mediating local tissue damage is now attracting the attention of investigators. A number of different cytokines are potentially involved in the recruitment and activation of PMN and macrophages, including the proinflammatory cytokines, IL-1, TNF, and IL-8. Of particular interest are IL-1 and TNF, which can be produced by macrophages and other cells in, and close to, traumatized tissues or by LPS-stimulated macrophages at distant sites. These cytokines have multiple roles in cell activation. They induce expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, facilitating recruitment of leukocytes from the circulation (C30, L5, L34, Z3). Many of the products produced by cells or the reticuloendothelial system in response to TNF can contribute to MOF: reactive oxygen species (D32, K3, W10), proteolytic enzymes, complement components (D4, H36, K5), eicosanoids (K29, L19, M44, M57), and platelet activating factor (M28, R1, S54). TNF and IL-1 induce the synthesis of themselves and each other by a variety of different cells, effectively amplifying the inflammatory response (A9, C32, H25, L23, S53, W21).

There is considerable evidence that TNF can effect many leukocyte activities and might be regarded as a systemic effector molecule for MOF. However, as mentioned earlier, the correlation of circulating TNF levels and MOF in some animal models with severe acute pancreatitis is not convincing. It remains possible that another mediator produced by LPS-stimulated macrophages is responsible for the events leading to MOF (M25, T9). Whatever the role of TNF as a systemic mediator, TNF may act together with other cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-8 in closed compartments to regulate many of the tissue damaging effects contributing to MOF.

## 4. Cytokine Measurements in Disease

## 4.1. INFLAMMATION

The key role of the macrophage-derived cytokines in inflammation and the acute phase response has already been discussed. On a theoretical basis it may be expected that their measurement in sera or other biological fluids would be a more sensitive or rapid indication of inflammatory activity than the secondary effects such as acute phase protein production.

## 4.1.1. Interleukin-1

Elevated plasma levels of IL-1 have been detected in a wide range of different conditions that are characterized by inflammation such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), acute arthritides (D13, E2, M5), Crohns disease (S10), periodontitis (C16), sunburn (G20), burns (K34), endometriosis (F3), psoriasis (C5), gram-positive meningitis (S11), and extended exercise in healthy volunteers (C9). In RA there is some correlation with disease activity (E2). In synovial fluid, biologically active

and immunoreactive IL-1 are detectable in rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, and other arthritides, and inhibitory activity in biological assays is present in many cases (F22, H30, N13, S43, W30). In a study of synovial fluid from various arthritides, 49% of 111 fluids contained immunoreactive IL-1; of these 74% were from RA and 15% from seronegative arthritides, whereas 11% were from patients with noninflammatory arthritis (W19). Syntheses of IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA (B66) and the IL-1 $\beta$  molecule have been demonstrated in synovia (D29). Raised ventricular fluid IL-1 levels have been found in head injury (M18). IL-1 has been detected in the CSF of patients with multiple sclerosis (H9). TNF was also found to be present in some cases, but IL-6 was found very rarely. It is interesting that no correlation between plasma IL-1 levels and acute phase proteins has been found and there is, as yet, little evidence to suggest that IL-1 measurements will find a place in clinical practice.

## 4.1.2. Tumor Necrosis Factor

Plasma measurement of TNF has been overshadowed by the finding of massively high levels of this cytokine in both patients and animals with bacteremia and endotoxemia (see later). In experimental animals sterile inflammation induces increases in IL-1 but not in TNF (M41). Surgery causes an increase in IL-6, with TNF rising only after significant hemorrhage in mice (A19). In humans, similar studies suggest that trauma in the absence of bacterial infection is not a significant stimulus to TNF production (P21). Inflammation does, however, appear to be a stimulus. Maury (M13) showed raised plasma levels in RA, myocardial infarction, and HIV infection. The highest levels were seen in myocardial infarction, but in most cases the correlation with C-reactive protein was poor. Significant elevations of TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  but not of IL-6 have been reported in alcoholic cirrhosis and acute alcoholic hepatitis (B43, F12).

In synovial fluid Hopkins and Meager (H31) found that TNF $\alpha$  was consistently elevated in patients with seropositive RA as opposed to other arthritides. TNF $\beta$ was not present. Westacott *et al.* (W19) found that synovial fluid levels of TNF $\alpha$ were similar in seropositive RA and seronegative spondarthritides but higher in patients with osteoarthritis. Interestingly, there was a correlation between levels of IL-2, a stimulus to TNF production, and TNF itself. Further studies in osteoarthritis have shown that TNF levels are related to disease duration (D14).

## 4.1.3. Interleukin-6

Elevated levels of IL-6 have been found in cardiac myxoma (J5) and Castleman's disease (Y8). In both cases IL-6 is elaborated by tissues affected by the disease and gives rise to fever, acute phase protein production, and hypergammaglobulinemia, features typical of the acute phase response elicited by this cytokine. Raised serum levels of IL-6 have been detected in patients with burns (N6, P19) and following surgical procedures (C38, N8, P21). Nijsten (N6) showed

that IL-6 detected in plasma within hours after burn injuries was 2 to 100 times the normal level whereas increases in CRP and AAT followed more gradually. In postoperative patients IL-6 was detectable in serum within 3 hr, reached a maximum at 24 hr, and leveled off by 48 hr, whereas CRP could not be detected during the first 6 hr but gradually increased over the next 48 hr. Other acute phase proteins, haptoglobin, AAT, and AGP, increased gradually over a longer time course.

Not surprisingly RA, a disease strongly associated with an acute phase response, was found to have a raised level of plasma IL-6 in many cases (B40, G28, H23). Levels were also raised in polymalgia rheumatica and giant cell arthritis and remained elevated for some time in response to steroids despite a prompt fall in ESR (D3). IL-6 has also been reported in the serum and synovial fluid of patients with various rheumatic diseases (S61). Synovial fluid levels of IL-6 were found to be 1000-fold higher and to correlate positively with those in serum, suggesting localized production in the joint. Synovial fluid levels of IL-6 could also be correlated with articular index, a clinical measure of local inflammation, whereas serum IL-6 levels were positively correlated with CRP and negatively correlated with albumin in RA. Raised levels have been observed in the plasma of patients with cirrhosis (K12), psoriasis (G26), and mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis (H32).

Many tumors contain IL-6 detected by immunohistochemical techniques and elevated serum levels have been reported in various solid tumors (S24). In mice the growth of several transplantable tumors is associated with increased plasma levels of IL-6, which is correlated with cachexia, one of the effects of this cytokine (see earlier) (G10, M19).

IL-6 is a ubiquitous cytokine whose message can be elaborated by most tissues. It is perhaps not surprising that IL-6 may appear in the plasma of many inflammatory conditions especially if B-cell stimulation is a feature.

## 4.2. INFECTION, SEPSIS, ENDOTOXEMIA, AND BACTERIAL SHOCK

#### 4.2.1. Tumor Necrosis Factor

A considerable body of evidence implicates TNF as a major mediator of mischief in bacterial sepsis and endotoxic shock. It is produced in large quantities after the administration of endotoxins and enterotoxins such as TSST-1 (D6, F14, F19). After binding to high-affinity receptors expressed on all nucleated cells, TNF induces physiological responses such as capillary permeability and endothelial coagulability. These give rise to the hypotension, pulmonary edema, and disseminated hemorrhagic necrosis typical of septic shock.

High levels of TNF are demonstrable in the plasma of rabbits and baboons administered lethal doses of endotoxin within 45–100 min (H20, M10). The

administration of human recombinant TNF to rodents produces circulatory collapse with clinical and postmortem findings indistinguishable from those for septic shock (T14). Monoclonal antibodies [F(ab')2 fragments] directed against TNF, which neutralize the bioactivity in tissue culture, protect against shock, organ injury, and death following lethal doses of endotoxin (T17). Mice of the C3H/HeJ strain, long known to be resistant to the effects of endotoxin, have recently been demonstrated to possess a genetic defect in TNF synthesis (B37).

In humans TNF can be demonstrated in the plasma following the administration of minute doses of endotoxin within 2 hr, and symptoms of fever, headache, malaise, and nausea are correlated with its appearance (H20, M31). Phase 1 trials using recombinant TNF as an anticancer agent have graphically demonstrated that its toxic effects are very similar to those of septic shock (W13).

In very severe gram-negative sepsis TNF concentrations are increased in most patients, sometimes to a very high level, whereas IL-1 and IFNy are increased in fewer than 20% of cases (D1, G15, W3, W4). Systemic meningococcal disease in children seems to be one of the strongest stimuli to increased plasma TNF levels (B62, G15, W4). Such a situation mimics much of the experimental work that has been undertaken in animal models. In many clinical situations, however, the rapid use of antibiotics makes the clinical course of septicemia a less dramatic and sometimes more protracted one. It is thus clear from a number of studies that findings are quite variable, owing to the difficulty of defining septic shock. At the time of diagnosis of sepsis, Debets (D7) found that only 25% of cases had raised TNF levels but that they had a mortality twice that of patients with normal TNF levels. De Groote et al. (D8) found raised levels in only 16% of patients with gram-negative sepsis. Offner et al. (O1), on the other hand, found that TNF levels at the onset of septic shock were raised to some degree in all patients but increased thereafter and in some cases remained moderately elevated for a prolonged period. Extremely high levels were found in patients who died within 24 hr. In a study of burn victims who had repeated episodes of bacteremia, TNF was seen transiently and repeatedly in the circulation. The frequency of TNF peaks correlated with both infection and mortality rate (M7).

The evidence incriminating TNF in the pathogenesis of septic shock is now considerable. However, other cytokines may be involved, perhaps in amplifying TNF production or responses. TNF induces IL-1 synthesis in macrophages and endothelial cells and IL-1 administration enhances the lethal effects of recombinant TNF (W2). More recently it has been shown that the administration of recombinant human IL-1 receptor antagonist IL-1ra improves survival in lethal endotoxemia in mice (A12). Indeed the administration of endotoxin alone induces inhibitors of both TNF and IL-1 in human plasma (S48). These findings yet again underline the complexity of the network of cytokines and their inhibition.

Therapeutic strategies based on inhibiting TNF have not yet emerged in clinical practice, although it is interesting to note that glucocorticoids are potent inhibitors

of TNF synthesis and release (H3) and that in humans they are effective very early on in the clinical course (B51, S33). Cycloxygenase inhibitors are currently of interest in this context (S49).

Many studies have now measured TNF in plasma with a view to its use as a marker of the process of septic shock or its severity. Most studies agree that there is a relationship between the level or duration of elevated TNF values and the mortality in septic shock. However, it is difficult to define a value above which prognosis declines markedly, particularly because the concentrations seen in most patients are lower than those in human volunteers after injection of endotoxin without harmful consequences. It is clear from experimental studies (see earlier) that TNF is not the only determinant of outcome. Although peak TNF levels after endotoxin infusion are 15 times higher than peak IL-1ß levels and are obtained more rapidly (C10), the presence of raised IL-1 is an independent variable in predicting outcome (D7). As is the case with graft rejection, too much weight must not be placed on cytokine measurements when simple clinical measurements may have more to offer. Calandra et al. (C1) in a recent study showed that the clinical severity, patient's age, culture of bacteria from the blood, urine output, and arterial pH contributed more significantly to prediction of patient outcome than serum levels of TNF. They did, however, find that after 10 days TNF was undetectable in survivors but raised (305 pg/ml) in nonsurvivors. It is also clear that grampositive sepsis may give rise to levels of TNF similar to those in gram-negative infections (M8).

Apart from gram-positive and gram-negative septicemia, raised TNF levels have been found in a number of other infectious conditions, including several parasitic diseases (T16), malaria (K11), leprosy (P11), and AIDS (K20). In malaria TNF levels are elevated in severe malaria, correlating with disease severity and parasite density (S29, S52).

Measurement of TNF in cerebrospinal fluid is of some interest because in both mice and humans considerable levels of TNF are present in the early stages of bacterial meningitis but are not found in viral infection (L13). Unfortunately unmeasurable levels of TNF may be found in bacterial meningitis. However, despite this, discrimination among the conditions is good (N1).

## 4.2.2. Interleukin-6

Gram-positive and gram-negative bacteremia results in elevated plasma levels of biologically active and immunoreactive IL-6. Plasma levels range from 5 to 100 ng/ml (F21, H1, H14, W1). Comparable levels can be induced by administration of LPS or TNF to human volunteers, in which measurable increases take around 30 min, peaking at 2 hr (J1). Unlike TNF, IL-6 appears to be more consistently raised in septicemia. Hack *et al.* (H1) found that levels were increased in 32 of 37 patients with positive blood cultures. Levels were similar in gram-positive and gram-negative sepsis and the degree of elevation was highly correlated with

mortality. Eighty-nine percent of patients with levels above 7.5 mg/dl died, whereas all of those with levels of less than 40 pg/ml survived. In a controlled group of subjects no IL-6 was detectable. In contrast, Calandra *et al.* (C1) found that levels of TNF and IL-1 but not IL-6, on admission, were associated with patient outcome for gram-negative septic shock. In neonates and children Sullivan *et al.* (S58, S59) showed that IL-6 is raised in septicemia and that the levels correlate with mortality. They were unable to detect the cytokine in normal cord blood.

In patients with meningitis cerebrospinal fluid levels of IL-6 may be very high (greater than 500 ng/ml) and appear to be raised in bacterial and viral meningitis and encephalitis (F28, H33). Waage et al. (W1) found that IL-6 was detectable in 98% of patients with meningococcal meningitis. In patients with both meningitis and bacteremia, concentrations can be 10- to 100-fold higher in cerebrospinal fluid than those in serum. Raised levels of IL-6 have been detected in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis (L6) but the findings are contradicted by Hauser et al. (H9), who found IL-1 and TNF but not IL-6. Another study (F27) reported raised cerebrospinal fluid levels of IL-6 in multiple sclerosis together with levels in plasma that were 17 times higher than those in cerebrospinal fluid. There was no correlation with disease activity or duration and these strange findings were suggested to reflect systemic B-cell responses in multiple sclerosis. IL-6 levels are elevated in amniotic fluid and fetal plasma in neonatal and intraamniotic infection. Second and third trimester amniotic fluid contains low but detectable levels of IL-6 in the 50- to 1500-pg/ml range but no IL-1. Normal parturition results in a modest increase. Romero et al. (R21) showed that 10 out of 56 consecutive patients with markedly elevated IL-6 levels delivered preterm and 4 of these had microbiological evidence of infection. In another study, IL-6 levels in infants with isolated perinatal infections were found to be significantly elevated, whereas TNF levels were not (M34).

Whether IL-6 or TNF is the most useful cytokine to detect local and systemic sepsis is yet to be established. The marked elevation of IL-6 in many conditions characterized by macrophage and B-cell activity and its systemic hormone-like role suggest that it may be a hormone of infection, useful as a measurable marker in plasma.

## 4.3. Allograft Rejection

The process of rejecting a grafted organ represents a massive stimulation of the immune system, involving T cells, B cells, and macrophages. Not surprisingly, therefore, many workers have examined the possibility that measuring cytokines will provide an earlier prediction of impending rejection than current measurements.

Detecting graft rejection has depended largely upon measurements of graft function, although some indices of the immune activation that precedes graft rejection have been investigated in the past, e.g.,  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin shed from activated lymphocytes and C-reactive protein produced from the liver as a result of cytokine release. Both showed changes in graft rejection, although neither was found to have a place in its management. It is important to be able to distinguish concomitant infection and cyclosporin toxicity from rejection itself. Unfortunately the immune activation of viral infection is not dissimilar to that of rejection and has proved a major limitation for cytokine measurements in predicting rejection episodes.

## 4.3.1. Interleukin-2 and the Soluble Interleukin-2 Receptor (sIL-2R)

As described, IL-2 binds rapidly to its cellular receptor, which may then be shed from the cell surface into the tissue fluid and from there to the peripheral blood. IL-2 itself has a much shorter half-life than that of the shed receptor. The presence of the soluble receptor is thus a better measure of IL-2 activity than levels of the cytokine itself (R30). IL-2 activity has been a prime target for research into better markers of rejection as it is a key component in T-cell priming for allograft rejection and could be expected to change at a very early stage.

Cytokines have been studied most in renal transplantation and there is a considerable body of literature for both IL-2 and sIL-2R. IL-2 is normally detectable in the serum. It is, however, not detectable by current assays in normal urine (S37) and its presence has been taken to suggest immune attack on the graft. It may, however, imply very mild rejection not requiring specific therapy and should be used in combination with indices of graft function (M3). Raised serum levels of IL-2 do, however, accompany a proportion of rejection episodes (M21). More interestingly, several authors have found that raised levels of IL-2, prior to transplantation, predict a high rate of rejection (C34, S38). This is an interesting observation and suggests that grafting a patient where the immune system is activated enhances recognition and rejection of the graft. The evidence is sufficiently strong to lead these authors to suggest that preoperative IL-2 levels should be measured and transplantation delayed if high levels are found. The findings of all these workers suggest that acute viral infection is extremely difficult to distinguish from rejection but that cyclosporin toxicity does not provide a significant IL-2 response.

Measurement of sIL-2R may be a more sensitive indicator of impending rejection than IL-2, although recent publications suggest that the predictive value of isolated results does not exceed that of creatinine. Levels are increased in chronic renal failure, bacterial and viral infection, and treatment with ATT or OKT3 cells (Y11). Malcus *et al.* (M6) found that serum creatinine and sIL-2R rose over the course of 5 days prior to a rejection episode. Increased sIL-2R in plasma had a sensitivity of 73% and a specificity of 87% for acute rejection, whereas creatinine showed a sensitivity of 70% and a specificity of 84%. A number of authors (D22, N11, S52) have found that it is possible to distinguish viral infection and cyclosporin toxicity from acute rejection on the basis of the degree of elevation of sIL-2R. For example, Forsythe (F24) found that levels of sIL-2R greater than a thousand units/ml or a rise greater than 400 units/ml was invariably associated with rejection. As with many biochemical markers aimed at detecting specific pathological processes, sequential values are more useful than single measurements. A reasonable conclusion to draw from the existing publications is that sIL-2R may have a place in detecting unsuspected acute rejection during the first 1–2 weeks after transplantation.

In liver allograft rejection sIL-2R rises on average 7 days prior to other evidence of rejection or organ dysfunction (P7) and rises higher than sIL-2R in renal allograft rejection (K26). Serum sIL-2R rises to levels comparable to those in rejection by cytomegalovirus infection (P7). Biliary sIL-2R may have some promise as a more sensitive and specific measure. Adams *et al.* (A5) found that levels above 65 units/ml had a sensitivity of 94% and a specificity of 84% for acute rejection.

In heart transplantation Jutte (J7) found raised levels of sIL-2R in 2 of 33 cases during acute rejection and similar levels were also found in 25 out of 172 patients in the absence of signs of rejection. These authors reasonably concluded that such measurements have no part to play in cardiac transplantation.

## 4.3.2. Macrophage-Derived Cytokines

Mononuclear phagocytes in the tissues of rejecting grafts are evident early and inevitably publications have appeared on the measurement of cytokines derived from them. Renal allograft rejection is associated with marked elevations of serum TNF to levels somewhat lower than those seen in severe sepsis (M14). McLaughlin et al. (M22) found that increased levels were seen in 24 of 37 cases of acute renal allograft rejection. In contrast sIL-2R levels were not increased in viral infection. Noronha (N11) found increased levels in rejection and viral infection but not in cyclosporin toxicity. In a recent study White and Obers (W28) found that only in patients immunosuppressed with cyclosporin did TNF show consistent changes related to rejection. In patients immunosuppressed with azothiaprine and steroids, levels varied widely from day to day despite lack of any documented rejection. They concluded that IL-1 levels had no value, whereas TNF levels are indicative of immune activation in cyclosporin-suppressed transplant patients. TNF increase is detectable 1-2 days prior to rejection in liver graft recipients. As would be expected, levels are also increased in hepatic artery thrombosis, liver infarction, and endotoxic shock. Raised TNF shows a sensitivity of 67% and a specificity of 95% for acute rejection. If, however, a higher level of 408 ng/ml is taken, the sensitivity is 89% and the specificity 88% (I1). In cardiac transplantation raised levels are associated with rejection, rising several days before other evidence. Cyclosporin and glucocorticoids have no effect (C24).

IL-6 is detectable in the plasma of normal individuals by bioassay or immunoassay, although it is not detectable in normal urine. In uncomplicated renal transplantation, peak levels occur 2–3 days after surgery, falling to normal within 3 weeks. In rejection both serum and urine levels start to increase 2–3 days before clinical evidence and rejection, urinary changes being greater (V4). As with other cytokines sequential measurements provide more useful information (Y6). The systemic reaction of fever, nausea, and lung edema associated with use of murine anti-CD3 monoclonal antibodies (OKT3) as an immunosuppressant is accompanied by a marked increase in serum IL-6 (B49), TNF, IL-2, and IFN $\gamma$  (A4, C17). Maury and Teppo (M15) found that IL-1, measured by immunoassay, showed a 10- to 20-fold elevation in the majority of graft rejection episodes, predicting clinical rejection by about 1 day. In contrast White and Obers (W28) found that IL-1 failed to give any indication of changes in immune status. Variations in assay characteristics may account for this.

The place of cytokine measurement in monitoring graft rejection is far from clear. At best such measurement may provide an additional early indication of impending rejection. At worst it may add nothing. Further detailed studies are required to address this issue.

## 5. Cytokine Assays in Body Fluids

Almost without exception, cytokines have been discovered and characterized on the basis of their biological actions. Bioassays have thus preceded the development of immunoassays and in many cases both have been designed for use with tissue culture supernatants. Developing such assays for the measurement of cytokines in biological fluids is not straightforward. Interference from other cytokines or inhibitors and nonspecific interference from binding proteins, interfering antibodies, or matrix effects is a common problem. Unfortunately assays have not always been fully validated for use with biological fluids before being made commercially available or being used to acquire data for publication. Some characteristics of cytokine assays are shown in Table 5. Table 5 shows the factors to be considered in developing assays for use with biological fluids.

## 5.1. Specificity

The multiple actions of individual cytokines mean that cell lines rarely respond only to one cytokine. This is well illustrated by the efforts to develop specific bioassays for IL-1. Although the original mouse thymocyte proliferation assay was thought to be IL-1 specific, it is now clear that many cytokines influence the assay. IL-6 and TNF can replace IL-1 (G7, U4), and IL-2 and IL-4 can sygerize with

	Bioassay	Immunoassay	
Measurement	Biologically active molecules	Numbers of available epitopes (protein or peptide)	
Specificity	May be high using specific antibodies	High but may be inappropriate	
Interference	Native inhibitors, anti-cytokine antibodies	Serum proteins, anti-cytokine and heterophile antibodies, rheumatoid factors	
Sensitivity	High	Reasonably high	
Precision	Poor (10–100% coefficient of variation)	Should be good (5-10% coefficient of variation)	
Performance	Difficult (1-4 days)	Easy (4–24 hr)	

## TABLE 5 Characteristics of Cytokine Assays

Source. Reproduced with permission from "Cytokines and Inflammation," J. Bienvenu and D. Fradelezi (Eds.), John Libbey, Eurotext, Paris.

-	Bioassay	Immunoassay		
Specificity	Confirm with neutralizing antibodies	Dependent on antibody		
Accuracy	Specific and nonspecific inhibitors, cytokine binding proteins, antibodies	Protein matrix effect, complement, cytokine binding proteins, rheumatoid factors, heterophile antibodies		
	Examine for nonparallel dilution curves of test and standard			
	Assess blood collection procedure (cytokine release by leukocytes and cytokine stability in biological fluids)			
	Determine recovery from whole blood and other body fluids at multiple dilutions			
Sensitivity	Effects of body fluid on cell growth	High background due to matrix		
Precision	Between and within assay variation			
Standardization	Refer to international standards			

 TABLE 6

 Criteria to be Considered in Cytokine Assays

IL-1 (F4). Many modifications have been developed in an attempt to avoid these problems. Neutralizing antibodies have been used to show that the activity resides in IL-1 or IL-6 (K21). Unfortunately these may contain contaminating cytokines (G6). The assay may be saturated with IL-2 or IL-4 to remove the influence of these cytokines in the test sample (H29). Appropriate serum dilutions may allow IL-1 to be measured, even though at a lower dilution TNFy would interfere (G7) (Fig. 7). Unfortunately, these strategies do not allow for cytokines that have not yet been described and assays have rarely been tested for the influence of other biologically active molecules such as steroids. Assays do have the advantage that the epitope reactivity can be characterized to some extent if monoclonal antibodies are used. The antibodies can be unequivocally demonstrated to react only with a certain cytokine. Unfortunately monoclonal antibodies raised to recombinant (frequently nonglycosylated) antigens may fail to recognize polymorphic forms of the cytokine and reactivity with precursor molecules or fragments is unpredictable. In biological fluids it may be important to measure molecular and antigenic variants of cytokines, which are different from those of the original cell-derived product.

## 5.2. ACCURACY

Specific and nonspecific inhibitors have now been described for many cytokines. Specific inhibitors such as the IL-1ra (H4) or soluble receptor components shed from cells may be inhibitory in bioassays (F7). IL-1 and IL-6 in plasma may be bound to carrier proteins such as  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin (B57, M11). In addition circulating autoantibodies to cytokines have been found in normal individuals,



FtG. 7. Dilution curves of human (h) IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF $\alpha$  and mouse (m) TNF $\alpha$  in an EL46.1 assay for IL-1, reproduced with permission from A. J. F. Gearing and R. Thorpe, Assay of interleukin-1, *in* "Interleukin 1: Inflammation and Disease" (R. Bomford and B. Henderson, Eds.), pp. 79–91, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1989.

although the autoantibodies' implications for assays are unknown (B23). Such cytokine-specific effects may alter biological activity and possibly immunological reactivity if the epitopes are masked. Although it is obvious, it is important to emphasize that bioassays measure activity and immunoassays measure epitopes on proteins. Both types of information are essential for understanding the role of cytokines in disease, as the amount of biologically active cytokines and the total amount of cytokines in biological fluids may differ considerably. In most of the studies that have been published immunoassays recognize more cytokines than bioassays for biological fluids, and recombinant cytokines added to samples are frequently only partly recovered by bioassays. Figure 8 shows the effect of sample dilution on the inhibitory activity of synovial fluid to which IL-1 has been added (H30). In many bioassays it is necessary to measure a range of dilutions when a bell-shaped curve is seen. Various strategies such as chloroform extraction (C11) and silica adsorption (S26) have been used to remove inhibitory activity from bioassays for IL-1.

Immunoassays established to measure the very low (ng/ml) concentrations of cytokines in body fluids are uniquely susceptible to nonspecific interference from plasma or serum and from interfering antibodies or proteins that may cross-react with those used in the assay. Rheumatoid factors are well known to cause interference in solid phase assays such as ELISA (B8). Heterophile antibodies that react with animal immunoglobulins present a problem in assays in which serum or plasma is used at low dilution (V8) (Table 7). Serum contains a complement, which may interfere with solid phase immunoassays unless inactivation has taken place (B55). In designing assays controls must be employed to test for these effects



FIG. 8. Purified IL-1 $\beta$  added to synovial fluid (SF) dilutions (J.H. and P.J.) or a medium (No SF) to give an equivalent of 1233 pg/ml (×), 123 pg/ml (O), 12 pg/ml (O), or no ( $\Delta$ ) exogenous IL-1 $\beta$  in the undiluted SF. Reproduced with permission from *Hopkins Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **72**, 422–427.

in samples from both normal subjects and patients, and appropriate strategies such as adsorption of serum samples with animal immunoglobulins must be employed if necessary.

## 5.3. SENSITIVITY

Bioassays are generally more sensitive than immunoassays for the measurement of cytokines in cell culture supernatants. The characteristics of calibration curves vary among different assays (Fig. 9) and limits of sensitivity must be set to use only the part of the curve that provides adequate precision.

Biological fluids, plasma in particular, may be inhibitory or cytotoxic to cell lines used in bioassays. In many cases this may be obviated by sample dilution but at the cost of loss of sensitivity (B11). In immunoassays, the protein matrix in plasma and synovial fluid may give a high background signal due to nonspecific binding.

## 5.4. PRECISION

Precision in bioassays is almost invariably poor. Considerable variation in the shape of the calibration curve occurs among assays. Immunoassays have better reproducibility if signal levels are sufficiently high above background. High-affinity antisera improve the signal-to-noise ratio and it is worth expending con-

Patients	Absorbance	Absorbance (second antibody omitted)	
1	0.068	0.098	
2	0.080	0.077	
3	0.789	0.773	
4	1.244	1.33	
5	0.064	0.070	
6	0.222	0.114	
7	0.544	0.56	

 TABLE 7

 The Effect of a Second Antibody from an IL-6 ELISA on Eight Human Sera

Source. Reproduced with permission from J. T. Whicher and E. Inghram, Cytokine measurements in body fluids, *in* "Cytokines and Inflammation" (J. Bienvenu and D. Fradelezi, Eds.), John Libbey, Eurotext, Paris, 1991.

*Note.* Samples 3, 4, and 7 contain heterophile antibodies that bound the first and third antibodies. Sample 7 contained, in addition, measurable IL-6 activity. The IL-6 ELISA employs a mouse monoclonal capture antibody, aBSF2-166 (a generous gift from Professor T. Hirano, Osaka University, Japan), coated to a microtiter plate, and a goat polyclonal anti-IL-6 second antibody (a generous gift from Dr. S. Poole, NIBSC), followed by a biotin-labeled mouse monoclonal anti-goat IgG (Sigma) and avidin–horse radish peroxidase (Dako).



FIG. 9. The calibration curves of two commercial IL-1 $\beta$  immunoassays. Bottom axes represent IL-1 $\beta$  in pg/ml. Reproduced with permission from J. T. Whicher and E. Ingham, Cytokine measurements in body fluids, *Eur. Cytokine Net.* 1, 239–244.

siderable effort in acquiring polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies of good affinity. Many antisera that provide adequate assays for use with the relatively high levels of cytokines in cell culture supernatants are inadequate for use in body fluids.

## 5.5. STANDARDIZATION

Standardization of cytokine assays presents the same problems as that of assays for all proteins in biological fluids (W23). Many different biological activities and

Preparation	Status	Code	Units/ampule
IL-1α	Interim standard	86/632	117,000
IL-1β	Interim standard	86/680	100,000
IL-2	Interim standard	86/504	100
IL-2 rDNA	NIBSC reference	86/564	202
IL-3	Interim standard	88/780	1,000
IL-4	Interim standard	88/656	1,000
IL-6	Interim standard	8/514	6,250
M-CSF	Interim standard	89/512	60,000
G-CSF	Interim standard	88/502	10,000
GM-CSF	Interim standard	88/646	10,000
TGFβ1 rDNA	Interim standard	89/514	3,000
TGFβ1 (bovine)	None	89/516	
TGFβ2	None	89/518	
TNFα	Interim standard	87/650	40,000
τνγβ	None	87/640	
TNFα (murine)	None	88/532	
GM-CSF (murine)	None	89/612	

 TABLE 8

 Available Standard Cytokine Preparations

Source. Compiled by Dr. R. Thorpe, Division of Immunology, National Institute of Biological Standards and Control, Blanche Lane, South Mimms, Potters Bar, Hertfordshire EN6 3 QC, United Kingdom.

numerous preparations of the cytokine may be available: natural and recombinant proteins made in bacteria, yeasts, and mammalian cells. Such materials may vary in potency in different bio- or immunoassays. Comparing data from different laboratories is thus impossible unless proper cytokine standards have been used and their behavior in relation to natural cytokines has been established in a given assay. If standards and samples do not show parallel dilution curves, accuracy will vary according to concentration. Nonparallelism commonly renders an assay inherently invalid due to plasma protein matrix effects. International standards are available for several cytokines (Table 8).

#### References

- Aarden, L. A., Brunner, T. K., and Cerottini, J. C. Revised nomenclature for antigen-non specific T cell proliferation and helper factors (letter). J. Immunol. 123, 2928–2929 (1979).
- A2. Abbas, A. K. A reassessment of the mechanisms of antigen-specific T-cell- dependent B-cell activation. *Immunol. Today* 9, 89–94 (1988).
- A3. Abraham, E. Physiologic stress and cellular ischemia: Relationship to immunosuppression and susceptibility to sepsis. *Crit. Care Med.* **19**, 613–618 (1991).
- A4. Abramowicz, D., Schandene, L., Goldman, M., Crusiaux, A., Vereerstraeten, P., De Pauw, L., Wybran, J., Kinnaert, P., Dupont, E., and Toussaint, C. Release of tumor necrosis factor,

interleukin-2, and gamma-interferon in serum after injection of OKT3 monoclonal antibody in kidney transplant recipients. *Transplantation* **47**, 606–608 (1989).

- A5. Adams, D. H., Wang, L., Hubscher, S. G., Elias, E., and Neuberger, J. M. Soluble interleukin-2 receptors in serum and bile of liver transplant recipients. *Lancet* 1, 469–471 (1989).
- A6. Adams, D. O. Molecular interactions in macrophage activation. *Immunol. Today* 10, 33–35 (1989).
- A7. Aggarwal, B. B., Eessalu, T. E., and Hass, P. E. Characterization of receptors for human tumor necrosis factor and their regulation by gamma-interferon. *Nature (London)* 318, 665–667 (1985).
- A8. Aguet, M., Dembič, Z., and Merlin, G. Molecular cloning and expression of the human interferon-gamma receptor. Cell (Cambridge, Mass.) 55, 273-280 (1988).
- A9. Akama, H., Ichikawa, Y., Matsushita, Y., Shinozawa, T., and Homma, M. Mononuclear cells enhance prostaglandin E2 production of polymorphonuclear leukocytes via tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 168, 857–862 (1990).
- A10. Akira, S., Isshiki, H., Sugita, T., Tanabe, O., Kinoshita, S., Nishio, Y., Nakajima, T., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. A nuclear factor for IL-6 expression (NF-IL6) is a member of a C/EBP family. *EMBO J.* 9, 1897–1906 (1990).
- Alcocer Varela, J., Martinez-Cordero, E., and Segovia-Alarcon, D. Spontaneous production of, and defective response to, interleukin-1 by periferal blood mononuclear cells from patients with scleroderma. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 59, 666–672 (1985).
- A12. Alexander, H. R., Doherty, G. M., Buresh, C. M., Venzon, D. J., and Norton, J. A. A recombinant human receptor antagonist to interleukin-1 improves survival after lethal endotoxemia in mice. J. Exp. Med. 173, 1029–1032 (1991).
- A13. Allan, E. H., Hilton, D. J., Brown, M. A., Evely, R. S., Yumita, S., Metcalf, D., Gough, N. M., Ng, K. W., Nicola, N. A., and Martin, T. J. Osteoblasts display receptors for and responses to leukemia-inhibitory factor. J. Cell. Physiol. 145, 110–119 (1990).
- A14. Andreeff, M., and Welte, K. Hematopoietic colony stimulating factors. *Blood* 16, 211–229 (1989).
- A15. Andus, T., Geiger, T., Hirano, T., Kishimoto, T., Tran Thi, T. A., Decker, K., and Heinrich, P. C. Regulation of synthesis and secretion of major rat acute-phase proteins by recombinant human interleukin-6 (BSF-2/IL-6) in hepatocyte primary cultures. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 173, 287-293 (1988).
- A16. Ashida, T., Kubo, K., Kawabata, I., Katagiri, M., Ogimoto, M., and Yakura, H. Signal transduction mechanisms of Ia induction in B cells by interleukin-4 and immunoglobulin receptors. *Cell. Immunol.* **126**, 233–238 (1990).
- A17. Auron, P. E., Webb, A. C., Rosenwasser, L. J., Mucci, S. F., Rich, A., Wolff, S. M., and Dinarello, C. A. Nucleotide sequence of human monocyte interleukin-1 precursor cDNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 7907–7911 (1984).
- A18. Ayala, A., Perrin, M. M., Wagner, M. A., and Chaudry, I. H. Enhanced susceptibility to sepsis after simple hemorrhage. Depression of Fc and C3b receptor-mediated phagocytosis. *Arch. Surg. (Chicago)* 125, 70–74, discuss. (1990).
- A19. Ayala, A., Wang, P., Ba, Z. F., Perrin, M. M., Ertel, W., and Chaudry, I. H. Differential alterations in plasma IL-6 and TNF levels after trauma and hemorrhage. *Am. J. Physiol.* 261, R167–R171 (1991).
- B1. Bachwich, P. R., Chensue, S. W., Larrick, J. W., and Kunkel, S. L. Tumor necrosis factor stimulates interleukin-1 and prostaglandin E2 production in resting macrophages. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 136, 94–101 (1986).
- B2. Bagby, G. C., Shaw, G., Heinrich, M. C., Hefeneider, S., Brown, M. A., DeLoughery, T. G., Segal, G. M., and Band, L. Interleukin-1 stimulation stabilizes GM-CSF mRNA in human

vascular endothelial cells: Preliminary studies on the role of the 3' AU rich motif. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 352, 233-239 (1990).

- B3. Bagby, G. C., Jr. Interleukin-1, stromal cells, granulopoiesis, and the inflammatory response. Biotherapy 1, 255-261 (1989).
- B4. Bagby, G. J., Plessala, K. J., Wilson, L. A., Thompson, J. J., and Nelson, S. Divergent efficacy of antibody to tumor necrosis factor-alpha in intravascular and peritonitis models of sepsis. J. Infect. Dis. 163, 83–88 (1991).
- B5. Bakouche, O., and Lachman, L. B. Synthetic macrophages: Antigen presentation by liposomes bearing class II major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and membrane interleukin-1 (IL-1). *J. Clin. Immunol.* 9, 369–377 (1989).
- B6. Balavoine, J. F., de Rochemonteix, B., Williamson, K., Seckinger, P., Cruchaud, A., and Dayer, J. M. Prostaglandin E2 and collagenase production by fibroblasts and synovial cells is regulated by urine-derived human interleukin-1 and inhibitor(s). J. Clin. Invest. 78, 1120–1124 (1986).
- B7. Bankey, P., Fiegel, V., Singh, R., Knighton, D., and Cerra, F. Hypoxia and endotoxin induce macrophage-mediated suppression of fibroblast proliferation. J. Trauma 29, 972–979, discuss. (1989).
- B8. Banks, R. E., Evans, S. W., Taylor, K. F., Bird, H. A., and Whicher, J. T. Measurement of plasma concentrations of polymorphonuclear elastase- alpha 1 proteinase inhibitor (elastasealpha 1 antitrypsin) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: Interference by rheumatoid factor. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **49**, 18–21 (1990).
- B9. Barcena, A., Toribio, M. L., Pezzi, L., and Martinez, C. A role for interleukin-4 in the differentiation of mature T cell receptor gamma/delta + cells from human intrathymic T cell precursors. J. Exp. Med. 172, 439–446 (1990).
- B10. Bass, H., Mosmann, T., and Strober, S. Evidence for mouse Th1- and Th2-like helper T cells in vivo. Selection reduction of Th1-like cells after total lymphoid irradiation. J. Exp. Med. 170, 1495–1511 (1989).
- B11. Bataille, R., Jourdan, M., Zhang, X. G., and Klein, B. Serum levels of interleukin-6, a potent myeloma cell growth factor, as a reflect of disease severity in plasma cell dyscrasias. J. Clin. Invest. 84, 2008–2011 (1989).
- B12. Bauer, J., Bauer, T. M., Kalb, T., Taga, T., Lengyel, G., Hirano, T., Kishimoto, T., Acs, G., Mayer, L., and Gerok, W. Regulation of interleukin-6 receptor expression in human monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages. Comparison with the expression in human hepatocytes. J. Exp. Med. 170, 1537–1549 (1989).
- B13. Baumann, H., and Gauldie, J. Regulation of hepatic acute phase plasma protein genes by hepatocyte stimulating factors and other mediators of inflammation. *Mol. Biol. Med.* 7, 147– 159 (1990).
- B14. Baumann, H., Isseroff, H., Latimer, J. J., and Jahreis, G. P. Phorbol ester modulates interleukin-6- and interleukin-1-regulated expression of acute phase plasma proteins in hepatoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 17390–17396 (1988).
- B15. Baumann, H., Onorato, V., Gauldie, J., and Jahreis, G. P. Distinct sets of acute phase plasma proteins are stimulated by separate human hepatocyte-stimulating factors and monokines in rat hepatoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 9756–9768 (1987).
- B16. Baumann, H., and Wong, G. G. Hepatocyte-stimulating factor III shares structural and functional identity with leukemia-inhibitory factor. J. Immunol. 143, 1163–1167 (1989).
- B17. Bazan, J. F. A novel family of growth factor receptors: A common binding domain in the growth hormone, prolactin, erythropoietin and IL-6 receptors, and the p75 IL-2 receptor beta-chain. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 164, 788–795 (1989).
- B18. Bazan, J. F. Structural design and molecular evolution of a cytokine receptor superfamily. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 6934–6938 (1990).

- B19. Bazan, J. F. Haemopoietic receptors and helical cytokines. *Immunol. Today* 11, 350-354 (1990).
- B20. Begley, C. G., Burton, J. D., Tsudo, M., Brownstein, B. H., Ambrus, J. L., Jr., and Waldmann, T. A. Human B lymphocytes express the p75 component of the interleukin-2 receptor. *Leuk. Res.* 14, 263–271 (1990).
- B21. Belosevič, M., Finbloom, D. S., Meltzer, M. S., and Nacy, C. A. IL-2. A cofactor for induction of activated macrophage resistance to infection. J. Immunol. 145, 831–839 (1990).
- B22. Bendtzen, K. Interleukin-1, interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor in infection, inflammation and immunity. *Immunol. Lett.* **19**, 183-191 (1988).
- B23. Bendtzen, K., Svenson, M., Jonsson, V., and Hippe, E. Autoantibodies to cytokines—friends or foes? *Immunol. Today* 11, 167–169 (1990).
- B24. Benjamin, W. R., Chizzonite, R. A., Tare, N. S., Plocinski, J. M., Kaffka, K. L., McIntyre, K. W., Faherty, D. A., and Kilian, P. L. Hematopoietic activities of interleukin-1 alpha: In vitro and in vivo modulation by an anti-IL-1 receptor antibody. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 349, 355–363 (1990).
- B25. Bennett, M., and Schmid, K. Immunosuppression by human plasma α-1 acid glycoprotein: Importance of the carbohydrate moiety. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 77, 6109–6113 (1980).
- B26. Bergui, L., Schena, M., Gaidano, G., Riva, M., and Caligaris Cappio, F. Interleukin-3 and interleukin-6 synergistically promote the proliferation and differentiation of malignant plasma cell precursors in multiple myeloma. J. Exp. Med. 170, 613–618 (1989).
- B27. Berkenbosch, F., de Rijk, R., Del Rey, A., and Besedovsky, H. Neuroendocrinology of interleukin-1. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 274, 303–314 (1990).
- B28. Berman, M. A., Sandborg, C. I., Andrews, B. S., and Friou, G. R. Studies of an interleukin-1 inhibitor: Characterization and clinical significance. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 64, 136–145 (1986).
- B29. Bernardini, R., and Scapagnini, U. Intereactions between cytokines and the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis. *PNEI* 1, 13–15 (1988).
- B30. Bernheim, H. A., Bodel, P. T., Askenase, P. W., and Atkins, E. Effects of fever on host defense mechanisms after infection in the lizard Dipsosaurus dorsalis. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 59, 76–84 (1978).
- B31. Bernton, E. W., Beach, J. E., Holaday, J. W., Smallridge, R. C., and Fein, H. G. Release of multiple hormones by a direct action of interleukin-1 on pituitary cells. *Science* 238, 519–521 (1987).
- B32. Berrih, S., Arenzana Seisdedos, F., Cohen, S., Devos, R., Charron, D., and Virelizier, J. L. Interferon gamma modulates HLA class II antigen expression on cultured human thymic epithelial cells. J. Immunol. 135, 1165–1171 (1985).
- B33. Bertagnolli, M., and Herrmann, S. IL-7 supports the generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes from thymocytes. Multiple lymphokines required for proliferation and cytotoxicity. J. Immunol. 145, 1706–1712 (1990).
- B34. Bertolini, J. N., and Benson, E. M. The role of human interleukin-6 in B-cell isotype regulation and differentiation. *Cell. Immunol.* **125**, 197–209 (1990).
- B35. Besedovsky, H., Del Rey, A., Sorkin, E., and Dinarello, C. A. Immunoregulatory feedback between interleukin-1 and glucocorticoid hormones. *Science* 233, 652–654 (1986).
- B36. Beutler, B. The tumor necrosis factors: Cachectin and lymphotoxin. *Hosp. Pract. (Off.)* 25, 45–56 (1990).
- B37. Beutler, B., and Cerami, A. Cachectin and tumour necrosis factor as two sides of the same biological coin. *Nature (London)* 320, 584–588 (1986).
- B38. Beutler, B., Mahoney, J., Le Trang, N., Pekala, P., and Cerami, A. Purification of cachectin, a lipoprotein lipase-suppressing hormone secreted by endotoxin-induced RAW 264. 7 cells. J. Exp. Med. 161, 984–995 (1985).

- B39. Beutler, B. A. Orchestration of septic shock by cytokines: The role of cachectin (tumor necrosis factor). Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 286, 219–235 (1989).
- B40. Bhardwaj, N., Santhanam, U., Lau, L. L., Tatter, S. B., Ghrayeb, J., Rivelis, M., Steinman, R. M., Sehgal, P. B., and May, L. T. IL-6/IFN-beta 2 in synovial effusions of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other arthritides. Identification of several isoforms and studies of cellular sources. J. Immunol. 143, 2153–2159 (1989).
- B41. Bich Thuy, L. T. High-affinity receptors for interleukin-2 are not required for the induction of human unstimulated B lymphocyte differentiation by this lymphokine. *Cell. Immunol.* 128, 22-30 (1990).
- B42. Bignold, L. P., Ferrante, A., and Haynes, D. R. Studies of chemotactic, chemotactic movement-inhibiting and random movement-inhibiting effects of interleukin-1 alpha and beta, tumour necrosis factors alpha and beta and interferon gamma on human neutrophils in assays using 'sparse-pore' polycarbonate (Nuclepore) membranes in the Boyden chamber. *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.* 91, 1–7 (1990).
- B43. Bird, G. L., Aria, K. N., Daniels, H., Alexander, G. J., and Williams, R. Contrasts in interleukin-1 and interleukin-2 activity in alcoholic hepatitis and cirrhosis. *Alcohol Alcoholism* 24, 541–546 (1989).
- B44. Bird, T. A., Davies, A., Baldwin, S. A., and Saklatvala, J. Interleukin-1 stimulates hexose transport in fibroblasts by increasing the expression of glucose transporters. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 13578–13583 (1990).
- B45. Bird, T. A., Gearing, A. J., and Saklatvala, J. Murine interleukin-1 receptor: Differences in binding properties between fibroblastic and thymoma cells and evidence for a two-chain receptor model. FEBS Lett. 225, 21–26 (1987).
- B46. Bird, T. A., and Saklatvala, J. Down-modulation of epidermal growth factor receptor affinity in fibroblasts treted with interleukin-1 or tumor necrosis factor is associated with phosphorylation at a site other than threonine 654. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 235–240 (1990).
- B47. Blalock, J. E., and Smith, E. M. Human leukocyte interferon (HuIFN-alpha): Potent endorphinlike opioid activity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 101, 472–478 (1981).
- B48. Blankenstein, T., Volk, H. D., Techert Jendrusch, Quin, Z. H., Richter, G., and Diamantstein, T. Lack of correlation between BgIII RFLP in the human interleukin-6 gene and rheumatoid arthritis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 8902 (1989).
- B49. Bloemena, E., ten Berge, I. J., Surachno, J., and Wilmink, J. M. Kinetics of interleukin-6 during OKT3 treatment in renal allograft recipients. *Transplantation* 50, 330–331 (1990).
- B50. Bomsztyk, K., Sims, J. E., Stanton, T. H., Slack, J., McMahan, C. J., Valentine, M. A., and Dower, S. K. Evidence for different interleukin-1 receptors in murine B- and T-cell lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 8034–8038 (1989).
- B51. Bone, R. C., Fisher, C. J. J., Clemmer, T. P., Slotman, G. J., Metz, C. A., and Balk, R. A. A controlled clinical trial of high dose methylpredisalone in the treatment of severe sepsos and septic shock. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 317, 653–658 (1987).
- B52. Boraschi, D., Ghiara, P., Villa, L., Antoni, G., and Tagliabue, A. The 163-171 peptide of human IL-1 beta. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 349, 365–374 (1990).
- B53. Boraschi, D., Villa, L., Volpini, G., Bossu, P., Censini, S., Ghiara, P., Scapigliat, G., Nencioni, L., Bartalini, M., Matteucci, G., and Cidi, F. Differential activity of interleukin-1 alpha and interleukin-1 beta in the stimulation of the immune response in vivo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 317–321 (1990).
- B54. Bories, P. N., Feger, J., Benbernou, N., Rouzeau, J. D., Agneray, J., and Durand, G. Prevalence of tri- and tetraantennary glycans of human alpha 1- acid glycoprotein in release of macrophage inhibitor of interleukin-1 activity. *Inflammation* 14, 315–323 (1990).
- B55. Bormer, O. P. Interference of complement with the binding of carcinoembryonic antigen to solid-phase monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. Methods 121, 85–93 (1989).

- B56. Borodkin, P. A. [Effect of temperature on the mitotic activity of cultured human peripheral blood lymphocytes]. Bull. Eksp. Biol. Med. 73, 87–88 (1972).
- B57. Borth, W., and Luger, T. A. Identification of alpha 2-macroglobulin as a cytokine binding plasma protein. Binding of interleukin-1 beta to "F" alpha 2-macroglobulin. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 5818-5825 (1989).
- B58. Borth, W., Urbanski, A., Prohaska, R., Susanj, M., and Luger, T. A. Binding of recombinant interleukin-1 beta to the third complement component and alpha 2-macroglobulin after activation of serum by immune complexes. *Blood* 75, 2388–2395 (1990).
- B59. Bowcock, A. M., Kidd, J. R., Lathrop, G. M., Daneshvar, L., May, L. T., Ray, A., Sehgal, P. B., Kidd, K. K., and Cavalli Sforza, L. L. The human "interferon-beta 2/hepatocyte stimulating factor/interleukin-6" gene: DNA polymorphism studies and localization to chromosome 7p21. *Genomics* 3, 8–16 (1988).
- B60. Bowcock, A. M., Ray, A., Erlich, H., and Sehgal, P. B. Rapid detection and sequencing of alleles in the 3' flanking region of the interleukin-6 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 6855–6864 (1989).
- B61. Bowcock, A. M., Ray, A., Erlich, H. A., and Sehgal, P. B. The molecular genetics of beta-2 interferon/interleukin-6 (IFN beta 2 /IL6) alpha. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 557, 345–352 (1989).
- B62. Brandtzaeg, P., Kierulf, P., Gaustad, P., Skulberg, A., Bruun, J. N., Halvorsen, S., and Sorensen, E. Plasma endotoxin as a predictor of multiple organ failure and death in systemic meningococcal disease. J. Infect. Dis. 159, 195-204 (1989).
- B63. Breviario, F., Proserpio, P., Bertocchi, F., Lampugnani, M. G., Mantovani, A., and Dejana, E. Interleukin-1 stimulates prostacyclin production by cultured human endothelial cells by increasing arachidonic acid mobilization and conversion. *Arteriosclerosis* 10, 129–134 (1990).
- B64. Brockhaus, M., Schoenfeld, H. J., Schlaeger, E. J., Hunziker, W., Lesslauer, W., and Loetscher, H. Identification of two types of tumor necrosis factor receptors on human cell lines by monoclonal antibodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 3127–3131 (1990).
- B65. Brown, J. M., Grosso, M. A., and Harken, A. H. Cytokines, sepsis and the surgeon. Surg. Gynecol. Obstet. 169, 568–575 (1989).
- B66. Buchan, G., Barrett, K., Turner, M., Chantry, D., Maini, R. N., and Feldmann, M. Interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor mRNA expression in rheumatoid arthritis: Prolonged production of IL-1 alpha. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **73**, 449–455 (1988).
- B67. Bullen, J. J. The significance of iron in infection. Rev. Infect. Dis. 3, 1127-1138 (1981).
- B68. Busbridge, N. J., Dascombe, M. J., Tilders, F. J., van Oers, J. W., Linton, E. A., and Rothwell, N. J. Central activation of thermogenesis and fever by interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-1 alpha involves different mechanisms. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 162, 591–596 (1989).
- C1. Calandra, T., Baumgartner, J. D., Grau, G. E., Wu, M. M., Lambert, P. H., Schellekens, J., Verhoef, J., and Glauser, M. P. Prognostic values of tumor necrosis factor/cachectin, interleukin-1, interferon-alpha, and interferon-gamma in the serum of patients with septic shock. Swiss-Dutch J5 Immunoglobulin Study Group. J. Infect. Dis. 161, 982–987 (1990).
- C2. Caligiuri, M. A., Zmuidzinas, A., Manley, T. J., Levine, H., Smith, K. A., and Ritz, J. Functional consequences of interleukin-2 receptor expression on resting human lymphocytes. Identification of a novel natural killer cell subset with high affinity receptors. J. Exp. Med. 171, 1509–1526 (1990).
- Callard, R. E., and Turner, M. W. Cytokines and Ig switching: Evolutionary divergence between mice and humans. *Immunol. Today* 11, 200–203 (1990).
- C4. Cambronero, J. C., Borrell, J., and Guaza, C. Glucocorticoids modulate rat hypothalamic corticotrophin-releasing factor release induced by interleukin-1. J. Neurosci. Res. 24, 470–476 (1989).

- C5. Camp, R. D., Fincham, N. J., Cunningham, F. M., Greaves, M. W., Morris, J., and Chu, A. Psoriatic skin lesions contain biologically active amounts of an interleukin-1 like compound. *J. Immunol.* 137, 3469–3474 (1986).
- C6. Campbell, I. K., Piccoli, D. S., and Hamilton, J. A. Stimulation of human chondrocyte prostaglandin E2 production by recombinant human interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1051, 310–318 (1990).
- C7. Campos Neto, A., and Stashenko, P. P. Interleukin-1 and T-cell activation (letter). Immunol. Today 9, 131 (1988).
- C8. Cannistra, S. A., Koenigsmann, M., DiCarolo, J., Groshek, P., and Griffin, J. D. Differentiationassociated expression of two functionally distinct classes of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor receptors by human myeloid cells. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 12656–12663 (1990).
- C9. Cannon, J. G., Fielding, R. A., Fiatarone, M. A., Orencole, S. F., Dinarello, C. A., and Evans, W. J. Increased interleukin-1 beta in human skeletal muscle after exercise. Am. J. Physiol. 257, R451-R455 (1989).
- C10. Cannon, J. G., Tompkins, R. G., Gelfand, J. A., Michie, H. R., Stanford, G. G., van der Meer, J. W., Endres, S., Lonnemann, G., Corsetti, J., Chernow, B., Wilmore, J. W. M., Wolff, S. M., Burke, J. F., and Dinarello, C. A. Circulating interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor in septic shock and experimental endotoxin fever. J. Infect. Dis. 161, 79–84 (1990).
- C11. Cannon, J. G., van der Meer, J. W., Kwiatkowski, D., Endres, S., Lonnemann, G., Burke, J. F., and Dinarello, C. A. Interleukin-1 beta in human plasma: Optimization of blood collection, plasma extraction, and radioimmunoassay methods. *Lymphokine Res.* 7, 457–467 (1988).
- C12. Carmichael, L. E., Barnes, F. D., and Percy, D. H. Temperature as a factor in resistance of young puppies to canine herpesvirus. J. Infect. Dis. 120, 669–678 (1969).
- C13. Carswell, E. A., Old, L. J., Kassel, R. L., Green, S., Fiore, N., and Williamson, B. An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 72, 3666–3670 (1975).
- C14. Carter, D. B., Deibel, M. R., Jr., Dunn, C. J., Tomich, C. S., Laborde, A. L., Slightom, J. L., Berger, A. E., Bienkowski, M. J., Sun, F. F., McEwan, R. N., Harris, P. K. W., Yem, A. W., Waszak, G. A., Chosay, J. G., Siue, L. C., Hardee, M. M., Zurcherneely, H. A., Reardon, I. M., Heinrikson, R. L., Truesdell, S. E., Shelly, J. A., Eessaly, T. E., Taylor, B. M., and Tracey, D. E. Purification, cloning, expression and biological characterization of an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist protein (see comments). *Nature (London)* 344, 633–638 (1990).
- C15. Chandrasekharappa, S. C., Rebelsky, M. S., Firak, T. A., Le Beau, M. M., and Westbrook, C. A. A long-range restriction map of the interleukin-4 and interleukin-5 linkage group on chromosome 5. *Genomics* 6, 94–99 (1990).
- C16. Charon, J. A., Luger, T. A., Mergenhagen, S. E., and Oppenheim, J. J. Increased thymocyteactivating factor in human gingival fluid during gingival inflammation. *Infect. Immun.* 38, 1190–1195 (1982).
- C17. Chatenoud, L., Ferran, C., Reuter, A., Legendre, C., Gevaert, Y., Kreis, H., Franchimont, P., and Bach, J. F. Systemic reaction to the anti-T-cell monoclonal antibody OKT3 in relation to serum levels of tumor necrosis factor and interferon-gamma (corrected) (letter). N. Engl. J. Med. 320, 1420-1421 (1989); erratum: *ibid.* 321(1), 63 (1989).
- C18. Chazen, G. D., Pereira, G. M., LeGros, G., Gillis, S., and Shevach, E. M. Interleukin-7 is a T-cell growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **86**, 5923–5927 (1989).
- C19. Chédid, M., and Mizel, S. B. Involvement of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinases in the signal transduction pathway for interleukin-1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 3824–3827 (1990).
- C20. Chellingsworth, M., Scott, D. G., Crockson, P. A., and Bacon, P. A. "Normal" acute phase response in systemic sclerosis. Br. Med. J. (Clin. Res.) 289, 946–947 (1984).
- C21. Chen, W. F., and Zlotnik, A. IL-10 a novel cytotoxic T cell differentiation factor. J. Immunol. 147, 523–534 (1991).

- C22. Chihara, J., Plumas, J., Gruart, V., Tavernier, J., Prin, L., Capron, A., and Capron, M. Characterization of a receptor for interleukin-5 on human eosinophils: Variable expression and induction by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J. Exp. Med. 172, 1347–1351 (1990).
- C23. Chizzonite, R., Truitt, T., Kilian, P. L., Stern, A. S., Nunes, P., Parker, K. P., Kaffka, K. L., Chua, A. O., Lugg, D. K., and Gubler, U. Two high-affinity interleukin-1 receptors represent separate gene products. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 8029–8033 (1989).
- C24. Chollet Martin, S., Depoix, J. P., Hvass, U., Pansard, Y., Vissuzaine, C., and Gougerot Pocidalo, M. A. Raised plasma levels of tumor necrosis factor in heart allograft rejection. *Transplant. Proc.* 22, 283–286 (1990).
- C25. Chopra, R. K., Powers, D. C., Kendig, N. E., Adler, W. H., and Nagel, J. E. Soluble interleukin-2 receptors released from mitogen stimulated human peripheral blood lymphocytes bind interleukin-2 and inhibit IL-2 dependent cell proliferation. *Immunol. Invest.* 18, 961–973 (1989).
- C26. Clark, B. D., Collins, K. L., Gandy, M. S., Webb, A. C., and Auron, P. E. Genomic sequence for human prointerleukin-1 beta: Possible evolution from a reverse transcribed prointerleukin-1 alpha gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 7897–7914 (1986); erratum: *ibid.* 15(2)2, 868 (1987).
- C27. Clore, G. M., Appella, E., Yamada, M., Matsushima, K., and Gronenborn, A. M. Threedimensional structure of interleukin-8 in solution. *Biochemistry* 29, 1689–1696 (1990).
- C28. Clutterbuck, E. J., and Sanderson, C. J. Regulation of human eosinophil precursor production by cytokines: A comparison of recombinant human interleukin-1 (rhlL-1), rhlL-3, rhlL-5, rhlL-6, and rh granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Blood* 75, 1774–1779 (1990).
- C29. Coffey, R. G. Mechanism of GM-CSF stimulation of neutrophils. *Immunol. Res.* 8, 236–248 (1989).
- C30. Colditz, I. G., Zwahlen, R. D., and Baggiolini, M. Neutrophil accumulation and plasma leakage induced in vivo by neutrophil-activating peptide-1. J. Leukocyte Biol. 48, 129–137 (1990).
- C31. Conradt, H. S., Nimtz, M., Dittmar, K. E., Lindenmaier, W., Hoppe, J., and Hauser, H. Expression of human interleukin-2 in recombinant baby hamster kidney, Ltk-, and Chinese hamster ovary cells. Structure of O- linked carbohydrate chains and their location within the polypeptide. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 17368–17373 (1989).
- C32. Conti, P., Reale, M., Fiore, S., Cancelli, A., Angeletti, P. U., and Dinarello, C. A. Recombinant interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor acting in synergy to release thromboxane, 6-KETO-PGF1 alpha and PGE2 by human neutrophils. *Scand. J. Rheumatol., Suppl.* 75, 318–324 (1988).
- C33. Corey, S. J., and Rosoff, P. M. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor primes neutrophils by activating a pertussis toxin-sensitive G protein not associated with phosphatidylinositol turnover. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 14165–14171 (1989).
- C34. Cornaby, A. J., Simpson, M. A., Madras, P. N., Dempsey, R. A., Clowes, G. H., and Monaco, A. P. Pre-operative interleukin-2 and interleukin-2 receptor levels may predict subsequent renal allograft rejection. *Transplant. Proc.* 21, 1861–1862 (1989).
- C35. Costello, M., Fiedel, B., and Gervurtz, H. Inhibition of platelet aggregation by native and desialysed AGP. *Nature (London)* 281, 677–678 (1979).
- C36. Covert, J. B., and Reynolds, W. W. Survival value of fever in fish. *Nature (London)* **267**, 43–45 (1977).
- C37. Crawford, R. M., Finbloom, D. S., Ohara, J., Paul, W. E., and Meltzer, M. S. B cell stimulatory factor-1 (interleukin-4) activates macrophages for increased tumoricidal activity and expression of Ia antigens. J. Immunol. 139, 135–141 (1987).
- C38. Cruickshank, A. M., Fraser, W. D., Burns, H. J., Van Damme, J., and Shenkin, A. Response of serum interleukin-6 in patients undergoing elective surgery of varying severity. *Clin. Sci.* 79, 161–165 (1990).
- D1. Damas, P., Reuter, A., Gysen, P., Demonty, J., Lamy, M., and Franchimont, P. Tumor necrosis

factor and interleukin-1 serum levels during severe sepsis in humans. Crit. Care Med. 17, 975-978 (1989).

- D2. Darlington, G. J., Wilson, D. R., and Lachman, L. B. Monocyte-conditioned medium, interleukin-1, and tumor necrosis factor stimulate the acute phase response in human hepatoma cells in vitro. J. Cell Biol. 103, 787–793 (1986).
- D3. Dasgupta, B., and Panayi, G. S. Interleukin-6 in serum of patients with polymyalgia rheumatica and giant cell arteritis. Br. J. Rheumatol. 29, 456–458 (1990).
- D4. Dauchel, H., Julen, N., Lemercier, C., Daveau, M., Ozanne, D., Fontaine, M., and Ripoche, J. Expression of complement alternative pathway proteins by endothelial cells. Differential regulation by interleukin-1 and glucocorticoids. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 1669–1675 (1990).
- D5. Dayer, J. M., Beutler, B., and Cerami, A. Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor stimulates collagenase and prostaglandin E2 production by human synovial cells and dermal fibroblasts. J. Exp. Med. 162, 2163–2168 (1985).
- D6. de Azavedo, J. C., Drumm, A., Jupin, C., Parant, M., Alouf, J. E., and Arbuthnott, J. Induction of tumour necrosis factor by staphylococcal toxic shock toxin 1. *FEMS Microbiol. Immunol.* 1, 69-74 (1988).
- D7. Debets, J. M., Kampmeijer, R., van der Linden, M. P., Buurman, W. A., and van der, L. C. J. Plasma tumor necrosis factor and mortality in critically ill septic patients. *Crit. Care Med.* 17, 489–494 (1989).
- D8. de Groote, M. A., Martin, M. A., Densen, P., Pfaller, M. A., and Wenzel, R. P. Plasma tumor necrosis factor levels in patients with presumed sepsis. Results in those treated with antilipid A antibody vs placebo (see comments). JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 262, 249–251 (1989).
- D9. Dejana, E., Breviario, F., Erroi, A., Bussolino, F., Mussoni, L., Gramse, M., Pintucci, G., Casali, B., Dinarello, C. A., Van Damme, J., and Mantovani, A. Modulation of endothelial cell functions by different molecular species of interleukin-1. *Blood* 69, 695–699 (1987).
- D10. Demetri, G. D., Zenzie, B. W., Rheinwald, J. G., and Griffin, J. D. Expression of colonystimulating factor genes by normal human mesothelial cells and human malignant mesothelioma cells lines in vitro. *Blood* 74, 940–946 (1989).
- D11. Di Fiore, P. P., Segatto, O., Taylor, W. G., Aaronson, S. A., and Pierce, J. H. EGF receptor and erbB-2 tyrosine kinase domains confer cell specificity for mitogenic signaling. *Science* 248, 79–83 (1990).
- D12. di Giovine, F. S., and Duff, G. W. Interleukin-1: The first interleukin. *Immunol. Today* 11, 13-20 (1990).
- D13. di Giovine, F. S., Malawista, S. E., Nuki, G., and Duff, G. W. Interleukin-1 (IL-1) as a mediator of crystal arthritis. Stimulation of T cell and synovial fibroblast mitogenesis by urate crystal induced IL-1. J. Immunol. 138, 3213–3218 (1987).
- D14. di Giovine, F. S., Nuki, G., and Duff, G. W. Tumour necrosis factor in synovial exudates. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 47, 768–772 (1988).
- D15. di Giovine, F. S., Takhsh, E., Sim, E., McDowell, T. L., Symons, J. A., and Duff, G. W. Genetic variation of interleukin-1 beta in RA. Br. J. Rheumatol. 29, 90 (1990).
- D16. Dinarello, C. A. Interleukin-1 and the pathogenesis of the acute-phase response. N. Engl. J. Med. 311, 1413–1418 (1984).
- D17. Dinarello, C. A. Interleukin-1, amino acid sequences, multiple biological activities and comparison with tumor necrosis factor. *In* "The Year in Immunology 1986," pp. 68–89. 1986.
- D18. Dinarello, C. A. Was the original endogenous pyrogen Interleukin-1. In "Interleukin-1 Inflammation and Disease" (R. Bomford and B. Henderson, eds.), pp. 17–28. Elsevier, Amsterdam and New York, 1989.
- D19. Dinarello, C. A. Interleukin-1 and interleukin-1 antagonism. Blood 77, 1627-1652 (1991).
- D20. Dinarello, C. A., Cannon, J. G., Wolff, S. M., Bernheim, H. A., Beutler, B., Cerami, A., Figari, I. S., Palladino, M. A., Jr., and O'Connor, J. V. Tumor necrosis factor (cachectin) is an
endogenous pyrogen and induces production of interleukin-1. J. Exp. Med. 163, 1433-1450 (1986).

- D21. Dinarello, C. A., Clark, B. D., Ikejima, T., Puren, A. J., Savage, N., and Rosoff, P. M. Interleukin-1 receptors and biological responses. *Yale J. Biol. Med.* 63, 87–93 (1990).
- D22. Dittmer, R., Harfmann, P., Tenschert, W., Arndt, R., and Busch, B. Monitoring of renal transplant patients with interleukin-2 and interleukin-2 receptor enzyme immunoassay and interleukin-2 receptor immunocytology. *Transplant. Proc.* 22, 2284–2285 (1990).
- D23. Dower, S. K., Bomzstyk, K., and Sims, J. E. Structure of IL-1 receptors. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 349, 241–249 (1990).
- D24. Dower, S. K., Kronheim, S. R., Hopp, T. P., Cantrell, M., Deeley, M., Gillis, S., Henney, C. S., and Urdal, D. L. The cell surface receptors for interleukin-1 alpha and interleukin-1 beta are identical. *Nature (London)* 324, 266–268 (1986).
- D25. Dower, S. K., Sims, J. E., Stanton, T. H., Slack, J., McMahan, C. J., Valentine, M. A., and Bomsztyk, K. Molecular heterogeneity of interleukin-1 receptors. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 594, 231–239 (1990).
- D26. Dowton, S. B., and Colten, H. R. Acute phase reactants in inflammation and infection. Semin. Hematol. 25, 84–90 (1988).
- D27. Duan, J. M., and Habicht, G. S. Effect of interleukin-1 on the induction and maintenance of B cell tolerance in vitro. J. Leukocyte Biol. 45, 329–335 (1989).
- D28. Dubois, C. M., Ruscetti, F. W., Palaszynski, E. W., Falk, L. A., Oppenheim, J. J., and Keller, J. R. Transforming growth factor beta is a potent inhibitor of interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptor expression: Proposed mechanism of inhibition of IL-1 action. J. Exp. Med. 172, 737–744 (1990).
- D29. Duff, G. W., Dickens, E., Wood, N., Manson, J., Symons, J. A., Poole, S., and di Giovine, F. S. Immunoassay, bioassay and in situ hybridization of monokines in human arthritis. *In* "Monokines and other Non-lymphatic Cytokines" (J. J. Oppenheim and M. C. Powanda, eds.), pp. 387–392. Liss, New York, 1988.
- D30. Duff, G. W., and Durum, S. K. The pyrogenic and mitogenic actions of interleukin-1 are related. *Nature (London)* **304**, 449–451 (1983).
- D31. Duh, E. J., Maury, W. J., Folks, T. M., Fauci, A. S., and Rabson, A. B. Tumor necrosis factor alpha activates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 through induction of nuclear factor binding to the NF-kappa B sites in the long terminal repeat. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 5974–5978 (1989).
- D32. Dularay, B., Elson, C. J., Clements Jewery, S., Damais, C., and Lando, D. Recombinant human interleukin-1 beta primes human polymorphonuclear leukocytes for stimulus-induced myeloperoxidase release. J. Leukocyte Biol. 47, 158–163 (1990).
- D33. Duncan, M. R., Perlish, J. S., and Fleischmajer, R. Lymphokine/monokine inhibition of fibroblast proliferation and collagen production: Role in progressive systemic sclerosis (PSS). J. Invest. Dermatol. 83, 377-385 (1984).
- D34. Durand, D. B., Shaw, J. P., Bush, M. R., Replogle, R. E., Belagaje, R., and Crabtree, G. R. Characturisation of antigen receptor response elements within the interleukin-2 enhancer. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 8, 1715–1724 (1988).
  - E1. Easter, D. W., Hoyt, D. B., and Ozkan, A. N. Immunosuppression by a peptide from the gelatin binding domain of human fibronectin. J. Surg. Res. 45, 370-375 (1988).
  - Eastgate, J. A., Wood, N. G., di Giovine, F. S., Symons, J. A., Grinlinton, F. M., and Duff, G. W. Correlation of plasma interleukin-1 levels with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* 2, 706-709 (1988).
  - E3. Eisenberg, S. P., Evans, R. J., Arend, W. P., Verderber, E., Brewer, M. T., Hannum, C. H., and Thompson, R. C. Primary structure and functional expression from complementary DNA of a human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Nature (London)* 343, 341–346 (1990).
  - E4. Elias, J. A., Reynolds, M. M., Kotloff, R. M., and Kern, J. A. Fibroblast interleukin-1 beta:

Synergistic stimulation by recombinant interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor and posttranscriptional regulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 6171–6175 (1989).

- E5. Ema, H., Suda, T., Nagayoshi, K., Miura, Y., Civin, C. I., and Nakauchi, H. Target cells for granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, interleukin-3, and interleukin-5 in differentiation pathways of neutrophils and eosinophils. *Blood* 76, 1956–1961 (1990).
- E6. Engelmann, H., Aderka, D., Rubinstein, M., Rotman, D., and Wallach, D. A tumor necrosis factor-binding protein purified to homogeneity from human urine protects cells from tumor necrosis factor toxicity. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 11974–11980 (1989).
- E7. Ernst, T. J., Ritchie, A. R., Demetri, G. D., and Griffin, J. D. Regulation of granulocyte- and monocyte-colony stimulating factor mRNA levels in human blood monocytes is mediated primarily at a post-transcriptional level. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 5700–5703 (1989).
- E8. Espevik, T., Waage, A., Faxvaag, A., and Shalaby, M. R. Regulation of interleukin-2 and interleukin-6 production from T-cells: Involvement of interleukin-1 beta and transforming growth factor-beta. *Cell. Immunol.* **126**, 47–56 (1990).
- E9. Espinoza Delgado, I., Ortaldo, J. R., Winkler Pickett, R., Sugamura, K., Varesio, L., and Longo, D. L. Expression and role of p75 interleukin-2 receptor on human monocytes. J. Exp. Med. 171, 1821–1826 (1990).
- E10. Evans, E., Courtois, G. M., Kilian, P. L., Fuller, G. M., and Crabtree, G. R. Induction of fibrinogen and a subset of acute phase response genes involves a novel monokine which is mimicked by phorbol esters. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 10850–10854 (1987).
- E11. Evans, S. W., and Farrar, W. L. Identity of common phosphoprotein substrates stimulated by interleukin-2 and diacylglycerol suggests a role of protein kinase C for IL-2 signal transduction. J. Cell. Biochem. 34, 47–59 (1987).
- E12. Evans, S. W., and Farrar, W. L. Interleukin-2 and diacylglycerol stimulate phosphorylation of 40 S ribosomal S6 protein. Correlation with increased protein synthesis and S6 kinase activation. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 4624–4630 (1987).
- E13. Evans, S. W., Rennick, D., and Farrar, W. L. Identification of a signal-transduction pathway shared by haematopoietic growth factors with diverse biological specificity. *Biochem. J.* 244, 683–691 (1987).
- E14. Everson, M. P., Eldridge, J. H., and Koopman, W. J. Synergism of interleukin-7 with the thymocyte growth factors interleukin-2, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor alpha in the induction of thymocyte proliferation. *Cell. Immunol.* 127, 470–482 (1990).
- F1. Faist, E., Ertel, W., Mewes, A., Strasser, T., Walz, A., and Alkan, S. Mediators and the trauma induced cascade of immunologic defects. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 308, 495–506 (1989).
- F2. Faist, E., Mewes, A., Strasser, T., Walz, A., Alkan, S., Baker, C., Ertel, W., and Heberer, G. Alteration of monocyte function following major injury. *Arch. Surg. (Chicago)* 123, 287–292 (1988).
- F3. Fakih, H., Baggett, B., Holtz, G., Tsong, K. Y., Lee, J. C., and Williamson, H. O. Interleukin-1: A possible role in the infertility associated with endometreosis. *Fertil. Steril.* 47, 213–217 (1987).
- F4. Falk, W., Krammer, P. H., and Mannel, D. N. A new assay for interleukin-1 in the presence of interleukin-2. J. Immunol. Methods 99, 47-52 (1987).
- F5. Falk, W., von Hogen, I., and Krammer, P. H. Activation of T cells by interleukin-1 involves internalization of interleukin-1. *Lymphokine Res.* 8, 263–268 (1989).
- F6. Falkoff, R. J., Butler, J. L., Dinarello, C. A., and Fauci, A. S. Direct effects of a monoclonal B cell differentiation factor and of purified interleukin-1 on B cell differentiation. *J. Immunol.* 133, 692–696 (1984).
- F7. Fanslow, W. C., Sims, J. E., Sassenfeld, H., Morrissey, P. J., Gillis, S., Dower, S. K., and Widmer, M. B. Regulation of alloreactivity in vivo by a soluble form of the interleukin-1 receptor. *Science* 248, 739–742 (1990).
- F8. Farrant, J., Bryant, A., Almandoz, F., Spickett, G., Evans, S. W., and Webster, A. D. B cell

function in acquired "common-variable" hypogammaglobulinemia: Proliferative responses to lymphokines. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 51, 196–204 (1989).

- F9. Farrar, W. L., Cleveland, J. L., Beckner, S. K., Bonvini, E., and Evans, S. W. Biochemical and molecular events associated with interleukin-2 regulation of lymphocyte proliferation. *Immunol. Rev.* 92, 49–65 (1986).
- F10. Farrar, W. L., Evans, S. W., Rapp, U. R., and Cleveland, J. L. Effects of anti-proliferative cyclic AMP on interleukin-2-stimulated gene expression. J. Immunol. 139, 2075–2080 (1987).
- F11. Farrar, W. L., and Ferris, D. K. Two-dimensional analysis of interleukin-2-regulated tyrosine kinase activation mediated by the p70-75 beta subunit of the interleukin-2 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 12562–12567 (1989).
- F12. Felver, M. E., Mczey, E., McGuire, M., Mitchell, M. C., Herlong, H. F., Veech, G. A., and Veech, R. L. Plasma tumor necrosis factor alpha predicts decreased long-term survival in severe alcoholic hepatitis. *Alcohol.: Clin. Exp. Res.* 14, 255–259 (1990).
- F13. Ferran, C., Dy, M., Merite, S., Sheehan, K., Schreiber, R., Leboulenger, F., Landais, P., Bluestone, J., Bach, J. F., and Chatenoud, L. Reduction of morbidity and cytokine release in anti-CD3 MoAb-treated mice by corticosteroids. *Transplantation* **50**, 642–648 (1990).
- F14. Feuerstein, G., Hallenbeck, J. M., Vanatta, B., Rabinovici, R., Perera, P. Y., and Vogel, S. N. Effect of gram-negative endotoxin on levels of serum corticosterone, TNF alpha, circulating blood cells, and the survival of rats. *Circ. Shock* **30**, 265–278 (1990).
- F15. Fibbe, W. E., Schaafsma, M. R., Falkenburg, J. H., and Willemze, R. The biological activities of interleukin-1. *Blut* 59, 147–156 (1989).
- F16. Finkelman, F. D., Holmes, J., Katona, I. M., Urban, J. F., Jr., Beckmann, M. P., Park, L. S., Schooley, K. A., Coffman, R. L., Mosmann, T. R., and Paul, W. E. Lymphokine control of in vivo immunoglobulin isotype selection. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 303–333 (1990).
- F17. Finlay, W. E., and McKee, J. I. Serum cortisol levels in severely stressed patients (letter). Lancet 1, 1414–1415 (1982).
- F18. Finzel, B. C., Clancy, L. L., Holland, D. R., Muchmore, S. W., Watenpaugh, K. D., and Einspahr, H. M. Crystal structure of recombinant human interleukin-1 beta at 2.0 Å resolution. *J. Mol. Biol.* 209, 779-791 (1989).
- F19. Fischer, H., Dohlsten, M., Andersson, U., Hedlund, G., Ericsson, P., Hansson, J., and Sjögren, H. O. Production of TNF-alpha and TNF-beta by staphylococcal enterotoxin A activated human T cells. J. Immunol. 144, 4663–4669 (1990).
- F20. Flores Romo, L., Millsum, M. J., Gillis, S., Stubbs, P., Sykes, C., and Gordon, J. Immunoglobulin isotype production by cycling human B lymphocytes in response to recombinant cytokines and anti-IgM. *Immunology* 69, 342–347 (1990).
- F21. Fong, Y., Moldawer, L. L., Marano, M., Wei, H., Tatter, S. B., Clarick, R. H., Santhanam, U., Sherris, D., May, L. T., Sehgal, P. B., and Lowry, S. F. Endotoxemia elicits increased circulating beta 2-IFN/IL-6 in man. J. Immunol. 142, 2321–2324 (1989).
- F22. Fontana, A., Hengartner, H., Weber, E., Fehr, K., Grob, P. J., and Cohen, G. Interleukin-1 activity in the synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol. Int.* 2, 49–53 (1982).
- F23. Fontana, A., Weber, E., and Dayer, J. M. Synthesis of interleukin-1/endogenous pyrogen in the brain of endotoxin-treated mice: A step in fever induction? J. Immunol. 133, 1696–1698 (1984).
- F24. Forsythe, J. L., Shenton, B. K., Parrot, N. R., Taylor, R. M., and Proud, G. Plasma interleukin-2 receptor levels in renal allograft dysfunction. *Transplantation* 48, 155–157 (1989).
- F25. Foxwell, B. M., Woerly, G., and Ryffel, B. Identification of interleukin-4 receptor-associated proteins and expression of both high- and low-affinity binding on human lymphoid cells. *Eur.* J. Immunol. 19, 1637–1641 (1989).
- F26. Freeman, G. J., Freedman, A. S., Rabinowe, S. N., Segil, J. M., Horowitz, J., Rosen, K.,

- F27. Frei, K., Fredrikson, S., Fontana, A., and Link, H. Interleukin-6 is elevated in plasma in multiple sclerosis. J. Neuroimmunol. 31, 147-153 (1991).
- F28. Frei, K., Leist, T. P., Meager, A., Gallo, P., Leppert, D., Zinkernagel, R. M., and Fontana, A. Production of B cell stimulatory factor-2 and interferon gamma in the central nervous system during viral meningitis and encephalitis. Evaluation in a murine model infection and in patients. J. Exp. Med. 168, 449–453 (1988).
- F29. Freund, Y. R., Dedrick, R. L., and Jones, P. P. Cis-acting sequences required for class II gene regulation by interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor alpha in a murine macrophage cell line. J. Exp. Med. 171, 1283-1299 (1990).
- F30. Fried, S. K., and Zechner, R. Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor decreases human adipose tissue lipoprotein lipase mRNA levels, synthesis, and activity. J. Lipid Res. 30, 1917–1923 (1989).
- F31. Fugger, L., Morling, N., Sandberg Wollheim, M., Ryder, L. P., and Svejgaard, A. Tumor necrosis factor alpha gene polymorphism in multiple sclerosis and optic neuritis. J. Neuroimmunol. 27, 85–88 (1990).
- F32. Furutani, Y., Notake, M., Fukui, T., Ohue, M., Nomura, H., Yamada, M., and Nakamura, S. Complete nucleotide sequence of the gene for human interleukin-1 alpha. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 3167–3179 (1986); erratum: *ibid.* 14(2), 5124 (1986).
- F33. Furuuchi, S., and Shimizu, Y. Effect of ambient temperatures on multiplication of attenuated transmissible gastroenteritis virus in the bodies of newborn piglets. *Infect. Immun.* **13**, 990–992 (1976).
- G1. Gallagher, G., Stimson, W. H., Findlay, J., and al Azzawi, F. Interleukin-6 enhances the induction of human lymphokine-activated killer cells. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 31, 49-52 (1990).
- G2. Galy, A. H., Dinarello, C. A., Kupper, T. S., Kameda, A., and Hadden, J. W. Effects of cytokines on human thymic epithelial cells in culture. II. Recombinant IL-1 stimulates thymic epithelial cells to produce IL-6 and GM-CSF. *Cell. Immunol.* **129**, 161–175 (1990).
- G3. Gamble, J. R., Elliott, M. J., Jaipargas, E., Lopez, A. F., and Vadas, M. A. Regulation of human monocyte adherence by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 7169–7173 (1989).
- G4. Gauldie, J., Richards, C., Harnish, D., and Baumann, H. Interferon beta-2 is identical to monocyte HSF and regulates the full acute phase protein response in liver cells. *In* "Monokines and Other Non-lymphatic Cytokines" (M. C. Powanda, J. J. Oppenheim, M. J. Klugger, and C. A. Dinarello, eds.), pp. 15–20. Liss, New York, 1988.
- G5. Gauldie, J., Sauder, D. N., McAdam, K. P., and Dinarello, C. A. Purified interleukin-1 (IL-1) from human monocytes stimulates acute-phase protein synthesis by rodent hepatocytes in vitro. *Immunology* **60**, 203–207 (1987).
- G6. Gearing, A. J., Leung, H., Bird, C. R., and Thorpe, R. Presence of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1, TNF, and IL-6 in preparations of monoclonal antibodies. *Hybridoma* 8, 361–367 (1989).
- G7. Gearing, A. J., and Thorpe, R. Assay of interleukin-1. In "Interleukin-1, Inflammation and Disease" (R. Bomford and B. Henderson, eds.), pp. 79–91. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1989.
- G8. Gehrke, L., Jobling, S. A., Paik, L. S., McDonald, B., Rosenwasser, L. J., and Auron, P. E. A point mutation uncouples human interleukin-1 beta biological activity and receptor binding. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 5922–5925 (1990).
- G9. Geiger, T., Andus, T., Klapproth, J., Northoff, H., and Heinrich, P. C. Induction of alpha 1-acid glycoprotein by recombinant human interleukin-1 in rat hepatoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 7141-7146 (1988).
- G10. Gelin, J., Moldawer, L. L., Lonnroth, C., Sherry, B., Chizzonite, R., and Lundholm, K. Role of endogenous tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-1 for experimental tumor growth and the development of cancer cachexia. *Cancer Res.* 51, 415–421 (1991).

- G11. George, D. T., Abeles, F. B., Mapes, C. A., Sobocinski, P. Z., Zenser, T. V., and Powanda, M. C. Effect of leukocytic endogenous mediators on endocrine pancreas secretory responses. Am. J. Physiol. 233, E240–E245 (1977).
- G12. Gerondakis, S. Structure and expression of murine germ-line immunoglobulin epsilon heavy chain transcripts induced by interleukin-4. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 1581–1585 (1990).
- G13. Ghiara, P., Scapigliati, G., Censini, S., Bartalini, M., Bossu, P., Armellini, D., Nuti, S., Volpini, G., Dallai, R., Boraschi, D., et al. IL-1 receptor subtypes possess distinct binding properties for IL-1 alpha and IL-1 beta. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 349, 271–284 (1990).
- G14. Gillis, S., Union, N. A., Baker, P. E., and Smith, K. A. The in vitro generation and sustained culture of nude mouse cytolytic T-lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 149, 1460-1476 (1979).
- G15. Girardin, E., Grau, G. E., Dayer, J. M., Roux Lombard, P., and Lambert, P. H. Tumour necrosis factor and interleukin-1 in the serum of children with severe infectious purpura. N. Engl. J. Med. 319, 397-400 (1988).
- G16. Gnarra, J. R., Otani, H., Wang, M. G., McBride, O. W., Sharon, M., and Leonard, W. J. Human interleukin-2 receptor beta-chain gene: Chromosomal localization and identification of 5' regulatory sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 3440–3444 (1990).
- G17. Goodwin, R. G., Friend, D., Ziegler, S. F., Jerzy, R., Falk, B. A., Gimpel, S., Cosman, D., Dower, S. K., March, C. J., Namen, A. E., and Park, L. S. Cloning of the human and murine interleukin-7 receptors: Demonstration of a soluble form and homology to a new receptor superfamily. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 60, 941–951 (1990).
- G18. Gottschall, P. E., Katsuura, G., and Arimura, A. Interleukin-1 beta is more potent than interleukin-1 alpha in suppressing follicle-stimulating hormone-induced differentiation of ovarian granulosa cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 163, 764–770 (1989).
- G19. Granger, G. A., and Williams, T. W. Lymphocyte cytotoxicity in vitro. Activation and release of a cytotoxic factor. *Nature (London)* **218**, 1253-1255 (1968).
- G20. Granstein, R. D., and Sander, D. N. Whole body exposure to ultra-violet radiation results in increased serum interleukin-1 activity in humans. *Lymphokine Res.* 6, 187–193 (1987).
- G21. Graves, B. J., Hatada, M. H., Hendrickson, W. A., Miller, J. K., Madison, V. S., and Satow, Y. Structure of interleukin-1 alpha at 2. 7-A resolution. *Biochemistry* 29, 2679–2684 (1990).
- G22. Gray, P. W., Barrett, K., Chantry, D., Turner, M., and Feldmann, M. Cloning of human tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor cDNA and expression of recombinant soluble TNF-binding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 7380–7384 (1990).
- G23. Griffin, J. D., Cannistra, S. A., Sullivan, R., Demetri, G. D., Ernst, T. J., and Kanakura, Y. The biology of GM-CSF: Regulation of production and interaction with its receptor. *Int. J. Cell Cloning* 8, Suppl. 1, 35–44; discuss. (1990).
- G24. Gross, V., Andus, T., Castell, J., Vom Berg, D., Heinrich, P. C., and Gerok, W. O- and N-glycosylation lead to different molecular mass forms of human monocyte interleukin-6. *FEBS Lett.* 247, 323–326 (1989).
- G25. Grossman, D., Cook, R. G., Sparrow, J. T., Mollick, J. A., and Rich, R. R. Dissociation of the stimulatory activities of staphylococcal enterotoxins for T cells and monocytes. J. Exp. Med. 172, 1831–1841 (1990).
- G26. Grossman, R. M., Krueger, J., Yourish, D., Granelli Piperno, A., Murphy, D. P., May, L. T., Kupper, T. S., Sehgal, P. B., and Gottlieb, A. B. Interleukin-6 is expressed in high levels in psoriatic skin and stimulates proliferation of cultured human keratinocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 6367–6371 (1989).
- G27. Guan, X. P., Hromchak, R. A., and Bloch, A. Induction of protein kinase C translocation and cell differentiation in ML-1 human myeloblastic leukemic cells by tumor necrosis factor-alpha, transforming growth factor-beta, or tetradecanoylphorbol acetate. *Cancer Commun.* 1, 111–115 (1989).

- G28. Guerne, P. A., Zuraw, B. L., Vaughan, J. H., Carson, D. A., and Lotz, M. Synovium as a source of interleukin-6 in vitro. Contribution to local and systemic manifestations of arthritis. J. Clin. Invest. 83, 585–592 (1989).
- H1. Hack, C. E., de Groot, E. R., Felt Bersma, R. J., Nuijens, J. H., Strack Van, S. R. J., Eerenberg Belmer, A. J., Thijs, L. G., and Aarden, L. A. Increased plasma levels of interleukin-6 in sepsis (see comments). *Blood* 74, 1704–1710 (1989).
- H2. Hammerle, A. F., Poschl, G., Kirnbauer, R., Trautinger, F., Micksche, M., and Mayrhofer, O. Serum proteins and cytokines for prediction of sepsis? Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 308, 715–718 (1989).
- H3. Han, J., Thompson, P., and Beutler, B. Dexamethasone and pentoxifylline inhibit endotoxininduced cachectin/tumor necrosis factor synthesis at separate points in the signaling pathway. J. Exp. Med. 172, 391–394 (1990).
- H4. Hannum, C. H., Wilcox, C. J., Arend, W. P., Joslin, F. G., Dripps, D. J., Heimdal, P. L., Armes, L. G., Sommer, A., Eisenberg, S. P., and Thompson, R. C. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist activity of a human interleukin-1 inhibitor. *Nature (London)* 343, 336–340 (1990).
- H5. Hanson, D. F., Murphy, P. A., Silicano, R., and Shin, H. S. The effect of temperature on the activation of thymocytes by interleukins I and II. J. Immunol. 130, 216–221 (1983).
- H6. Hassell, A. M., Johanson, K. O., Goodhart, P., Young, P. R., Holskin, B. P., Carr, S. A., Roberts, G. D., Simon, P. L., Chen, M. J., and Lewis, M. Preliminary X-ray crystallography studies of recombinant human interleukin-1 alpha. Purification and structural characterization. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 4948–4952 (1989).
- H7. Hatakeyama, M., Mori, H., Doi, T., and Taniguchi, T. A restricted cytoplasmic region of IL-2 receptor beta chain is essential for growth signal transduction but not for ligand binding and internalization. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 59, 837–845 (1989).
- H8. Haugen, A., Mann, D., Murray, C., Weston, A., and Willey, J. C. Interleukin-1 alpha gene intron containing variable repeat region coding for the SP1 transcription factor recognition sequence is polymorphic. *Mol. Carcinog.* 2, 68–71 (1989).
- H9. Hauser, S. L., Doolittle, T. H., Lincoln, R., Brown, R. H., and Dinarello, C. A. Cytokine accumulations in CSF of multiple sclerosis patients: Frequent detection of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor but not interleukin-6. *Neurology* **40**, 1735–1739 (1990).
- H10. Hayashi, S., Kunisada, T., Ogawa, M., Sudo, T., Kodama, H., Suda, T., and Nishikawa, S. Stepwise progression of B lineage differentiation supported by interleukin-7 and other stromal cell molecules. J. Exp. Med. 171, 1683–1695 (1990).
- H11. Heinrich, P. C., Castell, J. V., and Andus, T. Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response. *Biochem. J.* 265, 621-636 (1990).
- H12. Hejnaes, K. R., Sehested, B., Worsaae, H., Molvig, J., and Wollmer, A. The effect of Nterminal extension on the structure and function of human interleukin-1 beta. *Biol. Chem. Hoppe-Seyler* 371, 23–30 (1990).
- H13. Helfgott, D. C., May, L. T., Sthoeger, Z., Tamm, I., and Sehgal, P. B. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide (endotoxin) enhances expression and secretion of beta 2 interferon by human fibroblasts. J. Exp. Med. 166, 1300–1309 (1987).
- H14. Helfgott, D. C., Tatter, S. B., Santhanam, U., Clarick, R. H., Bhardwaj, N., May, L. T., and Sehgal, P. B. Multiple forms of IFN-beta 2/IL-6 in serum and body fluids during acute bacterial infection. J. Immunol. 142, 948–953 (1989).
- H15. Henney, C. S. Interleukin-7: Effects on early events in lymphopoiesis. *Immunol. Today* 10, 170–173 (1989).
- H16. Henney, C. S., Kuribayashi, K., Kern, D. E., and Gillis, S. Interleukin-2 augments natural killer cell activity. *Nature (London)* 291, 335–338 (1981).
- H17. Heremans, H., Dillen, C., Dijkmans, R., Grau, G., and Billiau, A. The role of cytokines in various animal models of inflammation. *Lymphokine Res.* **8**, 329–333 (1989).

- H18. Heron, I., and Berg, K. The actions of interferon are potentiated at elevated temperature. *Nature* (*London*) **274**, 508–510 (1978).
- H19. Herrman, F., Cannistra, S. A., and Griffin, J. D. T cell monocyte interactions in the production of humoral factors regulating human granulopoiesis in vitro. J. Immunol. 136, 2856–2861 (1986).
- H20. Hesse, D. G., Tracey, K. J., Fong, Y., Manogue, K. R., Palladino, M. A., Jr., Cerami, A., Shires, G. T., and Lowry, S. F. Cytokine appearance in human endotoxemia and primate bacteremia. *Surg., Gynecol. Obstet.* 166, 147–153 (1988).
- H21. Higuchi, T., Tanaka, A., Watanabe, H., Chisaka, T., and Imanishi, J. Rapid phosphorylation of cellular proteins during differentiation of neuroblastoma cells induced by recombinant human interferon-gamma. J. Interferon Res. 10, 413–423 (1990).
- H22. Hirano, T., Akira, S., Taga, T., and Kishimoto, T. Biological and clinical aspects of interleukin-6. *Immunol. Today* 11, 443–449 (1990).
- H23. Hirano, T., Matsuda, T., Turner, M., Miyasaka, N., Buchan, G., Tang, B., Sato, K., Shimizu, M., Maini, R., Feldmann, M., and Kishimoto, T. Excessive production of interleukin-6/B cell stimulatory factor-2 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 18, 1797–1801 (1988).
- H24. Hirano, T., Taga, T., Yamasaki, K., Matsuda, T., Yasukawa, K., Hirata, Y., Yawata, H., Tanabe, O., Akira, S., and Kishimoto, T. Molecular cloning of the cDNAs for interleukin-6/B cell stimulatory factor 2 and its receptor. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 557, 167–178 (1989).
- H25. Hocking, D. C., Phillips, P. G., Ferro, T. J., and Johnson, A. Mechanisms of pulmonary edema induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Circ. Res.* 67, 68–77 (1990).
- H26. Hoffmann, M. K., Gilbert, K. M., Hirst, J. A., and Scheid, M. An essential role for interleukin-1 and a dual function for interleukin-2 in the immune response of murine B lymphocytes to sheep erythrocytes. J. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 3, 29–36 (1987).
- H27. Hogrefe, H. H., McPhie, P., Bekisz, J. B., Enterline, J. C., Dyer, D., Webb, D. S., Gerrard, T. L., and Zoon, K. C. Amino terminus is essential to the structural integrity of recombinant human interferon-gamma. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 12179–12186 (1989).
- H28. Holch, M. W., Grob, P. J., Fierz, W., Glinz, W., and Geroulanos, S. Graduation of immunosuppression after surgery or severe trauma. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 308, 491–494 (1989).
- H29. Hopkins, S. J., and Humphreys, M. Simple, sensitive and specific bioassay of interleukin-1. J. Immunol. Methods 120, 271-276 (1989).
- H30. Hopkins, S. J., Humphreys, M., and Jayson, M. I. Cytokines in synovial fluid. I. The presence of biologically active and immunoreactive IL-1. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 72, 422–427 (1988).
- H31. Hopkins, S. J., and Meager, A. Cytokines in synovial fluid. II. The presence of tumor necrosis factor and interferon. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **73**, 88–92 (1988).
- H32. Horii, Y., Muraguchi, A., Iwano, M., Matsuda, T., Hirayama, T., Yamada, H., Fujii, Y., Dohi, K., Ishikawa, H., Ohmoto, Y., Yoshizak, K., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. Involvement of IL-6 in mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis. *J. Immunol.* 143, 3949–3955 (1989).
- H33. Houssiau, F. A., Bukasa, K., Sindič, C. J., Van Damme, J., and Van Snick, J. Elevated levels of the 26K human hybridoma growth factor (interleukin-6) in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with acute infection of the central nervous system. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **71**, 320–323 (1988).
- H34. Houssiau, F. A., Coulie, P. G., and Van Snick, J. Distinct roles of IL-1 and IL-6 in human T cell activation. J. Immunol. 143, 2520–2524 (1989).
- H35. Howard, M., Farrar, J., Hilfiker, M., Johnson, B., Takatsu, K., Hamaoka, T., and Paul, W. E. Identification of a T cell-derived b cell growth factor distinct from interleukin-2. J. Exp. Med. 155, 914–923 (1982).
- H36. Hsueh, W., Sun, X., Rioja, L. N., and Gonzalez Crussi, F. The role of the complement system in shock and tissue injury induced by tumour necrosis factor and endotoxin. *Immunology* 70, 309–314 (1990).

- H37. Huang, Y.-P., Miescher, P. A., and Zubler, R. H. The interleukin-2 defect in vitro in systemic lupus erthematosus is reversible in rested cultured T cells. J. Immunol. 137, 2545–2548 (1986).
- H38. Hume, D. A., and Denkins, Y. M. Activation of macrophages to express cytocidal activity correltes with inhibition of their responsiveness to macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1): Involvement of a pertussis toxin-sensitive reaction. *Immunol. Cell. Biol.* 67, 243–249 (1989).
- H39. Hunt, P., Robertson, D., Weiss, D., Rennick, D., Lee, F., and Witte, O. N. A single bone marrow-derived stromal cell type supports the in vitro growth of early lymphoid and myeloid cells. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 48, 997-1007 (1987).
- H40. Hutton, C. W., Collins, A. J., Chambers, R. E., Whicher, J., and Dieppe, P. A. Systemic response to local urate crystal induced inflammation in man: A possible model to study the acute phase response. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 44, 533–536 (1985).
  - Imagawa, D. K., Millis, J. M., Olthoff, K. M., Derus, L. J., Chia, D., Sugich, L. R., Ozawa, M., Dempsey, R. A., Iwaki, Y., Levy, P. J., Terasaki, P. I., and Busuttil, R. W. The role of tumor necrosis factor in allograft rejection. I. Evidence that elevated levels of tumor necrosis factoralpha predict rejection following orthotopic liver transplantation. *Transplantation* 50, 219–225 (1990).
  - Imamura, M., Sherman, M. L., Spriggs, D., Kufe, D. Effect of tumor necrosis factor on GTP binding and GTPase activity in HL-60 and L929 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 10247 (1988).
  - Ishida, H., Kumagai, S., Umehara, H., Sano, H., Tagaya, Y., Yodoi, J., and Imura, H. Impaired expression of high affinity interleukin-2 receptor on activated lymphocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosis. J. Immunol. 139, 1070–1074 (1987).
  - Issekutz, T. B., and Stoltz, J. M. Stimulation of lymphocyte migration by endotoxin, tumor necrosis factor, and interferon. *Cell. Immunol.* 120, 165-173 (1989).
  - Isshiki, H., Akira, S., Tanabe, O., Nakajima, T., Shimamoto, T., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. Constitutive and interleukin-1 (IL-1)-inducible factors interact with the IL-1-responsive element in the IL-6 gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 2757–2764 (1990).
  - Ito, A., Sato, T., Iga, T., and Mori, Y. Tumor necrosis factor bifunctionally regulates matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) production by human fibroblasts. FEBS Lett. 269, 93–95 (1990).
  - J1. Jablons, D. M., Mulé, J. J., McIntosh, J. K., Sehgal, P. B., May, L. T., Huang, C. M., Rosenberg, S. A., and Lotze, M. T. IL-6/IFN-beta-2 as a circulating hormone. Induction by cytokine administration in humans. J. Immunol. 142, 1542–1547 (1989).
  - Jarpe, M. A., and Johnson, H. M. Topology of receptor binding domains of mouse IFN-gamma. J. Immunol. 145, 3304–3309 (1990).
  - J3. Johnson, D., Lanahan, A., Buck, C. R., Sehgal, A., Morgan, C., Mercer, E., Bothwell, M., and Chao, M. Expression and structure of the human NGF receptor. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 47, 545–554 (1986).
  - J4. Jones, E. Y., Stuart, D. I., and Walker, N. P. The three-dimensional structure of tumour necrosis factor. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 349, 321–327 (1990).
  - Jourdan, M., Bataille, R., Seguin, J., Zhang, X. G., Chaptal, P. A., and Klein, B. Constitutive production of interleukin-6 and immunologic features in cardiac myxomas. *Arthritis Rheum.* 33, 398–402 (1990).
  - June, C. H., Jackson, K. M., Ledbetter, J. A., Leiden, J. M., Lindsten, T., and Thompson, C. B. Two distinct mechanisms of interleukin-2 gene expression in human T lymphocytes. J. Autoimmunol. 2, Suppl., 55-65 (1989).
  - Jutte, N. H., Hesse, C. J., Balk, A. H., Mochtar, B., and Weimar, W. Sequential measurements of soluble interleukin-2 receptor levels in plasma of heart transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 50, 328–330 (1990).

- K1. Kamps, M. P., Corcoran, L., LeBowitz, J. H., and Baltimore, D. The promoter of the human interleukin-2 gene contains two octamer-binding sites and is partially activated by the expression of Oct-2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **10**, 5464–5472 (1990).
- K2. Kampschmidt, R. F., and Pulliam, L. A. Effect of human monocyte pyrogen on plasma iron plasma zinc and blood neutrophils in rabbits and rats. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 158, 32–35 (1978).
- K3. Kapp, A., and Zeck Kapp, G. Activation of the oxidative metabolism in human polymorphonuclear neutrophilic granulocytes: The role of immuno-modulating cytokines. J. Invest. Dermatol. 95, 94S-99S (1990).
- K4. Kasahara, Y., Miyawaki, T., Kato, K., Kanegane, H., Yachie, A., Yokoi, T., and Taniguchi, N. Role of interleukin-6 for differential responsiveness of naive and memory CD4+ T cells in CD2-mediated activation. J. Exp. Med. 172, 1419–1424 (1990).
- K5. Katz, Y., Revel, M., and Strunk, R. C. Interleukin-6 stimulates synthesis of complement proteins factor B and C3 in human skin fibroblasts. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19, 983–988 (1989).
- K6. Kaushansky, K., Lin, N., and Adamson, J. W. Interleukin-1 stimulates fibroblasts to synthersize granulocyte-macrophage and granulocyte colony-stimulating factors. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 92–97 (1988).
- K7. Kawano, M., Hirano, T., Matsuda, T., Taga, T., Horii, Y., Iwato, K., Asaoku, H., Tang, B., Tanabe, O., Tanaka, H., *et al.* Autocrine generation and requirement of BSF-2/IL-6 for human multiple myelomas. *Nature (London)* 332, 83–85 (1988).
- K8. Kawasaki, E. S., Ladner, M. B., Wang, A. M., Van Arsdell, J., Warren, M. K., Coyne, M. Y., Schweickart, V. L., Lee, M. T., Wilson, K. J., Boosman, A., Stanley, E. R., Ralph, P., and Mark, D. F. Molecular cloning of a complementary DNA encoding human macrophage-specific colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1). *Science* 230, 291–296 (1985).
- K9. Kehrl, J. H., Roberts, A. B., Wakefield, L. M., Jakowlew, S., Sporn, M. B., and Fauci, A. S. Transforming growth factor beta is an important immunomodulatory protein for human B lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 137, 3855–3860 (1986).
- K10. Kehrl, J. H., Wakefield, L. M., Roberts, A. B., Jakowlew, S., Alvarez Mon, M., Derynck, R., Sporn, M. B., and Fauci, A. S. Production of transforming growth factor beta by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth. J. Exp. Med. 163, 1037–1050 (1986).
- K11. Kern, P., Hemmer, C. J., Van Damme, J., Gruss, H. J., and Dietrich, M. Elevated tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6 serum levels as markers for complicated Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Am. J. Med. 87, 139–143 (1989).
- K12. Khoruts, A., Stahnke, L., McClain, C. J., Logan, G., and Allan, J. I. Circulating tumor necrosis factor, interleukin-1 and interleukin-6 concentration in chronic alcoholic patients. *Hepatology* 13, 267–276 (1991).
- K13. Kim, K. J., Abrams, J., Alphonso, M., Pearce, M., Thorbecke, G. J., and Palladino, M. Role of endogenously produced interleukin-6 as a second signal in murine thymocyte proliferation induced by multiple cytokines: Regulatory effects of transforming growth factor-beta. *Cell. Immunol.* 131, 261–271 (1990).
- K14. Kincade, P. W. The lymphopoietic microenvironment in bone marrow. Adv. Cancer Res. 54, 235-272 (1990).
- K15. King, A. G., Landreth, K. S., and Wierda, D. Bone marrow stromal cell regulation of Blymphopoiesis. II. Mechanisms of hydroquinone inhibition of pre-B cell maturation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 250, 582-590 (1989).
- K16. Kishimoto, T., and Hirano, T. Molecular regulation of B lymphocyte response. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 6, 485-512 (1988).
- K17. Kitas, G. D., Salmon, M., Farr, M., Young, S. P., and Bacon, P. A. T-cell functional defects in rheumatoid arthritis: Intrinsic or extrinsic? J. Autoimmunol. (1991).

- K18. Klempner, M. S., Dinarello, C. A., and Gallin, J. I. Human leukocytic pyrogen induces release of specific granule contents from human neutrophils. J. Clin. Invest. 61, 1330–1336 (1978).
- K19. Kluger, M. J., Ringler, D. H., and Anver, M. R. Fever and survival. Science 188, 166–168 (1975).
- K20. Kobayashi, S., Hamamoto, Y., Kobayashi, N., and Yamamoto, N. Serum level of TNF alpha in HIV-infected individuals (letter). AIDS 4, 169–170 (1990).
- K21. Kock, A., Danner, M., Stadler, B. M., and Luger, T. A. Characterization of a monoclonal antibody directed against the biologically active site of human interleukin-1. J. Exp. Med. 163, 463–468 (1986).
- K22. Kohase, M., May, L. T., Tamm, I., Vilcek, J., and Sehgal, P. B. A cytokine network in human diploid fibroblasts: Interactions of beta-interferons, tumor necrosis factor, platelet-derived growth factor, and interleukin-1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 7, 273–280 (1987).
- K23. Koj, A., Kurdowska, A., Magielska Zero, D., Rokita, H., Sipe, J. D., Dayer, J. M., Demczuk, S., and Gauldie, J. Limited effects of recombinant human and murine interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor on production of acute phase proteins by cultured rat hepatocytes. *Biochem. Int.* 14, 553–560 (1987).
- K24. Korn, J. H., Halushka, P. V., and LeRoy, E. C. Mononuclear cell modulation of connective tissue function: Suppression of fibroblast growth by stimulation of endogenous prostoglandin production. J. Clin. Invest. 65, 543-554 (1980).
- K25. Krangel, M. S., Yssel, H., Brocklehurst, C., and Spits, H. A distinct wave of human T cell receptor gamma/delta lymphocytes in the early fetal thymus: Evidence for controlled gene rearrangement and cytokine production. J. Exp. Med. 172, 847–859 (1990).
- K26. Kraus, T., Noronha, I. L., Manner, M., Klar, E., Kuppers, P., and Otto, G. Clinical value of cytokine determination for screening, differentiation, and therapy monitoring of infectious and noninfectious complications after orthotopic liver transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 1509– 1512 (1991).
- K27. Kreider, B. L., Phillips, P. d., Prystowsky, M. B., Shirsat, N., Pierce, J. H., Tushinski, R., and Rovera, G. Induction of the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF) receptor by granulocyte CSF increases the differentiative options of a murine hematopoietic progenitor cell. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 4846–4853 (1990).
- K28. Kreil, E. A., Greene, E., Fitzgibbon, C., Robinson, D. R., and Zapol, W. M. Effects of recombinant human tumor necrosis factor alpha, lymphotoxin, and Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide on hemodynamics, lung microvascular permeability, and eicosanoid synthesis in anesthetized sheep. *Circ. Res.* 65, 502–514 (1989).
- K29. Kroemer, G., and Wick, G. The role of interleukin-2 in autoimmunity. *Immunol. Today* 10, 246–251 (1989).
- K30. Krueger, J. M., Walter, J., Dinarello, C. A., Wolff, S. M., and Chédid, L. Sleep-promoting effects of endogenous pyrogen (interleukin-1). Am. J. Physiol. 246, R994–R999 (1984).
- K31. Kruger, M. G., Riley, R. L., Riley, E. A., and Elia, J. M. Bone marrow stromal cells modulate both kappa light chain and Ly1 antigen expression on Ly1+ pre-B cell lines in vitro. *Blood* 76, 383–392 (1990).
- K32. Kunimoto, D. Y., Nordan, R. P., and Strober, W. IL-6 is a potent cofactor of IL-1 in IgM synthesis and of IL-5 in IgA synthesis. J. Immunol. 143, 2230–2235 (1989).
- K33. Kunkel, S. L., Strieter, R. M., Chensue, S. W., Basha, M., Standiford, T., Ham, J., and Remick, D. G. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-8 and chemotactic cytokines. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 349, 433–444 (1990).
- K34. Kupper, T.S., Deitch, E. A., Baker, C. C., and Wong, W. C. The human burn wound as a primary source of interleukin-1 activity. Surgery 100, 409–415 (1986).
- L1. Lambert, G., Stura, E. A., and Wilson, I. A. Crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction studies of a complex between interleukin-2 and a soluble form of the p55 component of the high affinity interleukin-2 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 12730–12736 (1989).

studies of a complex between interleukin-2 and a soluble form of the p55 component of the high affinity interleukin-2 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 12730–12736 (1989).

- L2. Lando, P. A., Dohlsten, M., Kalland, T., Sjögren, H. O., and Carlsson, R. The TcR-CD3 complex is required for activation of human lymphocytes with staphylococcal enterotoxin A. Scand. J. Immunol. 31, 133-138 (1990).
- L3. Lantz, M., Gullberg, U., Nilsson, E., and Olsson, I. Characterization in vitro of a human tumor necrosis factor-binding protein. A soluble form of a tumor necrosis factor receptor. J. Clin. Invest. 86, 1396–1342 (1990).
- L4. Larrick, J. W. Native interleukin-1 inhibitors. Immunol. Today 10, 61-66 (1989).
- L5. Larsen, C., Zachariae, C., Mukaida, N., Anderson, A., Yamada, M., Oppenheim, J., and Matsushima, K. Proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor induce cytokines that are chemotactic for neutrophils, T cells and monocytes. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 349, 419–431 (1990).
- L6. Laurenzi, M. A., Siden, A., Persson, M. A., Norkrans, G., Hagberg, L., and Chiodi, F. Cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-6 activity in HIV infection and inflammatory and nonin-flammatory diseases of the nervous system. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 57, 233-241 (1990).
- L7. Le, J. M., and Vilcek, J., Interleukin-6: A multifunctional cytokine regulating immune reactions and the acute phase protein response. *Lab. Invest.* 61, 588–602 (1989).
- L8. Leary, A. G., Ikebuchi, K., Hirai, Y., Wong, G. G., Yang, Y. C., Clark, S. C., and Ogawa, M. Synergism between interleukin-6 and interleukin-3 in supporting proliferation of human hematopoietic stem cells: Comparison with interleukin-1 alpha. *Blood* **71**, 1759–1763 (1988).
- L9. Le Beau, M. M., Epstein, N. D., O'Brien, S. J., Nienhuis, A. W., Yang, Y. C., Clark, S. C., and Rowley, J. D. The interleukin-3 gene is located on human chromosome 5 and is deleted in myeloid leukemias with a deletion of 5q. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 5913–5917 (1987).
- L10. Lee, F. Growth factors controlling the development of hemopoietic cells. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 352, 385–390 (1990).
- L11. Lee, F., Yokota, T., Chiu, C. P., De Vries, J., Banchereau, J., Arai, N., Coffman, R., Rennick, D., and Arai, K. The molecular cloning of interleukins 4, 5 and 6: Multifunctional hemopoietic growth factors. *Behring Inst. Mitt.* 8–14 (1988).
- L12. Lee, J. M., and Watts, T. H. Binding of staphylococcal enterotoxin A to purified murine MHC class II molecules in supported lipid bilayers. J. Immunol. 145, 3360–3366 (1990).
- L13. Leist, T. P., Frei, K., Kam Hansen, S., Zinkernagel, R. M., and Fontana, A. Tumor necrosis factor alpha in cerebrospinal fluid during bacterial, but not viral, meningitis. Evaluation in murine model infections and in patients. J. Exp. Med. 167, 1743–1748 (1988).
- L14. LeMay, L. G., Vander, A. J., and Kluger, M. J. Role of interleukin-6 in fever in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 258, R798-R803 (1990).
- L15. Leonard, E. J. NAP-1 (IL-8) (letter). Immunol. Today 11, 223-224 (1990).
- L16. Leonard, W. J., Gnarra, J. R., and Sharon, M. The multisubunit interleukin-2 receptor. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 594, 200–206 (1990).
- L17. Leonard, W. J., Sharon, M., and Gnarra, J. R. Structure and function of interleukin-2 receptors. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 352, 179–187 (1990).
- L18. Lewis, C. E., McCarthy, S. P., Lorenzen, J., and McGee, J. O. Differential effects of LPS, IFN-gamma and TNF alpha on the secretion of lysozyme by individual human mononuclear phagocytes: Relationship to cell maturity. *Immunology* 69, 402–408 (1990).
- L19. Lewis, R. A. Interactions of eicosanoids and cytokines in immune regulation. Adv. Prostaglandin, Thromboxane, Leukotriene Res. 20, 170–178 (1990).
- L20. Li, H., Schwinzer, R., Baccarini, M., and Lohmann Matthes, M. L. Cooperative effects of colony-stimulating factor 1 and recombinant interleukin-2 on proliferation and induction of

cytotoxicity of macrophage precursors generated from mouse bone marrow cell cultures. J. Exp. Med. 169, 973-986 (1989).

- L21. Liew, F. Y. Functional heterogeneity of CD4+ T cells in leishmaniasis. *Immunol. Today* 10, 40–45 (1989).
- L22. Lin, J. X., and Vilcek, J. Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1 cause a rapid and transient stimulation of c-fos and c-myc mRNA levels in human fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 11908–11911 (1987).
- L23. Livingston, D. H., Appel, S. H., Sonnenfeld, G., and Malangoni, M. A. The effect of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma on neutrophil function. J. Surg. Res. 46, 322–326 (1989).
- L24. Loetscher, H., Pan, Y. C., Lahm, H. W., Gentz, R., Brockhaus, M., Tabuchi, H., and Lesslauer, W. Molecular cloning and expression of the human 55 kd tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell* (*Cambridge, Mass.*) 61, 351–359 (1990).
- L25. Long, N. C., Otterness, I., Kunkel, S. L., Vander, A. J., and Kluger, M. J. Roles of interleukin-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor in lipopolysaccharide fever in rats. *Am. J. Physiol.* 259, R724– R728 (1990).
- L26. Lonnemann, G., Endres, S., van der Meer, J. W., Cannon, J. G., Koch, K. M., and Dinarello, C. A. Differences in the synthesis and kinetics of release of interleukin-1 alpha, interleukin-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor from human mononuclear cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **19**, 1531–1536 (1989).
- L27. Lord, S. C., McMullen, G. L., Marzuki, S., and Cheetham, B. F. Functional domains of human interferon gamma probed with antipeptide antibodies. *Mol. Immunol.* 26, 637–640 (1989).
- L28. Lotem, J., and Sachs, L. Selective regulation of the activity of different hematopoietic regulatory proteins by transforming growth factor beta 1 in normal and leukemic myeloid cells. Blood 76, 1315–1322 (1990).
- L29. Lotz, M., Jirik, F., Kabouridis, P., Tsoukas, C., Hirano, T., Kishimoto, T., and Carson, D. A. B cell stimulating factor 2/interleukin-6 is a costimulant for human thymocytes and T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 167, 1253–1258 (1988).
- L30. Lowenthal, J. W., Ballard, D. W., Bohnlein, E., and Greene, W. C. Tumor necrosis factor alpha induces proteins that bind specifically to kappa B-like enhancer elements and regulate interleukin-2 receptor alpha-chain gene expression in primary human T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 2331–2335 (1989).
- L31. Luger, T. A., Krutmann, J., Kirnbauer, R., Urbanski, A., Schwarz, T., Klappacher, G., Kock, A., Micksche, M., Malejczyk, J., Schauer, E., May, L. T., and Sehgal, P. B. IFN-beta 2/IL-6 augments the activity of human natural killer cells. J. Immunol. 143, 1206–1209 (1989).
- L32. Luk, S. K., Jay, E., and Jay, F. T. Structure-function analysis of the human interferon gamma. The COOH terminus is not essential for functional activity. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 13314–13319 (1990).
- L33. Lumpkin, M. D. The regulation of ACTH secretion by IL-1. Science 238, 452-454 (1987).
- L34. Luscinskas, F. W., Brock, A. F., Arnaout, M. A., and Gimbrone, M. A., Jr. Endothelialleukocyte adhesion molecule-1-dependent and leukocyte (CD11/CD18)-dependent mechanisms contribute to polymorphonuclear leukocyte adhesion to cytokine-activated human vascular endothelium. J. Immunol. 142, 2257–2263 (1989).
- M1. Macintyre, S. S., Schultz, D., and Kushner, I. Biosynthesis of C-reactive protein. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 389, 76–87 (1982).
- M2. MacNeil, I. A., Suda, T., Moore, K. W., Mosmann, T. R., and Zlotnik, A. IL-10, a novel growth cofactor for mature and immature T cells. J. Immunol. 145, 4167–4173 (1990).
- M3. Madras, P. N., Simpson, M. A., Dempsey, R. A., and Monaco, A. P. Lymphokine determinations for monitoring the renal allograft. *Transplant. Proc.* 21, 3571–3573 (1989).

- M4. Magielska Zero, D., Bereta, J., Czuba Pelech, B., Pajdak, W., Gauldie, J., and Koj, A. Inhibitory effect of human recombinant interferon gamma on synthesis of acute phase proteins in human hepatoma Hep G2 cells stimulated by leukocyte cytokines, TNF alpha and IFN-beta 2/BSF-2/IL-6. Biochem. Int. 17, 17–23 (1988).
- M5. Malawista, S. E., Duff, G. W., Atkin, E., Cheung, H. S., and McCarty, D. J. Crystal-induced endogenous pyrogen production. A further look at gouty inflammation. *Arthritis Rheum.* 28, 1039–1046 (1985).
- M6. Malcus, C., Pouteil Noble, C., Touraine, F., Raffaele, P., and Touraine, J. L. Plasma soluble interleukin-2 receptor (IL-2RS) level and activation markers in blood in the follow-up of renal allograft patients. *Transplant Proc.* 22, 1865–1866 (1990).
- M7. Marano, M. A., Fong, Y., Moldawer, L. L., Wei, H., Calvano, S. E., Tracey, K. J., Barie, P. S., Manogue, K., Cerami, A., Shires, G. T., and Lowry, S. F. Serum cachectin/tumor necrosis factor in critically ill patients with burns correlates with infection and mortality. *Surg., Gynecol. Obstet.* **170**, 32–38 (1990).
- M8. Marks, J. D., Marks, C. B., Luce, J. M., Montgomery, A. B., Turner, J., Metz, C. A., and Murray, J. F. Plasma tumor necrosis factor in patients with septic shock. Mortality rate, incidence of adult respiratory distress syndrome, and effects of methylprednisolone administration. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 141, 94–97 (1990).
- M9. Martinez, O. M., Gibbons, R. S., Garovoy, M. R., and Aronson, F. R. IL-4 inhibits IL-2 receptor expression and IL-2-dependent proliferation of human T cells. J. Immunol. 144, 2211–2215 (1990).
- M10. Mathison, J. C., Wolfson, E., and Ulevitch, R. J. Participation of tumor necrosis factor in the mediation of gram negative bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced injury in rabbits. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 1925–1937 (1988).
- M11. Matsuda, T., Hirano, T., Nagasawa, S., and Kishimoto, T. Identification of alpha 2-macroglobulin as a carrier protein for IL-6. J. Immunol. 142, 148-152 (1989).
- M12. Matsushima, K., Taguchi, M., Kovacs, E. J., Young, H. A., and Oppenheim, J. J. Intracellular localization of human monocyte associated interleukin-1 (IL-1) activity and release of biologically active IL-1 from monocytes by trypsin and plasmin. J. Immunol. 136, 2883–2891 (1986).
- M13. Maury, C. P. Monitoring the acute phase response: Comparison of tumour necrosis factor (cachectin) and C-reactive protein responses in inflammatory and infectious diseases. J. Clin. Pathol. 42, 1078-1082 (1989).
- M14. Maury, C. P., and Teppo, A. M. Raised serum levels of cachectin/tumour necrosis factor alpha in renal allograft rejection. J. Exp. Med. 166, 1132–1137 (1987).
- M15. Maury, C. P., and Teppo, A. M. Serum immunoreactive interleukin-1 in renal transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 45, 143–147 (1988).
- M16. May, L. T., Santhanam, U., Tatter, S. B., Ghrayeb, J., and Sehgal, P. B. Multiple forms of human interleukin-6. Phosphoglycoproteins secreted by many different tissues. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 557, 114–119; discuss. (1989).
- M17. Mazzei, G. J., Seckinger, P. L., Dayer, J. M., and Shaw, A. R. Purification and characterization of a 26-kDa competitive inhibitor of interleukin-1. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 683–689 (1990).
- M18. McClain, C. J., Cohen, D., Ott, L., Dinarello, C. A., and Young, B. Ventricular fluid interleukin-1 activity in patients with head injury. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* **110**, 48–54 (1987).
- M19. McIntosh, J. K., Jablons, D. M., Mule, J. J., Nordan, R. P., Rudikoff, S., Lotze, M. T., and Rosenberg, S. A. In vivo induction of IL-6 by administration of exogenous cytokines and detection of de novo serum levels of IL-6 in tumor-bearing mice. J. Immunol. 143, 162–167 (1989).
- M20. McKee, J. I., and Finlay, W. E. Cortisol replacement in severely stressed patients (letter). Lancet 1, 484 (1983).
- M21. McKenna, R. M., Rush, D. N., Bakkestad Legare, P., and Jeffery, J. R. Interleukin-2, interferon, and lymphotoxin in renal transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 45, 76–81 (1988).

- M22. McLaughlin, P. I., Aikawa, A. A., Davies, H. M., Bakran, A., Sells, R. A., and Johnson, P. M. Tumor necrosis factor in renal transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 1509–1512 (1991).
- M23. McNiece, I., Andrews, R., Stewart, M., Clark, S., Boone, T., and Quesenberry, P. Action of interleukin-3, G-CSF, and GM-CSF on highly enriched human hematopoietic progenitor cells: Synergistic interaction of GM-CSF plus G-CSF. *Blood* 74, 110–114 (1989).
- M24. McRitchie, D. I., Girotti, M. J., Rotstein, O. D., and Teodorczyk Injeyan, J. A. Impaired antibody production in blunt trauma. Possible role for T cell dysfunction. Arch. Surg. (Chicago) 125, 91–96 (1990).
- M25. Megyeri, P., Issekutz, T. B., and Issekutz, A. C. An endotoxin-induced factor distinct from interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor alpha produced by the THP-1 human macrophage line stimulates polymorphonuclear leukocyte infiltration in vivo. J. Leukocyte Biol. 47, 70–78 (1990).
- M26. Megyeri, P., Sadowska, J., Issekutz, T. B., and Issekutz, A. C. Endotoxin-stimulated human macrophages produce a factor that induces polymorphonuclear leucocyte infiltration and is distinct from interleukin-1, tumour necrosis factor alpha and chemotactic factors. *Immunology* 69, 155–161 (1990).
- M27. Meichle, A., Schutze, S., Hensel, G., Brunsing, D., and Kronke, M. Protein kinase C-independent activation of nuclear factor kappa B by turnor necrosis factor. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 8339–8343 (1990).
- M28. Mencia Hurerta, J. M., Pignol, B., Paubert Braquet, M., and Braquet, P. The role of plateletactivating factor (PAF) in immune and cytotoxic processes. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 308, 441–446 (1989).
- M29. Metcalf, D. The molecular control of cell division, differentiation commitment and maturation in haemopoietic cells. *Nature (London)* **339**, 27–30 (1989).
- M30. Metcalf, D. Haemopoietic growth factors 1. Lancet 1, 825-827 (1989).
- M31. Michie, H. R., Manogue, K. R., Spriggs, D. R., Revhaug, A., O'Dwyer, S., Dinarello, C. A., Cerami, A., Wolff, S. M., and Wilmore, D. W. Detection of circulating tumor necrosis factor after endotoxin administration. N. Engl. J. Med. 318, 1481–1486 (1988).
- M32. Micusan, V. V., Desrosiers, M., Gosselin, J., Mercier, G., Oth, D., Bhatti, A. R., Heremans, H., and Billiau, A. Stimulation of T cells and induction of interferon by toxic shock syndrome toxin 1. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 11, Suppl. 1, S305–S312 (1989).
- M33. Miller, C. L., Hooton, J. W., Gillis, S., and Paetkau, V. IL-4 potentiates the IL-2-dependent proliferation of mouse cytotoxic T cells. J. Immunol. 144, 1331–1337 (1990).
- M34. Miller, L. C., Isa, S., LoPreste, G., Schaller, J. G., and Dinarello, C. A. Neonatal interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor: Cord blood levels and cellular production. J. *Pediatr.* 117, 961–965 (1990).
- M35. Miller Graziano, C. L., Szabo, G., Kodys, K., and Griffey, K. Aberrations in post-trauma monocyte (MO) subpopulation: Role in septic shock syndrome. J. Trauma 30, S86–S96 (1990).
- M36. Mills, G. B., May, C., Hill, M., and Gelfand, E. W. Role of protein kinase C in interleukin-1, anti-T3, and mitogenic lectin-induced interleukin-2 secretion. J. Cell. Physiol. 141, 310–317 (1989).
- M37. Ming, J. E., Cernetti, C., Steinman, R. M., and Granelli Piperno, A. Interleukin-6 is the principal cytolytic T lymphocyte differentiation factor for thymocytes in human leukocyte conditioned medium. J. Mol. Cell. Immunol. 4, 203–211; discuss. (1989).
- M38. Mita, S., Tominaga, A., Hitoshi, Y., Sakamoto, K., Honjo, T., Akagi, M., Kikuchi, Y., Yamaguchi, N., and Takatsu, K. Characterization of high-affinity receptors for interleukin-5 on interleukin-5-dependent cell lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 2311–2315 (1989).
- M39. Mizel, S. B. How does interleukin-1 activate cells? Cyclic AMP and interleukin-1 signal transduction (see comments). *Immunol. Today* 11, 390–391 (1990).
- M40. Mizel, S. B., Dayer, J. M., Krane, S. M., and Mergenhagen, S. E. Stimulation of rheumatoid

synovial cell collagenase and prostoglandin production by partially purified lymphocyte-activating factor (interleukin-1). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **78**, 2474–2478 (1981).

- M41. Moldawer, L. L., Gelin, J., Schersten, T., and Lundholm, K. G. Circulating interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor during inflammation. Am. J. Physiol. 253, R922–R928 (1987).
- M42. Moldofsky, H., Lue, F. A., Eisen, J. Keystone, E., and Gorczynski, R. M. The relationship of interleukin-1 and immune functions to sleep in humans. *Psychosom. Med.* 48, 309–318 (1986).
- M43. Mond, J. J., Thompson, C., Finkelman, F. D., Farrar, J., Schaefer, M., and Robb, R. J. Affinity-purified interleukin-2 induces proliferation of large but not small B cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 1518–1521 (1985).
- M44. Moore, J. N., Cook, J. A., Morris, D. D., Halushka, P. V., and Wise, W. C. Endotoxin-induced procoagulant activity, eicosanoid synthesis, and tumor necrosis factor production by rat peritoneal macrophages: Effect of endotoxin tolerance and glucan. *Circ. Shock* 31, 281–295 (1990).
- M45. Moore, K. W., Vieira, P., Fiorentino, D. F., Trounstine, M. L., Khan, T. A., and Mosmann, T. R. Homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (IL-10) to the Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. Science 248, 1230–1234 (1990).
- M46. Moore, M. A., and Warren, D. J. Synergy of interleukin-1 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: In vivo stimulation of stem-cell recovery and hematopoietic regeneration following 5-fluorouracil treatment of mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 7134–7138 (1987).
- M47. Morgan, D. A., Ruscetti, F. W., and Gallo, R. Selective in vitro growth of T lymphocytes from normal human bone marrows. *Science* **193**, 1007–1008 (1976).
- M48. Mori, M., Yamaguchi, K., and Abe, K. Purification of a lipoprotein lipase-inhibiting protein produced by a melanoma cell line associated with cancer cachexia. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 160, 1085-1092 (1989).
- M49. Morris, D. D., Moore, J. N., Fischer, K., and Tarleton, R. L. Endotoxin-induced tumor necrosis factor activity production by equine peritoneal macrophages. *Circ. Shock* 30, 229–236 (1990).
- M50. Mosley, B., Beckmann, M. P., March, C. J., Idzerda, R. L., Gimpel, S. D., Vanden Bos, T., Friend, D., Alpert, A., Anderson, D., Jackson, J., Wignall, J. M., Smith, C., Gallis, B., Sims, J. E., Urdal, D., Widmer, M. B., Cosman, D., and Park, L. S. The murine interleukin-4 receptor: Molecular cloning and characterization of secreted and membrane bound forms. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 59, 335-348 (1989).
- M51. Mosmann, T. R., and Coffman, R. L. Heterogeneity of cytokine secretion patterns and functions of helper T cells. Adv. Immunol. 46, 111–147 (1989).
- M52. Mosmann, T. R., and Coffman, R. L. TH1 and TH2 cells: Different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 7, 145–173 (1989).
- M53. Mui, A. L., Murthy, S. C., Sorensen, P. H., and Krystal, G. The mechanism of action of murine interleukin-3: Current status. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 352, 169–178 (1990).
- M54. Mule, J. J., McIntosh, J. K., Jablons, D. M., and Rosenberg, S. A. Antitumor activity of recombinant interleukin-6 in mice. J. Exp. Med. 171, 629–636 (1990).
- M55. Mullen, B. J., Harris, R. B., Patton, J. S., and Martin, R. J. Recombinant tumor necrosis factor-alpha chronically administered in rats: Lack of cachectic effect. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 193, 318–325 (1990).
- M56. Murthy, S. C., Sorensen, P. H., Mui, A. L., and Krystal, G. Interleukin-3 down-regulates its own receptor. *Blood* 73, 1180–1187 (1989).
- M57. Myers, A. K., Robey, J. W., and Price, R. M. Relationships between tumour necrosis factor, eicosanoids and platelet-activating factor as mediators of endotoxin-induced shock in mice. Br. J. Pharmacol. 99, 499–502 (1990).
- M58. Myers, M. A., Fleck, A., Sampson, B., Colley, C. M., Bent, J., and Hall, G. Early plasma protein and mineral changes after surgery: A two stage process. J. Clin. Pathol. 37, 862–866 (1984).

- Nadal, D., Leppert, D., Frei, K., Gallo, P., Lamche, H., and Fontana, A. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha in infectious meningitis. Arch. Dis. Child. 64, 1274–1279 (1989).
- N2. Naitoh, Y., Fukata, J., Tominaga, T., Nakai, Y., Tamai, S., Mori, K., and Imura, H. Interleukin-6 stimulates the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone in conscious, freely-moving rats. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 155, 1459–1463 (1988).
- N3. Nakai, S., Aihara, K., and Hirai, Y. Interleukin-1 potentiates granulopoiesis and thrombopoiesis by producing hematopoietic factors in vivo. *Life Sci.* 45, 585–591 (1989).
- N4. Nakamura, H., Nakanishi, K., Kita, A., and Kadokawa, T. Interleukin-1 induces analgesia in mice by a central action. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 149, 49–54 (1988).
- N5. Namba, Y., and Hanaoka, M. Immunocytology of cultured IgM-forming cells of mouse. I. Requirement of phagocytic cell factor for the growth of IgM-forming tumor cells in tissue culture. J. Immunol. 109, 1193–1200 (1972).
- N6. Nijsten, M. W., De Groot, E. R., ten Duis, H. J., Klasen, H. J., Hack, C. E., and Aarden, L. A. Serum levels of interleukin-6 and acute phase responses (letter). *Lancet* 2, 921 (1987).
- N7. Nimer, S. D., Gates, M. J., Koeffler, H. P., and Gasson, J. C. Multiple mechanisms control the expression of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by human fibroblasts. J. Immunol. 143, 2374–2377 (1989).
- N8. Nishimoto, N., Yoshizaki, K., Tagoh, H., Monden, M., Kishimoto, S., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. Elevation of serum interleukin-6 prior to acute phase proteins on the inflammation by surgical operation. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 50, 399–401 (1989).
- N9. Noel, P., Nelson, S., Bokulič, R., Bagby, G., Lippton, H., Lipscomb, G., and Summer, W. Pentoxifylline inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced serum tumor necrosis factor and mortality. *Life Sci.* 47, 1023–1029 (1990).
- N10. Nordan, R. P., Mock, B. A., Neckers, L. M., and Rudikoff, S. The role of plasmacytoma growth factor in the in vitro responses of murine plasmacytoma cells. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 557, 200–205 (1989).
- N11. Noronha, I. L., Daniel, V., Rambausek, M., Waldherr, R., and Opelz, G. Soluble interleukin-2 receptor (sIL-2R) and tumor necrosis factor plasma levels in renal allograft recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 22, 1859–1860 (1990).
- N12. Nouri, A. M., Panayi, G. S., and Goodman, S. M. Cytokines and the chronic inflammation of rheumatic disease. II. The presence of interleukin-2 in synovial fluids. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 58, 402–409 (1984).
- N13. Nouri, A. M., Panayi, G. S., and Goodman, S. M. Cytokines and the chronic inflammation of rheumatic disease. I. The presence of interleukin-1 in synovial fluids. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 55, 295–302 (1984).
- N14. Novick, D., Engelmann, H., Wallach, D., and Rubinstein, M. Soluble cytokine receptors are present in normal human urine. J. Exp. Med. 170, 1409–1414 (1989).
- O1. Offner, F., Philippe, J., Vogelaers, D., Colardyn, F., Baele, G., Baudrihaye, M., Vermeulen, A., and Leroux Roels, G. Serum tumor necrosis factor levels in patients with infectious disease and septic shock. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 116, 100–105 (1990).
- O2. O'Garra, A., Umland, S., De France, T., and Christiansen, J. 'B-cell factors' are pleiotropic. Immunol. Today 9, 45-54 (1988).
- O3. Okazaki, H., Ito, M., Sudo, T., Hattori, M., Kano, S., Katsura, Y., and Minato, N. IL-7 promotes thymocyte proliferation and maintains immunocompetent thymocytes bearing alpha beta or gamma delta T-cell receptors in vitro: synergism with IL-2. J. Immunol. 143, 2917–2922 (1989).
- O4. Old, L. J. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Science 230, 630-632 (1985).
- O5. O'Neill, L. A., Bird, T. A., Gearing, A. J., and Saklatvala, J. Interleukin-1 signal transduction. Increased GTP binding and hydrolysis in membranes of a murine thymoma line (EL4). J. Biol. Chem. 265, 3146–3152 (1990).

- O6. Ozkan, A. N., Hoyt, D. B., Ninnemann, J. L., and Mitchell, M. D. Trauma peptide-mediated prostaglandin E2 biosynthesis: A potential mechanism for trauma-induced immunosuppression. *Immunol. Lett.* 17, 79–83 (1988).
- P1. Padova, F.-Di., Pozzi, C., Tondre, M. J., and Tritapepe, T. Selective and early increase of IL-1 inhibitors, IL-6 and cortisol after elective surgery. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 85, 137–142 (1991).
- P2. Park, L. S., Friend, D., Price, V., Anderson, D., Singer, J., Prickett, K. S., and Urdal, D. L. Heterogeneity in human interleukin-3 receptors. A subclass that binds human granulocyte/ macrophage colony stimulating factor. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 5420-5427 (1989).
- P3. Park, L. S., and Gillis, S. Characterization of hematopoietic growth factor receptors. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 352, 189–196 (1990).
- P4. Park, L. S., Waldron, P. E., Friend, D., Sassenfeld, H. M., Price, V., Anderson, D., Cosman, D., Andrews, R. G., Bernstein, I. D., and Urdal, D. L. Interleukin-3, GM-CSF, and G-CSF receptor expression on cell lines and primary leukemia cells: Receptor heterogeneity and relationship to growth factor responsiveness. *Blood* 74, 56-65 (1989).
- Pease, S., Braghetta, P., Gearing, D., Grail, D., and Williams, R. L. Isolation of embryonic stem (ES) cells in media supplemented with recombinant leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF). *Dev. Biol.* 141, 344–352 (1990).
- P6. Pepys, M. B. Serum C-reactive protein, serum amyloid P-componant and serum amyloid A protein in autoimmune disease. *Clin. Immunol. Allergy* 77–101 (1981).
- P7. Perkins, J. D., Munn, S. R., Barr, D., Ferguson, D. C., and Carpenter, H. A. Evidence that the soluble interleukin-2 receptor level may determine the optimal time for cystoscopically-directed biopsy in pancreaticoduodenal allograft recipients. *Transplantation* 49, 363–366 (1990).
- P8. Pessara, U., and Koch, N. Tumor necrosis factor alpha regulates expression of the major histocompatibility complex class II-associated invariant chain by binding of an NF-kappa B-like factor to a promoter element. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **10**, 4146–4154 (1990).
- P9. Pfeilschifter, J., Pignat, W., Vosbeck, K., and Marki, F. Interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor synergistically stimulate prostaglandin synthesis and phospholipase A2 release from rat renal mesangial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **159**, 385–394 (1989).
- P10. Phadke, K., Carlson, D. G., Gitter, B. D., and Butler, L. D. Role of interleukin-1 and interleukin-2 in rat and mouse arthritis models. J. Immunol. 136, 4085–4091 (1986).
- P11. Pisa, P., Gennene, M., Soder, O., Ottenhoff, T., Hansson, M., and Kiessling, R. Serum tumor necrosis factor levels and disease dissemination in leprosy and leishmaniasis. J. Infect. Dis. 161, 988–991 (1990).
- P12. Plaetinck, G., Combe, M. C., Corthesy, P., Sperisen, P., Kanamori, H., Honjo, T., and Nabholz, M. Control of IL-2 receptor-alpha expression by IL-1, tumor necrosis factor, and IL-2. Complex regulation via elements in the 5' flanking region. J. Immunol. 145, 3340–3347 (1990).
- P13. Plaetinck, G., Van der Heyden, J., Tavernier, J., Fache, I., Tuypens, T., Fischkoff, S., Fiers, W., and Devos, R. Characterization of interleukin-5 receptors on eosinophilic sublines from human promyelocytic leukemia (HL-60) cells. J. Exp. Med. 172, 683–691 (1990).
- P14. Platzer, E., Oez, S., Welte, K., Sendler, A., Gabrilove, J. L., Mertelsmann, R. H., Moore, M. A., and Kalden, J. R. Human pluripotent hematopoietic colony stimulating factor; activities on human and murine cells. *Immunobiology* **172**, 185–193 (1987).
- P15. Platzer, E., Welte, K., Gabrilove, J. L., Lu, L., Harris, P., Mertelsmann, R., and Moore, M. A. Biological activities of human pluripotent hematopoietic colony stimulating factor on normal and leukemic cells. J. Exp. Med. 162, 1788–1801 (1985).
- P16. Pober, J. S., Collins, T., Gimbrone, M. A., Cotran, R. S., Gitlin, J. D., Fiers, W., Clayberger, C., Krensky, A. M., Burakoff, S. J., and Reiss, C. S. Lymphocytes recognize human vascular endothelial and dermal fibroblast Ia antigens induced by recombinant immune interferon. *Nature (London)* **305**, 726–729 (1983).
- P17. Poli, V., Mancini, F. P., and Cortese, R. IL-6DBP, a nuclear protein involved in interleukin-6

signal transduction, defines a new family of leucine zipper proteins related to C/EBP. Cell (Cambridge, Mass.) 63, 643-653 (1990).

- P18. Ponting, I. L., and Dexter, T. M. The role of colony stimulating factors, interleukin-1 and stromal extracellular matrix in the regulation of stem cell development. *Behring Inst. Mitt.* 48-55 (1988).
- P19. Pos, O., van der Stelt, M. E., Wolbink, G. J., Nijsten, M. W., van der Tempel, G. L., and van Dijk, W. Changes in the serum concentration and the glycosylation of human alpha 1-acid glycoprotein and alpha 1-protease inhibitor in severely burned persons: Relation to interleukin-6 levels. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **82**, 579–582 (1990).
- P20. Postlethwaite, A. E., and Kang, A. H. Induction of fibroblast proliferation by interleukin-1 derived from human monocytic leukemia cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* 26, 22–27 (1984).
- P21. Pullicino, E. A., Carli, F., Poole, S., Rafferty, B., Malik, S. T., and Elia, M. The relationship between the circulating concentrations of interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and the acute phase response to elective surgery and accidental injury. *Lymphokine Res.* 9, 231–238 (1990).
- P22. Puri, R. K., Finbloom, D. S., Leland, P., Mostowski, H., and Siegel, J. P. Expression of high-affinity IL-4 receptors on murine tumour infiltrating lymphocytes and their up-regulation by IL-2. *Immunology* **70**, 492–497 (1990).
- R1. Rabinovici, R., Yue, T. L., Farhat, M., Smith, E. F., Esser, K. M., Slivjak, M., and Feuerstein, G. Platelet activating factor (PAF) and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF alpha) interactions in endotoxemic shock: Studies with BN 50739, a novel PAF antagonist. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 255, 256–263 (1990).
- R2. Rabinowitz, J. L., Tsiagbe, V. K., Nicknam, M. H., and Thorbecke, G. J. Germinal center cells are a major IL-5-responsive B cell population in peripheral lymph nodes engaged in the immune response. J. Immunol. 145, 2440–2447 (1990).
- R3. Ralph, P., Nakoinz, I., and Rennick, D. Role of interleukin-2, interleukin-4, and alpha, beta, and gamma interferon in stimulating macrophage antibody-dependent tumoricidal activity. J. Exp. Med. 167, 712–717 (1988).
- R4. Ray, A., LaForge, K. S., and Sehgal, P. B. On the mechanism for efficient repression of the interleukin-6 promoter by glucocorticoids: Enhancer, TATA box, and RNA start site (Inr motif) occlusion. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 5736–5746 (1990).
- R5. Ray, A., Sassone Corsi, P., and Sehgal, P. B. A multiple cytokine- and second messengerresponsive element in the enhancer of the human interleukin-6 geme: Similarities with c-fos gene regulation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9, 5537–5547 (1989).
- R6. Raynal, M. C., Liu, Z. Y., Hirano, T., Mayer, L., Kishimoto, T., and Chen Kiang, S. Interleukin-6 induces secretion of IgG1 by coordinated transcriptional activation and differential mRNA accumulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 8024–8028 (1989).
- R7. Redl, H., Schlag, G., and Lamche, H. TNF- and LPS-induced changes of lung vascular permeability: Studies in unanesthetised sheep. Circ. Shock 31, 183–192 (1990).
- R8. Reid, L. R., Lowe, C., Cornish, J., Skinner, S. J., Hilton, D. J., Willson, T. A., Gearing, D. P., and Martin, T. J. Leukemia inhibitory factor: A novel bone-active cytokine. *Endocrinology* (*Baltimore*) 126, 1416–1420 (1990).
- R9. Renauld, J. C., Vink, A., and Van Snick, J. Accessory signals in murine cytolytic T cell responses. Dual requirement for IL-1 and IL-6. J. Immunol. 143, 1894–1898 (1989).
- R10. Rennick, D., Hudak, S., Yang, G., and Jackson, J. Regulation of hemopoietic cell development by interleukins 4, 5, and 6. *Immunol. Res.* 8, 215–225 (1989).
- R11. Rennick, D., Jackson, J., Yang, G., Wideman, J., Lee, F., and Hudak, S. Interleukin-6 interacts with interleukin-4 and other hematopoietic growth factors to selectively enhance the growth of megakaryocytic, erythroid, myeloid, and multipotential progenitor cells. *Blood* 73, 1828–1835 (1989).

- R12. Rich, A. R., and Lewis, M. R. Mechanisms of allergy in tuberculosis. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 25, 596-598 (1928).
- R13. Rich, A. R., and McKee, C. M. The mechanism of a hitherto unexplained form of native immunity to the type III pneumococcus. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 59, 171-204 (1936).
- R14. Rich, R. R., Mollick, J. A., and Cook, R. G. Superantigens: Interaction of staphylococcal enterotoxins with MHC class II molecules. *Trans. Am. Clin. Climatol. Assoc.* 101, 195–204; discuss. (1989).
- R15. Richter, W., Eiermann, T. H., and Scherbaum, W. A. Effect of cytokines on proliferation of Epstein Barr virus-transformed B lymphocytes. *Hybridoma* 9, 1–8 (1990).
- R16. Robb, R. J. Structure-function relationships for high and low-affinity interleukin-2 receptors. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 254, 61–65 (1989).
- R17. Rocha, B., Lembezat, M. P., Freitas, A., and Bandeira, A. Interleukin-2 receptor expression and interleukin-2 production in exponentially growing T cells: Major differences between in vivo and in vitro proliferating T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19, 1137–1145 (1989).
- R18. Rodrick, M. L., Wood, J. J., O'Mahony, J. B., Davis, C. F., Grbič, J. T., Demling, R. H., Moss, N. M., Saporoschetz, I., Jordan, A., Deon, P., and Mannick, J. A. Mechanisms of immunosuppression associated with severe nonthermal traumatic injuries in man: Production of interleukin-1 and 2. J. Clin. Immunol. 6, 310–318 (1986).
- R19. Rolink, A. G., Thalmann, P., Kikuchi, Y., and Erdei, A. Characterization of the interleukin-5-reactive splenic B cell population. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 1949–1956 (1990).
- R20. Romagnani, S. Regulation and deregulation of human IgE synthesis. *Immunol. Today* 11, 316–321 (1990).
- R21. Romero, R., Avila, C., Santhanam, U., and Sehgal, P. B. Amniotic fluid interleukin-6 in preterm labor. Association with infection. J. Clin. Invest. 85, 1392–1400 (1990).
- R22. Ron, D., Brasier, A. R., Wright, K. A., and Habener, J. F. The permissive role of glucocorticoids on interleukin-1 stimulation of angiotensinogen gene transcription is mediated by an interaction between inducible enhancers. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 4389–4395 (1990).
- R23. Rook, A. H., Kehrl, J. H., Wakefield, L. M., Roberts, A. B., Sporn, M. B., Burlington, D. B., Lane, H. C., and Fauci, A. S. Effects of transforming growth factor beta on the functions of natural killer cells: Depressed cytolytic activity and blunting of interferon responsiveness. J. Immunol. 136, 3916–3920 (1986).
- R24. Rosenblum, M. G., and Donato, N. J. Tumor necrosis factor alpha: A multifaceted peptide hormone. CRC Crit. Rev. Immunol. 9, 21-44 (1989).
- R25. Rosoff, P. M. Characterization of the interleukin-1-stimulated phospholipase C activity in human T lymphocytes. *Lymphokine Res.* 8, 407–413 (1989).
- R26. Rothenberg, E. V. The long road to functional maturity for developing T cells. *Immunol. Today* 10, 116–117 (1989).
- R27. Rothwell, N. J. Mechanisms of the pyrogenic actions of cytokines. Eur. Cytokine Net. 1, 211–213 (1990).
- R28. Rouzer, C. A., and Cerami, A. Hypertriglyceridemia associated with Trypanosoma brucei brucei infection in rabbits: Role of defective triglyceride removal. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 2, 31-38 (1980).
- R29. Rowley, J. D., and Le Beau, M. M. Cytogenetic and molecular analysis of therapy related leukemia. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 567, 130–140 (1989).
- R30. Rubin, L. A., and Nelson, D. L. The soluble interleukin-2 receptor: Biology, function, and clinical application. Ann. Intern. Med. 113, 619–627 (1990).
- R31. Rubin, L. A., Snow, K. M., Kurman, C. C., Nelson, D. L., and Keystone, E. C. Serial levels of soluble interleukin-2 receptor in the peripheral blood of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: Correlations with disease activity. J. Rheumatol. 17, 597–602 (1990).

- Sachs, L., Lotem, J., and Shabo, Y. The molecular regulators of macrophage and granulocyte development. Role of MGI-2/IL-6. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 557, 417–435 (1989).
- Sakata, T., Iwagami, S., Tsuruta, Y., Teraoka, H., Tatsumi, Y., Kita, Y., Nishikawa, S., Takai, Y., and Fujiwara, H. Constitutive expression of interleukin-7 mRNA and production of IL-7 by a cloned murine thymic stromal cell line. J. Leukocyte Biol. 48, 205–212 (1990).
- Saklatvala, J., Bird, T. A., Kaur, P., and O'Neill, L. A. IL-1 signal transduction: Evidence of activation of G protein and protein kinase. *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.* 349, 285–295 (1990).
- S4. Salas, M. A., Evans, S. W., Levell, M. J., and Whicher, J. T. In vitro effects of rIL-1 and rIL-6 on corticosterone release by isolated rat adrenal cells. *In* "Molecular and Cellular Biology of Cytokines" (J. J. Oppenheim, M. C. Powanda, M. J. Klugger, and C. A. Dinarello, eds.), pp. 427–432. Wiley/Liss, New York, 1990.
- Salas, M. A., Evans, S. W., Levell, M. J., and Whicher, J. T. Interleukin-6 and ACTH act synergistically to stimulate the release of corticosterone from adrenal gland cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 79, 470–473 (1990).
- Salmon, S. E., Young, L., Scuderi, P., and Clark, B. Antineoplastic effects of tumor necrosis factor alone and in combination with gamma-interferon on tumor biopsies in clonogenic assay. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 5, 1816–1821 (1987).
- Sandborg, C. I., Berman, M. A., Andrews, B. S., and Friou, G. J. Interleukin-1 production by mononuclear cells from patients with sclerodoma. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 60, 294–302 (1985).
- Sanderson, C. J. The biological role of interleukin-5. Int. J. Cell Cloning 8, Suppl. 1, 147–153; discuss. (1990).
- Sato, N., Fukuda, K., Nariuchi, H., and Sagara, N. Tumor necrosis factor inhibiting angiogenesis in vitro. JNCI, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 79, 1383-1391 (1987).
- S10. Satsangi, J., Wolstencroft, R. A., Cason, J., Ainley, C. G., Dumonde, D. C., and Thompson, R. P. Interleukin-1 in Crohn's disease. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 67, 594–605 (1987).
- Saukkonen, K., Sande, S., Cioffe, C., Wolpe, S., Sherry, B., Cerami, A., and Tuomanen, E. The role of cytokines in the generation of inflammation and tissue damage in experimental grampositive meningitis. J. Exp. Med. 171, 439–448 (1990).
- Saxena, U., Witte, L. D., and Goldberg, I. J. Tumor necrosis factor induced release of endothelial cell lipoprotein lipase. *Arteriosclerosis* 10, 470–476 (1990).
- S13. Schall, T. J., Lewis, M., Koller, K. J., Lee, A., Rice, G. C., Wong, G. H., Gatanaga, T., Granger, G. A., Lentz, R., Raab, H., Kohr, W. J., and Goeddel, D. V. Molecular cloning and expression of a receptor for human tumor necrosis factor. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 61, 361–370 (1990).
- Schindler, R., Clark, B. D., and Dinarello, C. A. Dissociation between interleukin-1 beta mRNA and protein synthesis in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 10232–10237 (1990).
- S15. Schindler, R., Gelfand, J. A., and Dinarello, C. A. Recombinant C5a stimulates transcription rather than translation of interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor: Translational signal provided by lipopolysaccharide or IL-1 itself. *Blood* 76, 1631–1638 (1990).
- Schindler, R., Ghezzi, P., and Dinarello, C. A. Interferons as inhibitors of interleukin-1 induced interleukin-1 synthesis. *Lymphokine Res.* 8, 275–280 (1989).
- Schmidt, J. R., and Rasmussen, A. F. The influence of environmental temperature on the course of experimental herpes simplex infection. J. Infect. Dis. 107, 356–360 (1960).
- S18. Schoenbeck, S., McKenzie, D. T., and Kagnoff, M. F. Interleukin-5 is a differentiation factor for IgA B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 19, 965–969 (1989).
- Schroeder, J. J., and Cousins, R. J. Interleukin-6 regulates metallothionein gene expression and zinc metabolism in hepatocyte monolayer cultures. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 3137–3141 (1990).
- S20. Schutze, S., Nottrott, S., Pfizenmaier, K., and Kronke, M. Tumor necrosis factor signal trans-

duction. Cell-type-specific activation and translocation of protein kinase C. J. Immunol. 144, 2604–2608 (1990).

- Schutze, S., Scheurich, P., Pfizenmaier, K., and Kronke, M. Tumor necrosis factor signal transduction. Tissue-specific serine phosphorylation of a 26-kDa cytosolic protein. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 3562-3567 (1989).
- S22. Seckinger, P., Isaaz, S., and Dayer, J. M. Purification and biologic characterization of a specific tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibitor. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 11966–11973 (1989).
- S23. Secor, W. E., Stewart, S. J., and Colley, D. G. Eosinophils and immune mechanisms. VI. The synergistic combination of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and IL-5 accounts for eosinophil-stimulation promoter activity in Schistosoma mansoni-infected mice. J. Immunol. 144, 1484–1489 (1990).
- S24. Sehgal, P. B. Interleukin-6 in infection and cancer. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 195, 183–191 (1990).
- S25. Sehgal, P. B., Walther, Z., and Tamm, I. Rapid enhancement of beta 2-interferon/B-cell differentiation factor BSF-2 gene expression in human fibroblasts by diacylglycerols and the calcium ionophore A23187. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84, 3663–3667 (1987).
- S26. Series, J. J., Shapiro, D., Cameron, I., Smith, J., Fraser, W. D., Garden, O. J., and Shenkin, A. Rapid, sensitive detection of plasma IL-1 by extraction and bioassay. J. Immunol. Methods 108, 33–37 (1988).
- Severinson, E., Fernandez, C., and Stavnezer, J. Induction of germ-line immunoglobulin heavy chain transcripts by mitogens and interleukins prior to switch recombination. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 1079–1084 (1990).
- S28. Shabo, Y., Lotem, J., and Sachs, L. Regulation of the genes for interleukin-6 and granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor by different inducers of differentiation in myeloid leukemic cells. *Leukemia* 3, 859–865 (1989).
- S29. Shaffer, N., Grau, G. E., Hedberg, K., Davachi, F., Lyamba, B., Hightower, A. W., Breman, J. G., and Phuc, N. D. Tumor necrosis factor and severe malaria. J. Infect. Dis. 163, 96–101 (1991).
- S30. Shau, H. Y., and Golub, S. H. Inhibition of lymphokine-activated killer- and natural killermediated cytotoxicities by neutrophils. J. Immunol. 143, 1066–1072 (1989).
- S31. Shaw, J. P., Utz, P. J., Durand, D. B., Toole, J., Emmel, E. A., and Crabtree, G. R. Identification of a putative regulator of early T cell activation genes. *Science* 241, 202–205 (1988).
- S32. Shibuya, H., and Taniguchi, T. Identification of multiple cis-elements and trans-acting factors involved in the induced expression of human IL-2 gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 9173–9184 (1989).
- S33. Shumer, W. Steroids in the treatment of septic shock. Ann. Surg. 184, 333-341 (1976).
- S34. Sieff, C. A., Niemeyer, C. M., Mentzer, S. J., and Faller, D. V. Interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor, and the production of colony-stimulating factors by cultured mesenchymal cells. *Blood* 72, 1316–1323 (1988).
- S35. Silver, A., Boultwood, J., Breckon, G., Masson, W., Adam, J., Shaw, A. R., and Cox, R. Interleukin-1 beta gene deregulation associated with chromosomal rearrangement: A candidate initiating event for murine radiation-myeloid leukemogenesis? *Mol. Carcinog.* 2, 226–232 (1989).
- S36. Simmers, R. N., Webber, L. M., Shannon, M. F., Garson, M., Wong, G., Vadas, M. A., and Sutherland, G. R. Localization of the G-CSF gene on chromosome 17 proximal to the breakpoint in the t(15:17) in acute promyelocytic leukemia. *Blood* **70**, 330–332 (1987).
- S37. Simpson, M. A., Madras, P. N., Cornaby, A. J., Etienne, T., Dempsey, R. A., Clowes, G. H., and Monaco, A. P. Sequential determinations of urinary cytology and plasma and urinary lymphokines in the management of renal allograft recipients. *Transplantation* 47, 218–223 (1989).
- S38. Simpson, M. A., Young Fadok, T., Madras, P. N., Freeman, R. B., Dempsey, R. A., Jenkins,

R. L., and Monaco, A. P. Sequential IL-2 and IL-2R levels predict rejection in liver allograft recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 1432–1433 (1991).

- S39. Sims, J. E., Acres, R. B., Grubin, C. E., McMahan, C. J., Wignall, J. M., March, C. J., and Dower, S. K. Cloning the interleukin-1 receptor from human T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 86, 8946–8950 (1989).
- S40. Sipe, J. D., Johns, M. A., Ghezzi, P., and Knapschaefer, G. Modulation of serum amyloid A gene expression by cytokines and bacterial cell wall components. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 243, 193–201 (1988).
- S41. Smith, C. A., Davis, T., Anderson, D., Solam, L., Beckmann, M. P., Jerzy, R., Dower, S. K., Cosman, D., and Goodwin, R. G. A receptor for tumor necrosis factor defines an unusual family of cellular and viral proteins. *Science* 248, 1019–1023 (1990).
- S42. Smith, E. A., Kahaleh, M. B., and LeRoy, E. C. The acute phase response in scleroderma. Differing responses to intravenous PGE1. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 4, 341–345 (1986).
- S43. Smith, J. B., Bocchieri, M. H., Sherbin Allen, L., Borofsky, M., and Abruzzo, J. L. Occurrence of interleukin-1 in human synovial fluid: Detection by RIA, bioassay and presence of bioassayinhibiting factors. *Rheumatol. Int.* 9, 53–58 (1989).
- S44. Smith, K. A. The bimolecular structure of the interleukin-2 receptor. *Immunol. Today* 9, 36–37 (1988).
- S45. Snyers, L., De Wit, L., and Content, J. Glucocorticoid up-regulation of high-affinity interleukin-6 receptors on human epithelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 2838–2842 (1990).
- S46. Solomkin, J. S. Neutrophil disorders in burn injury: Complement, cytokines, and organ injury. J. Trauma 30, S80–S85 (1990).
- S47. Sorg, B. A., Magnuson, N. S., and Reeves, R. Effect of dexamethasone on the expression of interleukin-2 in a mouse T cell line. *Int. J. Biochem.* 21, 961–970 (1989).
- S48. Spinas, G. A., Bloesch, D., Kaufmann, M. T., Keller, U., and Dayer, J. M. Induction of plasma inhibitors of interleukin-1 and TNF-alpha activity by endotoxin administration to normal humans. Am. J. Physiol. 259, R993–R997 (1990).
- S49. Spinas, G. A., Bloesch, D., Keller, U., Zimmerli, W., and Cammisuli, S. Pretreatment with ibuprofen augments circulating tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and elastase during acute endotoxinemia. J. Infect. Dis. 163, 89–95 (1991).
- S50. Stanley, E. R., Bartocci, A., Patinkin, D., Rosendaal, M., and Bradley, T. R. Regulation of very primitive, multipotent, hemopoietic cells by hemopoietin-1. *Cell (Cambridge, Mass.)* 45, 667– 674 (1986).
- S51. Stemme, S., Fager, G., and Hansson, G. K. MHC class II antigen expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells is induced by interferon-gamma and modulated by tumour necrosis factor and lymphotoxin. *Immunology* 69, 243–249 (1990).
- S52. Stockenhuber, F., Steininger, R., Apperl, A., Muehlbacher, F., Patek, E., Sautner, T., Sertl, K., Graninger, W., Hauser, A. C., and Balcke, P. Soluble interleukin-2 receptor: A novel parameter of renal graft rejection. *Transplant. Proc.* 22, 165–166 (1990).
- S53. Strieter, R. M., Kunkel, S. L., Showell, H. J., Remick, D. G., Phan, S. H., Ward, P. A., and Marks, R. M. Endothelial cell gene expression of a neutrophil chemotactic factor by TNFalpha, LPS, and IL-1 beta. *Science* 243, 1467–1469 (1989).
- S54. Strieter, R. M., Lynch, J. P., Basha, M. A., Standiford, T. J., Kasahara, K., and Kunkel, S. L. Host responses in mediating sepsis and adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Semin. Respir. Infect.* 5, 233-247 (1990).
- S55. Stringfellow, M. M., Wilson, R. E., and Herrmann, S. H. Production of interleukin-6 in vitro parallels development of cytotoxic T lymphocytes from murine thymocytes. *Surgery* 106, 332–338 (1989).
- S56. Sudo, T., Ito, M., Ogawa, Y., Iizuka, M., Kodama, H., Kunisada, T., Hayashi, S., Ogawa, M.,

Sakai, K., Nishikawa, S., and Nishikawa, S. I. Interleukin-7 production and function in stromal cell-dependent B cell development. J. Exp. Med. 170, 333–338 (1989).

- S57. Sugarman, B. J., Aggarwal, B. B., Hass, P. E., Figari, I. S., Palladino, M. A., and Shepard, H. M. Recombinant human tumor necrosis factor-alpha: Effects on proliferation of normal and transformed cells in vitro. *Science* 230, 943–945 (1985).
- S58. Sullivan, J. S., Harris, M. C., Contarino, A. T., Lee, S. C., and Kilpatrick, L. Interleukin-6 elevation in paediatric and neonatal sepsis syndrome. *Circ. Shock* 31, 77–82 (1990).
- S59. Sullivan, J. S., Kilpatrick, L., Contarino, A. T., Butler, S., Corcoran, L., and Harris, M. C. Cytokine elevation in paediatric sepsis syndrome. *Pediatr. Res.* 27, 36a (1990).
- S60. Suzuki, C., Okano, A., Takatsuki, F., Miyasaka, Y., Hirano, T., Kishimoto, T., Ejima, D., and Akiyama, Y. Continuous perfusion with interleukin-6 (IL-6) enhances production of hematopoietic stem cells (CFU-S). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 159, 933–938 (1989).
- S61. Swaak, A. J., van Rooyen, A., Nieuwenhuis, E., and Aarden, L. A. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) in synovial fluid and serum of patients with rheumatic diseases. *Scand. J. Rheumatol.* 17, 469–474 (1988).
- S62. Symons, J. A., and Duff, G. W. A soluble form of the interleukin-1 receptor produced by a human B cell line. FEBS Lett. 272, 133-136 (1990).
- T1. Taga, T., Hibi, M., Hirata, Y., Yamasaki, K., Yasukawa, K., Matsuda, T., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. Interleukin-6 triggers the association of its receptor with a possible signal transducer, gp130. Cell (Cambridge, Mass.) 58, 573–581 (1989).
- T2. Taga, T., Kawanishi, Y., Hardy, R. R., Hirano, T., and Kishimoto, T. Receptors for B cell stimulatory factor 2. Quantitation, specificity, distribution, and regulation of their expression. *J. Exp. Med.* 166, 967–981 (1987).
- T3. Tagliabue, A., Antoni, G., and Boraschi, D. Defining agonist peptides of human interleukin-1 beta. Lymphokine Res. 8, 311-315 (1989).
- T4. Tamura, T., Simon, E., Geschwill, K., and Niemann, H. cdc2/pp56-62 are in vitro substrates for the tyrosine kinase encoded by the v-fms oncogene. *Oncogene* 5, 1259–1263 (1990).
- T5. Taverne, J., Rayner, D. C., van der Meide, P. H., Lydyard, P. M., Bidey, S. P., and Cooke, A. Cytotoxicity of tumor necrosis factor for mitogenic actions in fibroblasts. J. Cell Physiol. 5, 57–61 (1987).
- T6. Taylor, C. W., Grogan, T. M., and Salmon, S. E. Effects of interleukin-4 on the in vitro growth of human lymphoid and plasma cell neoplasms. *Blood* 75, 1114–1118 (1990).
- T7. Teodorczyk Injeyan, J. A., McRitchie, D. I., Peters, W. J., Lalani, S., and Girotti, M. J. Expression and secretion of IL-2 receptor in trauma patients. *Ann. Surg.* **212**, 202–208 (1990).
- T8. Teodorczyk Injeyan, J. A., Sparkes, B. G., Mills, G. B., Falk, R. E., and Peters, W. J. Increase of serum interleukin-2 receptor level in thermally injured patients. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 51, 205–215 (1989).
- T9. Thomsen, M. K. Is interleukin-1 alpha a direct activator of neutrophil migration and phagocytosis in the dog? Agents Actions 29, 35-36 (1990).
- T10. Tobler, I., Borbely, A. A., Schwyzer, M., and Fontana, A. Interleukin-1 derived from astrocytes enhances slow wave activity in sleep EEG of the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 104, 191–192 (1984).
- T11. Toledano, M. B., Roman, D. G., Halden, N. F., Lin, B. B., and Leonard, W. J. The same target sequences are differentially important for activation of the interleukin-2 receptor alpha-chain gene in two distinct T-cell lines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 1830–1834 (1990).
- T12. Tominaga, A., Takahashi, T., Kikuchi, Y., Mita, S., Naomi, S., Harada, N., Yamaguchi, N., and Takatsu, K. Role of carbohydrate moiety of IL-5. Effect of tunicamycin on the glycosylation of IL-5 and the biologic activity of deglycosylated IL-5. J. Immunol. 144, 1345–1352 (1990).
- T13. Torre Amione, G., Tuetken, R., and Rowley, D. A. Powerful immunosuppression mediated by

interleukin-2-activated, nonantigen-specific, or H-2-restricted THY-1+ CD8+ cells. Cell. Immunol. 124, 50-63 (1989).

- T14. Tovey, M. G., Content, J., Gresser, I., Gugenheim, J., Blanchard, B., Guymarho, J., Poupart, P., Gigou, M., Shaw, A., and Fiers, W. Genes for IFN-beta-2 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor, and IL-1 are expressed at high levels in the organs of normal individuals. *J. Immunol.* 141, 3106–3110 (1988).
- T15. Tracey, K. J., Beutler, B., Lowry, S. F., Merryweather, J., Wolpe, S., Milsark, I. W., Hariri, R. J., Fahey, T. J., Zentella, A., Albert, J. D., Shires, G. T., and Cerami, A. Shock and tissue injury induced by recombinant human cachectin. *Science* 234, 470–474 (1986).
- T16. Tracey, K. J., and Cerami, A. Studies of cachexia in parasitic infection. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 569, 211–218 (1989).
- T17. Tracey, K. J., Fong, Y., Hesse, D. G., Manogue, K. R., Lee, A. T., Kuo, G. C., Lowry, S. F., and Cerami, A. Anti-cachectin/TNF monoclonal antibodies prevent septic shock during lethal bacteraemia. *Nature (London)* 330, 662–664 (1987).
- T18. Tracey, K. J., Morgello, S., Kopkin, B., Fahey, T. J., Fox, J., Aledo, A., Manogue, K. R., and Cerami, A. Metabolic effects of cachectin/tumor necrosis factor are modified by site of production. Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor-secreting tumor in skeletal muscle induces chronic cachexia, while implantation in brain induces predominantly acute anorexia. J. Clin. Invest. 86, 2014–2024 (1990).
- T19. Trinchieri, G., and Perussia, B. Immune interferon: A pleiotropic lymphokine with multiple effects. *Immunol. Today* 6, 131-136 (1985).
- T20. Turner, M., Chantry, D., Buchan, G., Barrett, K., and Feldmann, M. Regulation of expression of human IL-1 alpha and IL-1 beta genes. J. Immunol. 143, 3556-3561 (1989).
- U1. Uchiyama, T., Imanishi, K., Saito, S., Araake, M., Yan, X. J., Fujikawa, H., Igarashi, H., Kato, H., Obata, F., Kashiwagi, N., and Inoko, H. Activation of human T cells by toxic shock syndrome toxin-1: The toxin-binding structures expressed on human lymphoid cells acting as accessory cells are HLA class II molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **19**, 1803–1809 (1989).
- U2. Uchiyama, T., Saito, S., Inoko, H., Yan, X. J., Imanishi, K., Araake, M., and Igarashi, H. Relative activities of distinct isotypes of murine and human major histocompatibility complex class II molecules in binding toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 and determination of CD antigens expressed on T cells generated upon stimulation by the toxin. *Infect. Immun.* 58, 3877–3882 (1990).
- U3. Ulich, T. R., del Castillo, J., Keys, M., Granger, G. A., and Ni, R. X. Kinetics and mechanisms of recombinant human interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced changes in circulating numbers of neutrophils and lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 139, 3406–3415 (1987).
- U4. Uyttenhove, C., Coulie, P. G., and Van Snick, J. T cell growth and differentiation induced by interleukin-HP1/IL-6, the murine hybridoma/plasmacytoma growth factor. J. Exp. Med. 167, 1417-1427 (1988).
- Vacca, A., Martinotti, S., Screpanti, I., Maroder, M., Felli, M. P., Farina, A. R., Gismondi, A., Santoni, A., Frati, L., and Gulino, A. Transcriptional regulation of the interleukin-2 gene by glucocorticoid hormones. Role of steroid receptor and antigen-responsive 5'-flanking sequences. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 8075–8080 (1990).
- V2. Valent, P., Besemer, J., Muhm, M., Majdič, O., Lechner, K., and Bettelheim, P. Interleukin-3 activates human blood basophils via high-affinity binding sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 5542–5546 (1989).
- V3. Vandenabeele, P., Grooten, J., and Fiers, W. IL-4 acts synergistically on the IL-2 response of an autoreactive T-cell clone; synergism correlates with increased intracellular IL-2, but not with a modified IL-2 receptor expression. *Cell. Immunol.* **130**, 79–91 (1990).
- V4. van Oers, M. H., van der Heyden, A. A., and Aarden, L. A. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) in serum and urine of renal transplant recipients. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 71, 314–319 (1988).

- V5. Van Snick, J. From hybridoma and plasmacytoma growth factors to interleukin-6. Contrib. Microbiol. Immunol. 11, 73-95 (1989).
- V6. Vink, A., Uyttenhove, C., Wauters, P., and Van Snick, J. Accessory factors involved in murine T cell activation. Distinct roles of interleukin-6, interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 1–6 (1990).
- V7. Virelizier, J. L., Perez, N., Arenzana Seisdedos, F., and Devos, R. Pure interferon gamma enhances class II HLA antigens on human monocyte cell lines. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 14, 106–108 (1984).
- Vladutiu, A. O., Sulewski, J. M., Pudlak, K. A., and Stull, C. G. Heterophilic antibodies interfering with radioimmunoassay. A false-positive pregnancy test. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 248, 2489–2490 (1982).
- V9. von Hoegen, I., Falk, W., Kojouharoff, G., and Krammer, P. H. Internalization of interleukin-1 (IL-1) correlates with IL-1-induced IL-2 receptor expression and IL-2 secretion of EL4 thymoma cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **19**, 329–334 (1989).
- W1. Waage, A., Brandtzaeg, P., Halstensen, A., Kierulf, P., and Espevik, T. The complex pattern of cytokines in serum from patients with meningococcal septic shock. Association between interleukin-6, interleukin-1, and fatal outcome. J. Exp. Med. 169, 333–338 (1989).
- W2. Waage, A., and Espevik, T. Interleukin-1 potentiates the lethal effect of tumor necrosis factor alpha/cachectin in mice. J. Exp. Med. 167, 1987–1992 (1988).
- W3. Waage, A., Espevik, T., and Lamvik, J. Detection of tumor necrosis factor-like cytotoxicity in serum from patients with septicaemia but not from untreated cancer patients. Scand. J. Immunol. 24, 739-743 (1986).
- W4. Waage, A., Halstensen, A., and Espevik, T. Association between tumor necrosi factor in serum and interleukin-1 in serum and fatal outcome in patients with meningococcal disease. *Lancet* 1, 355–357 (1987).
- W5. Waage, A., Slupphaug, G., and Shalaby, R. Glucocorticoids inhibit the production of IL-6 from monocytes, endothelial cells and fibroblasts. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 2439–2443 (1990).
- W6. Wahl, S. M., McCartney Francis, N., and Mergenhagen, S. E. Inflammatory and immunomodulatory roles of TGFβ. *Immunol. Today* 10, 258–261 (1989).
- W7. Wahl, S. M., Wong, H., and McCartney Francis, N. Role of growth factors in inflammation and repair. J. Cell. Biochem. 40, 193–199 (1989).
- W8. Waldmann, T. A. The multi-subunit interleukin-2 receptor. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 58, 875–911 (1989).
- W9. Walsh, G. M., Hartnell, A., Wardlaw, A. J., Kurihara, K., Sanderson, C. J., and Kay, A. IL-5 enhances the in vitro adhesion of human eosinophils, but not neutrophils, in a leucocyte integrin (CD11/18)-dependent manner. *Immunology* 71, 258–265 (1990).
- W10. Ward, P. A., Warren, J. S., and Johnson, K. J. Oxygen radicals, inflammation, and tissue injury. *Free Radical Biol. Med.* 5, 403–408 (1988).
- W11. Warner, S. J., Auger, K. R., and Libby, P. Human interleukin-1 induces interleukin-1 gene expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. J. Exp. Med. 165, 1316–1331 (1987).
- W12. Warren, J. S., Ward, P. A., and Johnson, K. J. Tumor necrosis factor: A plurifunctional mediator of acute inflammation. *Mod. Pathol.* 1, 242–247 (1988).
- W13. Warren, R. S., Starnes, H. F., Jr., Gabrilove, J. L., Oettgen, H. F., and Brennan, M. F. The acute metabolic effects of tumor necrosis factor administration in humans. Arch. Surg. (Chicago) 122, 1396–1400 (1987).
- W14. Watson, J. D., Morrissey, P. J., Namen, A. E., Conlon, P. J., and Widmer, M. B. Effect of IL-7 on the growth of fetal thymocytes in culture. J. Immunol. 143, 1215–1222 (1989).
- W15. Weaver, C. T., and Unanue, E. R. The costimulatory function of antigen-presenting cells. *Immunol. Today* 11, 49–55 (1990).
- W16. Weimer, H. E., and Humelbaugh, C. The effects of periodic challenge on the response of

alpha-2-AP globulin and other acute-phase reactants of rat serum to tissue injury. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 45, 241–247 (1967).

- W17. Weinstein, M. P., Iannini, P. B., Stratton, C. W., and Eickhoff, T. C. Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. A review of 28 cases with emphasis on improved survival and factors influencing prognosis. Am. J. Med. 64, 592–598 (1978).
- W18. Welte, K., Platzer, E., Lu, L., Gabrilove, J. L., Levi, E., Mertelsmann, R., and Moore, M. A. Purification and biochemical characterization of human pluripotent hematopoietic colony stimulating factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 1526–1530 (1985).
- W19. Westacott, C. I., Whicher, J. T., Barnes, I. C., Thompson, D., Swan, A. J., and Dieppe, P. A. Synovial fluid concentration of five different cytokines in rheumatic diseases. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 49, 676–681 (1990).
- W20. Western, K. M., Yeh, E. T., and Sy, M. S. Autoreactivity accelerates the development of autoimmunity and lymphoproliferation in MLR/Mp-lpr/lpr mice. J. Immunol. 139, 734–741 (1987).
- W21. Wewers, M. D., Rinehart, J. J., She, Z. W., Herzyk, D. J., Hummel, M. M., Kinney, P. A., and Davis, W. B. Tumor necrosis factor infusions in humans prime neutrophils for hypochlorous acid production. Am. J. Physiol. 259, L276–L282 (1990).
- W22. Whicher, J. Cytokine inhibition. Control of receptor appetite (news; comment). Nature (London) 344, 584 (1990).
- W23. Whicher, J. T. Calibration is the key to immunoassay but the ideal calibrator is unattainable. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 51, 21–32 (1991).
- W24. Whicher, J. T., Bell, A. M., Martin, M. F., Marshall, L. A., and Dieppe, P. A. Prostaglandins cause an increase in serum acute-phase proteins in man, which is diminished in systemic sclerosis. *Clin. Sci.* 66, 165–171 (1984).
- W25. Whicher, J. T., and Evans, S. W. Cytokines in disease. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 36, 1269–1281 (1990).
- W26. Whicher, J. T., Thompson, D., Billingham, M. E., and Kitchen, E. A. Acute phase proteins. *In* "Pharmacological Methods in the Control of Inflammation" (J. Y. Chang and A. J. Lewis, eds.), pp. 101–128. Liss, New York, 1989.
- W27. Whicher, J. T., Westacott, C. I., and Dieppe, P. A. Defective acute phase response in systemic sclerosis: Disease mechanisms and consequences. *Protides Biol. Fluids* 34, 605–609 (1986).
- W28. White, D. J., and Obers, A. The significance of tumor necrosis factor serum levels in organ transplant. *Eur. Cytokine Net.* **1**, 245–249 (1990).
- W29. Wong, G. G., and Clark, S. C. Multiple actions of interleukin-6 within a cytokine network. *Immunol. Today* 9, 137–139 (1988).
- W30. Wood, D. D., Ihrie, E. J., Dinarello, C. A., and Cohen, P. L. Isolation of an interleukin-1-like factor from human joint effusions. *Arthritis Rheum.* 26, 975–983 (1983).
- W31. Wood, N. C., Symons, J. A., and Duff, G. W. Serum interleukin-2-receptor in rheumatoid arthritis: A prognostic indicator of disease activity? J. Autoimmunol. 1, 353–361 (1988).
- W32. Wood, P. M., Jordan, R. K., Givan, A. L., and Brooks, C. G. IL-3 and IL-4 affect thymocyte differentiation in organ culture. *Immunology* 71, 83–89 (1990).
  - Y1. Yang, Y.C., and Clark, S. C. Human interleukin-3: Analysis of the gene and its role in the regulation of hematopoiesis. Int. J. Cell Cloning 8, Suppl. 1, 121-128; discuss. (1990).
  - Y2. Yang, Y. C., Donahue, R. E., Ogawa, M., and Clark, S. C. Molecular cloning and biological characterization of human interleukin-3 (IL-3). *Transplant. Proc.* 21, 50–53 (1989).
  - Y3. Yang, Y. C., Kovacič, S., Kriz, R., Wolf, S., Clark, S. C., Wellems, T. E., Nienhuis, A., and Epstein, N. The human genes for GM-CSF and IL-3 are closely linked in tandem on chromosome 5. *Blood* 71, 958–961 (1988).
  - Y4. Yokota, T., Arai, N., De Vries, J., Spits, H., Banchereau, J., Zlotnik, A., Rennick, D., Howard, M., Takebe, Y., Miyatake, S., Lee, F., and Arai, K. Molecular biology of interleukin-4 and

interleukin-5 genes and biology of their products that stimulate B cells, T cells and hemopoietic cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **102**, 137–187 (1988).

- Y5. Yorsten, D., Whicher, J. T., Chambers, R. E., Klouda, P., and Easty, D. The acute phase response in acute anterior uveitis. *Trans. Ophthalmol. Soc.* 104, 166-170 (1988).
- Y6. Yoshimura, N., Oka, T., and Kahan, B. D. Sequential determination of serum interleukin-6 levels as an immunodiagnostic tool to differentiate rejection from nephrotoxicity in renal allograft recipients. *Transplantation* 51, 172–176 (1991).
- Y7. Yoshimura, T., and Sone, S. Role of phosphatidylserine in membrane actions of tumor necrosis factor and interferons alpha and gamma. *Biochem. Int.* 20, 697-705 (1990).
- Y8. Yoshizaki, K., Matsuda, T., Nishimoto, N., Kuritani, T., Taeho, L., Aozasa, K., Nakahata, T., Kawai, H., Tagoh, H., Komori, T., *et al.* Pathogenic significance of interleukin-6 (IL-6/BSF-2) in Castleman's disease. *Blood* 74, 1360–1367 (1989).
- Y9. Yu, C. L., Chang, K. L., Chiu, C. C., Chiang, B. N., Han, S. H., and Wang, S. R. Defective phagocytosis, decreased tumour necrosis factor-alpha production, and lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness predispose patients with systemic lupus erythematosus to infections. *Scand. J. Rheumatol.* 18, 97–105 (1989).
- Y10. Yu, S. F., Koerner, T. J., and Adams, D. O. Gene regulation in macrophage activation: Differential regulation of genes encoding for tumor necrosis factor, interleukin-1, JE, and KC by interferon-gamma and lipopolysaccharide. J. Leukocyte Biol. 48, 412–419 (1990).
- Y11. Yussin, A., Shaprira, Z., Shohat, B., Shmueli, D., Zingerman, B., Livine, E., and Klein, T. The assay of soluble IL-2R receptor level in graft microenvironment can be helpful in differential diagnosis of transplant dysfunction. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 260–261 (1991).
  - Zanker, B., Walz, G., Wieder, K. J., and Strom, T. B. Evidence that glucocorticosteroids block expression of the human interleukin-6 gene by accessory cells. *Transplantation* 49, 183–185 (1990).
  - Z2. Zhang, Y. H., Lin, J. X., and Vilcek, J. Interleukin-6 induction by tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1 in human fibroblasts involves activation of a nuclear factor binding to a kappa B-like sequence. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 3818–3823 (1990).
  - Z3. Zielinski, C. C., Pesau, B., Kalinowski, W., and Muller, C. Modulation of leucocyte locomotion by interleukin-1. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 80, 444–447 (1990).
  - Z4. Zimecki, M., and Wieczorek, Z. Functional maturation of thymocytes: Recruitment of helper cells in the humoral immune response to SRBC in vitro by recombinant interleukin-1 (IL-1). *Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp.* 37, 331–338 (1989).
  - Zsebo, K. M., Yuschenkoff, V. N., Schiffer, S., Chang, D., McCall, E., Dinarello, C. A., Brown, M. A., Altrock, B., and Bagby, G. C., Jr. Vascular endothelial cells and granulopoiesis: Interleukin-1 stimulates release of G-CSF and GM-CSF. *Blood* 71, 99–103 (1988).
  - Z6. Zu, Y. L., Shigesada, K., Nishida, E., Kubota, I., Kohno, M., Hanaoka, M., and Namba, Y. 65-kilodalton protein phosphorylated by interleukin-2 stimulation bears two putative actinbinding sites and two calcium-binding sites. *Biochemistry* 29, 8319–8324 (1990).
  - Zuber, C. E., Galizzi, J. P., Harada, N., Durand, I., and Banchereau, J. Interleukin-4 receptors on human blood mononuclear cells. *Cell. Immunol.* 129, 329–340 (1990).
  - Zuber, C. E., Galizzi, J. P., Valle, A., Harada, N., Howard, M., and Banchereau, J. Interleukin-4 receptors on normal human B lymphocytes: Characterization and regulation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20, 551–555 (1990).
  - Zucali, J. R., Moreb, J., Newton, R. C., and Huaog, J. J. Human N-terminal analogs of interleukin-1 beta demonstrate altered binding and function in hematopoiesis. *Exp. Hematol.* 18, 1078–1082 (1990).
- Z10. Zucali, J. R., Morse, C., and Dinarello, C. A. The role of protein kinase C in interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha induction of fibroblasts to produce and release granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating activity. *Exp. Hematol.* 18, 888–892 (1990).

# ANALYTICAL APPLICATIONS OF CHEMILUMINESCENCE

# **Michael James Pringle**

# Ciba–Corning Diagnostics, Medfield, Massachusetts 02052

1.	Introduction and Scope of the Article	89
	1.1. Why Chemiluminescence?	90
	1.2. The Chemiluminescence Literature	91
	1.3. Chemiluminescence as an Analytical Tool	92
	1.4. Types of Chemiluminescent Compounds	94
2.	Theoretical Background	98
	2.1. The Energetics of Chemiluminescence	99
	2.2. Chemiluminescence Efficiency	104
	2.3. Units of Light Measurement	105
	2.4. Label Detectability	105
	2.5. Kinetics of Light Emission	106
	2.6. Chemiluminescence Instrumentation	108
3.	Applications of Specific Chemiluminescent Compounds	111
	3.1. Luminol and Isoluminol	111
	3.2. Acridinium Esters	126
	3.3. Dioxetanes	138
	3.4. Peroxyoxalates	157
4.	Conclusion	160
	References	161

## 1. Introduction and Scope of the Article

Of the optical techniques that have become part of the analyst's armory, chemiluminescence is, perhaps, the latest to have come of age. Historically, absorbance spectrophotometry with chromogenic labels has offered the clinical analyst convenience and universality, since UV/visible spectrophotometers are both ubiquitous and amenable to automation. However, direct detection of chromophores without enzyme amplification is limited in sensitivity to  $0.1-1.0 \ \mu M$ , since few molar extinction coefficients are greater than  $10^5$ . Radiolabel techniques do offer far superior sensitivity, but as the demands for highly sensitive analyses become more voluminous and more widespread in terms of their setting (i.e., both healthrelated and industrial environments), there will be an ever-increasing drive to adopt alternative nonisotopic analytical methods.

This article is designed to provide readers who are unfamiliar with chemiluminescence with a sufficient theoretical basis to understand the phenomenon and to extend that basis with a survey of its evolution in terms of chemistry, analytical applications, and recent innovations both in high sensitivity clinical assays and in nucleic acid detection methods.

Many recent applications of chemiluminescence enjoy the protection of patents and some of these applications have been commercialized, e.g., novel chemiluminescent compounds, detectors, and complete assay systems. It is not, however, the purpose of this article to focus on such commercialization and, in keeping with this precept, no patent citations will appear in the reference list. Because of space limitations, certain topics such as bioluminescence, electrochemiluminescence [recently reviewed by Greenway (G12)], and cellular chemiluminescence [see Stanley and Kricka (S41) for an update] will not be covered in this article. Even with the above omissions, it is difficult to provide a comprehensive review of all aspects of chemiluminescence, and one has to exercise a degree of selectivity. The focus will be on what is important in the field of clinical analysis, and an attempt will be made to cover the representative literature.

### **1.1. Why Chemiluminescence?**

Among nonisotopic techniques, fluorescence (both intrinsic and extrinsic) offers a convenient mode of detection, and the sensitivity of some fluorescent labels is comparable to that of radiolabeled iodine. Recent innovations include the use of polarized light for excitation, such that the degree of polarization of the emission as well as its intensity can provide information about the concentration and size-related behavior (e.g., rotational diffusion) of the fluorescent-labeled molecule. One disadvantage of steady-state fluorescence techniques is that many analytical samples either autofluoresce or quench the fluorescence of the substance of interest. A recent development that circumvents this problem utilizes long-lived fluorophores such as the lanthanide metal ions as labels. Detection is time resolved and data are collected *after* the decay of spurious or otherwise unwanted fluorescence, i.e., after 100–200  $\mu$ sec.

Although it is not the purpose of this article to champion one technology over another, it is fair to say that chemiluminescence offers the sensitivity of fluorescence detection without some of the attendant problems of luminescent emission from analytical samples. Thus, chemiluminescence detection can be comparable to and, with the aid of enzyme amplification, even superior to that of <sup>125</sup>I. This is not to say that there are no problems associated with chemiluminescence-based analytical techniques. As we shall see later (Section 2.5), the actual signal from chemiluminescent molecules is, in most cases, a transient flash, lasting for a second to a few minutes, depending on the nature of the chemiluminescent substance. Specialized detection equipment (c.f., scintillation counters) is, therefore, required (see Section 2.6.).

The above caveats notwithstanding, since the first reports of analytical applications of chemiluminescence in the late 1970s (S18, S20, S21, S25, S42), such applications have increased rapidly in number and scope (e.g., flow-through reactors, immunoassays, gene-probe assays, DNA sequencing, Southern blotting, and HPLC), such that chemiluminescence will very likely become the dominant detection technology for solution-phase analytes in the 1990s.

### **1.2. THE CHEMILUMINESCENCE LITERATURE**

Since their inception in 1978, the biennial International Symposia on Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence have provided an excellent forum for presenting novel data and applications in the chemiluminescence field. The published proceedings from these meetings provide a comprehensive survey of the state of the art, together with relevant literature citations (D8, P5, S17, S41). The trend in the symposia has changed from the early meetings, when there was little emphasis on analysis, to a preponderance of immunoassay and gene probe applications, as well as innovations in detection technologies, such as charge-coupled imaging devices.

Notable books, belonging to series that have focused on chemiluminescence, include the "Critical Reviews," edited by Knox Van Dyke, on instrumentation and applications (V2), cellular chemiluminescence (V4), and immunoassays and molecular applications (V6). The series "Clinical and Biochemical Analysis" has one volume devoted entirely to chemi- and bioluminescence (B34), and a subsequent volume on ligand-binder assays has one chapter focused specifically on chemiluminescent immunoassays (K25). Two volumes of the "Methods in Enzymology" series are devoted to chemiluminescence and bioluminescence (D7, D9). A recent volume in the series "Practical Spectroscopy" provides an excellent survey of analytical techniques involving fluorescence and chemiluminescence (B4). Probably the most readable and all-encompassing book to have been written in recent years is Campbell's "Chemiluminescence: Principles and Applications in Biology and Medicine" (C3), and it is to be highly recommended as a basic text. Whereas chemiluminescence articles are dispersed among dozens of scientific journals, one of these (The Journal of Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence) is devoted entirely to the subject. One measure of the degree of interest in chemiluminescence can be seen in Fig. 1, which shows the growth of published articles in the 1980s, from 50 in 1980 to ca. 450 in 1991. The data were compiled from a computer search of titles or key descriptors containing words associated either with chemiluminescence or with specific chemiluminescent compounds.

In the last few years, a number of useful reviews on chemiluminescence have



FIG. 1. Growth in chemiluminescence publications since 1980. These data were obtained by a computer search for titles and key descriptors containing the word chemiluminescence or the name of any specific chemiluminescent compound.

appeared. These have described basic theory (M27), immunoassays (D16, H21, M26, M27, S48, W23), enzyme assays (B19, K28), general clinical and analytical applications (B5, G6, S39, W25), chromatography (B4, Y1), gene probes (B7, N5), and industrial flow systems (I1, I2). Stanley has described the setting up of a data bank on chemi- and bioluminescence (S40), and both he and Kricka are responsible for publishing an extremely valuable annual bibliography; e.g., for 1990 see Kricka and Stanley (K27, K28) and for part of 1991 see Kricka and Stanley (K29).

### 1.3. CHEMILUMINESCENCE AS AN ANALYTICAL TOOL

The analytical applications of chemiluminescence fall into three broad categories. First, there are some chemiluminescent reactions that are catalyzed by specific compounds and that can, therefore, be diagnostic for the presence or quantitation of those compounds. For example, the hydrogen peroxide oxidation of the cyclic luminescent hydrazide luminol is catalyzed by transition metal ions such as Co(II), which can thereby be detected at a 10 pM concentration in a flow injection system (B33) and even down to 1 pM when the chemiluminescence is induced ultrasonically (K19). Other transition metal ions that have been similarly detected (in the 1–10 nM range) are Cr(III) (C13), Cu(II), and Ni(II) (S26). Other examples of direct detection using luminol chemiluminescence are described in Section 3.1.5.

### 1.3.1. Chemiluminescent Labels

By far the most popular current method of utilizing chemiluminescence as an analytical tool is to employ chemiluminescent compounds as labels in so-called ligand binder assays such as immunoassays. Such assays were originally designed to detect substances in biological fluids such as blood, serum, urine, or saliva, but are increasingly being adapted to environmental media [such as drinking water or seawater (C19) and flow-through bioreactors (N9)]. Labels are prepared by co-valently attaching chemiluminescent compounds either to the hapten (or antigen)



FIG. 2. Solid phase immunoassay configurations using chemiluminescent labels. (a) Small molecular weight analyte (hapten) is immobilized onto a solid phase; labeled antibody in solution partitions between immobilized and sample analyte. (b) Hapten-specific antibody is immobilized onto a solid phase, and sample hapten competes for antibody binding sites with labeled hapten. (c) Protein antigen-specific antibody is immobilized onto a solid phase; antigen and labeled antibody form sandwich complexes on the solid phase. (d) Protein antigen is immobilized onto the solid phase; sandwich complexes are formed between solid phase, antigen-specific monoclonal antibodies, and species-specific (e.g., goat anti-mouse) labeled antibodies; solution phase antigen competes with solid phase antigen for sandwich complexes. or to the hapten-specific antibody. Some possible configurations of heterogeneous or separation-based assays are illustrated in Fig. 2, which is by no means comprehensive. The general principal of all these so-called solid-phase (separationbased) immunoassays is that a suitable surface (test tube, ELISA well, latex bead, glass bead, or magnetic microsphere) is chemically coupled either to the substance to be detected (hapten or antigen) or to antibodies specific for that substance. In the latter case, for example, as a result of immunoconjugation to form a so-called sandwich complex, the chemiluminescent-labeled moiety will be captured by the solid phase in an amount determined by the concentration of analyte in the sample. After removing unbound material by mechanical separation (particle-based assays) or decantation (coated tubes or wells), the solid-phase surface is treated with the reagents that initiate chemiluminescence, and the resulting signal is measured in a suitable detecting device. In some cases, it is possible to utilize chemiluminescent labels in homogenous, or non-separation-based, ligand binder assays. For example, if the chemiluminescent properties of a labeled analyte (hapten or antigen) are directly modified by interaction with a binder (antibody), then the degree of modification will be determined by the amount of competing, unlabeled analyte that is present in the biological sample. Specific examples of homogenous chemiluminescent assays are described in Section 3.1.4.1.

### 1.3.2. Enzyme Labels

A more recent development in chemiluminescence, as applied to diagnostic assays, is to utilize an enzyme as a label. In this case, it is the enzyme that is captured by an immunoconjugation event at a solid-phase surface and that is subsequently detected by chemiluminescence. This can be achieved by using suitable enzyme/substrate pairs that generate hydrogen peroxide, which, in turn, can be detected by luminol or isoluminol chemiluminescence (see Section 3.1). Alternatively, the enzyme may convert a nonchemiluminescent substrate into a product that spontaneously emits light. This latter method, using, for example, adamantyl dioxetane luminescence, is finding increasing application in both immunoassays and DNA-probe assays (see Sections 3.3.4–3.3.6).

# 1.4. Types of Chemiluminescent Compounds

The literature on organic chemistry abounds with examples of molecules that, in appropriate conditions, will exhibit chemiluminescence (A1, M17, M22). Nevertheless, the development of chemiluminescence as a diagnostic tool in immunology, clinical chemistry, and molecular biology has resulted almost entirely from the use of three or four compounds and their respective derivatives. There are several reasons for this dichotomy. First, many chemiluminescent compounds are inherently unstable and difficult to control. Conversely, the light-producing reactions of extremely stable compounds (such as some of the dioxetanes) may be so slow (months to years) that exploitation of such compounds is completely impractical. The third, and perhaps most serious, drawback of the majority of chemiluminescent reactions is that they are inefficient and give rise to very weak or ultraweak chemiluminescence. The significance of this will become apparent in Section 2, in which the theory behind chemiluminescent processes is described.

# 1.4.1. Specific Examples

For the purposes of this section, a brief, and by no means exhaustive, survey of some chemiluminescent reactions is presented. Thus, the thermal decomposition of cyclic peroxides has frequently been accompanied by light generation (K22, M20, W20) according to the general scheme in Fig. 3. Peroxides may also be formed by autooxidation of hydrocarbons, and the transient peroxy-intermediate may disproportionate with concomittant light emission as in Fig. 4 (K4). A postulated precursor of thyroxine has similarly been shown to emit weak light during oxidation at high pH to form a peroxy-intermediate that disproportionates to the corresponding aldehyde plus oxalic acid as in Fig. 5 (C16). The base-catalyzed oxidation of the cyanomethyl indole in Fig. 6a has been shown to be weakly chemiluminescent, and the light-emitting reaction possibly proceeds via the intermediate shown in Fig. 6b (D18, D19).

Unsaturated compounds are also susceptible to chemiluminescent reactions. The liquid olefin shown in Fig. 7 undergoes spontaneous aerobic oxidation, presumably via the cyclic peroxy-intermediate also shown in the figure. This reaction is accompanied by the emission of green light.

In many cases of chemiluminescence involving autooxidation, the intermediate dioxetans cannot be formed. If, for example, tetralin hydroperoxide is thermally converted to tetralone in the presence of the metalloporphyrin zinc tetraphenyl-porphyrin (Fig. 8), this reaction is accompanied by light emission (L12). Peroxy esters of the form  $R \cdot CO \cdot OOR$ , either straight chain (D12) or cyclic (A5), have been shown to decompose with light emission, and even Grignard reagents such as p-Cl-Ph-MgBr emit light when treated with oxygenated solvent (F2).

While they are all undoubtedly chemiluminescent, the compounds and reactions illustrated above, with few exceptions, generate extremely weak light emission. Even when the emission is amplified by the presence of fluorescent molecules, as in reactions involving chemically initiated electron-exchange luminescence



FIG. 3. Generation of chemiluminescence by thermal decomposition of substituted dioxetanes.



FIG. 4. Autooxidation of hydrocarbons and chemiluminescent decomposition of intermediate peroxide.



FIG. 5. Formation and subsequent chemiluminescent decomposition of a peroxy intermediate derived from a precursor of thyroxine.



(b)

FIG. 6. Base-catalyzed formation of a peroxy intermediate from cyanomethyl indole.



FIG. 7. Chemiluminescent oxidation of tetrakis (dimethylamino) ethylene.


FIG. 8. Zinc tetraphenylporphyrin-catalyzed conversion of tetralin hydroperoxide to tetralone with accompanying luminescence.

(CIEEL) (A10, S14, S23), the light output is still too weak for any practical applications. It is, however, possible that those reactions currently deemed impractical may, by means of innovative chemistry, see the "light of day" in some future analytical application.

#### 1.4.2. Analytically Important Chemiluminescent Compounds

To date, the vast majority of analytical and diagnostic applications of chemiluminescence are derived from four types of organic molecule, whose importance stems from a fortuitous combination of properties, viz., high light-emitting efficiency, chemical stability, and amenity to chemical modification in the form of covalent coupling to analytes of interest or analyte-specific antibodies. The general structures of these four classes of chemiluminescent molecule are shown in Fig. 9, and it is the main purpose of this article to focus on each of them in terms of their chemistry, mechanism of chemiluminescence, and contributions to clinical chemistry, immunodiagnostics, and nucleic acid detection. Where data are available, the merits and limitations of each type of compound will be discussed, and some prognosis for future developments will be presented.

Ironically, the synthesis and chemiluminescent properties of some of these important compounds were first reported in the 1920s; i.e., acridine-9-carboxylic acid, a precursor of acridinium esters, was synthesized in 1928 (L7), which was the same year that Albrecht described the chemiluminescence of luminol (A8). The emission from lucigenin, a *bis*-acridinium analog, was reported 7 years later by Gleu and Petsch (G7).

# 2. Theoretical Background

The following description provides a theoretical framework for understanding the excitation process whereby molecules can be induced to emit light. The





FIG. 9. Chemical structures of chemiluminescent molecules used in diagnostic assays.

efficiency of the process will be discussed as well as ways in which the light can be quantitated. The section will conclude with a brief survey of different types of light-measuring devices.

# 2.1. The Energetics of Chemiluminescence

Chemiluminescence, as its name suggests, refers to the emission of light by a substance as a result of a chemical reaction. As such, it belongs to a much larger class of light-emitting phenomena in which the distinguishing features of each are primarily (although not entirely) the means by which the molecules of the emitting

substance are supplied with energy. In this case, then, the energy is in the form of the thermodynamic enthalpy change ( $\Delta H$ ) during the chemical conversion of a reactant, A, to a product, B, via a light-emitting intermediate species,  $B^*$ , i.e.,

$$A \xrightarrow{k_c} B^* \xrightarrow{k_e} B, \tag{1}$$

where  $k_c$  and  $k_e$  are the rate constants for conversion of A to  $B^*$  and the decay of the light emitting species  $B^*$  to the product B, respectively. The species  $B^*$  is in an electronically excited state relative to that of the product B, which is referred to as being in its ground state. It may of course be possible to convert ground state A to ground state B without formation of a metastable excited state, i.e., with no light emission. One can easily visualize these processes on a potential energy



FIG. 10. Arrhenius energy profile showing the energy barrier between reactant(s),  $A_0$ , and product(s),  $B_0$ . Activation energies  $E_a$  and  $E_a^*$  are required to elevate reactant(s) to transition state,  $B_1$ , or electronically excited transition state,  $B_1^*$ . Only molecules that can pass through electronically excited transition state  $B_1^*$  will exhibit chemiluminescence.

diagram (Fig. 10) in which, according to the Årrhenius formalism, activation energies  $E_a$  and  $E_a^*$  produce the necessary transition states  $B_1$  and  $B_1^*$  required for the formation of product B. Since only  $B_1^*$  is a light-emitting species, it follows that, for efficient chemiluminescence,  $E_a^*$  must be less than  $E_a$  (as in Fig. 10) rather than the converse. Figure 10 is, however, an oversimplification, since it gives no indication of the nature of the energy levels involved. The equilibrium state for any molecule is its ground electronic state. Within that state, vibrational and rotational energy levels exist such that the wave function for any ground state molecule ( $\chi$ ) can be represented as the product of electronic, vibrational, and rotational wave functions,  $\phi_e$ ,  $\phi_v$ , and  $\phi_{rr}$  respectively; viz.,

$$\chi^{0} = \phi_{e}^{0} \cdot \phi_{v}^{0} \cdot \phi_{r}^{0}, \qquad (2)$$

Since electrons in filled orbitals are normally paired (i.e., with opposite spins), the ground electronic state is also referred to as a singlet state. The absorption of chemical energy can produce electronically excited singlet states whose wave function  $(\chi^1)$  can then be represented as

$$\chi^{1} = \phi_{e}^{1} \cdot \phi_{v}^{1} \cdot \phi_{r}^{1}$$
(3)

In the case of fluorescence, the transition between states  $\chi^0$  and  $\chi^1$  is produced by light itself, i.e., by electromagnetic radiation, and the energy difference  $\Delta E$  between ground and excited singlet states is given by

$$\Delta E = h \cdot \nu, \tag{4}$$

where v is the frequency of the radiation and h is Planck's constant (6.63  $\times$ 10<sup>-27</sup> ergs/sec). A clearer picture of the various processes involved in chemiluminescence, from the initial energy produced by a chemical reaction to the final emission of visible photons, is provided by the well-known Jablonski diagram, shown in Fig. 11. Molecules in the ground electronic state,  $S_0$ , absorb enthalpic energy which elevates them to higher electronic singlet states,  $S_1$  or  $S_2$ . Dissipation of this excess energy can occur in a variety of ways. Internal conversion from  $S_2$  to  $S_1$  can occur, as can deactivation from higher to lower vibrational levels within each singlet state. Electron spins can become unpaired (i.e., parallel), in which case the excited molecules cross over to the triplet state in a process known as intersystem crossing. After losing sufficient energy to occupy the lowest vibrational level of the first excited singlet state  $S_1$  (or corresponding triplet state  $T_1$ ), molecules may still return to the ground state without any light emission, in which case the decay is radiationless and takes the form of heat exchange to surrounding molecules or solvent molecules. On the other hand, the excess energy may be dissipated in the form of light emission. Decay from singlet states occurs in the nsec time scale and is referred to as fluorescence or chemiluminescence, depending on the original source of excitation energy. Decay from triplet states is a much slower process and occurs in the usec-msec time scale. This long-lived emission

is referred to as phosphorescence, and it has found applications both in clinical diagnostics [time-resolved fluorescence of lanthanides (D10, S34)] and as a method to study the slow rotational diffusion of proteins in cell membranes, whereby one measures the decay of phosphorescence anisotropy from a polarized excitation source.

If light emission does occur, the energy difference between the lowest vibrational level of the first excited singlet or triplet state and the ground state  $S_0$ determines the frequency (v) of that emission, by Eq. (4). Further, since

$$\mathbf{v} = c/\lambda,\tag{5}$$

where c is the velocity of the light *in vacuo*  $(3 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm/sec})$  and  $\lambda$  is its wavelength, one can relate the energy difference  $\Delta E$  to the wavelength of the emission by combining Eqs. (4) and (5) into the so-called Planck-Einstein relationship.

$$\Delta E = h \cdot v = h \cdot c/\lambda. \tag{6}$$

To appreciate the magnitude of the energy involved in luminescence emission,



FIG. 11. Jablonski diagram showing how the absorption of electromagnetic or chemical energy by a molecule can lead to electronically excited states and showing that the dissipation of such energy can result in luminescence emission. Maximal fluorescence/chemiluminescence emission will occur from the lowest vibrational level of the first excited singlet state,  $S_1$ , to the same vibrational level in the ground state,  $S_0$ . Intersystem crossing to the triplet state,  $T_1$ , can give rise to long-lived emission or phosphorescence.

102

$$\Delta E_1 = \frac{h \cdot c}{\lambda_1} = \frac{6.63 \times 10^{-27} \text{ erg/sec} \times 3 \times 10^8 \text{m/sec}}{400 \times 10^{-9} \text{ m}}$$
$$= 4.97 \times 10^{-12} \text{ ergs}$$

and since 1 erg =  $2.39 \times 10^{-11}$  kcal,

$$\Delta E_1 = 11.88 \times 10^{-23} \text{ kcal/photon.}$$

Further, since 1 "mole" of photons (defined by modern convention as 1 Einstein) contains N photons (where N is Avogadro's number,  $6 \times 10^{23}$ ), then

$$\Delta E_1 = 71.27$$
 kcal/mole.

In a similar fashion, it can be shown that photons in the far red ( $\lambda_2 = 750$  nm) would require an energy excess ( $\Delta E_2$ ), where

$$\Delta E_2 = 38.01$$
 kcal/mole.

Thus, the energy spread for visible emission is from 38 to 71 kcal/mole. An important point to make at this juncture is that the energy of the emission ( $\Delta E$ ) has *nothing* to do with the intensity of that emission. It merely defines its frequency and, therefore, its wavelength. The fact that blue photons are more *energetic* than red ones (as the example above showed) has implications for the way in which photons are detected; i.e., there is usually a degree of chromatic dispersion in detector response (see Section 2.6.).

If the energy is supplied by a chemical reaction, then, for a given wavelength  $(\lambda)$ , the combined enthalpy and activation energy for the formation of the electronically excited transition state (Fig. 10) will be given by

$$-\Delta H + \Delta E^* \ge h \cdot c/\lambda. \tag{7}$$

A consideration of Figs. 10 and 11, and Eq. (7) can provide some information on the molecular structure of potentially chemiluminescent organic molecules and may provide a framework for devising novel ones. Nonproductive energy losses will be minimized in molecules with few vibrational states in any given electronic state. This would dictate that small, rigid, planar structures with restricted rotational mobility between bonded atoms, i.e., condensed aromatic or heteroaromatic molecules, may be potential chemiluminescent compounds. The actual chemical reaction itself should be exothermic (large negative  $\Delta H$ ) and have a small Årrhenius activation energy ( $\Delta E^*$ ) for producing the transition state of the electronically excited species ( $B_1^*$  in Fig. 10). The latter implies rapid molecular rearrangements such as fragmentation and electron transfer. Indeed, the fragmentation of peroxides (either as starting materials or as metastable reaction intermediates) accounts for a high proportion of known chemiluminescent processes. Chemiluminescence from electron transfer processes normally requires electrogeneration of the excited species and the resulting emission is known as electrochemiluminescence (ECL). ECL applied to clinical diagnostics is relatively new, but may well achieve prominance during the next decade as biosensor technology matures.

A low activation energy,  $\Delta E^*$  (or  $E_a^*$  in Fig. 10), also dictates that the geometry of the transition state should closely resemble that of the excited singlet state. For further consideration of the relationship between the thermodynamics of chemiluminescence and molecular structure, the reader is referred to McCapra (M17) as well as the review article by McCapra and Perring (M22).

#### 2.2 CHEMILUMINESCENCE EFFICIENCY

In the worked examples above, there was a tacit assumption that 1 Einstein (1 mole of photons) is produced by 1 mole of chemiluminescent reactant. However, a reference to Fig. 11 shows that this cannot be the case. Only a fraction of the energy supplied to ground-state reactant molecules will finally be converted into photon emission. A parameter of major importance, then, in the field of chemiluminescence is the quantum yield of the process. Stated simply, the quantum yield, Q relates the photon output to some reference input such as the number of ground-state molecules in the chemiluminescent reaction; i.e., its absolute value will be in Einsteins per mole of reactant. Clearly, Q must reflect the variety of means whereby molecules are able to dissipate the excess energy absorbed in the chemical reaction (Fig. 11). It is generally accepted that Q is the product of three separate components, viz.,

$$Q = q_{\rm r} \cdot q_{\rm ex} \cdot q_{\rm em},\tag{8}$$

where  $q_i$  is the fraction of molecules undergoing a potentially light-producing reaction (i.e., leading to  $B_1^*$  not  $B_1$  in Fig. 10),  $q_{ex}$  is the fraction of those molecules that are elevated to the excited singlet state, and  $q_{em}$  is that fraction of molecules in excited states that actually emits light. In this context, the role played by the solvent may be crucial in determining the magnitude of  $q_{em}$ , since the nonradiative decay of excited molecules to the ground state is often influenced by the nature of the surrounding solvent molecules. In general, quantum yields are higher in organic solvents than in water, and, in such solvents, Q is often inversely related to the solvent polarity or dielectric constant. The explanation for this presumably reflects the ease with which excess energy from electronically excited states can be transferred to polar molecules (e.g., water) rather than apolar ones (e.g., benzene).

#### ANALYTICAL APPLICATIONS OF CHEMILUMINESCENCE

#### 2.3. UNITS OF LIGHT MEASUREMENT

The number of photons produced radially per unit time from a point-source emitter is denoted as the flux. The intensity of the emission, on the other hand, is the flux per unit solid angle (or steradian). However, the term intensity is frequently used without any reference to which portion of space relative to the point source is being considered. In fact, from the point of view of detecting the emission, the important quantity is the rate of photon emission per unit area of detector face located some distance away from the source. This quantity, too, is loosely referred to as intensity. I shall consider the characteristics of a detector and some recent innovations in chemiluminescence detection in Section 2.6. With reference to units, though, one can describe the rate of light generation in terms of the number of photons (or Einsteins) per second or in terms of their corresponding rates of energy production [Eq. (2)], i.e., in ergs per second. Since the rate of change of energy is in fact the power sustained by the source and since 107 erg/sec is equal to 1 W, we can interconvert photon flux with the power, in watts, sensed by a detector. For example, if a solution of acridinium ester (see Section 3.2) is chemically excited to produce 10<sup>6</sup> photons/sec of blue light at 430 nm, then by Eq. (6),

$$E = \frac{h \cdot c \times 10^{6}}{430 \text{ nm}} \text{ erg/sec} = \frac{h \cdot c \times 0.1}{430 \text{ nm}} \text{ W}$$
$$= \frac{6.63 \times 10^{-27} \times 3 \times 10^{8} \times 0.1}{430 \times 10^{-9}} \text{ W}$$
$$= 0.46 \times 10^{-12} \text{ W}.$$

## 2.4. LABEL DETECTABILITY

The driving force for the development of chemiluminescence-based assays (as well as any other optical or electrical detection methodology) is the replacement of radiolabels both for safety reasons and because of their intrinsic instability. Because the earliest high sensitivity immunoassays utilized antibodies with co-valently attached <sup>125</sup>I as the label, this has served as a yardstick against which all subsequent assay technologies are measured. For this reason, it is important to understand the detection limits for <sup>125</sup>I. Radioactive iodine is a  $\gamma$ -emitter that eventually decays to a stable isotope of lead. The decay process exhibits first-order kinetics so that we can write

$$-\frac{dI}{dt} = k \cdot I_0 \quad \text{and} \quad I = I_0 \cdot e^{-kt}, \tag{9}$$

where I is the amount of label at time t (sec),  $I_0$  is the initial amount, and k is the

first-order rate constant. When the radiolabel has decayed to half the original amount, t is equal to  $t_{1/2}$ , the decay half-life, i.e., from Eq. (9),

$$I_0/2 = I_0 \cdot e^{-kt_{1/2}}$$
 or  $\ln 2 = kt_{1/2}$ 

Therefore,

$$k = \ln 2/t_{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (10)

Equation (9) states that the rate of decay of  $^{125}$ I is the product of the initial amount of radiolabel and the rate constant for decay. The minimum amount of  $^{125}$ I that can be detected corresponds to the lowest detectable decay rate. If we assume this to be 1 dps (ca. 50 cpm), then

$$1 = k \cdot I_{\min} \quad \text{or} \quad I_{\min} = 1/k \tag{11}$$

and, from Eq. (10),

$$I_{\min} = t_{1/2} / \ln 2 \text{ molecules.}$$
(12)

Therefore,

$$I_{\min} = 60 \times 24 \times 3600/\ln 2 \text{ molecules}$$
  
= 7.48 × 10<sup>6</sup> molecules  
=  $\frac{7.48 \times 10^6}{6 \times 10^{23}}$  moles  
= 1.25 × 10<sup>-17</sup> moles.

If the assay volume is 1 ml, then

 $I_{\min} = 1.25 \times 10^{-14}$  moles/liter.

This, then, represents the minimum *label* detectability, which means that the minimum *analyte* detectability cannot be lower than this and will almost certainly be higher.

## 2.5. KINETICS OF LIGHT EMISSION

Before considering detector characteristics and some recent developments in chemiluminescence detection, it should be noted that analytical applications of chemiluminescence involve two types of chemiluminescent response. In the first type, the chemiluminescent molecule is used as a detection label and is, therefore, present in limiting concentration relative to the reagents used to initiate the chemiluminescent reaction. The chemical reaction will therefore be "pseudo" first order. The slowest process in the sequence of events leading to light emission is the reaction itself, e.g., hydrolysis, bond-breaking, and rearrangements. From Eq. (1), one can therefore write that the intensity  $I_{cl}$  will be given by

$$I_{\rm cl} = Q \cdot dB/dt; \tag{13}$$

i.e., it is a product of the rate of formation of product, B, and the quantum yield of the process. The kinetic profile of the light output will have the form shown in Fig. 12a, i.e., an initial lag phase followed by a rapid increase in the rate of product formation up to a certain maximum, after which there is no more reactant to replace the excited-state product, and the intensity will decay monoexponentially, provided a single substrate is being consumed. The emission will, therefore, be in the form of a flash lasting from 1 sec to tens of seconds.

In the second application of chemiluminescence, an enzyme is used as a label, i.e., in limiting amount, and the enzyme is detected by a large excess of substrate that becomes chemiluminescent upon reaction with the enzyme. Again, light intensity is proportional to the reaction rate, which in this case is the substrate turnover rate. The kinetic profile of light intensity will therefore reflect the enzyme kinetics and will take the form shown in Fig. 12b. Since the emission of light cannot take place before the formation of the excited state, there will again be a lag phase. However, when the enzyme is turning over substrate at a constant rate, i.e., in the steady state, the light output will plateau and also remain constant, for



FIG. 12. Kinetic profile of chemiluminescence emission. (a) Flash-type kinetics from chemiluminescent labels; (b) glow-type kinetics from enzyme labels with chemiluminescent substrates.

tens of minutes or even hours. Such an emission is referred to as a glow, to distinguish it from the transient output produced by chemiluminescent labels.

#### 2.6. CHEMILUMINESCENCE INSTRUMENTATION

The light output from a chemiluminescent reaction is measured in a luminometer. These range from simple manual instruments capable of taking a single reaction tube, through semiautomated instruments with capacities of up to 250 tubes, to high-throughput automated systems that conduct complete assays, including reagent pipetting, separations, and final readout.

Three major innovations in instrumentation have occurred within the last decade. First, photomultipliers have been improved with respect to sensitivity, noise, and uniformity of spectral response. Second, there has been a parallel development of, on the one hand, large, fully automated, complete analytical systems and, on the other hand, small, battery-powered instruments employing silicon photodiode detectors. Third, there has been a revolution in various imaging devices, motivated, in large measure, by the analytical demands of recombinant DNA technology. Thus, camera luminometers and charge-coupled imaging devices are finding increasing application in semiquantitative analyses of microtiter plates, sequencing gels, and both Western and Southern blotting techniques. It is outside the scope of this chapter to discuss detection instrumentation in any detail. However, the interested reader can find a wealth of theoretical and practical information in some older reviews (A11, S36, S37, W1) as well as some more recent discussions (B17, C3, S38, T22).

There are several important differences between solid-state detectors, such as photodiodes, and vacuum devices, such as photomultipliers. These are highlighted in Table 1, from which it can be concluded that the choice between the two really depends on the type of analysis one wishes to carry out. Large, high-sensitivity instruments designed for the clinical laboratory invariably employ photomultipliers for detection. Recent innovations in photomultiplier design include the use of

Properties	Photomultiplier	Photodiode	
Quantum efficiency	Low	High	
Physical characteristics	Fragile	Rugged	
Spectral response	Low in red	Low in blue	
Relative sensitivity	1000	1	
Power source	High voltage	Battery	
Cost	Expensive	Cheap	

TABLE 1 THE MAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN SOLID-STATE AND VACUUM TUBE DETECTORS

bi-, tri-, or multialkali photocathodes, which partially alleviate the fall-off in response in the red region of the spectrum (>600 nm). Cooling of the tube is being increasingly adopted to reduce noise from thermally produced electrons.

However, if size, portability, and ease of use are important criteria for a specific application, then the new generation of solid-state photodiode detectors may be ideal. One such instrument has recently been described for measuring ATP down to 0.5 pmole, using the power from four AA alkaline batteries (M3). Detection on instant film in photocassettes (B30, M33), or in so-called camera luminometers (B32, K30), is rapidly expanding the scope of luminescence measurement and can be exemplified by an assay for hepatitis B viral DNA (see Section 3.3.6.1) (B26).

There are two ways to increase the amount of detectable signal from a chemiluminescent label. First, one can improve the quantum efficiency of the lightemitting reaction by chemically modifying the label itself, or its microenvironment. Second, one can increase the sensitivity of the detecting instrument such that low, hitherto undetectable, light sources are now measurable. This latter approach has engendered much effort in low-level imaging technology from early work with TV vidicons (R4) to the use of charge-coupled devices, or CCDs (H1, H14, L3, W17). These are solid-state detectors containing a matrix (e.g., 256 × 256) of photosensitive pixels. Incident photons from a chemiluminescent sample liberate charge within the pixels and this charge can be accumulated before it is discharged (by charge coupling) to give a readout proportional to the incident photon flux. Multisample analyses are possible, e.g., simultaneous quantitation of samples in microtiter plates or petri dishes (H14, M1). By the same token, multiband gels or blots (protein and nucleic acid) can also be visualized by CCDs (B28, H8, H9, P12, T18).

An overview of the various types of instrument currently used for chemiluminescent assays has been given by Van Dyke (V3) and more recently by Bronstein and Kricka (B20). Table 2 is a compilation of several commercial instruments with a brief description of the key features of each. An automated flow-through system for clinical chemistry assays utilizing luminol chemiluminescence (see Section 3.1) has been described by Tabata *et al.* (T4). Semiautomated (B14) and fully automated (K5,K34) immunoassay instruments using acridinium esters (see Section 3.2) have been developed and evaluated (C6,Z4).

Before we examine chemiluminescent compounds in detail, mention should be made of biosensor devices that utilize chemiluminescent detection. As early as 1978, Freeman and Seitz (F3) described a fiber-optic system using luminol to detect hydrogen peroxide at micromolar levels. More recently, the technology has been vigorously pursued by Coulet and co-workers in France [see Coulet and Blum (C21) and Gautier *et al.* (G3) for an update on the state of the art]. Of particular interest in this context (although it is outside the scope of this article) is the development of a "reagentless" fiber-optic bioluminescent sensor for detecting ATP and NADH at picomole levels (G1, G2).

Company	Country	Model	Sample Type/Detector	Applications
Amersham	United Kingdom	RPN 5104 (5106 in United States)	Microtiter plate/PMT	Immunoassay; DNA/protein blotting
Analytical Luminescence Laboratory	United States	Camlight 500 Camlight 501 Moonlight 2010	Multiwell/film Single well (gels)/film Single tube/PMT	ATP/immunoassay ATP/immunoassay ATP/immunoassay
Astromed	United Kingdom	CCD3200	Charge-coupled device	Low-level imaging
Berthold Analytical Instruments	Germany	Clini-Lumat LB950 LB952T LB9500 LB9501 LB9505	Single tube/PMT Multi-/PMT Multi-/PMT Single/PMT Single/PMT Six-tube/PMT	Immunoassay Immunoassay Immunoassay Immunoassay Immunoassay Immunoassay
BioChemMack	Russia	EMILITE	Single tube/photodiode	Immunoassay
Bio-orbit	Finland	1251	Multitube/PMT	Immunoassay
C-Gem Biomedical	United States	Optocamp I Optocamp II	Single tube/PMT Multitube/PMT	Immunoassay Immunoassay
Ciba-Corning Diagnostics	United States	MLA I MLA II ACS 180	Single tube/PMT Multitube/PMT Automated assay system	Immunoassay Immunoassay Immunoassay
Dynatech	United States	CL 1050 ML 1000 TL 1	Microtiter plate/film Microtiter plate/PMT Single tube/photodiode	Immunoassay Immunoassay Immunoassay
Hamilton	United States	Lumicon	Six-tube	Immunoassay
High-Tech Scientific	United Kingdom	RML-10	Cuvette/PMT	Rapid mixing kinetics
Hoeffer Scientific Instruments	United States	Photocassette	Microtiter plate/film	Immunoassay
LKB Wallac	Finland	1251	Multitube/PMT	Immunoassay
London Diagnostics	United States	Luma-Tag Analyzer Luma-Tag Auto/Analyzer	Single tube/PMT Multitube/PMT	Immunoassay Immunoassay
Los Alamos Diagnostics	United States	633 6500	Multitube/PMT Multitube/PMT	lmmunoassay Immunoassay
Shodex	Japan	CL-2	Flow-through/PMT	HPLC detection
Soma	Japan	S-3400	Flow-through/PMT	HPLC detection

 TABLE 2

 A Selection of Commercial Luminometers<sup>a</sup>

(continued)

Company	Country	Model	Sample Type/Detector	Applications
Тгоріх	United States	ICL 901 ICL 902 ILA 911 ILA 912	Microtiter plate/film Membrane blot/film Single tube/PMT Multitube/PMT	Immunoassay DNA/protein blotting Immunoassay Immunoassay
Turner Design	United States	20e	Cuvette; scintillation vials/PMT	Research; immunoassay

TABLE 2 (Continued)

<sup>a</sup>Adapted from the data of Bronstein and Kricka (B20), together with more recent material.

# 3. Applications of Specific Chemiluminescent Compounds

The following account presents a more detailed look at those chemiluminescent compounds and their derivatives that are currently regarded as useful in clinical assays. An attempt will be made to evaluate the literature and to highlight the strengths and limitations of each class of compound.

# 3.1. LUMINOL AND ISOLUMINOL

The oxidations of the aminophthallic hydrazides luminol and isoluminol (Fig. 13) are among the earliest chemiluminescent reactions to have been studied. Albrecht (A8) reported in 1928 that luminol, when oxidized with hydrogen peroxide or hypochlorite ions, emitted a blue light. Drew *et al.* (D13–D15) showed that derivatizing the heterocyclic ring abolished the luminescence of luminol and that any substitution of the 5-amino group lowered the quantum yield of the light



FIG. 13. Chemical structures of the chemiluminescent cyclic hydrazides luminol and isoluminol.

emission to a degree determined by the electron-withdrawing properties of the substituent. Thus, a 5-NO<sub>2</sub> group instead of a 5-NH<sub>2</sub> group lowered the light emission by a factor of  $10^4$  (W11). In aqueous systems, the quantum yield of luminol is reportedly 25 times (W11) or 10 times (B31) that of isoluminol (1.5 and 0.15%, respectively). However, unlike luminol, derivatization of the amino group in isoluminol by alkylation is beneficial, provided that steric hindrance of the alkylamino group does not distort electron delocalization from the nitrogen lone pair to the aromatic ring. Thus the quantum yield of *N*, *N*-diethyl isoluminol was shown in the mid-1960s to be similar to that of luminol (G17, G19). More recently, derivatives containing terminal amino groups for conjugating to haptens or antibodies have been prepared, and one of the most popular, aminobutylethyl isoluminol, or ABEI (S20, S21), is shown in Fig. 14.

# 3.1.1. Mechanism of Chemiluminescence

In aqueous solution, the light-emitting reaction of luminol has several stringent requirements, viz., a high pH, a strong oxidant, and a catalyst or initiator. Typical oxidizing catalysts are hypochlorite (S26), transition metal complex ions such as  $Fe(CN)_6^{3-}$ , and a variety of iron-containing compounds such as porphyrins, hemoglobin, peroxidases, and catalase (G10, S20). Oxygen-containing species include molecular oxygen, singlet oxygen, ozone, and hydrogen peroxide (A15, B16).

Thus a typical chemiluminescent reaction of luminol can be represented by Fig. 15. In this mechanism, which is not yet completely established (M21), the ferricyanide is acting as a one-electron oxidant. The final step in the reaction is the formation of an excited-state aminophthalate dianion, which decays to the ground state, emitting blue light at 425 nm. In DMSO, the emission is yellow-green at 500 nm, and, in aqueous DMSO, both emissions occur in a ratio that is dependent upon solvent composition (W12, W15). Although both emissions proceed via an excited-state aminophthalate dianion, it is thought that a rapid tautomerization and proton exchange to an excited-state quinoid form occurs in the aprotic polar



 $R_1 = Ethyl; R_2 = Aminobutyl$ 

FIG. 14. Chemical structure of the popular isoluminol label ABEI (*N*-aminobutyl-*N*-ethylisoluminol), synthesized by Schroeder and Yeager (S20).



-  $N_2$  + Light (425 nm)

FIG. 15. Postulated mechanism for the chemiluminescence of luminol, taken from McCapra and Beheshti (M21). In this sequence, ferricyanide acts as a one-electron oxidant. The products are nitrogen and an excited-state aminophthalate dianion that decays to the ground state with concomittant light emission.

solvent (W13, W15). This could not occur with isoluminol (Fig. 13) and, experimentally, isoluminol emission is not seen to be redshifted in DMSO. Some recent work of Metelitza *et al.* (M30) has shown that it is possible to observe luminol/peroxide chemiluminescence at moderate pH (8.5–9.5) in the absence of any conventional catalyst or enzyme. This alternative involves carrying out the reactions in an organic solvent (octane/chloroform, 1:1) in reverse micelles of a long-chain quaternary ammonium surfactant (CTAB). The catalytic effect of reverse micelles had also been shown earlier in chloroform/cyclohexane (H17).

#### 3.1.2. Use of Luminol for Calibration

In Section 2.6, there was a brief discussion of the issues involved in efficient detection of chemiluminescence. Because it has been so thoroughly studied, the luminol/peroxide system has been employed as a chemiluminescent standard (with accurately determined quantum yield), either for instruments (L4) or for other chemiluminescent reactions (H7, N1). A recent determination of its quantum yield by Lind and Merenyi (L11) gives a value of 1.2%, which is identical to a much earlier measurement (L4). Interestingly, the quantum yield (although not the emission wavelength) was found to be the same in aqueous media and in DMSO when a photodiode detector was employed (close source) (M10), but required a

correction factor when a photomultiplier was used (remote point source) (L5). A detailed description of how to use luminol as a calibrating tool has been recently described (O2).

### 3.1.3. Cyclic Hydrazides as Chemiluminescent Labels

As mentioned in Section 3.1, the derivatization of luminol results in a much reduced quantum yield. On the other hand, isoluminol compounds (derivatized at the 6-amino position) exhibit higher quantum yields than the parent compound. This fact dictates the way in which each compound is utilized as an analytical agent. Compounds such as ABEI (Fig. 14) can be covalently conjugated to a variety of substances, ranging in size and complexity from steroid hormones to immunoglobulins. These chemiluminescent labels can be subsequently utilized in immunoassays according to the general scheme outlined in Section 1.3.1.

As mentioned previously, luminol and isoluminol in aqueous media require a base, an oxidant such as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and a catalytic initiator such as ferricyanide or hemin in order to exhibit chemiluminescence. This is not the case in aprotic media such as DMSO, DMF, or hexamethylphosphoric acid triamide, where a strong base and solvated air are the only requirements (W13). However, since most clinical analyses are carried out in aqueous media and since luminol cannot be derivatized without a serious reduction in quantum yield, an alternative strategy has been devised to utilize the chemiluminescent potential of luminol in clinical assays. This strategy utilizes the enzyme horseradish peroxidase as the label and luminol/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> as the substrate. The peroxidase is a 40-kDa glycoprotein containing the Fe<sup>3+</sup>-coordinated heme protoporphyrin IX as a prosthetic group. At high pH, the enzyme can function simply as a heme catalyst for the chemiluminescence of either luminol itself or isoluminol derivatives. Highly basic solutions will render the enzyme inactive, but dissociate the catalytic heme group (E5). Under these conditions, the light emission from luminol or substituted isoluminol derivatives is high and is relatively short-lived (flash-type kinetics). However, when used in conjunction with biological fluids, endogenous heme in hemoglobin, or other transition metal catalysts, can interfere with the emission intensity (O3). At a more moderate pH, i.e., 8–9, the enzyme is active and catalyzes the oxidation of luminol to an excited-state aminophthalate dianion, which subsequently reverts to the ground state with the emission of a photon. The mechanism, although not clearly understood, is thought to involve a two-electron oxidation of the iron in the peroxidase to Fe<sup>IV</sup> (Compound I), which subsequently undergoes two one-electron reductions, to Compound II, and finally to the ground-state enzyme (D3, D17, P9). A plausible scheme has been described by Thorpe and Kricka (T7), based on earlier studies of Misra and Squatrito (M34), whereby Compound I (formed by the peroxide oxidation of peroxidase) produces a luminol radical and is reduced to Compound II. Compound II also produces a luminol radical and is reduced back to peroxidase. The reactive luminol radicals combine with oxygen in a two-step reaction to form luminol endoperoxide, which finally decomposes to give nitrogen plus the excited-state 3-aminophthalate dianion (T7). This peroxidase-mediated emission of light from luminol, at a slightly alkaline pH, is not subject to the same degree of interference from substances present in analytical samples, as is seen at very high pH. The fact that luminol derivatives are nonchemiluminescent has been exploited in a recent study in which luminol was converted into a substrate for *N*-acetyl  $\beta$ -D-glucosaminidase (S4). As expected, the substrate was nonchemiluminescent but could be enzymatically triggered to produce luminol emission. The technique has not been exploited in an immunoassay, but the potential is there for using antibody-labeled *N*-acetyl- $\beta$ -D-glucosaminidase in the same way that horseradish peroxidase or alkaline phosphatase labels are used.

# 3.1.4. Analytical Applications of Isoluminol

The first assay using isoluminol was described in 1976 by Schroeder et al., who used an isoluminol label to monitor serum biotin in a direct, competitive assay (S22). A number of aminoalkyl derivatives of isoluminol (such as ABEI in Fig. 14) have been subsequently synthesized (S20) and covalently attached to steroid hormones such as cortisol and progesterone. Substitution of both amino hydrogen atoms in isoluminol affords greater detection sensitivity; i.e., N-cortisol-aminobutylisoluminol is detected down to 1 fmole (10<sup>-15</sup> mole), whereas N-cortisolaminobutyl-N-ethylisoluminol (the cortisol conjugate of ABEI) can be detected down to 200 amole, i.e.,  $200 \times 10^{-18}$  mole (P7). The length of the spacer between the steroid and the isoluminol is also a factor in the latter's luminescence properties, but the relationship is not simple; i.e., it depends on the nature of the steroid. Thus, in Fig. 16, where the steroid is progesterone, the optimal light intensity occurs when n = 6 (K15). However, when the steroid is estrone, the detection limit for n = 4 is ca. 250 amole and for n = 2 it is ca. 150 amole (W10). A summary of label detectibilities as a function of spacer length and steroid structure is presented in Table 3, where the labels are derived from the generalized structure in Fig. 16.



FIG. 16. Steroid conjugates of N-ethylisoluminol, with variable length spacers.

Linker ength (n)	Steroid	Label detectability	Reference
2	None	100 amole	K17
2	None	100 amole	S28
2	Estrone	250 amole	<b>W</b> 10
3	Cortisol	5 fmole	P7
4	None	50 amole	P4
4	Progesterone	150 amole	<b>P</b> 6
4	Estrone	100 amole	<b>W</b> 10
6	None	500 amole	S28
6	Progesterone	140 fmole	K17

 TABLE 3

 Detectability of Isoluminol Depivatives Coval entry Coupled to Stepoid Hormones<sup>4</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Linker lengths are taken from Fig. 16. The data are adapted from Kricka (K25).

Most of the assays now carried out with isoluminol derivatives are solid-phase competitive assays (Fig. 2), in which the analyte to be determined competes with the labeled analyte for the available binding sites on antibodies that are immobilized on the solid phase. Thus, plastic microspheres have been used to immobilize antibodies for estriol (K12) or thyroxine (W9). Estradiol antibodies have been immobilized onto plastic tubes (K7) or beads (K16). In all of the above cases, the amount of immunoconjugated hormone label is inversely proportional to the amount of free hormone in the analytical sample. Unconjugated labels are removed by decantation or aspiration from the solid phase, and the specific, immunoconjugated labels are measured in a luminometer. This approach has been successfully applied to progesterone analyses in either serum (D6) or saliva (D5). A review of several separation-based assays with isoluminol analogs was presented a few years ago by Kohen *et al.* (K18).

More recent work with isoluminol has extended the scope of clinical assays to include dual epitope protein antigens using the "sandwich" approach, i.e., employing an immobilized antibody, the antigen to be assayed, and a second isoluminollabeled antibody (see Fig. 2), which is captured on the solid phase only at sites occupied by antigen bound to the primary antibody (apart from nonspecifically bound label). A recent report describes the above protocol for a prolactin assay in the range 3–500 ng/ml (M29). The same report describes a variant of the sandwich assay for prolactin, in which the second antibody is biotinylated and the label proper consists of ABEI-conjugated streptavidin. However, from the available data, this latter assay appeared to be less sensitive than the former by a factor of 2 (M29). Preliminary data have been presented to show that isoluminol solid phase assays might be applicable to the measurement of microbial food toxins (K6).

Homogeneous Isoluminol Assays The very first isoluminol assay (for biotin) was homogenous (S22), and, although intrinsically less sensitive than their heterogeneous counterparts, such assays continue to attract attention because of their simplicity and ease of use. Homogenous assays are applicable in those cases where the conjugation between labeled analyte (isoluminol derivative) and analyte antibodies directly modulates the label chemiluminescence. For example, it was found that the chemiluminescence of an ABEI-progesterone label was enhanced upon binding to progesterone antibodies and that this enhancement could be used to generate a homogeneous, nonseparation assay for progesterone (K17). Although the assay undoubtedly worked, it was about 10-fold less sensitive than the corresponding solid phase assay, i.e., 25 pg per tube compared with 2-5 pg per tube (D6). Moreover, the progesterone had to be extracted from the serum before the assay (K17), since serum components can interfere with isoluminol chemiluminescence. The homogeneous approach to isoluminol-based assays may, therefore, be appropriate for nonserum samples where sensitivity is not of primary concern, e.g., urinary estrogens (C2, M28). A useful review of the current state of isoluminol-based assays for steroid hormones in serum, urine, and saliva has been presented by De Boever et al. (D4). As a semantic digression, the word "direct" is frequently applied to isoluminol-based steroid assays and can be misleading. Direct assays are interchangeably defined as homogeneous, nonseparation assays or assays that do not require prior extraction of the steroid from serum samples. In practice, because serum can induce quenching of chemiluminescence, the latter assays are seldom homogeneous, or direct, in the sense of not requiring a separation between free and bound label.

A novel homogeneous assay for urinary estrone-3-glucuronide has been reported by Kim *et al.* (K8) using an *N*-aminoethyl-*N*-ethyl isoluminol derivative (see Table 3, n = 2). In contrast to antibody enhancement, this assay exploits the fact that 2*N* NaOH enhances free label chemiluminescence, and this is *reduced* in the presence of specific antibodies. Unlabeled estrone-3-glucuronide reverses the inhibition in a concentration-dependent manner and 8 pg per tube can be minimally detected (K8).

The assays described above are possible only because of a fortuitous effect of the reagents on free and bound labels. Two further homogeneous methods involve a more sophisticated approach. The first employs chemiluminescence energy transfer from a chemiluminescent donor to a fluorescent acceptor. For readers unfamiliar with the phenomenon of energy transfer, an excellent review by Stryer is recommended (S49). Briefly, in the conventional case of *fluorescence* energy transfer, when the emission wavelength of one fluorophore (the donor) is in the same spectral region as the excitation wavelength of a second fluorophore (the acceptor) and the two molecules are no more than ca. 100 Å apart, then it is possible to observe emission from the acceptor and a corresponding quenching from the donor molecule. If donor and acceptor are attached to an antigen and its antibody, respectively, then the immunoconjugation event can be observed by virtue of the energy transferred from donor to acceptor. Such a scheme is the basis for a homogeneous fluorescence assay requiring no separation of free from bound label, since only donor/acceptor immunoconjugates will exhibit energy transfer.

In the first reported example of *chemiluminescence* energy transfer, the isoluminol derivative ABEI (Fig. 14) was covalently attached via its isothiocyanate to either rabbit immunoglobulin or cyclic AMP. Antibodies to these molecules were labeled with fluorescein. Homogeneous competitive immunoassays were conducted for both analytes and, in order to maximize the combined effects of fluorescein emission and isoluminol quenching, the parameter measured, as a function of analyte concentration, was the intensity ratio  $I_{460}/I_{525}$ , at the wavelengths corresponding to isoluminol and fluorescein emission, respectively (C4, C5, P3). Sensitivities for the analytes were in the sub nanomolar range; i.e., they were as good if not better than those observed for other homogeneous immunoassays.

The second of these assays was a liposome-based assay for digoxin (N2). Liposomes were filled with glucose oxidase and they could be lysed with a conjugate of mellitin (a lytic component of bee venom) and ouabain (a digoxin analog). The released enzyme produced hydrogen peroxide, which was detected by isoluminol. Antibodies to digoxin bound the mellitin–ouabain conjugate and inhibited its lytic effect. Free digoxin in the assay medium competed with the liposomes for antibody binding and reversed the inhibition of lysis in a dose-dependent manner (N2).

*Future Outlook* Mechanistic studies continue to attract attention, and the effect of a reverse micellar environment (quaternary alkylammonium) on luminol and an isoluminol-cortisol conjugate in nonaqueous media is being examined in ongoing work by Metelitza *et al.* (M30). It should be evident from the foregoing that isoluminol derivatives have provided many useful chemiluminescence assays for steroid hormones. In addition, they are now being increasingly examined as tools for protein assays. Much of the innovation derives from designing the appropriate isoluminol conjugates, and this, in turn, stems from some pioneering work in the synthesis and characterization of tracer molecules (P8, S20, S21). With the advent of HPLC methods for purification and quality control of isoluminol labels (J4), there is no doubt that isoluminol chemiluminescence will continue to play an important role in the development of novel clinical assays. As a note of caution, though, when labeling macromolecular analytes (irrespective of the label), better detectability through multiple labels may be accompanied by impaired antigenic reactivity (C1, M29).

# 3.1.5. Analytical Applications of Luminol

In Section 3.1.3, reference was made to the fact that luminol/peroxide chemiluminescence can be initiated by horseradish peroxidase at high pH, at which the enzyme is inactive and the catalytic heme moiety is dissociated from it. Alternatively, at pH 8.5 the enzyme acts catalytically to produce luminol radicals and luminol endoperoxides as possible intermediates (M34, T7). In this manner, the enzyme itself can be used as a "label," i.e., in limiting concentrations, and luminol and peroxide can be employed as substrates. Background emission is much lower than that at high pH, but specific emission catalyzed by the peroxididase label is also very low.

Despite these qualifications, horseradish peroxidase labels have been used with  $H_2O_2/luminol$  at pH 7.0 for cortisol (A12, T21), dehydroepiandrosterone (A13), and estriol (R9) assays. At a slightly higher pH (9.0), a protein antigen from *Candida albicans* was detected (S43), and at pH 10.5 both albumin and IgG were detected in the nanogram range (P14, P15). Although it does not really belong in this section, one might mention that peroxidase-labeled antibodies have also been used in conjunction with the chemiluminescent luciferin from *Pholas dactylus* and molecular oxygen (instead of luminol and peroxide). Label detectability is reportedly 100 amoles and a sensitive sandwich assay for human chorionogonadotrophin (HCG) has been described (L14).

As a hybrid between the *isoluminol-based* assays described in Section 3.1.4 and the horseradish peroxidase-catalyzed, *luminol-based* assays described here, Gundermann *et al.* have described a high quantum-yield naphthalene cyclic hydrazide (7-dimethylaminonaphthalene-1,2-dicarboxylic acid hydrazide) and its use in assays catalyzed by horseradish peroxidase (G20).

In Section 1.3, reference was made to flow injection techniques for detecting transition metal ions as catalysts in the peroxide oxidation of luminol. Other flow injection techniques are being developed in which analytical quantities of hydrogen peroxide are determined in an excess of luminol plus catalyst (ferricyanide or peroxidase). Thus, Tabata's group has pioneered flow injection technology with in-line immobilized enzymes for chemiluminescent clinical chemistry assays. For example, luminol and ferricyanide, in conjunction with immobilized glucose oxidase or uricase, can be used to generate chemiluminescence from the  $H_2O_2$  produced from glucose or uric acid, so that the latter compounds can be quantitatively determined (T2, W26). More recent efforts have resulted in methods for determining ammonia, NAD(P)H, and Mg, using glutamate dehydrogenase, glutamate oxidase, and hexokinase, respectively, immobilized on glass beads (M36, T1, T3, T4). The metabolic reactions for these schemes are summarized below, viz.,

NH<sub>3</sub> + 
$$\alpha$$
-oxoglutarate + NAD(P)H  
 $\downarrow$  glutamate dehydrogenase  
L-glutamate + H<sup>+</sup> + NAD(P)<sup>+</sup>  
glutamate + O<sub>2</sub>  $\xrightarrow{}$   $\alpha$ -oxoglutarate + NH<sub>3</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

L-

D-glucose + Mg-ATP  $\longrightarrow$  D-glucose-6-phosphate + Mg-ADP D-glucose-6-phosphate + NAD(P)<sup>+</sup>  $\downarrow$  glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase 6-phospho-D-gluconate + NAD(P)H + H<sup>+</sup>.

A similar scheme on a dedicated instrument allows one to carry out four assays from a 10-µl serum sample, i.e., glucose, lactate, uric acid, and BUN (O1, T4). Free fatty acids from isolated fat cells have also been determined by chemilum-inescence assays based on enzymatic peroxide generation (N3, N4).

# 3.1.6. Enhanced Chemiluminescence of Luminol

As we have seen, a peroxidase label with excess luminol/peroxide offers the possibility of chemiluminescence at moderate pH (8–9), with reduced background and with an emission intensity that allows one to measure a number of analytes in assays that are not too demanding in terms of sensitivity. The breakthrough for this chemiluminescent system came with the discovery that firefly luciferin (a 6-hydroxybenzothiazole derivative) increased the light emission from a horse-radish peroxidase-catalyzed luminol reaction by two to three orders of magnitude *and* reduced the background signal to ca. 1% (W18). This observation was followed by an intense screening of a large number of compounds, several of which proved to be effective enhancers (T7, T11, T12). Figure 17 shows the structures of some of the compounds that have been found to be most potent as enhancing agents.

The enhancers fall into three groups, viz., benzothiazole derivatives, substituted phenols, and substituted naphthols. Unfortunately, none of the comparative studies cited above have used consistent protocols for assessing the efficacy of putative enhancers. Thus, it is difficult to compare, say, a specific phenol with a specific benzothiazole. However, within each structural group, ranking orders have been established, as shown in Table 4 for the benzothiazoles. Even for a homologous group of compounds, the published data (e.g., columns 1 and 2 in Table 4) are somewhat misleading in that 6-hydroxybenzothiazole would seem to be the most efficient enhancer. However, if one normalizes the data in terms of molecular weights (Table 4, column 3), then dehydroluciferin is clearly the best enhancer, and luciferin itself is about 60% as efficient as 6-hydroxybenzothiazole. From these and other data, it has been established that the 6-hydroxy group is essential for enhancement (cf. 6-ethoxybenzothiazole and benzothiazole in Table 4).

In the substituted phenol/napthol group, p-phenylphenol is an extremely potent enhancer, with a reported amplification factor of 530 under experimental conditions in which 6-hydroxybenzothiazole (at double the phenol concentration) had an amplification factor of only 27 (T7) *Para*-substituted halogenophenols are also



FIG. 17. Representative compounds that have been shown to enhance peroxidase-catalyzed luminescence from a mixture of luminol and peroxide.

efficient enhancers, with potencies related to the size of the halogen atom, i.e., iodo > bromo > chloro. Both *p*-hydroxycinnamic acid and 1,6-dibromonaphth-2-ol would seem to have potencies intermediate between those of *p*-phenylphenol and *p*-iodophenol. Although these data have been variously reported (K31, K32, K33, T7, T8, T11, T12, T13), there has been no attempt to standardize the experimental protocols in terms of reagent concentrations and molar concentrations of enhancers. Even the optimal concentration of enhancer is dependent upon the other reagent concentrations. Figure 18 illustrates the effect of 6-hydroxybenzothiazole, under conditions that are described in the figure legend.

Given the above caveats, the most potent enhancer so far tested is p-phenyl-

Benzothiazole derivative	Amplifica	ation factor	
	Measured	Normalized <sup>b</sup>	
Firefly luciferin	224	415	
6-Ethoxy luciferin	0.4	0.7	
Dehydroluciferin	635	1170	
Benzothiazole	0.7	0.6	
6-Hydroxybenzothiazole	667	667	

 TABLE 4

 ENHANCEMENT OF PEROXIDASE-CATALYZED LUMINOL CHEMILUMINESCENCE EFFECTED BY

 BENZOTHIAZOLE DERIVATIVES<sup>a</sup>

*Note.* A peroxidase–antibody conjugate ( $10^5$ -fold dilution from stock) was treated with enhancer (10 µl of 500 µg/ml in DMSO) plus luminol (56 µm) and hydrogen peroxide (1.87 m*M*) in 1 ml Tris buffer at pH 8.0. Luminescence intensity was integrated over 60 sec and expressed relative to a DMSO control.

<sup>a</sup>See Fig. 17. Adapted from Thorpe et al. (T11) with permission.

 ${}^{b}A$  molar amplification factor obtained by normalizing the data in column 2 (T11) to the molecular weight of 6-hydroxybenzothiazole.

phenol. As far as one can determine from the available literature, the next group of enhancers, in order of decreasing efficacy, is as follows: 1,6-dibromonaphth-2-ol, p-hydroxycinnamic acid, p-iodophenol, dehydroluciferin, 6-hydroxybenzo-thiazole, and, lastly, firefly luciferin, which was the compound first shown to exhibit the enhancing effect (W18).

### 3.1.7. Mechanism of Enhanced Chemiluminescence

Since the emission spectra of enhanced and unenhanced luminol oxidations are similar, it seems clear that emission is from the excited-state aminophthalate derived from luminol itself and not from the enhancer. The enhancement is also specific for peroxidase; i.e., it does not occur under conditions in which the heme would dissociate from the enzyme. Furthermore, luminol chemiluminescence triggered by heme-containing compounds, such as hemoglobin or cytochrome c, is actually reduced by enhancers such as *p*-iodophenol (T7). This latter phenomenon explains the potential usefulness of enhanced chemiluminescence, i.e., an amplified signal combined with a reduced background and reduced interference from the reagents as well as from endogenous heme compounds.

Although the precise mechanism for the enhancement remains unknown, Thorpe and Kricka (T8) have proposed that enhancers render the sequence of events for unenhanced luminol oxidation (see Section 3.1.3) more efficient. This would be consistent with kinetic studies on the reactivity of phenol enhancers with the horseradish peroxidase intermediates Compounds I and II (H11, V10). Specifically, the hypothesis is that (a) horseradish peroxidase Compounds I and II



FIG. 18. Influence of 6-hydroxybenzothiazole on light emission from the peroxidase conjugatecatalyzed oxidation of luminol. Anti-AFP-HRP conjugate (10  $\mu$ l) and the enhancer (20  $\mu$ l of a DMSO solution) were placed in separate corners of a cuvette. Luminescence was triggered by adding 1 ml of luminol (60  $\mu$ M) and hydrogen peroxide (2 mM) in Tris buffer at pH 8.5. Data points represent peak light emissions from intensity-time curves. Taken from Thorpe *et al.* (T11) with permission.

react faster with enhancers than with luminol and (b) the enhancer radicals, so formed, react very rapidly with luminol to produce luminol radicals as essential intermediates in the formation of excited-state aminophthalate dianions. Enhancers such as *p*-iodophenol are therefore acting as electron transfer mediators in a scheme outlined by Candy and Jones (C7), viz.,

HRP + 
$$H_2O_2 \longrightarrow$$
 HRP-Compound I  
HRP-Compound I + p-I-PhOH  $\longrightarrow$  HRP-Compound II + p-I-PhO'  
HRP-Compound II + p-I-PhOH  $\longrightarrow$  HRP + p-I-PhO'  
p-I-PhO' + LH  $\longrightarrow$  p-I-PhOH + L'.

One implication of this scheme is that nonenhancer phenols would be unable to produce luminol radicals even though they could still form phenoxy radicals. Although the reasons for this inability are unclear, one might envisage that in the presence of a nonenhancer, the effect of an enhancer would be attenuated; i.e., they would both be competing for horseradish peroxidase Compounds I and II. This is indeed the case and, for example, *p*-cresol significantly reduces the enhancing effect of *p*-iodophenol on peroxidase-catalyzed luminol oxidation (C7).

The effect of nonenhancers has been exploited in an assay for tyrosine in which the attenuation of luminol oxidation enhanced by p-iodophenol was proportional to the concentration of added tyrosine (C8). As a validation of the method, the number of tyrosines in lysozyme was found to be 3, which is in accord with its known amino acid sequence.

# 3.1.8. Analytical Applications of Enhanced Luminol Chemiluminescence

Peroxidase-catalyzed luminol oxidation, enhanced by phenols, naphthols, or luciferin analogs, has some attractive features for clinical assays. The emission is prolonged ("glow" type) and constant, allowing for ease of measurement; i.e., reactions can be carried out in batches away from the luminometer and read later as end-point determinations when the emission intensity is constant. The emission is also intense, so that detection is facilitated and can even be accomplished by silicon diode detectors or photographic film.

Many solid-phase assays have been described using the so-called enhanced technology (T15). Solid phases have ranged from 6-mm-diameter beads (M32, T10, T11, W18), coated tubes (T10–T12), microtiter plates (O6, S3, T14, T16, W2), magnetizable latex particles (H12), micropins (T8, T15), and nitrocellulose discs (H16).

Since the reports on enhanced chemiluminescence in the mid-1980s (e.g., T10, T12–T14, T16, T17), numerous assays have been described in the literature. Table 5 represents a summary of the types of analyte that have more recently proved amenable to detection by enhanced luminol oxidation via horseradish peroxidase labels. This table is meant to be illustrative rather than comprehensive.

Other applications of this type of detection include Western blotting procedures for the identification and visualization of protein antigens (L1, L8, L9). One such recent assay for herpes simplex virus Type 2 showed that enhanced chemiluminescence is 500 times more sensitive than a colorimetric method (D1). Antibodies to several of the HIV viral proteins have also been detected in chemiluminescent Western blots (S16).

Areas in which technological innovations have been accomplished include detection instruments [ranging from small portable luminometers (M3) to cameratype detectors (B32, K30) and charge-coupled devices (L3)], data analysis (E3, S12), and assay formatting, e.g., immunofiltration (H16). The so-called camera luminometers (B32) offer the joint advantages of ease of use, portability, and detectability without an electrical power supply. With fast film such as Polaroid 612 (20,000 ASA), exposure times can be as short as 5 sec. Examples of assays using enhanced chemiluminescence and Polaroid 612 film include  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein (L9), albumin (L8), immunoglobulins and transferrin (J3), and ferritin (O7).

Analyte	Reference
Steroid hormones	
Estradiol	M32.S3.S47
Cortisol	M5
Progesterone	M32
Aldosterone	H18
Thyroid hormones	
Total T4	G5
Free T4	A14,B11,B12,M7
T3 uptake	G5
Free T3	C23
Protein hormones	
Follicle stimulating hormone	M9
Luteinizing hormone	B15
Human chorionic gonadotropin	B12,M6
Thyroid stimulating hormone	D11,J5,P2,S13
Proteins	
Albumin	К23
CA-15-3	M31
Carcinoembryonic antigen	C20.H2.H10
Ferritin	A14
α-Fetoprotein	T19
$\beta_{2}$ -Microglobulin	K26
Sex hormone binding globulin	K24
Creatine kinase MB	<b>B</b> 10
Thyroid binding globulin	W22
Antibodies	
Total IgG	B15,H16
Total IgE	S44
Hepatitis B surface antigen	13
HIV	S16
Rubella	H12,W16
Malaria	H3
Respiratory syncytial virus	H15
Therapeutic drugs	
Digoxin	C22
Isometamidium	S33
Miscellaneous	
Cyclic AMP	O6
Triazine pesticides	C12,H5
Environmental monitoring	A7

 
 TABLE 5

 A Selection of Immunoassays Reported Since 1986 in Which Enhanced Luminol Chemiluminescence Was Employed<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>The data represent a compilation adapted from a survey by Kricka (K26), plus material from more recent sources.

# 3.1.9. Enhanced Chemiluminescence and Nucleic Acid Detection

Nucleic acid blotting techniques are analogous to Western blotting procedures with proteins. If no DNA separation is involved and one simply wishes to identify a target sequence, then a labeled probe is allowed to hybridize to the target, which is itself immobilized on a nylon or nitrocellulose membrane support, i.e., the so-called dot-blot assays (K1). If one wishes to probe for specific sequences in a mixture of DNA fragments, then the capture of label (for signal generation) is carried out after an electrophoretic separation followed by electroelution of the bands onto a membrane support, where the whole procedure is known as Southern blotting (S35).

DNA Southern blots using enhanced chemiluminescence date from 1985 (M11). In that first report, a plasmid target (pBR322) was biotinylated by nick translation (R7), hybridized to a nitrocellulose membrane, incubated with a strep-tavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate, and detected by enhanced luminol chemiluminescence. Hybridization probes can also be directly conjugated to the peroxidase enzyme, although the probe synthesis and purification are more complex. After hybridization to the target nucleic acid, detection is again accomplished by enhanced chemiluminescence (U2, U3). The light output can be recorded on blue-sensitive X-ray film or fast Polaroid film (P11).

### **3.2.** ACRIDINIUM ESTERS

While luminol and isoluminol require an oxidant plus a catalyst for initiation of the chemiluminescent reaction, esters derived from *N*-methyl acridinium carboxylic acid require only alkaline hydrogen peroxide (W4). Acridinium esters were first introduced by McCapra's group (M23, M25, S32), based on earlier work on the bioluminescence of the lucigenin/luciferase system (G18), and reviewed in McCapra and Beheshti (M21). From Fig. 19, one can see the structural similarity between lucigenin and a typical acridinium ester.

The main starting material for this group of chemiluminescent molecules is acridine-9-carboxylic acid, which can be prepared by the original method of Stollé (S46). The overall synthetic scheme is shown in Fig. 20, taken from Zomer *et al.* (Z6), which also provides comprehensive experimental details. An alternative route, starting from commercially available acridine, is described by Weeks *et al.* (W6) and outlined in Fig. 21. From the acridine carboxylic acid, acridinium esters are subsequently formed by esterifying the carboxyl group via the acid chloride and quaternizing the tertiary amino group with methyl iodide or methyl fluorsulfonic acid as in Fig. 22.

# 3.2.1. Mechanisms of Chemiluminescence

We have already seen in Section 1.4.1 that cyclic peroxides (dioxetans) can be thermally decomposed to give excited state ketones that revert to the ground state



Lucigenin Acridinium Ester FIG. 19. Structural similarity between lucigenin and an acridinium ester.



FIG. 20. Synthesis of substituted acridine-9-carboxylic acids according to the method of Stollé (S46), where R = H or MeO [adapted from Zomer *et al.* (Z6)].



FIG. 21. Synthesis of acridine-9-carboxylic acid in a two-stage reaction starting with acridine. This method was adopted by Weeks *et al.* (W6), based on the original scheme by Lehmstedt and Wirth (L7).

with light emission (Fig. 3). Acridinium ester chemiluminescence is initiated by alkaline hydrogen peroxide, and McCapra and Beheshti (M21) have suggested that a metastable dioxetaneone is formed by attack of the peroxide anion HOO<sup>-</sup> at the ester-containing carbon atom, where the driving force is the electron-deficient quaternary nitrogen atom and the possibility of charge delocalization through the conjugated  $\pi$  system. The scheme is outlined in Fig. 23, which shows that the initial peroxy-intermediate undergoes an internal cyclization to the postulated dioxetaneone, which spontaneously decarboxylates to give an excited-state N-substituted acridone. Fluorescence emission spectra of isolated acridones provide good evidence that they are indeed the light-emitting species in the chemiluminescence of acridinium esters (M16, M17, M22). An alternative scheme has the initial peroxide attack at the ester carbonyl (W14, Z6), although there is no



FIG. 22. Conversion via the acid chloride of a substituted acridine-9-carboxylic acid into an ester of 10-methylacridinium fluorosulfonate.



FIG. 23. Mechanism for the peroxide-induced chemiluminescence of acridinium esters. The dioxetaneone is a postulated metastable intermediate.

compelling evidence for such a mechanism. As previously mentioned, the conditions for initiating chemiluminescence from acridinium esters are a high pH (e.g., 200 mM NaOH) and hydrogen peroxide (ca. 0.5%). However, a complicating factor is that at pH>7.0, the acridinium ester exists as a carbinol or "pseudobase" (Fig. 24). Whereas, the final product of hydrogen peroxide and the carbinol (in alkaline solution) is still an N-methyl acridone, there is no possibility of forming the dioxetaneone intermediate and the subsequent electronically excited state. Such a reaction does not afford chemiluminescence, i.e.; it is a "dark" reaction (Z1). Thus, for efficient chemiluminescence, it is important that the



FIG. 24. Acid-base equilibrium of an acridinium ester, showing formation of inactive "pseudo-base" (carbinol) at pH > 7.0.

acridinium ester is initially at an acidic pH, i.e., to push the equilibrium away from the pseudo-base formation.

The kinetics of light emission are those of a transient flash (see Section 2.5), where the time course is a function of the reagents and the molecular structure of the ester. The reagent composition needs to be optimized for each individual acridinium ester, and, in a recent study (Z5) on a series of novel acridinium esters, optimal reagent concentrations were found to be 100 mM NaOH and 0.015% hydrogen peroxide (Z6).

Both quantum yield and emission kinetics are influenced by the nature of the leaving group, -OR, in Fig. 19. A strong correlation between the  $pK_a$  of the conjugate acid of the leaving group and quantum yield has been observed (M18, M26, S45). Thus, phenyl acridinium esters (with relatively strong conjugate acids, e.g.,  $\phi$ -OH) are superior to methyl acridinium esters, presumable because of electron delocalization through the aromatic  $\pi$  system in the phenoxy anion. By the same token, compound (a) in Fig. 25 reaches maximum emission in 600 msec, at which point it decays with a  $t_{12}$  of 300 msec, whereas compound (b) reaches its maximum chemiluminescence intensity at 1.0 sec and decays with a  $t_{12}$  of 2.0 sec (K10, Z5). Although no supporting data were presented, it seems reasonable to propose that the *N*-tosyl-*N*-phenoxy conjugate acid from hydrolysis of (a) has a lower  $pK_a$  than the corresponding cyclic sulfonamide formed from (b). The more efficient of the acridinium esters are reported to have quantum yields in the range of 0.01–0.10 (1–10%) (C3, M22). Apart from the structure of the acridinium ester itself, the emission is also influenced by the microenvironment (cf. luminol,



FIG. 25. Two sulforyl derivatives of an acridinium amide, which illustrate the importance of leaving group on chemiluminescent properties (K10,Z5).

Section 3.1.4) (H18, P1). In a recent study of surfactants (B1), hexadecyl trimethyl ammonium chloride (CTAC) produced a significant increase in the emission intensity of acridinium ester-labeled albumin, but Triton X-100 exerted a larger enhancing effect than CTAC on a similarly labeled antibody.

# 3.2.2. Acridinium Esters as Labels

In order to utilize an acridinium ester as a label, it must be covalently coupled to the antigen or hapten that is being analyzed, or to an antibody of that analyte, in such a way that the electron-withdrawing nature of the ester leaving group is unaffected. The first report of such a label was from Simpson *et al.* (S31, S32), who coupled a carboxyphenyl acridinium ester to antibody lysine groups using mixed anhydride or carbodiimide chemistry. The labeling efficiency was, however, rather poor, and it was not until the advent of the *N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl ester in Fig. 26 (W4) that reproducible labeling of antibodies (via their lysine  $\varepsilon$ -amino groups) was feasible (W5). Similar labels, with methyl groups flanking the ester function on the aromatic ring, were found to offer superior stability against hydrolysis (Fig. 27). Thus, an immunoglobulin conjugate of Fig. 27a showed no loss of chemiluminescence activity after a week at 37°C, whereas the ester in Fig. 26 lost 90% of its activity over the same time period (L2).



FIG. 26. An activated acridinium ester for covalent labeling, viz., 4-(2-succinimidyloxycarbonylmethyl)phenyl-10-methylacridinium-9-carboxylate fluorosulfonate. After Weeks *et al.* (W4,W5).



FtG. 27. Two acridinium esters with increased stability for covalent labeling of (a) lysine groups, viz., 2',6'-dimethyl-4'-(N-succinimidyloxycarbonyl)phenyl-10-methylacridinium-9-carboxylate meth-osulfate; (b) carboxyl groups, viz., 2',6'-dimethyl-4'-[N-(2-aminoethyl)carbamoyl]phenyl-10-methyl-acridinium-9-carboxylate bromide. Taken from Law *et al.* (L2).

Other workers have also tried to modify the stability and flash kinetics of the basic acridinium ester. Since the conjugate base of the leaving group should have lower basicity than HOO<sup>-</sup>, Kinkel *et al.* considered thiophenols and sulfonamides  $(pK_a \ 6-8 \ and \ 5.5-10.5, respectively; cf. H_2O_2, pK_a \ 12)$  and synthesized the labels shown in Fig. 28 (K10). Both of the above compounds were reported to give fivefold higher chemiluminescent quantum yields than the ester devised by Weeks *et al.* (W4). In terms of kinetics, the emission from antibodies labeled with the sulfonamide derivative (Figure 28b) was much larger than that of the thiocarbo-xylic acid derivative shown in Fig. 28a (K10). Consistent with the emission kinetics, solutions of the sulfonamide-labeled antibody showed much greater longer-term stability toward hydrolysis than the thiocarboxylate.

#### 3.2.3. Clinical Applications

The first immunoassay utilizing acridinium esters was described in 1981 (S31, S32). The *p*-carboxyphenyl ester of 9-carboxy-*N*-methyl-acridinium bromide (Fig. 24;  $R = \text{HOOC}-\phi \setminus X = \text{Br}$ ) was coupled by carbodiimide chemistry to the lysine residues of sheep  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein (AFP) antibody. Unlabeled antibodies were immobilized onto plastic tubes, and the AFP antigen was assayed in a direct two-site



FIG. 28. Novel thiocarboxylate (a) and sulfonamide (b) acridinium esters synthesized by Kinkel et al. (K10).

sandwich assay, whereby the labeled antibody was captured by antigen that had been bound by immunoconjugation to the immobilized antibody. Chemiluminescence was initiated by the addition of alkaline peroxide, and the signal was proportional to the amount of antigen present in the sample (S32). Poor coupling efficiency of this carboxy derivative led to the development of the N-hydroxysuccinimidyl derivative in Fig. 26 as the first acridinium ester derivative designed for protein coupling. This compound reacted more reproducibly with antibodies, and successful two-site direct assays were carried out for AFP and TSH, using cellulose as the solid phase to which the primary antibody was covalently attached (W3). Separation of free label from immunoconjugated label was achieved by centrifugation. The label detectibility was reported to be 1 amole (10<sup>-18</sup> mole) of AE-labeled immunoglobulin. In the AFP assay, the antigen was simultaneously incubated for 1 hr with the solid-phase antibody and the labeled, secondary, antibody. In the case of TSH, the antigen was incubated for 2 hr with the labeled antibody and the complex was further incubated for 1 hr with the immobilized antibody (W3, W7). Such an assay protocol is sometimes referred to as a "reverse sandwich." The minimal detectable dose in the above assay was 4  $\mu$ IU/liter which is equivalent to a molar concentration of 1.6×10<sup>-14</sup> M. In a more recent formatting of these assays, magnetic particles were employed as the solid phase and a commercial magnetic separator was used for separating free from
immunoconjugated label (W6). Labeling stoichiometry was reported to be three AEs per antibody.

The utility of acridinium esters as labels for antibodies is dependent upon the ease with which they can be covalently attached and the degree of labeling that is achievable, i.e., the number of labels per macromolecule. Some attempt to control and to optimize the labeling procedure has been made using an activated *N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl derivative (Z7). However, there are really no hard and fast rules, and the problem remains largely an empirical one. Overlabeling can lead to antibody precipitation, depending on the hydrophobic nature of the label used. The desired goal is to achieve maximal labeling (specific activity) without protein precipitation *and* without the resulting conjugate having increased nonspecific binding to the solid phase. The optimal label stoichiometry, then, will vary from one chemiluminescent molecule to another and will result from a process of trial and error.

Hart and Taaffe produced a "universal" label by attaching acridinium ester molecules to streptavidin, with a labeling efficiency of up to eight labels per protein (H6). A sandwich assay for mouse IgG was described, in which the second antibody was a biotinylated goat anti-mouse IgG, and this, in turn, captured the acridinium ester conjugate by means of streptavidin-biotin coupling. The thermal stability of the label was, however, rather poor (H6).

Further improvements in label stability (resistance to hydrolysis) were made by Law *et al.* (L2), who introduced the dimethyl phenyl ester derivative already referred to in Figs. 27a and 27b. Magnetic separation, as described above, was employed with these labels, and assays for free thyroxine (free T4) and TSH, were described (B13, L2). Chemiluminescence was initiated by two reagents, viz., nitric acid/peroxide, followed by excess sodium hydroxide. The nitric acid played a dual role of displacing the equilibrium away from the inactive carbinol form (Fig. 24) and of stabilizing the hydrogen peroxide. In the free T4 assay, a competitive format was adopted (Fig. 2) in which a carrier protein covalently labeled with T4 *and* acridinium ester competed with T4 in a serum sample for binding sites on T4 antibodies immobilized on magnetic particles (L2). The use of acridinium esters for determining human parathyrin and its N-terminal fragments has recently been described (K11), as have assays for tumor necrosis factor (N7) and hepatitis B surface antigen (W8).

In an interesting variation of the technology, Law *et al.*, (L2) described a liposome-based TSH assay in which the liposomal membrane surface contained covalently attached antibodies, and a modified membrane-impermeable acridinium ester derivative was encapsulated inside the vesicles. A normal sandwich assay was conducted using magnetic particles as the solid phase and antibodysensitized liposomes as the label. The total assay time was 5 min, compared with the normal 2.5 hr, and showed superior sensitivity.

A completely new way of triggering acridinium ester chemiluminescence has

been devised by Littig and Nieman (L13). The authors were motivated by a desire to minimize the number of reagents and to utilize the label in a flow-through cell. The hydrogen peroxide required for the chemiluminescent reaction was generated electrochemically by voltammetric reduction of oxygen. In this manner, a lysine–AE conjugate was detected at  $10^{-14}$  mole (L13).

# 3.2.4. Novel Acridinium Esters

The factors that affect the usefulness of acridinium esters as analytical labels for diagnostic assays include solubility, emission wavelength, quantum yield, and the rate of emission. Reference has already been made to a membrane-impermeant, disulfonate, acridinium ester (L2) for liposome-based applications. Other workers have focused on the quantum yield and flash kinetics. In an attempt to increase the former and to reduce the latter, the conventional methyl group on the quaternary nitrogen atom of the acridinium ring system was replaced by other alkyl or substituted alkyl groups (Fig. 29a) (B2). Unfortunately, none of these derivatives showed any enhancement in quantum yield or faster emission kinetics than the parent N-methyl analogue. In a potentially more significant study, the acridine nitrogen atom was quaternized in such a way that it, rather than the ester function, could serve as the point of attachment for immobilization or protein labeling (Z5, Z6). This was achieved by synthesizing the N-carboxymethyl derivative shown in Fig. 29b. As the authors point out, the significance of attaching the acridinium ester to a solid phase or protein via its quaternary nitrogen atom is that the molecule will remain covalently attached during light emission (refer to Section 3.2.1 for the mechanism) and may, therefore, be utilized in a chemiluminescence energy transfer assay (C4). Such a possibility has, however, not yet been realized.

Whereas a water-soluble acridinium ester was described by Law et al. (L2), the



FIG. 29. Novel N-alkyl derivatives of phenyl acridinium esters. (a) Taken from Batmangelich et al. (B2); (b) taken from Zomer et al. (Z6).

compound had no functional group for hapten or antibody labeling. In an attempt to overcome this problem, Mayer *et al.* (M14) extended previous work on *N*hydroxysuccinimide sulfonamide derivatives (K10) and prepared a morpholinium analog, a hapten conjugate of which, the authors claim, has improved solubility and immunoreactivity (M14). The article fails to provide any luminescence data for this novel derivative, and its utility must, therefore, remain questionable. In a comparative study of novel halogenophenyl acridinium esters (extending some early work by McCapra (M18) and a new sulfonamide derivative, the latter was reported to have the highest integrated emission intensity (G15). However, since luminometer integration times are normally longer than the flash duration, this result may merely reflect the slower (as reported) emission decay kinetics of the sulfonamide.

# 3.2.5. Instrumentation Developments for Acridinium Esters

Two automated complete assay systems, utilizing acridinium esters and particle solid phases, have been recently described. A high-throughput bench-top system is able to process 180 samples per hour and the time to the first assay result is 15 min. Actual assay times are 7 min per sample (K34). The dimethyl acridinium ester label in this system has already been described (L2). The second system employs an acridinium sulfonamide (M12) and coated  $\frac{1}{4}$ -in. polystyrene beads or latex microparticles as solid phases. Assays for  $\beta$ -HCG, CEA, and TSH have been reported (K5).

The application of acridinium esters to microtiter plate assays has been recently developed, and assays for TSH and AFP were presented (W24). Since the emission from these labels is transient, i.e., completed in about 1 sec, this represents a novel development in microtiter plate detection. In a comparison between luminol and acridinium ester, a 96-well plate was processed in 15 min for the former label and in 4 min for the latter (V1).

## 3.2.6. Nucleic Acid Detection

The ability to synthesize short oligonucleotide DNA probes with an acridinium ester attached at any defined position within the sequence (A16, N5) has allowed for the use of such probes in hybridization-based assays for RNA and DNA target sequences. Two techniques have recently emerged, together with a combination of the two (for enhanced sensitivity).

The first, and simplest of these, exploits the fact that cationically charged microspheres (which can be magnetic particles) selectively bind *hybridized* AE probes. Thus, after a solution-phase hybridization between a DNA AE probe and a target ribosomal RNA, containing a sequence complementary to the probe, the hybridized probe can be removed in a 10-min separation step and quantitated in a luminometer (G11, T6). Assays have been described for a number of bacterial

infections, including Campylobacter jejuni, Staphylococcus aureus, and Streptococcus pneumoniae (N5).

The second technique uses a homogeneous assay format with no physical separation between hybridized and nonhybridized probes. The method is the result of a discovery that for a suitably positioned acridinium ester, within an oligonucleotide sequence, hybridization prevents hydrolytic attack on the ester by hydroxide ions. Such hydrolysis would lead to the inactivation of the chemiluminescent label (see Section 3.2.1). This differential susceptibility to hydrolysis forms the basis for a so-called hybridization-protection assay (HPA), which is schematically illustrated in Fig. 30.



FIG. 30. Schematic illustration of the hybridization protection assay (HPA). The acridinium ester is covalently attached to a DNA probe. Upon hydrolysis of the phenyl ester group, there is no possibility of forming a dioxetaneone intermediate and hence the reaction is "dark"; i.e., there is no light emission. By contrast, chemiluminescence of the hybridized probe (shown in the lower part of the figure) is minimally affected. Adapted from Nelson *et al.* (N6), with permission.

The mechanism for the protection remains unknown, although there is some speculation that the acridinium ester intercalates between the strands of the hybridized duplex, within which it remains impervious to hydrolysis (A16). The assay protocol involves a hybridization step, followed by hydrolysis between pH 7.5 and 8.5 and, finally, the initiation of chemiluminescence. The greater the signal, the more hybridized AE probe there is and, hence, the higher the concentration of target RNA. Ribosomal RNA from *Chlamydia* has been detected down to 50 µg (equivalent to 1000 bacterial organisms), and a single-base mismatch between *Neisseria gonnorhoeae* and *Neisseria meningitidis* was correctly distinguished (A16, N6). An assay for mycobacteria in culture showed similar sensitivity to radiolabel methods (G9). By combining the HPA assay with a separation step using cationic microspheres, the background signal could be reduced to the extent that 6 amoles (10<sup>-18</sup>) of target ribosomal RNA could be detected (A16, N5, N6).

In an alternative method for labeling oligonucleotides, Septak (S27) employed a modified nucleotide base (analog-C). He was able to show that dual labeling of an oligonucleotide with acridinium esters did not lead to self-quenching of the chemiluminescence provided that there were at least seven bases between the two labels (S27).

In assays involving the detection of double-stranded cDNA, probe hybridization can occur only after melting of the target duplexes. Unfortunately, the conditions for achieving this (elevated temperature and pH) are also those that favor hydrolytic inactivation of the AE probe. A way of minimizing this loss is to form a stable adduct of the acridinium ester. Bisulfite, for example, affords total protection from hydrolysis, but its reversal (by dilution) is relatively slow, which means that the assay becomes accordingly longer (H4). The article cited also contains a discussion of other adduct-forming compounds for acridiniums.

#### 3.3. DIOXETANES

In Section 1.4.1, we saw that many of the compounds that exhibit chemiluminescence undergo reactions in which a cyclic peroxy intermediate, or dioxetane (strictly speaking, dioxetan), is formed, and this subsequently breaks down to give an excited-state product. The existence of such 1,2-dioxetanes as metastable intermediates in chemiluminescent reactions was first proposed in 1968 by McCapra (M15). In the following year, Kopecky and Mumford (K22) were able to synthesize and isolate a stable dioxetane, 3,3,4-trimethyl-1,2-dioxetane (Fig. 31), which decomposed upon heating at 50°C to give acetone, acetaldehyde, and luminescence. From this work, together with that of other laboratories, it has been established that the substituents attached to the peroxide ring may include alkyl, aryl, spiroalkyl, alkoxy, or aryloxy groups. In this section, we shall examine both the chemistry of dioxetanes and the way in which the structures influence their



FIG. 31. Thermal decomposition of the cyclic peroxide, 3,3,4-trimethyl-1,2-dioxetane, to give chemiluminescence.

luminescent properties. As analytical tools, dioxetanes can be employed either as labels in ligand binder assays or as high-sensitivity substrates in assays that utilize enzymes as labels. In the former case, luminescence is triggered chemically or thermally, in which case it is referred to as thermochemiluminescence. In the latter case, chemiluminescence is produced by reactions with a stable nonluminescent substrate that is enzymatically destabilized.

## 3.3.1. Mechanisms of Thermochemiluminescence

Figure 32 shows two postulated pathways for the thermal decomposition of uncharged dioxetanes. The concerted mechanism in Fig. 32a was first proposed by McCapra (M15, M16) and elaborated upon by others (K2, K3, T23, T25). Which of the two carbonyl products is in the ground state and which is in the excited singlet or triplet states depends upon the nature of the substituents R1–R4. Emission from the triplet state ( $T_1$ ) is unlikely because of collisional quenching, unless energy transfer to a fluorescent acceptor such as 9,10-dibromoanthracene is possible. The emission wavelength is determined by the fluorescence emission of the carbonyl excited singlet state ( $S_1$ ) and is generally in the region of 425 nm. This concerted mechanism would seem to apply to simple aklyl-substituted dioxetanes, including alicyclic-substituted ones.

Figure 32b shows an alternative decomposition pathway, which is probably the one adopted by neutral aromatic substituted dioxetanes (O4, R5, R6, S15). In this scheme, the peroxy bond is symmetrically stretched until it forms a biradical, which can be in either the singlet state (antiparallel electron spins) or the triplet state (parallel electron spins). A subsequent fission of the C-C bond leads to excited-singlet ( $S_1$ )-state or excited-triplet ( $T_1$ )-state carbonyl products, together with the ground-state carbonyls from the other halves of the biradicals. Emission is from the excited states and, as before, triplet-state emission is unlikely.

Simple alkyl dioxetanes have an activation energy for decomposition in the range 20–26 kcal/mole, which means that they rapidly decompose at, or even below, room temperature (L6, T24). Clearly, such compounds are of little value



FIG. 32. Possible mechanisms for the thermal decomposition of dioxetanes [adapted from Hummelen *et al.* (H21), with permission]. In (a), a concerted bond cleavage leads directly to two carbonyl products, one of which is in the excited state and emits light (M15, M16). The substituents  $R_1-R_4$  can be simple alkyl or alicyclic groups. In (b), homolytic bond cleavage leads to a biradical that exists as an equilibrium mixture of singlet-state ( $\uparrow\downarrow$ ) and triplet-state ( $\uparrow\uparrow$ ) forms. As before, chemiluminescence emission probably occurs via the excited singlet-state carbonyl product arising from the homolytic bond cleavage of the intermediate biradical (R5, R6). The substituents R and Ar can include uncharged alkyl, alicyclic, and aromatic groups.

as analytical tools because of their intrinsic instability. However, by varying the nature of the substituents attached to the dioxetane ring, one can modulate the thermal stability. The discovery in 1972 by Wieringa *et al.* (W19) of a highly stable dioxetane, namely *bis*-adamantyl 1,2-dioxetane, laid the foundation for a

new class of stable dioxetanes that could be triggered by heat to produce chemiluminescence. This fact, together with the development of a variety of synthetic methods, has enabled hapten derivatives to be prepared and utilized in sensitive immunoassays.

The thermal decomposition of dioxetanes is a first-order process that can be written as

$$A = A_0 \cdot e^{-kt},\tag{14}$$

where A is the concentration of dioxetane at times t,  $A_0$  is the initial concentration, and k is the first-order rate constant. We can combine this with the Arrhenius equation for the temperature dependance of the rate, viz.,

$$k = A_0 \cdot e^{-E_a/RT},\tag{15}$$

where  $E_a$  is the activation energy in cal/mole, R is the molar gas constant, i.e., 1.98 cal/mole, and T is the temperature in degrees Kelvin.

For a first-order process as shown in Eq. (14), the half-time  $\Gamma$  is related to the rate constant k, i.e.,

$$k = \ln 2/\Gamma. \tag{16}$$

By combining Eqs. (15) and (16), we have

$$\ln 2/\Gamma = A_0 \cdot e^{-E_a/RT} \tag{17}$$

or

2.3 
$$\log(\ln 2/\Gamma) = 2.3 \log A_0 - E_a/1.98 \cdot T.$$
 (18)

Using the data of Wieringa *et al.* (W19) for the compound shown in Fig. 35, the activation energy is 35.2 kcal/mole and  $\log A_0$  is equal to 14.2. Therefore at room temperature, i.e., 25°C or 298 K, we have

2.3 log (0.69/
$$\Gamma$$
) = 2.3 × 14.2 -  $\frac{35.2 \times 10^3}{1.98 \times 298}$ 

Therefore,

2.3 log 
$$(0.693/\Gamma) = -27$$
  
log  $(0.693/\Gamma) = -11.7$   
 $0.693/\Gamma = 10^{-11.7} = 2 \times 10^{-12}$   
 $\Gamma = 0.693/2 \times 10^{-12} = 3.47 \times 10^{11} \text{ sec}$   
 $\Gamma = 1.1 \times 10^4 \text{ years.}$ 

The interested reader can verify by a similar calculation that for a temperature of  $250^{\circ}C$  (523 K), the corresponding half-life for decomposition is reduced to 50 sec!

## 3.3.2. Analytical Applications of Thermochemiluminescence

This remarkable thermoselectivity affords compounds such as bis-adamantyl dioxetane the potential for being used as labels in thermochemiluminescent immunoassays. Such assays have been pioneered by Hummelen and co-workers at Groningen University (H20, H21, L16). However, before such potential could be realized, two other features of thermostable dioxetanes needed to be addressed. First, synthetic methods had to be developed whereby dioxetanes could be covalently attached to clinically relevant molecules. A convenient way of achieving this is to first functionalize a dioxetane precursor, then convert it into a dioxetane, and finally attach a hapten or protein (antibody) by covalent coupling via the functional group. This sequence is illustrated in Fig. 33, which is taken from work published by Hummelen's group (H19). Various derivatives of the simple alkyl dioxetanes have now been described (A2-A4, A6). Despite this variety, to date those compounds that have been used as labels in immunoassays are all derivatives of bis-adamantyl dioxetane, or, more correctly, adamantylidene adamantane 1,2dioxetane (H20). Figure 34 shows four functionalized derivatives of this compound and these labels can all be covalently attached to free amino or thiol groups in any desired macromolecule (protein carrier or antibody) or hapten. By attaching such labels to antibodies (with a labeling stoichiometry of 5-15), it has been found possible to conduct sandwich immunoassays of the type described in Section 1.4.1 (L15).

Second, the chemiluminescence quantum yields of dioxetanes that decompose by the mechanisms shown in Figure 32 are very low. This is because (a) the excited singlet yield is very low (Fig. 35) and (b) the excited-state carbonyl compounds produced by the thermal cleavage have relatively poor fluorescence quantum yields; e.g.,  $\phi_{\rm F}$  for adamantanone is only 0.0052. With regard to the quantum efficiency of dioxetane thermochemiluminescence, it was shown that the poor emission from excited-singlet-state carbonyl compounds could be amplified by an energy transfer process (B9). In this context, 9,10-diphenylanthracene (DPA) has been shown to be a good fluorescent acceptor for 1,2-dioxetanes (W21) with a fluorescence quantum yield of 0.8-1.0 (E4) and a Förster donor-acceptor distance,  $R_0$ , of 15.3 Å (H20). The spectral characteristics of DPA are such that the emission is at a wavelength that is only slightly redshifted with respect to the dioxetane donor emission. This is due to the fact that DPA has absorbance maxima at 375 and 400 nm, both of which are encompassed by the wide spectral range of bis-adamantyl dioxetane emission. Furthermore, the Stokes shift for DPA emission is only about 30 nm. By attaching both bis-adamantyl dioxetane and DPA to antibodies, one has a labeled antibody with an isochromic internal signal amplification feature (L16, H20, H21). This is illustrated in Fig. 36, which shows



FIG. 33. Synthesis of an *N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl derivative of *bis*-adamantyl dioxetane, suitable for covalently labeling the amino groups of hapten derivatives or protein lysine residues. Adapted from Hummelen *et al.* (H19), with permission.

how *N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl (NHS) derivatives of DPA and dioxetanes can be coupled in various stoichiometries to an antibody, which can then be employed as the labeled second antibody in a sandwich-type immunoassay.

In a model system, it was shown that BSA labeled with 17 molecules of dioxetane had its quantum yield increased by a factor of 40 when DPA was attached to the protein at a 30:1 stoichiometry (H20). Coupling of the labeled BSA to monoclonal antibodies enabled Hummelen and co-workers to use the resulting conjugates in sandwich immunoassays, which were referred to initially by the



FIG. 34. A selection of functionalized *bis*-adamantyl dioxetanes, useful as covalent labels [adapted from Hummelen *et al.* (H19), with permission]. Compound (a) is designed for labeling thiol groups; compounds (b) and (c) are suitable for amino groups; and compound (d) can react with either thiol or amino groups, depending on the experimental conditions.

lengthy acronym FATIMA (fluorescence-amplified thermochemiluminescent immunoassays), e.g., for carcinoembryonic antigen and human IgG (H20). A subsequent report on applying this technique to an assay for HCG referred to it simply as FTIA (fluorescent thermochemiluminescent immunoassay), and the detection limit for the hormone was found to be ca. 5 mIU/ml (L16). The aforementioned article focuses on the merits of fluorescent-labeled versus "conventional" thermochemiluminescent assays and also on multiple labeling strategies. However, contrary to the authors' claims, it is not obvious from the data presented that



FIG. 35. Distribution of singlet- and triplet-state carbonyl products arising from the thermal decomposition of *bis*-adamantyl 1,2-dioxetane. Taken from Hummelen *et al.* (H20), with permission.

fluorescence offers any additional advantage in terms of reducing the minimal detectable analyte concentration.

One further aspect of thermochemiluminescence needs to be addressed in order that assays can be carried out at the temperatures required to trigger the emission of luminescence. The solid phase carrier has to be stable over the temperature range used to trigger chemiluminescence, i.e., 200–250°C. Two solid phase templates that meet these requirements are Kapten 500H and Teflon.

As already mentioned, the chemiluminescence emission in the above assays is essentially isochromic with the dioxetane itself. However, it is possible to observe more conventional redshifted emission by energy transfer from 1,2-dioxetanes to acceptors such as anthracene (in contrast to diphenyl anthracene), fluorescein, and rhodamine B. It is not obvious, though, how one might exploit such a phenomenon in an analytical assay, given the requirement for a 250°C heating step and the energy transfer requirement that donor and acceptor be no more than ca. 100 Å apart. Indeed, the high temperature required for triggering chemiluminescence, together with the rather specialized equipment needed, has precluded a more widespread adoption of thermochemiluminescence as a routine technique for clinical analysis.

### 3.3.3. Nonthermal Triggering of Dioxetane Emission

The real breakthrough in exploiting dioxetanes as analytical tools stems from an initial idea by McCapra (M17, M19, M24) to explain firefly bioluminescence.



FIG. 36. Covalent attachment of *bis*-adamantyl dioxetane and the fluorophore, 2-(*N*-succinimidyloxycarbonylpropyl)-9,10-diphenylanthracene, to an antibody. Chemiluminescence efficiency is enhanced by intermolecular energy transfer.

This was further elaborated upon by Schuster and co-workers (K21, S23, S24) and by Schaap's group at Wayne State University (S6, S8, S10, S11, Z2, Z3). Thus, the observation that some hydroxy-substituted aromatic dioxetanes show high chemiluminescent efficiencies at alkaline pH (phenolic anionic form) led to the formulation of a third mechanism for chemiluminescent decomposition of dioxetanes. This mechanism, known initially as intramolecular electron transfer (M19, Z2) and subsequently as chemically initiated electron exchange luminescence, or CIEEL (F1, K20), can be best illustrated by reference to the dioxetane shown in Fig. 37, where the chemiluminescence is triggered by the addition of fluoride ions.

The mechanism is thought to involve the intramolecular donation of electronic charge from the phenolic oxy-anion to the peroxide  $\sigma^*$  orbital (S6, S8). The aromatic systems that have been examined to date are either phenyl or naphthyl, and it has been found that the position of the substituent phenol group is critical in determining both the chemiluminescent efficiency (E1, E2, S8, S9, S11) and the wavelength of the emission (E1, E2).

An example that illustrates both of the above parameters is shown in Fig. 38. Not only is the emission from the 2,7-disubstituted naphthalene derivative



FIG. 37. Scheme for the fluoride-induced decomposition of 4-(3-tert-butyldimethylsilyloxy-phenyl)-4-methoxyspiro[1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-adamantane] with subsequent light emission. Taken from Schaap*et al.*(S8), with permission.

(Fig. 38a) 150-fold larger than that from the 2,6-disubstituted analogue (Fig. 38b), but also the wavelength is almost 100 nm redshifted from the normal dioxetane emission maximum. Computer-assisted molecular orbital calculations of the AM1-type have been used to rationalize the above data (B25, E1), whereas similar theoretical treatments have been applied to other dioxetanes (R3). However, based on a suggestion by Hummelen and co-workers (H21) that an efficient CIEEL process requires close proximity of the phenolic electronic charge to the peroxy  $\sigma^*$  orbital, one can intuitively rationalize all the published data on phenyl and naphthyl-substituted adamantyl dioxetanes from both Schaap's group and Bronstein's group (B25, E1, E2, S9–S11). A schematic explanation is illustrated in Fig. 39, which shows how the phenoxy electron can be delocalized to give either an  $\alpha$  or a  $\beta$  aromatic carbanion, and that only in the latter case does rotation of the



FIG. 38. Chemiluminescence properties of the phenolic anions of two substituted adamantyl naphthyl dioxetanes. The emission wavelength and half-life of compound (a) are 550 nm and 23 min, respectively, while the corresponding values for compound (b) are 459 nm and 9 sec. These data are taken from Edwards *et al.* (E1).

aromatic ring(s) afford efficient charge transfer to the peroxy bond. Thus, the 2,7-disubstituted derivative in Fig. 38a is much more efficient as a luminescent compound than the 2,6-analogue shown in Fig. 38b. A similar consideration might also apply to the emission wavelengths of such compounds. Again, referring to Fig. 39, the 2,7-derivative affords an excited-state carbonyl compound that is highly conjugated, hence the long emission wavelength of 550 nm. The 2,6-derivative, on the other hand, yields an unconjugated excited-state carbonyl compound that emits in the normal dioxetane emission range of 460–470 nm.

## 3.3.4. Dioxetanes as Enzyme Substrates

Dioxetanes are beginning to have a tremendous impact on chemiluminescent methodologies for clinically relevant analytes. This impact is due to the development of dioxetanes as enzyme substrates in enzyme-amplified assays similar to the type described in Section 1.3.2. The evolution of the current generation of highly efficient substrates merits some comment. Schaap and co-workers (S8) showed that the naphthalene silyl ether shown in Fig. 40a could be triggered by fluoride ions to give chemiluminescence with a quantum yield of 0.01. On the other hand, the *meta*-disubstituted phenyl derivative in Fig. 40b is extremely efficient in a CIEEL chemiluminescence process (for reasons outlined in the previous section) with a quantum efficiency of 0.45. Subsequent studies showed that the naphthalene derivative in Fig. 40a with an O-acetyl group instead of the silyl ether, could



FIG. 39. Illustration of how the delocalization of electronic charge in disubstituted naphthylate adamantyl dioxetanes can give rise to  $\beta$ -carbanions [2,7-derivative shown in (a)] or  $\alpha$ -carbanions [2,6-derivative shown in (b)]. Only in the former case is there an efficient interaction between the electron cloud and the peroxy group.

be enzymatically cleaved by an acyl esterase to produce the light-emitting phenoxy derivative (S10). In the third of three key papers, Schaap acknowledged the utility of alkaline phosphatase for enzyme-amplified immunoassays and described the synthesis of a phosphate-substituted adamantyl xanthene dioxetane (S11). In the presence of alkaline phosphatase at pH 10.3, the compound produced the phenoxy analogue, which subsequently decomposed to produce light with a chemiluminescent quantum yield of 10<sup>-6</sup>. This represented the first, albeit inefficient, chemiluminescent substrate for alkaline phosphatase. The coup de grace came when the phosphate analogue of the highly efficient meta-substituted phenyl dioxetane (S8) shown in Fig. 40b was synthesized as an alkaline phosphatase substrate (B21, B28, S5, S7, V11). This compound, as previously mentioned, has a quantum efficiency of 0.45, irrespective of whether it is derived from a phosphate ester, an acetate, or a silvl ether (S8). The enzyme-catalyzed reaction for this dioxetane is shown schematically in Fig. 41. Since the substrate is present in excess and the enzyme is present in limiting amounts, the kinetics of light emission are those of the glow-type described in Section 2.4 (Fig. 12b), where the light intensity reaches a plateau after 10-20 min and remains stable for an hour or so (provided enough enzyme substrate is present). The detection limit for alkaline



FIG. 40. Chemiluminescent decomposition of adamantyl aromatic dioxetanes by fluoride-induced cleavage of silyl ether side chains. The 2,6-substitution pattern shown in (a) has a quantum efficiency of 0.01%, whereas the 2,4-substitution pattern shown in (b) has a quantum efficiency of 45%. The data [which are taken from the work of Schaap *et al.* (S8)] can be rationalized by considering the mechanism suggested in Fig. 39.

phosphatase is reportedly 0.01 amole (B18, B23) or 0.002 amole (S7). Significant signal enhancement by BSA or CTAB (cetyl trimethylammonium bromide) has been reported (B18, B23, S9). Unfortunately, a certain degree of "vodoo science" has crept into the dioxetane field, and uncontrolled claims for a variety of proprietary signal enhancers have been advanced, e.g., Lumiphos-530 (S7, S9), Emerald (B25, B27, V5), and Sapphire (B25, B27). The nomenclature of these so-called enhancers suggests that intermolecular energy transfer to efficient fluorescers is involved, possibly in mixed dioxetane/fluorophore/detergent micelles. In fact, Schaap (S7) has described the use of a hydrophobic fluorescein derivative together with the detergent CTAB, where the mixture provides a 400-fold enhancement in chemiluminescence efficiency from the *meta*-substituted phenyl adamantyl dioxetane (Fig. 41) and alkaline phosphatase.

# 3.3.5. Dioxetane Enzyme Substrates in Immunoassays

Using alkaline phosphatase-labeled antibodies to protein antigens and the *meta*phenyl phosphate dioxetane shown in Fig. 41 (referred to as AMPPD or Lumigen PPD), one can conduct sandwich-type immunoassays with a solid phase immobilized capture antibody and an enzyme-labeled signal antibody (B19). After the



FIG. 41. Alkaline-phosphatase-triggered cleavage of the highly stable adamantyl *meta*-phenyl phosphate dioxetane, to give the unstable, light-emitting phenoxide ion. The half-life values were measured in an aqueous medium at 30°C (B18,E1).

immunoconjugation reactions, the captured enzyme labels are incubated with dioxetane substrate (>20 min) and the light intensity is measured in a suitable luminometer. Assays for human chorionic gonadotropin ( $\beta$ -hCG) and  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein (AFP), which are clearly superior to the colorimetric versions, have been described (B18, B23, T9). Similarly, a high sensitivity TSH assay has been reported with a minimal detectable dose of 0.0045  $\mu$ IU/ml and an excellent correlation between this and an alternative assay for 40 patient serum samples (B18, B19, B23, B27, B29). Signal generation alone took 40 min, and the total assay time was not reported in these studies. A similar methodology has been used to measure ferritin (D2) and thyroid peroxidase antibodies in patients with auto-immune thyroid disease (T5).

One major advantage of the glow-type emission obtained from dioxetane enzyme substrates is that one can easily record the emission on photographic film (in much the same way that <sup>32</sup>P emission is recorded) to obtain qualitative or semiquantitative data. This technique has been described for a dry-format membranebased assay for human luteinizing hormone (hLH), in which Polaroid 612 film (ASA 20,000) was used to record the intensity from unknown samples and from a set of standards (B18). A dioxetane-based ELISA method for human growth hormone (somatotropin) has been recently described. The chemiluminescent assay was reported to be superior to a similar fluorescence assay, and the detection limit for hGH was found to be 5 pM (A9).

Although they have not been used as labels in immunoassays, dioxetane substrates for  $\beta$ -galactosidase have been synthesized and characterized (B18, B23, S9). Current data are sparse, but it would appear that the enzyme is less detectable than alkaline phosphatase/dioxetane phosphate. One use for the dioxetane  $\beta$ -galactoside has been to quantitate the enzyme activity of the lac Z gene from *Escherichia coli*. The activity of a single transfected cell was measurable, in contrast to a fluorimetric method that required 7000 cells (J2). In another study, the superiority of the dioxetane method over a colorimetric method, employing *O*-nitrophenyl galactoside, was discussed (B6). Interestingly though, the sensitivities differed by only a factor of 2 when the assay volumes were comparable, and the high sensitivity of 0.5  $\mu$ U was achieved only by reducing the assay volume to 10  $\mu$ l.

One of the problems associated with all enzyme-amplified assays is that the substrates can give rise to a signal in the absence of enzymatic triggering. This background signal arises from the nonenzymic formation of 2-adamantanone and acetyl meta-hydroxybenzoate anion, with emission from one or both of these species. Nonenzymic breakdown is favored when the enzymatic reaction is relatively slow and the species involved are able to aggregate. In order to overcome this problem, several derivatives of the, by now familiar, adamantyl methoxy phenyl dioxetane phosphate (Fig. 41) have been synthesized. The structure of such compounds is illustrated schematically in Fig. 42, which shows that they are hydroxy- or halogeno-derivatives of the parent dioxetane, in which the substitutions are made in the adamantane ring. Such substitutions, it is claimed, reduce the background signal and facilitate the emission kinetics by reducing the half-life of the enzymatically produced phenoxy anion (B25). This improvement (which is attributed to a reduced propensity for aggregation) translates into a more sensitive assay for TSH, for which the minimal detectable dose is extrapolated to be 0.001 µIU/ml for a 60-min incubation with the dioxetane substrate (B25, B27). A



X = OH, OMe, CI, Br, I

FIG. 42. Modifications to the adamantyl ring of the dioxetane alkaline phosphatase substrate shown in Fig. 41. Such modified compounds are claimed to give lower background signals in clinical assays (B25,B27).

complicating factor in interpreting both of these studies is that a proprietary enhancer was used in conjunction with the enzyme/substrate mixture, and the precision of the reported background and half-life measurements was not recorded.

# 3.3.6. Dioxetane Enzyme Substrates in Nucleic Acid Detection

Whereas Sections 3.3.2 and 3.3.4 suggest increasing potential for dioxetanes in immunoassays, the major focus in their current development and application is in nucleic acid detection. This stems from the coincidental discovery and development of stable dioxetane enzyme substrates, with the rapid growth in recombinant DNA technology, with its demands upon sequencing, DNA fingerprinting, Southern blotting, and a number of clinical assays for infectious diseases, in which DNA rather than protein is the preferred analyte. As with other types of diagnostic assay, the impetus for applying dioxetane chemistry to these endeavors has been to reduce one's reliance upon radioisotopic methods.

Most dioxetane-based gene probe assays for viral or bacterial DNA are similar to sandwich-type immunoassays. The basic strategies are outlined in Fig. 43. A solid support, which can be any of the templates used in immunoassays, e.g., coated tubes, ELISA wells, and glass beads, contains a covalently attached oligonucleotide capture probe whose sequence is complementary to a unique stretch of the target DNA sequence. After hybridization of the target to the probe, the unbound target and nontarget DNA are removed by washing. A second oligonucleotide probe containing covalently attached alkaline phosphatase (J1) is allowed to hybridize to a complementary sequence on the target and, after removal of excess labeled probe, by separation and washing, the dioxetane substrate is added and the signal detected in a luminometer. Because it is easier to synthesize and purify a biotinylated probe rather than an enzyme-labeled probe, a variation of the protocol involves an intermediate incubation with a (generic) streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase conjugate prior to treatment with the chemiluminescent substrate. Some aspects of applying dioxetanes as molecular biology probes have been recently reviewed (B7).

Infectious Diseases DNA hybridization assays that employ dioxetane substrates for alkaline phosphatase were first briefly reported in 1988, viz., herpes simplex I virus (B21) and *Chlamydia trachomatis* (C17). These two assays were followed by an assay for hepatitis B virus core antigen, HBVc, (B18, B26). Thus, 10<sup>6</sup> copies of HBVc-containing plasmid DNA were detected in 30 min in a dot-blot assay, whereas a colorimetric test required 10<sup>8</sup> copies in the same time (B18, B26). Optimization allowed 10<sup>4</sup>-10<sup>5</sup> copies to be detected in 2 hr. An *in situ* hybridization assay for HSV-1 detected its presence after only 5 min (B22). A more detailed account of the *Chlamydia* assay describes how probes were prepared against two sites on an endogenous 7.4-kb plasmid and how, in a 5-hr assay,



FIG. 43. General scheme for sandwich-type gene probe assays utilizing dioxetanes of the type shown in Fig. 41. Both alkaline phosphatase (Alk. Phos.) and biotin (B) are covalently attached to oligonucleotide probes. In the scheme shown on the right-hand side, the enzyme is covalently attached to streptavidin (SA), which is in turn captured by hybridizing to a biotinylated probe.

10<sup>4</sup> elementary bacterial bodies were detected either with a microtiter plate luminometer or Polaroid instant film (C18). A gonorrhea test has also been reported (S1). In a comparative study of colorimetric versus chemiluminescent detection of hepatitis B virus, the latter method was shown to be significantly more sensitive. Moreover, in the same study, the dioxetane substrate was reported to have twice the sensitivity of an enhanced luminol method (U1).

DNA Sequencing There are two currently established methods for determining the nucleotide sequence of long stretches of genome DNA. Base-specific cleavage by chemical means (M13), or by enzymatic chain termination reactions (S2), followed by isotopic labeling, allows one to electrophorese separate mixtures of so-called nested DNA fragments, where each fragment in any one mixture will terminate in the same nucleotide base. The resulting base-specific electrophoretic ladders can be detected on X-ray film, in which each lane represents fragments of increasing length terminating in the same base. The sequence can be read off the film image by starting with the smallest fragment and seeing which base extends it by one nucleotide. The process is repeated, base by base, until the largest fragment is reached, or until one can no longer visibly resolve individual fragments.

In an extension of the chemical sequencing method (C14), the electrophoretic gel bands are eluted onto suitable membranes, UV cross-linked to these membranes, and probed with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled oligonucleotides, so that the bands can be detected on X-ray film. By using biotinylated or alkaline phosphatase-labeled probes, together with the dioxetane substrate, a nonisotopic detection of sequencing gels is possible (B8). In a subsequent study, it was found that imaging of membrane-bound electrophoretic ladders required only 30 min exposure to X-ray film in the presence of dioxetane substrate, compared with 40 hr exposure with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled probes (T18). This last study also illustrated the use of dioxetanes in a multiplex sequencing protocol (C15), in which the labeled probes are melted off the membrane and different probes are allowed to hybridize to the immobilized target in a multiprobe strategy. In the most recently available report on dioxetanes used for DNA sequencing, the chloroadamantyl dioxetane shown in Fig. 42 was compared with the standard dioxetane substrate. The chloro-derivative was claimed to be superior in both band intensity (faster light emission kinetics) and resolution (M4).

Blotting Techniques Three different protocols have been described for genomic Southern blotting using the dioxetane substrate for alkaline phosphatase. The methods are illustrated schematically in Fig. 44. In Fig. 44a, the target DNA fragments (separated by electrophoresis) are UV cross-linked to a membrane and probed directly with an oligonucleotide containing a sequence complementary to part of the target DNA and a covalently attached alkaline phosphatase molecule. Detection, as before, is effected with the aid of the dioxetane substrate. In an experiment utilizing this approach, the human tissue plasminogen activator gene (single copy) was detected in 0.25 µg of genomic DNA (C10). Band intensities on Kodak XAR-5 film for 4 hr exposure to dioxetane substrate were comparable to those obtained after 1 week when the probe was labeled with <sup>32</sup>P. Depending on



FIG. 44. Analysis of genomic DNA samples by Southern blotting techniques that utilize dioxetane enzyme substrates. Electrophoretically separated fragments of genomic DNA are UV cross-linked to a membrane support and probed with alkaline phosphatase-labeled or biotinylated probes [schemes (a) and (b)] as in Fig. 43. Scheme (c) involves a combination of probe hybridization and immunological capture of an alkaline-phosphatase-labeled digoxygenin antibody, via a target-specific digoxygenin-labeled (D) oligonucleotide. Scheme (d) taken from the work of Nguyen *et al.* (N8), employs a phagemid with hybridization sites for both the target DNA and an enzyme-labeled oligonucleotide probe. Further details for all of the above approaches are provided in the text.

the level of sensitivity required, short exposure times of 5–60 min may be sufficient (B28). Blocking nonspecific binding to the membranes is also important in determining sensitivity (B24).

One of the disadvantages of the direct method is that for each target sequence, a unique enzyme-labeled probe must be synthesized and purified. For this reason, the indirect methods shown in Figs. 44b and 44c have been developed. In Fig. 44b, the probe DNA is biotinylated by an enzymic nick-translation method (R7) or by random priming (K9), so that, after hybridization to the target, it is treated with a universal streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase conjugate, followed by the light-emitting dioxetane substrate. In this manner, picogram quantities of mos and raf-1 single-copy genes have been detected on X-ray film (P12), as well as psp A, a single copy gene in Streptococcus pneumoniae (S29). An interesting variant of this approach (Fig. 44c) involves both probe hybridizations and immunoconjugation. An enzymic method of introducing the hapten digoxygenin into probe polynucleotides has been developed, so that after hybridizing a digoxygenin-labeled probe to the genomic Southern blot, a universal label consisting of a digoxygenin antibody coupled to alkaline phosphatase is allowed to bind to the nucleotide probe. As before, final detection is on instant or X-ray film after incubation with the dioxetane substrate (H13, M8, M35, M37). Obvious advantages are the generic nature of the signal-generating molecule and the ease of synthesizing randomly labeled biotinylated or digoxygenin-containing probes. A disadvantage, though, is the lack of control of probe-specific activity, i.e., the number of biotins or digoxygenin molecules inserted per probe molecule.

A two-step method that purports to circumvent this problem has been developed, although its practicability is questionable. The method is outlined in Fig. 44d and central to it is the use of a single-stranded phagemid or M13 vector into which the probe, complementary to the immobilized target, has been inserted. The vector also contains a universal primer sequence so that the alkaline phosphatase label is again generic. The technique has been shown to work with a dioxetane substrate and, from 5  $\mu$ g of hyman genomic DNA, both the single copy N-*myc* gene and the multiple copy  $\beta$ -actin gene have been detected (N8).

One extension of blotting techniques that is likely to be expanded considerably in the near future is DNA fingerprinting for forensic analysis, paternity testing, etc. Already, the dioxetane substrate for alkaline phosphatase has been shown to be a useful tool in this endeavor (G4).

# 3.4. PEROXYOXALATES

The luminescent decomposition of certain oxalic acid esters (Fig. 9) in the presence of hydrogen peroxide and fluorescent sensitizers represents one of the most efficient nonbiological light-producing reactions (R1, R2). The two most commonly used esters are shown in Fig. 45. As diagnostic agents, oxalate esters



(b)

FIG. 45. The two oxalate esters most commonly used in assays involving chemiluminescent detection. (a) *bis*-(2,4,6-trichlorophenyl)oxalate (TCPO); (b) *bis*-(2,4-dinitrophenyl)oxalate (DNPO).

can be used to detect either hydrogen peroxide (G16) (cf. luminol) or the fluorescent sensitizer.

# 3.4.1. Mechanism of Chemiluminescence

A simplified mechanism for oxalate ester chemiluminescence is shown in Fig. 46, which is essentially a two-step reaction. Attack by peroxide on the ester produces an excited-state, 1,2-dioxetaneone via a peroxyoxalate intermediate, which breaks down in the presence of a suitable fluorophore to give carbon dioxide plus an excited-state fluorophore, which, in turn, emits light. The scheme depicted in Fig. 46 is an oversimplification and the true reaction mechanism continues to attract much attention (A10, C11, C11a, G8, O5).

A clear difference between peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence and that of the previous compounds we have examined is that the emission wavelength is solely determined by the fluorophore and not by the oxalate ester. Typical fluorophores are fused aromatic compounds such as pyrene, anthracene, and, especially, perylene.

## 3.4.2. Analytical Uses of Oxalate Esters

Most analytical applications of peroxyoxalates are in flow-through systems such as HPLC and industrial reactors. As such, the peroxyoxalate/sensitizer system does not fall within the realm of clinical analysis. However, since much experimental work is being done to expand our understanding of the reactions and



FIG. 46. Possible mechanism for chemiluminescence of oxalate esters. Attack by peroxide ions leads to a peroxyoxalate intermediate which, in turn, breaks down to an unstable excited-state dioxetaneone. In the presence of an appropriate fluorophore, energy transfer from the dioxetaneone leads to luminescence from the fluorescent sensitizer.

their analytical scope, a brief discussion of their current role in analysis is warranted. Several recent review articles include sections on peroxyoxalates as analytical tools (G13, T20), in HPLC and solid bed reactors (K35, N9), and in amino acid detection (R8).

In HPLC detection, sensitivity using peroxyoxalates is reportedly better than that for fluorescence, because of reduced light scattering and increased stability of the excitation source. Detection of some aromatic amines is in the attomole range (S30). With regard to amino acids, labeling with an appropriate fluorescent tag can be done either pre- or postcolumn, and the resulting conjugate can be detected after reversed-phase separation (B3, K13). Steroids (N10) and catecholamines (K14) can be similarly quantitated. By suitable derivatization, other classes of compound such as carbonyl compounds (M2) and carboxylic acids (G14, L10) can be detected.

Despite their high chemiluminescence efficiency, aromatic oxalic acid esters do have some disadvantages. At high levels of ester, there is some background emission (C9). They are also relatively insoluble in water, which means they are applicable only in situations in which organic solvents or water/solvent mixtures can be tolerated. A novel way of overcoming this problem is to have solid ester (e.g., TCPO) incorporated into the matrix of the immobile phase and allow it to slowly dissolve and leach out in the solvent stream, i.e., aqueous acetonitrile or aqueous methanol (P13, V8).

Unlike luminol, peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence is not affected by metal ions

in the analytical sample or medium. However, certain compounds such as inorganic ions (halide and sulfite), substituted anilines, and thiourea derivatives, have been shown to quench peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence. Gooijer and coworkers (G8, V7, V9) have sought to exploit this phenomenon by employing it as a detection method for the aforementioned quenchers. Sensitivity limits are reportedly in the nanogram range (G8).

This brief summary of peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence in no way does justice to the topic and the interested reader is urged to consult the more comprehensive accounts cited in this chapter. If and when water-soluble oxalate esters become readily available, there is no doubt that these labels will be adapted to the types of assay that have formed the main subject matter for this article, viz., immunoassays, nucleic acid and gene probe assays, and clinical chemistry assays.

## 4. Conclusion

In a recent brief survey of several chemiluminescent labels for nucleic acid detection, it was suggested that luminol/peroxidase or acridinium esters are appropriate for assays requiring rapid results, but that dioxetanes might be preferable for high-sensitivity assays that are not under a time constraint (P10). A similar conclusion had been reached in a more comprehensive comparison between acridinium esters and dioxetanes (N5). While the two reviews just cited were somewhat partisan in their approach, Schroeder (S19) has taken a more sanguine look at the chemiluminescent systems we have discussed in this article and has compared their efficacy in a variety of assay situations. As he correctly points out, high label detectibility does not always translate into a high assay sensitivity. Other factors such as components of the sample fluid, and nonspecific binding of the chemiluminescent label, determine the ultimate sensitivity of any assay.

Each of the labels, or enzyme/substrate systems we have examined, has its merits and its drawbacks, and it would be impossible to say that one or other is clearly superior. What one can say is that an efficient signal-generating system is a sine qua non of a good assay. Chemiluminescence has evolved from a laboratory curiosity into an analytical technology that has already shown itself able to meet the most stringent demands of the clinical analyst. The ensuing decades will bring new analytes such as disease markers (both protein and DNA) present in vanishingly low concentrations, and I have no doubt that chemiluminescence will play a major role in meeting those analytical challenges.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am extremely grateful to Ms. K. E. McCabe and her staff at the Steinberg Information Center, Ciba-Corning Diagnostics, Medfield, Massachusetts, for their invaluable help in database searching and obtaining journal articles. I would like to dedicate this chapter to the memory of my mother, who succumbed to illness and passed away during its preparation.

#### References

- A1. Adam, W., and Cilento, G., eds., "Chemical and Biological Generation of Excited States." Academic Press, New York, 1982.
- A2. Adam, W., Babatsikos, C., and Cilento, G., Functionalized 1,2-dioxetanes as potentially useful biological and chemotherapeutic agents. Z. Naturforsch. B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 39B, 679–682 (1984).
- A3. Adam, W., Beinhauer, A., Fisher, R., and Hauer, H., A psoralen-substituted dioxetane as DNA intercalator for photogenotoxic studies. *Angew. Chem.*, Int. Ed. Engl. 26, 796–797 (1987).
- A4. Adam, W., Bhushan, V., Fuchs, R., and Kirchgässner, U., Functionalized 1,2-dioxetanes as potential phototherapeutic agents. The synthesis of carboxylate, carbonate, carbamate, and ether derivatives of 3- (hydroxymethyl)-3,4,4-Trimethyl-1,2-dioxetane. J. Org. Chem. 52, 3059-3062 (1987).
- A5. Adam, W., Cadilla, C., Cueto, O., and Rodriguez, L. O., Fluorescer-enhanced chemiluminescence of a cyclic peroxalate via electron exchange. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 4802–4805 (1980).
- A6. Adam, W., Fuchs, R., and Kirchgässner, U., Functionalized 1,2-dioxetanes as potential photogenotoxic agents. 1,2-dioxetanes with electrophilic chemical handles for the functionalization with protic nucleophiles. *Chem. Ber.* 120, 1565–1571 (1987).
- A7. Aherne, G., Hardcastle, A., Saleem, P., and England, L., Enhanced chemiluminescent immunoassays for environmental monitoring. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 91–98. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- A8. Albrecht, H. O., Über die Chemiluminescenz des aminophthalsaüre Hydrazides. Z. Phys. Chem. 136, 321-330 (1928).
- A9. Albrecht, S., Ehle, H., Schollberg, K., Bublitz, R., and Horn, A., Chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassay of human growth hormone based on adamantyl dioxetane phenyl phosphate substrate. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 115–118. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- A10. Alvarez, F. J., Parekh, N. J., Matuszewski, B., Givens, R. S., Higuchi, T., and Showen, R. L., Multiple intermediates generate fluorophore-derived light in the oxalate/peroxide chemiluminescence system. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108, 6435-6437 (1986).
- A11. Anderson, J. M., Faini, G. J., and Wampler, J. E., Construction of instrumentation for bioluminescence and chemiluminescence assays. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. DeLuca, ed.), Vol. 57, pp. 529–539. Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- A12. Arakawa, H., Maeda, M., and Tsuji, A., Chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassay of cortisol using peroxidase as label. Anal. Biochem. 97, 248-254 (1979).
- A13. Arakawa, H., Maeda, M., Tsuji, A., and Kambegana, A., Chemiluminescence immunoassay of dehydroepiandrosterone and its sulfite using peroxidase as label. *Steroids* 38, 453–464 (1981).
- A14. Armbruster, D. A., Jirinzu, D. C., and Williams, J. V., Enhanced luminescence immunoassays for free thyroxine (FT4). *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 1153–1154 (abstr.) (1988).
- A15. Arnhold, J., Mueller, S., Arnold, K., and Grimm, E., Chemiluminescence intensities and spectra of luminol oxidation by sodium hypochlorite in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 189–192 (1991).
- A16. Arnold, L. J., Hammond, P. W., Wiese, W. A., and Nelson, N. C., Assay formats involving acridinium ester-labeled DNA probes. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N. C.)* 35, 1588–1594 (1989).

- B1. Bagazgoitia, F. J., Garcia, J. L., Diéquez, C., Weeks, I., and Woodhead, J. S., Effect of surfactants on the intensity of chemiluminescence emission from acridinium ester labeled proteins. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 2, 121–128 (1988).
- B2. Batmangelich, S., Woodhead, J. S., Smith, K., and Weeks, I., Synthesis and chemiluminescent evaluation of a series of phenyl-N-alkyl-acridinium 9-carboxylates. J. Photochem. Photobiol. 56, 249-254 (1991).
- B3. Baeyens, W., Bruggeman, J., DeWaele, C., Lin, B., and Imai, K., Optimization of an HPLC peroxylate chemiluminescence detection system for some dansyl amino acids. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 5, 13–23 (1990).
- B4. Baeyens, W. R. G., De Keukeleire, D., and Korkidis, K., eds., "Luminescence Techniques in Chemical and Biochemical Analysis," of Pract. Spectrosc., Vol. 12. Dekker, New York, 1991.
- B5. Baeyens, W. R. G., Ling, B. L., Brinkman, U. A. T., and Schulman, S. G., Principles and applications of luminescence spectrometry coupled to liquid chromatographic techniques. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 484–499 (1989).
- B6. Beale, E. G., Deeb, E. A., Handley, R. S., Akhavan-Tafti, H., and Schaap, A. P., A rapid and simple chemiluminescent assay for *Escherichia coli* β-galactosidase. *BioTechniques* 12, 320– 323 (1992).
- B7. Beck, S., and Köster, H., Applications of dioxetane chemiluminescent probes to molecular biology. Anal. Chem. 62, 2258–2270 (1990).
- B8. Beck, S., O'Keefe, T., Coull, J. M., and Köster, H., Chemiluminescent detection of DNA: Application for DNA sequencing and hybridization. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 17, 5115–5123 (1989).
- B9. Belyakov, V. A., and Vassil'ev, R. F., Chemiluminescence in hydrocarbon oxidation in solution. A quantitative study of the excitation and emission steps. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 11, 179–192 (1970).
- B10. Billing, J., Hinchy, V., and Montague, D., Enhanced luminescence immunoassay for creatine kinase MB (CK-MB). Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 36, 1130 (abstr.) (1990).
- B11. Bononi, P. A., Banfi, G., Pontillo, M., Casari, E., and Murone, M., Free thyroxine estimation by enhanced luminescent immunometry. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 1207 (abstr.) (1988).
- B12. Bononi, P. A., Banfi, G., and Murone, M., Enhanced chemiluminescence in the measurement of proteins and haptens: Evaluation of choriogonadotropin (hCG) and free thyroxin. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 5, 193-195 (1990).
- B13. Bounaud, J. Y., Bounaud, M. P., and Begon, F., One step chemiluminescent immunoassay for free thryoxin with acridinium ester-labeled thyroxin evaluated and compared with a two-step radioimmunoassay. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 2556–2560 (1988).
- B14. Bounaud, M. P., Bounaud, J. Y., Bouin-Pineau, M. H., Ozget, L., and Begon, F., Chemiluminescence immunoassay of thyrotropin with acridinium ester-labeled antibody evaluated and compared with two other immunoassays. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 33, 2096–2100 (1987).
- B15. Braude, P., and Clark, P. M. S., Evaluation of the Amerlite immunochemiluminometric assay for luteinizing hormone (LH). J. Endocrinol. 112, Suppl., 242 (1987).
- B16. Brestel, E. P., Co-oxidation of luminol by hypochlorite and hydrogen peroxide. Implications for neutrophil chemiluminescence. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 126, 482–488 (1985).
- B17. Brolin, S., and Wettermark, G., "Bioluminescence Analysis." VCH Verlag, Weinheim, 1992.
- B18. Bronstein, I., Chemiluminescent 1,2-dioxetane-based enzyme substrates and their applications. In "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 255–274. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- B19. Bronstein, I., and Kricka, L. J., Clinical applications of luminescent assays for enzymes and enzyme labels. J. Clin. Lab. Anal. 3, 316–322 (1989).

- B20. Bronstein, I., and Kricka, L. J., Instrumentation for luminescent assays. Am. Clin. Lab. Jan/Feb., pp. 33–37 (1990).
- B21. Bronstein, I., and Voyta, J. C., Application of a novel direct chemiluminescence substrate for alkaline phosphatase in the detection of herpes simplex I virus. Proc. San Diego Conf. Mol. Probes, 3rd, p. 18 (1988).
- B22. Bronstein, I., and Voyta, J. C., Chemiluminescence detection of herpes simplex virus I DNA in blot and in-situ hybridization assays. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 35, 1856–1857 (1989).
- B23. Bronstein, I., Edwards, B., and Voyta, J. C., 1,2-dioxetanes: Novel chemiluminescent enzyme substrates. Applications to immunoassays. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 99–111 (1989).
- B24. Bronstein, I., Fortin, J., Voyta, J. C., and Kricka, L., Nitro-block<sup>™</sup> enhancement of AMPPD chemiluminescent signal in the detection of DNA. *BioTechniques* **12**, 500–502 (1992).
- B25. Bronstein, I., Juo, R. R., Voyta, J. C., and Edwards, B., Novel chemiluminescent 1,2-dioxetane enzyme substrates. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 73–82. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- B26. Bronstein, I., Voyta, J. C., and Edwards, B., A comparison of chemiluminescent and colorimetric substrates in a hepatitis B virus DNA hybridization assay. *Anal. Biochem.* 180, 95–99 (1989).
- B27. Bronstein, I., Voyta, J. C., Erve, Y. V., and Kricka, L. J., Advances in ultrasensitive detection of proteins and nucleic acids with chemiluminescence: Novel derivatized 1,2-dioxetane enzyme substrates. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 37, 1526–1527 (1991).
- B28. Bronstein, I., Voyta, J. C., Lazzari, K., Murphy, O. J., Edwards, B., and Kricka, L. J., Rapid and sensitive detection of DNA in Southern blots with chemiluminescence. *BioTechniques* 8, 310–314 (1990).
- B29. Bronstein, I., Voyta, J. C., Thorpe, G. H. G., Kricka, L. J., and Armstrong, G., Chemiluminescent assay of alkaline phosphatase applied to an ultrasensitive enzyme immunoassay of thyrotropin. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 35, 1141–1146 (1989).
- B30. Brown, C. R., Higgins, K. W., Frazer, K., Schoelz, L. K., Dyminski, J. W., Marinkovich, V. A., Miller, S. P., and Burd, J. F., Simultaneous determination of total IgE and allergen-specific IgE in serum by the MAST chemiluminescent assay system. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 31, 1500–1505 (1985).
- B31. Brundrett, R. B., Roswell, D. F., and White, E. H., Yields of chemically produced excited states. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 7536-7541 (1972).
- B32. Bunce, R. A., Thorpe, G. H. G., Gibbons, J. E. C., Killeen, P. R., Ogden, G., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., Camera luminometer for use with luminescent assays. *Analyst* 110, 657–663 (1985).
- B33. Burguera, J. L., Townshend, A., and Greenfield, S., Flow injection analysis for monitoring chemiluminescence reactions. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 114, 209–214 (1980).
- B34. Burr, J. G., ed. "Chemiluminescence and bioluminescence," Clin. Biochem. Anal. Vol. 16. Dekker, New York, 1985.
- C1. Caldini, A. L., Orlando, C., Barni, T., Messeri, G., Pazzagli, M., Baldi, E., and Serio, M., Measurement of transferrin in human seminal plasma by a chemiluminescent method. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* **32**, 153–156 (1986).
- C2. Caldini, A. L., Messeri, G., Buzzoni, P., and Borri, P., An automated luminescence immunoassay for the measurement of oestriol 16-α-glucuronide in pregnancy urine. *In* "Analytical Applications of Bio- and Chemiluminescence" (L. J. Kricka, P. E. Stanley, G. H. G. Thorpe, and T. P. Whitehead, eds.), pp. 171–174. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1984.
- C3. Campbell, A. K., "Chemiluminescence: Principles and Applications in Biology and Medicine." Ellis Horwood, Chichester, 1988.
- C4. Campbell, A. K., and Patel, A., A homogeneous immunoassay for cyclic nucleotides based on chemiluminescence energy transfer. *Biochem. J.* 216, 185–194 (1983).

- C5. Campbell, A. K., Roberts, P. A., and Patel, A., Chemiluminescence energy transfer: A technique for homogeneous immunoassay. *In* "Alternative Immunoassays" (W. P. Collins, ed.), pp. 153–183. Wiley, Chichester, 1985.
- C6. Campbell, J., Leonard, H., Berg, M., Lindsey, K., Siperas, J., and Chang, S., An automated chemiluminescence receptor assay for folate. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 38, 1097 (abstr.) (1992).
- C7. Candy, T. E. G., and Jones, P. (1991). Attenuation of 4-IodoPhenol-enhanced chemiluminescence by non-enhancer phenols. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 239–243 (1991).
- C8. Candy, T. E. G., Mantle, D., and Jones, P., Estimation of tyrosine by the attenuation of 4-iodophenol. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 245-249 (1991).
- C9. Capomacchia, A. C., Jennings, R. N., Hemingway, S. M., D'Sousa, P., Prapaitrakul, W., and Gingle, A., Native peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence from the reaction of bis (2,4-dinitrophenyl) oxalate and hydrogen peroxide perturbed by non-fluorophores. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 196, 305–310 (1987).
- C10. Cate, R. L., Ehrenfels, C. W., Wysk, M., Tizard, R., Voyta, J. C., Murphy, O. J., and Bronstein, I., Genomic southern analysis with alkaline phosphatase-conjugated oligonucleotide probes and the chemiluminescent substrate AMPPD. *Genet. Anal. Tech. Appl.* 8, 102–106 (1991).
- C11. Caterall, C. L. R., Palmer, T. F., and Cundall, R. B., Chemiluminescence from reactions of bis(pentachlorophenyl) oxalate, hydrogen peroxide, and fluorescent compounds. Kinetics and mechanism. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 80, 823–835 (1984).
- C11a. Caterall, C. L. R., Palmer, T. F., and Cundall, R. B., Chemiluminescence from reactions of bis(pentachlorophenyl) oxalate, hydrogen peroxide, and fluorescent compounds. Role of fluorand chemielectronic-Process(ess). J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 80, 836–849 (1984).
- C12. Champiat, D., Bador, H., and Bonneau, M., Pesticides detection using a chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassay. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 2, 191 (abstr.) (1988).
- C13. Chang, C. A., Patterson, H. H., Mayer, L. M., and Bause, D. E., Determination of trivalent chromium in seawater by chemiluminescence. Anal. Chem. 52, 1264–1267 (1980).
- C14. Church, G. M., and Gilbert, W., Genomic sequencing. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81, 1991–1995 (1984).
- C15. Church, G. M., and Kieffer-Higgins, Multiplex DNA sequencing. Science 240, 185–188 (1988).
- C16. Cilento, G., Minora, N., Fukuyama, H., Suwa, K., and Kamiya, I., Chemiluminescence in the autoxidation of the pyruvic acid analogues of a thyroid hormone and related molecules. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 58, 296-300 (1974).
- C17. Clyne, J. M., Running, J. A., Sanchez-Pescador, R., Besemer, D., Stempien, M., Schaap, A. P., Stephens, R. S., and Urdea, M. S., A rapid chemiluminescent DNA hybridization assay for *Chlamydia trachomatis. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin.* 2, 193 (abstr.) (1988).
- C18. Clyne, J. M., Running, J. A., Stempien, M., Stephens, R. S., Akhavan-Tafti, H., Schaap, A. P., and Urdea, M. S., A rapid chemiluminescent DNA hybridization assay for *Chlamydia trachomatis. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin.* 4, 357–366 (1989).
- Coale, K. H., Johnson, K. S., Stout, P. M., and Sakamoto, C. M., Determination of copper in seawater using a flow-injection method with chemiluminescent detection. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 266, 345-351 (1992).
- C20. Cooper, E. H., and Forbes, M. A., An evaluation of the Amerlite enhanced chemiluminescent immunoassay for carcinoembrionic antigen. *Tumor Diagn. Ther.* 8, 145–149 (1987).
- C21. Coulet, P. R., and Blum, L. J., Bioluminescence/chemiluminescence based sensors. *Trends Anal. Chem.* 11, 57-61 (1992).
- C22. Coyle, P. M., Thorpe, G. H. G., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., Enhanced luminescent quantitation of horseradish peroxidase conjugates: Application in an enzyme immunoassay for digoxin. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 23, 42–46 (1986).
- C23. Cristofides, N., Anderson, A., Aslam, M., and Irving, T., Development of an enhanced

luminescence 'labeled antibody' immunoassay for free T3. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 37, 943 (abstr.) (1991).

- D1. Dalessio, J., and Ashley, R., Highly sensitive enhanced chemiluminescence immunodetection method for herpes simplex virus type-2 western immunoblot. J. Clin. Microbiol. 30, 1005– 1007 (1992).
- D2. Datta, P., Eilert, M., and Becker, D., An automated chemiluminescent assay for ferritin on the immulite. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 38, 1089 (abstr.) (1992).
- D3. Dawson, J. H., Probing structure-function relations in heme-containing oxygenases and peroxidases. Science 240, 433–439 (1988).
- D4. De Boever, J., Kohen, F., Leyseele, D., and Vandekerckhove, D., Isoluminol-based direct chemiluminescence immunoassay for steroid hormones. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 119–139. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- D5. De Boever, J., Kohen, F., and Vandekerckhove, D., Direct solid-phase chemiluminescence immunoassay for salivary progesterone. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 32, 763–767 (1986).
- D6. De Boever, J., Kohen, F., Vandekerckhove, D., and Van Maele, G., Solid-phase chemiluminescence immunoassay for progesterone in unextracted serum. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 30, 1637–1641 (1984).
- D7. DeLuca, M. A., ed., "Methods in Enzymology," Vol. 57. Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- D8. DeLuca, M. A., and McElroy, W. D., eds., "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Basic Chemistry and Analytical Applications (Proceedings of the Second International Symposium on Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence)" Academic Press, New York, 1981.
- D9. DeLuca, M. A., and McElroy, W. D., "Methods in Enzymology," Vol. 133. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1986.
- D10. Diamandis, E. P., and Cristopoulos, T. K., Europium chelate labels in time-resolved fluorescence immunoassays and DNA hybridization assays. *Anal. Chem.* 62, 1149A–1157A (1990).
- D11. Dilley, C. M., and Clarke, A., The Amerlite thyrotropin (TSH) assay. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 25, 194–195 (1988).
- D12. Dixon, B. G., and Schuster, G. B., Chemiluminescence of secondary peroxyesters. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 3068–3077 (1981).
- D13. Drew, H. D. K., and Garwood, R. F., Chemiluminescent organic compounds. Part VI. The isolation of peroxide derivatives of phthalaz-1:4-diones. J. Chem. Soc., pp. 791-793 (1938).
- D14. Drew, H. D. K., and Garwood, R. F., Chemiluminescent organic compounds. Part VII. Substituted Phthalaz-1:4-diones. Effect of substituents on the luminescent power. J. Chem. Soc., pp. 836–837 (1939).
- D15. Drew, H. D. K., and Pearman, F. H., Chemiluminescent organic compounds. Part IV. Aminoand hydrazino-cyclophthalhydrazides and their relative luminescent power. J. Chem. Soc., pp. 586–592 (1937).
- D16. Dudley, R. F., Chemiluminescence immunoassay: An alternative to RIA. Lab. Med. 21, 216-222 (1990).
- D17. Dunford, H. B., Peroxidases. Adv. Inorg. Biochem. 4, 41-68 (1982).
- D18. Duran, N., Zinner, K., De Baptista, R. C., Vidigal, C. C., and Cilento, G., Chemiluminescence from the oxidation of auxin derivatives. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 24, 383–388 (1976).
- D19. Duran, N., Zinner, K., Vidigal, C. C., and Cilento, G., Generation of electronically excited aromatic aldehydes in the peroxide catalyzed aerobic oxidation of aromatic acetaldehydes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 74, 1146–1153 (1977).
- E1. Edwards, B., Sparks, A., Voyta, J. C., and Bronstein, I., Unusual luminescent properties of

odd- and even-substituted naphthyl-derivatized dioxetanes. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 5, 1-4 (1990).

- E2. Edwards, B., Sparks, A., Voyta, J. C., Strong, R., Murphy, O., and Bronstein, I., Naphthyl dioxetane phosphate: Synthesis of novel substrates for enzymatic chemiluminescent assays. J. Org. Chem. 55, 6225–6229 (1990).
- Edwards, J. C., Martin, J. K., Davidson, G. P., Holian, J., and Mashiter, K., Development of a system approach to immunoassays using enhanced luminescence. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 1, 96 (abstr.) (1986).
- E4. Engel, P. S., and Monroe, B. M., Complications in photosensitized reactions. Adv. Photochem.
  8, 245–313 (1971).
- E5. Ewetz, L., and Thore, A., Factors affecting the specificity of the luminol reaction with hematin compounds. *Anal. Biochem.* **71**, 564–570 (1976).
- F1. Faulkner, R., Chemiluminescence from electron transfer processes. In "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca, ed.), Vol. 57, pp. 494–526. Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- F2. Fieser, L. F., and Fieser, M., "Advanced Organic Chemistry," p. 276. Reinhold, New York, 1961.
- F3. Freeman, T. M., and Seitz, W. R., Chemiluminescence fiber optic probe for hydrogen peroxide based on the luminol reaction. *Anal. Chem.* **50**, 1242–1246 (1978).
- G1. Gautier, S. M., Blum, L. J., and Coulet, P. R., Multi-function fibre-optic sensor for the bioluminescent flow determination of ATP or NADH. Anal. Chim. Acta 235, 243–253 (1990).
- G2. Gautier, S. M., Blum, L. J., and Coulet, P. R., Bioluminescence-based fibre-optic sensor with entrapped co-reactant: An approach for designing a self-contained biosensor. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 243, 149–156 (1991).
- G3. Gautier, S. M., Blum, L. J., and Coulet, P. R., Dehydrogenase activity monitoring by flowinjection analysis combined with luminescence-based fibre-optic sensors. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 266, 331–338 (1992).
- G4. Giles, A. F., Booth, K. J., Parker, J. R., Garman, A. J., Carrick, D. T., Akhavan, H., and Schaap, A. P., Rapid, simple, non-isotopic probing of southern blots for DNA fingerprinting. *In* "Advances in Forensic Haemogenetics 3" (H. F. Polesky and W. R. Mayr, eds., pp. 40–42. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- G5. Giles, A. F., Charles, S. A., De Vriendt, J. K., McIntyre, A., Rimmer, J., Sturley, H. N., Martin, J. K., and Holian, J., Amerlite assays for total T4, T3, and T3 uptake. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 32, 116 (abstr.) (1986).
- G6. Givens, R. S., Jencen, D. A., Riley, C. M., Stobaugh, J. F., Chokshi, H., and Hanaoka, N., Chemiluminescence: A sensitive and versatile method for analyte detection. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 8, 477–491 (1990).
- G7. Gleu, K., and Petsch, W., The chemiluminescence of the dimethyl-biacridylium salts. Angew. Chem. 48, 57–59 (1935).
- G8. Gooijer, C., Van Zoonen, P., Velthorst, N. H., and Frei, R. W., On the mechanism of peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence. Quenched chemiluminescence as a detection method in HPLC. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 479–483 (1989).
- G9. Goto, M., Shinichi, O., Okuzumi, K., Kimura, S., and Shimada, K., Evaluation of acridinium ester-labeled DNA probes for the identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Mycobacterium avium-Mycobacterium intracellulare* complex in culture. J. Clin. Microbiol. 29, 2473-2476 (1991).
- G10. Govorova, N. J., Lyzlova, S. N., Scharonov, B. P., and Jankovskij, O. J., Some peculiarities of luminol chemiluminescence by the catalytic action of myeloperoxidase. *Biokhimiya (Moscow)* 52, 1670–1676 (1987).
- G11. Granato, P. A., and Franz, M. R., Evaluation of a prototype DNA probe test for the nonculture diagnosis of gonorrhea. J. Clin. Microbiol. 27, 632–635 (1989).

- G12. Greenway, G. M., Analytical applications of electrogenerated chemiluminescence. *Trends* Anal. Chem. 9, 200–203 (1990).
- G13. Greyeski, M. L., Chemiluminescence analysis. Anal. Chem. 59, 1243A-1256A (1987).
- G14. Greyeski, M. L., and Devasto, J. K., Coumarin derivatizing agents for carboxylic acid detection using peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence with liquid chromatography. *Anal. Chem.* 59, 1203–1206 (1987).
- G15. Greyeski, M. L., Novak, T. J., and Mohan, A. G., Synthesis and comparison of substituted chemiluminescent acridinium derivatives including a novel acridinium amide. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 131-134. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- G16. Greyeski, M. L., Woolf, E. J., and Helly, P. J., Quantitation of enzymatically generated hydrogen peroxide based on peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 183, 207– 215 (1986).
- G17. Gundermann, K.-D., and Drawert, M., Constitution and chemiluminescence. I. Sterical resonance hindrance in alkylated aminophthalylhydrazides. *Chemische Berichte* 95, 2018–2026 (1962).
- G18. Gundermann, K.-D., and McCapra, F., Chemiluminescence in organic chemistry. *In* "Reactivity and Structure Concepts in Organic Chemistry" (K. Hafner, C. W. Rees, B. M. Trost, J.-M. Lehn, P. von R Schleyer, and R. Zahradnik, eds.), Vol. 23, p. 77. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1987.
- G19. Gundermann, K.-D., Horstman, W., and Bergman, G., Constitution and chemiluminescence (II) synthesis and chemiluminescence of 7-dialkylaminonaphthalene-1,2-dicarboxylic acid hydrazide. Justus Liebig's Ann. Chem. 684, 127 (1965).
- G20. Gundermann, K.-D., Wulff, K., Luke, R., and Stahler, F., Enzyme immunoassays using horseradish peroxidase as a label assayed by chemiluminescence with luminol derivatives as substrates. *In* "Luminescent Assays: Perspectives in Endocrinology and Clinical Chemistry" (M. Serio and M. Pazzagli, eds.), p. 157. Raven Press, New York, 1982.
- H1. Haggart, R., and Leaback, D. H., Determination of quantitative, luminogenic images of macromolecule components of biological cells and tissues. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 227, 257–265 (1989).
- H2. Haggart, R., Thorpe, G. H. G., Moseley, S. B., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., An enhanced chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassay for serum carcinoembryonic antigen based on a modification of a commercial kit. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 1, 29–34 (1986).
- H3. Hall, J. C., Nickless, G. G., Wells, L., Ala, F. A., Thorpe, G. H. G., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., Rapid detection of malarial antibodies by an enzyme immunoassay technique involving enhanced chemiluminescence and instant photography. *In* "Bioluminescence and chemiluminescence: New Perspectives" (J. Schölmerich, R., Andreesen, A. Kapp, M. Ernst, and W. G. Woods, eds.), pp. 329–332. Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- H4. Hammond, P. W., Weise, W. A., Waldrop, A. A., III, Nelson, N. C., and Arnold, L. J., Jr., Nucleophilic addition to the 9 position of 9-phenylcarboxylate-10-methyl acridinium protects against hydrolysis of the ester. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 35–43 (1991).
- H5. Hardcastle, A., Aherne, W., and Marks, V., A sensitive enhanced luminescent immunoassay for the triazine pesticides atrazine and simazine. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 2, 209 (abstr.) (1988).
- H6. Hart, R. C., and Taaffe, L. R., The use of acridinium ester-labeled streptavidin in immunoassays. J. Immunol. Methods 101, 91–96 (1987).
- H7. Hastings, J. W., and Reynolds, G. T., The preparation and standardization of different methods of liquid light sources. *In* "Bioluminescence in Progress" (F. H. Johnson and Y. Haneda, eds.), pp. 45–50. Princeton Univ. Princeton, NJ, 1966.
- H8. Hauber, R., and Geiger, R., The application of a photon-counting camera in a very sensitive

bioluminescence-enhanced detection system for protein blotting. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem. 26, 147-148 (1988).

- H9. Hauber, R., Miska, W., Schleinkofer, L., and Geiger, R., New, sensitive radioactive-free bioluminescence-enhanced detection system in protein blotting and nucleic acid hybridization. *J. Biolumin. Chemilumin.* 4, 367–372 (1989).
- H10. Hersant, J., Garcera, Y., Glikmanas, G., Gourmelin, Y., and Truchaud, A., Amerlite enhanced luminescence for CEA determination. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 32, 1106 (abstr.) (1986).
- H11. Hodgson, M., and Jones, P., Enhanced chemiluminescence in the peroxidase-luminol-hydrogen peroxide system: Anomalous reactivity of enhancer phenols with enzyme intermediates. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 3, 21-25 (1989).
- H12. Holian, J., Jones, M., Smith, C., Tovey, K. C., and Dent, A., Development of a single incubation enzyme immunoassay for antibodies to rubella virus based on enhanced luminescence. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 1316 (abstr.) (1988).
- H13. Höltke, H. J., Sanger, G., Kessler, C., and Schmitz, G., Sensitive chemiluminescent detection of digoxygenin-labeled nucleic acids: A fast simple protocol and its applications. *BioTechniques* 12, 104–113 (1992).
- H14. Hooper, C. E., and Ansorge, R. E., Quantitative luminescence imaging in the biosciences using the CCD camera: Analysis of macro and micro samples. *Trends Anal. Chem.* 9, 269–277 (1990).
- H15. Hornsleth, A., Aean, K., and Gundestrup, M., Detection of respiratory syncytial virus and rotavirus by enhanced chemiluminescence enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 26, 630-635 (1988).
- H16. Horton, J. K., James, J. E., Swinburne, S., and O'Sullivan, M. J., Novel and rapid immunofiltration assays with enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) detection. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 139–142. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- H17. Hoshino, H., and Hinze, W. L., Exploitation of reversed micelles as a medium in analytical chemiluminescence measurements with application to the determination of hydrogen peroxide using luminol. Anal. Chem. 59, 496–502 (1987).
- H18. Howie, C. L., and Greyeski, M. L., Effect of micelles and cyclodextrin solutions on acridinium chemiluminescence. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: New Perspectives" (J. Schölmerich, R. Andreesen, A. Kapp, M. Ernst, and W. G. Woods, eds.), pp. 415–418. Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- H19. Hummelen, J. C., Luider, T. M., and Wynberg, H., Stable 1,2-dioxetanes as labels for thermochemiluminescent immunoassay. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (K. Mosbach, ed.), Vol. 133, pp. 531–557. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1986.
- H20. Hummelen, J. C., Luider, T. M., and Wynberg, H., Thermochemiluminescence immunoassay. In "Complementary Immunoassays" (W. P. Collins, ed.), pp. 191–208. Wiley, New York,
- H21. Hummelen, J. C., Luider, T. M., Oudman, D., Koek, J. N., and Wynberg, H., 1,2-dioxetanes: Luminescent and nonluminescent decomposition, chemistry, and potential applications. *In* "Luminescence Techniques in Chemical and Biochemical Analysis" (W. R. G. Baeyens, D. De Keukeleire, and K. Korkidis, eds.), pp. 567–598. Dekker, New York, 1991.
  - 11. Imai, K., Chemiluminescence detection in flow systems. Biomed. Chromatog. 4, R1 (1990).
  - Imai, K., Nishitan, A., Tuskamoto, Y., Wang, W. H., Kanda, S., Hayakawa, K., and Miyazaki, M., Studies on the effects of imidazole on the peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence detection system for high performance liquid chromatography. *Biomed. Chromatog.* 4, 100-104 (1990).
  - Ireland, D. C., and Samuel, D., Enhanced chemiluminescence ELISA for the detection of antibody to hepatitis B virus surface antigen. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 159–163 (1989).
  - J1. Jablonski, E., Moomaw, E. W., Tullis, R. W., and Ruth, J. L., Preparation of oligodeoxynu-

cleotide-alkaline phosphatase conjugates and their use as hybridization probes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 6115–6128 (1986).

- J2. Jain, V. K., and Magrath, I. T., A chemiluminescent assay for quantitation of  $\beta$ -galactosidase in the femtogram range: Application to quantitation of  $\beta$ -galactosidase in lac Z-transfected cells. *Anal. Biochem.* **199**, 119–124 (1991).
- J3. Jansen, E. H. J. M., Enkelaar-Willemsen, C., Van den Berg, R. H., and Zomer, G., Sensitivity of chemiluminescence to labels and their use in immunoassays with photoplate detection. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: New Perspectives" (J. Schölmerich, R., Andreesen, A. Kapp, M. Ernst, and W. G. Woods, eds.), pp. 241–244. Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- J4. Jansen, E. H. J. M., Van den Berg, R. H., and Zomer, G., HPLC method for purification and quality control of isoluminol labels. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 99–118. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- J5. John, R., Henley, R., Chang, D., and McGregor, A. M., Enhanced luminescence immunoassay: Evaluation of a new more sensitive thyrotropin assay. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem,* N.C.) 32, 2178-2183 (1986).
- Kafalos, F. C., Jones, C. W., and Efstratiadis, A., Determination of nucleic acid sequence homologies and relative concentrations by a dot hybridization procedure. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 7, 1541–1552 (1979).
- K2. Kearns, D. R., Selection rules for singlet-oxygen reactions. Concerted addition reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 6554–6563 (1969).
- K3. Kearns, D. R., Physical and chemical properties of singlet molecular oxygen. Chem. Rev. 71, 395–427 (1971).
- K4. Kellog, R. E., Mechanism of chemiluminescence from peroxy radicals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 5433–5436 (1969).
- K5. Khalil, O. S., Zurek, T. F., Pepe, C., Genger, K., Huff, D. G., Colemen, C., Hanna, C., Hu, R., Mackowiack, J., and Bennet, L., Detection apparatus for multiple heterogeneous chemiluminescence immunoassay configurations. *Anal. Biochem.* 196, 61–68 (1991).
- K6. Kim, C. K., Han, J. S., Lee, J. H., Shin, H., and Kim, J. B., Measurement of entertoxin A and ochratoxin A by a solid-phase chemiluminescence immunoassay. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 203–206. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- K7. Kim, J. B., Barnard, G. J., Collins, W. P., Kohen, F., Lindner, H. R., and Eshhar, Z., (1982). Measurement of plasma estradiol 17β by solid-phase chemiluminescence immunoassay. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 28, 1120–1124.
- K8. Kim, J. B., Kwon, O. J., and Barnard, G., A novel homogeneous immunoassay for estrone-3-glucuronide based on antibody protected effects on the enhancement of chemiluminescence by NaOH. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 111–114. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- K9. Kincaid, R. L., and Nightingale, M. S., A rapid non-radioactive procedure for plaque hybridization using biotinylated probes prepared by random primed labeling. *BioTechniques* 6, 42–49 (1988).
- K10. Kinkel, T., Lübbers, H., Schmidt, E., Molz, P., and Skrzipczyk, H. J., Synthesis and properties of new luminescent acridinium-9-carboxylic acid derivatives and their applications in luminescence immunoassays (LIA). J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 136–139 (1989).
- K11. Klee, G. G., Preissner, C. M., Schryver, P. G., Taylor, R. L., and Kao, P. C., Multisite immunochemiluminometric assay for simultaneously measuring whole-molecule and Amino-Terminal fragments of human parathyrin. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 38, 628–635 (1992).
- K12. Klingler, W., von Pastel, G., Haupt, O., and Knuppen, R., Chemiluminescence immunoassay
(CIA) of unconjugated oestriol in serum of pregnant women. Fresenius' Z. Anal. Chem. 311, 352-353 (1982).

- K13. Kobayashi, S., and Imai, K., Determination of fluorescent compounds by high performance liquid chromatography with chemiluminescent detection. *Anal. Chem.* 52, 424–427 (1980).
- K14. Kobayashi, S., Sekino, J., Honda, K., and Imai, K., Application of high performance liquid chromatography with a chemiluminescence detection system to determine catecholamines in urine. *Anal. Biochem.* **112**, 99–104 (1981).
- K15. Kohen, F., Kim, J. B., Lindner, H. R., and Collins, W. P., Development of a solid-phase chemiluminescent immunoassay for plasma progesterone. *Steroids* 38, 73–88 (1981).
- K16. Kohen, F., Lindner, H. R., and Gilad, S., Development of chemiluminescence monitored immunoassays for steroid hormones. J. Steroid Biochem. 19, 413–418 (1983).
- K17. Kohen, F., Pazzagli, M., Kim, J. B., Lindner, H. R., and Boguslaski, R. C., An assay procedure for plasma progesterone based on antibody-enhanced chemiluminescence. *FEBS Lett.* 104, 201–205 (1979).
- K18. Kohen, F., Pazzagli, M., Serio, M., De Boevers, J., and Vanderckove, D., Chemiluminescence and bioluminescence immunoassay. *In* "Alternative Immunoassay" (W. P. Collins, ed.), pp. 103–121. Wiley, New York, 1985.
- K19. Komatsu, T., Ohira, M., Yamada, M., and Suzuki, S., Analytical uses of luminescence induced ultrasonically in solution. I. Sonic chemiluminescence of Co(II) at sub picogram levels by flow injection and continuous flow methods. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* 59, 1849–1855 (1986).
- K20. Koo, J.-Y., and Schuster, G. B., Chemically initiated electron exchange luminescence. A new chemiluminescent reaction path for organic peroxides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 6107–6109 (1977).
- K21. Koo, J.-Y., Schmidt, S. P., and Schuster, S. P., Bioluminescence of the firefly: Key steps in the formation of the electronically excited state for model systems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 75, 30–33 (1978).
- K22. Kopecky, K. R., and Mumford, C. R., Luminescence in the thermal decomposition of 3,3,4trimethyl-1,2-dioxetane. *Can. J. Chem.* 47, 709–711 (1969).
- K23. Kövary, P. M., Elmquist, H., and Quick, P., A competitive EIA for urinary albumin. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 33, 979 (abstr.) (1987).
- K24. Kövary, P. M., Schmitz, L. C., and Kley, R., Measuring sex hormone binding globulin by enhanced luminescence. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 33, 921–922 (abstr.) (1987).
- K25. Kricka, L. J., Ligand binder assays: Labels and analytical strategies. Clin. Biochem. Anal. 17, 199–216 (1985).
- K26. Kricka, L. J., Chemiluminescence and bioluminescence techniques. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 37, 1472–1481 (1991).
- K27. Kricka, L. J., and Stanley, P. E., Bioluminescence and chemiluminescence literature. The 1990 literature. Part I. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 203–220 (1991).
- K28. Kricka, L. J., and Stanley, P. E., Bioluminescence and chemiluminescence literature. The 1990 literature. Part II. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 289–296 (1991).
- K29. Kricka, L. J., and Stanley, P. E., Bioluminescence and chemiluminescence literature. The 1991 literature. Part I. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 7, 47–73 (1992).
- K30. Kricka, L. J., and Thorpe, G. H. G., Photographic detection of chemiluminescent and bioluminescent reactions. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (K. Mosbach, ed.), Vol. 133, pp. 404– 420. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1986.
- K31. Kricka, L. J., and Thorpe, G. H. G., Bioluminescent and chemiluminescent detection of horseradish peroxidase labels in ligand binder assays. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 77–98. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.

- K32. Kricka, L. J., Stott, R. A. W., and Thorpe, G. H. G., Enhanced chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassays. *In* "Complementary Immunoassays" (W. P. Collins, ed.), pp. 169–179. Wiley, Chichester, 1988.
- K33. Kricka, L. J., Stott, R. A. W., and Thorpe, G. H. G., Enhanced chemiluminescent detection of horseradish peroxidase labels in ligand binder assays. *In* "Luminescence Techniques in Chemical and Biochemical Analysis" (W. R. G. Baeyens, D. De Keukeleire, and K. Korkidis, eds.), pp. 599–635. Dekker, New York, 1991.
- K34. Krodel, E., Boland, J., Carey, G., and Kwiatkowski, M., Technical challenges in the development of the Ciba-Corning ACS 180 benchtop immunoassay analyzer. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 107–110. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- K35. Kwakman, P. J. M., and Brinkman, U. A. T., Peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence detection in liquid chromatography. Anal. Chim. Acta 266, 175–192 (1992).
- L1. Laing, P., Luminescent visualization of antigens on blots. J. Immunol. Methods 92, 161-165 (1986).
- L2. Law, S.-J., Miller, T., Piran, U., Klukas, C., Chang, S., and Unger, J., Novel poly-substituted aryl acridinium esters and their use in immunoassay. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 88–98 (1989).
- L3. Leaback, D. H., and Haggart, R., The use of a CCD imaging luminometer in the quantitation of luminogenic immunoassays. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 512-522 (1989).
- L4. Lee, J., and Seliger, H. H., Absolute spectral sensitivity of phototubes and the application to the measurement of the absolute quantum yields of chemiluminescence and bioluminescence. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 4, 1015–1048 (1965).
- L5. Lee, J., and Seliger, H. H., Quantum yields of the luminol chemiluminescence reaction in aqueous and aprotic solvents. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 15, 227-237 (1972).
- L6. Lechten, P., Yekta, A., and Turro, N. J., Tetramethyl-1,2-dioxetane. A mechanism for an autocatalytic decomposition. Evidence for a quantum chain reaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 3027-3028 (1973).
- L7. Lehmstedt, K., and Wirth, E., Some ms-acridine derivatives. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 61, 2044–2049 (1928).
- L8. Leong, M. M. L., and Fox, G. R., Enhancement of luminol-based immunodot and western blot assays by iodophenol. Anal. Biochem. 172, 145–150 (1988).
- L9. Leong, M. M. L., Fox, G. R., and Hayward, J. S., A photo-detection device for luminol-based immunodot and western blotting assays. *Anal. Biochem.* 168, 107–114 (1988).
- L10. Lewis, S. W., Worsfold, P. J., Lynes, A., and McKerrell, E. H., Determination of carboxylic acids in oxidized engine oils by liquid chromatography with chemiluminescent detection. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 266, 257–264 (1992).
- L11. Lind, J., and Merenyi, G., Determination of the chemiluminescence quantum yield of luminol in rapid chemical reactions. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **82**, 331–334 (1981).
- L12. Linschitz, H., In "Light and Life" (W. D. McElroy and B. Glass, eds.), 1st ed., pp. 173–182. Johns Hopkins, Univ. Press, Baltimore, 1961.
- L13. Littig, J. S., and Nieman, T. A., Quantitation of acridinium esters using electrogenerated chemiluminescence and flow injection. *Anal. Chem.* 64, 1140-1144 (1992).
- L14. Longeon, A., Henry, J. P., and Henry, R., A solid-phase luminescent immunoassay for human chorionic gonadotrophin using *Pholas dactylus* bioluminescence. J. Immunol. Methods 89, 103-109 (1986).
- L15. Luider, T. M., Thermochemiluminescence and its application to immunoassay. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Groningen, The Netherlands (1988).
- L16. Luider, T. M., Hummelen, J. C., Koeck, J. N., Oudman, D., and Wynberg, H., Thermochemiluminescence immunoassay for hCG. In "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular

Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 217–231. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.

- M1. Maly, F. E., Vittoz, M., Urwyler, A., Koshikawa, K., Schleinkofer, L., and Deweck, A. L., A dual microtiter plate (192 sample) luminometer employing computer-aided single-photon imaging applicable to cellular luminescence and luminescence. J. Immunol. Methods 122, 91-96 (1989).
- M2. Mann, B., and Greyeski, M. L., New chemiluminescent derivatizing agent for the analysis of aldehydes and ketones by high performance liquid chromatography with peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence. J. Chromatog. 386, 149–158 (1987).
- M3. Marks, K., Killeen, P., Goundry, J., Gibbons, J., and Bunce, R., A portable silicon photodiode luminometer. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 1, 173–179 (1987).
- M4. Martin, C., Bresnick, L., Juo, R.-R., Voyta, J. C., and Bronstein, I., Improved chemiluminescent DNA sequencing. *BioTechniques* 11, 110–113 (1991).
- M5. Martin, J. K., Brett, G., Thompson, W., Summers, M., and Bacarese-Hamilton, T., Measurement of cortisol with a non-radioactive immunoassay based on enhanced luminescence. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 1217 (abstr.) (1988).
- M6. Martin, J. K., Galloway, T., Evans, A., Lonsdale, C., Valenta, E., and White, G. P., Immunometric assay for human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) based on enhanced luminescence. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 1220 (abstr.) (1988).
- M7. Martin, J. K., Moon, C., Layte, K., and Aslam, M., Enhanced luminescence immunoassay for free T4. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 34, 1216 (abstr.) (1988).
- M8. Martin, R., Hoover, C., Grimme, S., Crogan, C., Höltke, J., and Kessler, C., A highly sensitive non-radioactive DNA labeling and detection system. *BioTechniques* 9, 762–768 (1990).
- M9. Mashiter, K., Love, C., Loizou, M., Aslam, M., Allen, G. J., and Holian, J., Development of a simultaneous incubation two-site immunometric assay for follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) based on enhanced luminescence. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 33, 892 (abstr.) (1987).
- M10. Matheson, I. B. C., Lee, J., and Zalewski, E. F., A calibration technique for photometers. Proc. SPIE—Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 489, 380-381 (1984).
- M11. Mathews, J. A., Batki, A., Hynds, C., and Kricka, L., Enhanced chemiluminescent method for the detection of DNA dot-hybridization assays. *Anal. Biochem.* 151, 205–209 (1985).
- M12. Mattingly, G., Chemiluminescent 10-methyl-acridinium-9-(N-sulphonylcarboxamide) salts. Synthesis and kinetics of light emission. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 6, 107–114 (1991).
- M13. Maxam, A. M., and Gilbert, W., A new method for sequencing DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 560–564 (1977).
- M14. Mayer, A., Schmidt, E., Kinkel, T., Molz, P., Neuenhofer, S., and Skrzipczyk, H. J., Hydrophilic acridinium 9-carboxylic acid derivatives used as labels in luminescence immunoassays. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 99–102. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- M15. McCapra, F., Application of the theory of electrocyclic reactions to bioluminescence. Chem. Commun. 3, 155–156 (1968).
- M16. McCapra, F., The chemiluminescence of organic compounds. *Pure Appl. Chem.* 24, 611–629 (1970).
- M17. McCapra, F., Chemiluminescence of organic compounds. Prog. Org. Chem. 8, 231-277 (1973).
- M18. McCapra, F., Chemical mechanisms in bioluminescence. Acc. Chem. Res. 9, 201–208 (1976).
- M19. McCapra, F., Alternative mechanism for dioxetan decomposition. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., pp. 946–948 (1977).

- M20. McCapra, F., The chemistry of bioluminescence. Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B 215, 247-272 (1982).
- M21. McCapra, F., and Beheshti, I., Selected chemical reactions that produce light. In "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Instruments and Applications" (K. Van Dyke, ed.), Vol. 1, pp. 9-42. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1985.
- M22. McCapra, F., and Perring, K. D., General organic chemiluminescence. Clin. Biochem. Anal. 16, 259–320 (1986).
- M23. McCapra, F., and Richardson, D. G., The mechanism of chemiluminescence: A new chemiluminescent reaction. *Tetrahedron. Lett.* 43, 3167–3172 (1964).
- M24. McCapra, F., Beheshti, I., Burford, A., Hann, R. A., and Zaklika, K. A., Singlet excited states from dioxetan decomposition. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., pp. 944–966 (1977).
- M25. McCapra, F., Richardson, D. G., and Chang, Y. C., Chemiluminescence involving peroxide decompositions. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 4, 1111–1121 (1965).
- M26. McCapra, F., Whatmore, D., Sumun, F., Patel, A., Beheshti, I., Ramakrishnan, K., and Branson, J., Luminescent labels for immunoassay—from concept to practice. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 51–58 (1989).
- M27. McGown, L. B., and Warner, I. M., Molecular fluorescence, phosphorescence, and chemiluminescence spectrometry. Anal. Chem. 62, 255-267 (1990).
- M28. Messeri, G., Caldini, A. L., Bołelli, G. F., Pazzagli, M., Tommasi, A., Vannucchi, P. L., and Serio, M., Homogeneous luminescence immunoassay for total estrogens in urine. *Clin. Chem.* (*Winston-Salem, N.C.*) **30**, 653–657 (1984).
- M29. Messeri, G., Orlandini, A., and Pazzagli, M., Luminescent immunoassay using isoluminol derivatives. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 154-158 (1989).
- M30. Metelitza, D. I., Eryomin, A. N., and Shibaev, V. A., Enhanced chemiluminescence on the oxidation of luminol and an isoluminol cortisol conjugate by hydrogen peroxide in reversed micelles. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 7, 21–26 (1992).
- M31. Metzel, P. S., and Hua, D. T., Adaptation of a CA 15-3 enzyme immunoassay to enhanced luminescence. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 34, 1299 (abstr.) (1988).
- M32. Micallef, J. V., Donaldson, A., Sufi, S. B., Sankolli, G., and Jeffcoate, S. L., Liquid phase enhanced chemiluminescent immunoassays for plasma oestradiol and progesterone. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: New Perspectives" (J. Schölmerich, R. Andreesen, A. Kapp, M. Ernst, and W. G. Woods, eds.), pp. 285–288. Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- M33. Miller, P., Marinkovich, V. A., Riege, D. H., Sell, W. J., Baker, D. L., Eldredge, N. T., Dyminski, J. W., Hale, R. G., Peisach, J. M., and Burd, J. F., Application of the MAST immunodiagnostic system to the determination of allergen-specific IgE. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* **30**, 1467–1472 (1984).
- M34. Misra, H. P., and Squatrito, P. M., The role of superoxide anion in peroxidase-catalyzed chemiluminescence of luminol. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 215, 59-65 (1982).
- M35. Muhlegger, K., Batz, H. G., Bohm, S., Eltz, H., Höltke, H. J., and Kessler, C. H., Synthesis and use of new digoxygenin-labeled nucleotides in non-radioactive labeling and detection of nucleic acids. *Nucleosides Nucleotides* 8, 1161–1163 (1988).
- M36. Murachi, T., and Tabata, M., Use of a bio-reactor consisting of sequentially aligned Lglutamate dehydrogenase and L-glutamate oxidase for the determination of ammonia by chemiluminescence. *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.* 9, 303–309 (1987).
- M37. Musiani, M., Zerbini, M., Gibellini, D., Gentilomi, G., Venouroli, S., Gallinella, G., Ferri, E., and Girotti, S., Chemiluminescence dot blot hybridization assay for detection of B19 parvovirus DNA in human sera. J. Clin. Microbiol. 29, 2047–2050 (1991).
  - N1. Nakamura, T., Standardization of an aqueous light source containing luminol: Application to measurement of quantum yields of bioluminescent reactions. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 72, 173–177 (1972).

- N2. Nakamura, T., Hoshino, S., Hazemoto, N., Haga, M., Kato, Y., and Suzuki, Y., A liposome immunoassay based on a chemiluminescence reaction. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 37, 1629–1631 (1989).
- N3. Näselund, B., Arner, P., Bernström, K., Bolinder, J., Hallander, L., and Lundin, A., Assays of free fatty acids and glucose by horseradish peroxidase catalyzed luminol reaction. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 385-388. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- N4. Näselund, B. M. A., Bernström, K., Lundin, A., and Arner, P., Free fatty acid determination by peroxidase catalyzed luminol chemiluminescence. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 3, 115–124 (1989).
- N5. Nelson, N. C., and Kacian, D. L., Chemiluminescence DNA probes: A comparison of the acridinium ester and dioxetane detection systems and their use in clinical diagnostic assays. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 194, 73–90 (1990).
- N6. Nelson, N. C., Hammond, P. W., Weise, W. A., and Arnold, L. J., Jr., Homogeneous and heterogeneous chemiluminescent DNA probe-based assay formats for the rapid and sensitive detection of target nucleic acids. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 293–309. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- N7. Nelson, R., Jiang, N.-S., and Shellum, C., A simple and sensitive immunochemiluminescent assay for tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 38, 1079–1080 (abstr) (1992).
- N8. Nguyen, Q., Witney, F., and Tumolo, A., A two-step hybridization method for chemiluminescent detection of single copy genes. *BioTechniques* 13, 116–123 (1992).
- N9. Nieman, T. A., Analytical chemiluminescence in flowing streams: FIA and HPLC. In "Luminescence Techniques in Chemical and Biochemical Analysis" (W. R. G. Baeyens, D. De Keukeleire, and K. Korkidis, eds.), pp. 523-565. Dekker, New York, 1991.
- N10. Nozaki, O., Ohba, Y., and Imai, K., Determination of serum estradiol by normal-phase high performance liquid chromatography with peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence detection. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 205, 255–260 (1988).
  - Ohyabu, M., Fujimura, M., Tanimizu, K., Okuno, M., Tabata, M., Totani, M., and Murachi, T., 'One shot' flow injection analysis with immobilized enzyme column: Clinical application. *Anal. Sci.* 3, 277–278 (1987).
  - O2. O'Kane, D. J., Ahmad, M., Matheson, I. B. C., and Lee, J., Purification of bacterial luciferase by high-performance liquid chromatography. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca and W. D. McElroy, eds.), Vol. 133, pp. 109–128. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1986.
  - Olsson, T., Bergström, K., and Thore, A., A sensitive method for the determination of serum hemoglobin based on iso-luminol chemiluminescence. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 122, 125–133 (1982).
  - O4. O'Neal, H. E. O., and Richardson, W. H., The thermochemistry of 1,2-dioxetane and its methylated derivatives. An estimate of activation parameters. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 92, 6553– 6557 (1970).
  - O5. Orlovič, M., Schowen, R. L., Givens, R. S., Alvarez, F., Matuszewski, B., and Parekh, N., A simplified model for the dynamics of chemiluminescence in the oxalate-hydrogen peroxide system: Towards a reaction mechanism. J. Org. Chem. 54, 3606-3610 (1989).
  - O6. O'Sullivan, M. J., Horton, J. K., James, J. E., Evans, O. M., and Swinburne, S., Novel enhanced luminescence immunoassays for haptens and macromolecules. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 135–138. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
  - O7. O'Toole, A., Kricka, L. J., Thorpe, G. H. G., and Whitehead, T., Rapid enhanced chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassay for ferritin monitored using instant photographic film. *Anal. Chim Acta* 266, 193–199 (1992).
  - P1. Paleos, C. M., Vassilopoulos, G., and Nikokavouros, J., Chemiluminescence in oriented

systems. Chemiluminescence of 10,10-dimethyl-9,9-biacridinium nitrate in micellar media. J. Photochem. 18, 227–234 (1982).

- P2. Parnham, A. J., and Tarbit, I. F., "Delfia" and "Amerlite." Two sensitive nonisotopic immunoassay systems for assay of thyrotropin compared. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 33, 1421-1424 (1987).
- P3. Patel, A., Davies, C. J., Campbell, A. K., and McCapra, F., Chemiluminescence energy transfer: A new technique applicable to the study of ligand-ligand interactions in living systems. *Anal. Biochem.* 129, 162–169 (1983).
- P4. Patel, A., Morton, M. S., Woodhead, J. S., Ryall, M. E. T., McCapra, F., and Campbell, A. K., A new chemiluminescent label for use in immunoassay. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 10, 224–225 (1982).
- P5. Pazzagli, M., Cadenas, E., Kricka, L. J., Roda, A., and Stanley, P. E., eds., "Proceedings of the Vth International Symposium on Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence," J. Biolumin. Chemilumin., Vol. 4. Wiley, Chichester, 1989.
- P6. Pazzagli, M., Kim, J. B., Messeri, G., Martinazzo, G., Kohen, F., Franceschetti, F., Moneti, G., Salerno, R., Tomassi, A., and Serio, M., Evaluation of different progesterone-isoluminol conjugates for chemiluminescence immunoassay. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **115**, 277–286 (1981).
- P7. Pazzagli, M., Kohen, K., Kim, J. B., and Lindner, H. R., An immunoassay for plasma cortisol based on chemiluminescence. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence" (M. A. DeLuca and W. D. McElroy, eds.), pp. 651–657. Academic Press, New York, 1981.
- P8. Pazzagli, M., Messeri, G., Caldini, A. L., Moneti, G., Martinazzo, G., and Serio, M., Preparation and evaluation of steroid chemiluminescent tracers. J. Steroid Biochem. 19, 407–412 (1983).
- P9. Penner-Hahn, J. E., Eble, K. S., McMury, T. J., Renner, M., Bolch, A. L., Groves, T. J., Dawson, J. H., and Hodgson, K. O., Structural characterization of horseradish peroxidase using EXFAS spectroscopy. Evidence for Fe=O ligation in compounds I and II. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108, 7819–7825 (1986).
- P10. Pollard-Knight, D. V., Rapid and sensitive luminescent methods for nucleic acid detection. In "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 83–90. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- P11. Pollard-Knight, D. V., Read, C. A., Downes, M. J., Howard, L. A., Ledbetter, M. R., Pheby, S. A., McNaughton, E., Syms, A., and Brady, M. A. W., Non-radioactive nucleic acid detection by enhanced chemiluminescence using probes directly labeled with horseradish peroxidase. *Anal. Biochem.* 185, 84–89 (1990).
- P12. Pollard-Knight, D. V., Simmonds, A. C., Schaap, A. P., Akhavan, H., and Brody, M. A., Non-radioactive DNA detection on southern blots by enzymatically triggered chemiluminescence. Anal. Biochem. 185, 353–358 (1990).
- P13. Poulsen, J. R., Birks, J. W., Van Zoonen, P., Gooijer, C., Velthorst, N. H., and Frei, R. W., Oxalate ester addition from a solid reagent bed for chemiluminescent detection in HPLC. *Chromatographia* 21, 587–595 (1986).
- P14. Pronovost, A. D., and Baumgarten, A., Comparison of chemiluminescence and absorptiometry in enzyme immunoassays for protein quantitation. *Experientia* **38**, 304–306 (1982).
- P15. Pronovost, A. D., Baumgarten, A., and Hsiung, G. D., Sensitive chemiluminescent enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for quantification of human immunoglobulin G and detection of *Herpes Simplex* virus. J. Clin. Microbiol. 13, 97-101 (1981).
- R1. Rauhut, M. M., Chemiluminescence from concerted peroxide decomposition reactions. Acc. Chem. Res. 2, 80-87 (1969).
- R2. Rauhut, M. M., Bollyky, L. J., Roberts, B. G., Loy, M., Whitman, R. H., Iannotta, A. V., Semsel, A. M., and Clarke, R. A., Chemiluminescence from reactions of electronegatively

substituted aryl oxalates with hydrogen peroxide and fluorescent compounds. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 6515-6522 (1967).

- R3. Reguero, M., Bernardi, F., Bottoni, A., Olivucci, M., and Robb, M. A., Chemiluminescent decomposition of 1,2-dioxetanes: An MC-SCF/MP2 study with VB analysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 113, 1566–1572 (1991).
- R4. Reynolds, G. T., Application of photosensitive devices to bioluminescence studies. *Photo-chem. Photobiol.* 27, 405–421 (1978).
- R5. Richardson, W. H., and O'Neal, H. E. O., Thermochemistry and estimated activation parameters for the thermal decomposition of 1,2-dioxetanedione, 4,4-dimethyl-1,2-dioxetan-3-one. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 8665–8668 (1972).
- R6. Richardson, W. H., Montgomery, F. C., Yelvington, M. B., and O'Neal, H. E., Kinetics of thermal decomposition of 3,3-diphenyl- and 3,3-dibenzyl-1,2-dioxetanes. Consideration of stepwise and concerted mechanisms. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 7525-7532 (1974).
- R7. Rigby, P. W. J., Dieckman, J. M., Rhodes, C., and Berg, P., Labeling deoxynucleic acid to high specific activity *in vitro* by nick translation with DNA polymerase 1. J. Mol. Biol. 113, 237–251 (1977).
- R8. Robards, K., and Worsfold, P. J., Analytical applications of liquid-phase chemiluminescence. Anal. Chim. Acta 266, 147–173 (1992).
- R9. Roda, A., Girotti, S., Lodi, S., and Preti, S., Development of a sensitive enzyme immunoassay for plasma salivary steroids. *Talanta* **31**, 895–900 (1984).
- Sanchez-Pescador, R., Running, J. A., Stempien, M. M., and Urdea, M. S., Rapid nucleic acid assay for detection of bacteria with tetM-mediated tetracycline resistance. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 33, 1813-1815 (1989).
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., and Coulson, A. R., DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 5463-5467 (1977).
- Sankolli, G. M., Stott, R. A. W., Thorpe, G. H. G., Smith, D., Rudd, B. T., and Kricka, L. J., An enhanced chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassay for serum oestradiol. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 25, 288–292 (1988).
- S4. Sasamoto, K., and Okhura, Y., A chemiluminogenic substrate for N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase, δ-aminophthalylhydrazido-N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminide. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 38, 1323–1325 (1990).
- Schaap, A. P., Chemical and enzymatic triggering of 1,2-dioxetanes. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 47, 50 (abstr.) (1988).
- S6. Schaap, A. P., and Gagnon, S. D., Chemiluminescence from a phenoxide-substituted 1,2dioxetane. A model for firefly bioluminescence. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 3504–3506 (1982).
- Schaap, A. P., Akhavan, H., and Romano, L. J., Chemiluminescent substrate for alkaline phosphatase: Application to ultrasensitive enzyme-linked immunoassays and DNA probes. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 35, 1863–1864 (1989).
- Schaap, A. P., Chen, T.-S., Handley, R. S., De Silva, R., and Giri, B. P., Chemical and enzymatic triggering of 1,2-dioxetanes. 2: Fluoride-induced chemiluminescence from (tertbutyldimethylsilyl)oxy-substituted dioxetanes. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 28, 1155–1158 (1987).
- Schaap, A. P., DeSilva, R., Akhavan-Tafti, H., and Handley, R. S., Chemical and enzymatic triggering of dioxetanes: Structural effects on chemiluminescence efficiency. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 103–106. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- S10. Schaap, A. P., Handley, R. S., and Giri, B. P., Chemical and enzymatic triggering of 1,2dioxetanes 1: Aryl esterase-catalyzed chemiluminescence from a naphthyl acetate-substituted dioxetane. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 28, 935–938 (1987).
- S11. Schaap, A. P., Sandison, M. D., and Handley, R. S., Chemical and enzymatic triggering of

1,2-dioxetanes. 3: Alkaline phosphatase-catalyzed chemiluminescence from an aryl phosphate-substituted dioxetane. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 28, 1159–1162 (1987).

- Schmidt, R., Examination of the Amerlite system's suitability for use in the routine thyroid laboratory. Artz. Labor. 33, 272–282 (1987).
- Schmidt, R., Teuber, J., and Michl, K., The Amerlite TSH assay and comparison with supersensitive thyrotropin assays. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem. 24, 764–765 (1986).
- Schmidt, S. P., and Schuster, C. B., Anomalous metalloporphyrin and chlorophyll-a activated chemiluminescence of dimethyl dioxetanone. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 7100–7103 (1980).
- Schmidt, S. P., Vincent, M. A., Dykstra, C. E., and Schuster, G. B., Chemiluminescence of dioxetane investigated by self-consistent field theory. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 1292–1293 (1981).
- Schneppenheim, R., and Rautenberg, P., A luminescence western blot with enhanced sensitivity for antibodies to human immunodeficiency virus. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol.* 6, 49–51 (1987).
- S17. Schölmerich, J., Andreesen, R., Kapp, A., Ernst, M., and Woods, W. G., eds., "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: New Perspectives." Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- S18. Schram, E., and Stanley, P., eds., "Proceedings of the International Symposium on Analytical Applications of Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence." State Printing and Publishing, Westlake Village, CA, 1979.
- Schroeder, H. R., Labels to monitor ligand binding assays via luminescence. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 547–552. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- S20. Schroeder, H. R., and Yeager, F. M., Chemiluminescent yields and detection limits of some isoluminol derivatives in various oxidation systems. *Anal. Chem.* 50, 1114–1120 (1978).
- S21. Schroeder, H. R., Boguslaski, R. C., Carrico, R. J., and Buckler, R. T., Monitoring specific protein-binding reactions with chemiluminescence. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca, ed.), Vol. 57, pp. 424–445. Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- Schroeder, H. R., Vogelhut, P. O., Carrico, R. J., Boguslaski, R. C., and Buckler, R. T., Competitive protein binding assay for biotin measured by chemiluminescence. *Anal. Chem.* 48, 1933–1937 (1976).
- S23. Schuster, G. B., Chemiluminescence of organic peroxides. Conversion of ground-state reactants to excited-state products by the chemically initiated electron exchange luminescence mechanism. Acc. Chem. Res. 12, 366–373 (1979).
- S24. Schuster, G. B., and Schmidt, S. P., Chemiluminescence of organic compounds. Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. 18, 187-238 (1982).
- S25. Seitz, W. R., Chemiluminescence detection of enzymically generated peroxide. In "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca, ed.), Vol. 57, pp. 445–462. Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- S26. Seitz, W. R., and Hercules, D. M., Chemiluminescence analysis for trace elements. *In* "Chemiluminescence and Bioluminescence" (M. J. Cormier, D. M. Hercules, and J. Lee, eds.), pp. 427–449). Plenum, New York, 1973.
- Septak, M., Acridinium ester-labeled oligonucleotide probes. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 351–356 (1989).
- S28. Serio, M., Pazzagli, M., Messeri, G., Martinazzo, G., and Tomassi, A., Chemiluminescent tracers for steroid immunoassays. *In* "Monoclonal Antibodies and Developments in Immunoassay" (A. Albertini and R. Ekins, eds.), pp. 193–199. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1981.
- Sheffield, J. S., Benjamin, W. H., and McDaniel, L. S., Detection of DNA in southern blots by chemiluminescence is a sensitive and rapid technique. *BioTechniques* 12, 836–838 (1992).
- S30. Sigvardson, K. W., Kennish, J. M., and Birks, J. W., Peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence

detection of polycyclic aromatic amines in liquid chromatography. Anal. Chem. 55, 432-435 (1984).

- Simpson, J. S. A., Campbell, A. K., Ryall, M. E. T., and Woodhead, J. S., A stable chemiluminescent labeled antibody for immunological assays. *Nature (London)* 279, 646–647 (1979).
- S32. Simpson, J. S. A., Campbell, A. K., Woodhead, J. S., Richardson, A., Hart, R., and McCapra, F., Chemiluminescent labels in immunoassay. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Basic Chemistry and Analytical Applications" (M. A. DeLuca and F. McCapra, eds.), pp. 673–679. Academic Press, New York, 1981.
- S33. Smith, H. V., Mayambo, T. M., Dunlop, E. M., and Holmes, P. H., Analysis of drug binding to serum macromolecules using a biotin-strepatvidin enhanced chemiluminescent western blot technique. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 327–330. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- S34. Soini, E., and Lövgren, T., Time-resolved fluorescence of lanthanide probes and applications in biotechnology. Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem. 18, 105–154 (1987).
- S35. Southern, E. M., Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. J. Mol. Biol. 98, 503-517 (1975).
- S36. Stanley, P. E., Instrumentation. In "Clinical and Biochemical Luminescence" (L. J. Kricka and T. J. N. Carter, eds.), pp. 219–260. Dekker, New York, 1982.
- Stanley, P. E., Instrumentation for luminescence methods of analysis. *Trends Anal. Chem.* 2, 248–251 (1983).
- S38. Stanley, P. E., Characteristics of commercial radiometers. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca and W. D. McElroy, eds.), Vol. 133, pp. 587–603. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1987.
- Stanley, P. E., Bioluminescence and chemiluminescence in clinical microbiology and chemistry. *In* "Automation and New Technology in the Clinical Laboratory" (K. Okuda, ed.), pp. 263–268. I.U.P.A.C., Oxford, 1990.
- S40. Stanley, P. E., An electronic database of 11,000 entries dedicated to bioluminescence and chemiluminescence references. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 325–326. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- Stanley, P. E., and Kricka, L. J., eds., "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status." Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- S42. Stieg, S., and Nieman, T. A., Experimental and theoretical considerations of flow cell design in analytical chemiluminescence. Anal. Chem. 50, 401–404 (1978).
- S43. Stevens, P., Berdischewsky, M., and Huang, N.-Y., Chemiluminescence enzyme immunoassay for the detection of cytoplasmic protein antigens of *Candida Albicans. In* "Immunoassays: Clinical Laboratory Techniques for the 1980s" (R. M. Nakamura, W. R. Dito, and E. S. Tucker, III, eds.), pp. 205–212. Liss, New York, 1980.
- S44. Stiles, H. J., Bicknell, H. J., and Mathews, J. A., A rapid enhanced chemiluminescence immunoassay for allergen-specific IgE antibodies. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 1, 53–58 (1986).
- Stirling, C. J., Leaving groups and nucleo-fugality in elimination and other organic reactions. Acc. Chem. Res. 12, 198–203 (1979).
- S46. Stollé, R., N-substituted oxindoles and isatins. J. Prakt. Chem. 105, 137-148 (1922).
- S47. Stott, R. A. W., Wong, K. Y., Sankolli, G. M., Thorpe, G. H. G., and Kricka, L. J., p-Hydroxycinnamic acid enhanced chemiluminescent determination of peroxidase and peroxidase labeled oestradiol. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 32, 1073 (abstr.) (1986).
- S48. Strasburger, C. J., and Kohen, F., Two site and competitive chemiluminescence immunoassays. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. Willchek and E. Bayer, eds.), Vol. 184, pp. 481– 496. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1990.

- S49. Stryer, L., Fluorescence energy transfer as a spectroscopic ruler. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 47, 817–846 (1978).
- T1. Tabata, M., and Murachi, T., A chemiluminometric method for the determination of urea in serum using a three enzyme bioreactor. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 12, 63-67 (1988).
- T2. Tabata, M., Fukunaga, C., Ohyabu, M., and Murachi, T., Highly sensitive flow injection analysis of glucose and uric acid in serum using an immobilized enzyme column and chemiluminescence. J. Appl. Biochem. 6, 251–258 (1984).
- T3. Tabata, M., Kido, T., Endo, J., Totani, M., and Murachi, T., *Third World Biomater. Congr.*, Japan, Abstr. Trans., Vol. 11 (1988).
- T4. Tabata, M., Totani, M., and Murachi, T., A chemiluminescence automatic analyzer for the measurement of biological compounds. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 523–530 (1989).
- T5. Tanaka, K., Kato, H., Honda, T., and Schaap, A. P., Chemiluminescent detection of antibodies to thyroid peroxidase in serum of patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. *Clin. Chem.* (*Winston-Salem, N.C.*) 38, 1080 (abstr.) (1992).
- T6. Tenover, F. C., Carlson, L., Barbagallo, S., and Nachamkin, I., DNA probe culture confirmation assay for identification of thermophilic *Campylobacter* species. J. Clin. Microbiol. 28, 1284–1287 (1990).
- T7. Thorpe, G. H. G., and Kricka, L. J., Enhanced chemiluminescent reactions catalyzed by horseradish peroxidase. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca and W. D. McElroy, eds.), Vol. 133, pp. 331–353. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1986.
- T8. Thorpe, G. H. G., and Kricka, L. J., Enhanced chemiluminescent assays for horseradish peroxidase: Characteristics and applications. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: New Perspectives" (J. Schölmerich, R. Andreesen, A. Kapp, M. Ernst, and W. G. Woods, eds.), pp. 199–208. Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- T9. Thorpe, G. H. G., Bronstein, I., Kricka, L. J., Edwards, B., and Voyta, J. C., Chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassay of alpha-fetoprotein based on an adamantyl dioxetane phenyl phosphate substrate. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 35, 2319–2321 (1989).
- T10. Thorpe, G. H. G., Haggart, R., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., Enhanced luminescent enzyme immunoassays for rubella antibody, immunoglobulin E and digoxin. *Biochem. Bio*phys. Res. Commun. 119, 481–487 (1984).
- T11. Thorpe, G. H. G., Kricka, L. J., Gillespie, E., Mosely, S., Amess, R., Baggett, N., and Whitehead, T. P., (1985). Enhancement of horseradish peroxidase catalyzed chemiluminescent oxidation of cyclic diacyl hydrazides by 6-hydroxybenzothiazole. *Anal. Biochem.* 145, 96-100 (1985).
- T12. Thorpe, G. H. G., Kricka, L. J., Moseley, S. B., and Whitehead, T. P., Phenols as enhancers of the chemiluminescent horseradish peroxidase—luminol—hydrogen peroxide reaction: Application in luminescence monitored enzyme immunoassays. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* **31**, 1335–1341 (1985).
- T13. Thorpe, G. H. G., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., Applications of enhanced luminescent quantitation of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) labels in immunoassays. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* **31**, 913 (abstr.) (1985).
- T14. Thorpe, G. H. G., Moseley, S. B., Kricka, L. J., Stott, R. A., and Whitehead, T. P., Enhanced luminescence determination of horseradish peroxidase conjugates. Application of benzothiazole derivatives as enhancers in luminescence assays on microtitre plates. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 170, 101–107 (1985).
- T15. Thorpe, G. H. G., Stott, R. A. W., Sankolli, G. M., Catty, D., Raykundalia, C., Roda, A., and Kricka, L. J., Solid supports and photodetectors in enhanced chemiluminescent immunoassay. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: New Perspectives" (J. Schölmerich, R. Andreesen, A. Kapp, M. Ernst, and W. G. Woods, eds.), pp. 209–213. Wiley, Chichester, 1987.
- T16. Thorpe, G. H. G., Whitehead, T. P., Penn, R., and Kricka, L. J., Photographic monitoring of

enhanced luminescent immunoassays. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 30, 806-807 (1984).

- T17. Thorpe, G. H. G., Williams, L. A., Kricka, L. J., Whitehead, T. P., Evans, H., and Stanworth, D. R., A rapid luminescently monitored enzyme immunoassay for IgE. J. Immunol. Methods 79, 57–63 (1985).
- T18. Tizard, R., Cate, R. L., Ramachandran, K. L., Wysk, M., Voyta, J. C., Murphy, O. J., and Bronstein, I., Imaging of DNA sequences with chemiluminescence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 87, 4514–4518 (1990).
- T19. Topliff, C., Moon, C., and Shepherd, H., Immunometric assay for alpha-fetoprotein based on enhanced luminescence. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* **37**, 1040 (abstr.) (1991).
- T20. Townshend, A., Solution chemiluminescence: Some recent analytical developments. Analyst 115, 495–500 (1990).
- T21. Tsuji, A., Maeda, M., Arakawa, H., Matsuoka, K., Kato, N., Naruse, H., and Irie, M., Enzyme immunoassay of hormones and drugs by using fluorescence and chemiluminescence reaction. *In* "International Symposium on Enzyme-Labeled Immunoassay of Hormone and Drugs" (S. B. Pale, ed.), pp. 327–329. de Gruyter, Berlin, 1978.
- T22. Turner, G. K., Measurement of light from chemical or biochemical reactions. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Instruments and Applications" (K. Van Dyke, ed.), Vol. 1, pp. 43–78. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1985.
- T23. Turro, N. J., and Devaquet, A., Chemiexcitation mechanisms. The role of symmetry and spin-orbit coupling in diradicals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 3859-3862 (1975).
- T24. Turro, N. J., and Lechtken, P., Thermal decomposition of tetramethyl-1,2-dioxetane. Selective and efficient chemelectronic generation of triplet acetone. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 2886–2888 (1972).
- T25. Turro, N. J., and Lechtken, P., Thermal generation of organic molecules in electronically excited states. Evidence for a spin forbidden, diabatic pericyclic reaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 264–266 (1973).
- U1. Urdea, M. S., Kolberg, J., Warner, B. D., Horn, T., Clyne, J., Ku, L., and Running, J. A., A novel method for the rapid detection of hepatitis B virus in human serum samples without blotting or radioactivity. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 275–292. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- U2. Urdea, M. S., Running, J. A., Horn, T., Clyne, J., Ku, L., and Warner, B. D., A novel method for the rapid detection of specific nucleotide sequences in crude biological samples without blotting or radioactivity: Application to the analysis of hepatitis B virus in human serum. *Gene* 61, 253–264 (1987).
- U3. Urdea, M. S., Warner, B. D., Running, J. A., Stempien, M., Clyne, J., and Horn, T., A comparison of non-radiosotopic hybridization assay methods using fluorescent, chemilumin-escent and enzyme-labeled synthetic oligo-deoxyribonucleotide probes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 4937–4956 (1988).
- V1. Van den Berg, R. H., Jansen, E. H. J. M., Reinerink, E. J. M., and Zomer, G., Automated chemiluminescence measurements of transient and enzyme labels in microtitre plates. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 211–214. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- Van Dyke, K., ed., "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Instruments and Applications," Vols. 1 and 2, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1985.
- Van Dyke, K., Commercial instruments. In "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Instruments and Applications" (K. Van Dyke, ed.), Vol. 1, pp. 83–128. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1985.
- Van Dyke, K., and Castronova, V., eds., "Cellular Chemiluminescence." CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1987.

- V5. Van Dyke, K., and Koppikar, M., Simultaneous analysis of multiple luminescent samples using the phytolite imaging luminometer. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 45–56. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- Van Dyke, K., and Van Dyke, R., eds., "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications." CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1990.
- V7. Van Zoonen, P., Bock, H., Gooijer, C., Velthorst, N. H., and Frei, R. W., Quenched peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence detection in aqueous liquid chromatographic separations. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 200, 131-141 (1987).
- V8. Van Zoonen, P., Kamminga, D. A., Gooijer, C., Velthorst, N. H., and Frei, R. W., Flow injection determination of hydrogen peroxide by means of a solid-state peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence reactor. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 167, 249–256 (1985).
- V9. Van Zoonen, P., Kamminga, D. A., Gooijer, C., Velthorst, N. H., and Frei, R. W., Quenched peroxyoxalate chemiluminescence as a new detection principle in flow injection analysis and liquid chromatography. *Anal. Chem.* 58, 1245–1248 (1986).
- V10. Vlasenko, S. B., Arefyev, A. A., Klimov, A. D., Kim, kB. B., Gorovits, E. L., Osipov, A. P., Gavrilova, E. M., and Yegorov, A. M., An investigation on the catalytic mechanism of enhanced chemiluminescence: Immunochemical applications of this reaction. J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4, 164-176 (1989).
- Voyta, J. C., Edwards, B., and Bronstein, I., Ultrasensitive chemiluminescent detection of alkaline phosphatase activity. *Clim. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 34, 1157 (abstr.) (1988).
- W1. Wampler, J. E., Measurements and physical characteristics of luminescence. In "Bioluminescence in Action" (P. J. Herring, ed.), pp. 1–48. Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- W2. Wang, H. X., George, J., Thorpe, G. H. G., Stott, R. A., Kricka, L. J., and Whitehead, T. P., Enhanced luminescence enzyme immunoassay for factor VIII related antigen. J. Clin. Pathol. 38, 317–319 (1985).
- W3. Weeks, I., and Woodhead, J. S., Chemiluminescence immunoassay. J. Clin. Immunoassay 7, 82–89 (1984).
- W4. Weeks, I., Beheshti, I., McCapra, F., Campbell, A. K., and Woodhead, J. S., Acridinium esters as high specific-activity labels in immunoassay. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 29, 1474–1479 (1983).
- W5. Weeks, I., Campbell, A. K., and Woodhead, J. S., Two-site immunochemiluminometric assay for human α1-fetoprotein. Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.) 29, 1480–1483 (1983).
- W6. Weeks, I., Sturgess, M., Brown, R. C., and Woodhead, J. S., Immunoassays using acridinium esters. *In* "Methods in Enzymology" (M. A. DeLuca and W. D. McElroy, eds.), Vol. 133, pp. 366–367. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, 1986.
- W7. Weeks, I., Sturgess, M., Siddle, K., Jones, M. K., and Woodhead, J. S., (1984). A high sensitivity immunochemiluminometric assay for human thyrotrophin. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 20, 489–495 (1984).
- W8. Weeks, I., Woodhead, J. S., and Lucas, I., Development of a chemiluminescence immunoassay for the detection of hepatitis B surface antigen. Anal. Chim. Acta 266, 201-204 (1992).
- W9. Weerasekera, D. A., Kim, J. B., Barnard, G. J., and Collins, W. P., Measurement of serum thyroxin by solid-phase chemiluminescence immunoassay. *Ann. Clin. Biochem.* 20, 100–104 (1983).
- W10. Weerasekera, D. A., Kim, J. B., Barnard, G. J., Collins, W. P., Kohen, F., and Lindner, H. R., Monitoring ovarian function by a solid-phase chemiluminescence immunoassay. *Acta Endocrinol. (Copenhagen)* **101**, 254–263 (1982).
- W11. White, E. H., In "Light and Life" (W. D. McElroy and B. Glass, eds.), 1st ed., pp. 183–197. Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, Baltimore, MD, 1961.

- W12. White, E. H., and Bursey, M. M., Chemiluminescence of luminol and related hydrazides: The light emission step. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 86, 941–942 (1964).
- W13. White, E. H., and Roswell, D. F., Luminol chemiluminescence. Clin. Biochem. Anal. 16, 215-244 (1985).
- W14. White, E. H., Roswell, D. F., Dupont, A. C., and Wilson, A. A., Chemiluminescence involving acidic and ambident ion light-emitter. The chemiluminescence of the 9-acridine-percarboxylate anion. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 109, 5189–5196 (1987).
- W15. White, E. H., Roswell, D. F., Wei, C. C., and Woldes, P. D., Differences between excited states produced chemically and photochemically. Ion pairs of excited states. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 6223–6225 (1972).
- W16. White, J. A., Kricka, L. J., Thorpe, G. H. G., Williams, L. A., Wood, H., and Stott, R. A., Detection of rubella antibody status using a rapid enhanced chemiluminescence immunoassay. *In* "Luminescence Immunoassay and Molecular Applications" (K. Van Dyke and R. Van Dyke, eds.), pp. 333–336. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1987.
- W17. White, M. R. H., Craig, F. F., Watmore, D., McCapra, F., and Simmonds, A. C., Application of the direct imaging of firefly luciferase expression in single intact mammalian cells using charge-coupled device cameras. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 357–360. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- W18. Whitehead, T. P., Thorpe, G. H. G., Carter, T. J. N., Groucutt, C., and Kricka, L. J., Enhanced luminescence procedure for sensitive determination of peroxidase labeled conjugates in immunoassay. *Nature (London)* **305**, 158–159 (1983).
- W19. Wieringa, J. H., Strating, J., Wynberg, J., and Adam, W., Adamantylideneadamantane peroxide. A stable 1,2-dioxetane. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2, 169–172 (1972).
- W20. Wilson, T., Chemiluminescence in the liquid phase: Thermal cleavage of dioxetanes. Int. Rev. Sci.: Phys. Chem., Ser. Two, pp. 265–322 (1976).
- W21. Wilson, T., and Schaap, A. P., The chemiluminescence from cis-Diethoxy-1,2-Dioxetane. An unexpected effect of oxygen. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 4126–4136 (1971).
- W22. Wood, W. G., Rohde, C., and Jacobs, A., A comparison of commercially available luminescence enhanced enzyme immunoassay with in-house non-radioisotopic assays for thyroxine binding globulin and total thyroxine. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem. 26, 135–140 (1988).
- W23. Woodhead, J. S., Brown, R. C., Aston, J. P., and Weeks, I., Immunochemiluminometric assays. *In* "Complementary Immunoassays" (W. P. Collins, ed.), pp. 181–190. Wiley, Chichester, 1988.
- W24. Woodhead, J. S., Hebert, S. A., and Weeks, I., Immunochemiluminometric screening assays based on acridinium labels and microtitre plate luminometers. *In* "Bioluminescence and Chemiluminescence: Current Status" (P. E. Stanley and L. J. Kricka, eds.), pp. 167–170. Wiley, Chichester, 1991.
- W25. Worsfold, P. J., Chemiluminescence and bioluminescence (special issue). Anal. Chim. Acta 226, 147–369 (1992).
- W26. Worsfold, P. J., Farrelly, J., and Mathasu, M. S., A comparison of spectrophotometric and chemiluminescence methods for the determination of blood glucose by FIA. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 164, 103–109 (1984).
  - Y1. Yan, B., Lewis, S. W., Worsfold, P. J., Lancaster, J. S., and Gachanja, A., Procedures for the enhancement of selectivity in liquid phase chemiluminescence detection. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 250, 145–156 (1991).
  - Zaklika, K. A., Reaction mechanisms in chemiluminescence. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Sussex, UK (1976).
  - Zaklika, K. A., Kissel, T., Thayer, A. L., Burns, P. A., and Schaap, A. P., Mechanism of 1,2-dioxetane decomposition: the role of electron transfer. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 30, 35–44 (1979).

- Zaklika, K. A., Thayer, A. L., and Schaap, A. P., Substituent effects on the decomposition of 1,2-dioxetanes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 4916–4918 (1978).
- Zhou, A., Bonacci, M., Larsen, F., Comerci, C., Schubert, W., Tewari, P., Stamey, T., Andaloro, V., Nolan, J., and Blustein, B., Clinical evaluation of an automated chemiluminescence immunoassay for prostate specific antigen (PSA). *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 38, 1097 (abstr.) (1992).
- Zomer, G., and Stavenuiter, J. F. C., Chemiluminogenic labels old and new. Anal. Chim. Acta 227, 11-19 (1989).
- Z6. Zomer, G., Stavenuiter, J. F. C., Van den Berg, R. H., and Jansen, E. H. J. M., Synthesis, chemiluminescence, and stability of acridinium ester-labeled compounds. *In* "Luminescence Techniques in Chemical and Biochemical Analysis" (W. R. G. Bayens, D. De Keukeleire, and K. Korkidis, eds.), pp. 505–521. Dekker, New York, 1991.
- Z7. Zomer, G., Van den Berg, R., and Jansen, E. H. J. M., Optimal labeling of proteins with acridinium ester. Anal. Chim. Acta 205, 267–271 (1988).

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

## ESTROGEN AND PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR PROTEINS IN PATIENTS WITH BREAST CANCER

## Celia J. Menendez-Botet and Morton K. Schwartz

Department of Clinical Chemistry, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, New York 10021

1.	Introduction	185
2.	Mechanism of Action	187
3.	Prediction and Prognostic Usefulness of ERP/PRP	188
4.	Nuclear ERP versus Cytosolic ERP/PRP Prognostic Values	189
5.	Hormonal Therapy versus ERP/PRP Status	190
6.	Role of ERP/PRP in TAM Therapy	191
	6.1. Predictive Value of ERP/PRP Concentration after Tamoxifen Therapy	192
	6.2. Induction of ERP/PRP after Tamoxifen Therapy	192
	6.3. Combination of Tamoxifen and Hormone Therapy	193
	6.4. Combination of Tamoxifen and Radiation Therapy and Chemotherapy	193
7.	Chemotherapy versus ERP/PRP Status	194
8.	Radiation Therapy versus ERP Status	198
9.	Fine Needle Aspiration Impact on Receptor Analysis	198
10.	Role of ERP/PRP in α-Interferon Therapy	200
11.	Measurements of Receptors	201
	11.1. Specimen Collection and Preparation	201
	11.2. Biochemical Methods of Receptor Assays	202
	11.3. Cytochemical and Immunochemical Assays	204
	11.4. Possible Errors in Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Measurements	205
12.	ERP/PRP Content in Sequential Breast Biopsies	207
13.	ERP in Visceral Metastases	210
14.	Correlation with Epidemiology and Pathology	212
15.	ERP in Male Breast Cancer	216
16.	Role of ERP/PRP in Patients with Melanomas, Thyroid Cancer, or Prostate	
	Cancer	217
	References	217

#### 1. Introduction

Experiments conducted in many laboratories throughout the world have led to a recognition that steroid hormones generally affect biologic responses in target tissues through the mediation of high-affinity, specific binding proteins, called receptors, which are present in unique amounts in such responsive tissues. The large body of knowledge about the steroid hormone mechanism of action has been derived almost entirely from studies in which a radiolabeled steroid hormone has been used as the marker to elucidate the details of the interaction of the hormone with responsive cells.

The hormone dependency of breast cancer was first described by Sir George Beatson when he reported the dramatic beneficial effect of oophorectomy in two premenopausal women with advanced breast cancer (B2). The efficacy of oophorectomy was later studied (C1) in the treatment of premenopausal patients with advanced breast cancer. Of the 64 patients studied, a response to oophorectomy was observed in 68% of the patients with estrogen receptor protein (ERP) positive (+) tumors. There was no response in 86% of the patients with ERP negative (-) tumors. These results indicated that the ERP status in premenopausal breast cancer patients allows discrimination of those women who may benefit from oophorectomy. Huggins *et al.* showed that adrenalectomy was often effective after relapse following oophorectomy (H11, H12). Folca *et al.* first reported the uptake of labeled estrogen by human breast cancer tissue (F5). They demonstrated that when <sup>3</sup>H-hexestrol was injected into patients who were to undergo ablative adrenalectomy showed a correlation with higher uptake of radioactive estrogens by the tumor.

Jensen *et al.* (J2) and Terenius (T1) independently demonstrated *in vitro* the specific binding of radioactively tagged estrogens to those breast cancer specimens that had favorable clinical responsiveness. These experiments indicated that there were two general classes of breast cancer, those that show a significant accumulation of labeled estradiol *in vitro* and those that show no hormone uptake. Toft and Gorski established the usefulness of sedimentation analytical methods in the characterization of estrogen receptor from the cytosol of rat uterus (T4). Then Jensen *et al.*, using sucrose gradient analysis, showed that tumors from patients who responded to hormonal therapy contained estrogen receptor (J2).

Milgrom *et al.* first noted the presence of progesterone receptors in guinea pig uterus (M15) and Terenius reported their presence in cytosol from human breast tumor tissue using [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone (T2). Horwitz and McGuire demonstrated the presence of progesterone receptors in human breast cancer tissue and showed that the synthesis of this receptor is a marker for estrogen responsiveness (H9). Thus, a tumor that binds estrogen and reacts to this binding by producing progesterone receptor protein is a truly hormone-dependent tumor and might respond to endocrine therapy.

There is little doubt that the presence of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer tissue correlates very well with the response of the patient to endocrine therapy. ERP/progesterone receptor protein (PRP) measurements have been standard practice in the management of patients with breast cancer. In 1972, only 0.6% of United States patients had receptor assays, but, by 1981, 82% had such assays. Patients with ERP/PRP positive activity have a higher percentage of response to therapy than the women with either estrogen or progesterone positivity alone. It has been reported that 75–80% of estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor positive patients respond to therapy compared with 40 to 50% of estrogen receptor positive, progesterone receptor negative individuals and 25 to 30% of estrogen receptor negative, progesterone receptor positive patients (F1). Responses have been observed in 10% or less of estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor negative patients. The absolute concentrations of receptor protein seem to increase with age and the percentage of positive specimens is greater in postmenopausal women than in those who are premenopausal. Receptor protein is rarely found in medullary or papillary breast cancer (N3).

Hormone receptors may also be useful as prognostic indicators, particularly in node positive patients. The prognostic role in node negative patients is minimal. In node positive patients the hormone receptor positive patients seem to have a better prognosis for both disease-free and overall survival (N1). It has been observed that the measurement of the actual concentration of receptor is important in evaluation of survival (S4).

### 2. Mechanism of Action

The biochemical mechanism by which the reaction of estradiol and other estrogenic hormones with receptor substances elicits hormonal response has been the subject of extensive investigation. Toft and Gorski (T4) were among the first to detect estradiol receptor in cytosol from rat uterus. Shortly thereafter, Jensen (J4) employed fractionation techniques and autoradiography to demonstrate the accumulation of receptor in target cell nuclei. This, and subsequent experiments, served as the basis for a model for steroid-target cell interactions that has been accepted as dogma for almost two decades. It is believed that steroids are able to passively diffuse into target cells because of their low molecular weight. They are retained in the cytoplasm only in the presence of specific, intracytoplasmic receptor protein species by which they are bound. A hormone-receptor complex that is translocated into the nucleus is formed. The mechanism underlying translocation is unknown but is believed to be temperature dependent. Following translocation, the hormone-receptor complex is bound to specific DNA sites, after which transcription and translation occur. The end result is the formation of mRNA, new protein synthesis, and altered cell growth. Later convincing evidence indicated that ERP is not present in significant amounts within the cytoplasm of target cells, but instead is localized within the nucleus. This evidence was in two parts: immunohistochemical procedures employing monoclonal antireceptor antibodies invariably showed nuclear staining of target cells (K7) and probably, during processing for biochemical assay, unbound receptor dissolves out of the nucleus and diffuses into the cytosol. At present, it is still not clear as to how steroids are retained in the cytoplasm. Perhaps the amount of receptor needed for this task is extremely minuscule and below current limits of detection. It is possible that retention of steroids in cell cytoplasm and transport of them to the nucleus may be a function of lower-affinity receptors. It does not seem reasonable to expect steroids to be retained in the cytoplasm, and to diffuse through the cell matrix and into the nucleus, in a random fashion.

In most situations, progesterone receptors are believed to be synthesized as the result of a fully functional ERP complex as an end product of estrogen-stimulated pathways in breast cancer tissue. The measurement of PRP, therefore, has also become important in predicting hormone responsiveness. Additionally, PRP is significant in predicting disease-free survival.

#### 3. Prediction and Prognostic Usefulness of ERP/PRP

The presence of ERP/PRP in breast cancer tumors shows a high degree of concordance with response to endocrine therapy. Studies in breast cancer patients with positive nodes have (B6, B15, K9, K10) demonstrated that patients with ERP+ tumors have a longer survival rate than those with ERP- tumors. Relapse-free survival is more strongly associated with PRP+ than with ERP+ in patients without axillary node involvement (C4). This effect appears to be independent of the menopausal status of the patient (H3, A3). The likelihood of tumors containing ERP/PRP increases with the age of the patient (L2).

There is no doubt that patients who are both ERP+/PRP+ have a higher response to endocrine therapy at relapse. There are a substantial number of patients having either one or the other positive receptor status who also respond to hormonal therapy. It has been stated that ERP+ lesions are most likely to spread to bone, whereas those that are ERP- are more likely to develop visceral metastases, especially in liver or brain (K1). Most breast cancers exhibit significant steroid receptor heterogeneity at a cellular level in both positive and negative cells, but in negative cells can be shown to be highly proliferative (B1).

It has been suggested (K10) that the role of ERP in a better prognosis with respect to disease-free and overall survival is confined to subjects with positive axillary node involvement at the time of initial presentation. In node negative disease, the differences in prognoses are minimal if any. PRP status also has been associated with increased survival in node negative disease. However, recent data from patients with negative nodes who received adjuvant chemotherapy demonstrated no relationship between ERP status and disease-free survival. Therefore receptor status in node negative disease probably should not be used as either a prognostic factor or a criterion for deciding which form of adjuvant therapy is appropriate (M2).

Although ERP+/PRP+ node positive patients have a better prognosis than ERP-/PRP- node positive patients, both groups have a high enough risk for recurrence to warrant adjuvant systemic therapy. Receptor status together with nodal status may be helpful in identifying a subset of patients with a particularly poor prognosis who may be considered for more aggressive adjuvant therapy. In this regard, cytosolic PRP is more important than cytosolic ERP as a predictor of prognosis (C4).

#### 4. Nuclear ERP versus Cytosolic ERP/PRP Prognostic Values

Due to the failure to respond of approximately 40% of patients who were positive for cytosolic ERP and the response of 10% of patients who were negative to ERP (C4, H4), it was accepted that if the results were accompanied by PRP the predictive value would increase (D1). Another attempt to improve the predictive value of cytosolic ERP was the measurement of nuclear estrogen receptors in addition to the cytosolic ERP (L1). It was found that mixed combinations, whether cytosolic ERP+ nuclear- or cytosolic ERP- nuclear+, correlated with response rates of only 24 and 11%, respectively.

To further evaluate whether the addition of nuclear ERP has any predictive value, 95 patients were analyzed (L5) for cytosolic ERP and PRP and nuclear ERP. The incidence of cytosolic ERP+ was 74%, cytosolic PRP+ was 70%, and nuclear ERP+ was 52%. There was a trend to higher incidence of cytosolic ERP+ with increasing age, from 45% in patients less than 45 years old to 85% in patients over 70 years of age. The incidence of nuclear ERP+ was especially low among premenopausal patients, but it did not show constant correlation with age in postmenopausal women. There was 40% concordance of positivity, 14% concordance of negativity, and 46% nonconcordance in the three receptor assays, with a wide variety of other combinations.

Clinical correlation between the state of hormone receptors and disease-free and overall survival indicates a significant relationship between cytosolic ERP+ versus cytosolic ERP- patients. In the analysis of nuclear ERP patients, there was a trend toward better survival, but it was not significant compared with cytosolic ERP status. These results (G1, S5) failed to substantiate the report (L1) that nuclear ERP reinforces the accuracy of prediction obtained from cytosolic ERP and PRP measurements (L1).

The addition of quantitative nuclear ERP measurements does not offer a practical improvement to the predictive value of cytosolic receptors in the management of breast cancer patients. Therefore, clinicians should continue to rely on the experience accumulated thus far with cytosolic ERP and PRP measurements. This is true despite studies done on frozen tissue sections and analyzed by immunocytochemical staining techniques that indicated specific staining of ERP in the nucleus. The cytosolic receptor assayed by techniques using a homogenization step may be an artifact resulting from the partition of the free nuclear receptor into the cytosol when the cell is disrupted (K7, W2).

## 5. Hormonal Therapy versus ERP/PRP Status

Adjuvant endocrine therapy has been correlated with ERP and PRP status. The efficacy of ERP and PRP in predicting the response of breast cancer to endocrine therapy has been well established.

In the management of disseminated breast cancer, quantitation of ERP/PRP serves two functions: it predicts which patients are likely to benefit from hormonal manipulation, and it aids in characterizing the natural history of the disease. Receptor negative breast cancer is an aggressive disease characterized by a shorter disease-free interval and a tendency to recur at visceral sites. Survival in ERP-patients is shorter than in ERP+ patients (B6, J5, K13).

The majority of patients with disseminated ERP+ breast cancer will respond to hormonal manipulation. With subsequent relapses many of these patients respond to additional hormonal therapy. It is postulated that breast cancer is a heterogenous disease composed of hormone-sensitive and hormone-resistant clones, and that measurement of the estrogen receptor protein identifies the dominant cell population. Megestrol acetate (MEG) treatment of advanced breast cancer has achieved tumor regression in sensitive patients (M9).

MEG with or without premarin (PRE) was used in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer (C5). A total of 259 postmenopausal ERP+ patients were studied. Complete or partial response was obtained in 33% of the patients receiving MEG alone and in 27% receiving PRE/MEG. The median time to progression for the patients receiving MEG alone was 50% longer than in those receiving MEG/PRE. Based upon the results of this trial it was concluded that the addition of estrogen to a MEG treatment regimen does not potentiate the therapeutic effectiveness of MEG.

The prognostic value of ERP and disease status in response to hormonal therapy and time of progression was investigated (B13) in 119 postmenopausal ERP+ women with advanced breast cancer. They were treated with MEG or tamoxifen (TAM). A total of 12 (6 MEG, 6 TAM) patients achieved a complete response, 41 (18 MEG, 23 TAM) patients exhibited a stable response. The results were correlated with ERP and PRP status (high, intermediate, or low). On the basis of data from all patients, the following correlations were found: stable response correlated with ERP status; PRP correlated with soft tissue metastasis; PRP and complete response correlated negatively with bone metastasis; and complete response correlated with PRP+. With the MEG-treated patients the following correlations were found: stable response correlated with ERP; PRP correlated with soft tissue metastasis; and PRP+ correlated with complete remission. On the basis of data from TAM-treated patients, PRP correlated with soft tissue metastasis. For all patients with high PRP content and no prior chemotherapy, a longer time to progression was observed. No prognostic factors were seen in the patients treated with tamoxifen. Positive ERP/PRP patients experienced longer progression-free intervals when treated with MEG or TAM in a study (J6) with metastatic breast cancer patients. An absolute ERP relationship was shown with progression intervals.

The influence of medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) on ERP/PRP levels was studied in 20 postmenopausal patients with ERP/PRP+ primary breast cancers (N6). Each patient underwent needle biopsy and subsequent mastectomy. The biopsy and surgical specimens were assayed for the total ERP and PRP levels (cytosolic plus nuclear fractions) by enzyme immunoassay. Between the time of needle biopsy and that of mastectomy, 10 patients received no treatment (control group) and the other 10 patients were given MPA for 7 days. In the control group, the total ERP/PRP levels of the surgical specimens decreased by  $68.2 \pm 7.3\%$ and 60.7 +/- 8.4%, respectively, taking the receptor values of the needle biopsy specimen as 100%. In the MPA group, the total ERP/PRP levels of the surgical specimens decreased by 64.2 +/- 8.0% and 23.3 +/- 7.6%, respectively. The decrease in PRP, but not in ERP, was statistically significant between the control and the MPA groups. These results suggest that the MPA down-regulates PRP and not ERP in human breast cancer and challenges the conventional belief, extrapolated from the results on the endometrium and endometrial cancer, that MPA antagonizes endogenous estrogens by down-regulating ERP.

The predictive value of ERP/PRP levels was studied in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer treated with toremifene (V2). A total of 113 breast cancer patients with ERP/PRP positive status were treated with toremifene. The results indicated that ERP concentration predicts the duration of response but not the response rate to toremifene in patients with breast cancer. The PRP status did not predict the response rate or the duration of response.

## 6. Role of ERP/PRP in TAM Therapy

The relationship between hormone receptor status and the effect of adjuvant tamoxifen in early breast cancer remains controversial. TAM has been considered to be the hormonal agent of first choice for management of postmenopausal women with metastatic breast cancer (I1, I2). Recent studies (B4, V1) showed that response to tamoxifen was significantly related to ERP levels, but no benefit was observed among ERP negative patients. The relationship to PRP alone was of

borderline significance. Multivariate analysis indicated that most of the interaction between treatment and receptor content was explained by the interaction with ERP. PRP status appeared to modify the effect of tamoxifen on the ERP positive patients and the greatest effect was observed in patients who were positive for both receptors. However, the additional predictive information provided by the PRP assay did not help to identify patients who did not respond.

## 6.1. PREDICTIVE VALUE OF ERP/PRP CONCENTRATION AFTER TAMOXIFEN THERAPY

Several studies (B4, B10, M3) showed that the concentration of ERP and PRP in the tumor tissue is a statistically significant predictive factor for duration of response with tamoxifen. Similarly the time to recurrence of disease correlated with quantitative ERP and PRP levels in patients treated with tamoxifen or megestrol acetate. The ERP and PRP concentrations in tumor tissue predicted the duration of responses but not the response rate in patients with advanced breast cancer. In a study of 113 patients (V2), there was no significant difference in the ERP or PRP content in responding and nonresponding patients.

#### 6.2. INDUCTION OF ERP/PRP AFTER TAMOXIFEN THERAPY

An understanding of ERP and PRP status after TAM therapy is important. The duration of TAM therapy and the dose of TAM may obscure true receptor concentration. Care must be taken to stop TAM therapy for a period of time before biopsy of the tumor takes place. In a study (M10) of ERP and PRP content in the breast tumors of patients receiving TAM therapy, patients were biopsied before and after 3 weeks of TAM therapy. Therapy reduced the ERP concentration, whereas no changes were observed in PRP values. In premenopausal women plasma estradiol increased and in postmenopausal women there was a decrease in FSH. No changes were seen in progesterone, prolactin, luteinizing hormone, or testosterone levels. The effect of tamoxifen is mediated through ERP, but little is known about how it modulates breast cancer ERP. Kiang et al. (K6) suggested that, while patients are on tamoxifen, the conventional dextran-coated charcoal method does not yield reliable ERP data. This methodology deficiency can be circumvented by the use of an immunochemical assay. When the ERP content was measured by an enzyme immunoassay, there was a 3- to 4-fold increase in ERP content following exposure to TAM. The ERP content either was maintained or increased. It was implied that the content of ERP may be one of the mechanisms by which tamoxifen initiates its antitumor effect. Other studies (M19, N4) observed the concentration of PRP in breast tumors during TAM treatment. They found a 4.6-fold increase in the mean PRP content in postmenopausal women and a 2-fold increase in premenopausal patients after 3 to 7 days of TAM treatment. PRP induction produced by TAM treatment reached a peak at 3 days and leveled off at Day 7. After a longer TAM treatment (14 days), the induction of PRP was no longer observed.

#### 6.3. COMBINATION OF TAMOXIFEN AND HORMONE THERAPY

Tamoxifen has been considered the hormonal agent of first choice in the management of postmenopausal women with metastatic breast cancer (I2). Fluoxymesterone (FIU) is another agent with known antitumor activity (K4). Ingle et al. (I3) reported the results of a randomized trial comparing TAM alone and TAM plus FIU and concluded that the combination produced higher objective response rates and a longer time to disease progression. Only ERP+ patients were entered in the study. A subset of women 65 years of age or older with higher ERP content is of special interest. In this group, survival was statistically longer for the combination approach. Estrogen receptor protein was measured by an immunocytochemical technique in fine needle aspirates before TAM treatment. It was concluded that response to tamoxifen in the elderly patients was related to the fraction of cells that were ERP+ and ERP- and patients are better treated by surgery (H5). In another study the influence of TAM and medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) on estrogen and progesterone receptors was studied in 48 women with operable breast cancer (N5). TAM-MPA treatment significantly lowered the PRP content regardless of menopausal status, but ERP was lowered only in the postmenopausal women.

## 6.4. Combination of Tamoxifen and Radiation Therapy and Chemotherapy

The effects of postoperative radiation therapy combined with adjuvant chemotherapy and tamoxifen therapy have been studied (R11). The results indicated that postoperative radiation therapy played an important role in the primary management of postmenopausal women with high-risk breast cancer and that the addition of tamoxifen may further improve the results among ERP+ patients. There was a significant improvement in status in the ERP+ patients treated with tamoxifen and radiation therapy compared with women who received chemotherapy. There was also a trend toward improved overall survival. In contrast no benefit was observed among ERP- patients. It has been reported (B7, R3) that chemotherapy and tamoxifen improved the results achieved by chemotherapy alone, particularly in postmenopausal patients; tamoxifen was particularly effective in patients with higher ERP content. Side effects were more numerous and more severe in patients receiving chemotherapy (with or without tamoxifen). These studies support the view that the choice of therapy for postmenopausal ERP+ breast cancer patients with positive nodes is tamoxifen. In young ERP+ women tamoxifen may represent a safer alternative to chemotherapy since the addition of chemotherapy to tamoxifen did not significantly improve the effectiveness of TAM alone.

#### 7. Chemotherapy versus ERP/PRP Status

Adjuvant chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil (CMF) in early breast cancer prolongs relapse-free survival and overall survival in premenopausal patients, but has only a slight effect in postmenopausal patients (B9). Because chemotherapy causes ovarian suppression (D2) and breast cancer is responsive to endocrine therapy, it is important to know if, and to what extent, the effect of chemotherapy is mediated by ovarian suppression. The efficacy of ERP/PRP assays in predicting the response of breast cancer to chemotherapy has been studied by many investigators in their search for a marker that would prepict the tumor response.

ERP status was studied in pre- and postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer and correlated with clinical response to cytotoxic chemotherapy in a retrospective study (K5). These patients were treated with CAF (cyclophosphamide, adriamycin, 5-fluorouracil) or CMF (cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, 5fluorouracil); CMFV (CMF, vincristine); or CAFVP or CMFVP (CAFV or CMFV, prednisone). The data suggested that ERP+ tumors responded better to cytotoxic chemotherapy than ERP- tumors. However, within the ERP+ group, the premenopausal women appear to have a better chance of responding to chemotherapy than postmenopausal ones.

The prognostic usefulness of ERP in predicting response to cytotoxic chemotherapy was studied (H7) in pre- and postmenopausal women with advanced disseminated breast cancer and in patients receiving postsurgical adjuvant therapy. In both sets of patients, the response or failure to respond to chemotherapy was independent of ERP status.

Adjuvant chemotherapy with CMF administered to premenopausal women with axillary node positive breast cancer (B3) induced permanent ovarian suppression in 47 of 77 (61%) patients. After a median observation time of 37 months, the relapse-free and overall survival times were significantly longer for patients with permanent amenorrhoea. A strongly positive correlation between CMF-induced amenorrhoea and age of the patients, as well as between age and tumor PRP status, was found. The induction of ovarian suppression predominantly occurs in patients with PRP positive tumors and may add an endocrine effect to the cytotoxic action of adjuvant chemotherapy in this particular group of older premenopausal women.

The relation between estrogen and progesterone receptor status, menstrual status, relapse-free survival, and overall survival was analyzed in 411 patients with early breast cancer randomized to receive either postoperative adjuvant chemo-

therapy with CMF or no additional treatment (control) (P1). Prolongation of time to recurrence and survival was seen predominantly in premenopausal patients; these effects were seen only with tumors positive for steroid receptors, particularly PRP. Chemotherapy led to permanent amenorrhoea in 61% of premenopausal patients. The therapeutic effects of chemotherapy were seen only with CMFinduced permanent amenorrhoea in premenopausal patients. These findings support the hypothesis that the effect of adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer may be mediated by ovarian suppression.

This study also confirms the results of the first controlled trial of adjuvant CMF, namely that its effect differs in premenopausal and postmenopausal patients. Since CMF has no significant endocrine effect in postmenopausal patients (D2), the lengthening of relapse-free survival in favor of CMF for these patients is likely to be due to its direct cytotoxic effect. In contrast, the relapse-free survival for premenopausal patients shows that significant lengthening in favor of CMF is strongly associated with PRP positive tumors and induction of amenorrhoea, whereas there is no association between receptor status and CMF treatment in postmenopausal patients.

The relation of PRP status to the effects of CMF provides strong evidence of the importance of CMF-induced ovarian suppression in premenopausal patients. In a review of studies on the relation between steroid-receptor status and response to endocrine therapy in advanced breast cancer, PRP was shown to be the better predictor of response (C4). The similar but smaller effects of CMF in premenopausal patients with ERP positive tumors can be explained by the observation that about 60% of these tumors are also PRP positive. A major part of the effect of CMF in premenopausal patients with ERP negative tumors can be accounted for by the ERP negative, PRP positive subgroup (who would have a high probability of response to endocrine therapy). The possibility that CMF could have a preferential effect on PRP positive tumors is unlikely because of the lack of effect of CMF in postmenopausal patients with PRP positive tumors. Hence, CMF appears to act primarily through an endocrine effect secondary to ovarian ablation induced by chemotherapy. There is no firm evidence of synergism between endocrine therapy and chemotherapy or support for the suggestion that chemotherapy per se is more effective in premenopausal women. The possibility of a useful, but much smaller direct cytotoxic effect of CMF in premenopausal patients with receptor negative tumors cannot be excluded.

In a clinical study the change in the status and the concentration of ERP and PRP under cytotoxic chemotherapy was studied (J7). A total of 38 patients with locally advanced breast cancer were treated with cytotoxic chemotherapy, including adriamycin, cyclophosphamide, 5-fluorouracil, and prednisone. The concentrations of ERP and PRP in the tumor were studied before starting the chemotherapy and after one to nine courses of chemotherapy. This therapeutic response rate was not related to the initial level of ERP and PRP. After chemotherapy, there

was an increase in the ERP level in 14 cases out of 29 (59%) and in the PRP level in 17 out of 32 cases (53%). A therapeutic response was observed in 11 out of 17 cases when the PRP concentration was increased and in 3 out of 15 cases when the PRP concentration was either stable or decreased. These observations support the suggestion of selective initial activity of chemotherapy on lesser differentiated tumor cells.

Use of combined endocrine and cytotoxic chemotherapies is controversial, particularly for estrogen receptor positive postmenopausal breast cancer patients. In a prospective, randomized trial of 164 node positive patients (C8), those with ERP+ tumors received cytoxan, methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil, vincristine, and prednisone (CMFVP, 1 year) and tamoxifen or tamoxifen alone (3 years). Estrogen receptor negative patients received CMFVP. All patients had a modified radical mastectomy, and ERP+ premenopausal patients had a surgical oophorectomy. Among the ERP+ group, 14 of 43 premenopausal and 31 of 73 postmenopausal patients have relapsed. Comparison of CMFVPT and tamoxifen in the postmenopausal group reveals a 5-year disease-free survival among patients receiving CMFVPT of 77% compared with 53% for those receiving tamoxifen alone. Among the ERP+ premenopausal patients, 5-year disease-free survival for the CMFVPT group is 65% and for the tamoxifen group is 80%. At 5 years, 59% of ERP- patients are disease free. These results indicate that, for ERP+, node positive postmenopausal patients, tamoxifen alone may be suboptimal and consideration should be given to using combined chemoendocrine therapy.

An aggressive adriamycin containing regimen in ERP- patients with disseminated breast cancer was studied (M18). Sixty-four patients with disseminated breast cancer were treated with an aggressive chemotherapy program of prednisone, methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil, adriamycin (doxorubicin), and cyclophosphamide (PM-FAC). A response rate of 76% was seen in 44 ERP- patients, with 26% achieving complete responses. A total of 42% of 20 ERP+ patients demonstrated a response, but in none was a complete response achieved. Median response duration was 9 months for complete responders and 5 months for partial responders. The median survival for both groups of patients was 13 months. However, survival among the responding patients was less in the ERP- group (median, 14 versus 20 months). These findings suggest selective sensitivity of ERP- breast cancer to chemotherapy containing doxorubicin.

Hormonal therapy and chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone as adjuvant treatment in breast cancer was studied in 236 patients (H8). All presented axillary node involvement and had ERP levels greater than or equal to 10 fmol/mg protein and/or PRP levels greater than or equal to 15 fmol/mg protein. They were randomized to receive either chemotherapy alone, with 9 courses of cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and 5-fluorouracil over 6 months, or chemotherapy plus hormonal therapy, with tamoxifen for 2 years. The two groups of patients were comparable except for the mean number of axillary nodes involved (3.4 for the chemotherapy

group; 4.2 for the chemotherapy-hormonal therapy group). In premenopausal patients, amenorrhea was related to age and not to tamoxifen. A preliminary analysis with a 19-month median follow-up (8-41 months) indicated that the disease-free survival cure of patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy and hormone therapy (8 recurrences) is significantly better than that in those receiving adjuvant chemotherapy alone (15 recurrences). The efficacy of hormonal therapy is identical regardless of age, hormonal status, histological grade, and receptor levels.

Attempts have been made to combine cytotoxic drugs such as cis-Pt (cisplatin) with a hormone receptor-binding compound. The cis-Pt analogue meso-6-PtSO was synthesized with this rationale in mind. The complexing ligand meso-6 is a derivative of the nonsteroid synthetic estrogen hexestrol and is complexed to platinum(II) as the reactive cytotoxic element. The rationale for use of this drug was that it would promote a selective antineoplastic effect by targeting the platinum complex to ER+ positive tumor cells. The water solubility of the compound facilitated application to animals and cell culture experiments (K2).

The meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> has been tested for its selective antitumor effects on the ER+ and ER- MXT mammary tumors in the mouse. The Pt complex led to a marked reduction in tumor weight after a 6-week application to mice bearing the ERP+ MXT, while it displayed no tumor growth inhibition on the ERP- MXT tumor. In dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced mammary carcinomas in the Sprague-Dawley rat, tumor regression was observed as early as 7 days after beginning treatment with meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub>. The compound was much more effective than cis-Pt or the ligand (meso-6) alone (K2). Thus, meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> would appear to act selectively and with better efficacy on ERP+ mammary tumors than cis-Pt or the ligand. The action has been explained by the fact that the estrogenic ligand is selectively taken up and retained in ERP+ cells (K2). The Pt complex is brought into proximity to the DNA and interacts covalently with guanine bases. This reaction could lead to inhibition of transcription and DNA synthesis (P5). In accordance with this hypothesis meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> was studied for its effects on ERPmediated responses and for growth inhibition in cell culture (O2). Two human mammary carcinoma cell lines were used as a model system: the ERP+ MCF-7 cells and the ERP- MDA-MB. These cell lines have been used previously to screen the various Pt complexes for their selective effects on ERP+ tumor cells. The second aim of this study was to compare the *in vitro* results with previously published data obtained with this Pt complex in various animal systems. The results showed that meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> displays estrogen-like properties in ERP+ human mammary tumor cells by competing with estradiol for ERP-binding sites. It reduces the number of estradiol-binding sites and increases the level of progesterone receptor. Meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> showed cytotoxic activity by inhibiting proliferation of the ERP+ MCF-7 cells. This cytotoxic effect, however, did not seem to be mediated by the ERP.

The cytotoxic action of meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> in cell culture appears to be due to the Pt group. While possessing all the tested estrogenic properties, the ligand showed no, or merely a marginal, growth inhibitory effect. The results show that meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub> possesses both estrogen-like and cis-Pt-like properties. Since growth inhibition did not correlate with ER-mediated processes, these two properties are expressed independently at the cellular level. The selective growth inhibitory effect of meso-6-PtSO *in vivo* is suggested to involve endocrinological and/or immunological factors.

#### 8. Radiation Therapy versus ERP Status

Significant improvements in the recurrence-free survival after postsurgical radiation therapy have been reported for more than two decades (H10). The main effect of radiation therapy was the reduction of local metastatic recurrences, although there was also a significant reduction in distal metastases and a trend toward overall survival among node positive patients (H10). Conservative surgery in conjunction with breast irradiation has gained acceptance as an effective alternative to radical surgery therapy for early breast cancer. The equivalence of these treatment plans has been demonstrated by prospective clinical trials (F2). The influence of patient age on risk of recurrence was retrospectively studied (K16) in 496 stage I-II invasive ductal carcinomas treated by primary tumor excision followed by radiotherapy. With a median follow-up of 71 months, local recurrences occurred in 21% of the patients younger than 40 years old, compared with 11% of in the older patients. There was no significant difference between the EPR+ or the ERP- patients. In another study (K15) of 496 patients with infiltrating ductal carcinomas, there was a median follow-up of 71 months. Sixty (12%) patients developed recurrent cancer in the treated breast. Estrogen receptor status was not found to be a significant indicator of recurrence in these patients. In another study (E1) of 438 patients with intraductal carcinomas, estrogen receptor status was available in 58% of the cases. During a follow-up of 89 months, 23% of the patients developed distant relapse. There was no significant difference between ERP+ (29%) or ERP- (26%) patients.

#### 9. Fine Needle Aspiration Impact on Receptor Analysis

Whereas quantitative assays for ERP and PRP have repeatedly proved their clinical utility, the increasing use of breast tumor biopsies by fine needle aspiration requires an assay that is able to identify the ERP and PRP in small tissue samples. Immunocytochemical procedures are ideal for this and in Section 11.3 a detailed explanation of this method is given. The fine needle aspiration can be used as an

adjuvant aid for decreasing the false-negative rate of mammography and/or the breast palpatory examination. A palpatory, worrisome lesion of the breast that is either mammographically benign on nonvisualized mammographically can be subjected to the fine needle aspiration for further diagnostic evaluation. Cytologic evaluation, ERP, and PRP can then be performed.

There are several major advantages in fine needle aspiration. Aspiration biopsy is a nontraumatic procedure and can be repeated easily. This is important during the course of the disease, since this procedure could be used to plan hormonal therapy in metastatic disease (B14). Also, in metastatic disease one could apply the cytochemical technique to several metastatic lesions and thus obtain information on the receptor status of multiple lesions. This technique also has an advantage over surgical biopsies because some metastatic lesions, such as pleural effusions, ascites, or liver metastases, may not be amenable to surgical biopsy. This was demonstrated (L3) by hormonal receptor determination of pleural effusions using thoracoscopic examinations.

Several investigators have utilized fine needle aspirates for hormone receptor evaluation using an immunocytochemical method (ERICA; Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL) and compared the data with the quantitative values obtained by chemical methods [dextran-coated charcoal (DCC)] for both ERP and PRP. These data are shown in Table 1. There was a variation of 65 to 100% in concordance in the separate studies. The ERP immunocytochemical assay in fine needle aspirates was also compared with the immunochemical assay in biopsies with a concordance of 87% (R1). The role of the immunocytochemical assay of receptors is primarily in patients in whom surgical biopsies cannot be obtained or from whom the surgical specimen is too small.

Fine needle aspiration has limiting factors. There is a tendency for falsenegative results because of relatively few cells (poor cellularity) in the tumor aspirates, for which an estimation of the proportion of positively stained cells may not be accurate. It has also been shown (R1) that stroma-rich tumors often yield

AND DCC METHODS				
Author	ERP (%)	PRP (%)		
Reiner et al. (R2)	80			
Flowers et al. (F4)	89	—		
Massod (M4)	89	86		
McClelland et al. (M5)	85	_		
Hawkins et al. (H6)	65 and 63			
Schmitt (S3)	100			
Merle et al. (M14)	<u> </u>	85		

 TABLE 1

 Concordance Data between Aspirate ERICA

 and DCC Methods

too few cells for a cytologic diagnosis. The same is also true for special histologic tumor types that contain abundant stroma-like tumors as seen in invasive lobular or tubular carcinomas (K12). False-negatives results were found in cases in which the lower values of the staining index are derived almost entirely from the small percentage of the cells showing staining. The assay was also found (H6) not to be sufficiently sensitive in some premenopausal women, with low levels of receptor values obtained by biochemical assay. A minimum of tumor cells, perhaps 20 (H6), is required as an adequate sample for assessment: although staining may be visible in a lesser number of cells, the small number of cells may be insufficient to take possible heterogenicity into account. Last and most importantly the immunocytochemical assay must be performed by an experienced breast cytopathologist. Nonagreement between fine needle aspiration and tissue assays may also be due to intratumoral sampling variations, aspiration of occasional normal breast ductal epithelial cells, and poor sample handling, as well as delay in freezing freshly made smears. Another possible pitfall in interpretation of the immunocytochemical assays in fine needle aspiration breast samples is nonspecific cytoplasmic reactions due to endogenous peroxidase expression by some leukocytes, histiocytes, and in particular erythrocytes. In addition, areas of fat tissue are also occasionally weakly stained (M6).

It may not be possible to obtain better correlation between the cytochemical and the biochemical methods for aspirates and excision biopsies due to the heterogeneity of breast tumors with respect to receptor concentration. Earlier studies demonstrated that cells from different areas of a tumor may show different characteristics (K12).

#### 10. Role of ERP/PRP in $\alpha$ -Interferon Therapy

Interferon induces a number of genes and proteins. There is evidence in human breast cancer, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, that hormone receptors may be among these induced proteins. We have studied (H3) *in vivo* the effect of interferon on hormone receptors in human breast cancer. Two patients with primary breast cancer and seven patients with metastatic breast cancer accessible for multiple biopsies have been studied. The initial biopsy tissue was frozen at -70°C; the patients received therapy for 14 days. A second biopsy was then performed and the ERP and PRP from first and second biopsies were determined simultaneously (to reduce intertest variability) by the DCC method. Among five patients initially ERP/PRP negative, one converted to positive (ERP/PRP 0.9/0 to 26/79 fmole/mg protein). Among four patients initially ERP positive, two have demonstrated increases in receptor levels (ERP/PRP 34/74 to 127/116 and 107/0 to 171/1.2 fmole/mg protein). One patient (ERP/PRP 107/0 fmole/mg protein) whose disease was progressing after three prior hormone trials including tamoxifen, continued to

200

be treated with a combination of tamoxifen and  $\alpha$ -interferon and achieved a partial response lasting 5 months. Other investigators (B5, V3) studied the mechanism of the interaction of  $\alpha$ -interferon and tamoxifen. The synergistic effect was most marked after 72 hr of pretreatment with interferon, when the maximum interferon-induced increase of estrogen receptor concentration is evident. The mechanism is thus probably due to an increase of the cellular receptor as a ligand for tamoxifen binding and suggests a possible role for the clinical use of interferons combined with tamoxifen.

#### 11. Measurements of Receptors

#### 11.1. Specimen Collection and Preparation

Hormone receptors are heat-labile proteins. Immediately after surgical removal of the specimen, the tissue should be chilled and kept at 4°C to ensure receptor stability during pathology review. At room temperature the half-life of receptors is about 2 hr. Special care must be taken to avoid direct contact with saline or formalin and direct injection of the tumor with lidocaine, since this may falsely decrease estrogen and progesterone receptor values (M11).

The tumor should be trimmed from adjacent fat and normal tissue. The specimen should be immediately examined by a pathologist to ensure that a representative sample of tumor has been chosen (M12). It is recommended that this examination be done within 5 min after the tissue is excised. The specimen should then be frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C. Results with several human breast tumor samples examined at intervals of 2 months indicate that the estrogen receptor showed no significant loss in binding capacity over several months in tissues that were quick frozen at -86°C (W3). Studies have shown that lyophilization of cytosol followed by storage at 4°C may be a method for conveniently preserving samples for the estrogen receptor assay, but the progesterone receptor may be too unstable for this technique (B8, C2). The receptor stability is markedly influenced by pH, with maximum stability at approximately pH 7.4 to 7.8 (A2). High salt concentrations can cause changes in receptor form without a loss of binding properties (H2, P3). When using the DCC assay, low protein concentrations in the assayed nuclear or cytosol fraction may influence the estimation of binding capacity and affinity, particularly with receptor-poor tumors (P6). The general consensus is that the lowest acceptable limit of protein for most standard assays is 1 mg/ml in tumor cytosol with high receptor activity and 3 mg/ml in tumor cytosol with low receptor activity.

Miller *et al.* found that receptor integrity is promoted if 10-20 mM molybdate is included in the extraction buffer (M16). It was proposed that molybdate may provide protection against specific proteolytic cleavage by stabilization of the

phosphate group. In a study by Anderson *et al.* (A1) the addition of molybdate to the buffer increased both the percentage of progesterone receptor positive breast tumor samples and the absolute receptor levels. The effect of molybdate on estrogen receptor assays was less evident, although in some samples small increases in estrogen receptor levels occurred. This was later confirmed (B11) when the PRP binding capacity in a series of 75 patients who were analyzed for ERP and PRP, before and after molybdate incorporation, was found to be significantly higher. Some studies have found that buffers containing dithiothreitol also exert a stabilizing action on receptors through protection of sulfhydryl groups (B12, H2), whereas others report no effect on receptor binding sites (K3).

In our laboratory, the specimens are collected following dissection by a pathologist, trimmed of fat as necessary, weighed, minced, and homogenized with a Polytron homogenizer in 4 vol of 10 mM 2-{[2-hydroxy-1,1-bis(hydroxymeth-yl)ethyl]amino}ethanesulfonic acid (TES) and 12 mM thioglycerol buffer containing 250 mM sucrose and 20 mM molybdate. The homogenization is carried out in an ice bath using three 15-sec pulses with 45-sec pauses for cooling. The homogenates are then centrifuged at 105,000g for 1 hr at 2°C. Aliquots of the supernatant (cytosol) are analyzed for receptor protein and total protein. A variety of ultraviolet and colorimetric methods have been used for cytosol total analysis. In our laboratory we use the method of Lowry *et al.* (L6).

#### 11.2. BIOCHEMICAL METHODS OF RECEPTOR ASSAYS

Various biochemical methods have been used to detect the presence of steroid hormone receptors. The most useful methods are described.

#### 11.2.1. Sucrose Density-Gradient Ultracentrifugation

Sucrose density-gradient ultracentrifugation provides data regarding the sedimentation velocity of proteins as a function of their molecular weight and density (S7, T4). Usually cytosol is first incubated with radiolabeled ligand, with or without competitor, and then layered on prepared gradients. The gradients are centrifuged (F8) and the fractionated samples are collected and counted. Standards are run in the gradient tubes for comparison with known markers. Such markers include <sup>14</sup>C-labeled bovine serum albumin (4.6 S) or human IgG (approximately 6.8 S). When molybdate was not used, most tumor cytosols displayed the presence of an 8 S estrogen receptor form, whereas some contained an additional 4 S form (W3). The receptor-bound progesterone without molybdate present sediments in the 8 S region of the gradient (H9) but with molybdate the density is increased and the absolute amounts of receptor markedly increases (S7). Since only one concentration of steroid is usually utilized, no data are obtained regarding the binding affinity of the ligand for the receptor. The method provides valuable data regarding molecular forms of the receptor, although it is a slow, expensive way to quantitate steroid receptor binding.

#### 11.2.2. High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

HPLC is a method for the analysis and characterization of steroid receptors based on characteristics such as molecular weight. Qualitative relationships and multiple forms of the receptor can be maintained by the rapid gel-exclusion system, and contaminants can be readily identified (P2). Advantages of using HPLC include rapid analysis time, minimal receptor modification, improved resolution, and high reproducibility. Unfortunately the HPLC assay is tedious, requiring saturation analysis for each sample and quantitative validity has not been established for this procedure. Other disadvantages associated with HPLC methods include the requirement for expensive equipment and sophisticated technical skills. Therefore, HPLC analysis of receptor proteins is currently used only in research studies.

#### 11.2.3. DCC Assay

The DCC assay is dependent upon the capacity of charcoal to adsorb free hormone, whereas the addition of dextran limits the absorption of the hormone–receptor complex by the charcoal (K14). By using increasing concentrations of radiolabeled hormone and a concurrent range of unlabeled hormone competitors, titration of the receptor to a saturation end point occurs.

Specific or saturable binding can be calculated by subtracting the nonspecific or nonsaturable binding from the total binding to both specific and nonspecific sites. The values derived from these binding experiments can be used to calculate the total number of binding sites, expressed as femtomoles per milligram protein, and the  $K_d$  or dissociation constant. The  $K_d$  is a measure of the affinity of the receptor for the steroid and is approximately the concentration of free steroid at which one-half of the receptors are saturated (S2).

Several groups have demonstrated excellent quantitative correlation regarding estrogen receptor analysis between the DCC assay and sucrose density-gradient methods (A1, C2, H1), although Chester *et al.* (C3) found the DCC assay for estrogen receptor to be more sensitive than the sucrose density-gradient analysis and this difference was more pronounced when molybdate was absent.

The DCC assay is currently the most popular method for evaluating estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor because it is simple, inexpensive, sensitive, and accurate and because several samples can be processed simultaneously. This is the method that was in use in the Department of Clinical Chemistry at the Memorial Sloan–Kettering Cancer Center from 1973 through 1990. We have replaced this method with a quantitative immunochemical method (EIA) from the Abbott Laboratories (North Chicago, IL).

#### 11.3. Cytochemical and Immunochemical Assays

Reagents for the fluorescent cytochemical assay of estrogen and progesterone assays are available in the United States and are FDA approved (Zeus Scientific, Inc). There has not been absolute correlation of these techniques with biochemical methods (P3).

Monoclonal antibodies to human estrogen receptor have also been used to develop an immunocytochemical assay (ICA) for estrogen receptor in breast cancers (K11). Frozen sections of human breast adenocarcinomas are thaw mounted on uncoated glass slides, fixed in graded ethanols, and then incubated with one or more monoclonal rat anti-estrogen receptor antibodies. Receptorbound antibodies are visualized by the indirect immunoperoxidase method. Four different monoclonal antibodies (D75, D547, H222, and H226), each known to recognize unique determinants on the receptor molecule, detected only nuclear estrogen receptor by this ICA method, although all four antibodies bound both cytosol and nuclear forms of estrogen receptor in tissue extracts. From these studies it has been concluded that intact tissue contains only the nuclear form of the receptor, and cytosolic receptors are the result of tissue homogenization. There was a good correlation between the semiquantitative results from ICA and those from sucrose density-gradient analysis of the breast tumor cytosol. The intensity of nuclear staining was proportional to the amount of estrogen receptor determined by the sucrose density-gradient analysis and was always absent in the receptor negative tumors (P4).

In the United States a commercially available antibody "kit" for the immunocytochemical assay (Abbott ER-ICA monoclonal kit) has been approved by the FDA. This method is stated by the manufacturer to eliminate estrogen receptor contributions of normal or benign epithelium. The ICA permits ERP or PRP measurements on small specimens including fine needle aspirates. The clinical utility of ICA has been shown in a number of studies (C6, K11, M6).

The development of specific monoclonal antibodies to the estrogen and progesterone receptor protein allows detection of the receptor by enzyme immunoassay (EIA), independent of the binding labeled hormone by the receptor (G2, G3, W1). Production of monoclonal antibodies against the estrogen and the progesterone receptor proteins has permitted the development of ERP and PRP assays based on direct antigenic recognition rather than steroid binding activity (J3). By eliminating many sources of variability, these assays, which directly measure receptor protein, have the potential for improving their degree of quantitation.

Our comparisons (M13) between the EIA and the DCC methods showed the EIA to be a viable alternative to the DCC in regard to both performance and cost. The linear regressions were as follows: for ERP,  $y = 5.0 \pm 1.96x$ , r = 0.928, and x = DCC; for PRP,  $y = 5.0 \pm 3.20x$ , r = 0.934, and x = DCC. The concordance calculated for the ERP assays was 100% (75/75) and therefore the sensitivity and

specificity of the EIA compared with those of the DCC were also 100%. The concordance calculated for the PRP assays was 84% (66/78). The sensitivity of the EIA compared with that of the DCC was 90.9% (30/33) and the specificity was 80% (36/45). The EIA was found to be a faster assay for use in clinical chemistry laboratories, offering a method that can be universally applied to give a consistent cutoff from laboratory to laboratory. Other studies (M17, T3) showed similar results suggesting that the EIA yielded the more "biologically correct result."

In conclusion biochemical and immunocytochemical hormone receptor assays should complement each other until the accuracy in identification of patients with hormone-responsive carcinomas is further improved.

# 11.4. POSSIBLE ERRORS IN ESTROGEN AND PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR MEASUREMENTS

#### 11.4.1. False-Negative Results

In a few clinical situations, an assay for estrogen receptor is negative but hormonal response is seen. The major factors that may contribute to this condition are inappropriate specimen collection, improper storage, or excess manipulation during the assay procedure. The estrogen receptors are thermolabile, pH- and ionic-strength-dependent, unstable proteins. During collection the specimen must always be kept cold and transported in a petri dish over ice to its storage in a Revco at  $-70^{\circ}$ C. Every tissue must be examined by a pathologist in order to obtain a well-trimmed specimen, containing only the tumor, to avoid a dilution factor. During the assay procedure, care must be taken not only to keep the sample at 0–4°C but also to prevent foaming during homogenization, which may inactivate the receptor by oxidation (S6).

Another source of error is a low protein concentration in the assayed sample. Poulsen (P6) found that with low protein, doubling the protein concentration of the cytosol proportionately increases the specific activity of the receptor. Once a critical amount is present (1–3 mg protein/ml), the receptor activity approaches a constant level.

In biochemical methods, the interference of non-receptor binders such as albumin, corticosteroid-binding globulin (CBG), and sex-hormone-binding globulin (SHBG), which are present in tumor specimens (C2), also causes problems. The assay specificity can be enhanced by the appropriate choice of labeled steroid and cold competitor. Diethylstilbestrol has affinity for receptor equal to that of unlabeled estradiol but the affinity for SHBG is far lower than that of unlabeled estradiol. Another approach is to add a steroid that binds the interfering competitor but does not bind the receptor (C2). An additional factor that can affect receptor levels in the DCC assay is the level and time of charcoal exposure. When excess charcoal concentration is used, a significant decrease in the protein content of the
cytosol occurs (P6). Prolonged exposure of the hormone-receptor complex to charcoal suspension during the DCC assay results in dissociation of the complex, with falsely reduced or false-negative assay values. Endogenous estrogen levels might be responsible for altering the receptor-estrogen complex and giving false-negative results. In order to evaluate the impact of endogenous estrogen levels on ERP measurements, we measured the estradiol receptor content together with the endogenous estrone and estradiol concentrations in human breast tissue cytosols (F3). There was no evidence for a relationship between high estrogen levels and low receptor measurement, although ERP+ tumor cytosols contained a statistically significant greater estradiol concentration than those of ERP- tumors or of normal tissue.

## 11.4.2. False-Positive Results

One of the most common explanations for unresponsiveness of apparently estrogen receptor positive tumors to hormonal therapy is tumor heterogeneity. We found that 38% of the results change when comparing the estrogen receptor proteins from the primary tissue with those from the metastatic tissue. Although there are extrinsic factors, as already mentioned, there could be intrinsic factors that alter the receptor measurement. These findings underscore the need to conduct biopsies and assay readily accessible recurrences rather than to rely on the results of prior specimens. Variation of results also occurred with metastatic tissue from some patients, obtained usually after a period of 19 months (R4).

Lippman (L4) and McGuire (M8) showed that this heterogeneity of receptor status is only one of the reasons why endocrine therapy is ineffective in approximately 40% of patients with estrogen receptor positive tumors. In addition to this problem, there is evidence that some cells have various types of receptor defects distal to the initial binding step. It was also found that some variant cells may be able to bind estrogen in the cytoplasm but not translocate the receptor to the nucleus; others are defective at the intranuclear level (N1, N2). Sato et al. (S1) have proposed a cytoplasmic factor in some estrogen receptor positive, endocrineresistant tumors, which may inactivate the DNA binding site for the nuclear receptor. In some cases, nuclear translocation of receptor and binding to chromatin occur, but enhancement of transcription or translation is impaired. The accumulation of progesterone receptor in the cell, for the most part, indicates that the entire schema of events involving estrogen action is functional (M7). Cells that are estrogen receptor positive and progesterone receptor negative may harbor one or several defects in hormonal mechanism, thus possibly explaining decreased responsiveness in comparison with cells that are positive for both receptors.

In some cases, especially premenopausal patients, tumor responsiveness may potentially occur, but the hormonal alteration employed as therapy, such as oophorectomy or tamoxifen administration, does not alter ambient hormonal concentration sufficiently for an objective response to occur (M1).

### 11.4.3. Reporting of Hormone Receptor Values

In our institution, we initially (1973) determined ERP/PRP by the DCC method. With this method a tumor is positive if the specific receptor protein is equal to or greater than 6 fmole/mg protein and the dissociation constant ( $K_d$ ) is equal to or greater than 5 × 10<sup>-9</sup>M. These values are derived from cytosol binding data and require receptor values of at least 10 fmole/mg protein with an inhibition of at least 60% by unlabeled hormone. The specific ERP or PRP content (obtained by multiplying the hormone receptor value by the percent inhibition) must therefore be equal to at least 6 fmole/mg protein. Borderline results are reported when the hormone receptor is less than 10 fmole/mg protein or the percent inhibition is less than 60% but the specific ERP or PRP is 6 fmole/mg protein or greater. Although borderline values suggest a low but detectable amount of receptor binding, the value are below the limits for an accurate determination. Since 1991, we have been using a quantitative immunochemical method (EIA) (Abbott Laboratories, North Chicago, IL). The cutoff is 15 fmole/mg protein for either ERP or PRP.

### 11.4.4. Quality Control

Quality control was carried out in our laboratory by simultaneous measurements of aliquots of a preparation of rabbit pregnant and nonpregnant uteri that we prepared for the DCC method. The commercial EIA kit includes control material. In the United States and in Europe there are national programs devoted to providing quality control material and to collecting data from participants to permit laboratory to laboratory comparisons and initiation by individual laboratories of steps to improve their performance.

### 12. ERP/PRP Content in Sequential Breast Biopsies

According to present knowledge, hormonal control of a target cell is receptor dependent. The presence of steroid hormone receptors in breast cancer allows a prediction of the expected clinical response to endocrine manipulation. The importance of ERP/PRP in patients with breast cancer is threefold: (1) as a prognostic tool, because patients lacking steroid receptors represent a high-risk group, having earlier and more recurrences; (2) as a tool for predicting endocrine adjuvant treatment response to tamoxifen, therapy which is receptor mediated, as may be the response to combined chemohormone therapy; and (3) as a tool for selection of treatment in metastatic breast cancer, because patients with receptor positive tumors demonstrate a 60–80% remission rate.

With an understanding of the critical uses of receptors, it is important to be aware of differences in biopsies from the same patient. Levels of ERP/PRP were measured in multiple tumor and lymph node biopsies and in sequential biopsies with and without intervening therapy (J1). In these tumor samples, an 85% concordance was found for ERP and an 86% concordance for PRP. In the simultaneous tumor and lymph node metastases, an 86% concordance was found for ERP and a 76% concordance for PRP. These results correlated with our preliminary studies (R7) with ERP. In correlations of receptor status in primary tumor and subsequent metastasis, there was a concordance of 55% for ERP, somewhat lower than our findings of 80% concordance.

The data obtained in this study suggest that two or more samples of breast carcinomas obtained at different times from one patient will have similar ERP/PRP properties only about 76-85% of the time. A somewhat greater degree of variability was found between a primary tumor and subsequent metastases if multiple metastases were evaluated at different times. It is unlikely that differences in the precision of measurement are responsible for the variations observed. When the patients had endocrine treatment between biopsies, a 57% correlation with ERP status was found between the two biopsies and a 67% correlation with chemotherapy treatment. Sequential biopsies of breast cancer tissue were studied (C7) from a total of 210 women in order to assess any change in ERP status arising spontaneously or as a result of intervening therapy. A combined assay measuring both cytosol and nuclear estrogen receptors was used for all samples. A total of 155 patients had biopsies of their primary tumors and of later recurrences; 26 had biopsies of their primary tumors and recurrences of new primary tumors in the opposite breast; and 29 had sequential biopsies of recurrent disease only. Overall only 61.2% of the primary tumors retained their original status with respect to both cytosol and nuclear estrogen receptors upon recurrence. These results were influenced by intervening therapy, however, and, if only untreated patients are considered, over 70% of their recurrences contain the same combination of cytosol and nuclear receptors found in the primary tumors. For tumors "recurring" in the opposite breast, the pattern was similar, with 69% retaining the same status as the first primary. The agent found most likely to alter ERP status was tamoxifen and, in the samples taken from patients undergoing treatment with this drug, no tumor was found to contain measurable receptor.

It has been recognized that ERP and especially PRP levels in primary breast carcinomas have a major prognostic implication. Aside from lymph node status, they are the second most important prognostic parameter. It has been suggested that during the history of breast cancer a dedifferentiation occurs. One has to be cautious to draw final conclusions from these results and from data currently available in the literature. First of all, the number of patients is small, especially of patients with sequential biopsies without intervening therapies, and our study, as well as others, is retrospective. Furthermore, usually the first of sequential receptor determinations was performed in the primary tumor, which can add to the variability not due to intervening therapy. The reported studies used different therapeutic regimens that might not result in similar receptor changes. Furthermore, some differences between two receptor determinations may be due to assay variations. Keeping these points in mind, we have drawn the following conclusions:

- 1. Variation in ERP levels from simultaneous tumor or tumor/lymph node biopsies can be seen in 15% of specimens. The discordance rate between tumor and lymph node metastases in PRP is 25%. This difference can partly account for the nonresponders with ERP+ or PRP+ tumors after endocrine treatment.
- In sequential biopsies one has to expect a more frequent change from receptor+ to receptor- than the opposite. This holds true especially for PRP. Obviously important biological changes in the behavior of carcinoma cells occur over time.
- 3. After intervening endocrine treatment, ERP and PRP levels significantly decrease. This might reflect a selective pressure on ERP+ and PRP+ carcinoma cells. Therefore, recurrent lesions should be assayed for ERP and PRP levels if possible. However, prospective studies should clarify the prognostic importance of receptor levels in metastatic tissue as well as the role of intervening chemotherapy, especially for sequential PRP determination.

Intrinsic tumor variability is another possible explanation of the difference seen (R7). Histologic pleomorphism is a well-known characteristic of breast cancer. It is also reasonable to expect that malignant cells will not be entirely uniform physiologically. Current methods of analysis that depend upon homogenates of relatively large samples of tissue obviously obscure evaluation of any such intrinsic differences between individual cells.

Anatomic studies indicate that mammary carcinomas often arise in multiple independent foci within a breast. Variations in the chromosomal patterns of tumor cells have been seen in breast and other types of carcinomas. Most breast tumors can be classified on the basis of a dominant growth pattern upon histological examination. However, it is common to find focal variations in these features and occasionally two or more distinct types of carcinomas are found in the same tumor or in different parts of the breast. We have shown (R6) that ERP properties of mammary carcinomas may be influenced by their histological classification. In view of these observations, it would not be surprising that anatomically separate metastases might differ in their ERP properties. To some extent, therefore, variation in ERP properties is probably an intrinsic characteristic of mammary carcinomas. In addition to the intrinsic variability of breast carcinomas, consideration must be given to factors external to the tumor that might affect ERP.

Other extrinsic factors have also been considered (R7). The overall hormonal milieu influences cell growth and can apparently exert a selective influence on the proliferation of transplanted mammary carcinoma cells with specific ERP properties. This suggests that hormonal manipulation could affect ERP properties of

specimens of human metastatic carcinomas analyzed after therapy. Even if growth is not altered, exogenous estrogens could interfere with ERP measurement and it is apparent that hormones produced within the tumor tissue could have a similar effect. However, no conclusions could be drawn with regard to the patients presented in this report since there were insufficient specimens obtained after hormonal therapy. There was also no evidence that natural change in menstrual status was responsible for any variations that were observed.

It is, of course, well known that radiation therapy can affect the viability of mammary carcinomas and change their histological appearance. Review of the cases presented in this report (R7) revealed no consistent relationship between radiation therapy and variations in ERP.

## 13. ERP in Visceral Metastases

In our experience (M7), 54% of primary breast carcinomas contain significant amounts of estrogen receptor protein compared with 42% of metastatic deposits. By far the most common sources of the metastases submitted for assay are skin, lymph nodes, and other nonvisceral soft tissue sources. The visceral metastases are the ones in which response to treatment is generally most important clinically, yet there is little information in the literature concerning the estrogen receptor protein status of visceral metastases.

In addition, it has been known for some time that metastases to lung, brain, and liver do not usually respond to endocrine ablation. What is not known, however, is whether this phenomenon represents some inherent protective effect provided by these organs or metastases to these organs simply tend to have low estrogen receptor protein values. If the former explanation is true, ERP- visceral metastases should not respond as well as ERP positive metastases from other sites. These questions prompted a review of our experience with estrogen receptor protein (J5).

All patients were female, 33 were white, and 1 was black. In Table 2 we correlated the status of ERP with 15 patients with liver metastases. A total of 6

ERP status	Patients (n)	Evaluable patients who had endocrine ablation	Evaluable patients who responded <sup>a</sup>				
Positive	4	3	3				
Negative	11	9	2				

TABLE 2 ERP STATUS IN LIVER METASTASES

<sup>*a*</sup>A  $\chi^2$  test, using Yates' correction, yielded 0.1 > p > 0.05.

patients were premenopausal, 2 were ERP+, and 4 were ERP-. The remaining 9 were postmenopausal, 2 were ERP+, and 7 were ERP-. In the ERP+ patients, 50% responded to endocrine therapy and in the ERP- patients only 18% responded.

Eighteen patients had estrogen receptor protein determinations done on lung metastases from breast carcinomas (Table 3). Four patients were ERP+ and fourteen were ERP-. Three of the four positive results and three of the fourteen negative results were in premenopausal patients. Nine of the ten postmenopausal patients' assays were ERP-. Two patients were considered perimenopausal (within 1 year of cessation of menses) and both had ERP lung metastases. Endocrine ablation resulted in one response in the ERP+ group. One patient with positive and seven with negative results failed to respond to endocrine ablation. Two patients with positive and seven with negative results were nonevaluable. A single patient with a brain metastasis from breast carcinomas who had a biopsy and an estrogen receptor protein assay was premenopausal and had a negative estrogen receptor protein result. No endocrine therapy was initiated.

Table 4 outlines our experience with the duration of response to endocrine ablation. In the 13% of the evaluable patients with ERP- metastases who responded to this form of treatment, the average duration of response was 3.5 months. In the comparable group of valuable ERP+ responders, the average duration of response was 16.75 months. A statistically significant difference between these groups, however, was not demonstrated (p = 0.19, Student's t test). Although there are numerous reports dealing with hormone receptors of primary breast cancer, including receptors for hormones other than estrogen, a substantially smaller body of data has been obtained with breast cancer metastases. In particular, metastases to liver, lung, and brain have been studied only rarely. This is due in part to the magnitude of surgery needed to obtain tissue for assay and in part to the fact that castration, adrenalectomy, and hypophysectomy produce responses in only about one-third of such cases. Our data, limited to a few cases, did not achieve statistical significance. Nevertheless, biopsies of metastases to liver and lung may be useful, even though only 24% of such metastases were shown to contain significant amounts of ERP compared with 42% of those from

ERP status	Patients (n)	Evaluable patients who had endocrine ablation	Evaluable patients who responded <sup>a</sup>			
Positive	4	2	1			
Negative	14	7	0			

TABLE 3 Lung Metastases

<sup>*a*</sup>A  $\chi^2$  test, using Yates' correction, yielded 0.5 > p > 0.25.

ERP <sup>a</sup> status	Biopsy site	Duration of response and type of surgery
Negative	Lung	No responders
Negative	Liver	3 months to $BA^b$ + BSO <sup>c</sup> ; 4 months to BA + BSO
Positive	Lung	16 months to BSO
Positive	Liver	1 month to BSO; 42 months to BSO; 8 months to BA

 TABLE 4

 Durability of Response to Endocrine Ablation

<sup>a</sup>ERP, estrogen receptor protein.

<sup>b</sup>BA, bilateral adrenatectomy.

<sup>c</sup>BSO, bilateral salpingooophorectomy.

all metastatic sites (M12). A frequent major benefit of a biopsy is to resolve doubt as to the cause of a lung nodule seen on chest roentgenography or an abnormality noted on liver scan. An additional value confirms estrogen receptor protein status, which differs from that of the primary tumor in about 24% of cases (R7). If the estrogen receptor protein assay is positive, an 80% response rate to endocrine therapy is observed. This response rate is similar to that for ERP+ metastases from other sites. Conversely, if the assay is negative, one can predict that endocrine manipulation will be unlikely to provide palliation. A biopsy of liver metastases followed by estrogen receptor protein determination is useful in suggesting future management. For example, liver metastases may grow after surgical castration even though cutaneous metastases regress. In such circumstances a negative estrogen receptor protein assay of the liver metastases obtained at the time of castration will suggest prompt initiation of nonendocrine therapy instead of waiting unduly long for a response that is not likely to occur.

This study also has bearing on the uncommon situation in which metastatic carcinomas are found in the absence of known primary sites. If estrogen receptor protein is found in these metastatic deposits, an occult breast primary lesion is suggested. However, our results suggest that if estrogen receptor protein is not found in the metastases, a breast primary lesion is not ruled out, since a majority of lung and liver metastases from known breast primaries are ERP-.

# 14. Correlation with Epidemiology and Pathology

Several studies have been initiated to investigate how demographic and epidemiologic factors correlate with the receptor properties of carcinomas of the breast (A3, L2, O1, R9). Many of the factors analyzed are significantly related to breast cancer risk. The results obtained are of interest because, with the exception of analyses of age and menopausal status, the relationships reported here have received little attention. No significant relationship of age of menarche to ERP status was found (Table 5) (L2); similar results were found with PRP status. Analysis of ERP/PRP was carried out in 79 premenopausal and 79 postmenopausal women with primary operable breast carcinomas. Table 6 shows the distribution of ERP/PRP according to menstrual status. There was a significant higher incidence of ERP+/PRP+ in postmenopausal women (52%) than in premenopausal women (40.5%) and a higher incidence of ERP-/PRP- in premenopausal women (30.5%) than in postmenopausal women (24%).

Significant correlation was also found between age and ERP status; the concentration of ERP increased in postmenopausal women. PRP concentration did not vary significantly with menstrual status (Table 7) (A3). No pattern was observed in the distribution and concentration of ERP/PRP throughout the phases of the menstrual cycle (Table 8), although there was a wide range of concentrations. Therefore the phase of the menstrual cycle at the time of operation does not predict the presence of ERP/PRP in human breast carcinomas (A3). The cause of menopause was not significantly related to the ERP status among these patients. ERP positive tumors were found in 61% of those considered not to have had a natural menopause (L2).

A total of 78% of the patients were mothers. Among the mothers, 49% had ERP+ tumors, 38% had ERP- tumors, and 13% had borderline carcinomas. In the group of patients who either were never pregnant or had never experienced a full pregnancy, the relative frequency of ERP positive, ERP negative, and borderline tumors was 56, 31, and 13%, respectively. These observed distributional differences between parous and nonparous women were not significant. When patients were classified as "ever pregnant" or "never pregnant," the proportions were virtually identical to those cited above. No relationship was found between parity and number of pregnancies. There was also no relationship between ERP results and mean age of first pregnancy, mean age at first birth, mean age at last preg-

	AGE OF MENARCHE AND ERP							
		Tumor ERP						
A		Posi	tive	Negative		Borderline		
Age of menarche (years)	Patients (n)	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	
Under 12	155	69	44	60	39	26	17	
Under 12	186	94	50	68	37	24	13	
Under 13	228	116	51	84	37	28	12	
Under 14	121	71	59	38	31	12	10	
Under 15	49	23	47	19	39	7	14	
Over 15	45	24	53	15	34	6	13	

	TABLE 5		
AGE OF	MENARCHE	AND	ERF

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Receptor status		
Menstrual status	+/+	-/-	-/+	+/-
Premenopausal <sup>b</sup> ( $n = 79$ )	32 (40.5%)	24 (30.5%)	18 (23%)	5 (6%)
Postmenopausal $(n = 79)$	41 (52%)	19 (24%)	2 (2.5%)	17 (21.5%)

TABLE 6
DISTRIBUTION OF ESTROGEN AND PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR PROTEINS
ACCORDING TO MENSTRUAL STATUS

 $^{a}p < 0.001.$ 

<sup>b</sup>Four patients had two sets of receptor data on two separate days (biopsy, followed by mastectomy) and they are as follows: +/+ (Day 23)  $\rightarrow$  -/+ (Day 28); -/- (Day 14)  $\rightarrow$  -/- (Day 21); -/- (Day 17)  $\rightarrow$  -/+ (Day 20); and -/+ (Day 1)  $\rightarrow$  -/+ (Day 10).

nancy, or mean number of years between first and last pregnancies. No significant relationship was found between ERP status and history of miscarriages of stillbirth (L2). Contraceptive hormone usage did not affect the receptor status but ERP levels tended to be lower in women taking estrogen at the time of diagnosis. Similar patterns were seen whether patients had or did not have a family history of breast cancer (L2, O1).

Race was related to ERP status. Blacks, who constituted 8% of the study sample, were less likely to have ERP+ tumors (31%) than whites (53%) (L2). The distribution of ERP results did not differ significantly among the blood groups O, A, B, and AB. The frequency of positive ERP ranges from a low of 41% in patients with AB-type blood to a high of nearly 53% in patients with O-type blood (L2, R9). ERP status was also compared with major medical conditions, including diabetes mellitus, hypertension, phlebitis, thyroid disease, and intestinal polyps. No relationship was found between ERP/PRP distributions and any of the medical conditions (L2). The correlation with histopathology was investigated by Rosen *et* 

	Mean receptor concentration (fmole/mg protein)				
Menstrual status	ERP+ <sup>a</sup>	PRP+ <sup>b</sup>			
Premenopausal	$19.54 \pm 2.12^c (n = 37)$	$41.32 \pm 5.36 \ (n = 50)$			
Postmenopausal	$53.87 \pm 5.92 \ (n = 58)$	$34.06 \pm 5.68 \ (n = 43)$			

 TABLE 7

 MEAN ERP AND PRP CONCENTRATION IN PRE- AND POSTMENOPAUSAL PATIENTS

<sup>a</sup>Cases include ERP+/PRP+ and ERP+/PRP-. p < 0.005.

<sup>b</sup>Cases include ERP+/PRP+ and ERP-/PRP+.

<sup>c</sup>± SEM.

	Receptor status <sup>a</sup>									
	+/+		-/-		-/+		+/-		Mean receptor concentration (fmole/mg protein)	
Phase (days)	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	ERP <sup>b</sup>	PRP
Menstrual (28–29)	4/32	13	3/24	13	2/18	11		-	$10.67 \pm 4.46^{d}$	25.65 ± 30.19
Proliferative (3-7)	3/32	10	3/24	13	1/18	6	1/5	20	37.2 ± 22.09	67 ± 34.08
Follicular (8-14)	7/32	22	8/24	33	4/18	22	1/5	20	$12.3 \pm 6.73$	39.73 ± 28.68
Luteal (15-20)	8/32	25	5/24	21	6/18	33	1/5	20	21.4 ± 10.71	50.95 ± 47.36
Secretory (21-27)	10/32	31	5/24	21	5/18	28	2/5	40	$20.15 \pm 10.52$	32.91 ± 36.48

# TABLE 8 Distribution and Mean Concentration of Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Proteins in the Different Phases of the Menstrual Cycle

 $^{a}p$  is NS.

<sup>b</sup>Cases include ERP+/PRP+ and ERP+/PRP-.

<sup>c</sup>Cases include ERP+/PRP+ and ERP-/PRP+.

 $^{d} \pm$  SD.

al. (R4, R6, R8) and Lesser (L2). The frequency of ERP/PRP positive tumors was highest among patients with infiltrating duct and lobular carcinomas. The lower proportion of ERP/PRP positive tumors in medullary and atypical medullary carcinomas was statistically significant (p<0.001). The frequency of ERP/PRP positivity in the noninvasive carcinoma group tended to be intermediate. There was a significant trend toward ERP/PRP positivity in low-grade infiltrating duct tumors compared with high-grade lesions. Also the degree of lymphocytic reaction and the lymphocyte-plasma ratio showed a high correlation with ERP/PRP+ tumors. A study (R10) was undertaken to investigate the relationship between Barr body distribution and estrogen receptor protein content of mammary carcinomas. The proportion of cells with one or more Barr bodies was determined in 105 specimens of mammary carcinomas from Guard-stained imprints. The receptor protein content of the specimen was measured by the dextran charcoal method and compared with histopathologic features of the carcinomas. Primary carcinomas with Barr bodies in more than 10% of tumor cells were more likely to have higher levels of receptor protein than those with a lower proportion of Barr body containing cells (p < 0.005). The results obtained for primary carcinomas may explain why patients with carcinomas that have a high proportion of Barr body positive cells are more likely to respond to hormonal therapy. Furthermore, these observations, when correlated with other available data about ERP, suggest that an X chromosome is involved in the synthesis of and/or carries the locus of action for estrogen receptor protein.

## 15. ERP in Male Breast Cancer

Male breast cancer is a relatively uncommon disease, occurring less than 1% as often as that in females (K8). About 900 male breast cancers are diagnosed each year in the United States and 300 men die of the disease. Breast cancer represents less than 1% of all malignancies in males, and the median age at which it occurs is several years later than in females, but it has been observed in patients as young as 5 and as old as 93.

Male breast cancer patients usually present in a more advanced stage, due in part to a longer duration of symptoms in males before treatment is sought or begun. In males, breast cancer is too uncommon to allow randomized clinical trials of systemic therapy. The majority of male breast cancers are estrogen and progesterone receptor positive (35 out of 59). The use of adjuvant tamoxifen is commonly recommended. Three series using adjuvant therapy have been reported, using tamoxifen in one and chemotherapy in two. All suggest improved diseasefree survival compared with historical controls. Therefore, adjuvant chemotherapy plus tamoxifen for ERP/PRP positive patients and chemotherapy for node negative patients are advised. We studied the relationship of ERP to male breast cancer (R5). Eleven specimens of breast lesions obtained from 10 male patients were analyzed for ERP. Three patients (ages, 49, 77, and 82 years) had infiltrating duct carcinomas with no axillary metastases. ERP in each of these was positive. Eight specimens with gynecomastia, one of which was obtained from the 77-year-old patient with carcinomas in the same breast, were also analyzed. Of these, ERP was positive in a 59-year-old man who had cirrhosis of the liver; two patients with borderline ERP had hepatitis and testicular seminoma, respectively. No relationship between histopathologic features of the lesions and ERP results was found.

# 16. Role of ERP/PRP in Patients with Melanomas, Thyrold Cancer, or Prostate Cancer

The role of ERP/PRP in the management of other hormone-dependent cancers has been well established. Patients with melanomas are currently treated with hormonal therapy. In a preliminary evaluation (F6), the hormone binding ability of melanomas was demonstrated through the assay of ERP in cytosol preparations. This study was undertaken to verify if some melanomas are hormone dependent and to determine the usefulness of such findings in the treatment of melanomas. About 50% of the patients were positive for ERP. ERP receptors also have been observed in patients with prostatic cancer (F7).

We evaluated the ERP/PRP content in thyroid tumors (V4) and the ERP/PRP was correlated in 135 patients. There was no statistical association among receptor content, age, sex, tumor size, and classification. Metastases at presentation, seen in 50% of the patients, were unrelated to receptor content. While ERP/PRP are detectable commonly in thyroid lesions, no clear relationship to these clinical and prognostic features was found.

### References

- A1. Anderson, K. M., Bonomi, P., Marogil, M., Hendrickson, G., and Economou, S., Comparison of dextran-coated charcoal and sucrose density gradient analyses of estrogen and progesterone receptors in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 40, 4127–4132 (1980).
- A2. Armitage, E. K., Kohl, H. H., Alonso, K. B., and Brownlee, N. R., Evaluation of methods for measurement of steroid hormone receptors. *Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci.* 11(1), 69–74 (1981).
- A3. Axelrod, D. M., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Kinne, D. W., and Osborne, M. P., Levels of estrogen and progesterone receptor proteins in patients with breast cancer during various phases of the menses. *Cancer Invest.* 6, 7–14 (1988).
- B1. Ballare, C., Bravo, A. I., Laucella, S., Sorin, I., Cerdeiro, R., Loza, J., Sousa Martinez, F., Gunan, N., and Mordoh, J., DNA synthesis in estrogen receptor positive human breast cancer takes place preferentially in estrogen receptor-negative cells. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 64, 842– 848 (1989).
- B2. Beatson, G. T., On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma. Suggestions for a new method of treatment, with illustrative cases. *Lancet* 2, 104–107 (1986).

- B3. Beex, L. V., Mackenzie, M. A., Raemaekers, J. M., Smals, A. G., Benraad, T. J., and Kloppenborg, P. W., Adjuvant chemotherapy in premenopausal patients with primary breast cancer; relation to drug-induced amenorrhoea, age and the progesterone receptor status of the tumour. *Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* 24(4), 719-721 (1988).
- B4. Bezwoda, W. R., Esser, J. D., Dansey, R., Kessel, I., Rad, M. M., and Lange, M., The value of estrogen and progesterone receptor determination in advanced breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 68, 867–878 (1991).
- B5. Bezwoda, W. R., and Meyer, K., Effect of alpha-interferon, 17 beta estradiol, and tamoxifen on estrogen receptor concentration and cell cycle kinetics of MCF7 cells. *Cancer Res.* 50(17), 5387–5391 (1990).
- B6. Bishop, H. M., Elston, C. W., and Blamey, R. W., Relationship of oestrogen receptor status to survival in breast cancer. *Lancet* 2, 283–284 (1979).
- B7. Boccardo, F., Rubagotti, A., Bruzzi, P., Cappellini, M., Isola, G., Nenci, I., Piffanelli, A., Scanni, A., Sismondi, P., Santi, L., Genta, F., Saccani, F., Sassi, M., Malacarne, P., Donati, D., Farris, A., Castagnetta, L., Di Carlo, A., Traina, A., Galleto, L., Smerieri, F., and Buzzi, F., Chemotherapy versus tamoxifen versus chemotherapy plus tamoxifen in node-positive, estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer patients. J. Clin. Oncol. 8(8), 1310–1320 (1990).
- B8. Bojar, H., Staib, W., Beck, K., and Pilaski, J., Investigations of the thermostability of steroid hormone receptors in lyophilized calf uterine tissue powder. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2770– 2774 (1980).
- B9. Bonadonna, G., Brusamolino, E., Valagussa, P., Rossi, A., Brugnatelli, L., Brambilla, C., De Lena, M., Tancini, G., Bajetta, E., Musumeci, R., and Veronesi, U., Combination chemotherapy as an adjuvant treatment in operable breast cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 294, 405-410 (1976).
- B10. Bonomi, P., Gale, M., and von Roenn, J., Anderson, K., Johnson, P., Wolter, J., and Economou, S., Quantitative estrogen and progesterone receptor levels related to progression-free interval in advanced breast cancer patients treated with megestrol acetate or tamoxifen. *Semin. Oncol.* 15(2), 26–33 (1988).
- B11. Borjesson, B. W., and Tesoriero, C. J., Effects of molybdate on classification of estrogen and progesterone receptor status in human breast cancer. J. Steroid Biochem. 23(6A), 949–953 (1985).
- B12. Braunsberg, H., Killen, E., and Richardson, S. G., The effect of thiols on oestradiol binding by components of human malignant breast tumors. *Biochem. J.* **130**, 38 (1972).
- B13. Browder, H., Keller, J., White, J. M., Losada, M., Kianka, J., and Hunter, H., Prognostic value of receptor and disease status in response to hormonal therapy and time to progression in metastatic breast cancer. Proc. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 5, 59 (1986).
- B14. Burton, G., Flowers, J., Cox, E., Geisinger, K., Leight, G., Georgiade, G., Dent, G., and McCarty, K., Jr., Monoclonal antiestrogen receptor antibody (H222) in fine needle aspiration cytologies of breast cancer: A predictive marker of response to hormonal therapy. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 6, 164 (1985).
- B15. Butler, J. A., Bretsky, S., Menendez-Botet, C. J., and Kinne, D. W., Estrogen receptor protein of breast cancer as a predictor of recurrences. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 55, 1178–1181 (1985).
- Cappelletti, V., Coradini, D., Miodini, P., Oriana, S., Bohm, S., Sasso, G. M., and Di Fronzo, G., Relation between estrogen receptor status and response to oophorectomy in advanced breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 8(1), 90 (1986).
- C2. Chamness, G. C., and McGuire, W. L. In "Methods for Analyzing Steroid Receptors in Human Breast Cancers" (W. L. McGuire, ed.), Breast Cancer, Vol. 3, pp. 149–197. Plenum, New York, 1979.
- C3. Chester, Z., Feherty, P., and Kellie, A. E., Estrogen receptor in primary breast tumors in relation to the stage and progression of the disease. *In* "Estrogen Receptors in Human Breast Cancer"

(W. L. McGuire, P. P. Carbone, and E. P. Vollmer, eds.), pp. 157–174. Raven Press, New York, 1975.

- Clark, G. M., and McGuire, W. L., Progesterone receptors and human breast cancer. Br. Cancer Res. Treat. 3, 157–163 (1983).
- C5. Cobau, C., Neuberg, D., and Tormey, D., Megestrol acetate with or without premarin in the treatment of potentially responsive metastatic breast cancer. *Proc. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol.* **10**, A42 (1991).
- C6. Coombes, R. C., Berger, U., McClelland, R. A., Trott, P. A., Powles, T. J., Wilson, P., Gazet, J.-C., and Ford, H. T., Predication of endocrine response in breast cancer by immunocyto-chemical detection of oestrogen receptor in fine-needle aspirates. *Lancet* 2, 701-703 (1987).
- C7. Crawford, D. J., Cowan, S., Fitch, R., Smith, D. C., and Leake, R. E., Stability of oestrogen receptor status in sequential biopsies from patients with breast cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 56(2), 137–140 (1987).
- C8. Crowe, J. P., Gordon, N. H., Hubay, C. A., Pearson, O. H., Marshall, J. S., Arafah, B., McGuire, W. L., Shenk, R. R., and Shuck, J. M., Chemo vs endocrine therapy for node-positive breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 16(2), 194 (1990).
- D1. Desombre, E. R., Carbone, P. P., Jensen, E. V., McGuire, W. L., Wells, S. A., Wittliff, J. L., and Lipsett, M. B., Steroid receptors in breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 301, 1011–1012 (1979).
- D2. Dnistrian, A. M., Schwartz, M. K., Fracchia, A. A., Kaufman, R. J., Hakes, T. B., and Currie, V. E., Encocrine consequences of CMF adjuvant therapy in premenopausal and postmenopausal breast cancer patients. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 51, 803–807 (1983).
- E1. Epstein, A. H., Connolly, J. L., Gelman, R., Schnitt, S. J., Silver, B., Boyages, J., Rose, M. A., Recht, A., and Harris, J. R., The predictors of distant relapse following conservative surgery and radiotherapy for early breast cancer are similar to those following mastectomy. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 17, 755–760 (1989).
- F1. Fisher, B., Redmond, C., Fisher, E. R., and Caplan, R., Relative worth of estrogen and progesterone receptor and pathologic characteristics of differentiation as indicators of prognosis in node negative breast cancer patients. J. Clin. Oncol. 6, 1076–1087 (1988).
- F2. Fisher, B., Redmond, C., Poisson, R., Margolese, R., Wolmark, N., Wickerham, L., Fisher, E., Deutsch, M., Caplan, R., Pilch, Y., Glass, A., Shibata, H., Lerner, H., Terz, J., and Sidorovich, L., Eight-year results of a randomized clinical trial comparing total mastectomy and lumpectomy with or without irradiation in the treatment of breast cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **320**, 822–828 (1989).
- F3. Fishman, J., Nisselbaum, J. S., Menendez-Botet, C. J., and Schwartz, M. K., Estrone and estradiol content in human breast tumors. J. Steroid Biochem. 8, 893–896 (1977).
- F4. Flowers, J. L., Burton, G. V., Cox, E. B., McCarty, K. S., Dent, G. A., Geisinger, K. R., and McCarty, K. S., Jr., Use of monoclonal antiestrogen receptor antibody to evaluate estrogen receptor content in fine needle aspiration breast biopsies. *Ann. Surg.* 203(3), 250–254 (1986).
- F5. Folca, P. J., Glascock, R. F., and Irvine, W. J., Studies with tritium-labelled hexoestrol in advanced breast cancer. Lancet 2, 796-798 (1961).
- F6. Fondo, E. Y., Menendez-Botet, C. J., and Schwartz, M. K., A preliminary evaluation of estrogen binding and receptor proteins in melanoma. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 22(7), 1174 (1976).
- F7. Fondo, E. Y., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Schwartz, M. K., and Whitmore, W. F., Estrogen binding and estrogen receptor activity in the human prostate: A preliminary report. J. Nat. Med. Assoc. 73(3), 261–266 (1981).
- F8. Freedman, B., and Hawkins, R. A., Sedimentation profiles of the oestrogen receptor from breast tumors of man and rat using vertical tube rotor centrifugation. J. Endocrinol. 86, 431–442 (1980).

#### 220 CELIA J. MENENDEZ-BOTET AND MORTON K. SCHWARTZ

- G1. Genz, T., and Eiletz, J., Distribution of cytoplasmic and nuclear estrogen receptors in human breast cancer. Acta Endocrinol. (Cophenhagen), Suppl. 96(240), 123 (1981).
- G2. Greene, G. L., Nolan, C., Engler, J. P., and Jensen, E. V., Monoclonal antibodies to human estrogen receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 77(9), 5115-5119 (1980).
- G3. Greene, G. L., and Press, M. F., Immunochemical evaluation of estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor in breast cancer. *In* "Immunological Approaches to the Diagnosis and Therapy of Breast Cancer" (R. Ceriani, ed.), pp. 119–135. Plenum, New York, 1987.
- H1. Hahnel, R., and Vivian, A. B., Biochemical and clinical experience with the estimation of estrogen receptors in human breast carcinoma. *In* "Estrogen Receptors in Human Breast Cancer" (W. McGuire, ed.), pp. 205–235. Raven Press, New York, 1975.
- Hahnel, R., Properties of the estrogen receptor in the soluble fraction of human uterus. *Steroids* 17, 105–132 (1971).
- H3. Hakes, T., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Moore, M., and Osborne, M. Modulation of estrogen (ER) and progesterone (PR) receptors in human breast cancer by alpha-28 interferon. Proc. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 9, A167 (1990).
- H4. Hawkins, R. A., Roberts, M. M., and Forrest, P. M., Oestrogen receptors and breast cancer: Current status. Br. J. Surg. 67, 153–169 (1980).
- H5. Hawkins, R. A., Sangster, K., Gaskell, D., Chetty, U., De Cartheret, S., Thompson, A. M., Jack, W., and Forrest, A. P., Immunocytochemical assay of estrogen receptors and response to tamoxifen in elderly patients with breast cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* **62**(12), 18 (1990).
- H6. Hawkins, R. A., Sangster, K., Tesdale, A., Levack, P. A., Anderson, E. D. C., Chetty, U., and Forrest, A. P. M., The cytochemical detection of oestrogen receptors in fine needle aspirates of breast cancer; correlation with biochemical assay and predication of response to endocrine therapy. *Br. J. Cancer* 58, 77–80 (1988).
- H7. Hilf, R., Feldstein, M. L., Savlov, E. D., Gibson, S. L., and Seneca, B., The lack of relationship between estrogen receptor status and response to chemotherapy. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2797–2800 (1980).
- H8. Hoerni, B., Durand, M., Maree, D., Avril, A., Mage, P., and Bui, N. B., Hormonotherapy + chemotherapy vs chemotherapy as adjuvant treatment in R+ breast carcinoma. Preliminary results of randomized study in 236 patients. Proc. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 5, 75 (1986).
- H9. Horwitz, K. B., and McGuire, W. L., Specific progesterone receptors in human breast cancer. Steroids 25, 497–505 (1975).
- H10. Host, H., and Brennhovd, I. O., The effect of postoperative radiotherapy in breast cancer. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 2, 1061–1067 (1977).
- H11. Huggins, C., and Bergenstal, D. M., Inhibition of human mammary and prostatic cancers by adrenalectomy. *Cancer Res.* 12, 134–141 (1952).
- H12. Huggins, C., and Dao, J., Adrenalectomy and oophorectomy in the treatment of advanced carcinoma of the breast. JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 151, 1388-1394 (1953).
  - Ingle, J. N., Ahmann, D. L., Green, S. J., Edmonson, J. H., Bisel, H. F., Kvols, L. K., Nichols, W. C., Creagan, T. E., Hahn, R. G., Rubin, J., and Frytak, S., Randomized clinical trial of diethylstilbestrol versus tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 304, 16–21 (1981).
  - Ingle, J. N., Additive hormonal therapy in women with advanced breast cancer. Cancer (Philadelphia) 53, 766-777 (1984).
  - Ingle, J. N., Twito, D. I., Schaid, D. J., Cullinan, S. A., Krook, J. E., Mailliard, J. A., Tschetter, L. K., Long, H. J., Gerstner, J. G., Windschitl, H. E., Levitt, R., and Pfeifle, D. M., Combination hormonal therapy with tamoxifen plus fluoxymesterone versus tamoxifen along in postmenopausal women with metastatic breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 67, 886–891 (1991).
  - Jakesz, R., Dittrich, C. H., Hanusch, J., Kolb, R., Lenzhofer, R., Moser, K., Rainer, H., Reiner, G., Schemper, M., Spona, J., and Teleky, B., Simultaneous and sequential determinations of

steroid hormone receptors in human breast cancer. Influence of intervening therapy. *Ann. Surg.* **201**, 305–310 (1985).

- Jensen, E. V., De Sombre, E. R., and Jungblut, P. W., Endogenous factors influencing hosttumor balance. *In* "Estrogen Receptors in Hormone-responsive Tissues and Tumors" (R. W. Wissler, T. L. Dao, and S. Wood, Jr., eds.), pp. 15–30. Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1967.
- J3. Jensen, E. V., Greene, G. L., Closs, L. E., De Sombre, E. R., and Nadji, M., Receptors reconsidered: A 20-year perspective. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 38, 1–40 (1982).
- J4. Jensen, E. V., and Jacobson, H. I., Basic guides to the mechanism of estrogen action. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 18, 387 (1962).
- J5. Johnson, F. F., Rosen, P. P., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Schwartz, M. K., Ashikari, R., and Kinne, D. W., Estrogen receptor protein in visceral metastases from breast carcinoma. Am. J. Surg. 142, 252-254 (1981).
- J6. Johnson, P., von Roenn, J., Bonomi, P., Wolter, J., Anderson, K. M., Gale, M., and Economou, S. G., Progression free interval in primary additive hormonal therapy in metastatic breast cancer related to estrogen and progesterone receptor levels. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 8(1), 107 (1986).
- J7. Jouve, M., Palangie, T., Dorval, T., Garcia-Giralt, E., Merle, S., Zajdela, A., Magdelenat, H., Coutant, M., and Pouillart, P., Breast cancer. Development of the concentration of hormonal receptors under cytotoxic chemotherapy. *Bull. Cancer* **73**(3), 271–278 (1986).
- K1. Kamby, C., Rasmussen, B. B., and Kristensen, B., Estrogen receptor status of primary breast carcinomas and their metastases. Relation to pattern of spread and survival after recurrence. Br. J. Cancer 60, 252–257 (1989).
- K2. Karl, J., Gust, R., Spruss, T., Schneider, M. R., Schonenberger, H., Engel, J., Wrobel, K. H., Lux, F., and Trebert-Haeberlin, S., Ring-substituted [1,2-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)ethylendiamine]dichloroplatinum(II)complexes: Compounds with a selective effect on the hormonedependent mammary carcinoma. J. Med. Chem. 31, 72–83 (1988).
- K3. Keightley, D. D., Tilley, W. D., and McK. Cant, E. L., Effect of snap freezing, dithiothrestol, and storage on estimations of estrogen receptor sites. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 88, 337–343 (1978).
- K4. Kennedy, B. J., Fluoxymesterone therapy in advanced breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 259, 673–675 (1958).
- K5. Kiang, D. T., Frenning, D. H., Gay, J., Goldman, A. I., and Kennedy, B. J., Estrogen receptor status and response to chemotherapy in advanced breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2814–2817 (1980).
- K6. Kiang, D. T., Kollander, R., Schulstrom, S., and Kennedy, B. J., Modulation of estrogen receptor (ER) from tamoxifen in human breast cancer. *Proc. Annu. Meet. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* 28, 234 (1987).
- K7. King, W. J., and Greene, G. L., Monoclonal antibodies localize oestrogen receptor in the nuclei of target cells. *Nature (London)* 307, 745–747 (1984).
- K8. Kinne, D. W., Management of male breast cancer. Oncology 5(3), 45-47 (1990).
- Kinne, D. W., Ashikari, R., Butler, A., Menendez-Botet, Rosen, P. P., and Schwartz, M. K., Estrogen receptor protein in breast cancer as a predictor of recurrence. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 47, 2364–2367 (1981).
- K10. Kinne, D. W., Butler, J. A., Kimmel, M., Flehinger, B. J., Menendez-Botet, C. J., and Schwartz, M. K., Estrogen receptor protein of breast cancer patients with positive nodes. Arch. Surg. (Chicago) 122, 1303–1306 (1987).
- K11. Kinsel, L. B., Szabo, E., Greene, G. L., Konrath, J., Leight, G. S., and McCarty, K. S., Jr., Immunocytochemical analysis of estrogen receptors as a predictor of prognosis in breast cancer patients: Comparison with quantitative biochemical methods. *Cancer Res.* 49, 1052–1056 (1989).
- K12. Kline, T. S., Joshi, L. P. and Neal, H. S., Fine-needle aspiration of the breast: Diagnosis and pitfalls. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 44, 1458–1464 (1979).

### 222 CELIA J. MENENDEZ-BOTET AND MORTON K. SCHWARTZ

- K13. Knight, W. A., III, Livingston, R. B., and Gregory, E. J., Estrogen receptor as an independent prognostic factor for early recurrence in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 37, 4669–4671 (1977).
- K14. Korenman, S. G., and Dukes, B. A., Specific estrogen binding by the cytoplasm of human breast carcinoma. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 30, 639–645 (1970).
- K15. Kurtz, J. M., Jacquemier, J., Amalrič, R., Brandone, H., Ayme, Y., Hans, D., Bressac, C., Roth, J., and Spitalier, J.-M., Risk factors for breast recurrence in premenopausal and postmenopausal patients with ductal cancers treated by conservation Therapy. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 65, 1867–1878 (1990).
- K16. Kurtz, J. M., Jacquemier, J., Amalric, R., Brandone, H., Ayme, Y., Hans, D., Bressac, C., Roth, J., and Spitalier, J.-M., Why are local recurrences after breast-conserving therapy more frequent in younger patients? J. Clin. Oncol. 8(4), 591–598 (1990).
  - L1. Laing, L., Smith, M. G., Calman, K. C., Smith, D. C., and Leake, R. E., Nuclear oestrogen receptors and treatment of breast cancer. *Lancet* 2, 168–169 (1977).
  - L2. Lesser, M., Rosen, P. P., Senie R., Duthie, K., Menendez-Botet, C. J., and Schwartz, M. K., Estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast carcinoma. Correlations with epidemiology and pathology. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 48, 299–309 (1981).
  - L3. Levine, M. N., Young, J. E. M., Ryan, E. D., and Newhouse, M. T., Pleural effussion in breast cancer. Thoracoscopy for hormone receptor determination. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 57, 324–327 (1986).
- L4. Lippman, M. E., Steroid receptors and clinical breast cancer analysis and endocrine therapy of breast cancer. *In* "Perspective in Steroid Receptor Research" (F. Bresciani, ed.), pp. 217–238. Raven Press, New York, 1980.
- L5. Loven, D., Rakowsky, E., Geier, A., Lunenfeld, B., Rubinstein, A., Klein, B., and Lurie, H., A clinical evaluation of nuclear estrogen receptors combined with cytosolic estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 66, 341–346 (1990).
- L6. Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Faw, A. L., and Randall, R. J., Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193, 265–275 (1951).
- M1. Maass, H., Jonat, W., Stolzenbach, G., and Trams, G., The problem of nonresponding estrogen receptor-positive patients with advanced breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2835–2837 (1980).
- M2. Maki, H. J., and Hoehn, J. L., Influence of estrogen receptors on survival and recurrence in patients with breast cancer without lymph node metastases. Arch. Surg. (Chicago) 124, 377– 380 (1989).
- M3. Manni, A., Arafah, B., and Pearson, O. H., Estrogen and progesterone receptors in the prediction of response of breast cancer to endocrine therapy. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2838–2841 (1980).
- M4. Massod, S., Fluorescent cytochemical detection of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast fine-needle aspirates. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 95, 35-40 (1991).
- M5. McClelland, R. A., Berger, U., Miller, L. S., Powles, T. J., and Coombes, C. R., Immunocytochemical assay for estrogen receptor in patients with breast cancer: Relationship to a biochemical assay and to outcome of therapy. J. Clin. Oncol. 4, 1171–1176 (1986).
- M6. McClelland, R. A., Berger, U., Wilson, P., Powles, T. J., Trott, P. A., Easton, D., Gazet, J.-C., and Coombes, R. C., Presurgical determination of estrogen receptor status using immunocytochemically stained fine needle aspirate smears in patients with breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 47(22), 6118–6122 (1987).
- M7. McGuire, W. L., Physiological principles underlying endocrine therapy of breast cancer. In "Breast Cancer: Advances in Research and Treatment" (W. L. McGuire, ed.), Vol. I, pp. 217–246. Raven Press, New York, 1977.
- M8. McGuire, W. L., Steroid receptors and clinical breast cancer. In "Perspectives in Steroid Receptor Research" (F. Bresciani, ed.), pp. 239–246. Raven Press, New York, 1980.

- M9. McGuire, W. L., Johnson, P. A., Muss, H. B., and Osborne, C. K., Megestrol acetate in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 14(1), 33-38 (1989).
- M10. Melchor, J. C., Rodriguez-Escudero, F. J., Lujan, S., and Corcostegui, B., Variation of estrogen and progesterone receptor status in breast cancer after tamoxifen therapy. *Oncology* 47(6), 467–470 (1990).
- M11. Menendez-Botet, C. J., Collin, C., Osborne, M., Rosen, P., and Schwartz, M. K., Effect of local anesthesia (Lidocaine) and saline on the estrogen and progesterone receptor protein in breast tissue. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 30, 941 (1984).
- M12. Menendez-Botet, C. J., Nisselbaum, J. S., Fleisher, M., Rosen, P. P., Fracchia, A., Robbins, G., Urban, J. A., and Schwartz, M. K., Correlation between estrogen receptor protein and carcinoembroyonic antigen in normal and carcinomatous human breast tissue. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 22, 1366–1371 (1976).
- M13. Menendez-Botet, C. J., Stankievic, R., Schwartz, D., and Schwartz, M. K., Comparison of the quantitative measurement of human estrogen and progesterone receptor in tissue cytosol by the dextran-coated charcoal assay and the Abbott monoclonal enzyme immunoassay. *Clin. Chem.* (*Winston-Salem, N.C.*) 34(6), 1225 (1988).
- M14. Merle, S., Zajdela, A., and Magdelenat, H., Progesterone-receptor assay in fine needle aspirates of breast tumors. Acta Cytol. 29(3), 496–498 (1985).
- M15. Milgrom, E., Perrot, M., Atger, M., and Baulieu, E.-E., Progesterone in uterus and plasma. V. An assay of the progesterone cytosol receptor of the guinea pig uterus. *Endocrinology (Baltimore)* **90**, 1064–1070 (1972).
- M16. Miller, L. K., Tuazon, F. B., Niu, E., and Sherman, M. R., Human breast tumor estrogen receptor: Effects of molybdate and electrophoretic analyses. *Endocrinology (Baltimore)* 108, 1369–1378 (1981).
- M17. Mobbs, B. G., and Johnson, I. E., Use of an enzymeimmunoassay (EIA) for quantitation of cytosolic and nuclear estrogen receptor and correlation with progesterone receptor in human breast cancer. J. Steroid Biochem. 28, 653–662 (1987).
- M18. Mortimer, J., Flournoy, N., Livingston, R. B., and Stephens, R. L., Aggressive adriamycincontaining regiment (PM-FAC) in estrogen receptor-negative disseminated breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 56, 2376–2380 (1985).
- Mouriquand, J., Genevey, M. C., Beriel, H., Payan, R., and Mermet, M. A., Tamoxifen-induced fluorescence as a predictive test for hormone responsiveness of breast carcinoma. *Dev. Oncol.* 49, 221–230 (1986).
- Nawata, H., Bronzert, D., and Lippman, M. E., Isolation and characterization of a tamoxifenresistant cell line derived from MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 5061– 5021 (1981).
- N2. Nawata, H., Chong, M. T., Bronzert, D., and Lippman, M. E., Estradiol-independent growth of a subline of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells in culture. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 6895–6902 (1981).
- N3. Neville, A. M., Prognostic factors and primary breast cancer. *Diagn. Oncol.* 1, 53–63 (1991).
- N4. Noguchi, S., Miyauchi, K., Nishizawa, Y., and Koyama, H., Indication of progesterone receptor with tamoxifen in human breast cancer with special reference to its behavior over time. *Cancer* (*Philadelphia*) **61**(7), 1345–1349 (1988).
- N5. Noguchi, S., Yamamoto, H., Inaji, H., Imaoka, S., and Koyama, H., Influence of tamoxifenmedroxyprogesterone sequential therapy on estrogen and progesterone receptor contents of breast cancer. Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 80(3), 244–248 (1989).
- N6. Noguchi, S., Yamamoto, H., Inaji, H., Imaoka, S., and Koyama, H., Inability of medroxyprogesterone acetate to down regulate estrogen receptor level in human breast cancer. *Cancer* (*Philadelphia*) 65(6), 1375–1379 (1990).
- O1. Osborne, M. P., Rosen, P. P., Lesser, M. L., Schwartz, M. K., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Fishman,

J. H., Kinne, D. W., and Beattie, E. J., Jr., The relationship between family history, exposure to exogenous hormones, and estrogen receptor protein in breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* **51**(11), 2134–2138 (1983).

- O2. Otto, A. M., Faderl, M., and Schonenberger, H., Dissociation of estrogenic and cytotoxic properties of an estrogen receptor-binding platinum complex in human breast cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 51, 3217–3223 (1991).
- P1. Padmanabhan, N., Howell, A., and Rubens, R. D., Mechanisms of action of adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. *Lancet* 2, 411–414 (1986).
- P2. Pavlik, E. J., van Nagell, J. R., Muncey, M., Donaldson, E. S., Hanson, M., Kenady, D., Rees, E. D., and Talwalkar, V. R., Rapid analysis of estrogen and progesterone receptors using gel-exclusion high-performance liquid chromatography. *Biochemistry* 21, 139–145 (1982).
- Peck, E. J., and Clark, J. H., Effect of ionic strength on charcoal absorption assays of receptorestradiol complexes. *Endocrinology (Baltimore)* 101, 1034–1043 (1971).
- P4. Pertschuk, I. P., Gaetjens, E., Carter, A. C., Brigatte, D., Kim, D. S., and Fealey, T. E., An improved histochemical method for detection of estrogen receptors in mammary cancer. Comparison with biochemical assay. *Am. J. Clin. Pathol.* **71**, 504–508 (1979).
- P5. Pinto, A. L., and Lippard, S. J., Binding of the antitumor drug cis-diamminedichloro-platinum (II) (cisplatin) to DNA. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **780**, 167–180 (1985).
- P6. Poulsen, H. S., Oestrogen receptor assay-limitation of the method. *Eur. J. Cancer* **17**, 495–501 (1981).
- R1. Reiner, A., Reiner, G., Spona, J., Teleky, B., Kolb, R., and Holzner, J. H., Estrogen receptor immunocytochemistry for preoperative determination of estrogen receptor status on fine-needle aspirates of breast cancer. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 88(4), 399–404 (1987).
- R2. Reiner, A., Spona, J., Reiner, G., Schemper, M., Kolb, R., Kwasny, W., Fugger, R., Jakesz, R., and Holzner, J. H., Estrogen receptor analysis on biopsies and fine-needle aspirates from human breast carcinoma. Am. J. Pathol. 125(3), 443–449 (1986).
- R3. Rivkin, S., Green, S., Metch, B., Cruz, A., McDivitt, R., Knight, W., Glick, J., and Osborne, C. K., Adjuvant combination chemotherapy (CMFVP) vs tamoxifen (TAM) vs CMFVP+ TAM for postmenopausal women with ER+ operable breast cancer and positive axillary lymph nodes. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 16(2), 145 (1990).
- R4. Rosen, P. P., Lesser, M. L., Senie, R. T., Menendez-Botet, C. J., and Schwartz, M. K., Estrogen receptors and breast cancer pathology. *In* "Reviews on Endocrine-related Cancer" (E. E. Baulieu, E. V. Jensen, C. M. Lalanne, and E. Engelsman, eds.), pp. 281–290. ICI Publication, New York, 1982.
- R5. Rosen, P. P., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Nisselbaum, J. S., Schwartz, M. K., and Urban, J. A., Estrogen receptor protein in lesions of the male breast. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 37, 1866–1868 (1976).
- R6. Rosen, P. P., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Nisselbaum, J. S., Urban, J. A., Mike, V., Fracchia, A., and Schwartz, M. K., Pathological review of breast lesions analyzed for estrogen receptor protein. *Cancer Res.* 35, 3187–3194 (1975).
- R7. Rosen, P. P., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Urban, J. A., Fracchia, A., and Schwartz, M. K., Estrogen receptor protein (ERP) in multiple tumor specimens from individual patients with breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 39, 2194–3000 (1977).
- R8. Rosen, P. P., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Senie, R. T., Schwartz, M. K., Schottenfeld, D., and Farr, G. H., Estrogen receptor protein (ERP) and the histopathology of human mammary carcinoma. *In* "Hormones, Receptors and Breast Cancer" (W. L. McGuire, ed.), pp. 71–82. Raven Press, New York, 1978.
- R9. Rosen, P. P., Schwartz, M. K., and Menendez-Botet, C. J., Blood groups and responses to therapy for mammary cancer. *Am. J. Clin. Pathol.* **67**, 504–505 (1977).
- R10. Rosen, P. P., Savino, A., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Urban, J. A., Mike, V., Schwartz, M. K., and

Melamed, M. R., Barr body distribution and estrogen receptor protein in mammary carcinoma. *Am. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **7**(6), 491–499 (1977).

- R11. Rutqvist, L. E., Cedermark, B., Glas, U., Johansson, H., Rotstein, S., Skoog, L., Somell, A., Theve, T., Wilking, N., Ashergren, J., and Hjalmar, M.-L., Randomized trial of adjuvant tamoxifen combined with postoperative radiation therapy of adjuvant chemotherapy in postmenopausal breast cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 66, 89-96 (1989).
  - Sato, B., Normura, Y., Nakao, K., Ochi, H., and Matsumota, K., DNA binding ability of estrogen receptor from human breast cancer. J. Steroid Biochem. 14, 295–303 (1981).
  - Scatchard, G., The attraction of proteins for small molecules and ions. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 51, 660–672 (1949).
  - Schmitt, E. L., and Maloney, T. M., Estrogen hormone studies and fine-needle aspiration of the breast. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 8(1), 88 (1988).
  - S4. Shek, L. L., and Godolphin, W., Survival with breast cancer: The importance of estrogen receptor quantitation. *Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol.* 25, 243–250 (1987).
  - Skinner, L. G., Barnes, D. M., and Ribeiro, G. G., The clinical value of multiple steroid receptor assays in breast cancer management. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2939–2945 (1980).
  - Smith, R. G., Quality control in steroid hormone receptor assays. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 46, 2946–2949 (1980).
  - Svedberg, T., and Pedersen, K. O. In "The Ultracentrifuge" (T. Svedberg and K. O. Pederson, eds.), p. 478. Oxford Univ. Press, London, 1940.
- T1. Terenius, L., Selective retention of estrogen isomers in estrogen-dependent breast tumors of rats demonstrated by in vitro methods. *Cancer Res.* 28, 328–337 (1968).
- T2. Terenius, L., Estrogen and progesterone binders in human and rat mammary carcinoma. Eur. J. Cancer 9, 291–294 (1973).
- T3. Thorpe, S. M., Monoclonal antibody technique for detection of estrogen receptors in human breast cancer: Greater sensitivity and more accurate classification of receptor status than the dextran-coated charcoal method. *Cancer Res.* 47, 6572–6575 (1987).
- T4. Toft, D. O., and Gorski, J., A receptor molecule for estrogens: Isolation from the rat uterus and preliminary characterization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **55**, 1574–1581 (1966).
- Valavaara, R., and Kangas, L., The significance of estrogen receptors in tamoxifen and toremifene therapy. Ann. Clin. Res. 20(5), 380-388 (1988).
- V2. Valavaara, R., Tuominen, J., and Johansson, R., Predictive value of tumor estrogen and progesterone receptor levels in postmenopausal women with advanced breast cancer treated with toremifene. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 66, 2264–2269 (1990).
- V3. van den Berg, H. W., Leahey, W. J., Lynch, M., Clarke, R., and Nelson, J., Recombinant human interferon alpha increases oestrogen receptor expression in human breast cancer cells (ZR-75-1) and sensitizes them to the anti-proliferative effects of tamoxifen. *Br. J. Cancer* 55(3), 255–257 (1987).
- VanHoeven, K. H., Menendez-Botet, C. J., Strong, E., and Huvos, A. G., Estrogen and progesterone receptor content in human thyroid disease. *Am. J. Clin. Pathol.* 99(2), 175–181 (1993).
- W1. Weigand, R. A., Cotter, D. L., Dunn, R. A., Nolan, C., Greene, G., and Przywara, L. W., Quantitation of progesterone receptor (PgR) in human breast tumors by double monoclonal enzyme immunoassay. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 8(1), 87 (1976).
- W2. Westhons, W. V., Lieberman, M. E., and Gorski, J., Nuclear localization of unoccupied oestrogen receptors. *Nature (London)* 307, 747–749 (1988).
- W3. Wittliff, J. L., Hilf, R., Brooks, W. F., Savlov, E. D., Hall, T. C., and Orlando, R. A., Specific estrogen-binding capacity of the cytoplasmic receptor in normal and neoplastic breast tissues of humans. *Cancer Res.* 32, 1983–1992 (1971).

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

# ADVANCES IN HUMAN LEUKOCYTE ANTIGENS AND TRANSPLANTATION

# Brian R. Hawkins

# Department of Pathology, Queen Mary Hospital, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

1.	Transplantation in Historical Perspective	227
2.	The Human Leukocyte Antigen System	229
	2.1. HLA Class I Genes and Their Products	229
	2.2. HLA Class II Genes and Their Products	235
	2.3. Inheritance of HLA Antigens.	239
	2.4. Detection of HLA Products	242
3.	HLA and the Immune Response	247
	3.1. Role of HLA Molecules in the Immune Response	247
4.	The Immunological Basis of Transplant Rejection.	248
	4.1. Mechanisms of Graft Rejection	249
	4.2. Use of Immunosuppression to Reduce Graft Rejection	250
5.	HLA and Renal Transplantation	251
	5.1. Role of HLA Matching in Determining Graft Outcome	251
	5.2. Effect of Cyclosporin A on Renal Graft Outcome	254
	5.3. Effect of Blood Transfusion on Renal Graft Outcome	255
	5.4. The Role of Cross-matching	257
6.	HLA and Bone Marrow Transplantation.	258
	6.1. Significance of Graft versus Host Disease in Bone Marrow Transplantation	259
	6.2. The Use of Partially HLA-Matched Relatives as Donors	260
	6.3. The Use of Unrelated Bone Marrow Donors	261
7.	Transplantation of Other Organs	264
8.	Future Developments in HLA and Transplantation	266
	References	268

# 1. Transplantation in Historical Perspective

The idea that diseased, damaged, or worn-out tissues and organs might be replaced with healthy substitutes has long captured man's imagination. Surgeons in India are reputed to have performed nose reconstruction operations many centuries ago using skin flaps from elsewhere on the patient's body (D4). This procedure was certainly available during the Renaissance when Gaspare Tagliacozzi, a Bolognese anatomist and surgeon, established a reputation for his ability to rebuild a missing nose using a skin flap from the upper arm—a technique which is still practiced today under the name of the "Tagliacotian" or "Italian" method (T1).

The transplantation of skin from one part of the body to another has been performed since ancient times, particularly in the repair of injuries caused by warfare but also to make good mutilations imposed as punishments for infidelity, thievery, and other misdemeanors (D4). The first report of skin grafting in the modern medical literature is by Bünger (B26), who described a nose reconstruction using a skin graft from the patient's thigh. Skin transplants using unrelated donors were available at the end of the 19th century and were graphically described in the memoirs of Sir Winston Churchill (C13), who tells how he was used as a skin graft donor for a battle casualty in the Sudan War in 1898.

With regard to solid organ transplantation, the first half of this century saw a few isolated and ill-fated attempts at transplanting kidneys removed from cadavers but the practice did not attract significant interest until the early 1950s. A number of attempts were documented at that time but, invariably, the outcome was disappointing and the transplanted kidneys seldom functioned for longer than a few weeks, if at all. In 1952, for example, Hume and colleagues described six transplants, of which three never functioned and three initially produced urine but ceased to function within a short time (H10). The turning point came in 1956 when Merrill and co-workers in Boston described a successful renal transplant between a 24-year-old patient and his identical twin brother (M12). Although living donors had not been used previously, there was some basis for using an identical twin as a donor since it was known that skin grafts between identical twins were not rejected (B24). Nevertheless, the idea of removing a healthy organ from a living person posed a major moral and ethical dilemma for the surgeons. However, the transplant was a success and the recipient lived for several years with a functioning kidney. The successful outcome of this transplant and the absence of ill effects in the donor encouraged additional transplants using living donors. A major finding to emerge was the improved success rate when parents or siblings rather than unrelated individuals were used as donors (H11). This gave support to a prediction made by Medawar in 1957 that the possession by the donor of antigens absent in the recipient was undesirable in terms of transplant outcome (M11).

At around the same time in Paris, Dausset found that a newly discovered antigen on human leukocytes, known as MAC (after the initials of three volunteers involved in the research), strongly influenced the outcome of skin grafts from unrelated donors (D2). Recipients without the MAC antigen who were injected with leukocytes possessing the MAC antigen rapidly rejected grafts from MAC- positive donors but retained grafts from MAC-negative donors. These findings marked the beginning of an era of prodigious research into leukocyte antigens and their role in determining the outcome of transplantation. Over 100 leukocyte antigens are now recognized, forming the most complex genetic system currently known—a system referred to as the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system. The relationship between the HLA system and transplant outcome is now accepted without question.

The last three decades have seen tremendous advances in our knowledge of the HLA system and its role in transplantation, not only of the kidney but also of bone marrow, liver, heart, and other organs. This review describes some of those advances.

## 2. The Human Leukocyte Antigen System

Human leukocyte antigens are polymorphic cell-surface molecules that are intimately involved in the regulation of the immune response. The antigens are encoded by a series of closely linked genes known as the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), which is located on the short arm of chromosome 6 (B10). The complex extends over approximately 4000 kilobases or  $4 \times 10^6$  nucleotides and contains three distinct subregions known as class I, class II, and class III (T19) (see Fig. 1).

Only two of these regions, class I and class II, contain genes coding for HLA antigens. The third region, class III, contains at least 36 genes coding for a diverse group of products, of which some are involved in the immune system and others have no obvious association with immunity (T19). The class III region contains, among others, genes coding for complement components C2, Bf, C4A, and C4B (C6), steroid 21-hydroxylase CyP21A and CyP21B (H5), tumor necrosis factors  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  (I1), and B-associated transcripts (BAT 1 to 5) (S16). A detailed map showing other components of the class III region is given by Trowsdale *et al.* (T19). Unlike the products of the class I and II regions, the class III gene products do not play an obvious role in determining transplant compatibility and they are not considered further in this review.

### 2.1. HLA CLASS I GENES AND THEIR PRODUCTS

The HLA class I region is the most telomeric part of the MHC and codes for at least 17 genes or gene fragments (K14). Three of these, HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-C, code for antigenic glycoproteins on the surface membrane of most (if not all) nucleated cells. Four other functional class I genes, now known as HLA-E, -F, -G, and -H, have also been identified (G5, G6, K15) but their status in coding for cell-surface molecules is currently unclear.



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of the major histocompatibility complex on human chromosome 6. Fully expressed genes are shown in black; pseudogenes (which do not express a product) are shown in white; and genes of undefined or uncertain status are shaded. Distances along the chromosome are measured in units known as kilobase pairs (kbp). BAT indicates B-associated transcript; TNF, tumor necrosis factor. Adapted from Peter and Hawkins (P3) with permission, Copyright 1992, American Medical Association.

The HLA-A, -B, and -C genes are extremely polymorphic. That is to say that the locus for HLA-A may be occupied by one of several different variations (alleles) of the HLA-A gene; the locus for HLA-B may be occupied by one of several alleles of the HLA-B gene; etc. The different alleles at the individual loci are the result of subtle differences in amino acid sequence along the respective glycoprotein chains from which the HLA molecule is formed. Some of these allelic differences can be detected only by amino acid sequencing. Others reflect more substantial differences in specificity and can be defined by serological reactions using alloantisera (i.e., human sera containing antibodies against HLA antigens).

The nomenclature of the HLA system is determined by the World Health Organization (WHO) Nomenclature Committee and reflects both the serological and the nucleotide levels of classification. The 1991 report of the Nomenclature Committee listed 27 HLA-A specificities, 59 HLA-B specificities, and 10 HLA-C specificities as shown in Table 1 (B17). These are the specificities that are detectable at the serological level. Contributing to some of these individual specificities, however, can be a large number of different alleles. At least 10 different alleles code for the specificity HLA-A2, for example, and 7 code for HLA-B27. To accommodate this complexity, the Nomenclature Committee has

COMPLETE EISTING OF RECOUNTLED TILLS SPECIFICITIES							
HLA-A	HLA-B	HLA-C	HLA-D	HLA-DR	HLA-DQ	HLA-DP	
A1	B5	Cw1	Dw1	DR1	DQ1	DPw1	
A2	<b>B</b> 7	Cw2	Dw2	DR10 3	DQ2	DPw2	
A203	<b>B7</b> 03	Cw3	Dw3	DR2	DQ3	DPw3	
A210	<b>B</b> 8	Cw4	Dw4	DR3	DQ4	DPw4	
A3	<b>B</b> 12	Cw5	Dw5	DR4	DQ5(1)	DPw5	
A9	B13	Cw6	Dw6	DR5	DQ6(1)	DPw6	
A10	B14	Cw7	Dw7	DR6	DQ7(3)		
A11	B15	Cw8	Dw8	DR7	DQ8(3)		
A19	B16	Dw9(w3)	Dw9	DR8	DQ9 (3)		
A23(9)	B17	Cw10(w3)	Dw10	DR9			
A24(9)	B18		Dw11(w7)	DR10			
A2403	<b>B</b> 21		Dw12	DR11(5)			
A25(10)	B22		Dw13	DR12(5)			
A26(10)	<b>B</b> 27		Dw14	DR13(6)			
A28	B35		Dw15	DR14(6)			
A29(19)	B37		Dw16	DR1403			
A30(19)	B38(16)		Dw17(w7)	DR1404			
A31(19)	B39(16)		Dw18(w6)	DR15(2)			
A32(19)	B3901		Dw19(w6)	DR16(2)			

TABLE 1 Complete Listing of Recognized HLA Specificities

(continued)

HLA-A	HLA-B	HLA-C	HLA-D	HLA-DR	HLA-DQ	HLA-DP
A33(19)	B3902		Dw20	DR17(3)		
A34(10)	<b>B</b> 40		Dw21	DR18(3)		
A36	B4005		Dw22			
A43	B41		Dw23	DR51		
A66(10)	B42					
A68(28)	B44(12)		Dw24	DR52		
A69(28)	B45(12)		Dw25			
A74(19)	<b>B</b> 46		Dw26	DR53		
	B47					
	<b>B</b> 48					
	B49(21)					
	B50(21)					
	B51(5)					
	B5102					
	B5103					
	B52(5)					
	B53					
	B54(22)					
	B55(22)					
	B56(22)					
	B57(17)					
	B58(17)					
	B59					
	B60(40)					
	B61(40)					
	B62(15)					
	B63(15)					
	B64(14)					
	B65(14)					
	B67					
	<b>B7</b> 0					
	B71(70)					
	B72(70)					
	B73					
	B75(15)					
	B76(15)					
	B77(15)					
	B7801					
	Bw4					
	Bw6					

TABLE 1 (Continued)

*Note.* Specificities with numbers in parentheses represent "broad" specificities that include two or more subgroups. For example, the broad specificity HLA-A19 includes the subgroups A29, A30, A31, A32, A33, and A74. The number in parentheses indicates the broad specificity associated with that subgroup. Inclusion of the parenthesized number is optional when referring to a subgroup. Thus, it is not necessary to refer to A33(19); the short form A33 is acceptable. Use of the prefix "HLA" for a specificity name is optional; HLA-B46 and B46 are equally acceptable to refer to that specificity.

HLA-A alleles	HLA-A specificity	HLA-B alleles	HLA-B specificity	HLA-C alleles	HLA-C specificity
A*0101	<b>A</b> 1	B*0701	B7	Cw*0101	Cw1
A*0201	A2	B*0702	<b>B</b> 7	Cw*0102	Cw1
A*0202	A2	B*0703	<b>B</b> 703	Cw*0201	Cw2
A*0203	A203	B*0801	<b>B</b> 8	Cw*02021	Cw2
A*0204	A2	B*1301	B13	Cw*02022	Cw2
A*0205	A2	B*1302	B13	Cw*0301	Cw3
A*0206	A2	B*1401	B14	Cw*0302	Cw3
A*0207	A2	B*1402	B65(14)	Cw*0401	Cw4
A*0208	A2	B*1501	B62(15)	Cw*0501	Cw5
A*0209	A2	B*1502	B75(15)	Cw*0601	Cw6
A*0210	A210	B*1503	B72(70)	Cw*0701	Cw7
A*0211	A2	B*1504	B62(15)	Cw*0702	Cw7
A*0212	A2	B*1801	B18	Cw*0801	Cw8
A*0301	A3	B*2701	B27	Cw*0802	C28
A*0302	A3	B*2702	B27	Cw*1201	_
A*1101	A11	B*2703	B27	Cw*1202	_
A*1102	A11	B*2704	B27	Cw*1301	_
A*2301	A23(9)	B*2705	B27	Cw*1401	_
A*2401	A24(9)	B*2706	B27		
A*2402	A24(9)	B*2707	B27		
A*2403	A2403	B*3501	B35		
A*2501	A25(10)	B*3502	B35		
A*2601	A26(10)	B*3503	B35		
A*2901	A29(19)	B*3504	B35		
A*2902	A29(19)	B*3505	B35		
A*3001	A30(19)	B*3506	B35		
A*3002	A30(19)	B*3701	B37		
A*31011	A31(19)	B*3801	B38(16)		
A*31012	A31(19)	B*3901	<b>B39</b> 01		
A*3201	A32(19)	B*3902	B3902		
A*3301	A33(19)	B*4001	B60(40)		
A*3401	A34(10)	B*4002	<b>B4</b> 0		
A*3402	A34(10)	B*4003	B40		
A*3601	A36	B*4004	B40		
A*4301	A43	B*4005	B4005		
A*6601	A66(10)	B*4101	<b>B</b> 41		
A*6602	A66(10)	B*4201	B42		
A*6801	A68(28)	<b>B*4401</b>	B44(12)		
A*6802	A68(28)	B*4402	B44(12)		
A*6901	A69(28)	B*4403	B44(12)		
A*7401	A74(19)	B*4501	B45(12)		
		B*4601	B46		
		B*4701	B47		

 TABLE 2

 List of HLA-A, -B, and -C Alleles for Which Unique Nucleotide

 Sequences Have Been Determined

(continued)

HLA-A alleles	HLA-A specificity	HLA-B alleles	HLA-B specificity	HLA-C alleles	HLA-C specificity
		B*4801	B48		
		B*4901	B49(21)		
		B*5001	B50(21)		
		B*5101	B51(5)		
		B*5102	B5102		
		B*5103	B5103		
		B*5201	B52(5)		
		B*5301	B53		
		B*5401	B54(22)		
		B*5501	B55(22)		
		B*5502	B55(22)		
		B*5601	B56(22)		
		B*5602	B56(22)		
		B*5701	B57(17)		
		B*5702	B57(17)		
		B*5801	B58(17)		
		B*7801	B7801		
		B*7901	_		

TABLE 2 (Continued)

*Note.* Broad specificities (e.g., HLA-A9) do not appear in the table. This is because the broad specificities do not correspond to unique nucleotide sequences.

introduced a separate nomenclature for alleles (Table 2). The designation A\*0212, for example, indicates that the allele codes for an HLA-A locus product; the first two numbers indicate the associated specificity (HLA-A2); and the last two numbers indicate a unique nucleotide sequence coding for that specificity.

### 2.1.1. Structure of HLA Class I Genes

HLA class I molecules exist on the cell surface in the form of glycoprotein heterodimers consisting of an  $\alpha$  chain with a molecular weight of approximately 44 kDa bound noncovalently to a smaller nonpolymorphic protein of molecular weight 12 kDa known as  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin ( $\beta_2$ m). The gene determining  $\beta_2$ m is not part of the HLA complex and is coded separately on chromosome 15 (G12). Part of the heavy chain penetrates the cell membrane (Fig. 2) and the remainder is folded into three extracellular domains known as  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$ , and  $\alpha 3$ , which are analogous in structure to those of the immunoglobulin molecule.  $\beta_2$ m does not penetrate the cell membrane but is associated noncovalently with the  $\alpha 3$  domain of the heavy chain.

The three-dimensional structure of the class I molecule has been determined from radiographic crystallography studies of the HLA-A2 molecule (Fig. 3) (B13).



FIG. 2. HLA class I molecules consist of a glycoprotein heterodimer comprising an  $\alpha$  chain made up of three  $\alpha$  domains covalently associated with  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin. The molecule traverses the cell membrane at one end only. Most of the polymorphism of the molecule is located within the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  domains, which contain the peptide binding groove (see text and Fig. 3).

The  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  domains each consist of four  $\beta$  strands and an  $\alpha$  helix. The eight antiparallel  $\beta$  strands are folded into a platform that supports the two coiled  $\alpha$ -helical loops. A large groove runs between these loops and provides a binding site for processed foreign antigens (B14). Most of the polymorphism of the molecule occurs within the  $\alpha$  helices forming the sides of the binding site and in the  $\beta$  strands forming the base of the groove. This results in different class I molecules having different binding sites and restricts the number of peptide fragments with which a given molecule can bind.

### 2.2. HLA CLASS II GENES AND THEIR PRODUCTS

Products of what is now known as the HLA class II region were originally detected through the use of the mixed lymphocyte culture (MLC) assay (B1, B3). This test uses the principle that when lymphocytes from genetically dissimilar individuals are mixed under appropriate cell culture conditions, the lymphocytes of one individual will stimulate those of the other to reproduce and form blast cells. The finding that lymphocytes from HLA-A and HLA-B identical siblings did not stimulate each other in the MLC, whereas lymphocytes from HLA-A and HLA-B identical individuals did, suggested that the MLC reaction is related to the HLA system but is controlled by a locus separate from HLA-A and HLA-B (Y3). This



FIG. 3. Three-dimensional representation of the peptide groove of an HLA class I molecule. Reprinted by permission from *Nature* vol. 329, pp. 506–512 [Bjorkman *et al.* (B13)]; © 1985, Macmillan Magazines Ltd.

locus was later designated HLA-D (W3). It is now known that the HLA-D antigens detected in the MLC test are not the product of a single HLA-D locus but are the combined product of a group of three polymorphic subregions, HLA-DR, HLA-DQ, and HLA-DP (H2), which code for cell-surface glycoproteins and are located in what is now known as the class II region.

The HLA-DR series of serological specificities was defined at the Seventh International Histocompatibility Workshop (B16) following the finding that human serum contains antibodies that react with B cells rather than T cells (V3). The serological reaction patterns of these antibodies correlated well with the HLA-D specificities detected in the MLC test and the antigens defined in this way were designated HLA-DR (where the "DR" stands for "D-Related"). A total of 24 HLA-DR specificities are currently recognized by the WHO Nomenclature Committee (Table 1) (B17).

The HLA-DQ series had as its basis the finding, also at the Seventh International Workshop, that certain antisera reacted with subsets of cells of different HLA-DR specificities (D11, T17). Hence, for example, a particular group of antisera might react with some but not all HLA-DR2-positive cells, some but not all HLA-DR6-

positive cells, and some but not all HLA-DR8-positive cells. The reactions defined in this way were attributed to the effect of a locus termed *HLA-DQ* adjacent to the *HLA-DR* locus (W4). Nine HLA-DQ specificities are currently recognized (Table 1).

The HLA-DP specificities are detected not by serological techniques but by a cellular method known as the primed lymphocyte typing (PLT) test (S10, W1). More recently, these specificities have been detected by Southern blotting with appropriate probes and restriction enzymes, and by using monoclonal antibodies in an ELISA (B15). Six HLA-DP specificities are currently recognized (Table 1).

Recent work has shown the existence of very many other genes in the class II region in addition to those of the HLA-DR, -DQ, and -DP loci. Two loci, HLA-DN and HLA-DO, contain weakly expressed genes of uncertain function designated HLA-DNA [originally called HLA-DZ $\alpha$  (T18) or HLA-DO $\alpha$  (I2)] and HLA-DOB (T16) (Fig. 1). Between HLA-DN and HLA-DO lies a fascinating cluster of novel genes that have been detected more recently (T19) but these are of little relevance to transplantation and are not considered further in this review.

## 2.2.1. Structure of HLA Class II Genes

Like the HLA class I molecules, the HLA-DR, HLA-DQ, and HLA-DP molecules consist of double-chain structures folded into domains. However, there are distinct differences between class I and class II molecules. First, unlike class I molecules, both class II chains are encoded by genes within the MHC. Second, unlike class I molecules, both chains traverse the cell membrane (Fig. 4).

The genes encoding the class II glycoprotein chains may be classified into two subtypes, designated A and B, that code for  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains, respectively. The HLA-DR, HLA-DQ, and HLA-DP molecules each consist of a heavy transmembrane  $\alpha$  chain of approximately 34 kDa that is noncovalently associated with a transmembrane  $\beta$  chain of approximately 29 kDa (Fig. 4). Each heterodimer consists of a pair of complementary chains: DR $\alpha$  chains pair with DR $\beta$  chains, DQ $\alpha$  chains pair with DQ $\beta$ , and DP $\alpha$  chains pair with DP $\beta$  (Fig. 5).

The HLA-DR molecules contain a nonpolymorphic DR $\alpha$  chain coded by HLA-DRA and three or four DR $\beta$  chains, depending on the haplotype, which are coded by HLA-DRB genes. The DRB1 genes are highly polymorphic and account for much of the polymorphism within the HLA-D region. The specificities HLA-DR1 to HLA-DR18 listed in Table 1 are determined by alleles of the HLA-DRB1 gene. Over 60 DRB1 alleles are currently known (Table 3).

Not only do the DRB1 genes determine the specificities HLA-DR1 to HLA-DR18, they also combine with other DRB genes to determine additional HLA-DR specificities. When the DRB1 gene is present with a DRB3 gene, the serological specificity HLA-DR52 occurs. Combinations with a DRB4 gene result in HLA-DR53, and combinations with DRB5 (not shown in Fig. 5) result in HLA-DR51. In addition to the functional genes within the DRB region, the region contains a



FIG. 4. HLA class II molecules consist of an  $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$  chain each folded into two domains. Unlike the class I molecule (Fig. 2), both chains traverse the membrane. Most of the polymorphism of the molecule occurs within the  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\beta$ 1 chains, which contain the peptide binding groove.

pseudogene, DRB2, containing mutations that prevent gene activation and transcription.

The HLA-DQ molecules consist of a DQ $\alpha$  chain coded by the HLA-DQA1 gene and a DQ $\beta$  chain coded by the HLA-DQB1 gene. Both HLA-DQA1 and HLA-DQB1 are highly polymorphic but the majority of the serological variability of HLA-DQ listed in Table 1 is determined by the DQ $\beta$  chain. The subregion also contains the pseudogenes HLA-DQA2, HLA-DQB2, and HLA-DQB3, which are not expressed. The 1991 Nomenclature Committee Report lists 14 DQA1 alleles and 19 DQB1 alleles (B17).

HLA-DP molecules have a structure very similar to that of HLA-DQ. The HLA-DPA1 gene codes for a DP $\alpha$  chain and the HLA-DPB1 gene codes for a DP $\beta$  chain. Both HLA-DPA1 and HLA-DPB1 are polymorphic. Six HLA-DP specificities, HLA-DPw1 to HLA-DPw6, are currently recognized (Table 1). Analogous to HLA-DQ, the subregion also codes for pseudogenes, HLA-DPA2 and HLA-DPB2, which do not contribute to the cellularly defined specificities. A total of 8 DPA1 alleles and 38 DPB1 alleles are currently recognized (B17).

The three-dimensional structure of the class II molecule has yet to be revealed by X-ray crystallography. However, by comparing the patterns of conserved and



FIG. 5. HLA class II molecules consist of heterodimers coded by two genes. HLA-DP molecules are coded by a DPA1 and a DPB1 gene; HLA-DQ molecules are coded by a DQA1 and a DQB1 gene; and HLA-DR molecules are coded by a DRA gene and a DRB gene. Combinations of the DRA gene with DRB1, DRB3, and DRB4 genes result in separate classes of serological specificities (see text). The HLA-DR, -DQ, and -DP loci all contain noncoding genes (DPB2, DPA2, DQB2, DQA2, and DRB2).

polymorphic amino acid sequences in homologous domains of class I and class II molecules, Brown *et al.* were able to predict that the antigen-binding site is located in a peptide groove similar to that of the class I molecule (B25).

### 2.3. INHERITANCE OF HLA ANTIGENS

Inheritance of HLA characteristics follows a simple Mendelian pattern. The genetic loci controlling the various HLA subregions are contained within the major histocompatibility complex on chromosome 6 (Fig. 1). Each individual inherits one chromosome 6 from one parent and one from the other parent, each chromosome coding for one HLA-A gene, one HLA-B gene, one HLA-C gene, and so on. The HLA-A locus will be occupied by one of the alleles listed in Table 1 under the column headed "HLA-A", the HLA-B locus will be occupied by one of the alleles listed under "HLA-B", and so on.

BRIAN	R.	HAWKINS	

HLA-DRB	HLA-DR	HLA-DRB	HLA-DR
allele	specificity	allele	specificity
DRB1*0101	DR1	DRB1*1304	DR13(6)
DRB1*0102	DR1	DRB1*1305	DR13(6)
DRB1*0103	DR103	DRB1*1306	DR13(6)
DRB1*1501	DR15(2)	DRB1*1401	DR14(6)
DRB1*1502	DR15(2)	DRB1*1402	DR14(6)
DRB1*1503	DR15(2)	DRB1*1403	DR1403
DRB1*1601	DR16(2)	DRB1*1404	DR1404
DRB1*1602	DR16(2)	DRB1*1405	DR14(6)
DRB1*0301	DR17(3)	DRB1*1406	DR14(6)
DRB1*0302	DR18(3)	DRB1*1407	DR14(6)
DRB1*0303	DR18(3)	DRB1*1408	DR14(6)
DRB1*0401	DR4	DRB1*1409	DR14(6)
DRB1*0402	DR4	DRB1*1410	_
DRB1*0403	DR4	DRB1*0701	DR7
DRB1*0404	DR4	DRB1*0702	DR7
DRB1*0405	DR4	DRB1*0801	DR8
DRB1*0406	DR4	DRB1*08021	DR8
DRB1*0407	DR4	DRB1*08022	DR8
DRB1*0408	DR4	DRB1*08031	DR8
DRB1*0409	DR4	DRB1*08032	DR8
DRB1*0410	DR4	DRB1*0804	DR8
DRB1*0411	DR4	DRB1*0805	DR8
DRB1*0412	DR4	DRB1*09011	DR9
DRB1*11011	DR11(5)	DRB1*09012	DR9
DRB1*11012	DR11(5)	DRB1*1001	<b>DR</b> 10
DRB1*1102	DR11(5)		
DRB1*1103	DR11(5)	DRB3*0101	DR52
DRB1*11041	DR11(5)	DRB3*0201	DR52
DRB1*11042	DR11(5)	DRB3*0202	DR52
DRB1*1105	DR11(5)	DRB3*0301	DR52
DRB1*1201	DR12(5)		
DRB1*1202	DR12(5)		
DRB1*1301	DR13(6)	DRB4*0101	DR53
DRB1*1302	DR13(6)		
DRB1*1303	DR13(6)		
		DRB5*0101	DR51
		DRB5*0102	DR51
		DRB5*0201	DR51
		DRB5*0202	DR51

TABLE 3

LIST OF RECOGNIZED HLA-DRB ALLELES AND THEIR ASSOCIATED HLA-DR SPECIFICITIES

The combination of alleles inherited from a parent is described as a *haplotype*, a contraction of the term "haploid genotype" (C10). Since there are two representatives of chromosome 6 present in each person, one from each parent, an individual will possess, by definition, two HLA-A genes, two HLA-B genes, two HLA-DR genes, etc.

As shown in Fig. 6, either of the father's two haplotypes can pair with either of the mother's two haplotypes. Hence, a single mating can result in four possible haplotypic combinations in the offspring. Since the HLA region of the chromosome is only approximately two recombination units (centimorgans) in length, the frequency of recombination between the HLA loci is less than 2% and individuals almost always inherit an intact segment of the chromosome from each parent. Thus, within a given family, there is approximately a 25% chance that an individual will have identical HLA haplotypes to any one of his siblings. The chance of being identical for one haplotype is 50%, and the chance of having no haplotypes in common is 25%. In the 2% or less of meiotic divisions in which recombination occurs, the offspring inherits part of the MHC from one of the parent's chromosomes and the balance from the other chromosome of that parent (Fig. 7).

The haplotype cannot be determined directly by HLA typing as this reveals only the phenotype, i.e., the expression of the HLA antigens present rather than the alignment of genes on the chromosomes. Haplotypes can only be determined through a family study.



FIG. 6. Inheritance of HLA haplotypes. Either one of the father's haplotypes can combine with either one of the mother's haplotypes, resulting in four haplotypic combinations in the offspring.


FIG. 7. Meiotic recombination affecting HLA haplotypes. The offspring has inherited an intact A3, B44, DR4 haplotype from the father and a recombinant haplotype from the mother consisting of A2 and B13 from one chromosome and DR5 from the other.

#### 2.4. DETECTION OF HLA PRODUCTS

When leukocyte antigens were first detected in the 1950s, the assay consisted of a cumbersome agglutination technique. However, the introduction of the lymphocyte microcytotoxicity test by Terasaki and McClelland in 1964 (T6) eliminated many of the technical constraints inherent in the agglutination method and provided a more consistent and reproducible method for the demonstration of HLA products. The test has continued in use little changed since its introduction.

The principle of the test is that, in the presence of complement, a reaction between HLA antigens on lymphocytes and corresponding antibodies in serum will cause activation of complement and consequent lysis of the lymphocytes. This lysis can be detected by the addition of a supravital stain such as eosin or trypan blue. Given an antiserum of known HLA specificity (e.g., HLA-A2) and lymphocytes of unknown specificity, the incorporation of stain into the test lymphocytes following incubation with complement (usually obtained from rabbits) implies that the lymphocytes possess the antigen specificity corresponding to that of the antiserum. By repeating this technique with antisera of different specificities, the HLA phenotype of the test lymphocytes can be ascertained.

The major disadvantage of this technique is that the antisera are of human origin. Traditionally, these alloantisera have been obtained from volunteer blood donors who have developed HLA antibodies following pregnancy or blood transfusion. Antibodies of this type tend to decrease in titer or change specificity over time so that samples collected from the same donor at different times may react quite differently. The technology of monoclonal antibody production using hybridomas, introduced by Köhler and Milstein in 1975 (K12), has partially overcome this problem by providing infinite quantities of typing reagents for some HLA class I and class II specificities. However, monoclonal antibodies to many specificities remain elusive (M2). A major reason for this is that the HLA specificities have been defined historically on the basis of serological reactions against human alloantibodies. A single alloantiserum will tend to recognize several antigen-binding sites on the HLA molecule rather than a single determinant. Monoclonal antibodies, on the other hand, recognize only small portions (epitopes) of the molecule (M2). These epitopes often occur in several HLA specificities and result in poor correlation between the reaction patterns of monoclonal antibodies and those of alloantibodies.

## 2.4.1. Biochemical and Molecular Methods of Identifying HLA Gene Products

In addition to the use of traditional serological techniques, HLA gene products can be analyzed on the basis of their biochemical characteristics. Isoelectric focusing (IEF), for example, allows HLA products to be separated on the basis of their electric charge or, more specifically, the pH at which the protein is uncharged, i.e., its isoelectric point. This technique is particularly useful for identifying variants and subtypes of HLA class I specificities. Monoclonal antibodies have been used to great effect in this technique by precipitating target molecules for the isolation of HLA antigens in a form suitable for electrophoresis (C16). A combination of the techniques of IEF and serological analysis has provided greatly improved definition of HLA class I specificities by detecting serologically indistinguishable subtypes or variants of HLA-A and HLA-B antigens and enabling the separation of cross-reactive antigens (Y2).

Analysis of class II specificities requires an extension of the technique known as two-dimensional electrophoresis. This procedure combines IEF with electrophoresis using sodium dodecyl sulfate and polyacrylamide gels. the IEF and gel electrophoresis are performed at right angles to each other so that the separations are based on both size and isoelectric point. This technique has proved to be highly efficient in detecting new class II variants (Fig. 8) and particularly in characterizing molecular variants of DR2, DR4, DR5, DR6, and DR7. The technique is one of the best typing procedures for the identification of DQa and DPa variants (C12, K11).

One of the major advances in HLA technology over the last decade was the introduction of restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis (Fig. 9). Genetic polymorphism within the HLA system is determined by differences in nucleotide sequences. In the RFLP technique, DNA is digested with restriction enzymes that break down the DNA molecule wherever a specific DNA sequence occurs. This breaks the molecule into multiple fragments of various lengths. Different alleles of the same gene will have different nucleotide sequences and

may generate fragments of different sizes. The fragments are separated electrophoretically on agarose gel on the basis of their size (smaller fragments have fewer negative charges). After an intermediate step to convert the DNA molecules into single strands, the DNA is transferred to a nitrocellulose filter so that an image of the agarose gel separation is obtained on the filter. This process is known as *Southern blotting*, after Edward M. Southern, who pioneered the technique (S15). The single-stranded DNA fragments are then treated with a radioactive "probe" of specific nucleotide sequence that binds, or "hybridizes," those DNA fragments with a sequence identical or homologous to that of the probe. The positions of those fragments are localized by autoradiography.

The value of the RFLP technique lies in its ability to demonstrate allelic variation within specificities that do not show variation at the serological level (K13). While the RFLP technique is valuable in determining allelic variation, it is subject to certain limitations. The technique is labor intensive and time consuming, and does not lend itself to routine application. Moreover, the procedure requires large amounts of test material. The introduction of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (S1) successfully overcame some of these disadvantages.

The PCR (Fig. 10) allows small segments of genomic DNA removed from crude cell lysates to be amplified in quantities sufficient for subsequent analysis. This is achieved by using a succession of incubation steps at different temperatures. Fundamental to the procedure are a pair of oligonucleotides, or "primers," that are made synthetically with nucleotide sequences complementary to those of the 3' and 5' ends of the gene segment of interest. One primer corresponds to the 3' end and one to the 5' end. The DNA sample is first heated to  $94^{\circ}$ C to convert it from



Dw4 Dw10 Dw13 Dw14 Dw15

FIG. 8. Schematic representation of typical results of two-dimensional electrophoresis using polyacrylamide gels and isoelectrofocusing. The HLA class II specificity HLA-DR4 can be shown to consist of several variants. In this experiment five variants can be identified.



FIG. 9. Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis. See text for explanation.

the double-stranded to the single-stranded form. As the sample cools to  $70^{\circ}$ C, the primers bind, or "hybridize," to the gene segment in question. This process is known as "annealing." The addition of a heat-stable polymerase, *Taq* DNA-polymerase (derived from the thermophilic bacterium *Thermus aquaticus*) facilitates the synthesis of a second DNA strand beginning at the 5' end and moving toward the 3' end. This completes the first cycle of the process and effectively doubles the amount of target DNA. Repeating the process over another cycle doubles the amount of DNA yet again. By repeating the process over several cycles (typically 20 to 30), the quantity of DNA becomes sufficient for further analysis.

One technique that has benefited particularly from the introduction of the polymerase chain reaction is that of HLA typing using sequence-specific oligonucleotide probes (SSOP). This technique relies on the fact that a probe of specific nucleotide sequence will bind only to an HLA molecule of complementary sequence. By testing a sample of DNA with several probes, each specific for a different allele or subtype, very precise HLA typing—to the level of a single nucleotide difference—can be achieved. Binding of the probe to its corresponding



FtG. 10. The polymerase chain reaction. Target DNA is heated at 95°C and the two oligonucleotide chains become separated (denaturation). Two oligonucleotide primers (shown in black and shaded) with sequences corresponding to opposite ends of the target gene segment bind to the separate chains (annealing). In the presence of Taq polymerase and the four deoxyribonuclease triphosphates, the primers become extended along the target segment to form a complementary copy of the original DNA strand (primer extension). This process doubles the quantity of DNA. By repeating the process over a number of cycles the quantity of DNA increases exponentially (figure courtesy of the Perkin–Elmer Corporation). sequence is visualized by incorporating a label into the probe. Originally this label was a radioisotope (e.g., <sup>32</sup>P) but nonradioactive probes such as biotin–avidin are becoming increasingly used.

### 3. HLA and the Immune Response

The normal immune system functions to identify foreign material entering the body and to bring about the destruction and removal of that material. The process through which this is achieved was elegantly proposed by Sir MacFarlane Burnet in his clonal selection theory of acquired immunity (B28). The central theme of this hypothesis is that an "immune surveillance" mechanism exists through which blood cells are able to differentiate normal body components ("self") from foreign material ("nonself") such as bacteria, viruses, parasites, and cancer cells. When nonself material is encountered, the host responds by generating multiple copies (or "clones") of a cell that is able to mount a specific immunological response to the foreign material.

The response to a foreign antigen is a multifaceted process involving both cell-mediated and humoral (plasma-mediated) components. Two populations of lymphocytes are involved, both originating from a common stem cell produced in the bone marrow. Stem cells that have passed through the thymus are known as *T lymphocytes* and are responsible for cell-mediated immunity. Cells that have passed through the lymphoid tissues of the gastrointestinal tract are known as *B lymphocytes* and are involved in the synthesis of circulating antibody. In avian species, there is a distinct organ, known as the bursa of Fabricius, in which stem cell processing takes place, and it is from the initial letter of "bursa" that B-lymphocytes derive their name.

T lymphocytes may be separated into two major functional subpopulations having either regulatory or effector function. Regulatory cells represent about 70% of all T lymphocytes in the peripheral circulation and are separated into "helper" cells and "suppressor" cells. The remaining T cells have an effector function and are known as "cytotoxic" cells.

# 3.1. ROLE OF HLA MOLECULES IN THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

A classic paper by Zinkernagel and Doherty in 1974 (Z1) showed that in order for T cells to recognize a foreign antigen, the antigen has to be presented by cells displaying the MHC antigens of the host. The phenomenon became known as "MHC restriction."

The recognition of a foreign antigen involves two families of cells: lymphocytes and macrophages. The antigen is first taken up and processed by a macrophage or monocyte that functions as an "antigen-presenting cell." A small peptide fragment of the processed antigen becomes bound to the MHC molecules on the surface of the antigen-presenting cell and is expressed as a composite unit with the MHC molecule. This requirement for simultaneous recognition of antigen and MHC molecule ensures that T cells operate only when they come into intimate contact with another cell (Fig. 11).

Generally speaking, cytotoxic T cells recognize antigen in association with class I molecules, and helper T cells do so in association with class II molecules. These cells carry different antigens that are involved in the recognition process: CD4 in the case of helper cells, and CD8 in the case of cytotoxic cells. From among the vast repertoire of T cells possessed by the host, the cells recognizing the foreign structures on the antigen-presenting cells are identified. Clonal selection of these cells then takes place to produce large numbers of cells that react specifically with the foreign material.

# 4. The Immunological Basis of Transplant Rejection

The immunological defense mechanism that so ably protects against invading microorganisms and cancer cells also exerts its actions on foreign cells and tissues that have been intentionally transplanted for therapeutic purposes. The process



FIG. 11. Schematic diagram showing antigen presentation. Portions of foreign antigens are held within the peptide groove of the MHC molecule and are "presented" to T cells as a complex with the MHC molecule. T cells carry specific receptors on their surface that recognize this complex. The T cell cannot combine with the MHC molecule or the foreign antigen unless the two are presented as a complex.

through which a transplanted organ or tissue is destroyed by the immune system is known as "immunological rejection."

Except in a few isolated instances, such as when the recipient's immune system is grossly impaired or when the donor and recipient are identical twins, some degree of immunological rejection is a natural consequence of all transplantation.

An immunological basis for transplant rejection was described in 1938 when Peter Gorer discovered that mice possess a genetic system, later known as the H-2 system, that codes for serologically detectable alloantigens involved in determining tissue rejection (G14). However, it was Medawar's finding of accelerated rejection after repeated grafts from the primary donor in 1944 (M7) that led to his classic series of experiments and the evolution of our present ideas of transplant immunology (M8–M10).

#### 4.1. MECHANISMS OF GRAFT REJECTION

One of the most powerful factors leading to graft destruction is the presence of preexisting antibodies in the recipient to incompatible antigens on the donor tissue. Such antibodies are likely to occur following blood transfusion, in which the recipient becomes immunized by antigens expressed on the donor leukocytes and platelets; pregnancy, due to immunization of the mother by incompatible paternal antigens expressed on fetal blood cells; previous organ transplants, in which the recipient has become immunized against incompatible antigens in the previous graft; or deliberate immunization. In the present climate of AIDS and HIV infection, deliberate immunization is rare. However, it is interesting to note that deliberate immunization, particularly of laboratory staff, was commonly practiced in the early days of histocompatibility testing as a means of obtaining HLA antisera (e.g., Z2).

Destruction caused by preexisting antibodies is known as *hyperacute rejection*. The relationship between preformed antibodies and early rejection of cadaveric renal transplants was first recognized in the mid 1960s (K9, P1, W2). This type of rejection occurs very rapidly and, in the case of renal transplantation, is often seen while the patient is still on the operating table. The preformed antibodies precipitate in the walls of the small vessels of the graft, causing complement fixation and the production of neutrophil chemotactic factors. Neutrophils are attracted to the site and begin to degranulate and release cytolytic agents. Concomitant platelet aggregation results in coagulation and occlusion of the vessels leading to ischemia and eventual necrosis.

Fortunately, hyperacute rejection may be largely eliminated by cross-matching the patient's serum against the donor lymphocytes using a variation of the lymphocyte microcytotoxicity test. The patient's serum is placed in the wells of a tissue typing tray and donor lymphocytes are added. The cells are examined for lysis after an appropriate incubation period and the addition of complement. If lysis is present it indicates that the patient's serum contains antibodies directed against the histocompatibility antigens of the donor and is a strong indication that hyperacute rejection would occur if an organ from that donor were to be transplanted into the patient.

Two other types of transplant rejection, known as *acute rejection* and *chronic rejection*, are due to cell-mediated immune mechanisms and occur at longer intervals after transplantation. These types of rejection cannot be predicted by cross-matching. The transplanted organ will often function normally for the first few days after transplant. During this time, however, the recipient's lymphocytes migrate to the graft, where they accumulate and rapidly proliferate. Monocytes are also attracted by chemotactic factors derived from the proliferating lymphocytes. The monocytes transform to macrophages, which incorporate part of the histo-compatibility antigens of the graft and function as antigen-presenting cells. Damage to the graft results both from the production of cytotoxic factors during the ensuing immunological reaction and from thrombosis and ischemia caused by cellular accumulation and crowding of the small arteries.

## 4.2. Use of Immunosuppression to Reduce Graft Rejection

In many cases, the immunological events that lead to rejection of a transplanted organ may be abrogated by the use of immunosuppressive drugs. These drugs work on the basis that immunological rejection is a consequence of an increased production of immunologically activated cells reacting against the allograft. By preventing the production of immunologically active cells, the severity of the rejection process may be minimized. Until recently the drugs used for this purpose in renal transplantation consisted of azathioprine and prednisolone, occasionally in association with antilymphocyte globulin. These forms of immunosuppression, while effective in reducing the severity of rejection, often introduced a number of associated complications. Azathioprine is an antagonist to purine metabolism and appears to decrease nucleic acid synthesis. In this respect the drug effectively prevents the development of stimulated lymphoid cells but does so in a nonspecific manner. Hence, the drug is associated with generalized depression of hemopoietic cells and can lead to anemia, thrombocytopenia, and leukopenia with associated susceptibility to infection and malignancy. Prednisolone, while effectively depressing the inflammatory response, is associated with the well-known disadvantages of corticosteroids, including increased susceptibility to infection, Cushing's disease, hypertension, weight gain, etc.

More recently, a number of "new generation" immunosuppressants have become available without the disadvantages of the previous methods. Cyclosporin A was the first to be introduced (B18). This drug, originally isolated from a newly discovered fungal species, *Tolypocladium inflatum* Gams, is a highly lipophilic, cyclic endecapeptide (K2).

The immunosuppressive action of CyA results from its inhibitory effects on helper T-lymphocyte activation and proliferation by blocking the release from activated helper T lymphocytes of the growth factor, interleukin 2 (A8). The release of other lymphokines is also inhibited, including y-interferon, B-cellstimulation factor, and cytotoxic differentiation factor. Since helper T cells play an important accessory role in the allograft rejection process, their selective removal after transplant diminishes the severity of rejection. In this respect, CyA has the advantage over other types of immunosuppression that it is specific for helper T lymphocytes and does not exert an effect on other cells involved in immune responsiveness such as B lymphocytes, macrophages, and suppressor T cells. Despite the obvious benefits of CyA as an immunosuppressant, the drug has the important side effect of nephrotoxicity (K10), which has led to concerns about its long-term use. Myers et al. (M15) have recently reported a high incidence of renal failure in heart transplant recipients as long as 8 years after transplantation. On the positive side, however, Almond et al. (A3) studied renal function for up to 10 years in renal transplant recipients treated with CyA and found no evidence of progressive deterioration in renal function due to CyA nephrotoxicity.

Still more recent was the introduction of another immunosuppressive drug known as FK-506, which was first described in Japan in 1987 (K7, K8) and introduced for clinical use in 1989. The drug was discovered when a *Streptomyces* strain isolated from a soil sample from Tsukuba, Japan, was found to have powerful immunosuppressive properties (G15). Although differing considerably from CyA in structure, FK-506 acts in a similar way by inhibiting T-cell activation through interference with the production of interleukin 2 (S9).

Other immunosuppressive agents currently undergoing trials include Rapamycin, also derived from a *Streptomyces* species (D10), and RS-61443 (S13), which blocks the proliferative responses of T and B cells. These agents are still in the evaluation stage, but show exciting promise for the future as a means of minimizing both the degree of rejection following transplantation and the complications associated with prolonged immunosuppression.

Careful selection and matching of donors and recipients to reduce the genetic disparity between them is also of substantial benefit in minimizing the degree of rejection, and it is in this respect that HLA antigens play one of their most important roles in modern medicine.

## 5. HLA and Renal Transplantation

#### 5.1. ROLE OF HLA MATCHING IN DETERMINING GRAFT OUTCOME

Even in the middle to late 1960s, before the HLA-A and -B loci were fully identified, evidence was accumulating that improved graft outcome could be

obtained when recipients of kidney transplants from cadaveric donors were matched with their donors for the broad serological specificities known at that time (B5, M14, V2). As the HLA-A and -B antigens became better defined, most large studies from regional and national registries showed a strong correlation between HLA-A and HLA-B matching and graft survival. Dausset *et al.* (D3) showed a 70% 2-year survival of grafts identical for four HLA-A and -B antigens compared with 34% for those with one or zero identical antigens. Similar results were reported by other groups (e.g., F1, S8). Figure 12 depicts recent data from the Collaborative Transplant Study (discussed later), showing the effect of HLA-A and -B matching on the outcome of cadaveric kidney transplants in patients who have not been transplanted previously and who are treated with the immunosuppressive drug Cyclosporin A. Recipients with no mismatched antigens against their donor have the best outcome (67% graft survival at 5 years) and the survival decreases as the number of mismatched antigens increases.

Soon after the discovery that HLA matching improves transplant outcome, many centers found that matching for HLA-B antigens is more important than that for HLA-A antigens (D9, O2). Some reported no significant effect of matching for HLA-A antigens (e.g., D1) but the combined experience of most centers indicates



#### HLA A+B MISMATCHES

FIG. 12. Five-year graft survival in first cadaveric kidney transplant recipients according to the number of mismatched HLA-A and -B antigens between the donor and the recipient. The number of mismatched antigens (MM) and the number of recipients in each category are shown. Recipients with no mismatched antigens (0 MM) have significantly better outcomes than those with mismatches. All patients included in this analysis were treated with Cyclosporin A. From the Collaborative Transplant Study (G. Opelz, personal communication).

that HLA-A matching does play a role, albeit a weaker one than that of HLA-B. Matching for HLA-C, on the other hand, is generally acknowledged to be of little importance in determining transplant outcome (S12).

With the discovery of HLA-DR antigens in the late 1970s, many workers discovered that matching for these antigens in addition to HLA-A and -B has a more favorable effect on graft survival than matching for HLA-A and -B alone (e.g., A1, P2, T13, T14). Indeed, several reports showed that matching for HLA-DR antigens alone has a more beneficial effect than matching for HLA-A and/or HLA-B specificities (A9, G10) and some showed that matching for HLA-B and -DR is more advantageous (O4, O5). The superior role of HLA-DR matching is now generally accepted and many centers place more emphasis on HLA-DR matching donors and recipients for HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigens. However, the advantage of using a fully matched donor with no mismatched HLA-A, -B, or -DR antigens against the recipient cannot be overlooked. Particularly convincing in this respect are the results of large studies in which data are combined from multiple centers.

One such study is the Collaborative Transplant Study (CTS), which began in 1982 under the initiative of Professor Gerhard Opelz in Heidelberg, Germany. The study consists of an international, multicenter collaborative effort in which over 270 transplant centers in 40 countries send details to a central registry on all transplants performed at those centers. Baseline information is reported to the registry on tissue typing, immunosuppression, kidney preservation, etc., and the participating centers provide regular clinical updates on the outcome of the transplants. By early 1993 over 110,000 renal transplants with follow-up periods of up to 9 years had been recorded in the registry. An analysis of the effect of HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigen matching on graft outcome in over 30,000 first-time recipients of cadaveric kidney transplants in the CTS registry with at least 5 years follow-up is shown in Fig. 13. The figure shows a clear reduction in the percentage of grafts surviving at 5 years as the number of mismatched antigens increases from zero (67%) to six (48%). The correlation is statistically highly significant (p < 0.0001).

Because of the clear advantage of matching for six antigens, a program was started in 1987 by the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) in the United States in which transplant centers maintain a nationwide register of patients requiring kidney transplantation. Whenever a donor is found with a six-antigen match with a patient on the national register, the kidney is shipped out for that patient. The 1-year graft survival for over 500 recipients of six-antigen-matched kidneys under this scheme is 89% (T3). These impressive results notwithstanding, the question of organ sharing remains controversial and is subject to vociferous debate. A rational evaluation of the issue is provided by Burdick and colleagues (B27).

In the case of living related transplantation, there is little argument that superior results are achieved when sibling donors and recipients share two haplotypes.

### HLA A+B+DR MISMATCHES



FIG. 13. Five-year graft survival in first cadaveric kidney transplant recipients according to the number of mismatched HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigens between the donor and the recipient. Numbers of mismatched antigens (MM) are shown as in Fig. 12. Recipients with no mismatched antigens (0 MM) have significantly better outcomes than those with mismatches. From the Collaborative Transplant Study (G. Opelz, personal communication).

Even when HLA matching was in its infancy, Descamps *et al.* in France reported that, of 33 renal transplants between HLA identical siblings performed between 1959 and 1972, all were functioning 1 year after transplant, and all except one retained a functioning graft for at least 4 years (D7). These successful results were confirmed in single-center studies (e.g., A6) and multicenter studies (e.g., O10). Although serious rejection can still occur when sibling donors are matched for two haplotypes (B11), sometimes resulting in loss of the graft (A6), these losses are rare and it is generally accepted that transplantation from a fully matched sibling donor is the most successful available.

## 5.2. EFFECT OF CYCLOSPORIN A ON RENAL GRAFT OUTCOME

The introduction of the powerful immunosuppressant Cyclosporin A (CyA) in the early 1980s had a revolutionary effect on renal transplantation.

The ability of CyA to prolong kidney graft survival was first shown by Calne and colleagues in the United Kingdom (C2, C3). Indeed, the powerful effect of CyA as an immunosuppressant led to several publications claiming that HLA matching no longer had a significant influence on graft survival (E3, T4, V1). Data from the Scandiatransplant group showed no significant association between graft survival and closeness of HLA matching and resulted in a provisional halt to an exchange program based on HLA matching for nonsensitized recipients (L7).

These results are in marked contrast to those of the Collaborative Transplant Study. The CTS data have shown consistently that HLA matching confers significant benefits in determining graft outcome and that this benefit is amplified by the use of CyA (O5, O6, O9). Figure 14 clearly shows the effect of matching for HLA-DR antigens in patients treated with CyA and those treated without CyA. Similar results are obtained when the combined effect of matching for HLA-B and -DR; and HLA-A, -B, and -DR is analyzed in patients treated with CyA and in those treated without. Whatever level of HLA matching is used, the use of CyA improves the outcome. The CTS results are supported by those of another large collaborative study organized by the Los Angeles group (C7).

## 5.3. EFFECT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION ON RENAL GRAFT OUTCOME

In the first few years after renal transplantation had become an established form of therapy, blood transfusion of potential recipients was avoided as far as possible to prevent the development of antibodies against HLA antigens in the donor blood. This strategy became drastically changed after 1973 when Opelz and co-workers reported the paradoxical finding that survival of cadaveric renal allografts was



#### HLA DR MISMATCHES

FIG. 14. Five-year graft survival in first cadaveric kidney transplant recipients according to the number of mismatched HLA-DR antigens and types of immunosuppressive therapy used. Numbers of mismatched antigens MM are shown as in Fig. 12. Patients with no mismatches have better outcomes than those with mismatches but the overall graft survival is higher in the patients treated with Cyclosporin A (CyA). From the Collaborative Transplant Study (G. Opelz, personal communication).

actually improved in patients who had received blood transfusions prior to transplant (O11). Over 400 publications in the scientific literature have since confirmed this finding.

There has been no general consensus on the actual mechanism involved but it is likely that transfusions produce a beneficial effect by inducing a state of immune unresponsiveness in the recipient. Terasaki (T5) proposed that transfusions act as a primary immunization event and that the transplant acts as a secondary stimulus. High-dose immunosuppression at the time of transplant prevents the formation of reactive cell clones and these specific clones are selectively deleted, thereby allowing the graft to remain intact. Fundamental questions still remained unanswered, however, such as the optimal number of transfusions, their timing, or the type of blood product transfused.

An additional dimension to the subject was introduced by Salvatierra *et al.*, who found that graft survival following blood transfusion in one-haplotypemismatched recipients of living related transplants could be improved even further when the blood was obtained from the subsequent kidney donor (S4). Using a protocol of three donor-specific transfusions given at bi-weekly intervals prior to transplant, graft survival in one-haplotype-mismatched donor-recipient pairs was found to be similar to that obtained with HLA-identical sibling donors (S3). The practice of giving donor-specific transfusions carries with it the danger that the recipient will form antibodies against incompatible donor antigens and preclude subsequent transplantation. Salvatierra's group reported that 30% of patients receiving donor-specific transfusions developed antibodies against the donor (S2). However, some workers subsequently found that this high sensitization rate could be reduced by administering the transfusions together with the immunosuppressive drug azathioprine (A5, E1, G8).

The significant improvements in transplant outcome following the introduction of CyA in the early 1980s resulted in heated debates on the continued efficacy of pretransplant blood transfusions. A multicenter trial of the drug in Europe showed no evidence for a beneficial effect of pretransplant blood transfusions in patients treated with CyA, whereas transfused patients treated with other immunosuppressants showed better graft survival (E3). Several single-center studies have also shown that the transfusion effect is absent or even deleterious in recipients treated with CyA (A2, G1, H3, K1), leading Groth (G16) to conclude that there is no need to give blood transfusions as pretreatment for renal transplantation in the Cyclosporin era. However, two large collaborative studies (C9, O5) have continued to show a favorable effect of pretransplant transfusion on graft survival in patients treated with CyA, although the beneficial effect appears to be declining (O7). Pretransplant blood transfusion is not without risk, particularly that of sensitization and the transmission of infection, and many centers decided to discontinue the practice of elective transfusions and rely on the beneficial effects of CyA therapy alone. The experience gained from the "blood transfusion effect," however, has taught us much about the way in which the immune system can be manipulated to improve graft survival.

## 5.4. THE ROLE OF CROSS-MATCHING

One of the most, if not *the* most, important tests performed by the HLA laboratory is the complement-dependent cytotoxicity cross-match to detect the presence of preformed antibodies in the recipient's serum against HLA antigens on the donor lymphocytes. The existence of such antibodies in the recipient almost always suggests that rapid rejection will occur if an organ from that donor is transplanted into that recipient. The role of preformed antibodies in determining the outcome of cadaveric renal transplantation was recognized in the mid 1960s when a strong association was found between a positive cross-match and a rapid failure of transplanted kidneys (K9, P1, W2). Since then, a positive cross-match has been considered a strong contraindication to transplantation. However, the approach to cross-matching has changed dramatically in recent years.

Not all antibodies detected by the complement-dependent cross-match are involved in transplant rejection. In particular, autoantibodies (especially in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus) and antibodies against B cells rather than T cells are of little relevance to transplantation (E2, T15). Since these antibodies are usually of the IgM class (L3), a number of techniques have been developed to determine whether the antibodies detected in the cross-match are IgM or IgG. Typically these techniques employ reducing agents such as dithiothreitol (DTT) or dithioerythritol (DTE) to block the reactivity of IgM antibodies by breaking the disulfide bonds of the IgM molecule (O1, O3). A positive cross-match before treatment of the serum with DTT or DTE and a negative cross-match afterwards provide strong evidence that the antibody is of the IgM class (B4, C11).

New techniques have also been introduced to increase the sensitivity of the standard cross-match and allow the identification of antibodies that are poor activators of complement. These techniques include extending the incubation times of the standard cross-match (T7) and the addition of an anti-human globulin step (F4, J3). The most sensitive assay, however, is a cross-match using flow cytometry, which does not involve complement fixation (G3).

The flow cytometry cross-match is similar in principle to the traditional serological method. Donor cells are first incubated with the recipient's serum. Instead of adding complement, however, a fluorochrome-labeled anti-human immunoglobulin is added. If a reaction occurs between antibodies in the patient's serum and antigens on the donor cells, the bound antibody will combine with the fluorescent anti-immunoglobulin and will be detected by the flow cytometer. Several workers have reported a higher incidence of graft loss in patients with a positive flow cytometry cross-match but negative cytotoxicity cross-match (G2, L2, M1) and the technique is becoming increasingly used in the evaluation of prospective renal transplant recipients. By demonstrating the existence of weak antibodies that are not detectable using serological crossmatch methods, flow cytometry effectively identifies the recipient at special risk and provides an effective means of monitoring the patient's immune status after transplant (P5). Currently, flow cytometry is confined mainly to the evaluation of renal transplant recipients, but the technique also shows promise for cardiac transplantation (S11).

The introduction of more sensitive cross-match techniques has raised questions as to the level and types of antibodies that are relevant to clinical transplantation, and the optimal cross-match procedures necessary to improve graft survival (K6). These questions have been compounded by factors such as whether the recipient is undergoing a first or subsequent transplant (K5). In addition, events in recent years have completely changed the approach to the nature of the sera that should be used for cross-matching.

Most laboratories regularly screen for HLA antibodies in the sera of patients awaiting renal transplant, especially after blood transfusions. Until recently, most laboratories routinely cross-matched all sera found to possess antibodies whenever a potential donor was being considered. This was based on the traditional dogma that an individual maintains a permanent immunological memory of an immunizing event. Hence, if a transplant recipient has previously been immunized against a particular HLA specificity, a transplant from a donor possessing the same specificity would be expected to elicit a rapid anamnestic response leading to rejection of the graft. Cross-matching all previous sera found to possess antibodies, even if those antibodies had subsequently disappeared, was generally regarded as an appropriate precaution against graft rejection.

This approach changed in the 1980s when the University of Toronto transplant group reported that they had successfully transplanted cadaveric kidneys to a group of patients from whom serum collected previously showed a positive cross-match but in whom current sera gave a negative cross-match (C5). Other workers were soon able to corroborate these findings (G9, N2, S6). Various explanations have been proposed for this unexpected departure from classical understanding but the subject is still open to debate (G9). Of major benefit from the finding, however, have been the many highly sensitized patients who have received transplants when previously they would have been excluded on the basis of a positive historical cross-match.

## 6. HLA and Bone Marrow Transplantation

Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation was first attempted in the 1960s, usually as a last resort for immunodeficiency syndromes when other forms of treatment were unsuccessful. The results were singularly disappointing. In 1970, Bortin (B19) reviewed 203 bone marrow transplants reported in the scientific literature until 1968 and showed that only a few presented clear evidence of engraftment leading to improvement or cure. However, the finding in 1968 that various immunodeficiency syndromes could be treated successfully using bone marrow transplanted from an HLA-identical or closely matched donor led to a resurgence of interest in this form of therapy (B2, D6, G4).

During the next 10 years, bone marrow transplantation became established as a viable treatment for severe combined immunodeficiency (B20) but benefited only a small minority of patients with acute leukemia (T11). In 1979, however, Thomas and colleagues in Seattle showed that the outcome of bone marrow transplantation for patients with acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia could be dramatically improved when the transplant was performed during the first remission rather than later in the course of the disease (T10). Another report in the same year, showed that severe aplastic anemia could also be successfully treated with bone marrow transplantation (C4). Since then, the results have improved progressively to the extent that bone marrow transplantation from an HLA haplotype-identical sibling is now considered the best chance of cure for many conditions, including immunodeficiency syndromes (F2), aplastic anemia (L4), and hematological malignant disorders, particularly chronic myelogenous leukemia (G11, T12). Other disorders that have been successfully treated with bone marrow transplantation include Fanconi's anemia (D5, H8), β-thalassemia (L6), and congenital cytopenias (e.g., Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome) (O13).

Leukemia, however, was the most common indication for bone marrow transplantation in the 1980s and accounted for 73% of all bone marrow transplants reported to the International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry (B21, B22). Data collected by the registry between 1980 and 1989 show a steady decline in transplant-related mortality from 48 to 36% over the decade and progressively improving leukemia-free survival—from 34% to 45% (B23). The last decade has also seen increased use of bone marrow transplantation in children following the introduction of the cytotoxic drugs busulphan and cyclophosphamide for preconditioning (S7), which avoids the adverse effects of total body irradiation on the growth and development of young patients (S5).

# 6.1. SIGNIFICANCE OF GRAFT VERSUS HOST DISEASE IN BONE MARROW TRANSPLANTATION

One of the major obstacles to successful bone marrow transplantation in children and adults is the problem of graft versus host disease (GVHD). This potentially life-threatening complication of bone marrow transplantation occurs when the suppressed immune system of the recipient (the host) is unable to recognize and mount an immune response against foreign histocompatibility antigens on the donor tissue (the graft). Instead of the grafted tissue being rejected by the recipient's immune system, the graft is able to mount its own immune response against the histoincompatible recipient (B12).

Following extensive research into GVHD, Billingham identified three essential requirements for the condition to occur (B12):

- 1. the graft must contain immunologically competent cells,
- 2. the host must have transplantation antigens sufficiently different from those of the graft for the graft to be recognized as antigenically foreign, and
- 3. the host must be unable to mount an effective immunological reaction against the graft.

Since a major component of the conditioning regime for a bone marrow transplant recipient is complete inactivation of the recipient's immune system by total body irradiation or cytotoxic drugs, a major precondition for GVHD is satisfied by the bone marrow transplant recipient.

GVHD may be acute or chronic. Between 20 and 50% of patients receiving marrow transplants from HLA-identical siblings develop significant acute GVHD (S20). Patients may demonstrate various manifestations, ranging from a mild, transient, and self-limiting skin rash that does not require therapy to a severe necrotizing skin rash with severe gut and/or liver involvement that may be fatal. The intensity of disease is usually graded on a scale of I to IV developed by Thomas *et al.* (T9), in which the most severe disease is Grade IV.

Chronic GVHD may or may not follow the acute form of the disease. Sullivan and co-workers (S22) reported that chronic GVHD developed in 30% of recipients of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation who survived longer than 150 days. Clinically, chronic GVHD resembles an overlap of several collagen–vascular diseases with involvement of the skin, liver, eyes, mouth, upper respiratory tract, and esophagus (J2).

Since the treatment of severe GVHD is often unsuccessful, the most appropriate strategy is primary prevention of the condition. For this reason, most bone marrow transplantation to date has used HLA-identical siblings as donors. In Western countries, however, only about 30% of patients have an HLA-matched sibling (O12). In Asia the figure is slightly higher (H4). However, between 60 and 70% of patients who might otherwise benefit from a bone marrow transplant are deprived of the opportunity because no HLA-matched sibling donor is available. To overcome this problem, many centers have turned their attention to the use of HLA-matched unrelated bone marrow donors and partially matched family members.

## 6.2. THE USE OF PARTIALLY HLA-MATCHED RELATIVES AS DONORS

Pioneering work in the use of partially HLA-matched family members as bone marrow donors was reported in 1979 by the Seattle group (C14), who initially

reported transplants in 12 patients with acute leukemia and 9 with aplastic anemia in whom the donor was a sibling or parent with at least one matched haplotype. The successful results of this study led to a larger study of 105 patients who received transplants from partially HLA-matched family members. A comparison with 728 patients transplanted from genotypically identical siblings showed that as the HLA disparity between the donor and recipient increased, the risk of developing significant acute GVHD increased and the disease occurred appreciably earlier (B8).

In a later study of partially HLA-matched marrow transplant recipients, the Seattle group showed a 9% incidence of graft failure when the donor and recipient were mismatched for one HLA antigen and a 21% incidence when they were mismatched for two antigens (A4). These figures compared with a 2% incidence in recipients who had received grafts from matched siblings.

On the basis of these findings it may be concluded that transplantation from a partially matched relative has a distinct role as a treatment option when a fully matched relative is not available. But what is the solution for patients who have neither an HLA-identical sibling donor nor another relative with a one antigen mismatch? Many centers have begun to look outside the patients' immediate families for the answer.

#### 6.3. THE USE OF UNRELATED BONE MARROW DONORS

The first bone marrow transplants using unrelated donors in modern times appear to be by Mathé *et al.* (M3), who treated survivors of a nuclear reactor accident in Yugoslavia. O'Reilly and colleagues (O14) subsequently used the technique to reconstitute the marrow of a patient with severe combined immunodeficiency. The first successful transplant for acute leukemia using HLA-matched marrow from an unrelated donor was reported by Hansen and colleagues in 1980 (H1). Successful results may also be obtained when unrelated donors are used for the transplantation of patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (B6), although the results are less encouraging when the transplant is performed in the accelerated or blastic phase of the disease.

Bone marrow transplantation from an unrelated donor introduces a number of important considerations that do not apply to the related donor. Within a family there is a one in four chance that two siblings will inherit the same pair of HLA haplotypes from their parents. HLA haplotype identity is determined by typing the patient's siblings and, where possible, parents for at least their HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigens. In most cases, the haplotype-identical siblings, if any, to be identified. If two siblings are shown to be haplotype identical on the basis of HLA-A, -B, and -DR typing and a family study, then, by definition, they will be identical at all the intervening loci of the major histocompatibility complex,

including loci that were not tested. If one of these siblings acts as a bone marrow donor for the other, the risk of the patient developing GVHD is minimized because they are not mismatched for their major transplantation antigens.

When two *unrelated* individuals are shown to have identical HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigens, the most that can be said is that they are *phenotypically* identical. Their haplotypes are not derived from the same parents and may be quite dissimilar (see Fig. 15). Even if the haplotype configuration is the same in the donor and recipient, i.e., each haplotype of the donor codes for the same combination of HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigens as do the haplotypes of the recipient (and this could be established with certainty only by testing the relatives of the donor), there is no guarantee that the donor and recipient will be identical at all the intervening loci or for HLA-DQ or -DP. Moreover, serological typing for the HLA-A, -B, and -DR antigens is unable to demonstrate a number of allelic variations that are detectable by other techniques. HLA-B27, for example, is known to have at least six variants at the amino acid level (L5). Disparity between a donor and a recipient for a single antigenic variant differing by only one amino acid has been implicated in the rejection of a marrow graft (F3).



FIG. 15. An identical HLA phenotype in a patient and a potential donor does not imply that the patient and donor have identical haplotypes. In the example shown, donors of four possible haplotypic configurations could produce phenotypes corresponding to that of the patient.

Furthermore, patients receiving bone marrow transplants from unrelated individuals are more likely to be mismatched at minor histocompatibility loci than are their counterparts receiving grafts from HLA-identical siblings. The relative contribution of these loci to the development of GVHD and graft failure is not known. However, a number of reports have shown that severe GVHD is a major complication of unrelated marrow transplantation and occurs in 50% or more of recipients (A7, B9, G7, H9, M6). Despite this high incidence of GVHD in patients receiving marrow from unrelated donors, the Seattle group have shown that the probability of relapse-free survival is similar to that of patients receiving grafts from HLA-identical siblings (B9). A study in the United Kingdom, on the other hand, showed a higher incidence of graft failure and poorer actuarial survival in recipients of bone marrow from unrelated donors than that in recipients of bone marrow transplanted from HLA-identical siblings (H7). The conclusion from Seattle, nevertheless, is that marrow transplantation using matched unrelated donors should be considered in most cases where a matched sibling would have been used if such a sibling were available (B9).

Stimulated by both the success of transplants from unrelated donors and the urgent need for more, a number of unrelated bone marrow donor registries have been set up around the world in recent years. The first such registry was established in London in the early 1970s, when, following an intensive media campaign, a large number of volunteers came forward as potential bone marrow donors for a child with Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome. Unfortunately, the child died before a suitable donor could be found but the donor panel remained in operation for other patients requiring bone marrow transplantation (J1).

More recently, additional panels have been established or are being planned in Scandinavia (R4), the United States (M4, M5, N1), Canada (P4), Japan (H6), Hong Kong (B. R. Hawkins, unpublished), and Australia (R. L. Dawkins, personal communication). For maximum efficiency, these registries operate on a collaborative basis, whereby other registries will be searched if the patient's local registry is unable to find a matched donor. Currently, the HLA types of nearly a million volunteer donors are stored in registries worldwide.

A major consideration in setting up a registry is the overall probability that a donor can be found for a given patient. Estimates of such probabilities have been made both on the basis of theoretical calculations (S14) and on the success of actual searches for donors using existing registries. Probabilities based on computer-simulated searches for North American Caucasian patients show a 45% chance of finding an HLA-A-, -B-, and -DR-matched donor in a panel of 100,000 and a 32% chance of finding a donor who is also negative for mixed lymphocyte culture (B7).

These estimates, however, apply only when the potential recipient is of the same ethnic origin as the potential donors on the registry. Since the majority of potential donors on existing registries are Caucasian, the expectation of finding a matched donor is significantly reduced if the potential recipient is of an ethnic origin in which the HLA antigen distribution is very different from that of Caucasians (H4, S21). Much effort is currently being put into the establishment of registries of non-Caucasian donors to overcome this difficulty.

Even when the potential recipient is of the same ethnic origin as the majority of donors on the registry, the probability of finding a match can extend over a broad spectrum. A potential recipient with a common Caucasian phenotype such as HLA-A1, -A2, -B7, -B8, -DR2, and -DR3 could probably find a match from as few as 500 Caucasian potential donors and would have virtually a 100% chance from a registry of 5000. Conversely, there undoubtedly exist patients with very rare phenotypes who would have difficulty finding a match in a registry of 1,000,000. Taking into consideration the effect of factors such as haplotype recombinations (Fig. 7) and racially mixed parentage (H4) (Fig. 16), it is the unfortunate reality that some potential recipients will not be able to find donors (B7).

# 7. Transplantation of Other Organs

Improvements in surgical technique and immunosuppression over the last two decades have greatly increased the scope of clinical transplantation beyond that of kidney and bone marrow. Heart transplantation was first performed at Stanford



FIG. 16. Effect of racial mixing in producing rare HLA phenotypes. The Caucasian father has common Caucasian haplotypes. The Chinese mother has common Chinese haplotypes. The offspring, however, has inherited a phenotype that is extremely difficult to match in an unrelated donor.

University in 1968 (S19), but the results were originally disappointing, with only 29% of patients surviving 6 months or more. However, improvements in the early detection of rejection (C8) and the successful use of Cyclosporin A as an immunosuppressant (R3) transformed the procedure into the treatment of choice for many patients with idiopathic cardiomyopathies and ischemic disorders. As of early 1993, over 12,000 heart transplants had been reported to the Collaborative Transplant Study from 107 transplant centers throughout the world. Typical patient survival rates in a single center are 74% at 1 year and 42% at 5 years (L1).

Prospective HLA matching of heart donors and recipients is impractical because of the scarcity of suitable donors and the urgency with which some patients require a transplant. As a result, the question of whether HLA matching is of value in heart transplantation has been difficult to answer definitively. The first reported retrospective study showed little influence of class I matching in 204 recipients of cardiac transplants but showed at a marginally significant probability (p = 0.05) that grafts with one mismatched HLA-DR antigen had a better outcome than those with two HLA-DR mismatches (Y1). Another group reporting at around the same time studied 142 cardiac transplants with available HLA class I data and 70 with class II data and claimed a beneficial effect of class I matching and to a lesser extent class II matching (R1). A preliminary analysis of data submitted to the Collaborative Transplant Study had the benefit of more donor-recipient pairs with good HLA matches than would be possible in a single-center study (O8). The analysis of 73 transplants with less than 2 HLA-B and -DR mismatches compared with 1340 with 2 or more mismatches showed a clear but statistically nonsignificant increase in survival at 12 months in the better matched grafts. Similarly, transplants with no HLA-DR matches had better outcome than those with one or two mismatches but the data were not statistically significant (O8). Clearly, more data are required before the role of HLA matching in heart transplantation can be determined with certainty.

Liver transplantation is another example in which prospective HLA matching is impractical because of the urgency of the procedure. Human orthotopic (i.e., "in the right place") liver transplantation was first performed in 1963 (S18) and, with the introduction of Cyclosporin A (S17), has become increasingly successful for patients with certain liver diseases (e.g., cirrhosis and some malignancies) that were previously fatal within a few months. Between 1968 and the end of 1988, 4972 transplants had been recorded in the European Liver Transplant Registry and 4126 in the UNOS registry in Pittsburgh (G13).

Unlike in some experimental animals (C1, K3), there appears to be no immunological privilege associated with liver transplantation in humans. Acute rejection is therefore a major problem. Curiously, antibody-mediated hyperacute rejection is of less concern and is not an inevitable consequence of transplantation with a positive cross-match or an ABO-incompatible liver (I3). This does not imply, however, that ABO incompatibility and positive cross-matches are not important. Most liver transplants reported to the UNOS Liver Transplant Registry are performed between donors and recipients who are ABO-compatible (D8), and there is evidence that patients with positive cytotoxicity cross-matches have a poorer outcome (T2).

As in the case of heart transplantation, retrospective HLA matching of liver donors and recipients shows that well-matched grafts are generally associated with a lower risk of rejection but not necessarily with improved graft survival. A definitive evaluation of the benefits, if any, of HLA matching in liver transplantation will require substantially more data than are available at present.

A third form of transplantation that has increased in usage in recent years is that of the pancreas. Unlike liver and heart transplantation, which are life saving, pancreas transplantation is currently performed to improve life rather than save it. The procedure is intended to restore normal glucose metabolism and prevent the secondary sequelae of diabetes, particularly nephropathy, neuropathy, and retinopathy. The transplant may consist of the entire organ, a segmental graft, or separated islets of Langerhans. Pancreas transplantation is usually performed in patients who already have diabetic complications and is often performed in association with a renal transplant.

HLA matching, at least for HLA-DR, appears to play a role in pancreas transplantation. Over 2700 transplants were reported to the International Pancreas Transplant Registry between 1966 and 1990, representing the vast majority of all pancreas transplants performed throughout the world (S23). Grafts mismatched for zero HLA-DR antigens have significantly better survival than those mismatched for one or two antigens (S23), although a similar effect of HLA-A and -B mismatching is not apparent (S24). There are, however, many variables to consider, such as the type and duration of preservation, recipient condition, surgical factors, type of immunosuppression, etc. As with heart and liver transplantation, considerably more data will be required before the relevance of HLA matching in pancreas transplantation is fully known.

## 8. Future Developments in HLA and Transplantation

Renal transplantation as a curative therapy for end-stage renal disease evolved in the 1950s and 1960s in parallel with the development of tissue typing. The finding that the outcome of cadaveric kidney transplantation is related to the number of HLA antigens in common between the donor and the recipient firmly established the importance of the major histocompatibility complex in clinical transplantation. While this important role is generally accepted, the role of traditional HLA matching in transplantation has become open to question recently (K4, K16, M13). Traditionally, donor-recipient matching has been performed on the basis of serological typing. However, it is well known that some kidney transplant recipients achieve excellent long-term graft function in the face of five- or six-antigen mismatches against their donors. Similar results are seen with heart transplant recipients in whom HLA matching is not normally used in the selection process and who would be expected on probability alone to be poorly matched against their donors. Even in the case of six-antigen-matched renal transplants, the matched loci are normally restricted to HLA-A, -B, and -DR since few centers assign kidneys on the basis of HLA-DQ and -DP. Given that some donors who are "well matched" by conventional criteria have poor graft outcome and some who are "poorly matched" have good outcome, the question naturally arises whether the conventional matching criteria are adequate. The introduction of DNA technology in recent years provides evidence to suggest that these criteria are not adequate.

First, and perhaps most importantly, what is detected and matched using conventional serological techniques does not represent a biological reality. Serological tests rely on the recognition of intact HLA molecules by alloantibodies. When a transplanted organ is evaluated by the host immune system, however, it is epitopes on the HLA molecule that function as immunogens and that are the target of the immune response (M2, R2). These epitopes are not recognized in isolation, but in conjunction with the host's own MHC antigens. Second, the allelic variability in HLA class I and class II molecules shown by biochemical and DNA techniques greatly exceeds that detected by serological methods. As described in Sections 2.1 and 2.2.1, at least 10 different alleles code for the serological specificity HLA-A2, for example, and 13 code for HLA-DR6. For the most part, these allelic variations cannot be detected serologically and it is often impossible to claim "identity" between donor and recipient for these specificities on the basis of serological testing alone.

Against this background, it is clear that some degree of mismatching is inevitable between an unrelated donor and a recipient, even when they show a six-antigen match at the serological level. Conversely, the successful outcome of some grafts that are regarded as poor matches on the basis of serological testing suggests that there is some level of mismatching which is acceptable for transplantation purposes. Terasaki's group in Los Angeles has developed this argument and is attempting to identify the important epitopes of the various HLA specificities in terms of their amino acid sequences and their relation to renal graft outcome (T8). If it can be shown conclusively that mismatches for certain epitopes are of less importance than others in determining graft outcome, we could perhaps look forward to a time when organs are allocated to recipients on the basis of "intelligent mismatches" rather than on the number of serologically defined antigens in common as is performed at present.

#### **BRIAN R. HAWKINS**

#### References

- A1. Albrechtsen, D., Flatmark, A., Jervell, J., Solheim, B., and Thorsby, E. HLA-DR antigen matching in cadaver renal transplantation. *Lancet* 1, 825 (1978).
- A2. Albrechtsen, D., Soedal, G., Berg, K. J., Bondevik, H., Brekke, I. B., Fauchald, P., Jakobsen, A., Opedal, B. R., Rugstad, H. E., Thorsby, E., and Flatmark, A. Cyclosporine in living related and cadaveric renal transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 16, 1191–1194 (1984).
- A3. Almond, P. S., Gillingham, K. J., Sibley, R., Moss, A., Melin, M., Leventhal, J., Manivel, C., Kyriakides, P., Payne, W. D., Dunn, D. L., Sutherland, D. E. R., Gores, P. F., Najarian, J. S., and Matas, A. J. Renal transplant function after ten years of cyclosporine. *Transplantation* 53, 316–323 (1992).
- A4. Anasetti, C., Amos, D., Beatty, P. G., Appelbaum, F. R., Bensinger, W., Buckner, C. D., Clift, R., Doney, K., Martin, P. J., Mickelson, E., Nisperos, B., O'Quigley, J., Ramberg, R., Sanders, J. E., Stewart, P., Storb, R., Sullivan, K. M., Witherspoon, R. P., Thomas, E. D., and Hansen, J. A. Effect of HLA compatibility on engraftment of bone marrow transplants in patients with leukemia or lymphoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 320, 197–204 (1989).
- A5. Anderson, C. B., Sicard, G. A., and Etheredge, E. E. Pretreatment of renal allograft recipients with azathioprine and donor-specific blood products. Surgery 92, 315–321 (1982).
- A6. Ascher, N. L., Simmons, R. L., Noreen, H., Vanhook, E. J., Howard, R. J., Sutherland, D. E. R., and Najarian, J. S. 100 HLA-identical sibling transplants. Prognostic factors other than histocompatibility. *Ann. Surg.* 189, 209–216 (1979).
- A7. Ash, R. C., Casper, J. T., Chitambar, C. R., Hansen, R., Bunin, N., Truitt, R. L., Lawton, C., Murray, K., Hunter, J., Baxter-Lowe, L. A., Gottschall, J. L., Oldham, K., Anderson, T., Camitta, B., and Menitove, J. Successful allogeneic transplantation of T-cell-depleted bone marrow from closely HLA-matched unrelated donors. N. Engl. J. Med. 322, 485–494 (1990).
- A8. Augustine, J. A. Cyclosporin A and FK-506: Mechanisms of immunosuppression. Clin. Immunol. Newsl. 11, 17-23 (1991).
- A9. Ayoub, G., and Terasaki, P. HLA-DR matching in multicenter, single-typing laboratory data. *Transplantation* 33, 515–517 (1982).
- B1. Bach, F., and Hirschhorn, K. Lymphocyte interaction. A potential histocompatibility test in vitro. Science 143, 813–814 (1964).
- B2. Bach, F., Albertini, R. J., Joo, P., Anderson, J. L., and Bortin, M. M. Bone-marrow transplantation in a patient with the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. *Lancet* 2, 1364–1366 (1968).
- B3. Bain, B., and Lowenstein, L. Genetic studies on the mixed leukocyte reaction. Science 145, 1315–1316 (1964).
- B4. Barger, B. O., Shroyer, T. W., Hudson, S. L., Deierhoi, M. H., Barber, W. H., Curtis, J. J., Julian, B. A., Luke, R. G., and Diethelm, A. G. Successful renal allografts in recipients with a positive standard, DTE negative cross-match. *Transplant. Proc.* 21, 746–747 (1989).
- B5. Batchelor, J. R., and Joysey, V. C. Influence of HL-A incompatibility on cadaveric renal transplantation. *Lancet* 1, 790–793 (1969).
- B6. Beatty, P. G., Ash, R., Hows, J. M., and McGlave, P. B. The use of unrelated bone marrow donors in the treatment of patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia: Experience of four marrow transplant centers. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 4, 287–290 (1989).
- B7. Beatty, P. G., Dahlberg, S., Mickelson, E. M., Nisperos, B., Opelz, G., Martin, P. J., and Hansen, J. A. Probability of finding HLA-matched unrelated marrow donors. *Transplantation* 45, 714–718 (1988).
- B8. Beatty, P. G., Clift, R. A., Mickelson, E. M., Nisperos, B. B., Flournoy, N., Martin, P. J., Sanders, J. E., Stewart, P., Buckner, C. D., Storb, R., Thomas, E. D., and Hansen, J. A. Marrow transplantation from related donors other than HLA-identical siblings. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 313, 765-771 (1985).

- B9. Beatty, P. G., Hansen, J. A., Longton, G. M., Thomas, E. D., Sanders, J. E., Martin, P. J., Bearman, S. I., Anasetti, C., Petersdorf, E. W., Mickelson, E. M., Pepe, M. S., Appelbaum, F. R., Buckner, C. D., Clift, R. A., Petersen, F. B., Stewart, P. S., Storb, R. F., Sullivan, K. M., Tesler, M. C., and Witherspoon, R. P. Marrow transplantation from HLA-matched unrelated donors for treatment of hematologic malignancies. *Transplantation* 51, 443–447 (1991).
- B10. Berger, R., Bernheim, A., Sasportes, M., Hauptmann, G., Hors, J., Legrand, L., and Fellous, M. Regional mapping of the HLA on the short arm of chromosome 6. *Clin. Genet.* 15, 245-251 (1979).
- B11. Betuel, H., Pouteil-Noble, C., Freidel, A. C., Touraine, J. L., Gebuhrer, L., Dubernard, J. M., and Traeger, J. Rejection episodes after kidney transplantation between HLA-identical siblings. *Transplant. Proc.* 17, 2287–2291 (1985).
- B12. Billingham, R.E. The biology of graft-versus-host reactions. *Harvey Lect.* 62, 21–78 (1966–1967).
- B13. Bjorkman, P. J., Saper, M. A., Samraoui, B., Bennett, W. S., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. Structure of the human class I histocompatibility antigen, HLA-A2. *Nature (London)* 329, 506–512 (1987).
- B14. Bjorkman, P. J., Saper, M. A., Samraoui, B., Bennett, W. S., Strominger, J. L., and Wiley, D. C. The foreign antigen binding site and T cell recognition regions of class I histocompatibility antigens. *Nature (London)* 329, 512–518 (1987).
- B15. Bodmer, J., Bodmer, W., Heyes, J., So, A., Tonks, S., Trowsdale, J., and Young, J. Identification of HLA-DP polymorphism with DPα and DPβ probes and monoclonal antibodies: Correlation with primed lymphocyte typing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 4596– 4600 (1987).
- B16. Bodmer, J. G., Pickbourne, P., and Richards, S. Ia serology. *In* "Histocompatibility Testing 1977" (W. F. Bodmer, J. R. Batchelor, J. G. Bodmer, H. Festenstein, and P. J. Morris, eds.), pp. 35–84. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, 1978.
- B17. Bodmer, J. G., Marsh, S. G. E., Albert, E. D., Bodmer, W. F., Dupont, B., Erlich, H. A., Mach, B., Mayr, W. R., Parham, P., Sasazuki, T., Schreuder, G. M. T., Strominger, J. L., Svejgaard, A., and Terasaki, P. I. Nomenclature for factors of the HLA system, 1991. *Tissue Antigens* 39, 161–173 (1992).
- B18. Borel, J. F., Feurer, C., Gubler, H. U., and Stähelin, H. Biological effects of cyclosporin A: A new antilymphocytic agent. Agents Actions 6, 468–475 (1976).
- B19. Bortin, M. M. A compendium of reported human bone marrow transplants. *Transplantation* 9, 571–587 (1970).
- B20. Bortin, M. M., and Rimm, A. A. Severe combined immunodeficiency disease. Characterization of the disease and results of transplantation. JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 238, 591–600 (1977).
- B21. Bortin, M. M., and Rimm, A. A. Increasing utilization of bone marrow transplantation. *Transplantation* **42**, 229–234 (1986).
- B22. Bortin, M. M., and Rimm, A. A. Increasing utilization of bone marrow transplantation. II. Results of the 1985–1987 survey. *Transplantation* 48, 453–458 (1989).
- B23. Bortin, M. M., Horowitz, M. M., Mrsic, M., Rimm, A. A., and Sobocinski, K. A. Progress in bone marrow transplantation for leukemia: A preliminary report from the advisory committee of the international bone marrow transplant registry. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 61–62 (1991).
- B24. Brown, J. B. Homografting of skin: With report of success in identical twins. Surgery 1, 558–563 (1937).
- B25. Brown, J. H., Jardetzky, T., Saper, M. A., Samraoui, B., Bjorkman, P. J., and Wiley, D. C. A hypothetical model of the foreign antigen binding site of class II histocompatibility molecules. *Nature (London)* 332, 845–850 (1988).

- B26. Bünger, C. Rhinoplasty from a full-thickness skin graft. J. Chir. Augenheilkd., p. 569 (1823) [cited by Davis (D4)].
- B27. Burdick, J. F., Diethelm, A., Thompson, J. S., Van Buren, C. T., and Williams, G. M. Organ sharing—present realities and future possibilities. *Transplantation* 51, 287–292 (1991).
- B28. Burnet, F. M. "The Clonal Selection Theory of Acquired Immunity," Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1959.
- C1. Calne, R. Y., Sells, R. A., Pena, J. R., Davis, D. R., Millard, P. R., Herbertson, B. M., Binns, R. M., and Davies, D. A. L. Induction of immunological tolerance by porcine liver allografts. *Nature (London)* 223, 472–476 (1969).
- C2. Calne, R. Y., White, D. J. G., Thiru, S., Evans, D. B., McMaster, P., Dunn, D. C., Craddock, G. N., Pentlow, B. D., and Rolles, K. Cyclosporin A in patients receiving renal allografts from cadaver donors. *Lancet* 2, 1323–1327 (1978).
- C3. Calne, R. Y., Rolles, K., White, D. J. G., Thiru, S., Evans, D. B., McMaster, P., Dunn, D. C., Craddock, G. N., Henderson, R. G., Aziz, S., and Lewis, P. Cyclosporin A initially as the only immunosuppressant in 34 recipients of cadaveric organs: 32 kidneys, 2 pancreases, and 2 livers. *Lancet* 2, 1033–1036 (1979).
- C4. Camitta, B. M., Thomas, E. D., Nathan, D. G., Gale, R. P., Kopecky, K. J., Rappeport, J. M., Santos, G., Gordon-Smith, E. C., and Storb, R. A prospective study of androgens and bone marrow transplantation for treatment of severe aplastic anemia. *Blood* 53, 504–514 (1979).
- C5. Cardella, C. J., Falk, J. A., Nicholson, M. J., Harding, M., and Cook, G. T. Successful renal transplantation in patients with T-cell reactivity to donor. *Lancet* 2, 1240–1243 (1982).
- C6. Carroll, M. C. Molecular genetics of the fourth component of human complement. *Fed. Proc.*, *Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol.* 46, 2457–2462 (1987).
- C7. Cats, S., Terasaki, P., Perdue, S., and Mickey, M. R. Effect of HLA typing and transfusions on cyclosporine-treated renal-allograft recipients. N. Engl. J. Med. 311, 675–676 (1984).
- C8. Caves, P. K., Stinson, E. B., Graham, A. F., Billingham, M. E., Grehl, T. M., and Shumway, N. E. Percutaneous transvenous endomyocardial biopsy. JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 225, 288–291 (1973).
- C9. Cecka, M., and Toyotome, A. The transfusion effect. *In* "Clinical Transplants 1989" (P. I. Terasaki, ed.), pp. 335–341. UCLA Tissue Typing Laboratory, Los Angeles, 1989.
- C10. Ceppellini, R., Curtoni, E. S., Mattiuz, P. L., Miggiano, V., Scudeller, G., and Serra, A. Genetics of leukocyte antigens: A family study of segregation and linkage. *In* "Histocompatibility Testing 1967" (E. S. Curtoni, P. L. Mattiuz, and R. M. Tosi, eds.), pp. 149–187. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, 1967.
- C11. Chapman, J. R., Taylor, C. J., Ting, A., and Morris, P. J. Immunoglobulin class and specificity of antibodies causing positive T cell crossmatches. Relationship to renal transplant outcome. *Transplantation* 42, 608–613 (1986).
- C12. Charron, D. Molecular basis of human leukocyte antigen class II disease associations. Adv. Immunol. 48, 107-159 (1990).
- C13. Churchill, W. S. "My Early Life, A Roving Commission," p. 211. Butterworth, London, 1930.
- C14. Clift, R. A., Hansen, J. A., Thomas, E. D., Buckner, C. D., Sanders, J. E., Mickelson, E. M., Storb, R., Johnson, F. L., Singer, J. W., and Goodell, B. W. Marrow transplantation from donors other than HLA-identical siblings. *Transplantation* 28, 235–242 (1979).
- C15. Converse, J. M., and Casson, P. R. The historical background of transplantation. *In* "Human Transplantation" (F. T. Rapaport and J. Dausset, eds.), pp. 3–10. Grune & Stratton, New York, 1968.
- Crumpton, M. J., Bodmer, J. G., Bodmer, W. F., Heyes, J. M., Lindsay, J., and Rudd, C. E. Biochemistry of class II antigens: Workshop report. *In* "Histocompatibility Testing 1984" (E. D. Albert, M. P. Baur, and W. R. Mayr, eds.), pp. 29–37. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, 1984.

- D1. D'Apice, A. J. F., Sheil, A. G. R., Tait, B. D., and Bashir, H. V. A prospective randomized trial of matching for HLA-A and B versus HLA-DR in renal transplantation. *Transplantation* 38, 37–41 (1984).
- D2. Dausset, J. Iso-leuco-anticorps. Acta Haematol. 20, 156-166 (1958).
- D3. Dausset, J., Hors, J., Busson, M., Festenstein, H., Oliver, R. T. D., Paris, A. M. I., and Sachs, J. A. Serologically defined HL-A antigens and long-term survival of cadaver kidney transplants. A joint analysis of 918 cases performed by France-Transplant and the London Transplant Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 290, 979–984 (1974).
- D4. Davis, J. S. The story of plastic surgery. Ann. Surg. 113, 641-656 (1941).
- D5. Deeg, H. J., Storb, R., Thomas, E. D., Appelbaum, F., Buckner, C. D., Clift, R. A., Doney, K., Johnson, L., Sanders, J. E., Stewart, P., Sullivan, K. M., and Witherspoon, R. P. Fanconi's anemia treated by allogeneic marrow transplantation. *Blood* 61, 954–959 (1983).
- D6. de Koning, J., Dooren, L. J., van Bekkum, D. W., van Rood, J. J., Dicke, K. A., and Rádl, J. Transplantation of bone-marrow cells and fetal thymus in an infant with lymphopenic immunological deficiency. *Lancet* 1, 1223–1227 (1969).
- D7. Descamps, B., Hinglais, N., and Crosnier, J. Renal transplantation between 33 HL-A-identical siblings. *Transplant. Proc.* 5, 231–236 (1973).
- D8. Detre, K. M., Belle, S. H., Beringer, K. C., Murphy, J. B., and Vaughn, W. K. Pitt-UNOS liver transplant registry. *In* "Clinical Transplants 1989" (P. Terasaki, ed.), pp. 9–18. UCLA Tissue Typing Laboratory, Los Angeles, 1989.
- D9. Dewar, P. J., Wilkinson, R., Elliott, R. W., Ward, M. K., Kerr, D. N. S., Kenward, D. H., Proud, G., and Taylor, R. M. R. Superiority of B locus matching over other HLA matching in renal graft survival. Br. Med. J. 284, 779–782 (1982).
- D10. Dumont, F. J., Staruch, M. J., Koprak, S. L., Melino, M. R., and Sigal, N. H. Distinct mechanisms of suppression of murine T cell activation by the related macrolides FK-506 and Rapamycin. J. Immunol. 144, 251-258 (1990).
- D11. Duquesnoy, R. J., Marrari, M., and Annen, K. Identification of an HLA-DR-associated system of B-cell alloantigens. *Transplant. Proc.* 11, 1757–1760 (1979).
  - E1. Eklund, B., Ahonen, J., Salmela, K., Höckerstedt, K., Isoniemi, H., and Koskimies, S. Donorspecific transfusions in HLA-one haplotype-matched kidney transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 22, 151–152 (1990).
  - E2. Ettenger, R. B., Uittenbogaart, C. H., Pennisi, A. J., Malekzadeh, M. H., and Fine, R. N. Long-term cadaver allograft survival in the recipient with a positive B lymphocyte crossmatch. *Transplantation* 27, 315–318 (1979).
  - E3. European Multicentre Trial Group. Cyclosporin in cadaveric renal transplantation: One-year follow-up of a multicentre trial. *Lancet* **2**, 986–989 (1983).
  - F1. Festenstein, H., Oliver, R. T. D., Sachs, J. A., Burke, J. M., Adams, E., Divver, W., Hyams, A., Pegrum, G. D., Balfour, I. C., and Moorhead, J. F. Multicentre collaboration in 162 tissue-typed renal transplants. *Lancet* 2, 225–228 (1971).
  - F2. Fischer, A., Landais, P., Friedrich, W., Morgan, G., Gerritsen, B., Fasth, A., Porta, F., Griscelli, C., Goldman, S. F., Levinsky, R., and Vossen, J. European experience of bonemarrow transplantation for severe combined immunodeficiency. *Lancet* 336, 850–854 (1990).
  - F3. Fleischhauer, K., Kernan, N. A., O'Reilly, R. J., Dupont, B., and Yang, S. Y. Bone marrowallograft rejection by T lymphocytes recognizing a single amino acid difference in HLA-B44. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **323**, 1818–1822 (1990).
  - F4. Fuller, T. C., Phelan, D., Gebel, H. M., and Rodey, G. E. Antigenic specificity of antibody reactive in the antiglobulin-augmented lymphocytotoxicity test. *Transplantation* 34, 24–29 (1982).
- G1. Gardner, B., Harris, K. R., Digard, N. J., Gosling, D. C., Campbell, M. J., Tate, D. G., Sharman, V. L., and Slapak, M. Do recipients of a cadaveric renal allograft on cyclosporine

require prior transfusions? Experience of a single unit. Transplant. Proc. 17, 1032-1033 (1985).

- G2. Garovoy, M. R., Colombe, B. W., Melzer, J., Feduska, N., Shields, C., Cross, D., Amend, W., Vincenti, F., Hopper, S., Duca, R., and Salvatierra, O. Flow cytometry crossmatching for donor-specific transfusion recipients and cadaveric transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 17, 693–695 (1985).
- G3. Garovoy, M. R., Rheinschmidt, M. A., Bigos, M., Perkins, H., Colombe, B., Feduska, N., and Salvatierra, O. Flow cytometry analysis: A high technology crossmatch technique facilitating transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 15, 1939–1944 (1983).
- G4. Gatti, R. A., Meuwissen, H. J., Allen, H. D., Hong, R., and Good, R. A. Immunological reconstitution of sex-linked lymphopenic immunological deficiency. *Lancet* 2, 1366–1369 (1968).
- G5. Geraghty, D. E., Koller, B. H., and Orr, H. T. A human major histocompatibility complex class I gene that encodes a protein with a shortened cytoplasmic segment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 84, 9145-9149 (1987).
- G6. Geraghty, D. E., Wei, X. H., Orr, H. T., and Koller, B. H. Human leukocyte antigen F (HLA-F): An expressed HLA gene composed of a class I coding sequence linked to a novel transcribed repetitive element. J. Exp. Med. 171, 1–18 (1990).
- G7. Gingrich, R. D., Ginder, G. D., Goeken, N. E., Howe, C. W. S., Wen, B.-C., Hussey, D. H., and Fyfe, M. A. Allogeneic marrow grafting with partially mismatched, unrelated marrow donors. *Blood* 71, 1375-1381 (1988).
- Glass, N. R., Miller, D. T., Sollinger, H. W., and Belzer, F. O. Comparative analysis of the DST and Imuran-plus-DST protocols for live donor renal transplantation. *Transplantation* 36, 636–641 (1983).
- G9. Goeken, N. E., and the Clinical Affairs Committee. Outcome of renal transplantation following a positive cross-match with historical sera: The ASHI survey. *Hum. Immunol.* 14, 77–85 (1985).
- G10. Goeken, N. E., Thompson, J. S., and Corry, R. J. A 2-year trial of prospective HLA-DR matching. Effects on renal allograft survival and rate of transplantation. *Transplantation* 32, 522–527 (1981).
- G11. Goldman, J. M., Gale, R. P., Horowitz, M. M., Biggs, J. C., Champlin, R. E., Gluckman, E., Hoffmann, R. G., Jacobsen, S. J., Marmont, A. M., McGlave, P. B., Messner, H. A., Rimm, A. A., Rozman, C., Speck, B., Tura, S., Weiner, R. S., and Bortin, M. M. Bone marrow transplantation for chronic myelogenous leukemia in chronic phase. Increased risk for relapse associated with T-cell depletion. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 108, 806–814 (1988).
- G12. Goodfellow, P. N., Jones, E. A., van Heyningen, V., Solomon, E., Bobrow, M., Miggiano, V., and Bodmer, W. F. The  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin gene is on chromosome 15 and not in the HL-A region. *Nature (London)* **254**, 267–269 (1975).
- G13. Gordon, R. D., and Bismuth, H. Liver transplant registry report. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 58–60 (1991).
- G14. Gorer, P. A. The antigenic basis of tumour transplantation. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 47, 231-252 (1938).
- G15. Goto, T., Kino, T., Hatanaka, H., Okuhara, M., Kohsaka, M., Aoki, H., and Imanaka, H. FK 506: Historical perspectives. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 2713–2717 (1991).
- G16. Groth, C. G. There is no need to give blood transfusions as pretreatment for renal transplantation in the cyclosporine era. *Transplant. Proc.* **19**, 153–154 (1987).
- H1. Hansen, J. A., Clift, R. A., Thomas, E. D., Buckner, C. D., Storb, R., and Giblett, E. R. Transplantation of marrow from an unrelated donor to a patient with acute leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 303, 565-567 (1980).
- H2. Hardy, D. A., Bell, J. I., Long, E. O., Lindsten, T., and McDevitt, H. O. Mapping of the class

II region of the human major histocompatibility complex by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. *Nature (London)* **323**, 453–455 (1986).

- H3. Harris, K. R., Digard, N., Gosling, D. C., Tate, D. G., Campbell, M. J., Gardner, B., Sharman, V. L., and Slapak, M. Azathioprine and cyclosporin: Different tissue matching criteria needed? *Lancet* 2, 802–805 (1985).
- H4. Hawkins, B. R. HLA matching and the unrelated bone marrow donor. In "Proceedings of the 1990 NORAM Prize Lecture," pp. 32–37. Excerpta Medica, Hong Kong, 1991.
- H5. Higashi, Y., Yoshioka, H., Yamane, M., Gotoh, O., and Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. Complete nucleotide sequence of two steroid 21-hydroxylase genes tandemly arranged in human chromosome: A pseudogene and a genuine gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83, 2841-2845 (1986).
- H6. Horibe, K. Marrow donor registry: The Japanese experience. In "Proceedings of the 1990 NORAM Prize Lecture," pp. 38–41. Excerpta Medica, Hong Kong, 1991.
- H7. Howard, M. R., Hows, J. M., Gore, S. M., Barrett, J., Brenner, M. K., Goldman, J. M., Gordon-Smith, E. C., Poynton, C., Prentice, H. G., Whittaker, J. A., and Bradley, B. A. Unrelated donor marrow transplantation between 1977 and 1987 at four centers in the United Kingdom. *Transplantation* 49, 547-553 (1990).
- H8. Hows, J. M., Chapple, M., Marsh, J. C. W., Durrant, S., Yin, J. L., Swirsky, D., and Gordon-Smith, E. C. Bone marrow transplantation for Fanconi's anaemia: The Hammersmith experience 1977–89. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 4, 629–634 (1989).
- H9. Hows, J. M., Yin, J. L., Marsh, J., Swirsky, D., Jones, L., Apperley, J. F., James, D. C. O., Smithers, S., Batchelor, J. R., Goldman, J. M., and Gordon-Smith, E. C. Histocompatible unrelated volunteer donors compared with HLA nonidentical family donors in marrow transplantation for aplastic anemia and leukemia. *Blood* 68, 1322–1328 (1986).
- H10. Hume, D. M., Merrill, J. P., and Miller, B. F. Homologous transplantation of human kidneys. J. Clin. Invest. 31, 640–641 (1952).
- H11. Hume, D. M., Lee, H. M., Williams, G. M., White, H. J. O., Ferré, J., Wolf, J. S., Prout, G. R., Slapak, M., O'Brien, J., Kilpatrick, S. J., Kauffman, H. M., and Cleveland, R. J. Comparative results of cadaver and related donor renal homografts in man, and immunologic implications of the outcome of second and paired transplants. *Ann. Surg.* 164, 352–397 (1966).
  - Inoko, H., and Trowsdale, J. Linkage of TNF genes to the HLA-B locus. Nucleic Acids Res. 15, 8957–8962 (1987).
  - Inoko, H., Ando, A., Kimura, M., and Tsuji, K. Isolation and characterization of the cDNA clone and genomic clones of a new HLA class II antigen heavy chain, DOα. J. Immunol. 135, 2156–2159 (1985).
  - Iwatsuki, S., Rabin, B. S., Shaw, B. W., and Starzl, T. E. Liver transplantation against T cell-positive warm crossmatches. *Transplant. Proc.* 16, 1427–1429 (1984).
  - J1. James, D. C. O. Organisation of a hospital bone marrow panel. *In* "Transplantation and Blood Transfusion" (C. T. Smit Sibinga, P. C. Das, and G. Opelz, eds.), pp. 131–139. Nijhoff, Netherlands, 1984.
  - J2. James, W. D., and Odom, R. B. Graft-v-host disease. Arch. Dermatol. 119, 683-689 (1983).
  - J3. Johnson, A. H., Rossen, R. D., and Butler, W. T. Detection of alloantibodies using a sensitive antiglobulin microcytotoxicity test: Identification of low levels of pre-formed antibodies in accelerated allograft rejection. *Tissue Antigens* 2, 215–226 (1972).
  - K1. Kahan, B. D., van Buren, C. T., Flechner, S. M., Payne, W. D., Boileau, M., and Kerman, R. H. Cyclosporine immunosuppression mitigates immunologic risk factors in renal allotransplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 15, 2469–2478 (1983).
  - K2. Kahan, B. D., van Buren, C. T., Flechner, S. M., Jarowenko, M., Yasumura, T., Rogers, A. J., Yoshimura, N., LeGrue, S., Drath, D., and Kerman, R. H. Clinical and experimental studies with cyclosporine in renal transplantation. *Surgery* 97, 125–140 (1985).

- K3. Kamada, N., Davies, H. ff. S., and Roser, B. Reversal of transplantation immunity by liver grafting. Nature (London) 292, 840–842 (1981).
- K4. Kaminski, E. R. How important is histocompatibility in bone marrow transplantation? Bone Marrow Transplant. 4, 439–444 (1989).
- K5. Kerman, R. H., van Buren, C. T., Lewis, R. M., DeVera, V., Baghdahsarian, V., Gerolami, K., and Kahan, B. D. Improved graft survival for flow cytometry and antihuman globulin crossmatch-negative retransplant recipients. *Transplantation* 49, 52–56 (1990).
- K6. Kerman, R. H., Kimball, P. M., van Buren, C. T., Lewis, R. M., DeVera, V., Baghdahsarian, V., Heydari, A., and Kahan, B. D. AHG and DTE/AHG procedure identification of crossmatch-appropriate donor-recipient pairings that result in improved graft survival. *Transplantation* 51, 316–320 (1991).
- Kino, T., Hatanaka, H., Hashimoto, M., Nishiyama, M., Goto, T., Okuhara, M., Kohsaka, M., Aoki, H., and Imanaka, H. FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from a *Streptomyces*. I. Fermentation, isolation, and physico-chemical and biological characteristics. *J. Antibiot.* 40, 1249–1255 (1987).
- K8. Kino, T., Hatanaka, H., Miyata, S., Inamura, N., Nishiyama, M., Yajima, T., Goto, T., Okuhara, M., Kohsaka, M., Aoki, H., and Ochiai, T. FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from a *Streptomyces*. II. Immunosuppressive effect of FK-506 *in vitro*. J. Antibiot. 40, 1256–1265 (1987).
- Kissmeyer-Nielsen, F., Olsen, S., Petersen, V. P., and Fjeldborg, O. Hyperacute rejection of kidney allografts, associated with pre-existing humoral antibodies against donor cells. *Lancet* 2, 662–665 (1966).
- K10. Klintmalm, G. B. G., Iwatsuki, S., and Starzl, T. E. Nephrotoxicity of cyclosporin A in liver and kidney transplant patients. *Lancet* 1, 470–471 (1981).
- K11. Knowles, R. W. Structural polymorphism of the HLA Class II α and β chains: Summary of the 10th Workshop 2-D Gel Analysis. In "Immunobiology of HLA. I. Histocompatibility Testing 1987" (B. Dupont, ed.), pp. 365–380. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- K12. Köhler, G., and Milstein, C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature (London)* 256, 495–497 (1975).
- K13. Kohonen-Corish, M. R. J., and Serjeantson, S. W. HLA-DRβ gene DNA polymorphisms revealed by Taq I correlate with HLA-DR specificities. *Hum. Immunol.* 15, 263–271 (1986).
- K14. Koller, B. H., Geraghty, D., Orr, H. T., Shimizu, Y., and DeMars, R. Organization of the human class I major histocompatibility complex genes. *Immunol. Res.* 6, 1–10 (1987).
- K15. Koller, B. H., Geraghty, D. E., Shimizu, Y., DeMars, R., and Orr, H. T. HLA-E. A novel HLA class I gene expressed in resting T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 141, 897–904 (1988).
- K16. Konoeda, Y., Terasaki, P. I., Wakisaka, A., Park, M. S., and Mickey, M. R. Public determinants of HLA indicated by pregnancy antibodies. *Transplantation* 41, 253–259 (1986).
- L1. Large, S. R., English, T. A. H., and Wallwork, J. Heart and heart-lung transplantation, Papworth Hospital, 1979–1989. In "Clinical Transplants 1989" (P. Terasaki, ed.), pp. 73–78. UCLA Tissue Typing Laboratory, Los Angeles, 1989.
- L2. Lazda, V. A., Pollak, R., Mozes, M. F., and Jonasson, O. The relationship between flow cytometer crossmatch results and subsequent rejection episodes in cadaver renal allograft recipients. *Transplantation* 45, 562-565 (1988).
- L3. Lobo, P. I. Nature of autolymphocytotoxins present in renal hemodialysis patients. Their possible role in controlling alloantibody formation. *Transplantation* 32, 233–237 (1981).
- L4. Locasciulli, A., van't Veer, L., Bacigalupo, A., Hows, J., Van Lint, M. T., Gluckman, E., Nissen, C., McCann, S., Vossen, J., Schrezenmeier, A., Hinterberger, W., and Marin, A. Treatment with marrow transplantation or immunosuppression of childhood acquired severe aplastic anemia: A report from the EBMT SAA Working Party. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 6, 211–217 (1990).

- L5. López de Castro, J. A. HLA-B27 and HLA-A2 subtypes: Structure, evolution and function. *Immunol. Today* 10, 239–246 (1989).
- L6. Lucarelli, G., Galimberti, M., Polchi, P., Angelucci, E., Baronciani, D., Giardini, C., Politi, P., Durazzi, S. M. T., Muretto, P., and Albertini, F. Bone marrow transplantation in patients with thalassemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 322, 417–421 (1990).
- L7. Lundgren, G., Groth, C. G., Albrechtsen, D., Brynger, H., Flatmark, A., Frödin, L., Gäbel, H., Husberg, B., Klintmalm, G., Maurer, W., Persson, H., and Thorsby, E. HLA-matching and pretransplant blood transfusions in cadaveric renal transplantation—a changing picture with cyclosporin. *Lancet* 2, 66–69 (1986).
- M1. Mahoney, R. J., Ault, K. A., Given, S. R., Adams, R. J., Breggia, A. C., Paris, P. A., Palomaki, G. E., Hitchcox, S. A., White, B. W., Himmelfarb, J., and Leeber, D. A. The flow cytometric crossmatch and early renal transplant loss. *Transplantation* 49, 527–535 (1990).
- M2. Marsh, S. G. E., and Bodmer, J. G. HLA-DR and -DQ epitopes and monoclonal antibody specificity. *Immunol. Today* 10, 305-312 (1989).
- M3. Mathé, G., Jammet, H., Pendič, B., Scharzenberg, L., Duplan, J.-F., Maupin, B., Latarjet, R., Larrieu, M.-J., Kalic, D., and Djukic, Z. Transfusions et greffes de moelle osseuse homologue chez des humains irradiés a haute dose accidentellement. *Rev. Fr. Étud. Clin. Biol.* 4, 226–238 (1959).
- M4. McCullough, J., Scott, E. P., Halagan, N., Strand, R., and McGlave, P. Effectiveness of a regional bone marrow donor program. JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. 259, 3286–3289 (1988).
- M5. McElligott, M. C., Menitove, J. E., and Aster, R. H. Recruitment of unrelated persons as bone marrow donors. A preliminary experience. *Transfusion (Philadelphia)* 26, 309–314 (1986).
- M6. McGlave, P. B., Beatty, P., Ash, R., and Hows, J. M. Therapy for chronic myelogenous leukemia with unrelated donor bone marrow transplantation: Results in 102 cases. *Blood* 75, 1728–1732 (1990).
- M7. Medawar, P. B. The behaviour and fate of skin autografts and skin homografts in rabbits. J. Anat. 78, 176–199 (1944).
- M8. Medawar, P. B. Immunity to homologous grafted skin. I. The suppression of cell division in grafts transplanted to immunized animals. Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 27, 9–14 (1946).
- M9. Medawar, P. B. Immunity to homologous grafted skin. II. The relationship between the antigens of blood and skin. Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 27, 15-24 (1946).
- M10. Medawar, P. B. Immunity to homologous grafted skin. III. The fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 29, 58–69 (1948).
- M11. Medawar, P. B. "The Uniqueness of the Individual," p. 143. Methuen, London, 1957.
- M12. Merrill, J. P., Murray, J. E., Harrison, J. H., and Guild, W. R. Successful homotransplantation of the human kidney between identical twins. *JAMA*, *J. Am. Med. Assoc.* **160**, 277–282 (1956).
- M13. Möller, E. Advances in and future of tissue typing. Transplant. Proc. 23, 63-66 (1991).
- M14. Morris, P. J., Kincaid-Smith, P., Ting, A., Stocker, J. W., and Marshall, V. C. Prospective leucocyte typing in cadaver renal transplantation. *Lancet* 2, 803–805 (1968).
- M15. Myers, B. D., Newton, L., and Oyer, P. The case against the indefinite use of cyclosporine. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 41-42 (1991).
  - N1. Nitzberg, M. C., Newburger, P. E., and Raymond, J. Marrow donors and international cooperation. *Lancet* 1, 117-118 (1988).
  - N2. Norman, D. J., Barry, J. M., and Wetzsteon, P. J. Successful cadaver kidney transplantation in patients highly sensitized by blood transfusions. Unimportance of the most reactive serum in the pretransplant crossmatch. *Transplantation* 39, 253–255 (1985).
  - Okuno, T., and Kondelis, N. Evaluation of dithiothreitol (DTT) for inactivation of IgM antibodies. J. Clin. Pathol. 31, 1152-1155 (1978).

- O2. Oliver, R. T. D., Sachs, J. A., Festenstein, H., Pegrum, G. D., and Moorhead, J. F. Influence of HL-A matching, antigenic strength, and immune responsiveness on outcome of 349 cadaver renal grafts. 3 years' experience of the London Transplant Group. *Lancet* 2, 1381–1385 (1972).
- O3. Olson, P. R., Weiblen, B. J., O'Leary, J. J., Moscowitz, A. J., and McCullough, J. A simple technique for the inactivation of IgM antibodies using dithiothreitol. *Vox Sang.* **30**, 149–159 (1976).
- O4. Opelz, G. Correlation of HLA matching with kidney graft survival in patients with or without cyclosporine treatment. *Transplantation* **40**, 240–243 (1985).
- O5. Opelz, G. Effect of HLA matching, blood transfusions, and presensitization in cyclosporinetreated kidney transplant recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 17, 2179–2183 (1985).
- O6. Opelz, G. Effect of HLA matching in 10,000 cyclosporine-treated cadaver kidney transplants. *Transplant. Proc.* 19, 641–646 (1987).
- O7. Opelz, G. Improved kidney graft survival in nontransfused recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 19, 149–152 (1987).
- O8. Opelz, G. Effect of HLA matching in heart transplantation. Transplant. Proc. 21, 794–796 (1989).
- O9. Opelz, G. HLA matching should be utilized for improving kidney transplant success rates. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 46–50 (1991).
- O10. Opelz, G., and Terasaki, P. I. Studies on the strength of HLA antigens in related donor kidney transplants. *Transplantation* 24, 106–111 (1977).
- O11. Opelz, G., Sengar, D. P. S., Mickey, M. R., and Terasaki, P. I. Effect of blood transfusions on subsequent kidney transplants. *Transplant. Proc.* 5, 253–259 (1973).
- O12. O'Reilly, R. J. Current developments in marrow transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* **19**, 92–102 (1987).
- O13. O'Reilly, R. J., Brochstein, J., Dinsmore, R., and Kirkpatrick, D. Marrow transplantation for congenital disorders. *Semin. Hematol.* 21, 188–221 (1984).
- O14. O'Reilly, R. J., Dupont, B., Pahwa, S., Grimes, E., Smithwick, E. M., Pahwa, R., Schwartz, S., Hansen, J. A., Siegal, F. P., Sorell, M., Svejgaard, A., Jersild, C., Thomsen, M., Platz, P., L'Esperance, P., and Good, R. A. Reconstitution in severe combined immunodeficiency by transplantation of marrow from an unrelated donor. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **297**, 1311–1318 (1977).
  - Patel, R., and Terasaki, P. I. Significance of the positive crossmatch test in kidney transplantation. N. Engl. J. Med. 280, 735-739 (1969).
  - P2. Persijn, G. G., Gabb, B. W., van Leeuwen, A., Nagtegaal, A., Hoogeboom, J., and van Rood, J. J. Matching for HLA antigens of A, B, and DR loci in renal transplantation by Eurotransplant. *Lancet* 1, 1278–1281 (1978).
  - P3. Peter, J. B., and Hawkins, B. R. The new HLA. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 116, 11-15 (1992).
  - P4. Phillips, G. L., Barnett, M. J., Brain, M. C., Chan, K.-W., Huebsch, L. B., Klingemann, H.-G., Meharchand, J., Reece, D. E., Rybka, W. B., Shepherd, J. D., Spinelli, J. J., Walker, I. R., and Messner, H. A. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation using unrelated donors: A pilot study of the Canadian Bone Marrow Transplant Group. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 8, 477–487 (1991).
  - P5. Piazza, A., Torlone, N., Valeri, M., Poggi, E., Adorno, D., and Casciani, C. U. Flow cytometry crossmatching in donor/recipient selection. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 2681–2682 (1991).
  - R1. Raffoux, C., Mayor, V., Cabrol, C., Busson, M., Hors, J., and Colombani, J. The influence of HLA matching in cardiac allograft recipients in a single center. *Transplant. Proc.* 19, 3559– 3560 (1987).
  - R2. Reinsmoen, N. L., and Bach, F. H. Structural model for T-cell recognition of HLA class II-associated alloepitopes. *Hum. Immunol.* 27, 51-72 (1990).
  - R3. Reitz, B. A., Wallwork, J. L., Hunt, S. A., Pennock, J. L., Billingham, M. E., Oyer, P. E.,

Stinson, E. B., and Shumway, N. E. Heart-lung transplantation. Successful therapy for patients with pulmonary vascular disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **306**, 557–564 (1982).

- R4. Ruutu, T., and Goldman, J. M. A Nordic registry for volunteer marrow donors? *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 5, 273–277 (1990).
- Saiki, R. K., Scharf, S., Faloona, F., Mullis, K. B., Horn, G. T., Erlich, H. A., and Arnheim, N. Enzymatic amplification of β-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. *Science* 230, 1350–1354 (1985).
- S2. Salvatierra, O., Vincenti, F., Amend, W., Garovoy, M., Iwaki, Y., Terasaki, P., Potter, D., Duca, R., Hopper, S., Slemmer, T., and Feduska, N. Four-year experience with donor-specific blood transfusions. *Transplant. Proc.* 15, 924–931 (1983).
- Salvatierra, O., Amend, W., Vincenti, F., Potter, D., Iwaki, Y., Opelz, G., Terasaki, P., Duca, R., Hanes, D., Cochrum, K. C., Hopper, S., and Feduska, N. J. Pretreatment with donorspecific blood transfusions in related recipients with high MLC. *Transplant. Proc.* 13, 142– 149 (1981).
- S4. Salvatierra, O., Vincenti, F., Amend, W., Potter, D., Iwaki, Y., Opelz, G., Terasaki, P., Duca, R., Cochrum, K., Hanes, D., Stoney, R. J., and Feduska, N. J. Deliberate donor-specific blood transfusions prior to living related renal transplantation. A new approach. *Ann. Surg.* 192, 543–552 (1980).
- S5. Sanders, J. E., Pritchard, S., Mahoney, P., Amos, D., Buckner, C. D., Witherspoon, R. P., Deeg, H. J., Doney, K. C., Sullivan, K. M., Appelbaum, F. R., Storb, R., and Thomas, E. D. Growth and development following marrow transplantation for leukemia. *Blood* 68, 1129– 1135 (1986).
- Sanfilippo, F., Vaughn, W. K., Spees, E. K., and Bollinger, R. R. Cadaver renal transplantation ignoring peak-reactive sera in patients with markedly decreasing pretransplant sensitization. *Transplantation* 38, 119–124 (1984).
- S7. Santos, G. W., Tutschka, P. J., Brookmeyer, R., Saral, R., Beschorner, W. E., Bias, W. B., Braine, H. G., Burns, W. H., Elfenbein, G. J., Kaizer, H., Mellits, D., Sensenbrenner, L. L., Stuart, R. K., and Yeager, A. M. Marrow transplantation for acute nonlymphocytic leukemia after treatment with busulfan and cyclophosphamide. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **309**, 1347–1353 (1983).
- Scandiatransplant Report. HL-A matching and kidney-graft survival. Lancet 1, 240–242 (1975).
- Schreiber, S. L., and Crabtree, G. R. The mechanism of action of cyclosporin A and FK506. Immunol. Today 13, 136–142 (1992).
- S10. Shaw, S., Johnson, A. H., and Shearer, G. M. Evidence for a new segregant series of B cell antigens that are encoded in the HLA-D region and that stimulate secondary allogeneic proliferative and cytotoxic responses. J. Exp. Med. 152, 565–580 (1980).
- Shenton, B. K., Glenville, B. E., Mitcheson, A. E., Coates, E., Talbot, B., Givan, A. L., Kirk, A., and Dark, J. H. Use of flow cytometric crossmatching in cardiac transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 1153–1154 (1991).
- S12. Solheim, B. G., Flatmark, A., Enger, E., Jervell, J., and Thorsby, E. Influence of HLA-A, -B, -C, and -D matching on the outcome of clinical kidney transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 9, 475–478 (1977).
- S13. Sollinger, H. W., Deierhoi, M. H., Belzer, F. O., Diethelm, A. G., and Kauffman, R. S. RS-61443—A phase I clinical trial and pilot rescue study. *Transplantation* 53, 428–432 (1992).
- Sonnenberg, F. A., Eckman, M. H., and Pauker, S. G. Bone marrow donor registries: The relation between registry size and probability of finding complete and partial matches. *Blood* 74, 2569–2578 (1989).
- Southern, E. M. Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. J. Mol. Biol. 98, 503-517 (1975).
- S16. Spies, T., Blanck, G., Bresnahan, M., Sands, J., and Strominger, J. L. A new cluster of genes within the human major histocompatibility complex. *Science* 243, 214–217 (1989).
- S17. Starzl, T. E., Klintmalm, G. B. G., Porter, K. A., Iwatsuki, S., and Schröter, G. P. J. Liver transplantation with use of cyclosporin A and prednisone. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 305, 266–269 (1981).
- Starzl, T. E., Marchioro, T. L., von Kaulla, K. N., Hermann, G., Brittain, R. S., and Waddell, W. R. Homotransplantation of the liver in humans. *Surgery* 117, 658–676 (1963).
- Stinson, E. B., Dong, E., Schroeder, J. S., Harrison, D. C., and Shumway, N. E. Initial clinical experience with heart transplantation. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 22, 791–803 (1968).
- S20. Storb, R. Graft rejection and graft-versus-host disease in marrow transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 21, 2915–2918 (1989).
- S21. Stroncek, D. F., Strand, R. D., Noreen, H. J., Kline, W. E., McGlave, P. B., Bartsch, G. E., and McCullough, J. HLA class I and II antigen phenotypes of North American Indians from Minnesota: Implications for marrow transplants using unrelated donors. *Transfusion (Philadelphia*)30, 521–527 (1990).
- S22. Sullivan, K. M., Shulman, H. M., Storb, R., Weiden, P. L., Witherspoon, R. P., McDonald, G. B., Schubert, M. M., Atkinson, K., and Thomas, E. D. Chronic graft-versus-host disease in 52 patients: Adverse natural course and successful treatment with combination immunosuppression. *Blood* 57, 267–276 (1981).
- S23. Sutherland, D. E. R., Gillingham, K., and Moudry-Munns, K. C. Registry report on clinical pancreas transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 55–57 (1991).
- Sutherland, D. E. R., Moudry-Munns, K. C., and Gillingham, K. Pancreas transplantation: Report from the international registry and a preliminary analysis of United States results from the new United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) registry. *In* "Clinical Transplants 1989" (P. Terasaki, ed.), pp. 19–43. UCLA Tissue Typing Laboratory, Los Angeles, 1989.
- T1. Tagliacozzi, G. "De curtorum chirugia per insitionem," p. 61. Venice, 1597. Translated by Gnudi, M. T., and Webster, J. P., *in* "The Life and Times of Gaspare Tagliacozzi," p. 185. Reichner, New York, 1950 [cited by Converse and Casson (C15)].
- T2. Takaya, S., Bronsther, O., Iwaki, Y., Nakamura, K., Abu-Elmagd, K., Yagihashi, A., Demetris, A. J., Kobayashi, M., Todo, S., Tzakis, A. G., Fung, J. J., and Starzl, T. E. The adverse impact on liver transplantation of using positive cytotoxic crossmatch donors. *Transplantation* 53, 400–406 (1992).
- T3. Takemoto, S., Carnahan, E., and Terasaki, P. I. A report of 504 six antigen-matched transplants. *Transplant. Proc.* 23, 1318–1320 (1991).
- T4. Taylor, R. J., Andrews, W., Rosenthal, J. T., Carpenter, B., and Hakala, T. R. Influence of DR matching in cadaveric renal transplants performed with cyclosporine. A retrospective analysis of one center. *Transplantation* 38, 616–618 (1984).
- T5. Terasaki, P. I., The beneficial transfusion effect on kidney graft survival attributed to clonal deletion. *Transplantation* **37**, 119–125 (1984).
- T6. Terasaki, P. I., and McClelland, J. D. Microdroplet assay of human serum cytotoxins. *Nature* (London) 204, 998–1000 (1964).
- T7. Terasaki, P. I., Bernoco, D., Park, M. S., Ozturk, G., and Iwaki, Y. Microdroplet testing for HLA-A, -B, -C, and -D antigens. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 69, 103-120 (1978).
- T8. Terasaki, P. I., Park, M. S., Takemoto, S., Cecka, J. M., Clark, B., Corcoran, S., Cicciarelli, J., Barbetti, A., Yuge, J., and Carnahan, E. Overview and epitope matching. *In* "Clinical Transplants 1989" (P. Terasaki, ed.), pp. 499–516. UCLA Tissue Typing Laboratory, Los Angeles, 1989.
- T9. Thomas, E. D., Storb, R., Clift, R. A., Fefer, A., Johnson, F. L., Neiman, P. E., Lerner, K. G., Glucksberg, H., and Buckner, C. D. Bone-marrow transplantation (Second of two parts). *N. Engl. J. Med.* 292, 895–902 (1975).

- T10. Thomas, E. D., Buckner, C. D., Clift, R. A., Fefer, A., Johnson, F. L., Neiman, P. E., Sale, G. E., Sanders, J. E., Singer, J. W., Shulman, H., Storb, R., and Weiden, P. L. Marrow transplantation for acute nonlymphoblastic leukemia in first remission. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 301, 597-599 (1979).
- T11. Thomas, E. D., Buckner, C. D., Banaji, M., Clift, R. A., Fefer, A., Flournoy, N., Goodell, B. W., Hickman, R. O., Lerner, K. G., Neiman, P. E., Sale, G. E., Sanders, J. E., Singer, J., Stevens, M., Storb, R., and Weiden, P. L. One hundred patients with acute leukemia treated by chemotherapy, total body irradiation, and allogeneic marrow transplantation. *Blood* 49, 511–533 (1977).
- T12. Thomas, E. D., Clift, R. A., Fefer, A., Appelbaum, F. R., Beatty, P., Bensinger, W. I., Buckner, C. D., Cheever, M. A., Deeg, H. J., Doney, K., Flournoy, N., Greenberg, P., Hansen, J. A., Martin, P., McGuffin, R., Ramberg, R., Sanders, J. E., Singer, J., Stewart, P., Storb, R., Sullivan, K., Weiden, P. L., and Witherspoon, R. Marrow transplantation for the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Ann. Intern. Med. 104, 155–163 (1986).
- T13. Ting, A., and Morris, P. J. Matching for B-cell antigens of the HLA-DR series in cadaver renal transplantation. *Lancet* 1, 575–577 (1978).
- T14. Ting, A., and Morris, P. J. Powerful effect of HL-DR matching on survival of cadaveric renal allografts. *Lancet* 2, 282–285 (1980).
- T15. Ting, A., and Morris, P. J. Positive crossmatch transplants—safe or not? *Transplant. Proc.* 13, 1544–1546 (1981).
- T16. Tonnelle, C., DeMars, R., and Long, E. O. DOβ: A new β chain gene in HLA-D with a distinct regulation of expression. *EMBO J.* 4, 2839–2847 (1985).
- T17. Tosi, R., Tanigaki, N., Centis, D., Ferrara, G. B., and Pressman, D. Immunological dissection of human la molecules. J. Exp. Med. 148, 1592–1611 (1978).
- T18. Trowsdale, J., and Kelly, A. The human HLA class II α chain gene DZα is distinct from genes in the DP, DQ and DR subregions. *EMBO J.* **4**, 2231–2237 (1985).
- T19. Trowsdale, J., Ragoussis, J., and Campbell, R. D. Map of the human MHC. *Immunol. Today* **12**, 443–446 (1991).
- V1. van Buren, C. T., Flechner, S. M., Kerman, R. H., Vaughn, W., and Kahan, B. D. Cyclosporine improves outcome in high-risk cadaveric renal allograft recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 16, 1162–1166 (1984).
- V2. van Rood, J. J., van Leeuwen, A., Pearce, R., and van der Does, J. A. Leukocyte typing and kidney transplantation in unrelated donor-recipient pairs. A study in patients of Drs. S. Peart, J. F. Mowbray, and G. R. J. Alexandre. *Transplant. Proc.* 1, 372–375 (1969).
- V3. van Rood, J. J., van Leeuwen, A., Parlevliet, J., Termijtelen, A., and Keuning, J. J. LD typing by serology. IV. Description of a new locus with three alleles. *In* "Histocompatibility Testing 1975" (F. Kissmeyer-Nielsen, ed.), pp. 629–636. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, 1975.
- W1. Wank, R., and Schendel, D. J. Genetic analysis of HLA-D region products defined by PLT. In "Histocompatibility Testing 1984" (E. D. Albert, M. P. Baur, and W. R. Mayr, eds.), pp. 289–299. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, 1984.
- W2. Williams, G. M., Hume, D. M., Hudson, R. P., Morris, P. J., Kano, K., and Milgrom, F. "Hyperacute" renal-homograft rejection in man. N. Engl. J. Med. 279, 611–618 (1968).
- W3. World Health Organization Nomenclature Committee. Nomenclature for factors of the HLA system. Bull. W.H.O. 52, 261–265 (1975).
- W4. World Health Organization Nomenclature Committee. Nomenclature for factors of the HLA system 1984. *In* "Histocompatibility Testing 1984" (E. D. Albert, M. P. Baur, and W. R. Mayr, eds.), pp. 4–8. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, 1984.
- Y1. Yacoub, M., Festenstein, H., Doyle, P., Martin, M., McCloskey, D., Awad, J., Gamba, A., Khaghani, A., and Holmes, J. The influence of HLA matching in cardiac allograft recipients receiving cyclosporine and azathioprine. *Transplant. Proc.* **19**, 2487–2489 (1987).

- Y2. Yang, S. Y. A standardized method for detection of HLA-A and HLA-B alleles by onedimensional isoelectric focusing (IEF) gel electrophoresis. *In* "Immunobiology of HLA. I: Histocompatibility Testing 1987" (B. Dupont, ed.), pp. 332-335. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- Y3. Yunis, E. J., Plate, J. M., Ward, F. E., Seigler, H. F., and Amos, D. B. Anomalous MLR responsiveness among siblings. *Transplant. Proc.* 3, 118–120 (1971).
- Zinkernagel, R. M., and Doherty, P. C. Restriction of *in vitro* T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. *Nature (London)* 248, 701-702 (1974).
- Zmijewski, C. M., Fletcher, J. L., and Cannady, W. G. The serologic relationship of 4<sup>a</sup> and 4<sup>b</sup> to the HL-A system. *In* "Histocompatibility Testing 1970" (P. I. Terasaki, ed.), pp. 277–286. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, 1970.

# GLUTATHIONE S-TRANSFERASES: BIOMEDICAL APPLICATIONS

# Geoffrey J. Beckett and John D. Hayes\*

## University Department of Clinical Blochemistry, Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh EH3 9YW, Scotland

1.	Introduction	282
2.	The Multiple Activities and Pseudonyms of GST	283
3.	Historical Perspective	283
	3.1. Enzymology of GST	284
	3.2. Structure of GST	288
	3.3. Genetics and Regulation of GST.	291
	3.4. Molecular Enzymology	292
4.	Properties of Glutathione S-Transferases.	293
	4.1. Catalysis	293
	4.2. Metabolism of Carcinogens by GST	293
	4.3. Detoxification of Drugs by GST	295
	4.4. Endogenous GST Substrates	298
	4.5. Catalysis of Adverse Reactions by GST	301
	4.6. Binding Functions of the GST	303
5.	Glutathione S-Transferase Isoenzymes	306
	5.1. Families of GST	306
	5.2. Human GST Nomenclature	308
	5.3. Human Alpha-Class GST	309
	5.4. Human Mu-Class GST.	310
	5.5. Human Pi-Class GST	313
	5.6. Theta-Class GST	314
	5.7. Microsomal GST	315
6.	Biomedical Applications of GST	318
	6.1. Tumor Marker	318
	6.2. GST and Drug Resistance	319
	6.3. Association between Polymorphic Expression of GST and Susceptibility to	
	Toxic Chemicals	320

<sup>\*</sup>Present address: Biomedical Research Centre, Ninewells Hospital Medical School, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 9SY, Tayside, Scotland.

7.	The Quantitation of GST in Biological Fluids	323
	7.1. Activity Measurements of the GST	323
	7.2. Immunoassay Measurements of the GST	324
	7.3. Reference Values	325
8.	Developmental Expression of GST in Human Tissues	325
	8.1. Liver	326
	8.2. Kidney	328
	8.3. Lung	328
9.	Plasma Alpha-Class GST Measurements in Liver Disease	329
	9.1. Theoretical Advantages of Plasma GST Measurements for Detecting	
	Hepatocellular Damage	329
	9.2. Plasma GST Measurements for the Detection of Acute Liver Damage	330
	9.3. Plasma GST Measurements for the Detection of Chronic Liver Disease	346
	9.4. Thyroid Hormones and the Liver	349
10.	GST Measurements in Malignancy	352
	10.1. Plasma/Serum Measurement	352
	10.2. Measurements in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid	354
	10.3. GST in Human Bile	355
11.	The Glutathione S-Transferases and the Kidney	356
	11.1. Urinary GST Measurements as a Marker of Renal Damage	356
12.	Conclusions	358
	References	359

## 1. Introduction

The glutathione S-transferases (GST) (EC.2.5.1.18) are ubiquitous enzymes found in bacteria, yeast, nematodes, insects, fish, birds, and mammals. They constitute a complex supergene family that collectively metabolizes chemotherapeutic drugs, carcinogens, environmental pollutants, and a broad spectrum of other harmful foreign compounds (xenobiotics). Because these enzymes play a pivotal protective role against xenobiotics, variations in their levels of expression can have profound effects on susceptibility to chemical insult. Overexpression of GST by tumors is associated with resistance to anticancer agents and represents an important mechanism of acquired drug resistance. The induction of hepatic GST by antioxidants, or other anticarcinogenic xenobiotics, enables experimental animals to tolerate exposure to carcinogens. Conversely, the absence of particular isoenzymes in humans, a result of genetic polymorphism, has been linked to increased risk of carcinogenesis in certain individuals; such GST represent susceptibility markers.

Glutathione S-transferases are abundant enzymes of modest size. The fact that GST are present at high levels in the liver ensures that their concentration in plasma provides an exceptionally sensitive index of hepatocellular damage. The expression of certain isoenzymes is limited to particular tissues and their measure**GLUTATHIONE S-TRANSFERASES** 

ment in plasma should reflect damage to specific organs. Besides the utility of these enzymes as markers of active tissue damage, a unique GST is expressed in many tumors and this isoenzyme represents a useful marker of neoplastic transformation.

Although measurement of these enzymes has important applications in the fields of hepatology, oncology, pharmacology, and toxicology, it should be recognized that much basic research into the genetics, the structure, and the regulation of GST remains to be undertaken. Undoubtedly, additional isoenzymes have yet to be isolated and further functions of GST will be discovered. The aim of this article is to provide a broad understanding of the biochemical and molecular properties of GST as well as provide an overview of the value of GST measurements. Areas of future research and development that are worthy of investigation will be discussed.

## 2. The Multiple Activities and Pseudonyms of GST

Whereas the function of GST is considered primarily to be one of detoxifying foreign compounds, these enzymes possess activities other than catalyzing the formation of glutathione-xenobiotic conjugates. For example, GST exhibit peroxidase activity toward organic hydroperoxides and serve to combat oxidative stress. Certain isoenzymes possess ketosteroid isomerase activity, catalyzing the conversion of  $\Delta^5$ -3-ketosteroids to  $\Delta^4$ -3-ketosteroids. Besides their catalytic properties, the GST can bind numerous nonsubstrate ligands. Most ligands are hydrophobic and are bound noncovalently by GST. However, a number of reactive metabolites formed from carcinogens, such as N,N-dimethyl-4-aminoazobenzene, are bound covalently by GST; the major binding protein was designated ligandin. The binding properties of the transferases have led to the suggestion that GST may act as intracellular transport proteins or receptors, and in this context it is noteworthy that the non-histone protein BA, isolated from chromatin-associated nuclear proteins, has been identified as a GST. A consequence of the multifunctional properties of the transferases is that they have appeared in the scientific literature under several guises, namely, selenium-independent glutathione peroxidase, ketosteroid isomerase, ligandin, and non-histone protein BA.

#### 3. Historical Perspective

A chronological listing of the major advances in research into the glutathione S-transferases is summarized in Table 1.

1961	Demonstration of GST activity
1973	First purification schemes for GST
1974	Ligandin (Y protein) identified as a GST
1976	Selenium-independent glutathione peroxidase is a GST
1977	Use of SDS-PAGE to identify Ya, Yb, and Yc GST subunits
1979	Ligandin activity attributed to the Ya-type subunit
1981	Proof that distinct GST subunits can hybridize, forming heterodimers
	Demonstration of polymorphic expression of GST in humans
1982	Isolation of a unique microsomal GST
1984	First full-length cDNAs encoding GST described
	Expression of pi-class GST in hepatic preneoplastic nodules
1985	Overexpression of GST in drug-resistant cells lines
	Alpha-, mu-, and pi-class GST families defined
1986	Association between absence of mu-class GST and susceptibility to lung cancer
1988	Identification of a bacterial GST responsible for resistance to the antibiotic fosfomycin
1990	Identification of novel cis-acting elements in flanking regions of GST genes that respond to xenobiotics
1991	Theta-class GST characterized
	X-ray crystallography of GST

#### TABLE 1

#### HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF GST RESEARCH

#### 3.1. Enzymology of GST

The GST were originally studied because of their involvement in the mercapturic acid biosynthetic pathway. The conjugation between reduced glutathione (GSH) and xenobiotics represents the first of four steps leading to the formation of mercapturic acids; subsequent steps involve (1) the removal of the  $\gamma$ -glutamyl moiety from the glutathione conjugate by  $\gamma$ -glutamyltransferase, (2) the enzymic removal of glycine from the cysteinyl glycine conjugate, and (3) the N-acetylation of the cysteine conjugate by an acetyl-CoA-linked acetylase. The final *N*-acetylcysteine thioethers, or mercapturic acids, produced by the enzymes that catalyze this pathway are water soluble and readily excreted from the body.

Reports of urinary mercapturic acids first appeared in the late 19th century and arose from the work of two independent research groups that were both investigating the metabolism of monohalogenobenzenes; the metabolism of bromobenzene (see Fig. 1) was being studied by Baumann and Preusse (B9) and the metabolism of chlorobenzene was being studied by Jaffe (J1). However, the source of the N-acetylated cysteine moiety within mercapturic acids remained controversial for 80 years until Bray *et al.* (B41) demonstrated conclusively that it was derived from reduced glutathione (GSH). The existence of an enzyme(s) in rat liver cytosol responsible for catalyzing the conjugation of GSH with foreign compounds was



FIG. 1. Contribution of GST to the metabolism of bromobenzene.

reported first in 1961 (B36, C17). In these original reports of GST, the conjugation of GSH with 1,2-dichloro-4-nitrobenzene as well as with bromosulfophthalein was described. However, by the end of the 1960s at least 50 GST substrates had been identified (B40). At this stage it had become apparent that GST activity was represented by a number of distinct isoenzymes and attempts to classify the enzymes by the chemical structure of the electrophilic substrates resulted in the use of such terms as aryl transferase, alkyl transferase, aralkyl transferase, alkene transferase, and epoxide transferase (B40). A number of the model substrates that have been used to measure GST activity are shown in Fig. 2.



FIG. 2. Metabolism of model substrates by GST. The following reactions are catalyzed by GST: (a) 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene, (b) 1,2-dichloro-4-nitrobenzene, (c) *trans*-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one, (d) ethacrynic acid, (e) 1,2-epoxy-3-(*p*-nitrophenoxy)propane, and (f) menaphthyl sulfate.

The inadequacy of nomenclatures based on substrate specificity became apparent when homogeneous preparations of the individual separate isoenzymes were analyzed and shown to exhibit overlapping activities toward many of the substrates. Much of our knowledge of the properties of GST has stemmed from studies of these enzymes in the rat. The first purification schemes for rat GST were reported by workers in Jakoby's laboratory (F12, H5) and the first purification of human GST by Kamisaka *et al.* (K1) resulted from a collaboration between the laboratories of Jakoby and Arias; at this stage the designations given to separate GST were based on their chromatographic properties (i.e., rat GST E,D,C,B,A and AA were designated by their elution order from CM–cellulose); however, more recent nomenclatures are based on the subunit compositions of the individual isoenzymes.

The purification scheme reported by Habig et al. (H4, H5) was of particular significance because it provided a systematic method of defining GST and enabled the multifunctional properties of these enzymes to be examined in more detail. In addition to their ability to form glutathione conjugates (see Fig. 2), GST were shown to be able to catalyze diverse reactions, including thiolysis, the reduction of organic nitrates, the isomeration of a ketosteroid, and the reduction of organic hydroperoxides (see Fig. 3). Marked differences in the specificity of the various isoenzymes were noted by Habig et al. (H4, H5) and, indeed, with the benefit of hindsight, the data of these workers show the existence of several catalytically distinct families of enzyme. For example, the GST that were found to utilize DCNB and/or tPBO were inactive with cumene hydroperoxide (and vice versa). Also, the enzyme with the highest activity with 1,2-epoxy-3-(p-nitrophenoxy)propane was inactive with DCNB, tPBO, or 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB). Having developed a systematic purification scheme for the transferases, Jakoby and his colleagues were in a position to compare individual GST isoenzymes (and derived antisera) with proteins that were considered likely to represent GST that had been prepared by other laboratories. Hence, following the demonstration by Kaplowitz et al. (K3) that the organic anion-binding protein ligandin was a GST, Habig et al. (H3) reported that ligandin activity is attributable to a specific isoenzyme, namely GST B. Similarly, those GST that possess selenium-independent glutathione peroxidase activity (P13) and  $\Delta^{5}$ -3-ketosteroid isomerase activity (B24) were identified by their chromatographic behavior (the reactions are shown in Fig. 3). Although these early pioneering purification studies were of considerable merit, the fact that certain GST homodimers were not recovered subsequently produced considerable confusion in the literature. For example, the homodimer with the greatest ligandin-type activity and the highest  $\Delta^5$ -3-ketosteroid isomerase activity was not recovered by Habig et al. (H4, H5) and these activities were attributed solely to the heterodimer GST B. Failure to recover all the GST homodimers from rat liver also served to obscure the basis for the overlapping substrate specificities of the isoenzymes.



FIG. 3. Various types of reaction catalyzed by GST. Besides the formation of thioethers, GST catalyze thiolysis, denitrozation, isomerization, and peroxidase-type reactions (see text). As examples of such reactions, the metabolism of *p*-nitrophenyl acetate, nitroglycerine,  $\Delta^5$ -androstene-3,17-dione, and cumene hydroperoxide are shown in a, b, c, and d, respectively.

#### 3.2. STRUCTURE OF GST

The GST are dimeric and the two subunits that each enzyme comprises function independently. Consequently, knowledge of the subunit composition of GST is fundamental to understanding the reason for their overlapping activities. Early work on purified GST focused on enzymology, not on the structural relationship

among the GST isoenzymes (A22, H5, P1). Surprisingly, analyses of different rat ligandin preparations by SDS-PAGE (B5, C5, H28, L11) gave the most important insight into subunit heterogeneity among GST isoenzymes. Using SDS-PAGE, Bass et al. (B5) identified three electrophoretically distinct bands, the Ya, Yb, and Yc polypeptides, in eluate from Sephadex gel-filtration columns of rat hepatic cytosol containing proteins of 45-55 kDa [i.e., the Y fraction; see Levi et al. (L5) for the definition of the Y designation]. Although not pure, the Y fraction is enriched with GST activity and subsequent analysis of individual GST isoenzymes by SDS-PAGE showed that they comprise dimeric combinations of Ya-/Yc-type subunits or Yb-type subunits (H28, H29, S10). These electrophoretic data provided a structural basis for dividing GST into distinct families. Moreover, SDS-PAGE showed that individual isoenzymes within a given GST family may share a common subunit and that the overlapping activities of distinct isoenzymes is often due to the presence of a specific subunit common to two, or more, GST. For example, ligandin and  $\Delta^{5}$ -3-ketosteroid isomerase activities can be attributed to the Ya-type subunit (H30, M1, O4).

The first demonstration that GST heterodimers do indeed represent hybrid enzymes came from the reversible denaturation analysis of rat GST YaYc described by Hayes *et al.* (H30), in which the subunits were dissociated with urea and, following reassociation of the subunits, by dialysis, the products (namely YaYa, YaYc, and YcYc) were separately recovered by ion-exchange chromatography. Confirmation of this result was provided by Kitahara and Sato (K11), who used guanidinium chloride to dissociate rat YaYc. Subunit hybridization is not a phenomenon limited to the rat; Stockman *et al.* (S35) have shown that human GST subunits can also form hybrids. It is now recognized that hybridization among a limited number of GST subunits accounts for the large number of GST isoenzymes that are found in most mammalian species. For example, hybridization among Yb<sub>1</sub>, Yb<sub>2</sub>, and Yn subunits in rat liver leads to the formation of Yb<sub>1</sub>Yb<sub>1</sub>, Yb<sub>1</sub>Yb<sub>2</sub>, Yb<sub>2</sub>Yb<sub>2</sub>, Yb<sub>1</sub>Yn, and Yb<sub>2</sub>Yn (H13, H14). Boyer *et al.* (B38) have shown that only subunits within the same gene family can hybridize.

Following the recognition that the Ya-/Yc-type and the Yb-type subunits in rat liver represent two separate families of GST, reports also began to appear of an abundant extrahepatic GST comprising subunits of a type distinct from those of the normal liver isoenzymes (G14, G15, H14, H26, T14). This enzyme, which represents a third family of cytosolic GST, has been extensively studied because, although it is not found in normal liver, it is expressed in rat liver tumors (J7, K12, M15, S8, S9). Since this enzyme is found in placenta, it has been called GST P and the subunits that it comprises have been designated Yp by Kitahara *et al.* (K12); the Yp subunit has also been called Yf as it migrates faster during SDS–PAGE than Ya (H14). The Ya, Yb, Yc, and Yf bands are indicated in the SDS–PAGE gel shown in Fig. 4.

Throughout the 1980s, many reports of additional cytosolic GST appeared in



FIG. 4. Identification of GST subunits in rat liver cytosol. SDS-PAGE was performed in a 12% polyacrylamide resolving gel. Samples were run from the cathode (top) to the anode (bottom) and the gel was stained with Coomassie brilliant blue. The fractions are as follows: (1) liver cytosol from normal rats, (2) liver cytosol from nodule bearing rats that had been fed aflatoxin  $B_1$  (2 ppm) for approx 16 weeks, (3) hepatic cytosol from normal rats that did not bind the glutathione–Sepharose affinity matrix, (4) hepatic cytosol from aflatoxin  $B_1$ -treated rats that was not retained by the glutathione–Sepharose affinity gel, (5) affinity-purified GST from normal rat liver, and (6) affinity-purified GST from rat livers that contained aflatoxin-induced preneoplastic nodules. The positions of the Ya, Yb, Yc, and Yf subunits are shown. The horizontal arrow adjacent to track 1 shows the position where the Yf (or Yp) would migrate if present. These data are taken from Hayes *et al.* (H23).

the literature, studies that were facilitated by the availability of good affinity matrices for the purification of these enzymes (G15, M5, S24). However, one of the more surprising findings was the isolation of a unique GST, present at high levels in the endoplasmic reticulum and the outer mitochondrial membrane, that is distinct from the cytosolic forms (M23). This enzyme, the microsomal GST, is unusual in that its activity is activated 15-fold upon treatment with the thiol modifying agent *N*-ethylmaleimide (M20).

#### GLUTATHIONE S-TRANSFERASES

#### 3.3. GENETICS AND REGULATION OF GST

Molecular cloning of GST represented a major step forward in the understanding of the structure and genetic diversity of these enzymes. Much of the original work in this area was undertaken by the laboratories of Pickett and of Tu, who between them provided definitive proof that the Ya and Yc subunits are members of a gene family that is separate from that encoding Yb subunits (L1, L2, P8, T7). The third gene family of GST was identified by Muramatsu and his colleagues, who undertook cloning of the cDNA encoding Yp (S46). Mannervik et al. (M2), recognizing that these three families of GST identified in the rat were also represented in the human and the mouse, proposed that the designations alpha, mu, and pi class be adopted as a unifying system of nomenclature for the GST gene families of all mammalian species; hence the Ya/Yc, the Yb, and the Yp (or Yf) subunits represent alpha-, mu-, and pi-class GST, respectively. More recently, a fourth cytosolic family of GST has been identified, called theta (H8, H46, M17), and a cDNA encoding one of its members has been described by Ogura et al. (O2). Structural analysis of the microsomal GST demonstrated that this enzyme is genetically distinct and shares no sequence homology with the four cytosolic GST gene families (D3, M22). Present evidence suggests that the cytosolic enzymes have a common evolutionary origin and that the ancestral gene, from which they diverged, was possibly more closely related to the theta-class genes than to the alpha-, mu-, and pi-class genes. By contrast, the microsomal GST appears to have arisen through a distinct evolutionary route. For information, the designation of the different rat GST subunit types of the various gene families is presented in Table 2.

Y subunit or other designation	Apparent $M_r$ (by SDS-PAGE)	Family
Ya	25,500	Alpha
Yc	27,500	Alpha
Yk	25,000	Alpha
Yb <sub>1</sub>	26,300	Mu
Yb <sub>2</sub>	26,300	Mu
Yn	26,000	Mu
Yo	26,500	Mu
Yf (or Yp)	24,800	Pi
Yrs (GST M)	26,000	Theta
GST E		Theta

TABLE 2 RAT CYTOSOLIC GST SUBUNITS AND GENE FAMILY DESIGNATIONS

Source. Data taken from Hayes (H15), Hiratsuka et al. (H46), and Meyer et al. (M17).

The regulation of GST is complex; they are subject to developmental control, their expression is tissue specific, and they are inducible by many drugs (B23, H26, L8, M12, S40, S44). The mechanisms responsible for the induction of GST by treatment with foreign compounds currently represent an active area of research that is likely to have important implications for other inducible drug-metabolizing and GSH-dependent enzymes. Pickett and his colleagues have identified two cis-acting elements in the 5' flanking region of the rat Ya subunit gene. One of these elements responds to planar aromatic compounds, such as dioxin, and is identical to the XRE found in the cytochrome P450 1A1 gene (R14), whereas the other element, designated the ARE, responds to phenolic antioxidants (R13); the ARE has also been identified in the NAD(P)H:quinone reductase gene (F3) and is present in the y-glutamyl transpeptidase gene (T. H. Rushmore and J. D. Hayes, unpublished observation). Friling et al. (F16, F17), studying induction of the murine Ya subunit gene by xenobiotics, have identified an element that responds to electrophiles (the EpRE). Interestingly, this element comprises two adjacent, nonidentical, 9-base-pair motifs, both of which are related to the ARE and the TRE (this element was originally identified as being responsive to the tumor promotor phorbol 12-O-tetradecanoate 13-acetate). Regulation of the rat pi-class GST gene has been studied by Muramatsu and his colleagues, who have shown that its derepression during hepatocarcinogenesis is mediated by an enhancer, called GPE1, which consists of two TRE-like elements (O5, S1). The Yp subunit gene also contains several negative elements, approximately 400 bp upstream from the cap site, that appear to regulate basal expression of this GST (I2).

Little is known about the regulation of the mu-class, the theta-class, or the microsomal GST at the molecular level and it is clear that much more work must be undertaken before we have a complete understanding of the mechanisms responsible for the control of expression of these enzymes.

## 3.4. MOLECULAR ENZYMOLOGY

The catalytic mechanism(s) of GST is of particular interest because of its multifunctional nature. In its native conformation each GST subunit contains a specific GSH-binding site adjacent to a nonspecific hydrophobic ligand-binding site (J2, M1, M4). Early speculation that the GSH-binding site serves to allow ionization of GSH to the thiolate ion (GS) and that catalysis merely represents a proximity effect may be a little simplistic. The publication of X-ray crystallographic data for a pi-class GST by Reinemer *et al.* (R5) has allowed identification of amino acid residues involved in binding GSH; three contact residues, namely, tyrosine 7, glutamine 62, and aspartate 96, have been identified. The work of Reinemer *et al.* (R5) has paved the way for work to be undertaken to assess, through site-directed mutagenesis, the contribution of contact residues to catalysis. Studies into the residues responsible for determining the specificity

of binding electrophilic substrates and nonsubstrate ligands promise to yield interesting data.

## 4. Properties of Glutathione S-Transferases

## 4.1. CATALYSIS

The glutathione S-transferases catalyze numerous reactions in which the glutathione thiolate anion (GS<sup>-</sup>) serves as a nucleophile (A20, G11, J2). Thus the fundamental catalytic action of GST is to facilitate the formation or stabilization of GS-, which can, in turn, attack electrophilic carbon, nitrogen, sulfur, or oxygen atoms contained in any xenobiotic. Literally hundreds of different compounds exist that contain a carbon atom sufficiently electrophilic to be able to react with GS<sup>-</sup> and form thioether conjugates. Thioether formation has been widely studied since the earliest convenient spectrophotmetric assays represented this type of reaction; for example, the conjugation of GSH with 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene, 1,2-dichloro-4-nitrobenzene, trans-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one, ethacrynic acid, 1,2-epoxy-3-(pnitrophenoxy)propane, and menaphthyl sulfate are shown in Fig. 2. Besides reaction with an electrophilic carbon atom, GST also catalyze the reaction of GSH with the electrophilic sulfur atom in organic thiocyanates to form an asymmetric disulfide and HCN (H1). The GSH-dependent reduction of organic nitrate esters (Fig. 3) is an example of a GST-catalyzed reaction between GS<sup>-</sup> and an electrophilic nitrogen atom; this activity was originally called glutathione organic nitrate ester reductase but is in fact catalyzed by GST (H1). It has been argued that the ability of GST to reduce organic hydroperoxides, such as cumene hydroperoxide (Fig. 3), is an example of an interaction between GS<sup>-</sup> and an electrophilic oxygen.

GST catalyze the isomerization of at least two types of physiologically important compounds. First, there is the isomerization of  $\Delta^5$ -3-ketosteroids to  $\alpha$ - $\beta$ unsaturated  $\Delta^4$ -3-ketosteroids (Fig. 3). Second, there is the isomerization of maleylacetone to fumarylacetone (K4). Both of these reactions are thought to involve the formation of a short-lived glutathione conjugate that rearranges to yield the isomer and GSH. Thiolysis of *p*-nitrophenyl acetate (Fig. 3), with the formation of *p*-nitrophenol and the thiol ester S-acetylglutathione, is also catalyzed by GST (K4).

#### 4.2. METABOLISM OF CARCINOGENS BY GST

Because GST can catalyze the addition of GSH to the epoxide group in model substrates such as 1,2-epoxy-3-(*p*-nitrophenoxy)propane (F12), it is reasonable to suppose that these enzymes can detoxify epoxide-containing metabolites of many genotoxic carcinogens (C6). One of the most important naturally occurring hepa-

tocarcinogens is aflatoxin  $B_1$ , produced by the mold *Aspergillus flavus*. The ultimate carcinogenic metabolite formed from aflatoxin  $B_1$  is the 8,9-epoxide. Recent studies (B43, H19, H21, Q1, R1) have provided evidence that the detoxification of aflatoxin  $B_1$ -8,9-epoxide by GST (Fig. 5) is a critical factor in determining the outcome of exposure to the mycotoxin aflatoxin  $B_1$ ; failure of rodents to express the GST responsible for catalyzing this reaction is associated with increased susceptibility to liver cancer (H20).

The polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) are common environmental pollutants that have been implicated as etiological factors in human chemical carcinogenesis (I3, I4). One such PAH that has been studied extensively is benzo[a]pyrene (G3). The metabolic activation of this compound to various reactive intermediates, including epoxides, phenols, and quinones, is performed by the cytochrome-P450-containing mixed function oxidase (MFO) system. Subsequent metabolic steps may involve the hydration of epoxides to dihydrodiols, mediated



FIG. 5. Detoxification of epoxide-containing carcinogens by GST. The following carcinogens are GST substrates: (a) aflatoxin  $B_1$ -8,9-epoxide, (b) anti-benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-oxide, and (c) benz[a]anthracene-5,6-epoxide.

by the enzyme epoxide hydrolase, which may be followed by further oxygenation of these compounds to form diol epoxides. Several of the reactive intermediates arising during the metabolism of benzo[a]pyrene have been shown to be conjugated with GSH. A human hepatic GST has been shown to exhibit high specific activity toward benzo[a]pyrene 4,5-oxide (W2, W3). This compound and other K-region epoxides yield positive results in bacterial mutagenicity tests, although they have not been directly implicated in carcinogenesis (C15). The "Bay region" epoxides, on the other hand, are responsible for the carcinogenic effect of PAH (J8). Glutathione conjugation has been shown to be an important protection mechanism against the DNA binding of the Bay region diol epoxide benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-oxide (BPDE) (H38). The GST that have high activity toward this metabolite include mu- and pi-class enzymes (J9, R8). It is of interest that the nucleophilic attack of GSH on both K-region and Bay region epoxides occurs stereoselectively. For instance the conjugation of GSH with BPDE catalyzed by rat mu-class GST Yb<sub>2</sub>Yb<sub>2</sub> is selective toward the biologically most active (+)enantiomer (R9). Benz[a]anthracene is another polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon that is detoxified by GST following its metabolism to a reactive K-region, 5,6epoxide (see Fig. 5) (H43).

Although the formation of epoxide metabolites of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons is regarded as a major metabolic pathway yielding carcinogenic compounds, the existence of an alternative activation mechanism, involving the formation of reactive sulfate esters, has recently been demonstrated (O7, W6). The bioactivation of benz[a]anthracene and chrysene, PAH that are regarded as weak carcinogens, involves methylation followed by enzymic oxidation at the methyl carbon, mediated by microsomal monooxygenases, to yield the corresponding hydroxymethylarenes. These potent carcinogens may then be further activated by hydroxysteroid sulfotransferase to the corresponding reactive sulfate esters (O7, W7). The metabolically formed sulfate esters react with purine bases on both calf thymus and preweanling rat DNA (S47, W5). GSH conjugation, mediated by GST present in rat hepatic cytosol, has been shown to inactivate both 5-hydroxymethylchrysene sulfate and 7,12-dihyroxymethylbenz[a]anthracene sulfate and inhibit the formation of DNA adducts (O6, W7). Hiratsuka et al. (H46) have purified an enzyme from rat liver that can detoxify sulfate esters formed from the arylmethanols 7-hydroxymethyl-12-methylbenz[a]anthracene (W8), 7,12-dihydroxymethylbenze[a]anthracene (W6), and 5-hydroxymethylchrysene (O6); these reactions are shown in Fig. 6. The carcinogens N,N-dimethyl-4-aminoazobenzene and 2-acetylaminofluorene can also form GSH conjugates (H43).

#### 4.3. DETOXIFICATION OF DRUGS BY GST

Besides the metabolism of carcinogens, GST detoxify a wide spectrum of other xenobiotics, many of which we encounter as herbicides, pesticides, or chemothera-



FIG. 6. Metabolism of reactive sulfate esters by GST. GST catalyze the conjugation of (a) 7-hydroxymethylbenz[a]anthracene sulfate, (b) 7,12-dihydroxymethylbenz[a]anthracene sulfate, and (c) 5-hydromethylchrysene sulfate with GSH (H46).

peutic drugs. The thiocarbamate and S-triazine herbicides are substrates for GST, as are organophosphorous insecticides and halogenated hydrocarbon insecticides [for a review, see Hayes and Wolf (H31)]. Among the drugs that serve as GST substrates, paracetamol, a commonly used analgesic, is perhaps the most widely known. Paracetamol is metabolized to N-acetyl-benzoquinone imine, which reacts readily with GSH to form 3-(glutathione-S-yl) paracetamol (Fig. 7); this reaction can occur spontaneously but is also effectively catalyzed by GST (C16). Nitroglycerin, which is used to treat patients with angina pectoris and congestive cardiac failure because of its vasodilating effects, is metabolized by GST (H2, H41, T10) to form glyceryl dinitrate and nitrite (see Fig. 3). Also, as the pioneering study of Coomes and Stakelum (C17) demonstrated, the organic dye bromosulfophthalein, which is used as a test of hepatic transport, is a GST substrate (Fig. 7). The narcotic drug  $\alpha$ -bromoisovalerylurea is another substrate (Fig. 7) that has been used to study



FIG. 7. Reactions between drugs and GSH that involve GST. The reactions between GSH and (a) paracetamol, (b)  $\alpha$ -bromoisovaleryl urea, (c) menadione, and (d) bromosulfophthalein have been shown to be catalyzed by GST.

GST activity *in vivo* (T6). Menadione, vitamin  $K_3$ , is also conjugated with GSH to form thiodiol (Fig. 7), as well as thiodione and menadiol (F11).

Several anticancer drugs that act as alkylating agents have been shown to be detoxified by GST. The nitrogen mustards melphalan and chlorambucil have both been shown to form GSH conjugates (B35, C11, D10, D11); the formation of the monochloro monoglutathionyl conjugate of melphalan is shown in Fig. 8. Denitrozation of the nitrosourea BCNU is catalyzed by GST. As shown in Fig. 8, the GSH-dependent deactivation of BCNU may occur via two reactions, namely, (1) the direct denitrozation of the nitrosourea through the formation of S-nitroso glutathione (W10) and (2) indirect denitrozation proceeding through GSH conjugation to one of the chloro-bearing carbon atoms with subsequent loss of the nitroso group (T1). The fact that GST efficiently catalyzes the conjugation of GSH with acrolein (B26) (see Fig. 8) suggests that these enzymes can protect against the cytotoxic effects of cyclophosphamide since acrolein is a major metabolite of this nitrogen mustard (A8).

## 4.4. ENDOGENOUS GST SUBSTRATES

Peroxidized lipid and DNA, both of which are produced during oxidative stress, serve as substrates for GST (Fig. 9). Hence, it has been proposed that GST have



FIG. 8. Metabolism of anticancer drugs by GST. The GST-catalyzed formation of a glutathione conjugate with melphalan is shown in a. The denitrozation of BCNU (b) can occur via either (i) a direct reaction or (ii) an indirect reaction. Acrolein, a cytotoxic metabolite of cyclophosphamide, is also a GST substrate (c).



FIG. 9. GST substrates that represent components of oxidized lipid and DNA. Cholesterol-5,6oxide (a) and 4-hydroxynon-2-enal (b) are detoxified by GST through thioether formation, whereas 9-hydroperoxy-linoleic acid (c) and 5-hydroperoxymethyl-uracil (d) are reduced by GST peroxidase activity.

evolved in response to the toxic products of oxygen metabolism (K9, M1). Reactive oxygen species, such as superoxide anion, hydrogen peroxide, and the hydroxyl radical, are continuously produced during normal aerobic metabolism. The peroxidation of lipid biomembranes occurs following the attack of free radicals upon the polyunsaturated fatty acyl moieties. In the presence of oxygen this can lead to chain propagation reactions involving lipid peroxy radicals and hydroperoxides. The peroxidase activity of GST, along with that of GPx, contributes to the reduction of peroxidized lipid and therefore helps combat oxidative damage to lipid. Some workers have demonstrated that the consecutive action of the enzyme phospholipase  $A_2$ , which releases fatty acyl hydroperoxides from peroxidized phospholipids, and certain GST, which reduce the free fatty acid hydroperoxides released by phospholipase  $A_2$ , is sufficient for the inhibition, *in vitro*, of microsomal lipid peroxidation (T2). Ketterer *et al.* (K9) have subsequently reported that a number of purified rat GST have activity toward hydroperoxides of linoleic acid and arachiodonic acid, two polyunsaturated fatty acids that are abundant in biological membranes.

If the process of lipid peroxidation continues unimpeded, the consequences include the release of toxic breakdown products and the eventual destruction of the lipid component of biological membranes (S28). Such breakdown products include the aldehydes, malondialdehyde, 2-alkenals, and 4-hydroxyalkenals. A number of mammalian GST isoenzymes are highly efficient in the detoxification of these compounds (D1). Indeed, 4-hydroxynonenal is one of the best GST substrates identified to date, and with one of the rat GST isoenzymes the  $K_{cat}/K_m$  value obtained indicates that catalysis proceeds relatively close to the diffusion-controlled limit. Cholesterol-5,6-epoxide is a further example of a by-product of lipid peroxidation, and the conjugation of GSH to this weakly mutagenic compound is catalyzed by certain GST (M18).

DNA is also susceptible to free radical attack during oxidative stress. The participation of GST isoenzymes in the detoxification and repair of the potentially mutagenic radical damage to DNA has been studied by Ketterer and his colleagues. Both thymine hydroperoxides and DNA peroxidized by ionizing radiation in the presence of oxygen have been shown to serve as substrates for rat GST (T3, T4). However, these workers reported that the specificity of rat GST isoenzymes toward the peroxidized DNA differs from that toward the free thymine hydroperoxide, 5-hydroxymethyl uracil. From their data, Ketterer *et al.* (K7, K9) propose that GST act in concert with DNA glycosylase to repair oxidized DNA.

In addition to their protective functions, the GST are known to participate in the biosynthesis of biologically active molecules, including leukotrienes and prostaglandins. Prostaglandin A<sub>1</sub>, for example, has been shown to be conjugated with GSH by homogeneous rat and human GST (C1) and 15-keto prostaglandins also form conjugates with GSH (C7). The hydroxy endoperoxide prostaglandin (PG) H<sub>2</sub> may undergo three different GSH-dependent conversions to form biologically active compounds (Fig. 10); PGH<sub>2</sub> can be reduced to PGH<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub> or isomerized to PGD<sub>2</sub> or PGE<sub>2</sub>. All three reactions are catalyzed by rat cytosolic GST *in vitro* (B45, C10).

The biologically active cysteine-containing leukotrienes  $C_4$ ,  $D_4$ , and  $E_4$  mediate anaphalacttic and allergic reactions through their smooth muscle-stimulating and edema-inducing properties. Leukotriene  $C_4$  is formed from leukotriene  $A_4$  following conjugation of GSH to an epoxy group in the parent compound (B1) (Fig. 10). The GST responsible for leukotriene  $C_4$  synthase activity has recently been purified (N2, N3) and it is now certain that the reaction is catalyzed by a unique membrane-bound enzyme that is distinct from the microsomal GST characterized by Morgenstern and his colleagues (S29, S30).

Several other specific compounds arising during metabolism have been identified as substrates for GST, such as reactive intermediates of estradiol metabolism (E4, M9). In this instance, the formation, *in vivo* and *in vitro*, of GSH conjugates of certain steroids has implicated reactive intermediates of estradiol-17 $\beta$  (J6) and 2-hydroxyestradiol-17 $\beta$  (E3) as possible substrates for GST (Fig. 10). Quinones also represent a group of reactive compounds that may be detoxified by GST since dopaquinone, which is an intermediate in the melanin biosynthetic pathway, has been found to be conjugated with GSH in humans suffering from malignant melanoma (A6).

Recently, Odell *et al.* (O1) described the presence of bilirubin–GSH conjugates in the bile of Gunn rats, a strain possessing unconjugated hyperbilirubinemia. These rats are deficient in the microsomal bilirubin UDP–glucuronosyl transferase, and Odell *et al.* (O1) have found that this strain, although it cannot form bilirubin glucoronides, readily conjugates GSH with bilirubin (see Fig. 11). Like the Gunn rat, the type 1 genetic disorder Crigler–Najjar syndrome also involves the absence of UDP–glucuronosyl transferase and it is possible that in this disease GSH conjugation represents an important excreting pathway for bilirubin. The rat GST responsible for catalyzing the conjugation of GSH with bilirubin has not been identified. However, in the EHB strain of rats, which exhibit hereditary hyperbilirubinuria, the alpha-class  $Yc_2$  subunit is markedly overexpressed (I1), possibly suggesting that this GST may be involved in bilirubin metabolism.

#### 4.5. CATALYSIS OF ADVERSE REACTIONS BY GST

There are a small number of GST substrates that either are not detoxified by conjugation with GSH or become more toxic when they are conjugated with GSH. Although these toxification reactions are relatively rare, their importance should not be overlooked. Three types of toxic GSH conjugate have been identified (A13, V2). For example, conjugates such as 2-bromoethylglutathione (Fig. 12) are directly toxic through spontaneous formation of reactive episulfonium ions and therefore do not require the involvement of other enzymes in the toxification process. Alternatively, the GSH conjugates of compounds such as trichloroethene or hexachlorobutadiene require further metabolism by  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase and cysteine conjugate  $\beta$ -lyase before their potential toxicity is realized. Last, certain conjugates, such as that formed from benzyl isothio-cyanate (Fig. 12), are unstable and as the electrophilic species is readily regenerated the conjugate can be regarded only as a "temporary storage form" of the toxic compound.

One of the best studied examples of GST involvement in the biosynthesis of toxic conjugates is the metabolism of the potent nephrotoxin hexachloro-1,3butadiene (HCBD). This compound has no adverse effects in the liver but its toxicity has been shown to arise following the initial hepatic GST-catalyzed direct conjugation of HCBD with GSH. The product of this reaction, pentachlorobutadienyl-glutathione, is subsequently metabolized by  $\gamma$ -glutamyl transpeptidase and



FIG. 10. Endogenous GST substrates. The following "normal" products of cellular metabolism serve as GST substrates: (a) dopaquinone, (b) estradiol-17 $\beta$ , (c) leukotriene A<sub>4</sub>, (d) 14,15-epoxy-5,8,11-eicosatrienoic acid, (e) prostaglandin A<sub>1</sub>, and (f) prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub>.

cysteinyl glycinase in the kidney to form the cysteinyl conjugate. Metabolism of pentachlorobutadienyl-cysteine by renal cysteine conjugate  $\beta$ -lyase results in the formation of a thiol that is either directly or indirectly toxic (G10, J10, W11). McLellan *et al.* (M13) have shown that the human microsomal GST is responsible for the conjugation of HCBD with GSH and, interestingly, Anders *et al.* (A13) have reported that the microsomal GST, rather than cytosolic GST, is responsible for the bioactivation of a number of other haloalkanes.

e

f



FIG. 10. Continued.

#### 4.6. BINDING FUNCTIONS OF THE GST

The GST are able to bind, covalently and noncovalently, numerous hydrophobic compounds that are not substrates. It has therefore been proposed that GST may serve to sequester/store such compounds or, alternatively, they may be involved in the transport of ligands, either across cells or between subcellular compartments/organelles. Although many of the early binding studies were performed using preparations of ligandin, it has been shown subsequently that most soluble GST display a high affinity for a broad range of nonsubstrate ligands (K5). The physiological importance of this binding activity has been the subject of considerable debate but it should be noted that, as the intrahepatic concentration of GST is approximately 0.2 mM, a high level of diffusable lipophilic binding sites that are likely to alter significantly the mobility of hydrophobic molecules within hepatocytes and other cells are available.

It is reasonable to speculate that highly lipophilic xenobiotics of limited solubility require carrier proteins to facilitate their mobilization, metabolism, and



FIG. 11. Formation of bilirubin-glutathione conjugates. This mechanism for conjugation of bilirubin and GSH was proposed by Odell *et al.* (O1).

ultimate excretion from cells. GST are good candidates for the role of carrier protein (H45) and it is of particular interest that many nonsubstrate ligands for GST are indeed substrates for cytochrome P450 (T9). An endogenous ligand for GST is heme and it has been proposed that GST mediate the intracellular transport of heme from mitochondria to apoenzymes (H57).

The hypothesis that GST (particularly ligandin) influence hepatic and renal uptake of organic anions is based not only on studies of their binding capabilities, but also on certain physiological observations. Levi *et al.* (L5) showed that animal tissues that do not preferentially extract bilirubin or bromosulfophthalein from plasma do not contain ligandin (i.e., Ya subunits). This group of workers has demonstrated that newly born animals, which have low hepatic levels of ligandin, also exhibit impaired organic-anion uptake by the liver (L6). Fleischner *et al.* (F14) reported that an increase in hepatic concentrations of ligandin, achieved by treating rats with phenobarbital, was accompanied by an increased rate of clearance of exogenous organic anions from plasma. Bile acids represent another group



FIG. 12. Toxication reactions catalyzed by GST. Examples of compounds that are not detoxified by conjugation with GSH include (a) ethylene dibromide, (b) trichloroethene, (c) hexachloro-1,3-butadiene, and (d) benzyl isothiocyanate.

of organic anions that are bound noncovalently by GST (H28, H29) but, with the possible exception of lithocholic acid, it appears probable that they cross the hepatocyte for excretion into bile by free diffusion rather than by a carriermediated mechanism (S39). GST also bind noncovalently steroid hormones, thyroid hormones, and neurotransmitters (A1).

The ability of GST to bind covalently reactive xenobiotic metabolites has been recognized for many years. Azo-dye carcinogen metabolites have been shown to combine *in vivo* specifically with three soluble proteins of rat liver, and the original description of ligandin was as one of these azo-dye carcinogen-binding proteins (K8). The binding of azo-dye carcinogens to ligandin is covalent, and it has been shown that it is the Ya subunit that selectively binds this type of compound (O4). Ligandin has also been shown to bind, covalently, activated metabolites of 3-methylcholanthrene (K6). The covalent binding of activated

polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to cytosolic proteins has also been extensively investigated in the mouse and has led to the identification of the *h*-protein, which is present in mouse liver, skin, and lung (S4). A common identity between the *h*-protein and a protein in mouse liver cytosol that is equivalent to ligandin has been surmised as both proteins have similar physical properties. Subsequent studies demonstrated that a protein, immunologically related to rat ligandin, is present in mouse liver but this protein appeared to be distinct from the *h*-protein (S5, S6). The *h*-protein was found to bind 3-methylcholanthrene to a greater extent than "mouse ligandin." Interestingly, low levels of GST activity were associated with highly purified preparations of the *h*-protein (S6), and, although such activity may represent impurities in the preparation, the possibility remains that the *h*-protein is a GST.

In the rat, the Ya-/Yc-containing GST are not solely responsible for covalent binding of toxic compounds, as it has been reported that  $Yb_1$  and/or  $Yb_2$  subunits in rat liver bind ethacrynic acid covalently *in vivo* (Y1). Furthermore, Morgenstern and his colleagues have implicated microsomal GST in the covalent binding of metabolites of benzo[*a*]pyrene, *trans*-stilbene oxide, and phenol (M25).

As discussed above, the physiological significance of covalent binding of electrophiles to GST is unclear, but it has been speculated that, in addition to participating in detoxification by catalyzing conjugation reactions with GSH, GST may play a sacrificial role in the detoxification of reactive metabolites. Therefore, together with their contribution to mercapturic acid synthesis, their capacity for noncovalent binding of organic anions, and the covalent binding of reactive zenobiotics, the GST function in three separate ways to aid the detoxification of noxious chemicals (J2).

## 5. Glutathione S-Transferase isoenzymes

## 5.1. FAMILIES OF GST

In all mammalian species the GST are represented by a large number of isoenzymes. Historically, the human GST were originally subdivided, on the basis of their charge, into the basic, neutral, and acidic forms (G13, J2, M8, W2). However, a comparison of the catalytic properties, immunochemical cross-re-activities, and N-terminal amino acid sequences of the basic, neutral, and acidic enzymes with the major cytosolic GST from the rat, mouse, and cow demonstrated the existence of three distinct families of GST in all the mammalian species studied. *Mannervik et al.* (M2), therefore, proposed a species-independent classification that has now been generally adopted. As described earlier (Table 2), the three evolutionary classes of GST identified were designated alpha, mu, and

pi, and these represent the human basic, neutral, and acidic GST, respectively. More recently, three cytosolic rat and two human GST isoenzymes have been described (H8, H46, H59, M17) that are catalytically and structurally distinct from alpha-, mu-, and pi-class GST. These appear to constitute an additional family, designated theta-class GST. The alpha-, mu-, pi-, and theta-class GST share some homology and hence appear to have arisen from a common ancestral gene. A summary of the approximate homology of different GST within specific classes and between classes is shown in Table 3.

In addition to the four families of mammalian cytosolic GST, membrane-bound forms of the enzyme exist. Amino acid sequencing and cDNA cloning have demonstrated that the *N*-ethylmaleimide-activatable microsomal GST shares no homology with the cytosolic enzymes (D3) and therefore appears to be an example of convergent evolution. Recent evidence suggests that leukotriene  $C_4$  synthase

	No. of amino acid residues	Percentage homology within and between different GST families					
Family		Alpha <sup>a</sup>	Mu <sup>b</sup>	Pi <sup>c</sup>	Theta <sup>d</sup>	Microsomal <sup>e</sup>	
Alpha	221-222	58-95					
Mu	217-220	<25	6895				
Pi	209	<28	<26	82-98			
Theta	239-244	<15	<10	<5	55		
Microsomal	154	NS	NS	NS	NS	77	

 TABLE 3

 Sequence Homology between GST to Define Gene Families

*Note.* The amino acid sequences of individual rat and human GST, obtained directly from automated Edman degradation or deduced from cDNA clones, have been compared. Mammalian GST isoenzymes that are members of the same gene family share at least 55% sequence identity with members of the same family. By contrast, mammalian GST that are members of distinct gene families possess less than 30% identity. The microsomal GST share no significant homology with the cytosolic enzymes. NS, not significant.

<sup>a</sup> Data for alpha-class GST are from Lai et al. (L2), Pickett et al. (P8), Telakowski-Hopkins et al. (T7), Board and Webb (B33), Rhoads et al. (R7), Alin et al. (A10), and Hayes et al. (H19).

<sup>b</sup> Data for mu-class GST are from Lai *et al.* (L1), Abramovitz and Listowsky (A2), DeJong *et al.* (D2), Lai *et al.* (L3), Seidegard *et al.* (S16), Kispert *et al.* (K10). Campbell *et al.* (C2), and Vorachek *et al.* (V6).

<sup>c</sup> Data for pi-class GST are from Suguoka *et al.* (S46), Kano *et al.* (K2), Ahmed *et al.* (A7), and Bora *et al.* (B37).

<sup>d</sup> Data for theta-class GST are from Hiratsuka et al. (H46), Harris et al. (H8), Meyer et al. (M17), Ogura et al., (O2), and Pemble and Taylor (P6).

<sup>e</sup> Data for microsomal GST are from DeJong et al. (D3).

represents another family of GST but confirmation of this hypothesis by molecular cloning is eagerly awaited.

## 5.2. HUMAN GST NOMENCLATURE

Several systems of nomenclature have been adopted by workers in different laboratories for the classification of the human GST isoenzymes. Kamisaka *et al.* (K1) originally described five basic (alpha-class) forms of GST in human liver, which were assigned Greek alphabetical symbols ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\varepsilon$ ). Following the identification of neutral (mu-class) GST in liver and acidic (pi-class) GST in placenta, the additional forms were also designed by the Greek symbols  $\mu$ ,  $\psi$ ,  $\phi$ , and  $\pi$  (G13, H16, S26, S36, W3).

Further structural studies on the hepatic basic GST established the subunit composition of these enzymes (S35). This paved the way for a system of nomenclature based upon the quaternary structure of the proteins, to be adopted for the human alpha-class GST. This system describes three enzymes formed by the combination of two distinct subunits called  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  (H22, S35, S37). The homodimeric enzyme GST  $B_1B_1$  represents GST  $\varepsilon$ , and the heterodimer  $B_1B_2$  is equivalent to GST  $\delta$ . However, the relationship of  $B_2B_2$  to the enzymes described by Kamisaka *et al.* (K1) is less clear; this homodimeric enzyme is probably equivalent to GST  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ , three forms that may have arisen following the autoxidation of single gene product (H22).

The human GST have also been named according to their p*I* value. Del Boccio *et al.* (D4) have described a very basic enzyme, called GST 9.9, purified from human skin, that has an N-terminal amino acid sequence identical to that of the rat alpha-class enzyme GST  $Yc_1Yc_1$ .

Other workers, who have taken a genetic approach to the classification of the human GST, have numbered the enzymes according to their gene loci, using evidence obtained from zymogram analysis (B30, S41). This approach has given rise to the designation GST 1, GST 2, and GST 3, which are the loci encoding enzymes of the mu-class, alpha-class, and pi-class GST, respectively. Similar investigations into a number of different human tissues indicated the existence of at least three more gene loci, termed GST 4, GST 5, and GST 6 (L4, S49). Later reports have shown that GST 4 and GST 6 encode enzymes that belong to the mu evolutionary class (B32, S50).

Recently, Mannervik *et al.* (M3) have proposed a unifying nomenclature for GST (Table 4) in which each genetically distinct subunit has its own designation and is classified by gene family. Most importantly, the designations given to individual isoenzymes in this system reflect their subunit composition, and allelic variants, encoded at the same gene locus, are distinguished by letters. However, in this review we will refer to the alpha-class A1-1, A1-2, and A2-2 dimers as

1992 nomenclature <sup>a</sup>	Class	Previous subunit-based designation	Greek letter nomenclature	Previous genetic designation
A1–1	Alpha	B <sub>1</sub> B <sub>1</sub>	8	GST 2, type 1
A1-2	Alpha	$B_1B_2$	δ	GST 2, types 1–2
A2-2	Alpha	$B_2B_2$	α,β,γ	GST 2, type 2
Mla-la	Mu	N <sub>1</sub> <sup>a</sup> N <sub>1</sub> <sup>a</sup>	μ	GST 1, type 2
M1a-1b	Mu	$N_1^a N_1^b$	_	GST 1, types 1-2
M1b-1b	Mu	N <sub>1</sub> <sup>b</sup> N <sub>1</sub> <sup>b</sup>	ψ	GST 1, type 1
M1a-2	Mu	$N_1^a N_2$	<u> </u>	
M1b-2	Mu	$N_1^b N_2$	_	_
M2-2	Mu	$N_2N_2$	_	GST 4
M2-3	Mu	$N_2N_3$	_	
M3-3	Mu	N <sub>3</sub> N <sub>3</sub>	ф	GST 5
P1-1	Pi	YfYf	π	GST 3
T1*-1*	Theta	$T_1T_1$	θ	
<b>T2*</b> –2*	Theta	$T_2T_2$	_	_
Microsomal	Microsomal			_

 TABLE 4

 Human GST Isoenzyme Nomenclature

<sup>a</sup>Based on designations proposed by Mannervik et al. (M3).

 $B_1B_1$ ,  $B_1B_2$ , and  $B_2B_2$  because most of the clinical biochemistry RIA-based research about GST uses the  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  designations.

#### 5.3. HUMAN ALPHA-CLASS GST

The highest levels of alpha-class GST are found in liver; however, they are also present in significant amounts in testis, kidney, and adrenal glands (A3, M14, S27, T5).

A number of workers have purified the hepatic alpha-class GST and shown that they are represented by multiple isoenzymes. Kamisaka *et al.* (K1) originally observed five basic forms of GST ( $\alpha$ - $\epsilon$ ), which had different pI values but were indistinguishable by other criteria. It was, therefore, proposed that these enzymes are charge isomers formed as a result of deamination *in vivo* of a single gene product. Subsequent studies have shown, however, that the basic forms of GST present in human liver constitute two immunochemically and catalytically distinct subunits (S33, S35, S37). These subunits may combine to form two homodimeric enzymes, which have been designated GST  $B_1B_1$  and GST  $B_2B_2$ , and one heterodimeric enzyme, called  $B_1B_2$  (S35, S37). In contrast to these reports, Vander Jagt *et al.* (V3) have described the isolation of 13 alpha-class GST from a number of different liver specimens. However, it is likely that these do not represent separate isoenzymes but are multiple forms generated by the purification strategy (H22).

Molecular cloning studies, which allowed the investigation of human alphaclass GST at a nucleic acid level, have been undertaken. Tu and his colleagues described two separate full-length cDNA clones, called GTH<sub>1</sub> and GTH<sub>2</sub>, which both encode human alpha-class GST subunits (R7, T15). Independently, Board and Webb (B33) cloned a cDNA that encoded the same GST subunit as the cDNA clone GHT<sub>1</sub> described by Tu and Qian (T15). An analysis of the deduced amino acid sequences from GTH<sub>1</sub> and GTH<sub>2</sub> indicates that they encode two highly homologous subunits that differ in only 11 amino acids. A direct molecular relationship between the human alpha-class cDNA clones described in the literature and the basic isoenzymes that may be purified from human liver was established following protein sequencing experiments. Hayes *et al.* (H22) showed that the amino acid sequences obtained from CNBr-derived peptides from GST subunits B<sub>1</sub> and B<sub>2</sub> were virtually identical to the deduced amino acid sequences of the cDNA clones GTH<sub>1</sub> and GTH<sub>2</sub> (R7), respectively.

At the present time it is clear that there are at least two alpha-class GST subunits that are the products of two separate gene loci (B31, H22). The chromosomal location of the genes that encode these human alpha-class enzymes has been investigated using *in situ* hybridization techniques. Separate studies have indicated that the genes are clustered on the short arm of chromosome 6 at band p12 (B33, C9).

The possibility that there are additional human alpha-class GST has also been the subject of investigation. One group of workers has reported the existence of an alpha-class isoenzyme that is distinct from the hepatic GST. Del Boccio *et al.* (D4) have purified a basic GST from human skin that has a close relationship to the rat GST Yc<sub>1</sub>Yc<sub>1</sub>. It is also of interest that the polymorphic expression of a similar GST has been observed in human prostate (D9). At a nucleic acid level, Southern blotting experiments, using a cDNA encoding the GST B<sub>1</sub> subunit, have revealed hybridization patterns that indicate that there may be multiple alpha-class genes in the human genome (B33).

#### 5.4. HUMAN MU-CLASS GST

A neutral GST that was distinct from the five basic forms (GST  $\alpha$ - $\varepsilon$ ) purified earlier by Kamisaka *et al.* (K1) was first identified in human liver in 1980. Warholm *et al.* (W3, W4) showed that the characteristic features of this isoenzyme were its high activity toward the substrate *trans*-4-phenyl-3-buten-2-one and its near-neutral isoelectric point of 6.0–6.5. Another noteworthy feature of this enzyme is that it was found to be present only in a limited number of liver specimens. This new form, called GST  $\mu$ , was found to exhibit physical properties that distinguish it from both hepatic GST  $\alpha$ - $\epsilon$  and a placental form called GST  $\pi$ , indicating a unique genetic origin (W2, W3). GST  $\mu$  was also found to be highly efficient at catalyzing the conjugation of glutathione with the epoxides benzo[*a*]pyrene-4,5-oxide and styrene-7,8-oxide.

A number of isoenzymes that are related to GST µ have since been identified. A hepatic enzyme, called GST  $\psi$ , has been purified in several laboratories (H27, S26), and it has been shown that this homodimeric protein has an N-terminal amino acid sequence identical to that of GST µ (A11, H16). The expression of this additional mu-class form in human liver is also subject to variation (H63). GST  $\mu$  and GST  $\psi$  are homodimers and it is now generally accepted that these two enzymes represent allelic variants encoded at the GST 1 locus identified by Board (B30) and Strange et al. (S41). Less information is available on the heterodimeric enzyme formed by the combination of " $\mu$ -type" and " $\psi$ -type" subunits (H16, V4). The existence of this isoenzyme has been demonstrated by means of starch-gel electrophoresis and chromatofocusing (F2, S41); however, so far, it has not been fully characterized. A third hepatic mu-class enzyme, named GST  $\phi$ , was identified by Stockman and Hayes (S36). This isoenzyme, which was present in only 1 of 20 livers examined, was shown to be immunologically related to GST  $\mu$  and GST  $\psi$  but could be distinguished from these forms by its lower isoelectric point and the fact that, unlike GST  $\mu$  and GST  $\psi$ , it has a blocked N terminus (P. K. Stockman and J. D. Hayes, unpublished information).

In an early investigation into the genetic basis of the expression of multiple GST isoenzymes in man, Board (B30) used zymogram analysis to examine the enzyme levels in liver cytosol extracts from a large number of individuals. This electrophoretic study showed that the products of the mu-class GST 1 locus were represented by three activity bands that were subject to phenotypic variation. The most acidic of these enzymes was termed GST 1 type 1 and the least acidic was termed GST 1 type 2. These workers proposed that the isoenzyme with an intermediate mobility was a heterodimeric protein formed by the combination of GST 1 type 1 and type 2 subunits. This type of analysis also revealed that a large number of individuals did not express any of the GST 1 isoenzymes. A statistical analysis of the data obtained indicated that the different phenotypes observed were attributable to different combinations of three autosomal alleles, including a null, at a single gene locus.

Other workers subsequently confirmed this genetic model and extended this type of investigation to include the analysis of GST activity in tissues other than liver (L4, S41). These studies showed that the GST 1 phenotype was a constant individual characteristic that was observed in all of the tissues that had detectable levels of these enzymes. The enzymes that correspond to GST 1 type 1 and GST

1 type 2 have been purified from human liver and are called  $\psi$  and  $\mu$ , respectively (H16, S26, W2). GST  $\psi$  and  $\mu$  have isoelectric points of 5.5 and 6.1, respectively, but are catalytically indistinguishable. Reversible denaturation experiments have shown GST  $\psi$  and  $\mu$  to represent homodimers, comprising subunits that can hybridize. The cloning of hepatic mu-class GST has resulted in the isolation of two cDNAs that encode proteins that differ only at amino acid residue 173 (D2, S16). The clone isolated by DeJong *et al.* (D2) encodes an enzyme with lysine at residue 173, whereas the clone described by Seidegard *et al.* (S16) encodes a GST containing asparagine at residue 173. It is believed that the GST with lysine 173 represents  $\mu$  and the enzyme with asparagine 173 represents  $\psi$ . Widersten *et al.* (W9) have proposed that these two cDNAs represent the allelic variants GST 1 types 1 and 2 because their noncoding regions are closely similar.

Several extrahepatic GST, which were initially identified using starch-gel electrophoresis, were purified by Board and co-workers (S49). An enzyme, called GST 4, was isolated from human skeletal muscle and shown to be immunologically related to GST  $\mu$  and to have N-terminal amino acid sequence homology with GST  $\mu$  (B32). Two other forms, termed GST 5 and GST 6, were purified from brain by this group of workers (S49). GST 5 was shown to be a homodimeric enzyme that is structurally similar to the products of the GST 1 locus. GST 6, on the other hand, was an immunochemically distinct protein that contained two dissimilar subunits. The cDNA encoding GST 4 has been cloned by Vorachek *et al.* (V6) and that encoding GST 5 has been cloned by Campbell *et al.* (C2). The relationship between GST 6 and other GST awaits clarification but Suzuki *et al.* (S50) have shown that over the first 24 N-terminal amino acids GST 6 is identical to GST 4.

To date, therefore, three types of mu-class subunits, encoded at separate gene loci, have been identified. Hussey *et al.* (H62) have referred to these as  $N_1$  ( $N_1^a$ , or  $N_1^b$ ),  $N_2$ , and  $N_3$  but in the revised nomenclature of Mannervik *et al.* (M3), which uses a single letter prefix to indicate the gene family, these subunits are called M1 (M1a or M1b), M2, and M3, respectively. Hence, at the GST 1 loci the two allelic variants M1a and M1b are encoded, whereas at GST 4 and 5 the M2 and M3 subunits are encoded. Hussey *et al.* (H62) have shown that all three subunit types can hybridize; in human liver M1a-1a and M1b-1b have been characterized, whereas in human skeletal muscle M1-2, M2-2, and M2-3 have been isolated. The immunochemical relationships between the mu-class enzymes and other GST are shown in Table 5.

It is likely that additional mu-class GST exist. For example, not only is the relationship between GST 6, described by Suzuki *et al.* (S49), and the M1, M2, and M3 designations uncertain but Tsuchida *et al.* (T12) have isolated several mu-class GST from human heart and aorta that are not included in the nomenclature of Mannervik *et al.* (M3). Southern blotting analysis has revealed a high level of complexity in the genomic organization of human mu-class genes, suggesting that in humans this family comprises at least five genes.

	Cross-reactivity with antisera against GST						
Subunit	$\begin{array}{c} A1-1\\ (B_1B_1) \end{array}$	$Ma1-1a$ $(N_1^aN_1^a)$	M2–2 (N <sub>2</sub> N <sub>2</sub> )	M3–3 (N <sub>3</sub> N <sub>3</sub> )	P1–1 (Yf Yf)	Rat GST E	Microsomal
A1 (B <sub>1</sub> )	++++		_		_	_	_
A2 (B <sub>2</sub> )	++++	_	_	_	—	—	-
M1a $(N_1^a)$	_	++++	++++	_	_	_	_
M1b (N1b	_	++++	++++	_	—		_
$M2(N_2)$	_	++	++++		_		
M3 (N <sub>3</sub> )	—	+	_	++++		—	—
P1	_	_	_	_	++++	_	_
T1*	—	_	_	_		ND	ND
T2*		_	_		_	++++	ND
Microsomal	_	_	_	_	_	ND	++++

 TABLE 5

 Immunochemical Relationships between Human GST

*Note.* Cross-reactivity was determined by Western blotting. The GST designations included in parentheses represent previous names used in our laboratory. ND, not determined.

## 5.5. HUMAN PI-CLASS GST

In humans, the pi-class isoenzyme is widely distributed and represents the most thoroughly characterized extrahepatic GST. Pi-class GST have been purified from a number of sources, including placenta (G13, K17, P2) and erythrocytes (M8). Although these enzymes are now commonly referred to as GST  $\pi$ , the forms isolated from placenta, lung, and erythrocytes were originally named GST  $\pi$ , GST  $\lambda$ , and GST  $\rho$ , respectively.

Some controversy exists in the literature regarding the possible existence of more than one pi-class GST. The acidic isoenzymes isolated from erythrocytes, lung, and placenta have been shown to share immunological identity and have the same subunit  $M_r$  value and isoelectric point (A19, H52, K16). However, using nondenaturing starch-gel electrophoresis, both Laisney *et al.* (L4) and Suzuki *et al.* (S49) have shown that an acidic isoenzyme present in erythrocytes has a mobility different from that of the GST 3 enzyme observed in other tissues. Other workers have described two pi-class isoenzymes present in skeletal muscle tissue that have minor differences in their isoelectric point (S25).

At the nucleic acid level, a number of investigators have isolated cDNA clones encoding human pi-class GST (B34, K2, M29). A human cDNA that encodes fatty acid ethyl ester synthase (FAEES-III) has been isolated by Bora *et al.* (B37) and
found to share extensive identity with pi-class GST. Out of the 210 amino acids encoded by these cDNAs, only four differences were noted between the predicted amino acid sequence of FAEES-III and that of GST  $\pi$ ; at positions 32, 39, 52, and 194 FAEES-III contains glycine, cysteine, glutamic acid, and valine, whereas GST  $\pi$  contains glutamic acid, tryptophan, glutamine, and leucine, respectively. It is interesting to note that the side chain at one of these positions, namely residue 39, has been shown to line the glutathione binding site (R5), and the tryptophan-tocysteine substitution noted by Bora *et al.* (B37) may be responsible for the change in substrate specificity of GST  $\pi$ . It is therefore unclear whether the cDNA reported by Bora *et al.* (B37) encodes a functional GST.

The genomic GST  $\pi$  gene has been cloned and characterized by several groups of workers (C19, M26, M27). The location of this gene was originally mapped to chromosome 11 by zymogram analysis of the GST isoenzymes expressed in somatic cell hybrids (L4, S48). Subsequently, *in situ* hybridization experiments confirmed these earlier results and assigned the GST 3 locus to chromosome 11q13 (B34, M29). The report published by Board *et al.* (B34), however, also contained evidence for the existence of a second human pi-class gene (or pseudogene) in region q13–14 of chromosome 12.

## 5.6. THETA-CLASS GST

The existence of a fourth class of cytosolic GST has recently been recognized following the purification of several novel rat GST. Hiratsuka *et al.* (H46) identified at least three hepatic isoenzymes, which were shown to possess catalytic activity toward reactive sulfate esters. These investigators purified one of these forms, designated GST YrsYrs, and demonstrated that it has catalytic properties and an N-terminal amino acid sequence that distinguish it from alpha-, mu-, and pi-class GST. In a subsequent study, Meyer *et al.* (M17) purified two enzymes from rat liver that are structurally related to GST YrsYrs. These two forms, designated GST 5–5 and GST 12–12, were previously isolated in a preparation called GST E (F12, M16). Evidence suggests that YrsYrs and 12–12 are identical proteins. A third rat theta-class GST, called 13–13, has been purified from mito-chondria (H8). The isolation of cDNA clones encoding YrsYrs and 5–5 has demonstrated unequivocally that these enzymes represent a separate family of cytosolic GST (O2, P6).

It is not known how many theta-class GST exist in the human. A single theta-class transferase, GST  $\theta$ , which is active toward 1,2-epoxy-3-(*p*-nitrophen-oxy)propane, has been isolated by Meyer *et al.* (M17) from human liver. More recently, a second human theta-class enzyme, which is active toward 1-menaph-thyl sulfate, has been purified (H59). In accordance with the nomenclature guide-lines proposed by Mannervik *et al.* (M3), the enzyme that is active toward 1,2-epoxy-3-(*p*-nitrophenoxy)propane has been designated GST T1-1<sup>\*</sup> and that is

active toward 1-menaphthyl sulfate has been designated GST T2-2<sup> $\cdot$ </sup> (H59). SDS-PAGE analysis of GST T2-2<sup> $\cdot$ </sup> and its comparison with human alpha-, mu-, and pi-class GST are shown in Fig. 13. Substrates that can be used to facilitate the identification of GST isoenzymes are listed in Table 6.

### 5.7. MICROSOMAL GST

The presence of a unique membrane-bound GST was first proposed based on studies of the metabolism of  $\alpha$ -hexachlorocyclohexane by subcellular fractions of rat liver (K18, K19). Proof of the existence of such an enzyme was hampered by the fact that cytosolic GST interact strongly with rat liver microsomes and are not readily removed by washing, sonication, or treatment with high salt concentrations. Although the cytosolic GST can "mask" the existence of microsomal GST,



FIG. 13. SDS-PAGE of human cytosolic GST. Purified GST samples, run from the cathode (top) to the anode (bottom), were loaded from left to right as follows: (1) alpha-class GST, (2) mu-class GST, (3) pi-class GST, and (4) theta-class GST. These data are from Hussey and Hayes (H59).

Subunit	Class	Subunit <i>M</i> r (by SDS-PAGE)	Isoelectric point (of homodimer)	Useful substrates for identification
A1 (B <sub>1</sub> )	Alpha	25,900	8.9	Δ <sup>5</sup> -Androstene-3,17-dione: Cumene hydroperoxide
A2 (B <sub>2</sub> )	Alpha	25,900	8.4	Cumene hydroperoxide
Mla (N <sub>1</sub> <sup>a</sup> )	Mu	26,700	6.1	trans-4-Phenyl-3-buten-2-one: trans-Stilbene oxide
M1b (N <sub>1</sub> <sup>b</sup> )	Mu	26,600	5.5	trans-4-Phenyl-3-buten-2-one: trans-Stilbene oxide
M2 (N <sub>2</sub> )	Mu	26,000	5.3	1,2-Dichloro-4-nitrobenzene: 4-Hydroxynon-2-enal
M3 (N <sub>3</sub> )	Mu	26,300	5.0	4-Hydroxynon-2-enal
Pi (Yf)	Pi	24,700	4.7	Ethacrynic acid: Acrolein
T1*	Theta	ND	ND	1,2-Epoxy-3-(p-nitrophenoxy)propane
T2*	Theta	25,100	ND	Menaphthyl sulfate
Microsomal	Microsoma	17,300	ND	Hexachlorobuta-1,3-diene: Cumene hydroperoxide

 TABLE 6

 Physical and Catalytic Properties of GST Subunits

Note. The GST designations included in parentheses represent previous names used in our laboratory. ND, not determined.

the recognition that the latter enzyme is activated by treatment with N-ethylmaleimide, whereas cytosolic GST are inactivated by this agent, was a key observation that facilitated the purification of the microsomal enzyme (M21). Purification of a unique membrane-bound GST in rat liver was achieved following solubilization with Triton X-100 and sequential chromatography on hydroxyapatite and CM-Sepharose (M23). Later, Morgenstern and DePierre (M20) also isolated the microsomal GST from rat liver in its unactivated form and showed that the specific activity of the purified enzyme toward 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene could be increased 15-fold after reaction with N-ethylmaleimide. This activation was associated with the modification of a single residue, cysteine 49. Limited proteolysis with trypsin can also activate the enzyme (M24) as can thiol-disulfide interchange (A15, A16, M10), heat (A17), and radiation (B39).

The microsomal GST from human liver was first purified by McLellan *et al.* (M13), who demonstrated that the activity of this enzyme toward 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene and cumene hydroperoxide could be increased by treatment with N-ethylmaleimide. These workers also showed that the human microsomal GST

catalyzed the conjugation of hexachlorobutadiene with GSH, whereas the cytosolic enzymes were essentially inactive with this nephrotoxin. The human and rat microsomal GST were found to comigrate during SDS–PAGE (Fig. 14) and were immunochemically identical.

The molecular cloning of rat and human microsomal GST, described by DeJong *et al.* (D3), has demonstrated the absence of homology between these enzymes and the cytosolic GST. Although it is clear that microsomal GST and the membranebound leukotriene  $C_4$  synthase are distinct enzymes (A14, N2, S29), their exact molecular relationship is at present unclear; it is unlikely that they are members of the same gene family (N3).



FIG. 14. SDS-PAGE of microsomal GST. The samples were loaded from left to right as follows: (1) human microsomal GST; (2) rat microsomal GST; and (3) a mixture of ovotransferrin ( $M_r$  76,000), albumin ( $M_r$  66,000), chymotrypsinogen A ( $M_r$  27,500), myoglobin ( $M_r$  17,000), and cytochrome c ( $M_r$  12,300). Data obtained from McLellan *et al.* (M13).

## 6. Biomedical Applications of GST

Whereas the GST were studied originally because of their involvement in mercapturic acid biosynthesis, these enzymes are also currently of interest to researchers working in fields other than toxicology. Some of the research areas in which GST are of importance include tumor markers, inherited cancer susceptibility, drug resistance, biotechnology, and clinical biochemistry.

## 6.1. TUMOR MARKER

The demonstration that in rat the pi-class GST P, which is essentially absent from normal liver, is expressed at high levels in hepatic preneoplastic lesions has illicited substantial interest in this enzyme as a potential marker of hepatocellular carcinogenesis (M7, S7). Pi-class GST in different species are regulated by different mechanisms and therefore this family cannot be utilized as tumor markers in all species. In the rat, GST P is not significantly induced by drugs such as phenobarbital and 3-methylcholanthrene and it is therefore thought that its expression in the liver mirrors neoplastic transformation and/or reflects a stress response (H31, H32). In practice, it has proved to be a valuable marker of experimental hepatocarcinogenesis, being used to help identify genotoxic compounds. However, pi-class GST cannot be used for this purpose in the mouse as it is constitutively expressed in murine liver; interestingly, pi-class GST YfYf displays sex-specific regulation in mouse liver (H12, M11) and, besides being inducible by the antioxidant butylated hydroxyanisole (H24, M12), it is regulated by interferon (A5). In humans, GST  $\pi$  is not expressed in hepatocytes but is found in moderate levels in the biliary epithelium (H36). However, GST  $\pi$  is not readily detected in human hepatocellular carcinoma, but it is expressed in hepatocytes in severe alcoholic liver disease (H11). Although not detected in hepatocellular carcinoma, GST  $\pi$  is expressed in human cholangiocarcinoma.

As GST  $\pi$  is present in erythrocytes and platelets, it has not provided a reliable serum/plasma test for neoplasia in humans (please see following text). However, GST  $\pi$  can provide the pathologist with a useful immunohistochemical marker of neoplastic transformation in certain tissues. For example, Kodate *et al.* (K14) found that a high proportion of differentiated colonic adenocarcinomas and undifferentiated colonic carcinomas expresses GST  $\pi$ . This enzyme is also found, using immunohistochemical techniques, in dysplastic and neoplastic human uterine cervix (S23). Several research groups have found GST  $\pi$  to be of value as an immunohistochemical marker of lung carcinoma (C4, E2). Cowan and his colleagues have also found that GST  $\pi$  expression correlates with estrogen receptor status in breast tissue (M28, M29) and the levels of this enzyme can provide a prognostic index in breast cancer.

The pi-class enzyme is not the only GST that can serve as a tumor marker. A

unique rat alpha-class GST subunit,  $Yc_2$ , which is not found in normal adult rat liver but is expressed in aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub>-induced preneoplastic nodules and hepatomas, has recently been identified (H19). Immunohistochemistry of human hepatocellular carcinoma and cholangiocarcinoma specimens have been found to give highly variable staining for alpha-class GST (H35). In a survey of various tumor types, Campbell *et al.* (C3) found alpha-class GST in approximately 33% of specimens but did not obtain positive results in tumors when the benign tissue was negative. Unfortunately, much remains to be learned about the human alphaclass GST. Although preliminary studies are disappointing, it is too early to make dogmatic statements about the immunohistochemical applications of this enzyme family in humans.

#### 6.2. GST AND DRUG RESISTANCE

The over-expression of GST can confer resistance to carcinogens and chemotherapeutic drugs. Induction of Yc<sub>2</sub> in rat liver by the chemoprotective antioxidant ethoxyquin is associated with resistance to aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub> (H19). Agents that protect against carcinogenesis induce most GST and it is likely that the chemoprotection afforded by the antioxidant butylated hydroxyanisole against benzo[*a*]pyrene is through induction of mu-class GST (B23, P5). Similarly, in the plant kingdom, treatment of maize with the herbicide safeners N,N-diallyl-2,2-dichloroacetamine and 1,8-naphthalic anhydride results in induction of GST and resistance to phytotoxicity by herbicides such as thiocarbamates, chloroacetanilides, and S-triazines (H31).

The experimental data suggesting that GST overexpression represents a mechanism of drug resistance are strongly supported by the fact that a prokaryotic GST, which catalyzes the conjugation of GSH with the epoxide-containing antibiotic fosfomycin (Fig. 15), has been obtained from clinical isolates resistant to this antibiotic (A18). The fosfomycin-metabolizing GST is plasmid encoded and it is thought that the gene encoding this enzyme probably originated in *Streptomyces* and evolved as an intrinsic resistance mechanism in fosfomycin-producing microorganisms. Just as the induction of GST in normal tissue produces resistance to carcinogens, so can the overexpression of GST in tumors produce resistance in the neoplasm to certain anticancer drugs. Substantial levels of GST have been observed in human and animal tumors (C4, D6, D7, H51, L7, M19, S9, S18). Cell lines selected for resistance to nitrogen mustards have been shown to possess elevated levels of GST (B44, R10, W1). Furthermore, transfection of cDNAs encoding GST into drug sensitive eukaryotic cells has also been shown to confer resistance to alkylating agents (B27, M6, P14).

GST-mediated drug resistance can be overcome by treatment with chemicals that are (1) inhibitors of GST activity, (2) GST substrates, or (3) agents that deplete intracellular GSH. The inhibitors piriprost, indomethacin, and gossypol (Fig. 16)



FIG. 15. Examples of an antibiotic and various environmental pollutants that are detoxified by GST. Reactions a-d show the GST-catalyzed detoxification of fosfomycin, atrazine, DDT, and a polychlorinated biphenyl, respectively.

(B25, H6, T8) have been used as antitumor agents. Similarly, the GST substrate ethacrynic acid has been of value in enhancing the cytotoxicity of anticancer drugs in resistant cell lines (T8). Buthionine sulfoximine, an inhibitor of GSH synthesis (Fig. 16) (G12) has been found to be able to resensitize resistant cells to anticancer drugs (B27, S34).

# 6.3. Association between Polymorphic Expression of GST and Susceptibility to Toxic Chemicals

Failure to express GST can have a pronounced effect on the sensitivity of cells to chemical insult. In humans, one of the mu-class GST genes, GST M1, is absent in approximately 45% of the population (B29, B30, S41). A characteristic feature of the enzyme encoded at this locus is its high conjugating activity toward certain



FIG. 16. Agents that have been employed to circumvent GST-mediated drug resistance. Piripost (a), gossypol (b), ethacrynic acid (c), and buthionine sulfoximine (d) have been employed to resensitize resistant cells to various alkylating agents.

mutagenic epoxides, including benzo[a]pyrene-4,5-oxide and styrene-7,8-oxide. This has led to the suggestion that individuals with the null allele at this locus, and therefore deficient for GST  $\mu/\psi$ , are more susceptible to the toxic effects of various xenobiotics.

Various research groups have quantitated the expression of mu-class GST using several different methods of analysis, including starch-gel electrophoresis (B30, L4, S41) and specific radioimmunoassay (H60). A wide variation in the frequency of the nulled phenotype has been reported both within and between different racial groups (Table 7). One method that has been introduced for the detection of certain mu-class enzymes is the measurement of GST activity toward trans-stilbene oxide in mononuclear leukocytes (S12, S13). Seidegard and co-workers used this activity assay to assess the degree of protection afforded by the expression of mu-class GST against the chemical carcinogens present in cigarette smoke. In two separate studies, these workers demonstrated significant differences between the distribution of trans-stilbene oxide activity in populations of control smokers and that in populations of lung cancer patients (S14, S15). These investigators concluded that the expression of mu-class GST may be used as a marker for susceptibility of an individual to lung cancer. Recently, Strange et al. (S45) used a starch-gel zymogram approach to compare the frequency of the mu-class GST null allele in controls with that in a group of patients with adenocarcinoma of the

Mu-class GST						
Population	No.	Null phenotype (%)	Study			
Caucasian	23	40	Warholm et al. (W4)			
Caucasian	40	65	Board (B30)			
Caucasian	49	41	Strange et al. (S41)			
Caucasian	56	43	Laisney et al. (L4)			
Caucasian	248	54	Seidegard and Pero (S13)			
Caucasian	42	45	Hussey et al. (H60)			
Chinese	96	58	Board (B30)			
Indian	43	35	Board (B30)			
Japanese 168		49	Harada et al. (H7)			

 TABLE 7

 The Frequency of the Mu-Class GST Null Phenotype

stomach or colon. In support of the findings of Seidegard *et al.* (S14, S15), these workers also observed an increase in the frequency of the null phenotype in patients with carcinoma. However, there are several reports in the literature that contain contradictory evidence about the expression of mu-class GST in patients with cancer. Peters *et al.* (P7) used an immunochemical detection method for the measurement of GST in mononuclear blood cells and demonstrated that there were no significant differences in the distribution of mu-class enzymes in patients with breast or colon cancer compared with that in controls.

The polymorphism associated with human mu-class GST has also been investigated at a genomic level using Southern blotting analysis. Seidegard *et al.* (S16) showed that the null phenotype correlated with the absence of a hybridization to a cDNA probe encoding a hepatic mu-class GST. One group of workers used a genotyping assay, which involves this kind of analysis, to investigate the association between mu-class GST polymorphism and the susceptibility of an individual to lung cancer (Z1). In contrast to the findings of Seidegard *et al.* (S14, S15), these workers saw similar distributions of the null allele in both a control population and a large group of lung cancer patients.

The data obtained from the investigations mentioned above are summarized in Table 8. The differences observed among the findings of these studies means that the consequences of the mu-class GST polymorphism remain ill defined.

In the context of a null GST phenotype sensitizing cells to chemicals, it is interesting to note that a Mississippi in-bred strain of maize that displays a marked increase in sensitivity to atrazine has been found to lack the GST responsible for the detoxification of this herbicide (S22). Similarly, the absence of GST in the CSMA housefly has been linked to sensitivity to tetrachlorvinphos (O8). These data therefore suggest that, throughout nature, failure to express GST may result in increased sensitivity to a variety of toxic chemicals.

No.	Mu-class GST Null phenotype (%)	Study
192	42	Seidegard et al. (S14, S15)
191	62	
49	41	Strange et al. (S41, S45)
45	67	
64	38	Peters et al. (P7)
106	31	
225	42	Zhong et al. (Z1)
228	43	
	No. 192 191 49 45 64 106 225 228	Mu-class GST Nol.         Mul phenotype (%)           192         42           191         62           49         41           45         67           64         38           106         31           225         42           228         43

 TABLE 8

 The Frequency of the Mu-Class GST Null Phenotype in Carcinoma Patients

## 7. The Quantitation of GST in Biological Fluids

The quantity of an enzyme in plasma, serum, or urine is usually determined by measuring catalytic activity but it is also permissible to determine the mass of the enzyme by direct immunological methods, such as radioimmunoassay. There are advantages and disadvantages to both of these approaches. Activity measurements may be modified by the presence of activators and inhibitors in blood or urine and it may be difficult to distinguish between isoenzymes. The measurement of enzyme activity is, however, generally simple, rapid, and convenient to perform and can be readily automated. The immunoassay methods for mass measurements are in general unaffected by the presence of endogenous substances that modify the catalytic activity of enzymes and it is usually possible to distinguish the various isoenzymes with a high degree of specificity. The main disadvantage of immunological methods is the fact that these methods are often slow and expensive and do not readily lend themselves to simple automation (B10).

## 7.1. ACTIVITY MEASUREMENTS OF THE GST

For the quantitation of the GST both activity and immunoassay approaches have been tried. The substrate that is most commonly employed is CDNB as it is a substrate for the majority of the GST isoenzymes in humans, the rat, and other species (C13). There are considerable differences in the specific activity of the various subunits to CDNB and therefore interpretation of such measurements is difficult if more than one isoenzyme is present. In the rat, 1,2-dichloro-4nitrobenzene and bromosulfophthalein have been used but these substrates are active only with the rat Yb2 subunit and essentially display no activity with the human GST (B36). At present the use of activity measurements to quantitate plasma, serum, or urinary levels of the GST are inadequate. With CDNB it is difficult to obtain sufficient sensitivity to allow the measurement of the levels in normal subjects (A4). In addition many drugs and endogenous substances may inhibit the activity to values that lie within the reference range. For example bile salts and bilirubin inhibit GST activity (H17) and since both of these nonsubstrate ligands are increased in liver disease their accumulation in plasma could theoretically suppress GST activity to within the reference range. An important problem with GST activity measurements concerns the ubiquitous nature of the GST since poor organ specificity will result unless specific isoenzymes are measured. For example, platelets, erythrocytes, and white cells contain high levels of the isoenzyme and these cells may release their GST into plasma prior to separation of the blood sample (G4, H52, L12, M8, R11, S43). With the substrates that are available to date, the activity measurements are inadequate for clinical use.

#### 7.2. Immunoassay Measurements of the GST

A number of immunoassay approaches have been used for the GST. Western blotting provides a semiquantitative method for studying the GST (H37) but it may be necessary to concentrate the protein by, for example, affinity chromatography prior to blotting. Blotting methods are too insensitive for use in plasma but they are suitable for semiquantitative measurement of GST in tissue.

Radioimmunoassay (RIA) is the method most commonly used for the measurement of plasma and urinary concentrations of GST. The first RIA described for the GST was for rat ligandin (GST YaYa) (B6) and in 1978 the first assay for human ligandin was described (T13). The assay for human ligandin lacked sensitivity as did the RIA for human ligandin described in 1983 by Sherman et al. (H18, S20). In 1984 we described the first RIA methods that could differentiate the B1 and B2 subunits with a high degree of sensitivity and specificity as shown in Table 9 (B16). These assays could detect both the upper and the lower reference limits for plasma measurements. When animals were immunized with the homodimer  $B_1B_1$ , or  $B_2B_2$ , the cross-reactivity that the antisera had with the heterodimer  $B_1B_2$  was quite variable. Because the proportion of the  $B_1B_2$  heterodimer in liver can vary markedly (H63), it is important to choose antisera that will react only with one of the subunits in the heterodimer. The antisera we used for our subsequent clinical studies on plasma B<sub>1</sub> and B<sub>2</sub> subunit measurements in plasma or serum exhibited approximately 50% cross-reactivity with the  $B_1B_2$  heterodimer and thus it was possible to measure total  $B_1$  or  $B_2$  subunits rather than the total subunits in the homodimer and a variable proportion of the same subunit in the homodimer.

We have also described a specific RIA for the pi-class enzymes that is sensitive enough to detect plasma levels as shown in Table 9 (H52). Other assays for human pi-class GST have also been described using both polyclonal and monoclonal

CONCENTRATIONS IN HUMANS							
Method	GST measured	Class	Reference range (µg/liter)	Year and reference			
RIA	Ligandin	Alpha	<5.3	1978 (S13)			
RIA	$\mathbf{B}_{1}\mathbf{B}_{1}$	Alpha	0.5-2.6	1983 (H18)			
RIA	Ligandin	Alpha	<12	1983 (S20)			
RIA	$\mathbf{B}_{1}\mathbf{B}_{1}$	Alpha	1.2-4.0	1984 (B16)			
RIA	$\mathbf{B}_2\mathbf{B}_2$	Alpha	0.6-1.8	1984 (B16)			
EIA	Cationic	Alpha	0-2.3	1984 (H44)			
EIA	Anionic	Alpha	0-1500	1984 (H44)			
RIA	Mu	Mu	ND	1987 (H60)			
RIA	Pi	Pi	<10	1988 (H52)			
EIA	Pi	Pi	<30	1989 (N4)			

 TABLE 9

 Details of Some Methods Described for the Measurement of Plasma or Serum GST

 Concentrations in Humans

Note. ND, not detectable in normal serum; RIA, radioimmunoassay; and EIA, enzyme immuno-assay.

antibodies (H28, H48, N4, T11). For the Mu-class enzymes no RIA has been described that has sufficient sensitivity to detect levels in normal plasma and for this reason whole blood or lymphocyte measurements are employed for the study of the polymorphic expression of mu-class GST (H60, Z1); lymphocytes have high levels of the mu-class GST (S11, S12).

There are also now available commercial enzyme-linked assays for the measurement of mu-class subunits in whole blood and also the quantitation of total alpha-class subunits in plasma (Biotrin International, Dublin). These assays have the advantage of speed over the RIA methods since the results can be obtained in less than a day but few studies have been reported using these methods and their reliability and validity remain to be established.

## 7.3. Reference Values

The reference values found for the GST in biological fluids will vary depending on the various subunits that are detected by the antisera. In general, however, the GST are found in plasma at micromolar concentrations. Examples are given in Table 9.

### 8. Developmental Expression of GST in Human Tissues

The expression of the GST isoenzymes shows clear time- and tissue-specific expression during fetal, neonatal, and infant life. These changes are of interest

because of the putative importance of these enzymes in the metabolism of both endogenous and exogenous compounds. A number of techniques have been employed to study the developmental changes in the GST, including starch-gel electrophoresis, column chromatography, immunohistochemistry, and radioimmunoassay, and this has allowed quantitation of the various classes and subclasses of the GST together with a clear identification of the morphological development (B19, C18, F2, H39, H40, H47, S40, S44). Radioimmunoassay data are summarized in Table 10 [data are taken from (A1, B19, S44)].

### 8.1. LIVER

## 8.1.1. Alpha-Class GST

The  $B_1$  subunit represents the major form of the total GST mass in the liver throughout development, with this subunit comprising approximately 80–90% of

	In utero ontogeny group (10–40 weeks postmenstrual)		Postnatal group (40–145 weeks postmenstrual)				Adult group		
	Liver	Kidney	Lung	Liver	Kidney	Lung	Liver	Kidney	Lung
GST B <sub>1</sub>									
Mean	9.0	0.042	0.035	14.3	0.17	0.050	12.8	5.75	0.09
SD	3.1	0.050	0.032	4.7	0.17	0.060	5.5	4.3	0.03
N	22	8	14	20	14	10	20	6	6
GST B <sub>2</sub>									
Mean	0.93	0.030	0.008	2.3	0.36	0.016	3.7	2.79	0.06
SD	0.76	0.045	0.005	2.3	0.59	0.020	2.1	1.5	0.04
Ν	22	8	14	19	14	10	20	6	6
GST µ									
Mean	0.099	0.32	0.14	0.43	0.13	0.06	0.46	0.06	0.05
SD	0.054	0.15	0.13	0.33	0.09	0.05	0.27	0.02	0.06
Ν	10	4	8	11	10	5	11	3	3
GST π									
Mean	0.53	0.70	0.59	0.21	0.58	0.16	0.008	0.61	0.94
SD	0.27	0.30	0.44	0.22	0.35	0.09	0.013	0.23	0.50
N	22	8	14	20	12	10	20	6	6

TABLE 10 Developmental Changes in GST Expression in Liver, Kidney, and Lung

Note. GST levels were determined by radioimmunoassay and expressed as mg/g cytosolic protein.

326

the cytosolic GST pool in the fetus and the adult. The expression of the  $B_1$  subunit appears to be relatively stable during fetal development but in the period between term and 85 weeks postnatal the mass of the  $B_1$  subunit is approximately 50% greater on average than the levels found during *in utero* ontogeny. Adult levels of the  $B_1$  subunit are not significantly different from those found in postterm infants.

The  $B_2$  subunit is expressed at considerably lower levels than the  $B_1$  subunit during development. During *in utero* development the average hepatic concentration of the  $B_2$  subunit is only approximately 10% of that of the  $B_1$  subunit. Although there is apparently no significant change in the expression of  $B_2$  between 10 and 40 weeks gestation, the expression of the  $B_2$  subunit is significantly higher in the postnatal period than during *in utero* ontogeny and the levels of  $B_2$  in the adult are significantly higher than the levels found in the postnatal period. This continued increase in expression of the  $B_2$  subunit into adult life results in the  $B_2$  subunit comprising approximately 25% of the total hepatic alpha-class subunits in the adult.

Immunohistochemistry of the alpha-class enzymes has shown that the tissue distribution is similar in both fetal and adult livers. Most staining is found in hepatocytes but not all hepatocytes appear to express the alpha-class enzymes. Hematopoietic and Kupffer cells, biliary epithelia, and the biliary canaliculi remain negative through development for alpha-class GST but the occasional positive cell is found in the large bile ducts of both the fetus and the adult (H40, S44).

#### 8.1.2. Mu-Class GST

The marked polymorphism of the mu-class GST was discussed earlier and using radioimmunoassay Strange *et al.* have shown that mu-class GST is expressed in only approximately 50% of livers during all stages of development (S44). In livers that express the mu isoenzyme no change in expression occurs between 10 and 40 weeks gestation but as with the  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits these levels are significantly lower than those found in postnatal infants and adults. Using immunohistochemistry, Strange *et al.* found that it was not possible to detect the levels of mu-class GST in any liver during fetal development but after delivery the enzyme was found to be confined to the hepatocytes in individuals with phenotypes other than GST 1–0 (S42). In contrast to these immunochemical findings Harrison (H9) has reported that the expression of mu-class GST is not related to gestational age.

### 8.1.3. Pi-Class GST

The level of the pi-class GST has been shown, using radioimmunoassay, to fall significantly during the period of 10 to 40 weeks gestation from levels as high as 1.0  $\mu$ g/mg cytosolic protein at 10 weeks to a mean level of approximately 0.3  $\mu$ g/mg cytosolic protein at delivery (S44). However, during this time the total mass of pi-class GST in the liver increases as a consequence of the marked increase in liver weight during fetal development. Between 41 and 145 weeks there appears

to be no further significant change in hepatic pi-class GST expression but adult levels are significantly lower than those found post-delivery.

Using immunohistochemistry Strange *et al.* have shown that, up to 24 weeks, hepatocytes stain positive for pi-class GST; however, in some samples both positively and negatively stained hepatocytes were found to be intermixed. The epithelia of the developing bile ducts were also strongly positive, whereas hematopoietic cells were negative. After 24 weeks, staining of hepatocytes for pi-class GST became progressively weaker whereas the bile duct epithelia remained strongly positive. In the adult the epithelia of both large and minor bile ducts were strongly positive, whereas hepatocytes, Kupffer cells, and bile canaliculi were usually negative (S42). Harrison has described a similar decrease in pi-class GST expression during development using immunohistochemistry (H9).

#### 8.2. KIDNEY

The expression of the  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits shows a pattern during development similar to that found in the liver, with lower levels being found in the period up to 42 weeks gestation than those found in the period between term and 110 weeks postnatal. Adult levels of both GST  $B_1$  and GST  $B_2$  are, however, significantly higher than levels found *in utero* or in postnatal groups. No significant change in the expression of mu- or pi-class GST occurs between 10 and 110 weeks postmenstrual (B9).

Immunohistochemistry has shown that before 20 weeks the developing collecting tubules and the cuboidal cells of the primitive Bowman's capsule stain for alpha-class GST. As the nephron elongates the entire length becomes positive for alpha-class GST but after 35 weeks the adult pattern is observed, with only the proximal tubule staining positive. The expression of pi-class GST was similar to that of alpha-class GST up to 35 weeks; thereafter the isoenzyme was downregulated in the proximal tubule and Bowman's capsule but was strongly expressed in the distal and collecting tubules. Mu-class GST isoenzymes were expressed along the entire tubule during development (S42). Harrison has reported a similar pattern of developmental expression, and pi-class GST was also found in all medullary tubules in the adult (H9, H10).

### 8.3. Lung

The expression of the GST has been studied both in fetal tissue and in lung organ culture (B19, C18). No quantitative changes in the expression of  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ , or mu-type subunits have been detected during the first 100 weeks of development using radioimmunoassay but, as in the liver, the expression of pi-class GST fell

progressively during *in utero* ontogeny. The pi-class isoenzyme remained quantitatively the most predominant GST at all stages of development, including that of the adult (B19).

Immunohistochemistry has shown that, at between 12 and 18 weeks, epithelial cells of the large intrapulmonary airways and their distal branches stain strongly positive for pi-class GST. However, with the appearance of type I and type II pneumatocytes at 24 to 27 weeks, these differential cells are normally negative for pi-class GST, as are the epithelial lining cells of distal airways. Most epithelial cells of the major intrapulmonary airways remain strongly positive for both pi-class GST and alpha-class GST throughout development (F18, S42).

In summary, it is apparent that the controls exerted on GST expression during development are not identical for each GST class. In the liver, alpha-class GST predominates and the expression of B<sub>1</sub> and mu-class GST is relatively stable in the postnatal period, whereas there is a continued increase in the expression of B<sub>2</sub>. There is also a down-regulation of pi-class GST during the first half of gestation but the expression of the isoenzyme is not completely switched off. In kidney, pi-class GST is the major GST isoenzyme until adulthood when alpha-class GST becomes the major form. Whether this is a sudden switch at puberty or over a more prolonged period is not known. In lung, pi-class GST is the major GST at all stages of development but its expression decreases in utero in a pattern similar to that observed in liver. The fact that lung and liver are of endodermal embryonic origin may explain the similarity in the changes observed in pi-class GST expression during gestation. The function of the mu-class GST is unclear but the fact that in early gestation the prevalence of the nulled phenotype is similar to that found at birth, i.e., approximately 50%, suggests that its presence is not of central importance to development.

## 9. Plasma Alpha-Class GST Measurements in Liver Disease

# 9.1. THEORETICAL ADVANTAGES OF PLASMA GST MEASUREMENTS FOR DETECTING HEPATOCELLULAR DAMAGE

The standard battery of biochemical tests used to assess liver function usually includes the measurement of the activity in plasma of one of the aminotransferases [either aspartate aminotransferase (AST) or alanine aminotransferase (ALT)]. Such measurements are performed to assess the integrity of the hepatocyte membrane. The measurement of AST provides poor organ specificity due to the ubiquitous nature of the enzyme and both ALT and AST are relatively poor at detecting damage that is occurring to the centrilobular hepatocytes. The inadequacy of the aminotransferases at detecting centrilobular liver damage may be related to the lobular distribution of the enzymes. The aminotransferases are mainly distributed within the periportal hepatocytes as are alkaline phosphatase and  $\gamma$ -glutamyltransferase and as such these enzymes provide satisfactory markers to detect damage to this zone of the liver but they are poor at detecting alcoholand drug-related liver damage that may occur in centrilobular hepatocytes; indeed frank centrilobular necrosis may occur without any abnormalities being evident in the plasma aminotransferases (R2).

The alpha-class GST in humans are found in very high concentration in hepatic cytosol and are distributed evenly throughout the entire liver lobule (H40). Theoretically, plasma levels of GST  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits should provide a sensitive and reliable indicator of damage to any part of the liver. The very high cytosolic concentrations of the  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits in liver together with their low molecular weight and cytosolic location also mean that these subunits will be released in quantity when only a minor impairment in hepatocellular integrity occurs. The  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits appear to have a very short plasma half-life (less than 1 hr); thus, when active hepatocellular damage has ceased, plasma levels will rapidly fall to reference values, whereas enzymes with relatively long plasma half-lives (e.g., ALT and AST) may remain elevated (B6, B7, B13). Overall it can be concluded that, on theoretical grounds, plasma  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  measurements should provide a more sensitive and specific indicator of impaired hepatocellular damage across the liver lobule than aminotransferase measurements.

## 9.2. PLASMA GST MEASUREMENTS FOR THE DETECTION OF ACUTE LIVER DAMAGE

Two early studies in rat and humans demonstrated that plasma or serum measurements of the alpha-class GST may provide a useful indicator of liver damage following an acute hepatic insult. Tsuru et al. showed in 1978 using radioimmunoassay that in humans plasma ligandin concentrations were elevated in a number of situations that produced an acute or chronic insult to the liver (T13). The rat has proved to be a good model to study the sensitivity of plasma GST measurements as a means of detecting drug-induced liver damage. Bass et al. in 1978 showed that, when the hepatotoxin carbon tetrachloride was administered to rats, plasma GST increased at a greater rate and to higher levels than plasma AST activity (B7). These workers also found in the rat that the plasma half-life of GST mass was much shorter than the half-life of AST activity. Few other studies were published concerning the use of plasma GST measurements until the early 1980s but these subsequent studies have demonstrated that not only do plasma alphaclass GST measurements have a role in detecting significant liver disease but also these measurements are useful in the investigation of the mechanisms involved in drug toxicity (B17).

#### 9.2.1. Paracetamol (Acetaminophen) Poisoning

Paracetamol is a toxic agent because it is metabolized by the liver to a potent electrophilic arylating metabolite that binds to numerous macromolecules within the cell and impairs their function. When ingested in small amounts the toxic metabolite can be inactivated within the liver by conjugation with glutathione but, if the amount of paracetamol ingested is large, glutathione stores may be insufficient for complete detoxification with the result that irreversible liver damage ensues.

Patients who have ingested excessive quantities of paracetamol may be effectively treated with either *N*-acetylcysteine (NAC) or methionine since both agents can replenish hepatic glutathione stores and thus prevent hepatotoxicity (P11, P12, V1). These agents are effective only if administered within 12 hr of poisoning, and because there is a slight risk from administration of NAC or methionine they are given only to patients in whom the plasma paracetamol lies above a treatment line joining semilog plots of 200  $\mu$ g/ml at 4 hr and 30  $\mu$ g/ml at 15 hr.

Paracetamol poisoning provides a useful human model to compare the effectiveness of plasma GST with aminotransferase measurements because in such patients there is often a wide spectrum of the severity of liver damage encountered. In addition, damage to the liver initially occurs in the centrilobular hepatocytes, where phase I drug metabolizing enzymes produce the toxic metabolite (J3).

We used our specific RIA methods for  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits to investigate the time course of hepatocellular damage in 19 patients admitted with paracetamol overdose (B12, B14). Seven patients had plasma paracetamol concentrations that were below the treatment line and four of these patients had marginal elevations (approximately one and a half times the upper reference limit) of  $B_1$  upon admission within 4 hr of the overdose. Only one of the seven patients subsequently showed a significant rise in plasma GST  $B_1$  to nine times the upper reference limit but in this patient and in each of the other seven patients no abnormalities in ALT were found at any time during their hospitalization.

Seven of the nineteen patients were treated with NAC and each had an elevated or equivocal plasma  $B_1$  concentration upon admission within 6 hr of overdose. The plasma  $B_1$  levels continued to increase despite NAC administration in each patient but 13 hr after the overdose peak plasma  $B_1$  concentrations had been reached, with levels of up to 20 times the upper reference limit being found. Thereafter,  $B_1$  concentrations were found in all but two patients. In contrast, to  $B_1$ , ALT activates were normal in all patients upon admission and never rose to values in excess of four times the upper reference limit. Examples of the enzyme profiles obtained in these patients are shown in Fig. 17.

Five patients presented more than 10 hr after the overdose and in each of these





FIG. 17. Plasma GST  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits and ALT activities in patients with paracetamol poisoning. The upper (a) figure shows enzyme levels in patients treated successfully with N-acetylcysteine following the admission (first) blood sample and the lower (b) figure the enzyme levels in patients admitted too late after the overdose for effective treatment with N-acetylcysteine. All data are expressed as multiples of the upper reference limit.

patients plasma GST  $B_1$  was in excess of 50 times the upper reference limit upon admission; abnormalities in ALT did not exceed 10 times the upper reference limit at this time. Forty hours after the overdose there was a rapid rise in GST  $B_1$  to values in excess of 9000 times the upper reference limit, whereas abnormalities in ALT did not exceed 1000 times the upper reference limit (for examples of the profiles obtained, see Fig. 17). When plasma  $B_2$  concentrations were measured in the same patients, results were essentially the same as those found for  $B_1$  (Fig. 17).

The sensitivity of GST measurements and their short plasma half-lives allowed us to identify early and late phases of drug toxicity, which could not be easily recognized using ALT measurements (Fig. 18). Abnormalities in  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  were detectable within 4 hr of poisoning and these rose progressively until after 10 to 12 hr plateau levels were reached at approximately 100 times the upper reference limit. If NAC was given during the first 10 hr, then the rise in GST could be arrested but, if plateau levels had already been reached, NAC appeared to have no effect and a second and severe stage of toxicity was then apparent at 38–45 hr, characterized by a large transient peak in plasma  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ . This late peak was probably the result of cellular necrosis.

In a subsequent study we found that patients in whom the concentration of  $B_1$  exceeded 10 µg/liter (two and a half times the upper reference limit) upon admission subsequently went on to develop moderate liver damage despite treatment with NAC. In contrast, ALT or F protein (another sensitive marker of hepatocellular damage) (F15) was not as efficient as  $B_1$  for predicting the clinical outcome of the patients (B15).

Although NAC is well tolerated, cysteine, its major metabolite, has been shown to cause damage to isolated hepatocytes grown under aerobic conditions (V5). In our early study on paracetamol poisoning we observed an increase in plasma  $B_1$  within 30 min of commencing NAC treatment in two patients with paracetamol poisoning (B12). It was not clear at the time, however, if this rise in plasma  $B_1$  represented NAC-induced hepatotoxicity or if it was caused by a coincidental rise produced from paracetamol toxicity. In a later study, however, using 10 patients we found that overall there was a significant decrease in plasma  $B_1$  within 4 hr of starting treatment with NAC and we could find no evidence that NAC was hepatotoxic with the doses used for treatment (B13).

### 9.2.2. Acute Viral Hepatitis

Plasma GST concentrations are elevated in most patients with viral hepatitis. Sherman and his colleagues using sequential blood sampling found that AST was elevated in each of 68 patients with viral hepatitis upon admission but in 1 patient normal concentrations of GST were found (S20). Because of the short half-life of



FIG. 18. Schematic diagram of the plasma profile of GST  $B_1(\Phi)$  and ALT ( $\blacktriangle$ ) following poisoning with paracetamol. The dashed lines represent the profiles if patients are treated with *N*-acetylcysteine within 12-hr of the overdose. All data are expressed as multiples of the upper reference limit.

GST, a marked and rapid fall in GST was observed such that 5 weeks after diagnosis all 48 patients with non-B hepatitis had normal plasma GST levels, whereas 32 of the 48 still exhibited elevated AST. In patients with hepatitis B a similar effect was seen such that 8 weeks after diagnosis all 20 patients had normal plasma GST, whereas AST was still elevated in 4 patients (Fig. 19). It was concluded that the short half-life of GST in plasma weakened its use as a diagnostic test in acute viral hepatitis but it was suggested that GST might provide a useful indicator of the progress of the active disease since the disappearance of GST from plasma correlated well with clinical recovery. It is thus possible that plasma GST measurements may provide a useful additional test and prognostic indicator in patients being investigated for suspected viral hepatitis. The GST measurement would provide a good indicator of the degree of ongoing active liver damage, whereas a measure of AST or ALT activity would reflect previous as well as ongoing liver damage.



FIG. 19. The percentage of patients with viral hepatitis in whom serum AST and GST levels were elevated at various stages of the disease. GST ( $\triangle$ ) and AST ( $\bigcirc$ ) levels in 48 patients with non-B hepatitis. GST ( $\bigcirc$ ) and AST ( $\triangle$ ) levels in 20 patients with hepatitis B.

## 9.2.3. Acute Alcohol Ingestion

The mechanism of hepatocellular damage by alcohol and the reasons why there are marked interindividual variations in the susceptibility to alcohol-related liver damage are poorly understood. Ethanol may be metabolized to acetaldehyde by cytosolic alcohol dehydrogenase or it can be oxidized by the microsomal ethanol oxidase system. The metabolites from ethanol metabolism can have direct toxic effects on the cell or they may lead to a reduction in membrane fluidity or increased free radical damage potentiated by a reduction in hepatic glutathione (L9, L10, R12).

A test that could identify individuals at particular risk from alcohol-induced

liver damage would prove useful and plasma  $B_1$  measurements may provide such a marker because of their centrilobular location; centrilobular cells are most susceptible to ethanol-induced damage. The standard enzyme measurements are ineffective for this purpose as aminotransferase levels may be normal when there is significant liver damage and  $\gamma$ -glutamyltransferase (GGT) may be induced when there is no significant abnormality in histology (S32).

In a study of the effects of acute alcohol ingestion in plasma  $B_1$ , we gave 80 g of ethanol, as vodka, over a 30-min period to six normal male volunteers who drank infrequently and nine male heavy drinkers who consumed between 720 and 2000 g of alcohol per week. None of the subjects had clinical evidence of liver disease (H33).

In each of the normal drinkers and in all but one of the heavy drinkers a normal basal  $B_1$  concentration was found. As a group there was no significant change in plasma  $B_1$  after alcohol ingestion in the controls but in the heavy drinkers there was a significant increase in plasma  $B_1$  that was maximal after 60 min (Fig. 20). However, in two of the control subjects plasma  $B_1$  also rose to an abnormal level after 60 min and, conversely, two of the heavy drinkers showed no significant rise in  $B_1$  postalcohol.

These data show biochemical evidence that heavy alcohol consumption can produce significant deterioration in the integrity of the hepatocyte since in the majority of heavy drinkers a rise in plasma GST occurred after the alcohol load. The study also suggested that there was considerable interindividual variation in the plasma GST response to alcohol even in moderate drinkers, suggesting that the test might be a useful predictor of susceptibility to alcohol-induced liver damage. Further detailed studies are required to clarify if this is the case and a comparison of the responses in males and females would be of interest.

## 9.2.4. Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia is a common side effect of treatment with insulin, and, in insulin-treated diabetics admitted with severe hypoglycemic attacks, pronounced abnormalities in plasma ALT and AST activities have been reported (G5, S31). In contrast, when prospective studies using controlled insulin hypoglycemia have been performed few abnormalities in the activities of AST and ALT have been found when there was no evidence of preexisting liver disease; nevertheless, abnormalities in liver function tests are common in diabetic patients (S2, P3).

We have investigated the effects of insulin-induced hypoglycemia on plasma  $B_1$  concentration in normal subjects and diabetic patients (H55) (Fig. 21). In 5 of the 6 nondiabetic male volunteers subjected to insulin-induced hypoglycemia there was a transient significant increase in plasma  $B_1$ , which reached a maximum 3 hr after hypoglycemia. In patients with type I diabetes there also occurred a significant increase in plasma  $B_1$ , 3 hr after hypoglycemia and the average increase in  $B_1$  was not significantly different from that found in the control group. In both



FIG. 20. The effect of alcohol ingestion on mean plasma ethanol and GST  $B_1$  concentrations in nine heavy drinkers ( $\blacktriangle$ ) and five volunteers with moderate alcohol intake ( $\bigcirc$ ). The asterisk signifies a p<0.05 increase from the basal level.



FIG. 21. The effect of insulin-induced hypoglycemia on plasma GST  $B_1$  concentrations in diabetic patients and nondiabetic volunteers. Values are expressed as multiples of the upper reference limit.

groups no significant changes occurred in ALT, AST, or GGT, all of which remained within their reference intervals. Abnormal  $B_1$  levels were found 3 hr after hypoglycemia in 3 of the 6 control subjects and in 6 of the 18 diabetic patients.

We also measured plasma  $B_1$  concentrations in nine diabetic patients admitted as emergencies with hypoglycemic comas of 0.7 to 8 hr duration. Four of the nine diabetics had elevated  $B_1$  upon admission but the abnormalities were relatively minor, with mean levels being  $4.7 \pm 0.9 \,\mu$ g/liter (reference range, 1.2– $4.0 \,\mu$ g/liter).

These studies show that abnormalities in hepatocellular permeability can occur in hypoglycemia and the fact that no changes in ALT and AST were observed suggests that mainly centrilobular hepatocytes are affected. The cause of the altered hepatocellular permeability in hypoglycemia is unclear but possibilities include reduced hepatic blood flow (H42) and diminished cellular ATP generation since insulin inhibits hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis, thus rapidly depleting hepatocytes of glucose.

#### 9.2.5. Birth Asphyxia

It is common practice to assess hepatic function in neonates who have suffered transient asphyxia at birth by measuring the plasma activities of ALT or AST. We have investigated the changes in plasma  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits that occur in babies following a normal delivery and 14 infants who suffered transient asphyxia during birth; results were compared with the changes found in ALT (B21).

9.2.5.1. Control Group. The control group comprised samples taken from 62 infants who had had blood taken as part of the investigation of a number of conditions not involving the liver. The plasma  $B_1$  concentrations in samples obtained within 24 hr of delivery were significantly higher than the levels found in samples taken between 24 and 174 hr after delivery. In the first 24 hr, B<sub>1</sub> concentrations were as high as 100 µmole/liter; these values compare with an upper reference limit of 4.0 µg/liter found in the adult. The high B<sub>1</sub> values found in the plasma of babies following a normal delivery were not due to increased expression of the subunit in the liver. In samples taken between 80 and 174 hr after delivery all but one baby had B<sub>1</sub> below 17 µg/liter and we have found that in young children (greater than 1 year of age) the levels of B<sub>1</sub> are not significantly different from adult values. These data would thus suggest that following a normal delivery there is a transient impairment in hepatocellular integrity and since we were unable to demonstrate any abnormality in ALT levels during this early period the data suggest that the source of the elevated  $B_1$  is the centrilobular hepatocytes. From a diagnostic view it is clear that, as with many parameters in the newborn, appropriate reference ranges must be applied.

9.2.5.2. Birth Asphyxia Group. The plasma concentration of  $B_1$  was significantly higher in the first 6 hr following delivery when compared with values measured at 24 hr but no change in ALT occurred during this initial 24-hr period. When appropriate reference ranges were applied, 11 of the 14 infants had abnormal  $B_1$  concentrations, whereas only 7 had abnormal ALT activities. In the 24- to 72-hr postpartum period there was a significant decrease in  $B_1$  concentrations compared with values found at 12 hr, such that abnormal  $B_1$  levels were found in only 6 patients. In contrast, ALT abnormalities were recorded most frequently in the 24- to 48-hr period, with 10 of the 14 infants showing elevated activities. The measurement of the  $B_2$  subunit proved unreliable for detecting any abnormality (B21) (Fig. 22). This is probably due to the fact that this subunit is only poorly expressed in the liver of term infants. These results show that plasma  $B_1$  can provide an earlier and more sensitive indicator of liver damage in the first 24 hr after birth asphyxia.

## 9.2.6. Anesthesia with Halothane, Enflurane, or Isoflurane

Hepatic injury has been associated with the use of hologenated anesthetic agents for many years (B42, N1, P10). Halothane was first introduced in 1956 after being



FIG. 22. The percentage of babies with abnormal GST  $B_1$ , GST  $B_2$ , and ALT levels with 24 and 72 hr of birth asphyxia. Fourteen babies were studied.

developed for use as a safe, nonflammable anesthetic agent but it has become apparent that 20% of patients who receive the anesthetic may exhibit biochemical evidence of liver damage, with modest abnormalities in their plasma aminotransferases being apparent in the first or second postoperative week; this is known as type I hepatic damage. Fulminant hepatic failure after exposure to halothane (type II hepatic damage) may also occur in the first or second postoperative week in up to 1 in 7000 patients and has a 20-50% mortality (F1, N1). The mechanism by which halothane produces these toxic effects is unclear but using animal models it has been shown that hypoxia and hepatic microsomal enzyme induction are factors that are necessary to cause consistent liver damage following exposure to halothane (J5). Halothane is normally metabolized by hepatic mixed function oxidases and, in hypoxia, halothane can be metabolized by a reductive pathway to hepatotoxic electrophilic agents that can bind covalently to macromolecules in the liver and cause necrosis (C14). In animals, halothane-induced hepatic damage can be diminished or prevented by cimetidine, which inhibits the reductive pathway, and this is put forward as evidence in support of a metabolic cause for the toxicity (P9, W13). The observation that enflurane and isoflurane appear to be associated with a lower incidence of postanesthetic hepatic damage is also consistent with the theory that halothane toxicity results from biotransformation to toxic metabolites and/or effects on hepatic blood flow (E1, S38). Halothane is metabolized to a greater extent (20% of inhaled dose) than enflurane (2%) or isoflurane (0.2%) (B28). However, halothane is also known to decrease hepatic blood flow, whereas isoflurane and enflurane have little or no effect.

When plasma  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  concentrations were measured in a group of 20 patients who received halothane for minor urological surgery, 16 showed a small and transient rise in  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  between 1 and 3 hr after anesthesia (H61). It was also noted that in 2 patients there occurred a secondary and larger increase in  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  24 hr after anesthesia. No significant change in ALT occurred in these patients. This early study demonstrated that plasma GST levels could provide a sensitive and simple method of investigating the changes in hepatocellular integrity that occur following anesthesia. It was proposed that the rise in plasma  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  that occurred within 3 hr was due to a direct effect of halothane on reducing hepatic blood flow, whereas the secondary rise observed after 24 hr resulted from metabolism of halothane to toxic metabolites.

The changes in GST observed post-halothane anesthesia are small and it is possible that they may reflect circadian changes in the enzyme levels. To study this we measured plasma  $B_1$  concentrations in 30 healthy volunteers after an overnight fast and subsequently at 3, 6, and 24 hr, i.e., the sampling intervals used for the study on the effects of halothane on GST. We could detect no significant increase in  $B_1$  subunits over this time period.

We also thought it possible that the increase in  $B_1$  observed 3 hr post-halothane anesthesia resulted from decreased clearance of  $B_1$  via the reticuloendothelial system. To examine this the activity of plasma amylase was measured in samples from 10 patients who exhibited a significant rise in  $B_1$  3 hr after receiving halothane. In each of the 10 patients, plasma amylase was significantly lower 3 hr after anesthesia when compared with preoperative values. This decrease in plasma amylase probably results from hemodilutional changes and confirms that clearance of plasma enzymes does not appear to be decreased 3 hr post-halothane anesthesia.

The effects of halothane on plasma  $B_1$  concentrations have been confirmed by subsequent studies using short and long exposures to the anesthetic (A12, H58, M30, R3). It has also been shown that isoflurane has little or no effects on plasma  $B_1$ , whereas enflurane has an effect intermediate between halothane and isoflurane (Fig. 23) (A12, H58). In one study, 50% of patients receiving halothane had an abnormal  $B_1$ , whereas only 20 and 11% of patients receiving enflurane and isoflurane, respectively, had an abnormality (H58). These results are consistent with the view that the 3-hr rise in GST  $B_1$  post-halothane anesthesia is caused by reduced hepatic blood flow as enflurane and isoflurane have much less of an effect on hepatic blood flow than does halothane. In addition, the results are also consistent with the 24-hr rise resulting from biotransformation; enflurane and isoflurane are metabolized to a far lesser extent than halothane.

A number of studies have been performed in an attempt to clarify the cause of the changes in  $B_1$  3 and 24 hr post-halothane anesthesia. Gelman and Van Dyke have proposed that the hepatotoxic effects of volatile anesthetics may result from



FIG. 23. The effect of halothane ( $\blacktriangle$ ) (22 patients), enflurane ( $\varDelta$ ) (30 patients), and isoflurane ( $\bigcirc$ ) (18 patients) anesthesia on plasma GST B<sub>1</sub> levels. The median and interquantile ranges are shown. The asterisk signifies a p<0.05 increase from the basal levels.

a disruption of the mechanisms that maintain cellular calcium homeostasis, and halothane has been shown to produce excessive accumulation of cytosolic calcium (G4). The calcium antagonist nicardipine reduces significantly the extent of liver

damage in rats after administration of carbon tetrachloride (G1) and this prompted us to study the effects of nicardipine on the plasma  $B_1$  profile after halothane exposure (R3). Patients were allocated to one of two groups to receive, 1 hr before halothane anesthesia, an intravenous infusion of either saline (placebo group) or nicardipine at a rate to achieve a steady-state plasma concentration of 120 ng/ml after 1 hr of infusion. Plasma  $B_1$  increased significantly 3 and 6 hr after anesthesia in both the placebo and the nicardipine group but in males the 3-hr rise in  $B_1$  in the nicardipine group was significantly greater than that in patients receiving the placebo. Thus nicardipine infusion at this dose was unable to reduce the 3-hr rise in plasma  $B_1$  but it should be noted that the body-weight-related doses of nicardipine used to prevent hepatotoxicity in the rat model are 25 to 50 times greater than the total dose given to our patients.

Cimetidine has been shown to impair metabolism of drugs by the mixed function oxidase system by binding to cytochromes P450 and P448 (B8, D5). In animal models cimetidine reduces halothane metabolism and lessens the severity of hepatic injury (P9, W13). It has not been possible to demonstrate any effect of cimetidine administration on the plasma  $B_1$  profile obtained in humans posthalothane anesthesia (R4). However, as with nicardipine the doses of cimetidine used were far lower than the doses used in animal models.

Volatile anesthetic agents depress oxygen availability to the liver, partly as a result of decreased hepatic blood flow, and it is possible that these changes may be exacerbated by surgery, leading to global or regional hepatic hypoxia. Indeed, we have found that there is marked elevation in plasma  $B_1$  in patients admitted to an intensive care unit after major surgery (H56). Anesthetics have different effects on hepatic arterial blood flow, with blood flow being preserved with isoflurane and decreased with halothane. The mode of ventilation can also alter hepatic blood flow, positive pressure ventilation is associated with a reduction and redistribution of cardiac output, and hepatic blood supply becomes reduced (G2).

In the studies mentioned previously all patients were allowed to breathe spontaneously. The effects of positive pressure ventilation on the plasma  $B_1$  profile have been investigated by comparing the effects of halothane with those of isoflurane on plasma  $B_1$  when patients were allowed to breathe spontaneously or were ventilated. It was found that significant increases in  $B_1$  occurred at 1 hr in all four groups and the rise at 1 hr was significantly greater in the patients who were ventilated compared with that in the patients receiving the corresponding anesthetic but who were allowed to breathe spontaneously (Fig. 24). We have also

Fig. 24. The effects of intermittent positive pressure ventilation (IPPV) on plasma GST  $B_1$  concentrations in patients receiving halothane or isoflurane anesthesia. A total of 60 patients were studied: 28 were ventilated (14 halothane, 14 isoflurane) and 32 breathed spontaneously (14 halothane, 18 isoflurane). An asterisk signifies a p<0.05 increase from the basal levels.



observed in children a similar effect, whereby positive pressure ventilation can exacerbate the 3-hr rise in plasma  $B_1$  (G. J. Beckett and A. F. Howie, unpublished observations).

Overall, these studies would support the view that the early transient hepatic dysfunction characterized by a rise in plasma  $B_1$  3 hr postanesthesia results from alterations in hepatic blood flow and not chemical toxicity. To date, however, no clinical value for the measurement of the  $B_1$  subunit as a predictor of patients who will subsequently develop clinical hepatic dysfunction has been described.

# 9.3. PLASMA GST MEASUREMENTS FOR THE DETECTION OF CHRONIC LIVER DISEASE

## 9.3.1. Autoimmune Chronic Active Hepatitis

One of the earliest documented advantages of GST measurements relates to the observation that all patients with chronic active hepatitis had elevated plasma ligandin concentration. Sherman *et al.* also noted that in 16 patients with the disease serum ligandin levels correlated closely with activity of the disease, whereas no such correlation was found using AST (S20).

The conventional approach to the management of autoimmune chronic active hepatitis is to use a steroid such as prednisolone either alone or in conjunction with azothioprine. The drugs are usually given at doses that produce biochemical remission of the disease and when this is achieved a liver biopsy is often performed to exclude any ongoing active liver damage. Although these treatment regimens have proved effective at improving survival, many patients receiving this treatment still develop cirrhosis, suggesting that there are still significant levels of active disease despite the fact that none can be detected using conventional biochemistry (S32, W14).

The measurement of  $B_1$  subunits in serum or plasma may provide a useful alternative or adjunct to the conventional approach of biochemical monitoring in these patients during treatment (H34). In a study of 22 patients receiving prednisolone with or without azothioprine it was found that  $B_1$  levels were elevated in 17 or 26 samples, whereas AST activity was found to be elevated in only 6. It was also found that of 20 samples with normal AST activity,  $B_1$  concentrations were elevated in 11 but no patient was found to have elevated AST activity in the presence of normal  $B_1$  concentration. When  $B_1$  levels were compared with GGT activities it was found that GGT was increased in 16, and 11 of these also exhibited elevated  $B_1$  concentrations. In 7 samples increased  $B_1$  with normal GGT was found. A significant correlation was found between  $B_1$  and GGT (r = 0.69) but a good correlation between  $B_1$  and AST was observed only if samples with  $B_1$  concentration more than twice the upper reference value were excluded. Abnormal

AST was found only when  $B_1$  levels exceeded twice the upper reference limit (Fig. 25).

The majority of patients in this study were considered to be in remission but the findings of an elevated B<sub>1</sub> concentration in many of these patients provides evidence that active disease is still present. In support of this view Korman et al. have shown that patients with the disease who are in histological and biochemical remission frequently have elevated fasting plasma bile salt concentrations (K15). Patients with elevated plasma bile salts quickly relapsed if treatment was withdrawn.

It is tempting to suggest from our data that, if the aim of immunosuppressive



AST (multple of upper reference value)

FIG. 25. A comparison of plasma asparate aminotransferase (AST) and GST B<sub>1</sub> levels in patients with autoimmune chronic active hepatitis treated with prednisolone and azothioprine. The enzyme levels are expressed as multiples of the upper reference limit. The dashed lines represent the upper reference limit.

therapy became the normalization of  $B_1$  rather than AST, then improved survival might occur. This is an important question that has not yet been addressed.

## 9.3.2. Alcoholic Cirrhosis

There are a number of conflicting reports concerning the levels of plasma or serum GST measurements in patients with cirrhosis. One study reported that serum ligandin concentrations were elevated in over 50% of patients with the disease, with mean levels being increased more than three times the upper reference limit (T13). Another study using an enzyme immunoassay has produced a similar finding (H44). In complete contrast to these studies Sherman *et al.* using a radioimmunoassay for human ligandin found normal plasma concentrations in each of 20 patients with cirrhosis (S20). This finding is surprising since all patients in Sherman's study had an elevated plasma AST but the discrepancy may be related to the fact that Sherman used an upper reference limit of 12  $\mu$ g/liter, when we have found using our assay that the upper reference limit is 4.0  $\mu$ g/liter for B<sub>1</sub> (B16). Adachi *et al.* measured the activity of GST with CDNB as a substrate and also reported normal plasma levels in all patients with cirrhosis (A4).

The reasons for the discrepancy among the above studies may lie in the GST subunits that are being measured since each of the assays were developed before the discovery of immunologically distinct  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits. In none of the studies is it clear what subunit or combination of subunits is being measured. Another problem in interpreting the data from previous studies lies in the fact that the type of cirrhosis studied was not clearly defined and it is possible that the biochemistry may vary with cirrhosis of different etiologies.

We have used our assays for  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  to quantitate the levels of these subunits in sera from 79 patients with biopsy-proven alcoholic cirrhosis (B18). Our results showed that abnormalities in AST were not always associated with corresponding abnormalities in  $B_1$  or  $B_2$ , although there were equal numbers of patients (28) who exhibited elevated levels of AST or  $B_1$ . The measurement of  $B_2$  was the poorest of the three measurements at identifying abnormality (only 17 patients had elevated  $B_2$ ) and all but 3 of the patients with increased serum  $B_2$  also had elevated concentrations of  $B_1$ , showing that the measurement of  $B_2$  is unlikely to be of any diagnostic value in this condition. Our results would suggest that, although a proportion of patients with alcoholic cirrhosis have elevated plasma GST  $B_1$  levels, the correlation between plasma aminotransferases and the GST is poor in patients with this disease compared with those with acute liver damage. Why should this be?

The presence of elevated plasma  $B_1$  in the presence of normal AST could be explained by the lobular distribution of the enzymes since AST is mainly in periportal cells and alcohol damages centrilobular cells that are rich in  $B_1$  but not AST (R2). The explanation for the converse finding of normal  $B_1$  in the presence of a raised AST is less clear. This pattern of results could occur if cellular necrosis occurred intermittently and because of its short half-life  $B_1$  would be removed from plasma prior to AST. A more likely possibility has become apparent from the immunohistochemistry of the GST in alcoholic liver disease. Harrison has shown that in alcoholic cirrhosis hepatocytes begin to express pi-class GST in a manner similar to that of the fetus (H11). Although it has not been quantitated, it is possible that, in cirrhosis, GST expression may be similar to that of the fetus; i.e., there is reduced expression of  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  and increased expression of pi-class GST, and thus  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunit measurements in plasma could lack sensitivity for detecting liver damage.

From a clinical point of view if  $B_1$  and AST were measured in our patients an abnormality in one of the serum markers would have been detected in 38 of the 54 patients. If AST alone had been used, an abnormality would have been detected only in 28.

## 9.4. Thyroid Hormones and the Liver

#### 9.4.1. Hyperthyroidism

Before the introduction of effective treatment for thyrotoxicosis, hepatobiliary complications were commonly associated with the disease. Liver biopsy samples taken from hyperthyroid patients often showed morphological changes such as fatty change, glycogen depletion, and cirrhosis but a direct detrimental effect of thyroid hormones on the liver was thought unlikely; rather it was thought that hepatic abnormalities resulted from other factors such as altered cardiac output, infection, hypoxia, and malnutrition (K13, S19).

Prolonged hyperthyroidism is now an uncommon occurrence and consequently severe hepatobiliary dysfunction resulting from thyrotoxicosis is rare. There is much biochemical evidence, however, to suggest that hyperthyroidism may still result in subclinical hepatic dysfunction. In patients with hyperthyroidism elevations in the activity of plasma aminotransferase,  $\gamma$ -glutamyltransferase, and liverderived alkaline phosphatase are often found. Hepatic anion transport of bilirubin and sulfobromophthalein is also impaired in the disease (A21). Animal studies have also suggested that high levels of thyroid hormone may predispose the animal to hepatic damage following an hepatic insult. Rats given thyroid hormones show liver damage following exposure to halothane and such animals also show more marked liver damage than rats not given exogenous thyroxine when exposed to other halogenated hydrocarbons (W12).

We have shown that plasma  $B_1$  levels may be elevated in over 50% of patients with thyrotoxicosis (B22). In addition, when patients are rendered euthyroid by <sup>131</sup>I-thyroid ablation, plasma  $B_1$  levels return to within reference limits. In contrast, we found that thyrotoxic patients that were rendered euthyroid with carbimazole had  $B_1$  concentrations that fell significantly from pretreatment levels but not to
values that were within the reference range. In some patients there was a transient rise in  $B_1$  in the first 2 weeks of commencing therapy before  $B_1$  levels began to fall. In one patient, we measured a marked rise in  $B_1$  after carbimazole treatment was commenced and this coincided with a concomitant systemic sensitivity reaction (B22). These data would suggest that carbimazole may produce transient subclinical liver dysfunction in some patients; however, this effect seems minimal since few serious hepatobiliary problems with carbimazole have been reported.

# 9.4.2. Thyroxine Replacement Therapy

There is little evidence to suggest that hypothyroidism can lead to liver damage; however, patients with hypothyroidism will receive lifelong treatment with oral  $T_4$ . When administered by this oral route a large bolus dose of  $T_4$  (usually 100 or 150 µg) will be presented to the liver; this compares unfavorably with the physiological situation, in which the thyroid secretes 90 µg of  $T_4$  over 24 hr into the systemic circulation. It is possible therefore that in  $T_4$  replacement the liver may have some degree of tissue hyperthyroidism.

In an initial study we showed that plasma B<sub>1</sub> concentrations rose in each of eight hypothyroid patients following T<sub>4</sub> replacement for periods of between 3 and 9 months, and in four patients an elevated plasma B<sub>1</sub> was found post-treatment. In general, patients with elevated plasma-free T<sub>4</sub> concentrations had elevated plasma  $B_1$  concentrations (B22). Using a rat model we excluded the possibility that  $T_4$  produces induction of  $B_1$ , since in rats given  $T_4$  or  $T_3$  in their drinking water the hepatic levels of each of the GST classes decreases and plasma GST concentration increased (B11, B20). With the introduction of sensitive TSH methods (S17) it was found that many patients treated with T<sub>4</sub> were being given doses that resulted in a suppression of thyrotroph function in that TSH concentrations were below the detection limit of the assays (G8). However, since there was no evidence to suggest that patients receiving  $T_4$  at doses of up to 200 µg/day had exhibited any clinical problems, it was argued that this suppression of thyrotroph function may simply reflect an increased sensitivity of the pituitary to plasma  $T_4$  (P4). We, therefore, undertook a study to determine if the pituitary was representative of the liver with regard to thyroid status (G8).

We found that, in patients who had been receiving the same dose of thyroxine for at least 6 months, abnormalities in plasma  $B_1$ , ALT, and GGT were more commonly found in patients who had an undetectable TSH than in patients with a normal or raised plasma TSH (G8). If the dose of  $T_4$  was reduced in the patients with undetectable TSH to a dose that normalized plasma TSH, the plasma levels of ALT and  $B_1$  fell to within the reference range in practically all patients (G9). These data led us to suggest that the aim of thyroxine replacement therapy should be to normalize plasma TSH as it appeared that the thyrotrophic response to exogenous  $T_4$  was representative of the thyroid status of other tissues in the body.

350

The changes that occur in plasma  $B_1$  in the early weeks following commencement of  $T_4$  therapy have also been studied (G7). Hepatocellular integrity in patients with spontaneous hypothyroidism appeared to be impaired, as characterized by a significant increase in  $B_1$ , when doses of 100 µg/day of  $T_4$  were given. In contrast, in patients in whom hypothyroidism had resulted from <sup>131</sup>I-thyroid ablation,  $T_4$  doses as high as 200 µg/day had no significant effect on plasma  $B_1$  levels (Fig. 26). In the former group of patients hypothyroidism is likely to have been of long duration, whereas in patients with previous hyperthyroidism, it is unlikely to have been present for more than a few months, because of the regular clinical follow-up that these patients receive. These results suggested that the liver from a patient with prolonged hypothyroidism may be particularly prone to the effects of  $T_4$  when treatment is commenced but we postulated that with prolonged treatment tolerance could occur.

We investigated this postulate by correlating TSH and  $B_1$  in patients receiving a fixed dose of  $T_4$  for over 1 year. In contrast with our previous findings (G8), few abnormalities in  $B_1$  were found even when TSH was undetectable. When the data from our previous study (G8) were reanalyzed, excluding patients on  $T_4$  for less than 1 year, no correlation was found between TSH and  $B_1$ . These results would support the view of hepatic tolerance to  $T_4$  developing after 1 year of treatment on a fixed dose of  $T_4$ .



FIG. 26. Mean plasma GST  $B_1$  responses to patients with spontaneous (9 patients) or <sup>131</sup>I-induced hypothyroidism (10 patients) following treatment with increasing doses of thyroxine. Patients were kept on the same dose of thyroxine for 4 weeks before the dose was increased. The upper limit of the reference range is denoted by the dashed line. The asterisk signifies a *p*<0.05 difference between GST  $B_1$  levels in the basal sample.

## 10. GST Measurements in Malignancy

# 10.1. PLASMA/SERUM MEASUREMENT

The pi-class GST is expressed in a wide range of malignant tumors and levels of this isoenzyme are, in general, higher than the levels found in corresponding normal tissue (C12, D6-D8, E2, H41, H54, T11). A number of reports, particularly from Japan, have suggested that serum pi-class GST levels measured by immunoassay may be increased in a wide range of gastrointestinal and hematological malignancies and thus the measurement of serum pi-class GST concentration might provide a useful tumor marker. Niitsu et al., using an immunoradiometric assay, reported that elevated serum pi-class GST concentrations were found in 38 of 62 patients with gastric cancer, 8 of 15 patients with esophageal cancer, 20 of 26 patients with colonic cancer, 5 of 12 patients with pancreatic cancer, and 7 of 10 patients with colonic cancer (N4). Normal levels of pi-class GST were found in sera from patients with benign gastrointestinal disease. These workers also reported that in two patients with gastric cancer, pi-class GST levels fell to within normal limits following gastrectomy. Tsuchida et al., using an ELISA method, reported elevated serum pi-class GST concentrations in 10 of 23 patients with gastric cancer, 26 of 43 patients with esophageal cancer, 3 of 9 patients with biliary carcinoma, and 3 of 9 patients with colonic cancer. Abnormal levels were also found in a small percentage of patients with hematological malignancy (T11).

To investigate the levels of pi-class GST in serum we developed a radioimmunoassay using antisera raised to pi-class GST purified from placenta (H52). Using sera from patients with a wide range of malignancies we found that there was considerable overlap between normal subjects and patients with malignancy. We subsequently found that during the clotting process platelets released large amounts of pi-class GST into serum. At room temperature serum pi-class GST levels rose from a mean of less than 10 µg/liter in serum separated immediately to 30 µg/liter 1 hr after blood sampling (H52). These large changes in serum pi-class GST levels during the clotting process led us to conclude that serum was an inappropriate matrix for measuring pi-class GST as a marker of malignant disease. Studies using plasma suggested that this may be a suitable matrix for pi-class GST measurements but in order to minimize contamination of plateletderived pi-class GST we found that samples must be taken in cooled tubes containing EDTA and platelet stabilizers. It was also important to keep the samples on ice prior to centrifugation in a cooled centrifuge at a minimum force of 2500 g for at least 30 min. Under these conditions whole blood could be kept for 2 hr prior to separation (H52).

Using the above sampling procedure the concentration of pi-class GST in plasma was usually  $<10 \mu g/liter$  in normal subjects. When we used plasma from



FIG. 27. Plasma GST  $\pi$  concentrations in patients with various malignancies. The dashed lines denote the upper limit of the reference range.

patients with various malignancies, using the sampling technique described above, we were able to demonstrate elevated pi-class GST levels in a number of malignancies including lung, colon, and ovary (Fig. 27). In a previous study of patients with cancer of the bronchus we found that 19 of 29 patients had elevated plasma pi-class GST concentrations and 8 of 9 patients with adenocarcinoma of the lung had elevated concentrations (H50). In small cell cancers other markers are more reliable (J4).

In practice, although plasma pi-class GST concentrations are increased in a wide range of malignancies, we have found that it is difficult to obtain samples that are collected under appropriate conditions and thus the possibility of generating false-positive results is extremely high. Although not studied formally, it is also likely that the predictive value of pi-class GST measurements will be low since

pi-class GST is found in many normal tissues at levels similar to those in tumors. Raised pi-class GST levels have been reported, for example, in patients with benign liver disease (N4, T11).

Ohmi and Arias have investigated the plasma levels of alpha-class GST in hepatocellular carcinoma in the rat and humans (O3). They found that serum ligandin concentrations rose progressively following the transplantation of a ligandin-containing rat hepatocellular carcinoma in rats or athymic mice. The mean serum ligandin concentrations within 4 months exceeded normal serum levels by a factor of 10. When serum ligandin concentrations were studied in humans it was reported that levels were increased in 11 of 15 patients with primary hepatocellular carcinomas without hepatic involvement.

It is unclear what mechanisms might lead to elevated serum ligandin since hepatomas express considerably reduced levels of the alpha-class GST. Ohmi and Arias suggested that hepatoma cells might readily release their ligandin into peripheral circulation but this suggestion has remained largely unsubstantiated (O3).

# 10.2. MEASUREMENTS IN BRONCHOALVEOLAR LAVAGE FLUID

The measurement of alpha- and pi-class GST levels in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid obtained from patients undergoing bronchoscopy for suspected malignancy may have some diagnostic importance. Using immunoassays we found that lavage fluid contained  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ , and pi subunits and this was confirmed by purification of the proteins with affinity chromatography followed by identification with SDS– PAGE (H49).

In human lung obtained within 8 hr of death the pi-class GST isoenzyme is present at concentrations that are approximately 10-fold greater than those of either the  $B_1$  or the  $B_2$ . In contrast, in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid the  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  were present at concentrations that were in excess of those of pi-class GST. We have suggested that the predominance of the alpha-class GST in lavage fluid is related to the relative stability of this GST class and the instability of the pi-class GST isoenzyme. We have found that in postmortem lung tissue, obtained more than 24 hr after death, pi-class GST levels in the tissue were reduced to approximately 3% of the levels found in fresh lung tissue. No change was found in  $B_1$  or  $B_2$  subunit content. We believe, therefore, that the GST found within the lavage fluid arises from leakage of intracellular GST but that, within the environment of the alveoli, the pi-class GST isoenzyme degrades, leaving the GST  $B_1$  and GST  $B_2$ subunits as the major forms (H49).

In patients with benign lesions of the lung the concentrations of  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ , and pi subunits in lavage fluid taken from a normal area of lung were not significantly different compared with the concentrations found in the area of diseased lung. In

patients with bronchogenic cancer, however, concentrations of  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ , and pi subunits in fluid from the area containing the malignancy were significantly higher compared with those in fluid from a normal area taken from the same lung.

### 10.3. GST IN HUMAN BILE

Bile contains a large number of diverse proteins, some resulting from leakage of hepatocellular protein and others derived from plasma (A9, R6). In certain cases, the liver may secrete specific proteins into bile to bind and thus prevent the reabsorption of potential toxins and thus facilitate fecal excretion of these substances (S3). As an example, copper is excreted principally by the biliary route, bound to a carrier protein that prevents intestinal absorption of the biliary copper (G6). The GST can bind a wide range of substances and we have studied the GST content of human bile using material obtained from intact gallbladders following removal at cholecystectomy.

Using both radioimmunoassay and affinity chromatography techniques we found that all bile samples contain  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ , and pi subunits and in 9 of 18 samples mu-class GST was also detected (H53). Although there were large interindividual variations found in GST concentration, the mean concentration of pi-class GST was on average approximately three times greater than that of the  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ , or mu subunits, which were expressed in a similar concentration. In liver cytosol pi-class GST comprises only an extremely (<1%) small percentage of the total GST pool, with the  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  subunits predominating. The high ratio of pi- to alpha-class GST in bile suggests that, although biliary alpha-class GST may originate from hepatocytes, biliary pi-class GST could not arise from simple leakage from these hepatocytes but rather must arise from the biliary epithelia, which immunohistochemically appear to express high levels of the isoenzyme.

The high concentrations of pi-class GST found in bile also suggested that the enzyme might be actively secreted from biliary epithelial cells and such an efflux might be beneficial to the cell in that it provides a mechanism whereby toxins could combine with GST and be actively excreted along with the enzyme. There appears to be no role for GST in bile per se since in the presence of bile salt concentrations similar to those found in bile, pi- or alpha-class GST have no catalytic activity (H17, H25, H53). In addition, it appears unlikely that GST have a physiological role to bind substance excreted from the liver as GST concentrations at least 1000 times those found in bile would be required to bind bile salts alone.

The concentrations of GST in normal bile have been compared with the concentrations of the enzymes found in bile obtained using endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography from two patients with cholangiocarcinoma and one patient with pancreatic cancer (H53). The concentrations of  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  were not significantly different in the cancer patients when compared with concentrations in normal bile but the pi-class GST concentrations were increased more than 10-fold in bile obtained from the two patients with cholangiocarcinoma. This increase in pi-class GST could arise from excretion of the GST directly from the tumor, necrosis of normal biliary epithelial tissue, or blood passing into bile as a result of vascular damage (erythrocytes contain high concentrations of pi-class GST). Larger studies are required but these preliminary results suggest that biliary measurements of pi-class GST may be useful in the differential diagnoses of pancreatic carcinoma and cholangiocarcinoma.

# 11. The Glutathione S-Transferases and the Kidney

Glutathione S-transferase of the alpha-class comprises up to 2% of soluble protein in rat kidney, and early immunofluorescent studies localized ligandin to the proximal tubule, with no staining occurring in the glomeruli or interstition (F13, F14). A similar distribution of the enzyme has been found using microdissection techniques in the rabbit (F10). Campbell *et al.* using immunohistochemistry found that, in human kidney, ligandin was largely confined to the proximal convoluted tubule and the thick segments of the loop of Henle (C3) and this has been confirmed in recent studies in adult kidney (H10, S42).

Kidney also expresses high concentrations of the pi-class GST, this isoenzyme being largely confined to the distal tubules in human kidney and to Bowman's capsules in the glomerulus (H10, S42). Harrison has shown that the expression of both mu-class and microsomal GST is generally weak and variable (H9).

# 11.1. URINARY GST MEASUREMENTS AS A MARKER OF RENAL DAMAGE

## 11.1.1. Animal Studies

The high level of expression of the alpha-class GST has led a number of workers to investigate the use of urinary GST measurements as a marker of renal tubular cell necrosis (B4, F5–F9). Ligandin was detected using immunological and enzymic techniques in the urine of rats treated with mercuric chloride but not after poisoning with potassium dichromate (B4, F7). These data are consistent with the known nephrotoxic qualities of these agents in that mercuric chloride produces selective necrosis of the pars recta of the proximal tubule, an area rich in ligandin, whereas potassium dichromate affects the convoluted portion of the proximal tubule, which immunohistochemically expressed much lower amounts of the enzyme.

Using activity measurements with CDNB as a substrate Feinfeld *et al.* showed that ligandinuria was present 12 hr after mercuric chloride administration, and using a sensitive radioimmunoassay (F7) Bass *et al.* demonstrated a significant increase in urinary ligandin excretion within 6 hr of mercuric chloride injection,

which preceded the occurrence of uremia (B4). These workers also showed that serum ligandin concentrations were raised 12 hr after mercuric chloride administration, whereas renal tissue concentrations fell to 30% of control values by 24 hr (B4). Administration of potassium dichromate also produced ligandinuria when measured by radioimmunoassay but the concentration of urinary ligandin was normal up to 24 hr. Thereafter the ligandinuria was at least a magnitude lower than that detected in mercuric-chloride-treated animals. These different time courses of ligandinuria correlated well with the sequence of damage, assessed histologically, to the pars recta and pars convuluta of the proximal tubule, respectively. Further studies have demonstrated ligandinuria in rats treated with gentamicin and cisplatin as assessed by GST activity (F6, F8).

In normal rats urinary ligandin has been reported as undetectable using immunodiffusion and as assessed by GST activity with CDNB as a substrate (F7). Using a sensitive radioimmunoassay, however, Bass *et al.* could detect ligandin in all urine samples obtained from normal rats; values ranged from 1.0 to 189  $\mu$ g/liter compared with values as high as 80,000  $\mu$ g/liter in mercuric-chloride-treated animals. Ligandin in normal urine could arise from leakage from renal or bladder epithelial cells or from excretion of ligandin arising from glomerular filtration of plasma ligandin (B4).

# 11.1.2. Human Studies

11.1.2.1. Normal Subjects. It has been reported, using immunodiffusion or activity measurements with CDNB as a substrate, that in normal subjects ligandin is undetectable in the urine (B2, F7). In contrast, using a radioimmunoassay method Sherman *et al.* were able to identify ligandin in urine at a mean concentration of 24.7  $\mu$ g/liter, a concentration that was equivalent to a urinary excretion rate of approximately 1.5  $\mu$ g/hr (S21). Backman *et al.*, using a radioimmunoassay for human "basic" GST with a detection limit of 1  $\mu$ g/liter, were unable to detect the enzyme in the urine of most patients with stable renal function (B2). It is our experience using immunoassay, that B<sub>1</sub> and pi subunits are detectable in the urine of practically all normal subjects.

Feinfeld *et al.*, using immunodiffusion and GST activity measurements, were unable to detect ligandin in the urine of 12 patients with chronic renal disease and in the urine of 12 patients with acute renal disease not involving tubular necrosis (F7). Ligandinuria was detected in 2 patients with acute tubular necrosis in whom the urine was obtained within 24 hr of the precipitating event. Using these assays the same workers were also able to demonstrate ligandinuria in 6 of 17 patients following renal arteriography.

In a follow-up study Feinfeld *et al.* (F9) used an upper limit of normal for urinary ligandin excretion of >5  $\mu$ g/liter. They found that patients who received 34 g or more of iodine in radiocontrast media developed elevated urinary ligandin

outputs within 36 hr of the radiocontrast media being administered. Values had returned to normal after 48 hr.

11.1.2.2. Urinary GST Measurements and Renal Transplantation. Measurement of GST in a renal perfusate has been used to predict cadaver kidney function prior to transplantation (C8) but there has been more interest in using GST measurements to monitor rejection following transplantation. The use of cyclosporin A to prevent renal transplant rejection can produce a problem of differential diagnoses since cyclosporin toxicity can mimic acute rejection. Cyclosporin is reported to be toxic to the renal proximal tubular epithelium and Backman et al. have used radioimmunoassay for the alpha-class GST to try and differentiate among patients with stable renal transplants, patients with transplant rejection, and patients with cyclosporin toxicity (B3). In their study 28 patients were considered to have stable renal function, with a serum creatinine that was below 200 µmole/liter, and were clinically free from significant cyclosporin-induced toxicity. A total of 38 patients had morphological changes on renal biopsy, suggestive of graft rejection, or there was a strong clinical suspicion to support the diagnosis. In 11 patients morphological examination showed no signs of acute rejection, cyclosporin toxicity was assumed, and the dosage of the drug reduced. A diagnosis of cyclosporin toxicity was also made in 16 patients without renal biopsy on the grounds of improved renal function after reducing the dosage of cyclosporin.

Patients with stable renal function generally had undetectable (<1.0  $\mu$ g/liter) alpha-class GST in their urine but in six low but detectable concentrations were found. The concentration of alpha-class GST in the urine of patients with acute rejection was significantly lower than the concentration found in patients with cyclosporin rejection but there was considerable overlap between groups. It would seem from the data that urinary GST measurements cannot provide clear discrimination between these two situations.

# 12. Conclusions

It can be seen that the multiple forms of the GST have many roles in protecting the cell from a wide range of toxic insults. This is beneficial to the normal tissue but it is an unfortunate occurrence in malignancy since the GST may provide a mechanism to protect the cell from cytotoxic agents during chemotherapy. The measurement of the alpha-class GST in serum or plasma has proved to probably be the most sensitive biochemical test available to monitor the effects of acute hepatic insults but the role of pi-class GST measurements is as yet unclear.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Mrs. Evelyn Ward and Dr. A. F. Howie for their assistance in the preparation of this manuscript. Dr. Amanda Hussey and Dr. Lesly McLellan are thanked for helpful discussions.

### References

- A1. Abramovitz, M., Homma, H., Ishigaki, S., Tansey, F., Cammer, W., and Listowsky, I., Characterization and localization of glutathione S-transferases in rat brain and binding of hormones, neurotransmitters and drugs. J. Neurochem. 50, 50–57 (1988).
- A2. Abramovitz, M., and Listowsky, I., Selective expression of a unique glutathione S-transferase Yb3 gene in rat brain. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 7770–7773 (1987).
- A3. Aceto, A., Di Ilio, C., Angelucci, S., Tenaglia, R., Zezza, A., Caccuri, A. M., and Federici, G., Glutathione-related enzyme activities in testis of patients with malignant diseases. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 183, 83-86 (1989).
- A4. Adachi, Y., Horii, K., Takahashi, Y., Tanihata, M., Ohba, Y., and Yamamoto, T., Serum glutathione S-transferase activity in liver diseases. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 106, 243–255 (1980).
- A5. Adams, D. J., Balkwill, F. R., Griffin, D. B., Hayes, J. D., Lewis, A. D., and Wolf, C. R., Induction and suppression of glutathione transferases by interferon in the mouse. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 4888–4892 (1987).
- A6. Agrup, G., Falck, B., Rorsman, H., Rosengren, A. M., and Rosengren, E., Glutathionedopa in malignant melanoma. Acta Dermatol. 57, 221–222 (1977).
- A7. Ahmed, H., Wilson, D. E., Fritz, R. R., Singh, S. V., Medh, R. D., Nagle, G. T., Awasthi, Y. C., and Kurosky, A., Primary and secondary structural analyses of glutathione S-transferase pi from human placenta. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 278, 398–408 (1990).
- A8. Alarcon, R. A., and Meienhofer, J., Formation of the cytotoxic aldehyde acrolein during the in vitro degradation of cyclophosphamide. *Nature (London) New Biol.* 233, 250–252 (1971).
- A9. Albers, C. J. E. M., Huizenga, J. R., Krom, R. A. F., Vonk, R. J., and Gips, C. H., Composition of human hepatic bile. Ann. Clin. Biochem. 22, 129–132 (1985).
- A10. Alin, P., Jensson, H., Cederlund, E., Jornvall, H., and Mannervik, B., Cytosolic glutathione transferases from rat liver. Primary structure of class alpha glutathione transferase 8-8 and characterization of low-abundance class Mu glutathione transferases. *Biochem. J.* 261, 531– 539 (1989).
- A11. Alin, P., Mannervik, B., and Jornvall, H., Structural evidence for three different types of glutathione S-transferases in human tissues. *FEBS Lett.* 182, 319–322 (1985).
- A12. Allan, L. G., Hussey, A. J., Howie, J., Beckett, G. J., Smith, A. F., Hayes, J. D., and Drummond, G. A., Hepatic glutathione s-transferase release after halothane anaesthesia: Open randomised comparison with isoflurane. *Lancet* 1, 771–774 (1987).
- A13. Anders, M. W., Vamvakas, S., and Dekant, W., Bioactivation of haloalkenes through glutathione conjugation. *In* "Glutathione S-transferases and Drug Resistance" (J. D. Hayes, C. B. Pickett, and T. J. Mantle, eds.), pp. 121–130. Taylor & Francis, London; 1990.
- A14. Andersson, C., Soderström, M., and Mannervik, B., Activation and inhibition of microsomal glutathione transferase from mouse liver. *Biochem. J.* 249, 819–823 (1988).
- A15. Aniya, Y., and Anders, M. W., Activation of rat liver microsomal glutathione S-transferase by reduced oxygen species. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 1998–2002 (1989).
- A16. Aniya, Y., and Anders, M. W., Regulation of rat liver microsomal glutathione S-transferase activity by thiol/disulfide exchange. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 270, 330–334 (1989).
- A17. Aniya, Y., and Anders, M. W., Regulation of rat liver microsomal glutathione S-transferase activity by heating. J. Pathol. 12, 235–240 (1989).
- A18. Arca, P., Rico, M., Brama, A. F., Villar, C. J., Hardisson, C., and Suarez, J. E., Formation of an adduct between fosfomycin and glutathione: A new mechanism of antibiotic resistance in bacteria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 32, 1552–1556 (1988).
- A19. Arduini, A., Strambini, G., Dillio, C., Aceto, A., Storto, S., and Federici, G., Tryptophan environments in glutathione transferase of human placenta from temperature-dependent phosphorescence studies. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 999, 203–207 (1989).

- A20. Armstrong, R. N., Enzyme-catalysed detoxication reactions: Mechanisms and stereochemistry. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 22, 39–88 (1987).
- A21. Ashkar, F. S., Miller, R., Smoak, W. M., and Gilson, A. J., Liver disease in hyperthyroidism. South. Med. J. 64, 462-465 (1971).
- A22. Askelof, P., Guthenberg, C., Jakobson, I., and Mannervik, B., Purification and characterization of two glutathione S-aryltransferase activities from rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 147, 513–522 (1975).
- B1. Bach, M. K., Brashier, J. R., and Morton, D. J., Solubilization and characterization of the leukotriene C4 synthetase of rat basophil leukemia cells: A novel, particulate glutathione S-transferase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 230, 455–465 (1984).
- B2. Backman, L., Appelkvist, E. L., Ringden, O., and Dallner, G., Urinary levels of basic glutathione transferase as an indicator of proximal tubular damage in renal transplant recipients. *Transplant. Proc.* 21, 1514–1516 (1989).
- B3. Backman, L., Appelkvist, E. L., Ringden, O., and Dallner, G., Appearance of glutathione transferase in urine during cyclosporin A-induced nephrotoxicity. *Kidney Int.* 33, 571–588 (1988).
- B4. Bass, N. M., Kirsch, R. E., Tuff, S. A., Campbell, J. A. H., and Saunders, S. J., Radioimmunoassay measurement of urinary ligandin excretion in nephrotoxin-treated rats. *Clin. Sci.* 56, 419–426 (1979).
- B5. Bass, N. M., Kirsch, R. E., Tuff, S. A., Marks, I., and Saunders, S. J., Ligandin heterogeneity: Evidence that the two non-identical subunits are the monomers of two distinct proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 492, 163–175 (1977).
- B6. Bass, N. M., Kirsch, R. E., Tuff, S. A., and Saunders, S. J., Radioimmunoassay of ligandin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 494, 131–143 (1977).
- B7. Bass, N. M., Kirsch, R. E., Tuff, S. A., and Saunders, S. J., Radioimmunoassay of plasma ligandin. A sensitive index of experimental hepatocellular necrosis. *Gastroenterology* 75, 589–594 (1978).
- B8. Bauman, J. H., and Kimelblatt, B. J., Cimetidine as an inhibitor of drug metabolism: Therapeutic implications and review of the literature. Drug Intell. Clin. Pharm. 16, 380–386 (1982).
- B9. Baumann, E., and Preusse, C., Verber bromophenyl-mercaptursaure. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 12, 806–810 (1879).
- B10. Beckett, G. J., Immunoassay of enzymes. Adv. Immunoassay (in press).
- B11. Beckett, G. J., Boyd, R., Beddows, S. E., and Hayes, J. D., Decreased hepatic glutathione S-transferases A, AA and L concentrations produced by prolonged thyroid hormone administration. Br. J. Pharmacol. 37, 3201–3204 (1988).
- B12. Beckett, G. J., Chapman, B. J., Dyson, E. H., and Hayes, J. D., Plasma glutathione S-transferase measurements after paracetamol overdose: Evidence for early hepatocellular damage. *Gut* 26, 26–31 (1985).
- B13. Beckett, G. J., Donovan, J. W., Hussey, A. J., Proudfoot, A. T., and Prescott, L. F., Intravenous N-acetylcysteine, hepatotoxicity and plasma glutathione S-transferase in patients with paracetamol overdosage. *Hum. Exp. Toxicol.* 9, 183–186 (1990).
- B14. Beckett, G. J., Dyson, E. H., Chapman, B. J., Templeton, A. J., and Hayes, J. D., Plasma glutathione S-transferase measurements by radioimmunoassay: A sensitive index of hepatocellular damage in man. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 146, 11–19 (1985).
- B15. Beckett, G. J., Foster, G. R., Hussey, A. J., Oliveira, D. B.G., Donovan, J. W., Prescott, L. F., and Proudfoot, A. T., Plasma glutathione S-transferase and F protein are more sensitive than alanine aminotransferase as markers of paracetamol (acetaminophen)-induced liver damage. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 35, 2186–2189 (1989).
- B16. Beckett, G. J., and Hayes, J. D., Development of specific radioimmunoassays for the measurement of human hepatic basic and N/A2b glutathione S-transferases. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 141, 267–273 (1984).

- B17. Beckett, G. J., and Hayes, J. D., Plasma glutathione S-transferase measurements and liver disease in man. J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr. 2, 1-24 (1987).
- B18. Beckett, G. J., Hayes, P. C., Hussey, A. J., Bouchier, I. A. D., and Hayes, J. D., Plasma glutathione S-transferase measurements in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 169, 85–90 (1987).
- B19. Beckett, G. J., Howie, A. F., Hume, R., Matheroo, B., Hiley, C., Jones, P., and Strange, R. C., Human glutathione S-transferases: Radioimmunoassay studies on the expression of alpha, mu, and pi class isoenzymes in developing lung and kidney. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 1036, 176–182 (1990).
- B20. Beckett, G. J., Hunter, J. E., and Hayes, J. D., Hepatic damage in the rat following administration of thyroxine or triiodothyronine, assessed by measurement of plasma glutathione S-transferase YaYa concentrations. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 161, 69–79 (1986).
- B21. Beckett, G. J., Hussey, A. J., Laing, I., Howie, A. F., Hayes, J. D., Strange, R. C., Faulder, C. G., and Hume, R., Measurements of glutathione S-transferase B<sub>1</sub> in plasma after birth asphyxia: An early indication of hepatocellular damage. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 35, 995–999 (1989).
- B22. Beckett, G. J., Kellet, H. A., Gow, S. M., Hussey, A. J., Hayes, J. D., and Toft, A. D., Elevated plasma glutathione S-transferase concentrations in hypothyroid patients receiving thyroxine replacement: Evidence for hepatic damage. *Br. Med. J.* 291, 427-431 (1985).
- B23. Benson, A. M., Cha, Y.-N., Bueding, E., Heine, H. S., and Talalay, P., Elevation of extrahepatic glutathione S-transferase and epoxide hydratase activities by 2(3)-tert-butyl-4-hydroxyanisole. *Cancer Res.* 39, 2971–2977 (1979).
- B24. Benson, A. M., Talalay, P., Keen, J. H., and Jakoby, W. B., Relationship between the soluble glutathione-dependent  $\Delta^5$ -3-ketosteroid isomerase and the glutathione S-transferases of the liver. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **74**, 158–162 (1977).
- B25. Benz, C. G., Keniry, M. A., Ford, J. M., Townsend, A. J., Cox, F. W., Palayoor, S., Matlin, S. A., Hait, W. N., and Cowan, K. H., Biochemical correlates of the antitumor and antimito-chondrial properties of gossypol enantiomers. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 37, 840–847 (1990).
- B26. Berhane, K., and Mannervik, B., Inactivation of the genotoxic aldehyde acrolein by human glutathione transferases of classes alpha, mu, and pi. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 37, 251–254 (1990).
- B27. Black, S. M., Beggs, J. D., Hayes, J. D., Bartoszek, A., Muramatsu, M., Sakai, M., and Wolf, C. R., Expression of human glutathione S-transferases in *S. cerevisiae* confers resistance to anticancer drugs. *Biochem. J.* 268, 309–315 (1990).
- B28. Blogg, C. E., Halothane and the liver: The problem revisited and made obsolete. Br. Med. J. 292, 1691–1692 (1986).
- B29. Board, P., Coggan, M., Johnston, P., Ross, V., Suzuki, T., and Webb, G., Genetic heterogeneity of the human glutathione transferases: A complex of gene families. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 48, 357–369 (1990).
- B30. Board, P. G., Biochemical genetics of glutathione S-transferase in man. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 33, 36–43 (1981).
- B31. Board, P. G., and Pierce, K., Expression of human glutathione S-transferase 2 in *Escherichia coli*. Immunological comparison with the basic glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes from human liver. *Biochem. J.* 248, 937–941 (1987).
- B32. Board, P. G., Suzuki, T., and Shaw, D. C., Human muscle glutathione S-transferase (GST-4) shows close homology to human liver GST-1. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 953, 214–217 (1988).
- B33. Board, P. G., and Webb, G. C., Isolation of a cDNA clone and localization of human glutathione S-transferase 2 genes to chromosome band 6p12. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* [PV3] 84, 2377–2381 (1987).
- B34. Board, P. G., Webb, G. C., and Coggan, M., Isolation of a cDNA clone and localization of the

human glutathione S-transferase 3 genes to chromosome bands 11q13 and 12q13-14. Ann. Hum. Genet. 53, 205-213 (1989).

- B35. Bolton, M. G., Colvin, O. M., and Hilton, J., Specificity of isozymes of murine hepatic glutathione S-transferase for the conjugation of glutathione with L-phenylalaline mustard. *Cancer Res.* 51, 2410–2415 (1991).
- B36. Booth, J., Boyland, E., and Sims, P., An enzyme from rat liver catalysing conjugations with glutathione. *Biochem. J.* **79**, 516-524 (1961).
- B37. Bora, P. S., Bora, N. S., Wu, X., and Lange, L. G., Molecular cloning, sequencing and expression of human myocardial fatty acid ethyl ester synthase-III cDNA. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 16774–16777 (1991).
- B38. Boyer, T. D., Kenney, W. C., and Zakim, D., Structural, functional and hybridization studies of the glutathione S-transferases of rat liver. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 32, 1843–1850 (1983).
- B39. Boyer, T. D., Vessey, D. A., and Kempner, E., Radiation inactivation of microsomal glutathione S-transferase. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 16963–16968 (1986).
- B40. Boyland, E., and Chasseaud, L. F., The role of glutathione and glutathione S-transferases in mercapturic acid biosynthesis. Adv. Enzymol. 32, 173–219 (1969).
- B41. Bray, H. G., Franklin, T. J., and James, S. P., The formation of mercapturic acids. 3. N-Acetylation of S-substituted cysteines in the rabbit, rat and guinea pig. *Biochem. J.* 73, 465–473 (1959).
- B42. Brown, B. R., and Gandolfi, A. J., Adverse effects of volatile anaesthetics. Br. J. Anaesth. 59, 14–23 (1987).
- B43. Buetler, T. M., and Eaton, D. L., cDNA cloning, mRNA expression and induction of Alphaclass glutathione S-transferases in mouse tissues. *Cancer Res.* 52, 314–318 (1992).
- B44. Buller, A. L., Clapper, M. L., and Tew, K. D., Glutathione S-transferase in nitrogen mustardresistant and -sensitive cell lines. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 31, 575–578 (1987).
- B45. Burgess, J. R., Chow, N. W., Reddy, C. C., and Tu, C. P., Amino acid substitutions in the human glutathione S-transferases confer different specificities in the prostaglandin endoperoxide conversion pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 158, 497–502 (1989).
- C1. Cagen, L. M., Pisano, J. J., Ketley, J. N., Habig, W. H., and Jakoby, W. B., The conjugation of prostaglandin A<sub>1</sub> and glutathione catalysed by homogenous glutathione S-transferases from human and rat liver. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 398, 205–208 (1975).
- C2. Campbell, E., Takahashi, Y., Abramovitz, M., Peretz, M., and Listowsky, I., A distinct human testis and brain mu-class glutathione S-transferase. Molecular cloning and characterization of a form present even in individuals lacking hepatic type mu isoenzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 9188–9193 (1990).
- Campbell, J. A. H., Corrigall, A. V., Guy, A., and Kirsch, R. E., Immunohistologic localization of alpha, mu and pi class glutathione S-transferases in human tissues. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 67, 1608–1613 (1991).
- C4. Carmichael, J., Forrester, L. M., Lewis, A. D., Hayes, J. D., Hayes, P. C., and Wolf, C. R., Glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes and glutathione peroxidase activity in normal and tumour samples from human lung. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 9, 1617–1621 (1988).
- C5. Carne, T., Tipping, E., and Ketterer, B., The binding and catalytic activities of forms of ligandin after modification of its thiol groups. *Biochem. J.* 177, 433–439 (1979).
- C6. Chasseaud, L. F., The role of glutathione and glutathione S-transferases in the metabolism of chemical carcinogens and other electrophilic agents. Adv. Cancer Res. 29, 175–274 (1979).
- Chaudhari, A., Anderson, M. W., and Eling, T. E., Conjugation of 15-keto-prostaglandins by glutathione S-transferase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 531, 56–64 (1978).
- Cho, S. I., Zalneraitis, B., Ohmi, N., and Arias, I. M., Prediction of cadaver kidney function by ligandin analysis. J. Surg. Res. 30, 361-364 (1981).
- C9. Chow, N. W., Whang-Peng, J., Kao-Shan, C. S., Tam, M. F., Lai, H.C., and Tu, C. P., Human

glutathione S-transferases. The Ha multigene family encodes products of different but overlapping substrate specificities. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 12797–12800 (1988).

- C10. Christ-Hazelhof, E., Nugteren, D. H., and Van Dorp, D. A., Conversion of prostaglandin endoperoxides by glutathione S-transferases and serum albumins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 450, 450-461 (1976).
- C11. Ciaccio, P. J., Tew, K. D., and LaCreta, F. P., The spontaneous and glutathione S-transferase-mediated reaction of chlorambucil with glutathione. *Cancer Commun.* 2, 279–285 (1990).
- C12. Clapper, M. L., Hoffman, S. J., and Tew, K. D., Glutathione S-transferases in normal and malignant human colon tissue. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1096, 209–216 (1991).
- C13. Clark, A. G., Smith, J. N., and Speirs, T. W., Cross specificity in some vertebrate and insect glutathione-transferases with methyl parathion (dimethyl p-nitrophenyl phosphorothionate), 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene and s-crotonyl-N-acetylcysteamine as substrates. *Biochem. J.* 135, 385–392 (1973).
- C14. Cohen, E. N., Trudell, J. R., Edmunds, H. N., and Watson, E., Urinary metabolites of halothane in man. Anesthesiology 43, 392–401 (1975).
- C15. Coles, B., and Ketterer, B., The role of glutathione and glutathione transferases in chemical carcinogenesis. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Bol. 25, 47-70 (1990).
- C16. Coles, B., Wilson, I., Wardman, P., Hinson, J. A., Nelson, S. D., and Ketterer, B., The spontaneous and enzymic reaction of N-acetyl-p-benzoquinonimine with glutathione: A stopped-flow kinetic study. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 264, 253-260 (1988).
- C17. Coombes, B., and Stakelum, G. S., A liver enzyme that conjugates sulfobromophthalein with glutathione. J. Clin. Invest. 40, 981–988 (1961).
- C18. Cossar, D., Bell, J., Strange, R. C., Jones, M., Sandison, A., and Hume, R., The alpha and pi isoenzymes of glutathione S-transferase in human fetal lung: In utero ontogeny compared with differentiation in lung organ culture. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1037, 221–226 (1990).
- C19. Cowell, I. J., Dixon, K. H., Pemble, S. E., Ketterer, B., and Taylor, J. B., The structure of the human glutathione S-transferase π gene. *Biochem. J.* 255, 79–83 (1988).
- D1. Danielson, U. H., Esterbauer, H., and Mannervik, B., Structure-activity relationships of 4hydroxyalkenals in the conjugation by mammalian glutathione S-transferase. *Biochem. J.* 247, 707–713 (1987).
- D2. DeJong, J. L., Chang, C. M., Whang-Peng, J., Knutsen, T., and Tu, C. P. D., The human liver glutathione S-transferase gene superfamily: Expression and chromosome mapping of an H<sub>b</sub> subunit cDNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 8541–8554 (1988).
- D3. DeJong, J. L., Morgenstern, R., Jornvall, H., DePierre, J. W., and Tu, C.-P. D., Gene expression of rat and human microsomal glutathione S-transferases. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 8430–8436 (1988).
- D4. Del Boccio, G., Di Ilio, C., Alin, P., Jornvall, H., and Mannervik, B., Identification of a novel glutathione transferase in human skin homologous with class alpha glutathione transferase 2-2 in the rat. *Biochem. J.* 244, 21–25 (1987).
- D5. Desmond, P. V., Patwardhan, R., Parker, R., Schenker, S., and Speeg, K. V., Effect of cimetidine and other antihistaminics on the elimination of aminopyrine, phenacetin and caffeine. *Life Sci.* 26, 1261–1268 (1980).
- D6. Di Ilio, C., Del Boccio, G., Aceto, A., Casaccia, R., Mucilli, F., and Federici, G., Elevation of glutathione transferase activity in human lung tumor. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 9, 335–340 (1988).
- D7. Di Ilio, C., Del Boccio, G., Aceto, A., and Federici, G., Alteration of glutathione transferase isoenzyme concentrations in human renal carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 8, 861–864 (1987).
- D8. Di Ilio, C., Sacchetta, P., Del Boccio, G., La-Rovere, G., and Federici, G., Glutathione

peroxidase, glutathione S-transferase and glutathione reductase activities in normal and neoplastic human breast tissue. *Cancer Lett.* 29, 37-42 (1985).

- D9. Di Ilio, C., Aceto, A., Buccianelli, J., Anjelucci, S., Felaco, M., Grilli, A., and Federici, G., Glutathione transferase isoenzymes from human prostate. *Biochem. J.* 271, 481–485 (1990).
- D10. Dulik, D. M., and Fenselau, C., Conversion of melphalan to 4-(glutathionyl)-phenylalanine. A novel mechanism for conjugation by glutathione S-transferases. *Drug. Metab. Dispos.* 195, 199 (1987).
- D11. Dulik, D. M., Fenselau, C., and Hilton, J., Characterization of melphalan-glutathione adducts whose formation is catalyzed by glutathione transferases. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 35, 3405–3409 (1986).
  - E1. Eger, E. I., Shmuckler, E. A., Ferrell, L. D., Goldsmith, C. H., and Johnson, B. H., Is enflurane hepatotoxic? *Anesth. Analg. (Cleveland)* **65**, 21–30 (1986).
  - E2. Eimoto, H., Tsutsumi, M., Nakajima, A., Yamamoto, K., Takashima, Y., Maruyama, H., and Konishi, Y., Expression of the glutathione S-transferase placental form in human lung carcinomas. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 9, 2325–2327 (1988).
  - E3. Elce, J. S., Metabolism of a glutathione conjugate of 2-hydroxyoestradiol-17beta in the adult male rat. *Biochem. J.* **126**, 1067–1071 (1972).
  - E4. Elce, J. S., and Harris, J., Conjugation of 2-hydroxyoestradiol-17beta (1,3,5(10)-estratriene-2,3-17beta-triol) with glutathione in the rat. *Science* 18, 583–592 (1971).
  - F1. Farrell, G., Prendergast, D., and Murray, M., Halothane hepatitis detection of a constitutional susceptibility factor. N. Engl. J. Med. 313, 1310–1314 (1985).
  - F2. Faulder, C. G., Hirrell, P. A., Hume, R., and Strange, R. C., Studies of the development of basic, neutral and acidic isoenzymes of glutathione S-transferase in human liver, adrenal, kidney, and spleen. *Biochem. J.* 241, 221–228 (1987).
  - F3. Favreau, L. V., and Pickett, C. B., Transcriptional regulation of the rad NAD(P)H: Quinone reductase gene. Identification of regulatory elements controlling basal level expression and inducible expression by planar aromatic compounds and phenolic antioxidants. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 4556–4561 (1991).
  - F4. Federici, G., Di Ilio, C., Sacchetta, P., Polidoro, G., and Bannister, J. V., The isolation, characterisation and kinetics of glutathione S-transferase from human platelets. *Int. J. Biochem.* 17, 653–656 (1985).
  - F5. Feinfeld, D. A., Bourgoignie, J. J., Fleischner, G., Goldstein, E. J., Biempica, L., and Arias, I. M., Ligandinuria in nephrotoxic acute tubular necrosis. *Kidney Int.* 12, 387–392 (1977).
  - F6. Feinfeld, D. A., Fleischner, G. M., and Arias, I. M., Urinary ligandin and glutathione Stransferase in gentamicin-induced nephrotoxicity in the rat. *Clin. Sci.* **61**, 123–125 (1981).
  - F7. Feinfeld, D. A., Fleischner, G. M., Goldstein, E. J., Levine, R. D., Levine, S. D., Auran, M. M., and Arias, I. M., Ligandinuria: An induction of tubular cell necrosis. Current problems. *Curr. Probl. Clin. Biochem.* 9, 273–280 (1979).
  - F8. Feinfeld, D. A., and Fuh, V. L., Urinary glutathione S-transferase in cisplatin nephrotoxicity in the rat. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem. 24, 529–532 (1986).
  - F9. Feinfeld, D. A., Sherman, R. A., Safirstein, R., Ohmi, N., Fuh, V. L., Arias, I. M., and Levine, S. D., Urinary ligandin in renal tubular cell injury. *Contrib. Nephrol.* 42, 111–117 (1984).
- F10. Fine, G. L., Goldstein, E. J., and Arias, I. M., Localization of glutathione transferase activity in the rabbit nephron using isolated segments. Adaptation in chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int.* 8, 474–479 (1975).
- F11. Finley, K. T., In "The chemistry of the quinoid compounds" (S. Patai, ed.), Part II, pp. 878-1144. Wiley, London; 1974.
- F12. Fjellstedt, T. A., Allen, R. H., Duncan, B. K., and Jakoby, W. B., Enzymatic conjugation of epoxides with glutathione. J. Biol. Chem. 248, 3702–3707 (1973).
- F13. Fleischner, G., Kamisaka, K., Gatmaitan, A., and Arias, I. M., Immunologic studies of rat and

human ligandin. In "Glutathione: Metabolism and Function" (I. M. Arias and W. B. Jakoby, eds.), pp. 259–263. Raven Press, New York; 1976.

- F14. Fleischner, G., Robbins, J., and Arias, I. M., Immunological studies of Y protein. A major cytoplasmic organic anion-binding protein in rat liver. J. Clin. Invest. 51, 677–684 (1972).
- F15. Foster, G. R., Goldin, R. D., and Oliveira, D. B. G., Serum F protein: A new sensitive and specific test of hepatocellular damage. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 184, 85–92 (1989).
- F16. Friling, R. S., Bensimon, A., Tichauer, Y., and Daniel, V., Xenobiotic-inducible expression of murine glutathione S-transferase Ya subunit gene is controlled by an electrophile-responsive element. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 6258–6262 (1990).
- F17. Friling, R. S., Bergelson, S., and Daniel, V., Two adjacent AP-I-like binding sites form the electrophile-responsive element of the murine glutathione S-transferase Ya subunit gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 668–672 (1992).
- F18. Fryer, A. A., Hume, R., and Strange, R. C., The development of glutathione S-transferase and glutathione peroxidase activities in human lung. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 883, 448–453 (1986).
- G1. Garay, G. L., Annesley, P., and Burnett, M., Prevention of experimental liver injury in rats by nicardipine, a calcium entry blocker. *Gastroenterology* **86**, 1319 (1984).
- G2. Geiger, K., Georgieff, M., and Lutz, H., Side effects of positive pressure ventilation on hepatic function and splanchnic ciculation. Int. J. Clin. Monit. Comput. 3, 103–106 (1986).
- G3. Gelboin, H. V. Benzo[a]pyrene metabolism, activation and carcinogenesis: Role and regulation of mixed-function oxidases and related enzymes. *Physiol. Rev.* **60**, 1107–1116 (1980).
- G4. Gelman, S., and Van Dyke, R., Mechanism of halothane-induced hepatotoxicity: Another step on a long path. Anesthesiology 68, 479–482 (1988).
- G5. Goldgewicht, C., Slama, G., Papox, L., and Tchobroutsky, G., Hypoglycaemic reactions in 172 Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 24, 95–99 (1983).
- G6. Gollan, J. L., Studies on the nature of complexes formed by copper with human alimentary secretions and their influence on copper absorption in the rat. *Clin. Sci. Mol. Med.* 49, 237–245 (1975).
- G7. Gow, S. M., Caldwell, G., Toft, A. D., and Beckett, G. J., Different hepatic responses to thyroxine replacement in spontaneous and 1311-induced primary hypothyroidism. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxford) 30, 505-512 (1989).
- G8. Gow, S. M., Caldwell, G., Toft, A. D., Seth, J., Hussey, A. J., Sweeting, V. M., and Beckett, G. J., Relationship between pituitary and other target organ responsiveness in hypothyroid patients receiving thyroxine replacement. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 64, 364–370 (1987).
- G9. Gow, S. M., Caldwell, G., Toft, A. D., Sweeting, V. M., and Beckett, G. J., Restoration of normal thyrotrophin secretion reduces the abnormally high glutathione S-transferase levels found in patients receiving thyroxine replacement therapy. *Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxford)* 29, 249-256 (1988).
- G10. Gram, T. E., Okine, L. K., and Gram, R. A., The metabolism of xenobiotics by certain extrahepatic organs and its relation to toxicity. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 26, 259–291 (1986).
- G11. Graminski, G. F., Kubo, Y., and Armstrong, R. N., Spectroscopic and kinetic evidence for the thiolate anion of glutathione at the active site of glutathione S-transferase. *Biochemistry* 28, 3562–3568 (1989).
- G12. Griffin, O. W., and Meister, A., Potent and specific inhibition of glutathione synthesis by buthionine sulphoxamine (S-n-Butyl homocysteine sulphoximine). J. Biol. Chem. 234, 7558– 7560 (1979).
- G13. Guthenberg, C., Akerfeldt, K., and Mannervik, B., Purification of glutathione S-transferase from human placenta. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B B33, 595–596 (1979).
- G14. Guthenberg, C., Jensson, H., Nyström, L., Osterlund, E., Tahir, M. K., and Mannervik, B., Isoenzymes of glutathione transferase in rat kidney cytosol. *Biochem. J.* 230, 609–615 (1985).

- G15. Guthenberg, C., and Mannervik, B., Purification of glutathione S-transferase from rat lung by affinity chromatography. Evidence for an enzyme form absent in rat liver. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 86, 1304–1310 (1979).
- H1. Habig, W. H., Glutathione S-transferases: Versatile enzymes of detoxification. In "Radioprotectors and Anticarcinogens" (O. F. Nygaard, and M. G. Simič, eds.), pp. 169–190. Academic Press, New York; 1983.
- H2. Habig, W. H., Keen, J. H., and Jakoby, W. B., Glutathione S-transferase in the formation of cyanide from organic thiocyanates and as an organic nitrate reductase. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 64, 501-506 (1975).
- H3. Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. J., Fleischner, G., Gatmaitan, Z., Arias, I. M., and Jakoby, W. B., The identity of glutathione S-transferase B with ligandin, a major binding protein of the liver. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 71, 3879–3882 (1974).
- H4. Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. J., and Jakoby, W. B., Glutathione S-transferase AA from rat liver. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 175, 710–716 (1976).
- H5. Habig, W. H., Pabst, M. T., and Jakoby, W. B., Glutathione S-transferases: The first enzymatic step in mercapturic acid formation. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 7130–7139 (1974).
- H6. Hall, A., Robson, C. N., Hickson, I. D., Harris, A. L., Proctor, S. J., and Cattan, A. R., Possible role of inhibition of glutathione S-transferase in the partial reversal of chlorambucil resistance by indomethacin in a chinese hamster ovary cell line. *Cancer Res.* 49, 6265–6268 (1989).
- H7. Harada, S., Abei, M., Tanaka, N., Agarwai, D. P., and Goedde, H. W., Liver glutathione S-transferase polymorphism in Japanese and its pharmacogenetic importance. *Hum. Genet.* 75, 322–325 (1987).
- H8. Harris, J. M., Meyer, D. J., Coles, B., and Ketterer, B., A novel glutathione transferase (13-13) isolated from the matrix of rat liver mitochondria having structural similarity to class Theta enzymes. *Biochem. J.* 278, 137–141 (1991).
- H9. Harrison, D. J., Immunolocalisation of glutathione S-transferase in human renal and liver diseases. In "Glutathione S-transferase and Drug Resistance" (J. D. Hayes, T. J. Mantle, and C. B. Pickett, eds.), pp. 431–440. Taylor & Francis, London; 1990.
- H10. Harrison, D. J., Kharbanda, R., Cunningham, D. S., McLellan, L. I., and Hayes, J. D., Distribution of glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes in human kidney: Basis for possible markers of renal injury. J. Clin. Pathol. 42, 624–628 (1989).
- H11. Harrison, D. J., May, L., Hayes, P. C., Haque, M. M., and Hayes, J. D., Glutathione Stransferases in alcoholic liver disease. *Gut* 31, 909–912 (1990).
- H12. Hatayama, I., Satoh, K., and Sato, K., Developmental and hormonal regulation of the major form of hepatic glutathione S-transferase in male mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 140, 581-588 (1986).
- H13. Hayes, J. D., Rat liver glutathione S-transferases. A study of the structure of the basic YbYbcontaining enzymes. *Biochem. J.* 213, 625–633 (1983).
- H14. Hayes, J. D., Purification and characterization of glutathione S-transferases P, S and N. Isolation from rat liver of Yb1 Yn protein, the existence of which was predicted by subunit hybridization in vitro. *Biochem. J.* 224, 839–852 (1984).
- H15. Hayes, J. D., Selective elution of rodent glutathione S-transferases and glyoxalase 1 from the S-hexylglutathione-sepharose affinity matrix. *Biochem. J.* 255, 913–922 (1988).
- H16. Hayes, J. D., Purification and characterisation of a polymorphic Yb-containing glutathione S-transferase, GST ψ, from human liver. *Clin. Chem. Enzyme Commun.* 1, 245–264 (1989).
- H17. Hayes, J. D., and Chalmers, J., Bile acid inhibition of basic and neutral glutathione S-transferases in rat liver. *Biochem. J.* 215, 581–588 (1983).
- H18. Hayes, J. D., Gilligan, D., Chapman, B. J., and Beckett, G. J., Purification of human hepatic glutathione S-transferases and the development of a radioimmunoassay for their measurement in plasma. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 134, 107–121 (1983).

- H19. Hayes, J. D., Judah, D. J., McLellan, L. I., Kerr, L. A., Peacock, S. D., and Neal, G. E., Ethoxyquin-induced resistance to aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub> in the rat is associated with the expression of a novel Alpha-class glutathione S-transferase subunit, Yc<sub>2</sub>, which possesses high catalytic activity for aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub>-8,9-epoxide. *Biochem. J.* **279**, 385–398 (1991).
- H20. Hayes, J. D., Judah, D. J., McLellan, L. I., and Neal, G. E., Contribution of the glutathione S-transferases to the mechanisms of resistance to aflatoxin B1. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 50, 443–472 (1991).
- H21. Hayes, J. D., Judah, D. J., Neal, G. E., and Nguyen, T., Molecular cloning and heterologous expression of a cDNA encoding a mouse glutathione S-transferase Yc subunit possessing high catalytic activity for aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub>-8,9-epoxide. *Biochem. J.* 285, 173–180 (1992).
- H22. Hayes, J. D., Kerr, L. A., and Cronshaw, A. D., Evidence that glutathione S-transferases  $B_1B_1$  and  $B_2B_2$  are the products of separate genes and that their expression in human liver is subject to inter-individual variation. *Biochem. J.* **264**, 437–445 (1989).
- H23. Hayes, J. D., Kerr, L. A., Harrison, D. J., Cronshaw, A. D., Ross, A. G., and Neal, G. E., Preferential over-expression of the class alpha rat Ya<sub>2</sub> glutathione S-transferase subunit in livers bearing aflotoxin-induced pre-neoplastic nodules. Comparison of the primary structures of Ya<sub>1</sub> and Ya<sub>2</sub> with cloned class alpha glutathione S-transferase cDNA sequences. *Biochem.* J. 268, 295-302 (1990).
- H24. Hayes, J. D., Kerr, L. A., Peacock, S. D., Cronshaw, A. D., and McLellan, L. I., Hepatic glutathione S-transferases in mice fed on a diet containing the anticarcinogenic antioxidant butylated hydroxyanisole. Isolation of mouse glutathione S-transferase heterodimers by gradient elution of the glutathione-Sepharose affinity matrix. *Biochem. J.* 277, 501–512 (1991).
- H25. Hayes, J. D., and Mantle, T. J., Inhibition of hepatic and extra hepatic glutathione S-transferases by primary and secondary bile acids. *Biochem. J.* 233, 407–415 (1986).
- H26. Hayes, J. D., and Mantle, T. J., Use of immuno-blot techniques to discriminate between the glutathione S-transferase Yf, Yk, Ya, Yn/Yb and Yc subunits and to study their distribution in extrahepatic tissues. Evidence for three immunochemically distinct groups of transferase in the rat. *Biochem. J.* 233, 779–788 (1986).
- H27. Hayes, J. D., McLellan, L. I., Stockman, P. K., Howie, A. F., Hussey, A. J., and Beckett, G. J., Human glutathione S-transferases, a polymorphic group of detoxification enzymes. *In* "Glutathione S-transferases and Carcinogenesis" (T. J. Mantle, C. B. Pickett, and J. D. Hayes, eds.), pp. 3–17. Taylor & Francis, London; 1987.
- H28. Hayes, J. D., Strange, R. C., and Percy-Robb, I. W., Identification of two lithocholic acidbinding proteins: separation of ligandin from glutathione S-transferase B. *Biochem. J.* 181, 699–708 (1979).
- H29. Hayes, J. D., Strange, R. C., and Percy-Robb, I. W., Cholic acid binding by glutathione S-transferases from rat liver cytosol. *Biochem. J.* 185, 83–87 (1980).
- H30. Hayes, J. D., Strange, R. C., and Percy-Robb, I. W., A study of the structures of the YaYa glutathione S-transferases from rat liver cytosol. Evidence that the Ya monomer is responsible for lithocholate-binding activity. *Biochem. J.* 197, 491–502 (1981).
- H31. Hayes, J. D., and Wolf, C. R., Role of glutathione transferase in drug resistance. *In* "Glutathione Conjugation: Its Mechanism and Biological Significance" (H. Sies and B. Ketterer, eds.), pp. 315–355. Academic Press, London; 1988.
- H32. Hayes, J. D., and Wolf, C. R., Molecular mechanisms of drug resistance. *Biochem. J.* 272, 281–295 (1990).
- H33. Hayes, P. C., Hayes, J. D., Hussey, A. J., Bouchier, I. A. D., and Beckett, G. J., Changes in plasma glutathione S-transferase B<sub>1</sub> concentration after alcohol ingestion in man: A measure of hepatocellular sensitivity to chronic alcohol excess. *Clin. Chem. Enzyme Commun.* 2, 189–194 (1990).
- H34. Hayes, P. C., Hussey, A.F., Keating, J., Bouchier, I. A. D., Williams, R., Beckett, G. J., and

Hayes, J. D., Glutathione S-transferase levels in autoimmune chronic active hepatitis: A more sensitive index of hepatocellular damage than aspartate aminotransferase. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **172**, 211–216 (1988).

- H35. Hayes, P. C., May, L., Hayes, J. D., and Harrison, D. J., Glutathione S-transferases in human liver cancer. *Gut* 32, 1546–1549 (1991).
- H36. Hayes, P. C., Portmann, B., Aldis, P. M., Williams, R., and Hayes, J. D., Glutathione Stransferases and human pathology. *In* "Glutathione S-Transferases and Carcinogenesis" (T. J. Mantle, C. B. Pickett, and J. D. Hayes, eds.), pp. 175–187. Taylor & Francis, London; 1987.
- H37. Hayes, P. C., Wolf, C. R., and Hayes, J. D., Blotting techniques for the study of DNA, RNA, and proteins. Br. Med. J. 299, 965–968 (1989).
- H38. Hesse, S., Jernstrom, B., Martinez, M., Moldeus, P., Christodoulides, L., and Ketterer, B., Inactivation of DNA-binding metabolites of benzo(a)pyrene and benzo(a)pyrene-7,8-dihydrodiol by glutathione and glutathione S-transferases. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 3, 757–760 (1982).
- H39. Hiley, C., Bell, J., Hume, R., and Strange, R. C., Differential expression of alpha and pi isoenzymes of glutathione S-transferase in developing human kidney. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 990, 321–324 (1989).
- H40. Hiley, C., Fryer, A., Bell, J., Hume, R., and Strange, R. C., The human glutathione Stransferases: Immunohistochemical studies of the developmental expression of Alpha- and Pi-class isoenzymes in liver. *Biochem. J.* 254, 255–259 (1988).
- H41. Hill, K. E., Hunt, R. W., Jr., Jones, R., Hoover, R. L., and Burk, R. F., Metabolism of nitroglycein by smooth muscle cells. Involvement of glutathione and glutathione S-transferases. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 43, 561–566 (1992).
- H42. Hilsted, J., Bonde-Peterson, F., and Norgaard, M. B., Haemodynamic changes in insulininduced hypoglycaemia in normal man. *Diabetologia* 26, 328-332 (1984).
- H43. Hinson, J. A., and Kadlubar, F. F., Glutathione and glutathione transferases in the detoxification of drug and carcinogen metabolites. *In* "Glutathione Conjugation: Mechanisms and Biological Significance" (H. Sies and B. Ketterer, eds.), pp. 235–280. Academic Press, London; 1988.
- H44. Hirano, K., Miwa, T., Adachi, T., Sugiura, M., Muto, Y., Yamada, M., and Okuno, F., Differential determination of cationic and anionic glutathione S-transferases by enzyme immunoassay. J. Pharmacobio-Dyn. [JNC] 7, 204-211 (1984).
- H45. Hirano, K., Watanabe, Y., Adachi, T., and Sugiura, M., Carrier proteins in human fetal serum: Bilirubin-binding abilities of albumin, alpha-fetoprotein and ligandin. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 32, 708–715 (1984).
- H46. Hiratsuka, A., Sebata, N., Kawashima, K., Okuda, H., Ogura, K., Watabe, T., Satoh, K., Hatayama, I., Tsuchida, S., Ishikawa, T., and Sato, K., A new class of rat glutathione Stransferase Yrs-Yrs inactivating reactive sulfate esters as metabolites of carcinogenic arylmethanols. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 11973–11981 (1990).
- H47. Hirrell, P. A., Hume, R., Fryer, A. A., Collins, M. F., Drew, R., Bradwell, A. R., and Strange, R. C., Studies on the developmental expression of glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes in human heart and diaphragm. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **915**, 371–377 (1987).
- H48. Hosoda, K., Okada, M., Hirata, Y., Saito, T., Arisato, N., Ishigaki, S., and Niitsu, Y., Determination of antigenic epitopes recognized by four monoclonal antibodies to glutathione Stransferase pi (GST-pi). *Hybridoma* 9, 133–142 (1990).
- H49. Howie, A. F., Bell, D., Hayes, P. C., Hayes, J. D., and Beckett, G. J., Glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes in human bronchoalveolar lavage: A possible early marker for the detection of lung cancer. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 11, 295–300 (1990).
- H50. Howie, A. F., Douglas, J. G., Ferguson, R. J., and Beckett, G. J., Plasma glutathione Stransferase Pi measurements: A possible marker for adenocarcinoma of the lung. *Clin. Chem.* (*Winston-Salem, N.C.*) 36, 453–458 (1990).

- H51. Howie, A. F., Forrester, L. M., Glancey, M. J., Schlager, J. J., Powis, G., Beckett, G. J., Hayes, J. D., and Wolf, C. R., Glutathione S-transferase and glutathione peroxidase expression in normal and tumour human tissues. *Carcinogenesis (London)* **11**, 451–458 (1990).
- H52. Howie, A. F., Hayes, J. D., and Beckett, G. J., Purification of acidic glutathione S-transferases from human lung, placenta and erythrocyte and the development of a specific radioimmunoassay for their measurement. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 177, 65–76 (1988).
- H53. Howie, A. F., Hayes, P. C., Bouchier, I. A. D., Hayes, J. D., and Beckett, G. J., Glutathione S-transferases in human bile. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 184, 269–278 (1989).
- H54. Howie, A. F., Miller, W. R., Hawkins, R. A., Hutchinson, A. R., and Beckett, G. J., Expression of glutathione S-transferase B<sub>1</sub>, B<sub>2</sub>, Mu and Pi in breast cancers and their relationship to oestrogen receptor status. *Br. J. Cancer* **60**, 834–837 (1989).
- H55. Howie, A. F., Patrick, A. W., Fisher, B. M., Collier, A., Frier, B. M., and Beckett, G. J., Plasma hepatic glutathione S-transferase concentrations after insulin-induced hypoglycaemia in normal subjects and diabetic patients. *Diabetic Med.* 6, 224–227 (1989).
- H56. Howie, A. F., Spencer, E., and Beckett, G. J. ,Measurement of plasma aspartate aminotransferase, alanine aminotransferase and glutathione S-transferase during and post-sedation by low-dose isoflurane or nidazolam. *Clin. Chem. (Winston-Salem, N.C.)* 38, 476–479 (1992).
- H57. Husby, P., Strai, K. S., Ketterer, B., and Romslo, I., Effect of ligandin on the efflux of Co-deuteroporphyrin from isolated rat liver mithchondria. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 100, 651–659 (1981).
- H58. Hussey, A. J., Aldridge, L. M., Paul, D., Ray, D. C., Beckett, G. J., and Allan, L. G., Plasma glutathione S-transferase concentration as a measure of hepatocellular integrity following a single general anaesthetic with halothane, enflurane or isoflurane. *Br. J. Anaesth.* 60, 130–135 (1988).
- H59. Hussey, A. J., and Hayes, J. D., Characterization of a human class theta glutathione Stransferase with activity towards 1-menaphthyl sulphate. *Biochem. J.* 286, 929–935 (1992).
- H60. Hussey, A. J., Hayes, J. D., and Beckett, G. J., The polymorphic expression of neutral glutathione S-transferase in human mononuclear leukocytes as measured by specific radioimmunoassay. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 36, 4013–4015 (1987).
- H61. Hussey, A. J., Howie, J., Allan, L. G., Drummond, G., Hayes, J. D., and Beckett, G. J., Impaired hepatocellular integrity during general anaesthesia, as assessed by measurement of plasma glutathione S-transferase. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 161, 19–28 (1986).
- H62. Hussey, A. J., Kerr, L. A., Cronshaw, A. D., Harrison, D. J., and Hayes, J. D., Variation in the expression of mu-class glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes from human skeletal muscle: Evidence for the existence of heterodimers. *Biochem. J.* 273, 323–332 (1991).
- H63. Hussey, A. J., Stockman, P. K., Beckett, G. J., and Hayes, J. D., Variations in the glutathione S-transferase subunits expressed in human livers. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 874, 1–12 (1986).
  - Igarashi, T., Tsuchiya, T., Shikata, Y., Sagami, F., Tagaya, O., Horie, T., and Satoh, T., Developmental aspects of a unique glutathione S-transferase subunit Yx in the liver cytosol from rats with hereditary hyperbilirubinuria. Comparison with rat fetal liver transferase subunit Y fetus. *Biochem. J.* 283, 307–311 (1992).
  - Imagawa, M., Osada, S., Okuda, A., and Muramatsu, M., Silencer binding proteins function on multiple cis-elements in the glutathione transferase P gene. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 19, 5–10 (1991).
  - International Agency for Research on Cancer, IARC Monogr. Eval. Carcinog. Risk Chem. Hum. 32, Part 1 (1983).
  - 14. International Agency for Research for Cancer, IARC Monogr. Eval. Carcinog. Risk Chem. Hum. 33, Part 2 (1992).

- J1. Jaffe, M., Ueber die nach einfuhrung von bromobenzol und chlorobenzol in organismus entsthenden schwefelthaltigen sauren. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 12, 1092–1098 (1879).
- Jakoby, W. B., The glutathione S-transferases: A group of multifunctional detoxification proteins. Adv. Enzymol. 46, 383-414 (1978).
- J3. James, O., Lesna, M., Roberts, S. H., Pulman, L., Douglas, A. P., Smith, P. A., and Watson, A. J., Liver damage after paracetamol overdose: Comparison of liver function tests, fasting serum bile acids and liver histology. *Lancet* 2, 579–581 (1975).
- J4. Jaques, G., Bepler, G., Holle, R., Wolf, M., Hannich, T., Gropp, C., and Havemann, K., Prognostic value of pretreatment carcinoembryonic antigen, neuron-specific enolase, and creatine kinase-BB levels in sera of patients with small cell lung cancer. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 62, 125–134 (1988).
- J5. Jee, R. C., Sipes, I. G., Gandolfi, A. J., and Brown, B. R., Factors influencing halothane hepatotoxicity in the rat hypoxic model. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 52, 267–277 (1980).
- J6. Jellinck, P. H., Lewis, J., and Boston, F., Further evidence for the formation of an estrogenpeptide conjugate by rat liver in vitro. *Science* 10, 329-346 (1967).
- J7. Jensson, H., Eriksson, L. C., and Mannervik, B., Selective expression of glutathione transferase isoenzymes in chemically induced preneoplastic rat hepatocyte nodules. *FEBS Lett.* 187, 115–120 (1985).
- J8. Jerina, D. M., and Lehr, R. E., The bay region: A quantum mechanical approach to aromatic hydrocarbon-induced carcinogenicity. *In* "Microsomes and Drug Oxidation" (V. Ullrich, I. Roots, A. G. Hildebrandt, R. W. Estabrook, and A. H. Conney, eds.), pp. 709–720. Pergamon, Oxford; 1977.
- J9. Jernström, B., Martinez, M., Meyer, D. J., and Ketterer, B., Glutathione conjugation of the carcinogenic and mutagenic electrophile(±)-7β,8α-dihydroxy,10α-oxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo(a)pyrene catalysed by purified rat liver glutathione transferases. *Carcinogenesis* (London) 6, 85–89 (1985).
- J10. Jones, T. W., Wallin, A., Thor, H., Gerdes, R. G., Ormstad, K., and Orrenius, S., The mechanism of pentachlorobutadienyl-glutathione nephrotoxicity studied with isolated rat renal epithelial cells. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 251, 504–513 (1986).
- K1. Kamisaka, K., Habig, W. H., Ketley, J. N., Arias, I. M., and Jakoby, W. B., Multiple forms of human glutathione S-transferase and their affinity for bilirubin. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 60, 153–161 (1975).
- K2. Kano, T., Sakai, M., and Muramatsu, M., Structure and expression of a human class  $\pi$  glutathione S-transferase messenger RNA. *Cancer Res.* 47, 5626–5630 (1987).
- K3. Kaplowitz, N., Percy-Robb, I. W., and Javitt, N. B., Role of hepatic anion-binding protein in bromosulphthalein conjugation. J. Exp. Med. 138, 483–487 (1973).
- K4. Keen, J. H., and Jakoby, W. B., Glutathione transferases. Catalysis of nucleophilic reactions of glutathione. J. Biol. Chem. 253, 5654–5657 (1978).
- K5. Ketley, J. N., Habig, W. H., and Jakoby, W. B., Binding of nonsubstrate ligands to the glutathione S-transferases. J. Biol. Chem. 250, 8670–8673 (1975).
- K6. Ketterer, B. Proteins that bind carcinogen metabolites. Biochem. J. 126, 3P-4P (1972).
- K7. Ketterer, B., Meyer, D. J., Taylor, J. B., Pemble, S., Coles, B., and Fraser, G., Glutathione S-transferases and protection against oxidative stress. *In* "Glutathione S-transferases and Drug Resistance" (J. D. Hayes, C. B. Pickett, and T. J. Mantle, eds.), pp. 97–109. Taylor & Francis, London; 1990.
- K8. Ketterer, B., Ross-Mansell, P., and Whitehead, J. K., The isolation of carcinogen-binding protein from livers of rats given 4-dimethylaminoazobenzene. *Biochem. J.* 103, 316–324 (1967).
- K9. Ketterer, B., Tan, K. H., Meyer, D. J., and Coles, B., Glutathione transferases: A possible role in the detoxication of DNA and lipid hydroperoxides. *In* "Glutathione S-transferases and

Carcinogenesis" (T. J. Mantle, C. B. Pickett, and J. D. Hayes, eds.), pp. 149–164. Taylor & Francis, London; 1987.

- K10. Kispert, A., Meyer, D. J., Lalor, E., Coles, B., and Ketterer, B., Purification and characterization of a novel rat GSH transferase of the mu class. *Biochem. J.* 260, 789–793 (1989).
- K11. Kitahara, A., and Sato, K., Immunological relationships among subunits of glutathione Stransferases A, AA, B, ligandin and hybrid formation between AA and ligandin by guanidine hydrochloride. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 103, 943–950 (1981).
- K12. Kitahara, A., Satoh, K., Nishimura, K., Ishikawa, T., Ruike, K., Sato, K., Tsuda, H., and Ito, N., Changes in molecular forms of rat hepatic glutathione S-transferase during chemical hepatocarcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 44, 2698–2703 (1984).
- K13. Klion, F. M., Segal, R., and Schaffner, F., The effect of altered thyroid function on the ultrastructure of the human liver. Am. J. Med. 50, 317–324 (1973).
- K14. Kodate, C., Fukushi, A., Narita, T., Kudo, H., Soma, Y., and Sato, K., Human placental form of glutathione S-transferase (GST  $\pi$ ) as a new immunohistochemical marker for human colonic carcinoma. *Gann* **77**, 226–229 (1986).
- K15. Korman, M. G., Hofmann, A. F., and Summerskill, W. H. J., Assessment of activity of chronic active liver disease. Serum bile acids compared with conventional tests and histology. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 290, 1399–1402 (1974).
- K16. Koskelo, K. Isoelectric focusing of glutathione S-transferases: Comparison of the acidic transferases from human liver, kidney, lung, spleen and placenta. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 43, 133–139 (1983).
- K17. Koskelo, K., Valmet, E., and Tenhunen, R., Purification and characterization of an acid glutathione S-transferase from human lung. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 41, 683–689 (1981).
- K18. Kraus, P., and Gross, B., Particle-bound glutathione S-transferases. *Enzyme* 24, 205–208 (1979).
- K19. Kraus, P., Noack, G., and Portig, J., Biodegradation of alpha-hexachlorocyclohexane II. Glutathione-mediated conversion to hydrophilic substance by particulate fractions of rat liver and by homogenates of various rat organs. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 279, 199– 202 (1973).
- L1. Lai, H.-C. J., Grove, G., and Tu, C.-P. D., Cloning and sequence analysis of a cDNA for a rat liver glutathione S-transferase Yb subunit. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 6101–6114 (1986).
- L2. Lai, H.-C. J., Li, N., Weiss, M. J., Reddy, C. C., and Tu, C.-P. D., The nucleotide sequence of a rat liver glutathione S-transferase subunit cDNA clone. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 5536–5542 (1984).
- L3. Lai, H.-C. J., Qain, B., Grove, F., and Tu, C-P. D., Gene expression of rat glutathione S-transferases. Evidence for gene conversion in the evolution of the Yb multigene family. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 11389-11395 (1988).
- L4. Laisney, V., Van Cong, N., Gross, M. S., and Frezal, J., Human genes for glutathione Stransferases. *Hum. Genet.* 68, 221–227 (1984).
- L5. Levi, A. J., Gatmaitan, Z., and Arias, I. M., Two hepatic cytoplasmic protein fractions, Y and Z, and their possible role in the hepatic uptake of bilirubin, sulfobromophthalein, and other anions. J. Clin. Invest. 48, 2156–2167 (1969).
- L6. Levi, A. J., Gatmaitan, Z., and Arias, I. M., Deficiency of hepatic organic anion-binding protein, impaired organic uptake by liver and 'physiologic' jaundice in newborn monkeys. N. Engl. J. Med. 283, 1136–1139 (1970).
- L7. Lewis, A. D., Forrester, L. M., Hayes, J. D., Wareing, C. J., Carmichael, J., Harris, A. L., Mooghen, M., and Wolf, C. R., Glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes in human tumours and tumour derived cell lines. *Br. J. Cancer* **60**, 327–312 (1989).
- L8. Li, N.-Q., Reddana, P., Thyagaraju, K., Reddy, D. C., and Tu, C.-P. D., Expression of glutathione S-transferases in rat brains. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 7596–7599 (1986).

- L9. Lieber, C. S., Hepatic and metabolic effects of alcohol (1966–1973). *Gastroenterology* 65, 821–846 (1973).
- L10. Lieber, C. S., Liver adaptation and injury in alcoholism. N. Engl. J. Med. 288, 356-362 (1974).
- L11. Listowsky, I., Kamisaka, K., Ishitani, K., and Arias, I. M., Structure and properties of ligandin. *In* "Glutathione: Metabolism and Function" (I. M. Arias and W. B. Jakoby, eds.), pp. 233–242. Raven Press, New York; 1976.
- L12. Loscalzo, J., and Freedman, J., Purification and characterisation of human platelet glutathione S-transferase. *Blood* 67, 1595–1599 (1986).
- M1. Mannervik, B., The isoenzymes of glutathione transferase. Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol. 57, 357–417 (1985).
- M2. Mannervik, B., Alin, P., Guthenberg, C., Jensson, H., Tahir, M. K., Warholm, M., and Jornvall, H., Identification of three classes of cytosolic glutathione transferase common to several mammalian species: Correlation between structural data and enzymic properties. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 7202–7206 (1985).
- M3. Mannervik, B., Awasthi, Y. C., Board, P. G., Hayes, J. D., Dillio, C., Ketterer, B., Listowsky, I., Morgenstern, R., Muramatsu, M., Pearson, W. R., Pickett, C. B., Sato, K., Widersten, M., and Wolf, C. R., Nomenclature for human glutathione transferases. *Biochem. J.* 282, 305–306 (1992).
- M4. Mannervik, B., and Danielson, U. H., Glutathione transferases—structure and catalytic activity. CRC Crit. Rev. Biochem. 23, 283–337 (1988).
- M5. Mannervik, B., and Guthenberg, C., Glutathione transferase (human placenta). In "Methods in Enzymology" (W. B. Jakoby, ed.), Vol. 77, pp. 231–235. Academic Press, New York; 1981.
- M6. Manoharan, T. H., Puchalski, R. B., Burgess, J. A., Pickett, C. B., and Fahl, W. E., Promoterglutathione S-transferase Ya cDNA hybrid genes: Expression and conferred resistance to an alkylating molecule in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 3739–3745 (1987).
- M7. Mantle, T. J., Pickett, C. B., and Hayes, J. D., eds., "Glutathione S-transferases and Carcinogenesis." Taylor & Francis, London; 1987.
- M8. Marcus, C. J., Habig, W. H., and Jakoby, W. B., Glutathione transferase from human erythrocytes. Non-identity with the enzyme from liver. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 188, 287–293 (1978).
- M9. Marks, F., and Hecker, E., Metabolism and mechanism of action of oestrogens XII. Structure and mechanism of formation of water-soluble and protein bound metabolites of oestrone in rat-liver microsomes *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 187, 250–265 (1969).
- M10. Masukawa, T., and Iwata, H., Possible regulation mechanism of microsomal glutathione S-transferase activity in rat liver. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 35, 435–438 (1986).
- M11. McLellan, L. I., and Hayes, J. D., Sex-specific constitutive expression of the pre-neoplastic marker glutathione S-transferase, YfYf, in mouse liver. *Biochem. J.* 245, 399–406 (1987).
- M12. McLellan, L. I., Kerr, L. A., Cronshaw, A. D., and Hayes, J. D., Regulation of mouse glutathione S-transferases by chemoprotectors. Molecular evidence for the existence of three distinct alpha-class glutathione S-transferase subunits, Ya1, Ya2 and Ya3, in mouse liver. *Biochem. J.* 276, 461–469 (1991).
- M13. McLellan, L. I., Wolf, C. R., and Hayes, J. D., Human microsomal glutathione S-transferase: Its involvement in the conjugation of hexachlorobuta-1,3-diene with glutathione. *Biochem. J.* 258, 87–93 (1989).
- M14. Meikle, I., Hayes, J. D., and Walker, S. W., Expression of an abundant alpha-class glutathione S-transferase in bovine and human adrenal cortex tissues. *J.Endocrinol.* 132, 83–92 (1992).
- M15. Meyer, D. J., Beale, D., Tan, K. H., Coles, B., and Ketterer, B., Glutathione transferases in primary rat hepatomas: The isolation of a form with GSH peroxidase activity. *FEBS Lett.* 184, 139–143 (1985).

- M16. Meyer, D. J., Christodoulides, L. G., Tan, K. H., and Ketterer, B., Isolation, properties and tissue distribution of rat glutathione transferase E. *FEBS Lett.* **173**, 327–330 (1984).
- M17. Meyer, D. J., Coles, B., Pemble, S. E., Gilmore, K. S., Fraser, G. M., and Ketterer, B., Theta, a new class of glutathione transferases purified from rat and man. *Biochem. J.* **274**, 409–414 (1991).
- M18. Meyer, D. J., and Ketterer, B., 5α,6α-Epoxy-cholestan-3β-ol (cholesterol alpha-oxide): A specific substrate for rat liver glutathione transferase B. FEBS Lett. 150, 499–502 (1982).
- M19. Moorghen, M., Cairns, J., Forrester, L. M., Hayes, J. D., Hall, A., Cattan, A. R., Wolf, C. R., and Harris, A. L., Enhanced expression of glutathione S-transferases in colorectal carcinoma compared to non-neoplastic mucosa. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 12, 13–17 (1991).
- M20. Morgenstern, R., and DePierre, J. W., Microsomal glutathione transferase. Purification in unactivated form and further characterization of the activation process, substrate specificity and amino acid composition. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 134, 591–597 (1983).
- M21. Morgenstern, R., DePierre, J. W., and Ernster, L., Activation of microsomal glutathione S-transferase activity by sulfhydryl reagents. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 87, 657–663 (1979).
- M22. Morgenstern, R., DePierre, J.W., and Jornvall, H., Microsomal glutathione transferase. Primary structure. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 13976–13983 (1985).
- M23. Morgenstern, R., Guthenberg, C., and DePierre, J. W., Microsomal glutathione S-transferase. Purification, initial characterization and demonstration that is not identical to the cytosolic glutathione S-transferases A, B and C. Eur. J. Biochem. 128, 243–248 (1982).
- M24. Morgenstern, R., Lundqvist, G., Jornvall, H., and DePierre, J. W., Activation of rat liver microsomal glutathione transferase by limited proteolysis. *Biochem. J.* 260, 577–582 (1989).
- M25. Morgenstern, R., Wallin, H., and DePierre, J. W., Mechanisms of activation of the microsomal glutathione transferase. *In* "Glutathione S-transferases and carcinogenesis" (T. J. Mantle, C. B. Pickett, and J. D. Hayes, eds.), pp. 29–38. Taylor & Francis, London; 1987.
- M26. Morrow, C. S., Cowan, K. H., and Goldsmith, M. E., Structure of the human genomic glutathione S-transferase gene. *Gann* 75, 3–11 (1989).
- M27. Morrow, C. S., Goldsmith, M. E., and Cowan, K. H., Regulation of human glutathione S-transferase pi gene transcription: Influence of 5'-flanking sequences and trans-activating factors which recognize AP-1-binding sites. *Gene* 88, 215–225 (1990).
- M28. Moscow, J. A., Fairchild, C. R., Madden, M. J., Ransom, D. T., Wieand, H. S., O'Brien, E. E., Poplack, D. G., Cossman, J., Myers, C. E., and Cowan, K. H., Expression of anionic glutathione S-transferase and P-glycoprotein genes in human tissues and tumors. *Cancer Res.* 49, 1422– 1428 (1989).
- M29. Moscow, J. A., Townsend, A. J., Goldsmith, M. E., Whang-Peng, J., Vickers, P. J., Poisson, R., Legault-Poisson, S., Myers, C. E., and Cowan, K. H., Isolation of the human anionic glutathione S-transferase cDNA and the relation of its gene expression to estrogen-receptor content in primary breast cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 6518–6522 (1988).
- M30. Murray, J. M., Rowlands, B. J., and Trinick, T. R., Indocyanine green clearance and hepatic function during and after prolonged anaesthesia: Comparison of halothane and isoflurane. Br. J. Anaesth. 68, 168–171 (1992).
  - N1. Neuberger, J., and Williams, R., Halothane anaesthesia and liver damage. Br. Med. J. 289, 1136-1139 (1984).
  - N2. Nicholson, D. W., Ali, A., Klemba, M. W., Munday, N. A., Zamboni, R. J., and Ford-Hutchinson, A. W., Human leukotriene C<sub>4</sub> synthase expression in dimethyl sulfoxide-differentiated U937 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 17849–17857 (1992).
  - N3. Nicholson, D. W., Ali, A., Vaillancourt, J. P., Calaycay, J. R., Mumford, R. A., Zamboni, R. J., and Ford-Hutchinson, A. W., Purification to homogeneity and the N-terminal sequence of

a human leukotriene C<sub>4</sub> synthase: A homodimeric glutathione S-transferase composed of 18-kDa subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **90**, 2015–2019 (1993).

- N4. Niitsu, Y., Takahashi, Y., Saito, T., Hirata, Y., Arisato, N., Maruyama, H., Kohgo, Y., and Listowsky, I., Serum glutathione S-transferase-π as a tumor marker for gastrointestinal malignancies. *Cancer (Philadelphia)* 63, 317–323 (1989).
- Odell, G. B., Mogilevsky, W. S., Smith, P. B. W., and Frenselau, C., Identification of glutathione conjugates of the dimethyl ester of bilirubin in the bile of Gunn Rats. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 40, 597-605 (1991).
- O2. Ogura, K., Nishiyama, T., Okada, T., Kajita, J., Narihata, H., Watabe, T., Hiratsuka, A., and Wataba, T., Molecular cloning and amino acid sequencing of rat liver class theta glutathione S-transferase Yrs-Yrs inactivating reactive sulphate esters of carcinogenic aryl methanols. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 181, 1294–1300 (1991).
- O3. Ohmi, N., and Arias, I. M., Ligandinemia in primary liver cell cancer in rat and man. *Hepatology* 1, 316–318 (1981).
- O4. Ohmi, N., Ghargava, M., and Arias, I. M., Binding of 3-methyl-N,N-dimethyl-4-aminoazebenzene metabolites to rat liver cytosol proteins and ligandin subunits. *Cancer Res.* 41, 3461-3464 (1981).
- O5. Okuda, A., Imagawa, M., Maeda, Y., Sakai, M., and Muramatsu, M., Structural and functional analysis of an enhancer GPEI having a phorbol 12-0-tetradecanoate 13-acetate responsive element-like sequence found in the rat glutathione transferase P gene. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 16919–16926 (1989).
- O6. Okuda, H., Miwa, K., Nojima, H., and Watabe, T., Inactivation of the carcinogen S-hydroxymethylchrysene by glutathione conjugation via a sulphate ester in hepatic cytosol. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 35, 4573–4576 (1986).
- O7. Okuda, H., Nojima, H., Watanabe, N., and Watabe, T., Sulphotransferase-mediated activation of the carcinogen 5-hydroxymethyl-chrysene. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 38, 3003–3009 (1989).
- O8. Oppenoorth, F. J., van der Pas, L. J. T., and Hous, N. W. H., Glutathione S-transferase and hydrolytic activity in a tetrachlorvinphos-resistant strain of house fly and their influence on resistance. *Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.* 11, 176–188 (1979).
- P1. Pabst, M. J., Habig, W. H., and Jakoby, W. B., Glutathione S-transferase A. A novel kinetic mechanism in which the major reaction pathway depends on substrate concentration. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 7140-7150 (1974).
- P2. Partridge, C. A., Dao, D. D., and Awasthi, Y. C., Glutathione S-transferases of lung: Purification and characterization of human lung glutathione S-transferases. *Lung* 162, 27–36 (1984).
- P3. Patrick, A. W., Fisher, B. M., Collier, A., Howie, A. F., and Frier, B. M., Liver function tests after hypoglycaemia in insulin-dependent diabetic patients. *Pract.Diabetes* 5, 114–115 (1988).
- P4. Pearce, C. J., and Himsworth, R. L., Total and free thyroid hormone concentrations in patients receiving maintenance replacement treatment with thyroxine. *Br. Med. J.* 288, 693–695 (1984).
- P5. Pearson, W. R., Windle, J. J., Morrow, J. F., Benson, A. M., and Talalay, P., Increased synthesis of glutathione S-transferases in response to anticarcinogenic antioxidants. Cloning and measurement of messenger RNA. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 2052–2062 (1983).
- P6. Pemble, S. E., and Taylor, J. B., An evolutionary perspective on glutathione transferases inferred from class theta cDNA sequences. *Biochem. J.* 287, 957–963.
- P7. Peters, W. H. M., Kock, L., Nagengast, F. M., and Roelofs, H. M. J., Immunodetection with a monoclonal antibody of glutathione S-transferase mu in patients with and without carcinomas. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 39, 591-597 (1990).
- P8. Pickett, C. B., Telakowski-Hopkins, C. A., Ding, G. J.-F., Argenbright, L., and Lu, A. Y. H., Rat liver glutathione S-transferases. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 5182–5188 (1984).

- P9. Plummer, J. L., Wanwimolruk, S., Jenner, M. A., Hall, P. M., and Cousins, M. J., Effects of cimetidine and ranitidine on halothane metabolism and hepatotoxicity in an animal model. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 12, 106–110 (1984).
- P10. Pohl, L. R., and Gillette, J. R., A perspective on halothane-induced hepatoxicity. Anesth. Analg. (Cleveland) 61, 809–811 (1982).
- P11. Prescott, L. F., and Critchley, J. A. J. H., The treatment of acetaminophen poisoning. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 23, 87–101 (1983).
- P12. Prescott, L. F., Illingworth, R. N., Critchley, J. A. J. H., Stewart, M. J., Adam, R. D., and Proudfoot, A. T., Intravenous N-acetylcysteine: The treatment of choice for paracetamol poisoning. *Br. Med. J.* 2, 1097–1100 (1979).
- P13. Prohaska, J. R., and Ganther, H. E., Glutathione peroxidase activity of glutathione S-transferases purified from rat liver. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 76, 437–445 (1977).
- P14. Puchalski, R. B., and Fahl, W. E., Expression of recombinant glutathione S-transferase pi, Ya, or Yb<sub>1</sub> confers resistance to alkylating agents. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 2443–2447 (1990).
- Q1. Quinn, B. A., Crane, T. L., Kocal, T. E., Best, S. J., Cameron, R. G., Rushmore, T. H., Farber, E., and Hayes, M. A., Protective activity of different hepatic cytosolic glutathione S-transferases against DNA-binding metabolites of aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub>. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 105, 351-363 (1990).
- R1. Ramsdell, H. S., and Eaton, D. L., Mouse liver glutathione S-transferase isoenzyme activity toward aflatoxin B<sub>1</sub>-8,9-epoxide and benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-dihydrodiol-9,10-epoxide. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 105, 216-225 (1990).
- R2. Rappaport, A. M., Morphologic aspects and physiological regulation. Int. Rev. Physiol. 21, 1-63 (1980).
- R3. Ray, D. C., Beckett, G. J., Hayes, J.D., and Drummond, G. C., The effect of nicardipine infusion on the release of glutathione S-transferase following halothane anaesthesia. Br. J. Anaesth. 62, 553–559 (1988).
- R4. Ray, D. C., Howie, A. F., Beckett, G. J., and Drummond, G. B., Preoperative cimetidine does not prevent subclinical halothane hepatotoxicity in man. Br. J. Anaesth. 63, 531–535 (1989).
- R5. Reinemer, P., Dirr, H. W., Ladenstein, R., Schaffer, J., Gallay, O., and Huber, R., The three-dimensional structure of class pi glutathione S-transferase in complex with glutathione sulfonate at 2.3 A resolution. *EMBO J.* **10**, 1997–2005 (1991).
- R6. Reuben A., Biliary proteins. Hepatology 4, 46s-50s (1984).
- R7. Rhoads, D. M., Zarlengo, R. P., and Tu, C.-P. D., The basic glutathione S-transferases from human livers are products of separate genes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 145, 474–487 (1987).
- R8. Robertson, I. G. C., Guthenberg, C., Mannervik, B., and Jernström, B., Differences in stereoselectivity and catalytic efficiency of three human glutathione transferases in the conjugation of glutathione with 7β-,8α-dihydroxy-9α,10α-oxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydrobenzo(a)pyrene. *Cancer Res.* 46, 2220–2224 (1986).
- R9. Robertson, I. G. C., and Jernström, B., The enzymatic conjugation of glutathione with bayregion diol-epoxides of benzo(a)pyrene, benz(a)anthracene and chrysene. *Carcinogenesis* (London) 7, 1633-1636 (1986).
- R10. Robson, C. N., Lewis, A. D., Wolf, C. R., Hayes, J. D., Hall, A., Proctor, S. J., Harris, A. L., and Hickson, I. D., Reduced levels of drug-induced DNA cross-linking in nitrogen mustardresistant Chinese hamster ovary cells expressing elevated glutathione S-transferase activity. *Cancer Res.* 47, 6022–6027 (1987).
- R11. Rogerson, K. S., Mitchell, D., Lawton, A., Ibbotson, R., Cotton, W., and Strange, R. C., Studies on the glutathione S-transferase of human platelets. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 122, 407–412 (1984).

- R12. Rubin, E., and Rottenberg, H., Ethanol-induced injury and adaptation in biological membranes. *Fed. Proc. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol.* **41**, 2465–2471 (1982).
- R13. Rushmore, T. H., Morton, W. R., and Pickett, C. B., The antioxidant responsive element. Activation by oxidative stress and identification of the DNA consensus sequence required for functional activity. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 11632–11639 (1991).
- R14. Rushmore, T. H., King, R. G., Paulson, K. E., and Pickett, C. B., Regulation of glutathione S-transferase Ya subunit gene expression: Identification of a unique xenobiotic-responsive element controlling inducible expression by planar aromatic compounds. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 87, 3826–3830 (1990).
  - Sakai, M., Okuda, A., and Muramatsu, M., Multiple regulatory elements and phorbol 12-Otetradecanoate 13-acetate responsiveness of the rat placental glutathione transferase gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 9456–9460 (1988).
  - Salmela, P. L., Sontaniemi, E. A., and Maentausta, O., Liver function tests in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 7, 248-254 (1984).
  - Samuels, A. R., Freedman, J. H., and Bhargava, M. M., Purification and characterization of a novel abundant protein in rat bile that binds azo dye metabolites and copper. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **759**, 23–31 (1983).
  - S4. Sarrif, A. M., Bertram, J. S., Kamarck, M., and Heidelberger, C., The isolation and characterization of polycyclic hydrocarbon-binding proteins from mouse liver and skin cytosols. *Cancer Res.* 35, 816–824 (1975).
  - S5. Sarrif, A. M., Danenberg, P. V., Heidelberger, C., and Ketterer, B., Separate identifies of ligandin and the h-protein, a major protein to which carcinogenic hydrocarbons are covalently bound. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **70**, 869–877 (1976).
  - Sarrif, A. M., McCarthy, K. L., Nesnow, S., and Heidelberger, C., Separation of glutathione S-transferase activities with epoxides from mouse liver h-protein, a major polycyclic hydrocarbon-binding protein. *Cancer Res.* 38, 1438–1443 (1978).
  - Sato, K., Glutathione transferases as markers of preneoplasia and neoplasic. Adv. Cancer Res. 52, 205–255 (1989).
  - Sato, K., Kitahara, A., Satoh, K., Ishikawa, T., Tatematsu, M., and Ito, N., The placental form of glutathione S-transferase as a new marker protein for preneoplasia in rat chemical hepatocarcinogenesis. *Gann* 75, 199–202 (1984).
  - S9. Satoh, K., Kitahara, A., Soma, Y., Inaba, Y., Hatayama, I., and Sato, K., Purification and distribution of placental glutathione transferase: A new marker enzyme for preneoplastic cells in the rat chemical hepatocarcinogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 3964–3968 (1985).
- Scully, N. C., and Mantle, T. J., Tissue distribution and subunit structures of the multiple forms of glutathione S-transferase in the rat. *Biochem. J.* 193, 367–370 (1981).
- Seidegard, J., De-Pierre, J. W., Birberg, W., Pilotti, A., and Pero, R. W., Characterization of soluble glutathione transferase activity in resting mononuclear leukocytes from human blood. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 33, 3053–3058 (1984).
- S12. Seidegard, J., Guthenberg, C., Pero, R. W., and Mannervik, B., The trans-stilbene oxide-active glutathione transferase in human mononuclear leucocytes is identical with the hepatic glutathione transferase mu. *Biochem. J.* 246, 783–785 (1987).
- S13. Seidegard, J., and Pero, R. W., The hereditary transmission of high glutathione transferase activity towards trans-stilbene oxide in human mononuclear leukocytes. *Hum. Genet.* 69, 66–68 (1985).
- S14. Seidegard, J., Pero, R. W., Markowitz, M. M., Roush, G., Miller, D. G., and Beattie, E. J., Isoenzyme(s) of glutathione transferase (class Mu) as a marker for the susceptibility to lung cancer: A follow up study.*Carcinogenesis (London)* 11, 33–36 (1990).
- S15. Seidegard, J., Pero, R. W., Miller, D. G., and Beattie, E. J., A glutathione transferase in human

376

leukocytes as a marker for the susceptibility to lung cancer. Carcinogenesis (London) 7, 751-753 (1986).

- S16. Seidegard, J., Vorachek, W. R., Pero, R. W., and Pearson, W. R., Hereditary differences in the expression of the human glutathione transferase active on trans-stilbene oxide are due to a gene deletion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 7293–7297 (1988).
- S17. Seth, J., Kellett, H. A., Caldwell, G., Sweeting, V. M., Beckett, G. J., Gow, S. M., and Toft, A. D., A sensitive immunoradiometric assay for serum thyroid stimulating hormone: A replacement for the thyrotrophin-releasing hormone test? *Br. Med. J.* 289, 1334–1336 (1984).
- Shea, T. C., Kelley, S. L., and Henner, W. D., Identification of an anionic form of glutathione transferase present in many human tumors and human tumor cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 48, 527–533 (1988).
- S19. Sheridan, P., Thyroid hormones and the liver. Clin. Gastroenterol. 12, 797-818 (1983).
- Sherman, M., Bass, N. M., Campbell, J. A. H., and Kirsch, R. E., Radioimmunoassay of human ligandin. *Hepatology* 3, 162–169 (1983).
- S21. Sherman, R. A., Feinfeld, D. A., Ohmi, N., Arias, I. M., and Levine, S. D., A prospective study of urinary ligandin in patients at risk of renal tubular injury. *Uremia Invest.* 8, 111–115 (1985).
- S22. Shimabukuro, R. H., Frear, D. S., Swanson, H. R., and Walsh, W. C., Glutathione conjugation, an enzymatic basis for atrazine resistance in corn. *Plant Physiol.* 47, 10–14 (1971).
- S23. Shiratori, Y., Soma, Y., Maruyama, H., Sato, S., Takano, A., and Sato, K., Immunohistochemical detection of the placental form of glutathione S-transferase in dysplastic and neoplastic human uterine cervix lesions. *Cancer Res.* 47, 6806 (1987).
- S24. Simons, P. C., and Vander Jagt, D. L., Purification of glutathione S-transferases from human liver by glutathione-affinity chromatography. *Anal. Biochem.* 82, 334–341 (1977).
- S25. Singh, S. V., Ahmad, H., Kurosky, A., and Awasthi, Y. C., Purification and characterisation of unique glutathione S-transferases from human muscle. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 264, 13–22 (1988).
- S26. Singh, S. V., Kurosky, A., and Awasthi, Y. C., Human liver glutathione S-transferase ψ. Chemical characterisation and secondary-structure comparison with other mammalian glutathione S-transferases. *Biochem. J.* 243, 61–67 (1987).
- S27. Singh, V. S., Leal, T., Ansari, G. A. S., and Awasthi, Y. C., Purification and characterization of glutathione S-transferase of human kidney. *Biochem. J.* 246, 179–186 (1987).
- S28. Slater, T. F., Free-radical mechanisms of tissue injury. Biochem. J. 222, 1-15 (1984).
- Soderström, M., Hammarström, S., and Mannervik, B., Leukotriene C<sub>4</sub> synthase in mouse, mastocytoma cells. An enzyme distinct from cytosolic and microsomal glutathione transferases. *Biochem. J.* 250, 713–718 (1988).
- S30. Soderström, M., Mannervik, B., Orning, L., and Hammarström, S., Leukotriene C<sub>4</sub> formation catalysed by three distinct forms of human cytosolic glutathione transferase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 128, 265–270 (1985).
- Soler, N. G., and Khardori, R., Liver enzyme abnormalities after insulin-induced hypoglycaemic coma. Br. Med. J. 291, 1541 (19850.
- Soloway, R. D., Summerskill, W. H. J., and Boggenstoss, A. H., Clinical biochemical and histological remission of severe chronic active liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 63, 820–833 (1972).
- S33. Soma, Y., Satoh, K., and Sato, K., Purification and subunit-structural and immunological characterization of five glutathione S-transferases in human liver, and the acidic form as a hepatic tumor marker. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 869, 247–258 (1986).
- S34. Somfai-Relle, S., Suzukake, K., Vistica, B. P., and Vistica, D. T., Reduction in cellular glutathione by buthionine sulphoximine and sensitization of murine tumour cells resistant to L-phenylalanine mustard. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 33, 485 (1984).
- S35. Stockman, P. K., Beckett, G. J., and Hayes, J. D., Identification of a basic hybrid glutathione

S-transferase from human liver. Glutathione S-transferase  $\delta$  is composed of two distinct subunits (B<sub>1</sub> and B<sub>2</sub>). *Biochem. J.* 227, 457–465 (1985).

- S36. Stockman, P. K., and Hayes, J. D., Identification of a Yb-containing glutathione S-transferase (GST φ) in human liver with an acidic pi value. *In* "Glutathione S-transferase and Carcinogenesis" (T. J. Mantle, C. B. Pickett, and J. D. Hayes, eds.), pp. 41–42. Taylor & Francis, London; 1987.
- S37. Stockman, P. K., McLellan, L. I., and Hayes, J. D., Characterization of the basic glutathione S-transferase B<sub>1</sub> and B<sub>2</sub> subunits from human liver. *Biochem. J.* 244, 55–61 (1987).
- S38. Stoelting, R. K., Blitt, C. D., Cohen, P. J., and Merin, R. G., Hepatic dysfunction after isoflurane anaesthesia. Anesth. Analg. (Cleveland) 66, 147–153 (1987).
- S39. Strange, R. C., Hepatic bile flow. Physiol. Rev. 64, 1055-1102 (1984).
- S40. Strange, R. C., Davis, B. A., Faulder, C. G., Cotton, W., Bain, A. D., Hopkinson, D. A., and Hume, R., The human glutathione S-transferases: Developmental aspects of the GST1, GST2, and GST3 loci. *Biochem. Genet.* 23, 1011–1028 (1985).
- S41. Strange, R. C., Faulder, C. G., Davis, B. A., Hume, R., Brown, J. A. H., Cotton, W., and Hopkinson, D. A., The human glutathione S-transferases: Studies on the tissue distribution and genetic variation of the GST1, GST2 and GST3 isozymes. Ann. Hum. Genet. 48, 11–20 (1984).
- S42. Strange, R. C., Fryer, A. A., Hiley, C., Bell, J., Cosser, D., and Hume, R., Developmental expression of GST in human tissues. *In* "Glutathione S-transferase and Drug Resistance" (J. D. Hayes, T. J. Mantle, and C. B. Pickett, eds.), pp. 262–271. Francis & Taylor, London; 1990.
- S43. Strange, R. C., Hirrell, P. H., Kitley, G. A., Hopkinson, D. A., and Cotton, W., Erythrocyte glutathione S-transferase. *Biochem. J.* 215, 213–216 (1983).
- S44. Strange, R. C., Howie, A. F., Hume, R., Matheroo, B., Bell, J., Hiley, C., Jones, P., and Beckett, G. J., Radioimmunoassay studies of the developmental expression of alpha, mu and pi class glutathione S-transferases in developing human liver. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 993, 186–190 (1989).
- S45. Strange, R. C., Matharoo, B., Faulder, G. C., Jones, P., Cotton, W., Elder, J. B., and Deakin, M., The human glutathione S-transferases: A case-control study of the incidence of the GST 1-0 phenotype in patients with adenocarcinoma. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 12, 25–28 (1991).
- S46. Suguoka, Y., Kano, T., Okuda, A., Sakai, M., Kitagawa, T., and Muramatsu, M., Cloning and the nucleotide sequence of rat glutathione S-transferase P cDNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 13, 6049–6057 (1985).
- Surh, J., Lai, C.-C., Miller, J. A., and Miller, E. C., Hepatic DNA and RNA adduct formation from the carcinogen 7-hydroxymethyl-12-methylbenz[a]anthracene and its electrophilic sulphuric acid ester metabolite in pre-weaning rats and mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 144, 576-582 (1987).
- S48. Suzuki, T., and Board, P. D., The gene for glutathione S-transferase 3 (GST 3) is on chromosome 11. Somatic Cell Mol. Genet. 10, 319–320 (1984).
- S49. Suzuki, T., Coggan, M., Shaw, D. C., and Board, P. G., Electrophoretic and immunological analysis of human glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes. Ann. Hum. Genet. 51, 95–106 (1987).
- S50. Suzuki, T., Shaw, D. C., and Board, P. G., Purification and characterization of acidic glutathione S-transferase 6 from human brain. *Biochem. J.* 274, 405–408 (1991).
- T1. Talcott, R. E., and Levin, V. A., Glutathione-dependent denitrosation of N<sub>1</sub>N-bis(2-chloroethyl)-N-nitrosourea (BCNU): Nitrite release catalysed by mouse liver cytosol in vitro. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 11, 175–176 (1983).
- T2. Tan, K. H., Meyer, D. J., Belin, J., and Ketterer, B., Inhibition of microsomal lipid peroxidation by glutathione transferase B and AA. Role of endogenous phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>. *Biochem. J.* 220, 243–252 (1984).
- T3. Tan, K. H., Meyer, D. J., Coles, B., and Ketterer, B., Thymine hydroperoxide, a substrate for

rat Se-dependent glutathione peroxidase and glutathione transferase isoenzymes. *FEBS Lett.* **207**, 231–233 (1986).

- T4. Tan, K. H., Meyer, D. J., Gillies, N., and Ketterer, B., Detoxification of DNA hydroperoxide by glutathione transferases and the purification and characterization of glutathione transferases of the rat liver nucleus. *Biochem. J.* 254, 841–845 (1988).
- T5. Tateoka, N., Tsuchida, S., Soma, Y., and Sato, K., Purification and characterization of glutathione S-transferases in human kidney. *Clin. Chim. Acta* **166**, 207–218 (1987).
- T6. te Koppele, J. M., Pharmacokinetics and stereoselectivity of glutathione conjugation. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Leiden, The Netherlands (1988).
- T7. Telakowski-Hopkins, C. A., Rodkey, J. A., Bennett, C. D., Lu, A. Y. H., and Pickett, C. B., Rat liver glutathione S-transferases. Construction of a cDNA clone complementary to a Yc mRNA and prediction of the complete amino acid sequence of a Yc subunit. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 5820–5825 (1985).
- T8. Tew, K. D., Bomber, A. M., and Hoffman, S. J., Ethacrynic acid and piriprost as enhancers of cytotoxicity in drug resistant and sensitive cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 48, 3622–3625 (1988).
- T9. Tipping, E., and Ketterer, B., The influence of soluble binding proteins on lipophile transport and metabolism in hepatocytes. *Biochem. J.* **195**, 441–452 (1981).
- T10. Tsuchida, S., Naki, T., and Sato, K., Purification and characterization of glutathione transferases with an activity toward nitroglycerin from human aorta and heart. Multiplicity of the human class Mu forms. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 7150–7157 (1990).
- T11. Tsuchida, S., Sekine, Y., Shineha, R., Nishihira, T., and Sato, K., Elevation of the placental glutathione S-transferase form (GST  $\pi$ ) in tumour tissues and the levels in sera of patients with cancer. *Cancer Res.* **49**, 5225–5229 (1989).
- T12. Tsuchida, S., Maki, T., and Sato, K., Purification and characterization of glutathione transferases with an activity toward nitroglycerin from human aorta and heart. Multiplicity of the human class Mu forms. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 7150–7157 (1990).
- T13. Tsuru, M., Kamisaka, K., Hirano, M., and Kameda, H., Quantification of human serum ligandin by radioimmunoassay. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 84, 251–253 (1978).
- T14. Tu, C.-P. D., Weiss, M. J., Li, N.-Q., and Reddy, C. C., Tissue specific expression of the rat glutathione S-transferases. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 4659–4662 (1984).
- T15. Tu, C. D., and Qian, B., Human liver glutathione S-transferase: Complete primary sequence of an H<sub>a</sub> subunit cDNA. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 141, 229–237 (1986).
- V1. Vale, J. A., Meredith, T. J., and Goulding, R., Treatment of acetaminophen poisoning. Arch. Intern. Med. 141, 394–396 (1981).
- V2. van Bladeren, P. J., Ommen, B. V., and Vos, R. M. E., Toxication reactions catalysed by GST: Inhibition of GST by reactive conjugates. *In* "Glutathione S-transferases and Drug Resistance" (J. D. Hayes, C. B. Pickett, and T. J. Mantle, eds.), pp. 131–140. Taylor & Francis, London; 1990.
- V3. Vander Jagt, D. L., Hunsaker, L. A., Garcia, K. B., and Roger, R. E., Isolation and characterisation of the multiple glutathione S-transferases from human liver. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 11603– 11610 (1985).
- V4. van Ommen, B., Bogaards, J. J. P., Peters, W. H. M., Blaauboer, B., and van Bladeren, P. J., Quantification of human hepatic glutathione S-transferases. *Biochem. J.* 269, 609–613 (1990).
- V5. Vina, J., Saez, G. T., Wiggins, D., Roberts, A. F. C., Hems, R., and Krebs, H. A., The effect of cysteine oxidation on isolated hepatocytes. *Biochem. J.* 212, 39–44 (1983).
- V6. Vorachek, W. R., Pearson, W. R., and Rule, G. S., Cloning, expression, and characterization of a class-mu glutathione transferase from human muscle, the product of the GST4 locus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 4443–4447 (1991).
- W1. Wang, A. L., and Tew, K. D., Increased glutathione S-transferase activity in a cell line with acquired resistance to nitrogen mustards. *Cancer Treat. Rep.* 69, 677–682 (1985).

- W2. Warholm, M., Guthenberg, C., and Mannervik, B., Molecular and catalytic properties of glutathione transferase mu from human liver. An enzyme efficiently conjugating epoxides. *Biochemistry* 22, 3610–3617 (1983).
- W3. Warholm, M., Guthenberg, C., Mannervik, B., and von Bahr, C., Purification of a new glutathione S-transferase (transferase μ) from human liver having a high activity with benzo(a)pyrene-4,5-oxide. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 98, 512–519 (1981).
- W4. Warholm, M., Guthenberg, C., Mannervik, B., von Bahr, C., and Glaumann, H., Identification of a new glutathione S-transferase in human liver. Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. B B34, 607–621 (1980).
- W5. Watabe, T., Fujieda, T., Hiratsuka, A., Ishizuka, T., Hakamata, Y., and Ogura, K., The carcinogen, 7-hydroxymethyl-12-methyl benz(a)anthracene, is activated and covalently binds to DNA via a sulphate ester. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 34, 3002–3005 (1985).
- W6. Watabe, T., Hakamata, Y., Hiratsuka, A., and Ogura, K., A 7-hydroxymethyl sulphate ester as an active metabolite of the carcinogen, 7-hydroxymethyl benze(a)anthracene. *Carcinogenesis* (London) 7, 207–214 (1986).
- W7. Watabe, T., Hiratsuka, A., and Ogura, K., Sulphotransferase-mediated covalent binding of the carcinogen 7,12-dihydroxymethyl benz(a)anthracene to calf thymus DNA and its inhibition by glutathione transferase. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 8, 445–453 (1987).
- W8. Watabe, T., Ishizuka, T., Ozawa, N., and Isobe, M., Conjugation of 7-hydroxymethyl-12methylbenz(a)anthracene (7-HMBA) with glutathione via a sulphate ester in hepatic cytosol. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 31, 2542–2544 (1982).
- W9. Widersten, M., Pearson, W. R., Engström, A., and Mannervik, B., Heterologous expression of the allelic variant mu-class glutathione transferases mu and psi. *Biochem. J.* 276, 519–524 (1991).
- W10. Williams, D. L. H., S-nitrosation and the reactions of S-nitroso compounds. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 14, 171–196 (1985).
- W11. Wolf, C. R., Berry, P. N., Nash, J. A., Green, T., and Lock, E. A., Role of microsomal and cytosolic glutathione S-transferases in the conjugation of hexachloro-1:3-butadiene and its possible relevance to toxicity. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 228, 202–208 (1984).
- W12. Wood, M., Berman, M. L., and Harbison, R. D., Halothane-induced hepatic necrosis in triiodothyronine pre-treated rats. *Anesthesiology* 52, 470–476 (1980).
- W13. Wood, M., Uetrecht, J., Phythyon, J. M., Shay, S., Sweetman, B. J., Shaheen, O., and Wood, J. J., The effect of cimetidine on anesthetic metabolism and toxicity. *Anesth. Analg. (Cleveland)* 65, 481–488 (1986).
- W14. Wright, E. C., Seef, L. B., and Berk, P. D., Treatment of chronic active hepatitis: An analysis of three controlled trials. *Gastroenterology* 73, 1422 (1977).
  - Y1. Yamada, T., and Kaplowitz, N., Binding of ethacrynic acid to hepatic glutathione S-transferases in vivo in the rat. Biochem. Pharmacol. 29, 1205–1208 (1980).
  - Z1. Zhong, S., Howie, A. F., Ketterer, B., Taylor, J. B., Hayes, J. D., Beckett, G. J., Wathen, C. G., Wolf, C. R., and Spurr, N. K., Glutathione S-transferase mu locus: Use of genotyping and phenotyping assays to assess association with lung cancer susceptibility. *Carcinogenesis (London)* 12, 1533–1537 (1991).

# INDEX

### A

Acetaminophen poisoning, 331-334 N-Acetylcysteine, 331, 334 Acridine-9-carboxylic acid substituted conversion, 128 synthesis, 127 synthesis, 128 Acridinium amide, sulfonyl derivatives, 130 Acridinium esters, 126-138 acid-base equilibrium, 129 chemiluminescence mechanisms, 126-131 peroxide-induced, 128-129 clinical applications, 132-135 derivatives, 135-136 instrumentation developments for, 136 as labels, 131-132 in nucleic acid detection, 136-138 structure, 127 Adamantyl aromatic dioxetanes, chemiluminescent decomposition, 149-150 bis-Adamantyl dioxetane, 142-145 Adamantyl naphthyl dioxetanes, chemiluminescence, 147-148 Adamantyl meta-phenyl phosphate dioxetane adamantyl ring modifications, 152 alkaline-phosphatase-triggered cleavage, 149, 151 Alcohol acute ingestion, 336-348 induced cirrhosis, 348-349 Allograft rejection, cytokine measurement in, 44-47 N-Aminobutyl-N-ethylisoluminol, structure, 112 Analgesia, induction by cytokines, 27 Anesthesia, halothane, enflurane, or isoflurane, 340-346

Antigens human leukocyte, *see* Human leukocyte antigen MAC, 228–229 major histocompatibility complex, 230 Arrhenius energy profile, chemiluminescence and, 100–101 Arthritis, *see* Rheumatoid arthritis Asphyxia, at birth, 340–341 Autooxidation, chemiluminescence and, 95–96

### B

Bacteria gram-negative, induced septicemia, 37 gram-positive, induced septicemia, 38 induced shock IL-6 levels in. 43-44 TNF levels in, 41-43 B cells, physiology, 31 BCNU, detoxification by GST, 298 Benzo[a]pyrene-7,8-diol-9,10-oxide, metabolism by GST, 295 Bile, GST measurements in cancer, 355-356 Bilirubin-glutathione conjugates, 301, 304 Biopsy, sequential breast, EPR/PRP content, 207-210 Birth asphyxia, 340-341 Blood transfusion, renal graft outcome and, 255-257 Blotting, dioxetanes enzyme substrates, 155-157 Bone marrow transplantation graft versus host disease in, significance, 259-260 partially HLA-matched relatives as donors, 260-261 unrelated donors, 261-264

Breast, sequential biopsy, ERP/PRP content, 207-210 Breast cancer chemotherapy, 193-198 epidemiology and pathology, 212-216 hormonal therapy, 190-191, 193 hormone dependency, 186 a-interferon therapy, role of ERP/PRP, 200-201 male, 216-217 prognosis, 188-190 radiation therapy, 193-194, 198 receptor analysis content in sequential biopsies, 207-210 effect of fine needle aspiration, 198-200 measurement, 201-207 tamoxifen therapy, role of ERP/PRP, 191-194 visceral metastases, 210-212 Bromobenzene, metabolism, 284-285 Bronochoalveolar lavage fluid, GST measurements in cancer, 354-355 4-(3-tert-Butyldimethylsilyloxyphenyl)-4methoxyspiro[1,2-dioxetane-3,2'adamantane], fluoride-induced decomposition, 146-147

# С

Cancer, see also specific cancer GST measurements in bronochoalveolar lavage fluid, 354-355 human bile, 355-356 plasma/serum, 352-354 GST mu-class null phenotype, 322-323 visceral metastases, associated ERP levels, 210-212 Carcinogens, metabolism by GST, 293-295 Castleman's disease, 34 Centrifugation, see Ultracentrifugation Chemiluminescence, 89-161 as analytical tool advantages, 90-91 applications, 92-94 Arrhenius energy profile, 100-101 autooxidation in, 95-96 efficiency, 104 electro-, see Electrochemiluminescence energetics, 99-104

energy transfer, 117-118 enhanced analytical applications, 124-125 luminol, 120-122 mechanism, 122-124 in nucleic acid detection, 126 Jablonski diagram, 101-102 labels, 93-94 cyclic hydrazides as, 114-115 detectability, 105-106 enzymes as, 94 light emission kinetics, 106-108 light measurement units, 105 literature, 91-92 mechanisms in acridinium esters, 126-131 luminol and isoluminol, 112-113 peroxyoxalates, 158-159 peroxide-induced, acridinium esters, 128-129 related instrumentation, 108-111 thermo-, see Thermochemiluminescence Chemiluminescent compounds of analytical importance, 98-99 applications, 111-160 types, 94-98 Chemotherapy breast cancer, combined with tamoxifen and radiation therapy, 193-194 versus ERP/PRP status, 194-198 Chlorambucil, detoxification by GST, 298 Cimetidine, effects after halothane anesthesia, 344 Cirrhosis, alcoholic, 348-349 Cisplatin analog meso-6-PtSO<sub>4</sub>, 197-198 in breast cancer therapy, 197 Colony stimulating factors, 16-17 role in myelopoiesis, 31-33 Cortisol, release from pituitary-adrenal axis, inflammation and, 26 Cyclic hydrazides, as chemiluminescent labels, 114-115 Cyclophosphamide, based chemotherapy, relationship to ERP/PRP status, 194-196 Cyclosporin A, renal graft outcome and, 254-255 Cytochemical assays, estrogen and progesterone receptor proteins, 204-205 Cytokine inhibitors, 19-20

Cytokine receptors, characteristics, 3, 6 Cytokines, see also specific cytokines binding proteins, soluble, 20 biochemistry, 7-20 in body fluids, assays, 47-53 accuracy, 49-51 characteristics. 48 criteria, 48 precision, 51-52 preparations for, 53 sensitivity, 51-52 specificity, 47, 49 standardization, 52-53 characteristics, 3-7 classification, 2-3 disease-associated, measurement in allograft rejection, 44-47 infection, sepsis, endotoxemia, and bacterial shock, 41-44 inflammation, 39-41 genomic organization, 9 in inflammation and acute phase response, 20-29 effects of metals, 25 energy metabolism, 27-28 fever, 26-27 induction of sleep and analgesia, 27 leukocytosis, 25-26 pathological aspects, 28-29 relationship to cortisol release from pituitary-adrenal axis, 26 role of acute phase proteins, 21-24 macrophage-derived, measurement in allograft rejection, 46-47 nomenclature, 2-3 pathophysiology, 20-39 redundancy, 3 role in leukocyte biology, 29-35 B-cell physiology, 31 myelopoiesis, 31-32 pathological aspects, 32-35 T-cell physiology, 30-31 sepsis, 35-39 gram-negative septicemia, 37-38 gram-positive septicemia, 38 polymorphonuclear leukocyte and macrophage activation, 38-39 trauma-induced immune suppression, 35-37

Cytotoxicity cross-match, renal graft outcome, 257-258

#### D

DCC assay, 203 Detoxification drugs, by GST, 295-298 epoxide-containing carcinogens, 294 Digoxin, liposome-based assay, 118 Dioxetanes, 138-157 chemiluminescence quantum yields, 142 as enzyme substrates, 148-150 in immunoassays, 150-153 in nucleic acid detection, 153-157 light emission, nonthermal triggering, 145-148 thermochemiluminescence analytical applications, 142-145 mechanisms, 139-142 9,10-Diphenylanthracene, 142-143 DNA bacterial or viral, dioxetane-based gene probe assays, 153 free radical attack, 300 restriction fragment length polymorphism, in HLA product detection, 243-245 sequencing, dioxetanes enzyme substrates, 155 Drugs, see also specific drugs detoxification by GST, 295-298 resistance, GST and, 319-320

### E

Electrochemiluminescence, 104
Electrophoresis, two-dimensional, HLA product detection, 243–244
Endotoxemia, cytokines in, measurement IL-6, 43–44
TNF, 41–43
Energy metabolism, in acute phase response, cytokine-mediated effects, 27–28
Enflurane, anesthesia with, associated hepatic injury, 340–346
Epidemiology, breast cancer, ERP/PRP correlation, 212–216
Estradiol, mechanism of action, 187

Estrogen receptors, 185-217 in breast cancer male, 216-217 race and, 214 relationship to age of menarche, 213 visceral metastases and, 210-212 measurement error, 205-207 quality control, 207 reporting of values, 207 specimen collection and preparation, 201-202mechanism of action, 187-188 and progesterone receptors, in breast cancer analysis, effect of fine needle aspiration, 198 - 200chemotherapy and, 194-198 concentration during menstrual phases, 213, 215 in pre- and postmenopausal patients, 213-214 content in sequential biopsies, 207-210 correlation with epidemiology and pathology, 212-216 cytosolic and nuclear ERP values, prognostic value, 189-190 distribution, relationship to menstrual status, 213-214 hormonal therapy and, 190-191 prediction, 188-189 prognostic usefulness, 188-189 role in  $\alpha$ -interferon therapy, 200–201 tamoxifen therapy, 191-194 and progesterone receptors, role in melanoma, thyroid cancer, and prostate cancer, 217 status, radiation therapy and, 198 Estrone-3-glucuronide, 117 N-Ethylisoluminol, steroid conjugates, 115

# F

Fever, inflammation and, 26–27
Fine needle aspiration, impact on ERP/PRP analysis, 198–200
5-Fluorouracil, based chemotherapy, relationship to ERP/PRP status, 194–196

### G

Gene probe assays, sandwich-type, 153-154 Glutathione-bilirubin conjugates, 301, 304 Glutathione S-transferase, 281-358 activity measurements, 323-324 alpha-class, plasma measurements in detection of liver disease, 329-351 acute liver damage, 330-346 alcoholic cirrhosis, 348-349 autoimmune chronic active hepatitis, 346-348 hepatocellular damage detection, 329-330 hypothyroidism, 349-350 thyroxine replacement therapy-induced disease, 350-351 binding functions, 303-306 biomedical applications, 318-323 drug resistance, 319-320 tumor marker, 318-319 bromobenzene metabolism, 284-285 carcinogen metabolism, 293-295 drug detoxification, 295-298 enzymology, 284-288 molecular, 292-293 families, 306-308 genetics and regulation, 291-292 historical perspective, 283-284 human alpha-class, 309-310 developmental expression in liver, 326-328 developmental expression in tissues, 325-329 kidney, 328 liver, 326-328 lung, 328-329 mu-class, 310-313 developmental expression in liver, 327 expression, 321-322 null phenotype frequency, 322-323 nomenclature, 308-309 pi-class, 313-314 developmental expression in liver, 327-328 in malignancy, 352-354 theta-class, 314-315 immunoassay measurements, 324-325 immunochemical relationships, 313 in kidney, 356-358

in malignancy, measurement, 352-356 microsomal, 315-317 multiple activities, 283 overexpression, 319 peroxidase activity, 299-300 polymorphic expression and susceptibility to toxic chemicals, 320-323 pseudonyms, 283 purification schemes, 287 reactions catalyzed by, 287-288, 293 adverse reactions, 301-303 toxication reactions, 301, 305 reference values, 325 in renal transplantation, 358 sequence homology, 307 structure, 288-290 substrates endogenous, 298-301 model, metabolism, 286 subunits, 289-290 physical and catalytic properties, 316 urinary measurements as renal damage marker. 356-358 Graft versus host disease, bone marrow transplantation and, 259-260 Graft rejection mechanisms, 249-250 reduction by immunosuppression, 250-251

### H

Halothane, anesthesia with, associated hepatic injury, 340-346 Haplotype, 239, 241-242 Heart, transplantation, HLA matching for, 264-265 Hemopoiesis, control by cytokines, 33 Hepatitis, autoimmune chronic active, 346-348 Hepatocellular damage, detection with GST measurements, 329-330 Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene, metabolism, 301-302 High-performance liquid chromatography, estrogen and progesterone receptors, 203 Hormonal therapy breast cancer response, 190-191 combination with tamoxifen therapy, 193

Human leukocyte antigen, 227-267 in bone marrow transplantation, 258-264 effect of graft versus host disease, 259-260with partially HLA-matching relatives as donors, 260-261 with unrelated donors, 261-264 class 1 genes and products, 229, 231-235 nomenclature, 231, 233-234 structure, 234-235 class II genes and products, 235-239 alleles and specificities, 240 HLA-DRB alleles and HLA-DR specificities, 240 structure, 237-239 immune response, 247-248 inheritance, 239, 241-242 products, detection by biochemical and molecular methods, 243-247 isoelectric focusing, 243 lymphocyte microcytotoxicity tests, 242-243 polymerase chain reaction, 244-246 RFLP analysis, 243-245 two-dimensional electrophoresis, 243-244 rare phenotypes, racial mixing and, 264 recognized specificities, 231-232 in renal transplantation, 251-258 effects of blood transfusion, 255-257 cyclosporin A, 254-255 role of cross-matching, 257-258 HLA matching, 251-254 serological typing, 267 in transplantation of heart, 264-265 liver, 265-266 pancreas, 266 Hybridization-protection assay, 137-138 Hypothyroidism, 349-350

### I

Immune response, HLA, 247–248 Immune suppression reduction of graft rejection, 250–251 trauma-induced, 35–37
## INDEX

Immunoassays dioxetane enzyme substrates, 150-153 fluorescence-amplified thermochemiluminescent, 144 glutathione S-transferases, 324-325 Immunochemical assays, estrogen and progesterone receptor proteins, 204-205 Infection DNA hybridization assay with dioxetane enzyme substrates, 153, 155 IL-6 levels in, 43-44 related sepsis, endotoxemia, and bacterial shock, 41 TNF levels in, 41-43 Inflammation acute phase response and, 20-29 associated cytokines, measurement, 39-41 Instrumentation, chemiluminescent, 108-111 Interferon-a, based therapy, ERP/PRP role, 200-201 Interferon-ô, acute phase response, 23-24 Interferon-y biological activities, 16 structure, 15-16 Interferon-y receptors, signal transduction and, 16 Interleukin-1 acute phase protein induction, 21 biological activities, 10-11 inflammation-associated, measurement, 39-40 structure, 7-10 Interleukin-1ß, acute phase protein induction, 22 Interleukin-2, 11-12 measurement in allograft rejection, 45-46 Interleukin-4, 17 Interleukin-5, 18 Interleukin-6, 12-14 gene expression deregulation, 34-35 measurement in infection, sepsis, endotoxemia, and bacterial shock. 43-44 inflammation, 40-41 Interleukin-7, 18 Interleukin-8, 18 Interleukin-9, 19 Interleukin-10, 19 Interleukin-1 receptors antagonist, 19-20 signal transduction and, 10

Interleukin-2 receptors, soluble, measurement in allograft rejection, 45-46 p-lodophenol, 123-124 Isoelectric focusing, HLA product detection, 243 Isoflurane, anesthesia with, associated hepatic injury, 340-346 Isoluminol, 111-126 analytical applications, 115-118 chemiluminescence mechanism, 112-113 as chemiluminescent labels, 114-115 covalently coupled to steroid hormones, 115-116 enhanced chemiluminescence mechanism, 122-124 in nucleic acid detection, 126 structure, 111

# J

Jablonski diagram, chemiluminescence, 101-102

#### K

Kidney damage, urinary GST as marker, 356–358 developmental expression of GST, 328 transplantation, HLA and, 251–258, 267

#### L

Leukemia, 259 Leukocytes, see specific types Leukocytosis, inflammation and, 25–26 Leukotrienes, 300 Light emission kinetics, 106–108 measurement units, 105 Lipids, peroxidation in biomembranes, 299–300 Liver acute damage, detection by plasma GST measurements, 330–346 acute alcohol ingestion, 336–348 anesthesia with halothane, enflurane, or isoflurane, 340–346 birth asphyxia, 340–341

### 386

### INDEX

hypoglycemia, 337, 339 paracetamol poisoning, 331-334 viral hepatitis, 334-336 chronic disease, detection with plasma GST measurement, 346-349 alcoholic cirrhosis, 348-349 autoimmune chronic active hepatitis, 346-348 developmental expression of GST, 326-328 transplantation, HLA matching and, 265-266 Lucigenin, structure, 127 Luminol, 111-126 analytical applications, 118-120 chemiluminescence mechanism, 112-113 peroxidase-catalyzed, 120-122 as chemiluminescent labels, 114-115 as chemiluminescent standard, 113-114 enhanced chemiluminescence, 120-122 analytical applications, 124-125 mechanism, 122-124 in nucleic acid detection, 126 structure, 111 Luminometers, commercial, 110-111 Lung, developmental expression of GST, 328-329 Lymphocytes, see also B cells; T cells microcytotoxicity tests, 242-243

Μ

Macrophages activation, role of cytokines, 38-39 derived cytokines, measurement in allograft rejection, 46-47 Major histocompatibility complex, human chromosome 6, 230 Medroxyprogesterone acetate, in breast cancer therapy, 191 Megestrol acetate, in breast cancer therapy, 190-191 Melanoma, ERP/PRP role, 217 Melphalan, detoxification by GST, 298 Metals, plasma levels, effects on inflammation, 25 Metastases, visceral, associated ERP levels, 210-212 Methotrexate, based chemotherapy, relationship to ERP/PRP status, 194-196

Microsomes, glutathione S-transferases, 315– 317 Myeloma, cytokines and, 34 Myelopoiesis, 31–33

## N

Naphthylate adamantyl dioxetanes, delocalization of electronic charge, 148–149 Nicardipine, effects after hepatic anesthesia with halothane, 344 Nucleic acids, detection with acridinium esters, 136–138 dioxetane enzyme substrates, 153–157 enhanced chemiluminescence, 126

#### 0

Oligonucleotides, sequence-specific probes, 245, 247 Oophorectomy, 186 Oxalate esters, analytical uses, 158–160 Oxidation, *see* Autooxidation

### P

Pancreas, transplantation, HLA matching and, 266 Paracetamol poisoning, 331-334 Peroxidation, lipid biomembranes, 299-300 Peroxyoxalates, 157-160 analytical uses, 158-160 chemiluminescence, mechanism, 158-159 Phenyl acridinium esters, N-alkyl derivatives, 135 p-Phenylphenol, 120-122 Photodiodes, and photomultipliers, comparison, 108-109 Pituitary-adrenal axis, cortisol release, inflammation and, 26 Plasma, GST measurements in cancer, 352-354 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons covalent binding, 305-306 metabolism, 294-295 Polymerase chain reaction, HLA product detection, 244-246

INDEX

Polymorphonuclear leukocytes, activation, role of cytokines, 38-39 Prednisone, based chemotherapy, relationship to ERP/PRP status, 196 Progesterone receptors and estrogen receptors, in breast cancer analysis, effect of fine needle aspiration, 198-200 chemotherapy and, 194-198 concentration during menstrual phases, 213, 215 in pre- and postmenopausal patients, 213-214 content in sequential biopsies, 207-210 correlation with epidemiology and pathology, 212-216 cytosolic and nuclear ERP values, prognostic value, 189-190 distribution, relationship to menstrual status, 213-214 hormonal therapy and, 190-191 prediction, 188-189 prognostic usefulness, 188-189 role in a-interferon therapy, 200-201 tamoxifen therapy, 191-194 and estrogen receptors, role in melanoma, thyroid cancer, and prostate cancer, 217 measurement error, 205-207 quality control, 207 reporting of values, 207 specimen collection and preparation, 201-202 mechanism of action, 187-188 Prolactin assay, 116 Prostate cancer, ERP/PRP role, 217 Proteins acute phase, 21-24 cytokine induction, 23 synthesis regulation, 24 cytokine-binding, soluble, 20

# R

Radiation therapy breast cancer, combined with tamoxifen and chemotherapy, 193-194 ERP status and, 198 Restriction fragment length polymorphism, in HLA product detection, 243–245 Rheumatoid arthritis, cytokines and, 28

## S

Scleroderma, cytokines and, 29 Sclerosis, see Systemic sclerosis Sepsis, cytokines in, measurement, 35-39 IL-6, 43-44 TNF, 41-43 Septicemia, gram-negative and gram-positive, 37-38 Serum, GST measurements in cancer, 352-354 Sleep, induction by interleukin-1, 27 Southern blotting, dioxetanes enzyme substrates, 155-157 Sulfate esters, metabolism, 295-296 Sulfonamide acridinium esters, 133 Systemic lupus erythematosus, cytokines and, 28 Systemic sclerosis, cytokines and, 29

# Т

Tamoxifen, therapy of breast cancer combination with hormone therapy, 193 radiation therapy and chemotherapy, 193-194 role of ERP/PRP, 191-194 T cells, physiology, 30-31 Thermochemiluminescence analytical applications, 142-145 cyclic peroxides, 95 mechanisms, 139-142 Thiocarboxylate, acridinium esters, 133 Thyroid cancer, ERP/PRP role, 217 Thyroid hormones, 349-351 Thyroxine replacement therapy, 350-351 TNF, see Tumor necrosis factor Toxic chemicals, susceptibility to, association with polymorphic expression of GST, 320-323 Transforming growth factor-β, 19 Transfusion, see Blood transfusion

Transplantation bone marrow, 258-264 heart, 264-265 historical perspective, 227-229 kidney, 251-258 liver, 265-266 pancreas, 266 Transplant rejection immunological basis, 248-251 mechanisms, 249-250 reduction by immunosuppression, 250-251 Trauma, induced immune suppression, cytokines and, 35-37 Tumor marker, glutathione S-transferase as, 318-319 Tumor necrosis factor, 3, 14-15 measurement in

infection, sepsis, endotoxemia, and bacterial shock, 41–43 inflammation, 40 Tumor necrosis factor-α, induction of acute phase protein, 22

# U

Ultracentrifugation, sucrose density-gradient, in receptor assays, 202-203

## v

Vincristine, based chemotherapy, relationship to ERP/PRP status, 196

